

Pertanika Journal of TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

VOL. 46 (2) MAY. 2023



A scientific journal published by Universiti Putra Malaysia Press

PERTANIKA JOURNAL OF TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

About the Journal

Overview

Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science is an official journal of Universiti Putra Malaysia. It is an open-access online scientific journal. It publishes the scientific outputs. It neither accepts nor commissions third party content.

Recognised internationally as the leading peer-reviewed interdisciplinary journal devoted to the publication of original papers, it serves as a forum for practical approaches to improving quality in issues pertaining to tropical agriculture and its related fields.

Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science is a **quarterly** (*February*, *May*, *August*, and *November*) periodical that considers for publication original articles as per its scope. The journal publishes in **English** and it is open for submission by authors from all over the world.

The journal is available world-wide.

Aims and scope

Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science aims to provide a forum for high quality research related to tropical agricultural research. Areas relevant to the scope of the journal include agricultural biotechnology, biochemistry, biology, ecology, fisheries, forestry, food sciences, genetics, microbiology, pathology and management, physiology, plant and animal sciences, production of plants and animals of economic importance, and veterinary medicine.

History

Pertanika was founded in 1978. Currently, as an interdisciplinary journal of agriculture, the revamped journal, *Pertanika* Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science now focuses on tropical agricultural research and its related fields.

Vision

To publish journals of international repute.

Mission

Our goal is to bring the highest quality research to the widest possible audience.

Quality

We aim for excellence, sustained by a responsible and professional approach to journal publishing. Submissions are guaranteed to receive a decision within 90 days. The elapsed time from submission to publication for the articles averages 180 days. We are working towards decreasing the processing time with the help of our editors and the reviewers.

Abstracting and indexing of Pertanika

Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science is now over 45 years old; this accumulated knowledge has resulted in *Pertanika* Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science being abstracted and indexed in SCOPUS (Elsevier), Clarivate Web of Science (ESCI), EBSCO, DOAJ, Agricola, ASEAN CITATION INDEX, ISC, Microsoft Academic, Google Scholar, National Agricultural Science (NAL), and MyCite.

Citing journal articles

The abbreviation for Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science is Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci.

Publication policy

Pertanika policy prohibits an author from submitting the same manuscript for concurrent consideration by two or more publications. It prohibits as well publication of any manuscript that has already been published

either in whole or substantial part elsewhere. It also does not permit publication of manuscript that has been published in full in proceedings.

Code of Ethics

The *Pertanika* journals and Universiti Putra Malaysia take seriously the responsibility of all its journal publications to reflect the highest publication ethics. Thus, all journals and journal editors are expected to abide by the journal's codes of ethics. Refer to *Pertanika*'s **Code of Ethics** for full details, available on the official website of *Pertanika*.

Originality

The author must ensure that when a manuscript is submitted to *Pertanika*, the manuscript must be an original work. The author should check the manuscript for any possible plagiarism using any program such as Turn-It-In or any other software before submitting the manuscripts to the *Pertanika* Editorial Office, Journal Division.

All submitted manuscripts must be in the journal's acceptable **similarity index range**: $\leq 20\% - PASS; > 20\% - REJECT.$

International Standard Serial Number (ISSN)

An ISSN is an 8-digit code used to identify periodicals such as journals of all kinds and on all media–print and electronic. All *Pertanika* journals have an e-ISSN.

Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science: e-ISSN 2231-8542 (Online).

Lag time

A decision on acceptance or rejection of a manuscript is expected within 90 days (average). The elapsed time from submission to publication for the articles averages 180 days.

Authorship

Authors are not permitted to add or remove any names from the authorship provided at the time of initial submission without the consent of the journal's Chief Executive Editor.

Manuscript preparation

For manuscript preparation, authors may refer to *Pertanika*'s **INSTRUCTION TO AUTHORS**, available on the official website of *Pertanika*.

Editorial process

Authors who complete any submission are notified with an acknowledgement containing a manuscript ID on receipt of a manuscript, and upon the editorial decision regarding publication.

Pertanika follows a double-**blind peer review** process. Manuscripts deemed suitable for publication are sent to reviewers. Authors are encouraged to suggest names of at least 3 potential reviewers at the time of submission of their manuscripts to *Pertanika*, but the editors will make the final selection and are not, however, bound by these suggestions.

Notification of the editorial decision is usually provided within 90 days from the receipt of manuscript. Publication of solicited manuscripts is not guaranteed. In most cases, manuscripts are accepted conditionally, pending an author's revision of the material.

The journal's peer review

In the peer review process, 2 or 3 referees independently evaluate the scientific quality of the submitted manuscripts. At least 2 referee reports are required to help make a decision.

Peer reviewers are experts chosen by journal editors to provide written assessment of the **strengths** and **weaknesses** of written research, with the aim of improving the reporting of research and identifying the most appropriate and highest quality material for the journal.

Operating and review process

What happens to a manuscript once it is submitted to *Pertanika*? Typically, there are 7 steps to the editorial review process:

- The journal's Chief Executive Editor and the Editor-in-Chief examine the paper to determine whether it is relevance to journal needs in terms of novelty, impact, design, procedure, language as well as presentation and allow it to proceed to the reviewing process. If not appropriate, the manuscript is rejected outright and the author is informed.
- 2. The Chief Executive Editor sends the article-identifying information having been removed, to 2 or 3 reviewers. They are specialists in the subject matter of the article. The Chief Executive Editor requests that they complete the review within 3 weeks.

Comments to authors are about the appropriateness and adequacy of the theoretical or conceptual framework, literature review, method, results and discussion, and conclusions. Reviewers often include suggestions for strengthening of the manuscript. Comments to the editor are in the nature of the significance of the work and its potential contribution to the research field.

- 3. The Editor-in-Chief examines the review reports and decides whether to accept or reject the manuscript, invite the authors to revise and resubmit the manuscript, or seek additional review reports. In rare instances, the manuscript is accepted with almost no revision. Almost without exception, reviewers' comments (to the authors) are forwarded to the authors. If a revision is indicated, the editor provides guidelines to the authors for attending to the reviewers' suggestions and perhaps additional advice about revising the manuscript.
- 4. The authors decide whether and how to address the reviewers' comments and criticisms and the editor's concerns. The authors return a revised version of the paper to the Chief Executive Editor along with specific information describing how they have answered' the concerns of the reviewers and the editor, usually in a tabular form. The authors may also submit a rebuttal if there is a need especially when the authors disagree with certain comments provided by reviewers.
- 5. The Chief Executive Editor sends the revised manuscript out for re-review. Typically, at least 1 of the original reviewers will be asked to examine the article.
- 6. When the reviewers have completed their work, the Editor-in-Chief examines their comments and decides whether the manuscript is ready to be published, needs another round of revisions, or should be rejected. If the decision is to accept, the Chief Executive Editor is notified.
- 7. The Chief Executive Editor reserves the final right to accept or reject any material for publication, if the processing of a particular manuscript is deemed not to be in compliance with the S.O.P. of *Pertanika*. An acceptance notification is sent to all the authors.

The editorial office ensures that the manuscript adheres to the correct style (in-text citations, the reference list, and tables are typical areas of concern, clarity, and grammar). The authors are asked to respond to any minor queries by the editorial office. Following these corrections, page proofs are mailed to the corresponding authors for their final approval. At this point, **only essential changes are accepted**. Finally, the manuscript appears in the pages of the journal and is posted on-line.

Pertanika Journal of

TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Vol. 46 (2) May. 2023



A scientific journal published by Universiti Putra Malaysia Press

Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science

AN INTERNATIONAL PEER-REVIEWED JOURNAL

EDITOR-IN-CHIEF Phebe Ding Postharvest Physiology/Horticulture

CHIEF EXECUTIVE EDITOR Mohd Sapuan Salit

UNIVERSITY PUBLICATIONS COMMITTEE

CHAIRMAN Nazamid Saari

EDITORIAL STAFF Journal Officers: Ellyianur Puteri Zainal Kanagamalar Silvarajoo Muhammad Shafique Ardi Abdul Rahman Siti Zuhaila Abd Wahid Tee Syin Ying

Editorial Assistants: Ku Ida Mastura Ku Baharom Siti Juridah Mat Arip Zulinaardawati Kamarudin

English Editor: Norhanizah Ismail

PRODUCTION STAFF Pre-press Officers: Nur Farrah Dila Ismail Wong Lih Jiun

WEBMASTER IT Officer: Illi Najwa Mohamad Sakri

EDITORIAL OFFICE JOURNAL DIVISION Putra Science Park 1st Floor, IDEA Tower II UPM--MTDC Technology Centre Universiti Putra Malaysia 43400 Serdang, Selangor Malaysia.

Gen Enquiry Tel. No: +603 9769 1622 | 1616 E-mail: executive_editor.pertanika@upm.edu.my URL: www.journals-id.upm.edu.my

PUBLISHER UPM PRESS Universiti Putra Malaysia 43400 UPM, Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia. Tel: +603 9769 8851 E-mail: penerbit@putra.upm.edu.my URL: http://penerbit.upm.edu.my



ASSOCIATE EDITOR 2022-2024 Ahmed Osumanu Haruna Soil Ferlilty and Management, Plant and Soil Interaction, Wastes Management Universiti Islam Sultan Sharif Ali, Brunei

Noureddine Benkeblia Postharvest Physiology and Biochemistry of Horticultural Crops University of the West Indies, Jamaica

EDITORIAL BOARD 2022-2024 Abdulmojeed Yakubu Ka

Livestock Genetics and Genomics, Quantitative Genetics, Bioinformatics, Livestock Production Nasarawa State University, Nigeria

Abd. Razak Alimon Animal Production, Animal Nutrition Universitas Gadjah Mada, Indonesia

Alan Dargantes Veterinary Epidemiology and Surveillance, Disease Diagnostics and Therapeutics, Disease Ecology Central Mindanao University, Philippines

Amin Ismail Food Biochemistry Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia

Azamal Husen Plant Stress Physiology, Nanoparticles, Plant Propagation, Tree Improvement, Medical Plants Wolaita Sodo University, Ethiopia

Chye Fook Yee Food Science and Nutrition, Food Microbiology, Food Biotechnology Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia

Faez Firdaus Jesse Abdullah Ruminant Medicine Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia

Faridah Abas Bioactive Compounds, Natural Products Chemistry, Metabolomics, LCMS, Functional Food Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia

Faridah Hanum Ibrahim Botany, Biodiversity, Conservation Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia

Indika Herath Soil Science, Environmental Impact, Crop Water Use, Water Footprint, Carbon Footprint Wayamba University of Sri Lanka, Sri Lanka Kadambot H. M. Siddique Crop and Environment Physiology, Germplasm Enhancement University of Western Australia, Australia

Kavindra Nath Tiwari Plant Biotechnology, Natural Products Banaras Hindu University, India

Khanitta Somtrakoon, Bioremediation, Phytoremediation, Environmental Microbiology Mahasarakham University, Thailand

Koji Fukui *Neuroscience, Oxidative stress, Aging* Shibaura Institute of Technology, Japan

Lai Oi Ming Esterification, Lipase, Fatty Acids, Transesterification Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia

Md. Tanvir Rahman Antimicrobial Resistance/AMR, Virulence and Pathogenesis, Vaccine, Microbial Ecology, Zoonoses, Food Hygiene and Public Health Bangladesh Agricultural University, Bangladesh

Mohammad Noor Amal Azmal Fish Disease Diagnosis, Fish Disease Epidemiology, Development of Fish Vaccines Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia

Mohd Effendy Abdul Wahid Immunology, Pathology, Bacteriology, Vaccine Universiti Malaysia Terengganu, Malaysia

Mohd Rafii Yusop Breeding, Plant Genetics Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia

Najiah Musa Bacteriology, Biopharmaceuticals, Disease of Aquatic Organisms Universiti Malaysia Terengganu, Malaysia

Saw Leng Guan Botany and Conservation, Plant Ecology Curator of Penang Botanic Gardens, Malaysia

Shamshuddin Jusop Soil Science, Soil Mineralogy Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia

Siti Suri Arshad Avian Virology Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia

Sivakumar Sukumaran Plant Breeding, Molecular Breeding, Quantitative Genetics University of Queensland, Australia

Tan Wen Siang Molecular Biology, Virology, Protein Chemistry Universiti Putra Malavsia. Malavsia

Tati Suryati Syamsudin Ecology, Entomology, Invertebrate, Fruit Fly management Institut Teknologi Bandung, Indonesia

Vincenzo Tufarelli Animal Science, Animal Nutrition, Poultry Science University of Bari 'Aldo Moro', Italy

Waraporn Chouychai Phytoremediation Nakhonsawan Rajabhat University, Thailand

Win Darmanto Animal Cell Line, Cytotoxicity Universitas Airlangga, Indonesia

Zora Singh Horticulture, Production Technology and Post-handling of Fruit Crops Edith Cowan University, Australia

INTERNATIONAL ADVISORY BOARD 2022-2024

Banpot Napompeth Entomology Kasetsart University, Thailand Graham Matthews Pest Management Imperial College London, UK

ABSTRACTING AND INDEXING OF PERTANIKA JOURNALS

The journal is indexed in SCOPUS (Elsevier), Clarivate-Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI), BIOSIS, National Agricultural Science (NAL), Google Scholar, MyCite, ISC. In addition, Pertanika JSSH is recipient of "CREAM" Award conferred by Ministry of Higher Education (MoHE), Malaysia.

The publisher of Pertanika will not be responsible for the statements made by the authors in any articles published in the journal. Under no circumstances will the publisher of this publication be liable for any loss or damage caused by your reliance on the advice, opinion or information obtained either explicitly or implied through the contents of this publication. All rights of reproduction are reserved in respect of all papers, articles, illustrations, etc., published in Pertanika. Provides free access to the full text of research articles for anyone, webwide. It does not charge either its authors or author-institution for refereeing/publishing outgoing articles or user-institution for accessing incoming articles. No material published in Pertanika may be reproduced or stored on microfilm or in electronic, optical or magnetic form without the written authorization of the Publisher. **Copyright @2021 Universit Putra Malaysia Press. All Rights Reserved.**

Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science Vol. 46 (2) May. 2023

Contents

Foreword	
Mohd Sapuan Salit	1
Short Communication Pathogenicity of Aeromonas hydrophila in High-value Native Pangasius	373
Catfish, Pangasius nasutus (Bleeker) Bashir Sani, Md. Sabri Yusoff, Ina Salwany Md Yasin, Murni Marlina Abd Karim, Mohd Fuad Matori, Mohammad Noor Azmai Amal, Tilusha Manchanayake, Amir-Danial Zahaludin and Aslah Mohamad	
The Impact of Music on Milk Production and Behaviour of Dairy Cattle Nurul Nabilah Shamshul Kamar and Nur Nadiah Md Yusof	385
Low Genetic Diversity of Vector-Borne Haemoparasites in Dogs and Their Ticks Revealed Local and Long-Range Transmission in Peninsular Malaysia Quincie Sipin, Farina Mustaffa-Kamal, Malaika Watanabe, Puteri Azaziah Megat Abdul Rani and Nor Azlina Abdul Aziz	401
Preliminary In Silico Analysis of CHSI Gene in Commelinids Clade: Family Zingiberaceae, Costaceae, and Poaceae Seemab Akram, Shahrizim Zulkifly, Shamsul Khamis and Nurul Izza Ab Ghani	425
Specific Sound Frequency Improves Intrinsic Water Efficiency in Rice Leaf by Imparting Changes in Stomatal Dimensions Mashitah Jusoh, Shairul Izan Ramlee, Faiznur Iffah Pydi, Nur Aishah Mazlan, Zulkarami Berahim, Azzami Adam Muhamad Mujab, Uma Rani Sinniah, Joanne Pei Sze Yeoh, Khalisanni Khalid and Muhammad Nazmin Yaapar	439
Biodegradation of Expanded and Extruded Polystyrene with Different Diets by Using Zophobas atratus Larvae (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae) Jun Hoe Tay, Norhayu Asib, Nor Azwady Abd Aziz and Geok Hun Tan	459
Evaluation of Environmental Contamination with Salmonella spp. in a Large Animal Ward at a Veterinary Hospital in Malaysia Alexandria de Lima, Nurul Hayah Khairuddin, Zunita Zakaria, Sarah Othman and Siti Khairani-Bejo	485

Isolation and Characterization of <i>Avian Coronavirus</i> from Diagnostic Cases of Selected Bird Species in Malaysia <i>Sarenasulastri Awang Besar, Siti Suri Arshad, Siti Zubaidah Ramanoon</i> <i>and Abdul Rahman Omar</i>	503
Locule Position and Thawing Duration Affect Postharvest Quality of Freshly Cryo-Frozen Musang King Durian Fruit Shahidah Md Nor, Phebe Ding and Tan Jit Chun	517
Subcutaneous Implantation of Unidirectional Self-Inflating Anisotropic Tissue Expander Has No Effect on the Physiological Parameters and Behaviours of Horses Saddam Hussein Al-Majhali, Nurul Hayah Khairuddin, Intan-Shameha Abdul Razak, Zamri Radzi, Mohammad Tariqur Rahman, Tengku Rinalfi Putra Tengku-Azizan, John Tito Sapalo and Abubakar Musa Mayaki	529
Review Article Review on the Epidemiology, Milk Composition Changes, and Antimicrobial Susceptibility of Causative Agents of Bubaline Mastitis in Asia Nor'Amira Mohd Amin, Md Zuki Abu Bakar, Sharina Omar and Rozaihan Mansor	541
Revisiting In Vitro Micropropagation Protocols of Mimosa pudica for Enhanced Seed Germination, Shoot Multiplication, and Root Initiation Nor Saffana Baharuddin, Muhamad Aidilfitri Mohamad Roslan, Noor Amani Ramli, Azzreena Mohamad Azzeme, Zuraida Ab Rahman, Mohd Ezuan Khayat, Helmi Wasoh and Zulfazli M. Sobri	571
Parthenium hysterophorus Weed Fecundity and Seed Survival at Different Soil pH and Burial Conditions Mohd Norsazwan Ghazali, Uma Rani Sinniah and Muhammad Saiful Ahmad-Hamdani	593
Isolation of Proteolytic Enzyme from Pineapple Crown Noor Khaleeda Arsad, Azman Abd Samad, Haryati Jamaluddin and Wan Rosmiza Zana Wan Dagang	607
Effects of Spacing on Early Growth Rate and Yield of Hybrid <i>Eucalyptus</i> Stands Guilherme Luiz Fernandes, Gianmarco Goycochea Casas, Leonardo Pereira Fardin, Gilciano Saraiva Nogueira, Rodrigo Viera Leite, Laercio Couto and Hélio Garcia Leite	627

Improvement of Growth and Development of Sweet Basil (<i>Ocimum basilicum</i> L.) Through the Application of Chitosan at Different Plant Maturity Stages <i>Ahmad Zubair Qazizadah, Jaafar Juju Nakasha, Uma Rani Sinniah and</i> <i>Puteri Edaroyati Megat Wahab</i>		
Evaluation of Avian Papillomavirus Occurrences and Effective Sampling Materials for Screening Purpose in Bird Species Through Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis <i>Nurulhuda Najihah, Aminuddin Baki Nurul Najian, Amir Syahir, Jalila</i> <i>Abu, Kok Lian Ho, Wen Siang Tan and Abdul Razak Mariatulqabtiah</i>	671	
Comparative Study on Leaf Anatomy in Selected Garcinia Species in Peninsular Malaysia Aiesyaa Majdiena Emlee, Che Nurul Aini Che Amri and Mohd Razik Midin	687	
The Effect of Edible Coatings (Spirulina and Chitosan) on the Quality and Shelf Life of Starfruit (Averrhoa carambola L. cv. B10) Throughout Storage Zahrah-Izati Azhar Shapawi, Siti Hajar Ariffin, Rosnah Shamsudin, Muhammad Syahmeer How and Ahmad Hafiz Baharom	707	
Phytase Enzyme Improves Growth Performance and Body Chemical Composition of Sangkuriang Catfish (<i>Clarias gariepinus</i> var. Sangkuriang) Juvenile Diana Rachmawati, Putut Har Riyadi, Istiyanto Samidjan, Tita Elfitasari, Diana Chilamawati, Seto Windarto, Rosa Amalia. Dewi	721	

Elfitasari, Diana Chilamawati, Seto Windarto, Rosa Amalia, Nurhayati, Tristiana Yuniarti and Yunanto

Foreword

Welcome to the second issue of 2023 for the Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science (PJTAS)!

PJTAS is an open-access journal for studies in Tropical Agricultural Science published by Universiti Putra Malaysia Press. It is independently owned and managed by the university for the benefit of the world-wide science community.

This issue contains 20 articles; one review article, one short communication, and the rest are regular articles. The authors of these articles come from different countries namely Brazil, Canada, Hong Kong, Indonesia, Malaysia, Nigeria, United State of America, and Yemen.

A selected article entitled "Revisiting *In Vitro* Micropropagation Protocols of *Mimosa pudica* for Enhanced Seed Germination, Shoot Multiplication, and Root Initiation" outlined a procedure for seed germination, shoot multiplication, and root initiation of *in vitro* micropropagation of the undervalued medicinal plant, *M. pudica*. They found out that the developed micropropagation protocol of *M. pudica* could facilitate its large-scale cultivation, indicating its potential as a medicinal crop for the extraction of bioactive compounds. Full information of this study is presented on page 571.

A regular article entitled "Parthenium hysterophorus Weed Fecundity and Seed Survival at Different Soil pH and Burial Conditions" evaluated the effect of soil pH on *P. hyterophorus* weed growth and fecundity, as well as the effect of burial depths on *P. hyterophorus* seed survival and emergence. The findings suggested that *P. hyterosphorus* seed could survive a wide range of conditions with high germinability. The seed, however, showed a marked decline in viability if buried for more than 12 months without tillage. The further details of this study are found on page 593.

Azman Abd Samad and his team from Universiti Teknologi Malaysia extracted and purified protease from the crown of MD2 pineapple using anion exchange chromatography, gel filtration, and desalting. They also identified the protease using liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS) and determined the proteolytic activity using the well diffusion method and Casein Digestion Unit. The results showed that the purified enzyme that was extracted from pineapple crown was ananain-like protease, one type of cysteine protease like other papain family members. The detailed information of this article is available on page 607.

i

We anticipate that you will find the evidence presented in this issue to be intriguing, thoughtprovoking and useful in reaching new milestones in your own research. Please recommend the journal to your colleagues and students to make this endeavour meaningful.

We would like to express our gratitude to all the contributors, namely the authors, reviewers, and Editorial Board Members of PJTAS, who have made this issue possible.

All the papers published in this edition underwent Pertanika's stringent peer-review process involving a minimum of two reviewers comprising internal as well as external referees. This was to ensure that the quality of the papers justified the high ranking of the journal, which is renowned as a heavily-cited journal not only by authors and researchers in Malaysia but by those in other countries around the world as well.

PJTAS is currently accepting manuscripts for upcoming issues based on original qualitative or quantitative research that opens new areas of inquiry and investigation.

ii

Chief Executive Editor Mohd Sapuan Salit executive editor.pertanika@upm.edu.my



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Short Communication

Pathogenicity of *Aeromonas hydrophila* in High-value Native Pangasius Catfish, *Pangasius nasutus* (Bleeker)

Bashir Sani¹, Md. Sabri Yusoff¹, Ina Salwany Md Yasin^{2,3}, Murni Marlina Abd Karim^{2,3}, Mohd Fuad Matori⁴, Mohammad Noor Azmai Amal^{3,5}, Tilusha Manchanayake¹, Amir-Danial Zahaludin³ and Aslah Mohamad^{3*}

¹Department of Veterinary Pathology and Microbiology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

²Department of Aquaculture, Faculty of Agriculture, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia ³Laboratory of Aquatic Animal Health and Therapeutics, Institute of Bioscience, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

⁴Department of Veterinary Laboratory Diagnosis, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

⁵Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Pangasius catfish, *Pangasius nasutus*, is a promising candidate for aquaculture due to its high market value. However, the presence of pathogenic bacteria in *Aeromonas hydrophila* is a major concern in *P. nasutus* farming in this country. This study determines the pathogenicity of *A. hydrophila* in *P. nasutus*. A total of 80 *P. nasutus* juveniles were intraperitoneally injected with 0, 10³, 10⁵, and 10⁷ CFU mL⁻¹ of *A. hydrophila* and monitored until 240 hr. The infected moribund fish's kidneys, livers, and spleens were collected for histopathological analysis. The LD_{50-240hr} value was found at 0.8×10^4 CFU/ml of *A.*

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 01 September 2022 Accepted: 09 November 2022 Published: 29 March 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.01

E-mail addresses:

sani.bashir1306@gmail.com (Bashir Sani) mdsabri@upm.edu.my (Md. Sabri Yusoff) salwany@upm.edu.my (Ina Salwany Md Yasin) murnimarlina@upm.edu.my (Murni Marlina Abd Karim) fuma@upm.edu.my (Mohd Fuad Matori) mnamal@upm.edu.my (Mohammad Noor Azmai Amal) tilushavet@gmail.com (Tilusha Manchanayake) amirdanial6797@gmail.com (Amir-Danial Zahaludin) aslahumt@gmail.com (Aslah Mohamad) * Corresponding author *hydrophila*. The percentage of mortality in 0, 10³, 10⁵, and 10⁷ CFU/ml infected groups were found to be at 0, 40, 60, and 90%, respectively. The infected fish showed congestion at the base of the fin, ascites, enlarged gall bladder, and swollen spleen. It is the earliest report on *A. hydrophila*'s pathogenicity in high-value native fish, *P. nasutus*.

Keywords: Aeromonas hydrophila, LD₅₀, pangasius catfish, *Pangasius nasutus*, pathogenicity

ISSN: 1511-3701 e-ISSN: 2231-8542 Bashir Sani, Md. Sabri Yusoff, Ina Salwany Md Yasin, Murni Marlina Abd Karim, Mohd Fuad Matori, Mohammad Noor Azmai Amal, Tilusha Manchanayake, Amir-Danial Zahaludin and Aslah Mohamad

INTRODUCTION

Pangasius catfish, Pangasius sp., is one of the most significant fish species, particularly in Asian countries such as Vietnam, Bangladesh, India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Myanmar, Philippines, and Thailand (Sirimanapong et al., 2014). Pangasius nasutus, locally recognized as "patin buah" in Malaysia, was regarded as among the highest-valued fish, with an estimated price of RM 70-300/kg (Jamaludin & Ting, 2021; Yusof & Nakajima, 2019), threefold higher compared to the common local black Pangasius catfish, Pangasius micronemus (Hashim et al., 2015). There is a significant market demand for this species due to its sweet, savory, and more appealing than the other commercial species. This market preference is evident in Malaysia and regions that could serve as export markets, such as Asia, Europe, and North America (Rafi et al., 2022).

However, like other Pangasius sp. in Malaysia, P. nasutus is prone to Aeromonas hydrophila infections (Mansor et al., 2020). Aeromonas hydrophila is a rod-shaped, Gram-negative bacterium that lives in aquatic habitats, infects different fish and significantly harms the aquaculture industry (Jiang et al., 2016; Mazumder et al., 2021). The pathogen was first recognized as the causal agent of hemorrhagic septicemia and has been considered the dominant cause of motile aeromonad septicemia (MAS) (Tartor et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2019). Aeromonas hydrophila causes various pathogenic severities in fish, including hemorrhagic septicemia, abdominal edema, exophthalmia, ulcers, and respiratory infections (Laith & Najiah, 2014; Zhang et al., 2016). In the USA alone, the outbreaks of MAS have cost 60–70 million dollars in loss a year (Bøgwald & Dalmo, 2019). At the same time, significant mortalities due to *A. hydrophila* infection were recorded in the South and South-East Asia farmed fish (Laith & Najiah, 2014). In Malaysia, the *A. hydrophila* outbreak was first recorded in diseased catfishes from a local farm, exhibiting MAS's common clinical and histological symptoms (Anjur et al., 2021).

Aeromonas hydrophila was reported to be commonly infecting Pangasius spp. at all life stages (Sarker & Faruk, 2016). Previous studies have been conducted on the infection of A. hydrophila in Pangasianodon hypophthalmus, Pangasius bocourti, and Pangasius pangasius (Doan et al., 2013; Hayati & Prihanto, 2020; Le et al., 2018). Their studies found that A. hydrophila could infect Pangasius sp. severely, with an average mortality of more than 80%. It is crucial to determine the pathogenicity of A. hydrophila in P. nasutus, as this fish species is currently being promoted in aquaculture. Understanding the disease development will help in future preventive measures. It is the earliest report on the infectivity of A. hydrophila in high-value native fish of Malaysia, P. nasutus.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental Fish

One hundred (100) Pangasius catfish, Pangasius nasutus (8.95 ± 2.50 g), were purchased and transferred to the Aquatic Animal Health Unit, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia from a commercial fish farm in Rawang, Selangor. Fish were maintained in an aerated recirculating water system at a temperature of 26.23 ± 0.59 °C, pH at 6.48 ± 0.24 , dissolved oxygen at 6.38 ± 0.48 mg/L, and ammonia at 0.01 ± 0.00 mg/L. The fish were acclimatized under laboratory conditions for ten days before the experimental challenges. Twenty (20) fish were randomly selected to check for bacteria and parasitic infection. The fish was found healthy, and no clinical signs were ever observed.

Bacterial Culture and Confirmation

Aeromonas hydrophila strain Ah1sa5 was isolated and obtained from diseased tilapia (Oreochromis sp.) on a local farm in Tasik Kenyir Terengganu, Malaysia (Matusin, 2015). The isolate was subcultured on tryptic soy agar (Oxoid, United Kingdom) and incubated at 30°C for 16 hr. Pure colonies were inoculated in tryptone soy broth (TSB; Oxoid, United Kingdom) and incubated overnight at 30°C and 150 rpm.

Aeromonas hydrophila used in this study were subjected to polymerase chain reaction (PCR) identification following Azzam-Sayuti, Ina-Salwany, Zamri-saad, Yusof, et al. (2021). The isolate was cultured on tryptone soy agar (TSA, Oxoid, United Kingdom) on plates for 24 hr at 30°C. Afterward, the *A. hydrophila* isolates were grown into 200 ml of TSB broth and cultured for 24 hr with gentle shaking at 30°C.

Genetic DNA from each sample was extracted from a pure bacterial colony using the DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit (Qiagen, Germany) following the manufacturer's protocol. The extracted DNA was subjected to PCR amplification using 16S rRNA (F: GGTTACCTTGTTACGACTT and R: AGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAG) and DNA gyrase B subunit (gyrB) (F: TCCGGCGGTCTGCACGCGGT and R: TTGTCCGGGGTTGTACTCGTC) primers to detect the target region of the bacterial strain with a PCR product size of approximately 1,541 and 1,100 bp, respectively. The PCR reactions were made using REDiant 2× PCR Master Mix (FirstBase, Malaysia) in a final volume of 25 μ l containing 2× PCR master mix, 1 µM of each primer, and 100 ng of template DNA. Each master mix of 50 μ l contains 1× PCR buffer, 200 mmol/L of each dNTP, 2.0 mmol/L magnesium chloride (MgCl₂), 1 U Taq DNA polymerase, and 50 pmol of every primer. The thermal cycling was carried out on a Thermal cycler (Bio-Rad Laboratories, USA) using the amplification conditions as follows: 1 cycle of 95°C for 5 s (initial denaturation), 33 cycles of 95°C for 1 min, 59°C for 2 min 15 s and 72°C for 1 min 15 s, and then a final extension at 72°C for 10 s. The PCR products were sequenced at Firstbase (Malaysia), and the phylogenetic trees were constructed using the Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis (MEGA) (version 10.1.8) bioinformatics software with 100 bootstrap trials and the neighborjoining method.

Lethal Dose of A. hydrophila Against P. nasutus

Preparation of A. hydrophila Cultures. Briefly, 10 colonies of A. hydrophila were randomly selected and inoculated into 500 ml of tryptic soy broth (TSB, Oxoid, United Kingdom) and incubated at 30°C and 150 rpm for 16 hr. Ten-fold serial dilutions of the bacterial culture were conducted to determine the concentration of the bacterial stocks, and 100 µl of TSB from every dilution were plated on tryptic soy agar (TSA; Oxoid, United Kingdom) in duplicate. The culture was then incubated at 30°C overnight. Standard plate count was used to calculate the colony forming unit per milliliter (CFU/ml), according to Wohlsen et al. (2006). The bacteria were then harvested through centrifugation and washed thrice with phosphate buffer saline (PBS, pH 7.4). Finally, the bacterial pellets were suspended in PBS (pH 7.4) before being diluted to the desired concentrations.

Challenge Test. The median lethal dose (LD_{50}) of *A. hydrophila* was determined with 80 juvenile *P. nasutus*. The fish were equally disseminated in four tanks in duplicate (10 fish per tank) and not given any feed a day before the challenge trial. Fish were intraperitoneally injected (i.p.) with 0.1 ml of *A. hydrophila* suspension with the respective concentrations: 0 CFUml (control, PBS only), 10³, 10⁵, and 10⁷ CFU/ml. The mortality pattern and gross lesion were monitored until 240 h. The LD_{50-240hr} values were calculated as described by Reed and Munch (1938) and were performed

using Statistical Product and Service Solutions (SPSS) Statistics software (ver. 26) (SPSS Inc., USA). Bacterial isolation from the challenged moribund fish and 16S rRNA PCR, and nucleotide Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) analysis was done afterward to confirm the cause of their death from *A. hydrophila* infection and phylogenetic analyses using the neighbor-Joining method were conducted afterward in MEGA X (Kumar et al., 2018).

Histopathological Analysis

The infected moribund fish underwent histological examination of the kidneys, livers, and spleens to check for any gross lesions in the internal organs. The collected samples were fixed in 10% neutral-buffered formalin for at least 24 hr, dehydrated using a series of increasing concentrations of ethanol (50–100%), cleared in xylene, and embedded in paraffin. The paraffin sections (4 μ m thick) were prepared using a microtome (Leica RM 2155, Germany) and stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H & E) dyes before being inspected microscopically (Rahman et al., 2022).

RESULTS

Bacterial Culture and Confirmation

As shown in Figure 1, the phylogenetic tree does not delineate the reference strains into separate groups. The bacteria isolated from the infected fish were distantly related to the *A. hydrophila* reference strain, MG984625.1 ATCC (Figure 1A) and AY987520.1 (Figure 1B). Amplification products for 16S rRNA



Pathogenicity of Aeromonas hydrophila in Pangasius Catfish

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 373 - 384 (2023)

and gyrB genes were sequenced using the BLAST Nucleotide algorithm, and the similar sequences from the GenBank non-redundant (NR) data source were determined as *A. hydrophila* with 98% (Accession no.: JN711800.1) and 99% (Accession no.: MK937644.1) similarities, respectively.

Mortality Pattern and LD_{50-240h} of *A*. *hydrophila* Against *P. nasutus*

After 24 hr post-challenge (hpc), mortality of *P. nasutus* was seen in concentration 10⁷ CFU/ml and at 48 hpc for 10³, 10⁵, and 10⁷ CFU/ml. After 24 hpc, 40% mortality was recorded in the 10⁵ CFU/ml group, while at 72 hpc, the mortalities were the highest for concentrations of 10³ and 10⁵ CFU/ml at 20 and 30%, respectively. The mortalities lasted for 96 hpc for concentrations of 10³, 10⁵, and 10⁷ CFU/ml, and 120 hpc for group 10⁷ CFU/ml. By 240 hpc, the mortality rate was observed as 40, 60, and 90% for 10^3 , 10^5 , and 10^7 CFU/ml, respectively (Figure 2). No mortality was observed in the control samples throughout the experiment. Probit analysis revealed that the lethal dose (LD_{50-240hr}) of *A. hydrophila* for *P. nasutus* was observed at 0.8×10^4 CFU/ml. Nevertheless, the re-isolated bacteria from the experimentally infected *P. nasutus* was confirmed phenotypically and molecularly as *A. hydrophila*.

Pathological Symptoms of *P. nasutus* Post-infection with *A. hydrophila*

After intraperitoneal injection of *A*. *hydrophila*, all infected fish showed varying clinical signs and gross lesions typical of *Aeromonas* infection. They include reduced feed intake, isolation, irregular breathing, and swimming near the surface, which was not observed in the control group. Gross lesions include hemorrhagic foci around



Figure 2. Cumulative mortality of Pangasius nasutus infected with different concentrations of Aeromonas hydrophila

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 373 - 384 (2023)

the anal region and under the pectoral fin (Figure 3). The post-mortem examination showed swollen gall bladder, bloodycolored fluid in the abdominal cavity, and an enlarged spleen. These were not observed in control fish.

Histopathological Analysis

Histopathological lesions following *A*. *hydrophila* infection in the kidneys of *P*. *nasutus* showed varying degrees of necrosis and degeneration in the tubular epithelium and interstitial nephritis with inflammatory cell infiltration (Figure 4). Desquamated tubular epithelial cells with cell lysis and expansion in the glomerular cavity were also observed in infected kidneys. The infected livers showed multifocal congestion, dilatation of the sinusoids with vacuolar degeneration, and hepatocellular necrosis. The infected spleen showed

subcapsular necrosis, multifocal necrosis, splenic hemorrhage with numerous red blood cells, and aggregation of marked melano-macrophage centers (MMC) with hemosiderin deposition. The spleens of the control fish showed normal architecture with the absence of MMCs. Indistinct pathological changes were observed after injection with PBS in the control group's kidney, liver, and spleen.

DISCUSSION

Pangasius nasutus was recently introduced as a new candidate for aquaculture (Tahapari et al., 2020). The fish is highly consumed in Malaysia, particularly in Pahang, where it is popularly cooked in a special local delicacy. The supply of *P. nasutus* primarily comes from the wild stock (Jaapar et al., 2021). The challenge experiment revealed typical *A. hydrophila* infection signs and gross lesions



Figure 3. Gross lesions were found on the *Pangasius nasutus* infected with *Aeromonas hydrophila*. (A) Congestion at the base of the fin (orange arrow); (B) Fluid accumulation in the abdominal cavity (green arrow); (C) Enlarged gall bladder (blue arrow); (D) Swollen spleen (green arrow) in challenged *P. nasutus*

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 373 - 384 (2023)



Bashir Sani, Md. Sabri Yusoff, Ina Salwany Md Yasin, Murni Marlina Abd Karim, Mohd Fuad Matori, Mohammad Noor Azmai Amal, Tilusha Manchanayake, Amir-Danial Zahaludin and Aslah Mohamad

Figure 4. Histological detections of infected kidney, liver, and spleen and control *Pangasius nasutus* following *Aeromonas hydrophila* challenge. (A) Kidneys of infected fish showed necrosis with interstitial nephritis, especially with the tubular epithelial cells (black arrow) with inflammatory cell infiltration (red arrow) (400×); (B) Normal architecture with intact, healthy tubular epithelia in the kidneys of control fish (400×); (C) Infected liver showing dilatation of the sinusoids with vacuolar degeneration and necrosis (200×); (D) Liver of the control fish showed normal liver architecture and hepatocytes (200×); (E) Infected spleen showed subcapsular necrosis, splenic hemorrhage, and aggregation of hemosiderin (black arrows) (100×); (F) The spleen of the control fish showed normal splenic architecture (100×)

as reported in Asian catfish (*P. bocourti*) and snakehead (*Channa striata*) (Doan et al., 2013; Samayanpaulraj et al., 2019). With increasing bacterial concentration, the mortality rate increased due to more toxins being released, potentially damaging the fish's internal organs (Dong et al., 2017). Early mortality in the infected fish was observed at 24 hpc in 10⁷ CFU/ml treatments (40%), while in 10³ (5%) and 10⁵ CFU/ml (15%) treatments, mortality started after 48 hpc, demonstrating the pathogenicity of the bacteria to cause acute-to-chronic illness in *P. nasutus*. While after 72 hpc, 25, 45, and 75% cumulative mortalities were recorded in 10³, 10⁵, and 10⁷ CFU/ml treatments, respectively. The LD_{50-240hr} of *A. hydrophila* strain Ah1sa5 for *P. nasutus* was found at 0.8×10^4 CFU/ml. In this study, the LD₅₀ of *A. hydrophila* was lower than in Basa, *P. bocourti* (Doan et al., 2013), and in striped catfish, *P. hypophthalmus* (Sirimanapong et al., 2014), which both reported 10⁸ and 10⁵ CFU/ml, respectively. The differences in the LD₅₀ value may cause by the *A. hydrophila* strains used in each study and the challenged host. *P. nasutus* was reported to have a higher sensitivity to environmental stressors and was difficult to be farmed (Zulkiflee et al., 2020).

The clinical manifestations seen in this study after the A. hydrophila infection in P. nasutus were mainly behavioral pattern changes and respiratory difficulties. The same clinical signs have been described in the intradermal or intraperitoneal infection of A. hydrophila and other fish species (Azzam-Sayuti, Ina-Salwany, Zamri-Saad, Annas et al., 2021; de Oliveira et al., 2011; Dias et al., 2016). It is believed that the effect of acetylcholinesterase secreted by A. hydrophila may lead to these signs due to its narcotic effects on the central nervous system (Dias et al., 2016). However, other reported macroscopic lesions, such as hemorrhages at the site of infection, scale loss, and dermal necrosis (Azzam-Sayuti, Ina-Salwany, Zamri-Saad, Annas et al., 2021; Dias et al., 2016), were not observed in P. nasutus. After A. hydrophila infection, the histopathological variations observed in the internal organs of P. nasutus were similar and common to the lesions found in other infected fish species (Abdelhamed et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2018; Saharia et al., 2018). However, polymorphonucleated cell infiltration and glomerular cell proliferation have also been reported in A. hydrophila infections in fish (Chen et al., 2018; Saharia et al., 2018).

CONCLUSION

It is the first report on the pathogenicity of *A. hydrophila* in high-value native fish of Malaysia, *P. nasutus*. This study indicates that *P. nasutus* is susceptible to *A. hydrophila* infection and could be a potential disease threat to cultured and wild *P. nasutus*. Further studies need to be conducted on the severity of *A. hydrophila* infection in *P. nasutus* vital organs either via histopathological changes scoring or at the molecular level. Besides, the possible transmission of *A. hydrophila* infection to the fish should be considered. This valuable information could result in significant disease preventive measures such as biosecurity and vaccine development programs.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was supported using the Long-Term Research Grant Scheme (LRGS) grants (code: LRGS/1/2019/UPM/01/1/2) provided by the Ministry of Higher Education Malaysia.

REFERENCES

- Abdelhamed, H., Ibrahim, I., Nho, S. W., Banes, M. M., Wills, R. W., Karsi, A., & Lawrence, M. L. (2017). Evaluation of three recombinant outer membrane proteins, OmpA1, Tdr, and TbpA, as potential vaccine antigens against virulent *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection in channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*). *Fish and Shellfish Immunology*, 66, 480–486. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.fsi.2017.05.043
- Anjur, N., Sabran, S. F., Daud, H. M., & Othman, N. Z. (2021). An update on the ornamental fish industry in Malaysia: *Aeromonas hydrophila*associated disease and its treatment control. *Veterinary World*, 14(5), 1143–1152. https://doi. org/10.14202/vetworld.2021.1143-1152
- Azzam-Sayuti, M., Ina-Salwany, M. Y., Zamri-Saad, M., Annas, S., Yusof, M. T., Monir, M. S., Mohamad, A., Muhamad-Sofie, M. H. N., Lee, J. Y., Chin, Y. K., Amir-Danial, Z., Asyiqin, A., Lukman, B., Liles, M. R., & Amal, M.

Bashir Sani, Md. Sabri Yusoff, Ina Salwany Md Yasin, Murni Marlina Abd Karim, Mohd Fuad Matori, Mohammad Noor Azmai Amal, Tilusha Manchanayake, Amir-Danial Zahaludin and Aslah Mohamad

N. A. (2021). Comparative pathogenicity of *Aeromonas* spp. in cultured red hybrid tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus* × *O. mossambicus*). *Biology*, *10*(11), 1192. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology10111192

- Azzam-Sayuti, M., Ina-Salwany, M. Y., Zamrisaad, M., Yusof, M. T., Annas, S., Najihah, M. Y., Liles, M. R., Monir, M. S., Zaidi, Z., Amal, M. N. A., Ina-salwany, Y., Zamrisaad, M., Monir, S., Zaidi, Z., Noor, M., & Amal, A. (2021). The prevalence, putative virulence genes and antibiotic resistance profiles of *Aeromonas* spp. isolated from cultured freshwater fishes in peninsular Malaysia. *Aquaculture*, 540, 736719. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2021.736719
- Bøgwald, J., & Dalmo, R. A. (2019). Review on immersion vaccines for fish: An update 2019. *Microorganisms*, 7(12), 627. https://doi. org/10.3390/microorganisms7120627
- Chen, N., Jiang, J., Gao, X., Li, X., Zhang, Y., Liu, X., Yang, H., Bing, X., & Zhang, X. (2018). Histopathological analysis and the immune related gene expression profiles of mandarin fish (*Siniperca chuatsi*) infected with *Aeromonas hydrophila*. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology*, *83*, 410–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. fsi.2018.09.023
- de Oliveira, S. R., de Souza, R. T. Y. B., Brasil, E. M., de Andrade, J. I. A., da Silva Santiago Nunes, É., Ono, E. A., & Affonso, E. G. (2011). LD₅₀ of the bacteria *Aeromonas hydrophila* to matrinxã, *Brycon amazonicus. Acta Amazonica*, 41(2), 321–326. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0044-59672011000200019
- Dias, M. K. R., Sampaio, L. S., Proietti, A. A., Yoshioka, E. T. O., Rodrigues, D. P., Rodriguez, A. F. R., Ribeiro, R. A., Faria, F. S. E. D. V., Ozório, R. O. A., & Tavares-Dias, M. (2016). Lethal dose and clinical signs of *Aeromonas hydrophila* in *Arapaima gigas* (Arapaimidae), the giant fish from Amazon.

Veterinary Microbiology, *188*, 12–15. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2016.04.001

- Doan, H. V., Suksri, A., & Pensée, L. (2013). The LD₅₀ of Asian catfish (*Pangasius bocourti*, Sauvage 1870) challenge to pathogen Aeromonas hydrophila FW52 strain. Pensee Journal, 75(10), 287–293.
- Dong, H. T., Techatanakitarnan, C., Jindakittikul, P., Thaiprayoon, A., Taengphu, S., Charoensapsri, W., Khunrae, P., Rattanarojpong, T., & Senapin, S. (2017). Aeromonas jandaei and Aeromonas veronii caused disease and mortality in Nile tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus (L.). Journal of Fish Diseases, 40(10), 1395–1403. https://doi. org/10.1111/jfd.12617
- Hashim, R. B., Jamil, E. F., Zulkipli, F. H., & Daud, J. M. (2015). Fatty acid compositions of silver catfish, *Pangasius* sp. farmed in several rivers of Pahang, Malaysia. *Journal of Oleo Science*, 64(2), 205–209. https://doi.org/10.5650/jos.ess14191
- Hayati, R. L., & Prihanto, A. A. (2020). Effects of polysaccharides-crude extract from *Candida* sp. OCL1 on hematological parameters of *Aeromonas hydrophila*-infected catfish (*Pangasius pangasius*). In *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science* (Vol. 493, No. 1, p. 012016). IOP Publishing. https:// doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/493/1/012016
- Jaapar, M. Z., Yusof, M. F., Yusof, H. M., Ramli, S. F., Mohamad, S. N., & Jamari, Z. (2021). Effect of different salinity concentrations on hatching rate and larval development of Patin buah, *Pangasius nasutus* (Bleeker, 1863). *Journal of Applied Aquaculture*, 34(3), 693-701. https://doi.org/10. 1080/10454438.2021.1885556
- Jamaludin, F. I., & Ting, S. Y. (2021). Penilaian potensi bahan mentah tempatan dalam formulasi makanan ikan patin [Assessment of the potential of local raw materials in the formulation of catfish food]. *Buletin Teknologi MARDI*, 28(2), 145–152.

- Jiang, X., Zhang, C., Zhao, Y., Kong, X., Pei, C., Li, L., Nie, G., & Li, X. (2016). Immune effects of the vaccine of live attenuated *Aeromonas hydrophila* screened by rifampicin on common carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.). Vaccine, 34(27), 3087–3092. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vaccine.2016.04.075
- Kumar, S., Stecher, G., Li, M., Knyaz, C., & Tamura, K. (2018). MEGA X: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis across computing platforms. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 35(6), 1547-1549. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msy096
- Laith, A. R., & Najiah, M. (2014). Aeromonas hydrophila: Antimicrobial susceptibility and histopathology of isolates from diseased catfish, Clarias gariepinus (Burchell). Journal of Aquaculture Research and Development, 5(2), 1000215. https://doi.org/10.4172/2155-9546.1000215
- Le, T. S., Nguyen, T. H., Vo, H. P., Doan, V. C., Nguyen, H. L., Tran, M. T., Tran, T. T., Southgate, P. C., & İpek Kurtböke, D. (2018). Protective effects of bacteriophages against *Aeromonas hydrophila* species causing Motile Aeromonas Septicemia (MAS) in striped catfish. *Antibiotics*, 7(1), 16. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics7010016
- Mansor, N. N., Khan Chowdhury, A. J., Ridzuan, M. S., Mohd Khalid, H. N., & Mahmood, S. (2020). Epidemiology of emerging diseases and disorder in cage cultured Pangasius spp. in Pahang, Malaysia. International Islamic University Malaysia Repository. http://irep.iium. edu.my/78064/
- Matusin, S. B. (2015). Molecular characterization of Aeromonas hydrophila and development of recombinant cells vaccine expressing outer membrane proteins against its in African catfish (Clarias gariepinus) [Unpublished Master's thesis]. Universiti Putra Malaysia.
- Mazumder, A., Choudhury, H., Dey, A., & Sarma, D. (2021). Isolation and characterization of

two virulent Aeromonads associated with haemorrhagic septicaemia and tail-rot disease in farmed climbing perch *Anabas testudineus*. *Scientific Reports*, *11*, 5826. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41598-021-84997-x

- Rafi, A. I. A., Hanan, M. Y., Othman, A. baihaqi, Jaapar, M. Z., & Baharuddin, H. (2022). Potential usage of Sirehmax[™], a piper betle extract, for controlling fish pathogen prevalence in domesticated shark fingerlings, *Pangasius nasutus* (Bleeker, 1863). *Fishmail*, 31, 32–36.
- Rahman, A. A. N., Mansour, D. A., Abd El-Rahman, G. I., Elseddawy, N. M., Zaglool, A. W., Khamis, T., Mahmoud, S. F., & Mahboub, H. H. (2022). Imidacloprid toxicity in *Clarias gariepinus*: Protective role of dietary *Hyphaene thebaica* against biochemical and histopathological disruption, oxidative stress, immune genes expressions, and *Aeromonas sobria* infection. *Aquaculture*, 555, 738170. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2022.738170
- Reed, L. J., & Muench, H. (1938). A simple method of estimating fifty per cent endpoints. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 27(3), 493–497. https:// doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a118408
- Saharia, P., Pokhrel, H., Kalita, B., Hussain, I. A., & Islam, S. (2018). Histopathological changes in Indian Major Carp, *Labeo rohita* (Hamilton), experimentally infected with *Aeromonas hydrophila* associated with hemorrhagic septicemia of Central Brahmaputra valley of Assam, India. *Journal of Entomology and Zoology Studies*, 6(5), 6–11.
- Samayanpaulraj, V., Velu, V., & Uthandakalaipandiyan, R. (2019). Microbial pathogenesis determination of lethal dose of *Aeromonas hydrophila* Ah17 strain in snake head fish *Channa striata*. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 127, 7–11. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.micpath.2018.11.035
- Sarker, J., & Faruk, M. (2016). Experimental infection of *Aeromonas hydrophila* in pangasius.

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 373 - 384 (2023)

Bashir Sani, Md. Sabri Yusoff, Ina Salwany Md Yasin, Murni Marlina Abd Karim, Mohd Fuad Matori, Mohammad Noor Azmai Amal, Tilusha Manchanayake, Amir-Danial Zahaludin and Aslah Mohamad

Progressive Agriculture, 27(3), 392–399. https:// doi.org/10.3329/pa.v27i3.30836

- Sirimanapong, W., Thompson, K. D., Kledmanee, K., Thaijongrak, P., Collet, B., Ooi, E. L., & Adams, A. (2014). Optimisation and standardisation of functional immune assays for striped catfish (*Pangasianodon hypophthalmus*) to compare their immune response to live and heat killed *Aeromonas hydrophila* as models of infection and vaccination. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology*, 40(2), 374–383. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. fsi.2014.07.021
- Tahapari, E., Darmawan, J., & Abdurachman, M. L. (2020). Nuclear DNA content variation within four species of Asian catfish of family Pangasidae and their two interspecific hybrids by flow cytometry. *Jurnal Akuakultur Indonesia*, 19(2), 142–152. https://doi.org/10.19027/ jai.19.2.142-152
- Tartor, Y. H., EL-Naenaeey, E.-S. S. Y., Abdallah, H. M., Samir, M., Yassen, M. M., & Abdelwahab, A. M. (2021). Virulotyping and genetic diversity of *Aeromonas hydrophila* isolated from Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) in aquaculture farms in Egypt. *Aquaculture*, 541, 736781. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2021.736781
- Wohlsen, T., Bates, J., Vesey, G., Robinson, W. A., & Katouli, M. (2006). Evaluation of the

methods for enumerating coliform bacteria from water samples using precise reference standards. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 42(4), 350–356. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.2006.01854.x

- Yusof, F., & Nakajima, M. (2019). Morphological tool to elucidate two closely related pangasius catfish. *International Journal of Allied Health Sciences*, 3(2), 967–975.
- Zhang, D., Xu, D.-H., & Beck, B. (2019). Analysis of agglutinants elicited by antiserum of channel catfish immunized with extracellular proteins of virulent *Aeromonas hydrophila*. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology*, 86, 223–229. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.fsi.2018.11.033
- Zhang, D., Xu, D.-H., & Shoemaker, C. (2016). Experimental induction of motile Aeromonas septicemia in channel catfish (Ictalurus punctatus) by waterborne challenge with virulent Aeromonas hydrophila. Aquaculture Reports, 3, 18–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. aqrep.2015.11.003
- Zulkiflee, S. Z., Yusof, M. F., Nor Azlina, A. R., & Rostam, M. A. (2020). Moisture, ash and fat composition of *Pangasianodon hypophthalmus* (Sauvage, 1878) and *Pangasius nasutus* (Bleeker, 1863). *International Journal of Allied Health Sciences*, 4(3), 1486–1495.



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

The Impact of Music on Milk Production and Behaviour of Dairy Cattle

Nurul Nabilah Shamshul Kamar and Nur Nadiah Md Yusof*

School of Biology, Faculty of Applied Sciences, Universiti Teknologi Mara, 40450 Shah Alam, Selangor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

The influence of music on the milk performance of dairy cattle has been increasingly studied in recent years, although its efficacy is still being debated due to the inconsistent outcomes and a limited number of studies. This study aimed to investigate the impact of music on the milk production and behaviour of 24 lactating Jersey cattle, consisting of 10 primiparous and 14 multiparous cows. The experiment involved milk collection and behavioural observation before and after exposure to music at a dairy farm in Sitiawan, Perak. The results indicate that music and parity significantly affect the milk yield produced by a cow at p < 0.05. The cows produced significantly less milk after being exposed to music, while multiparous cows recorded significantly higher milk yields than primiparous cows. In terms of the observed behaviour, the cows displayed a significantly higher proportion of feeding and ruminating when no music was played. On the other hand, multiparous cows displayed a significantly lower proportion of feeding and ruminating, and a higher proportion of standing compared to primiparous cows. However, no significant effects of parity and music were observed in walking and lying behaviour. To conclude, music did not improve the milk yield of Jersey dairy cows in this study. Due to the inconsistencies in the outcomes of many studies related to the effect of music on milk yield, more long-term research should be conducted by considering factors that might influence milk yields, such as parity, breed, housing environment, and music selection.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 25 September 2022 Accepted: 14 November 2022 Published: 29 March 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.02

E-mail addresses:

nabilahsk@gmail.com (Nurul Nabilah Shamshul Kamar) nurnadiah@uitm.edu.my (Nur Nadiah Md Yusof) * Corresponding author *Keywords*: Behaviour, dairy cattle, milk yield, music, parity

INTRODUCTION

Malaysia is one of the largest milk-importing countries in the world, after China, Mexico, Algeria, the Russian Federation, Indonesia, Saudi Arabia, and the Philippines (Faghiri

ISSN: 1511-3701 e-ISSN: 2231-8542

© Universiti Putra Malaysia Press

et al., 2019). Malaysia's National Dairy Industry Development Program aims to achieve a 100% self-sufficiency level (SSL) for local fresh milk production by 2025, which is currently at 62% (Aman, 2021). Qatar's major dairy producer has aligned with two of Malaysia's largest dairy farms to enable the country to achieve higher milk SSL so it can be imported to Qatar as the country's demand for milk keeps increasing (Whitehead, 2019). Farmers have explored ways to enhance their cows' milk production in response to government requests. One of the easiest approaches is through music, but the effectiveness of this is still disputed. Music has been known to evoke reactions in humans and a wide range of animals. Music therapy has been proven successful in enhancing body immunity and psychology by reducing stress, anxiety, depression, and pain in humans (Dhungana et al., 2018).

Music is acknowledged as a noninvasive application, and its physical, psychological, and social impacts have been utilised throughout the years (Dağli & Çelik, 2022). Recent studies have shown that music can increase breast milk production in mothers with premature infants (Dağli & Celik, 2022; Jayamala et al., 2015; Varişoğlu & Güngör Satilmiş, 2020). Listening to soothing music or sounds has been proven to help people relax, which is especially good for nursing mothers because the inhibition of stress hormones aids breast milk flow (Katili et al., 2021). Music therapy, which has a calming impact, lowers the risk of stress-related physical reactions in mothers of premature newborns who are hospitalised

(Dağli & Çelik, 2022; Jayamala et al., 2015; Varişoğlu & Güngör Satilmiş, 2020). It is accomplished by helping the mothers feel positive and reducing their negative feelings about their babies (Dağli & Çelik, 2022).

Music has been proposed to improve animal well-being by eliminating unpleasant background noises, reducing anxiety and aggression, and creating auditory enrichment, depending on the animals (Alworth & Buerkle, 2013). Chickens exposed to country music have a significantly lower ratio of heterophilic lymphocytes, lower levels of physiological stress, and displayed grooming behaviours for twice as long (Rickard et al., 2005). Slow music can elicit a response from anxious buffalo cows, making them easier to handle (Dhungana et al., 2018). Reductions in aggressive behaviour and increases in inquisitiveness and sociability have also been observed in chimpanzees exposed to music (Alworth & Buerkle, 2013).

Such an effect can also be seen in dairy cattle, as music can ease them, thus increasing their welfare and milk production (Lemcke et al., 2021). Dairy cattle consider music exciting, which could result in their voluntary movement towards automatic milking systems (AMS) without much coercion (Lemcke et al., 2021). In a recent study, cattle demonstrated most physical signs of relaxation, such as chewing the cud and lowering the eyelids, indicating they were pleased with the slow music (Kemp, 2020). Most cows exhibited fewer stress behaviours, such as sleeping and relaxing, when playing lullaby music (Kemp, 2020). Dairy cattle responded better to classical, country, and audiobook music, exhibiting fewer aberrant, such as tongue rolling, less vocalisation, and greater movement, which indicated reduced stress and increased welfare (Crouch et al., 2019). In addition, music has also been observed to affect milk production. Studies have shown the positive effects of music on dairy cattle's milk, although these remain sparse.

Dairy farms, particularly those with noisy mechanical milking parlours, can benefit from playing slow music to their cows to alleviate stress and increase milk production by up to 3% (Kochewad, 2022; Lemcke et al., 2021). Listening to classical music for a long time has increased milk production in dairy cattle (Dhungana et al., 2018; Ganesh, 2020; Liu et al., 2017; Ma & Wang, 2020). While some music genres have a soothing effect, which can reduce stress in dairy cattle and increase their milk supply, others have a numbing effect that could increase the cows' tension and reduce the milk supply (Donghai et al., 2018; Ganesh, 2020). Some studies found that music had no effect on milk production, although the cows demonstrated relaxed behaviours when some form of music was played (Kemp, 2020; Lemcke et al., 2021).

Due to the mixed results concerning the role of music on dairy cattle's milk production, more studies need to be conducted to investigate other factors that may have contributed to these inconsistent findings, such as breed, parity, nutrition, environment, stress, and song selection. In Malaysia, providing music therapy to dairy cattle is not common. Although Malaysia's milk production constantly increased between 2011 and 2017, this was still not enough to sustain milk consumption, which nearly quadrupled between those years (Suntharalingam, 2019). If music therapy can consistently increase milk production in dairy cattle, it would be highly beneficial to farmers as they could use this relatively cheap method of enhancing milk production on their farms.

Therefore, this study was conducted to investigate the effect of music on the milk performance and behaviour of primiparous and multiparous Jersey dairy cattle on a dairy farm in Perak, Malaysia.

METHODS

Sampling Site

This study was conducted at Cherry Alpha Sdn. Bhd. in Sitiawan, Perak, located at 4°14'58"N and 100°44'12"E. Cherry Alpha Dairy Sdn. Bhd. has been providing highquality Jersey milk since its establishment in 2014 on a local family farm. The farm has 200 purebred Jersey cows: heifers, pregnant cows, and lactating cows.

Animals, Facilities, and Management

The farm's approximately 100 lactating Jersey cows were kept together in a 59 m \times 40 m pen. Of these, 24 individuals which were healthy and not in heat were selected to undergo this study. The sample consisted of 10 primiparous and 14 multiparous individuals, with an average of 206 days after giving birth to calves. The dairy cattle

were milked twice daily at 7.30 a.m. and 4.00 p.m. using an automatic milking system (AMS). Using the AMS, a total of 48 Jersey dairy cattle could be milked at one time, and they would then be returned to their pen after the milking sessions. All the cattle on the farm were fed fresh straw *ad libitum*, with the addition of vitamin supplements and dairy cattle pellets in the morning. Drinking water with added minerals was also provided throughout the day. The cattle were also sanitised and cleaned before each milking session.

Data Collection

This study was conducted in March 2022 for a total of 13 days, and it involved milk collection and behavioural observation before and after exposure to music. The experiment started with data collection for five days without music, followed by a one-day habituation period when the cows were exposed to music without any milk collection and behavioural observation and continued with data collection for seven days with music (Figure 1).

During the final seven days, music was played during milking in the area (7.30 a.m. until 8.30 a.m.) and in the shed for three hours after milking (9 a.m. to 12 p.m.). Two wireless Bluetooth speakers (SonicGear Super P8000, China and Armaggeddon Puma III, Singapore) were used throughout the experiment. One Bluetooth speaker was set up in the milking area, approximately 0.96 m above the dairy cattle's heads. The sound pressure levels were kept below 85 dB, and frequencies were kept between 23 and 35 kHz; these were checked using Arduino Science Journal apps to ensure that the music reached the cattle's ears and did not disturb them (Alworth & Buerkle, 2013; Lemcke et al., 2021). A total of 23 songs were chosen and combined into one playlist, which consisted of French classical piano, flute music, Richard Clayderman's classical piano music, and Mozart's classical music since these types of music have been shown to increase milk production in the previous studies (Ganesh, 2020; Liu et al., 2017; Ma & Wang, 2020).



Figure 1. Experimental period with and without music

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 385 - 400 (2023)

Milk Collection

The cows in this study were milked together based on their parity, and the starting order was alternated each day. The keeper took the cows to the milking parlour, and their teats were attached to the cups. The suckling process took around five minutes on average, depending on the cows (Figure 2). The milk was then drawn into the pipeline and the Mueller milk cooling tank (Mueller Model U Open Tank, U-2000, USA), as shown in Figure 3. The milk was then measured using a measuring dipstick. The volume of milk

collected was recorded approximately two minutes after the suckling machine stopped.

Behaviour Observation

The cows' behaviour was recorded using instantaneous scan sampling 30 min after the morning milking session; three scans were performed, with a 10-min interval between each scan. One observer recorded all the cattle's behaviours to eliminate the effects of various interpretations. The observed behaviours are described in Table 1; some are shown in Figures 4, 5, 6, 7, and 8.



Figure 3. Mueller Model U Open Tank

Table 1	
Description of dairy cattle	behaviour

Behaviour	Description
Feeding	The cow lowers its head towards the feeding trough, puts the food (either maize, straw, or pellets) into its mouth, and chews before swallowing it
Rumination	The cow re-chews the cud completely before swallowing it with its head down, and its eyelids lowered while standing or lying
Drinking	The cow places its muzzle in the drinking trough and consumes water

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 385 - 400 (2023)

Table 1 (continue)

Behaviour	Description
Standing	The cow stands with all four legs on the ground for at least five seconds
Walking	The cow moves forward more than three steps
Lying	The cow lowers its body, folds all its legs to the ground, and dozes off with its eyes open or closed and with its head down or up
Vocalisation	The cow makes different types of sounds, such as mooing, bellowing, snorting, and grunting
Aggression	The cow pushes or strikes another cow on the other side using its head or body
Tongue rolling	The cow flicks its tongue outside its mouth and then rolls it back inside
Grooming	The cow licks its own body or licks other cows on the head or neck
Licking minerals	The cow licks the mineral block to supply its body with minerals
Scratching	The cow rubs its body by moving back and forth against any object, such as a pole and fence



Figure 4. Feeding behaviours. The cows were eating pellets (A), fresh maize (B), and straw (C)



Figure 5. Standing behaviour



Figure 6. Lying behaviours. The cow was resting with its eyes open and all four legs on the ground (A), while the other cow was dozing with its head down (B)

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 385 - 400 (2023)





Figure 7. Tongue rolling behaviour

Figure 8. Licking behaviour

Statistical Analysis

The average milk yields were calculated by dividing the milk yield by the number of individuals, as the assessment referred to the milk collected from the whole group, not individuals. It was then analysed using the general linear model (GLM) univariate procedure, with music, parity, and their interaction fitted as fixed factors. For the general pen behaviours observed using instantaneous scan sampling, only feeding, rumination, standing, licking mineral, walking, and lying behaviours were analysed due to the infrequent display of the other behaviours. The behaviours were expressed as a proportion of the overall scan for each individual per day and analysed using Wald test in a generalised linear model (GsLM), which fitted a binomial distribution with a logit function. For all analyses, any significant difference was considered at p <0.05. IBM[®] SPSS[®] Statistics (version 26) was used to analyse all the data.

RESULTS

The Average Milk Yield Before and After Music

The cows' milk production was found to be affected by music and parity (Table 2).

However, the interaction between the two factors had no impact on the milk yield (F = 0.008, df = 1, p = 0.928).

Table 2

Average milk yield with Standard Error of Mean by female Jersey cattle based on music availability and parity

	Average milk yield (L)	F-test	
Music availability			
No	3.454 (0.261)	$F_1 = 4.771,$	
Yes	2.708 (0.220)	<i>p</i> = 0.041	
Parity			
Primiparous	2.543 (0.241)	$F_1 = 9.943$,	
Multiparous	3.619 (0.241)	<i>p</i> < 0.05	

Behaviours Observation

Among the six behaviours analysed, feeding and rumination were found to be significantly affected by both music and parity (Table 3). When there was no music, the cows performed significantly higher proportions of feeding and rumination than when music was played (Table 3). Higher proportions of rumination and feeding were also observed in primiparous cows compared to multiparous cows. It contrasted with standing behaviour, whereby multiparous cows displayed a significantly higher proportion of standing than primiparous cows. However, no significant effect of music was found on the proportion of standing in the dairy cattle. There was a tendency for music and parity to affect licking mineral behaviour (Table 3). On the other hand, both music and parity did not significantly affect the proportion of walking or lying behaviour observed in the cows (Table 3).

Table 3

Mean proportion of observation with Standard Error of Mean, where specific behaviours were displayed by female Jersey cattle observed during scan sampling (feeding, rumination, standing, licking mineral, walking, and lying), based on music and parity

Dahariana	Music availability		Parity		
Benaviour —	No	Yes	Primiparous	Multiparous	
Feeding	0.38 (0.029)	0.30 (0.020)	0.39 (0.027)	0.29 (0.022)	
	Wald = 5.508, $df = 1, p = 0.019^{\#}$		Wald = 8.652, d	f = 1, p < 0.05*	
Rumination	0.38 (0.29)	0.31 (0.020)	0.40 (0.027)	0.29 (0.022)	
Wald = 4.788		$f = 1, p = 0.029^{\#}$	Wald = 9.219, d	Wald = 9.219, $df = 1, p < 0.05*$	
Standing	0.15 (0.021)	0.16 (0.017)	0.09 (0.015)	0.26 (0.021)	
	Wald = 0.169 , $df = 1$, $p = 0.681$		Wald = 35.506, $df = 1, p < 0.05*$		
Licking mineral	0.02 (0.009)	0.04 (0.008)	0.02 (0.007)	0.04 (0.011)	
Wald = 1.959 , $df = 1$, $p = 0.162$		Wald = 3.420 , $df = 1$, $p = 0.064$			
Walking	0.04 (0.012)	0.02 (0.006)	0.03 (0.009)	0.04 (0.009)	
	Wald = $2.100, dy$	Wald = 2.100 , $df = 1$, $p = 0.147$		Wald = 0.505, $df = 1, p = 0.477$	
Lying	0.20 (0.024)	0.22 (0.018)	0.22 (0.023)	0.20 (0.019)	
	Wald = 0.302, $df = 1, p = 0.583$ Wald = 0.727, $df = 1, p = 0.583$		f = 1, p = 0.394		

Note. # = Significant differences in behaviours displayed between periods with and without music (p < 0.05); * = Significant differences in behaviours displayed between parity (p < 0.05)

DISCUSSION

In this study, the cows produced significantly less milk when exposed to music than when there was no music. It was similar to the findings obtained by Donghai et al. (2018) and Ganesh (2020), which showed a decrease in the milk yield produced by Holstein dairy cattle after being exposed to ragas, African percussion, and rock music (Donghai et al., 2018; Ganesh, 2020). However, the types of music used in this study were French classical piano, Richard Clayderman's classical piano, flute, and Mozart's classical music, which were similar to the genres used in previous studies that were found to generate a positive effect on milk production (Ganesh, 2020; Liu et al., 2017; Ma & Wang, 2020). One of the reasons for these contradictory results may

be the ambient temperature in the cowshed. In the study conducted by Ganesh (2020), the cows recorded significantly lower milk yields when exposed to flute music in the summer compared to during the winter, which demonstrated the significant role of the interaction between music and ambient temperature in milk production. It reflects the finding in the current study as the weather during the experiment was constantly warm and sunny, which may have affected the cows' milk production to some extent, even though all the music played, including flute music, has been shown to have a positive impact on milk yields in previous studies. In addition, it was also possible that the selection of music used in this study may not have been adequate for calming the cows during milking, especially when combined with the loud noise of the AMS engine, which may have stressed the cows. Uncomfortable environmental conditions can affect the secretion of adrenaline and pituitary gland hormones. Adrenaline hormones diffuse into the bloodstream, particularly into the umbilical cord, causing the udder muscles to tighten and resulting in decreased milk production (Mutiasari et al., 2018).

The decrease in milk yield after being exposed to music may be due to the cows' handling before the milking procedure, which might have distressed them. Mananimal interaction is one of the most common factors that may cause stress to livestock (Ciborowska et al., 2021). In this study, the selected cows had to be fetched, handled, and steered in the right direction for their milking sessions using the AMS, which was different from their normal days before the experiment was conducted. During the five days of the experiment, before the music was played, the cows were also fetched and steered, but the effects of the cows' stress perhaps began to show a few days later when the music started to be played. Further investigation may be needed to clarify this. However, some studies have identified a positive effect on milk production after cows were exposed to music (Ganesh, 2020; Liu et al., 2017; Ma & Wang, 2020).

Dairy cattle produce more milk when they hear music that mimics their normal pulse, which explains why light music increases lactation (Liu et al., 2017). An increase in the gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) content in the blood of cattle, thus promoting the secretion of growth hormones, could also be seen when light music was played (Ma & Wang, 2020). Other studies also found no association between milk yield and music (Kochewad et al., 2022; Lemcke et al., 2021). Even though the highest milk output occurred when no music was played, the cows demonstrated relaxed behaviours such as sleeping and relaxing when some music was played, indicating reduced stress and increased welfare (Kemp, 2020).

The milk yield for multiparous cows was significantly higher than that of primiparous cows. This result was supported by previous studies, which stated that multiparous Holstein cows produced more milk than primiparous cows (Meikle et al., 2004; Morales-Piñeyrúa et al., 2022; Pahl et al., 2015; Wathes et al., 2007). It was a biologically normal lactation curve for primiparous cows, which usually peak later, produce less milk, and are more persistent than multiparous cows (Siewert et al., 2019). Cows milked more frequently generate more milk, which is why multiparous cows produce a higher milk yield (Siewert et al., 2019).

Feeding is one of the major behaviours in ruminants, and they spend much time on it (Llonch et al., 2018). It was interesting to find that music impacted the feeding behaviour of the Jersey dairy cattle. In this study, the cows fed more without music than when music was played. There were mixed results regarding feeding behaviour and music availability. A study on other animals found that quails subjected to random, metallic, reggae, or classical music consumed significantly less food than quails not exposed to any form of music (Cabaral et al., 2017). Some other studies have shown results that contradict this study, whereby music was found not to influence the feeding behaviour of piglets, while classical music was observed to enhance broilers' feed intake and time spent eating (Li et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2020). According to Llonch et al. (2018), animal well-being is linked to feeding behaviour, while Kriengwatana et al. (2022) stated that music has been suggested to improve welfare in animals by increasing the complexity of the surroundings that animals might sense, perceive, and respond to, which triggers brain development and the expression of a wide range of behaviours.

Animals may respond differently to different sounds, frequencies, and intensities (Li et al., 2019). Dairy cattle can pick up frequencies that range from 23 to 35 kHz, which includes some of the ultrasonic range from 16-35 kHz and noises lower than 85 dB (Alworth & Buerkle, 2013; Lemcke et al., 2021). However, it has been reported that cattle exposed to sounds of 80 dB consumed less food, became agitated, and had faster heart rates (Ciborowska et al., 2021; Solan & Józwik, 2009). It could explain why the cows in this study fed less in periods with music, even though the maximum noise audible to cows was 85 dB, as other studies recommended, which was the level applied in this study (Arnold et al., 2007; Lemcke et al., 2021; Weeks et al., 2009). The music played in this study could have been misinterpreted by the cows as noise, causing them to eat less.

Parity also affected feeding behaviour, as primiparous cows were observed to feed significantly more than multiparous cows. Some studies have shown contradictory results, whereby multiparous cows consumed more food than primiparous cows due to their higher social dominance, which typically produces a greater quantity of milk (Bach et al., 2006; Maekawa et al., 2002). Primiparous cows ate significantly more during the 10-min scan sampling period than multiparous cows, which might be explained by the fact that they required more time to eat and had less competition at the manger to acquire their maximum feed intake (Maekawa et al., 2002). Furthermore, younger cows consume food more slowly and spend more time feeding than older cows (Beauchemin, 2018; Neave et al., 2017). The lower proportion of feeding by multiparous cows might also have been due to the longer time spent milking (Hart et al., 2013), although this parameter was not specifically recorded in this study.

Rumination was discovered to be voluntarily regulated by the animals, and if they were distracted in any way, such as when they were being milked or fed, they would discontinue ruminating (Beauchemin, 2018; Paudyal, 2021). The Jersey dairy cattle in this study ruminated more without music than when music was played. These results contrast with other findings that music can improve animal welfare for some animals like rats, chimpanzees, dogs, and even dairy cattle (Alworth & Buerkle, 2013; Dhungana et al., 2018; Kemp, 2020). However, as mentioned above, the cows in this study might have been disturbed by the
music played and perceived as noise due to its intensity (Dhungana et al., 2018). Some studies have stated that noises above 85 dB may potentially increase stress or anxiety (Alworth & Buerkle, 2013; Dhungana et al., 2018). The cows might still not have become used to having music because the data was collected only one day after they were habituated to the presence of music.

In this study, primiparous cows ruminated more than multiparous cows, which other studies have also found (Pollock et al., 2022; Stauder et al., 2020). These results could also be observed in other animals, such as early weaned primiparous beef cows, which ruminate more frequently than multiparous beef cows, and primiparous ewes, which ruminate significantly more frequently than multiparous ewes (Ungerfeld et al., 2011; Yusof, 2019). Cows with lower feeding rates due to feeding restrictions or diet composition tend to display higher rumination times to compensate for the longer particle sizes of the ingested feed (Beauchemin, 2018; Mikuła et al., 2022). It has also been observed that rumination peaks four hours after feeding (Beauchemin, 2018). It is consistent with the outcomes of this study, as the primiparous cows, which were lower on the social hierarchy than multiparous cows, ate later due to the presence of multiparous cows (Bach et al., 2006). Multiparous cows may be hungry and bothered by the cowherd's pellet barrels, thus reducing their rumination time (Paudyal, 2021; Schirmann et al., 2012).

It was not fully clear why multiparous cows stood more than primiparous cows in

this study. Many multiparous cows might have been in the shed, which increased their competitiveness at the feed bunk (Proudfoot et al., 2009). Since multiparous cows almost always feed first during the provision of concentrate feed, this might have contributed to the greater competition between them. Additionally, it was observed that the cows started to stand approximately 15 min before their pellet feeding time or when they heard the pellet barrels, so that they may have been anticipating the provision of concentrate feed by the cowherd.

In this study, the cows tended to lick minerals in periods with music compared to when no music was played. Ruminants, particularly cows, would lick mineral blocks, which provide various minerals vital to their well-being; this may increase milk production with a high-fat content (Kikelomo, 2016). As this was the first study to investigate the relationship between the mineral-licking behaviour of cows with music available, the results cannot be explained in detail. Ruminants need to supplement their diet with mineral (salt) licking when forage or feed sources are mineral-deficient, which might also prevent other behaviours like licking each other, licking wood, and fence chewing (Kikelomo, 2016). It could be seen as a good sign, implying that the cows tended to add minerals into their body while the music was played because music has been suggested to improve their welfare. Multiparous cows tended to lick the mineral more than primiparous cows. Increased mineral intake improves milk production and growth rates,

according to McDowell (2002), which could be associated with higher milk production in multiparous compared to primiparous cows (Meikle et al., 2004; Morales-Piñeyrúa et al., 2022; Pahl et al., 2015; Wathes et al., 2007). Most of the studies on the use of music to milk production and behaviour have been conducted on Holstein dairy cows, which opens the possibility that breed is one of the factors that may have influenced the outcomes of this study.

In this study, no differences between parity and music could be observed in terms of walking and lying behaviours. Unfortunately, no study has yet been conducted to investigate the relationship between music and walking. However, previous findings in dogs showed a significant increase in lying behaviour when classical music was played (Bowman et al., 2017). The amount of time cows spent lying down might provide insights into their welfare and health (Lovarelli et al., 2020; Temple et al., 2016; Tucker et al., 2021). Therefore, the results suggest that the cows may already have been in good condition, or they were not bothered by the presence of music because they would still lie down or walk whether music was played or not.

CONCLUSION

Overall, the results showed that music negatively impacts milk production in primiparous and multiparous Jersey dairy cattle. It could be because the cows perceived the music as a cause of stress and disturbance. Interestingly, the music played during this study had an impact on the behaviour of the cows, whereby they were observed to display lower proportions of feeding and rumination when the music was played compared to when no music was played, possibly due to discomfort or anxiety. Despite the negative effect of music on milk production, this study may still provide useful information for dairy farmers pursuing music therapy for their dairy cows. As suggested by other researchers, music may have a long-term influence on milk production. Therefore, to better understand the effects of music on the milk yield and behaviour of dairy cattle, it may be beneficial to collect the data over a longer period and consider other factors such as parity, breed, housing environment, and music selection.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We want to express our gratitude to Mr Andrew Lim, owner of Cherry Alpha Dairy Farm in Sitiawan, Perak, for allowing us to carry out this study. We also thank Mr Asaithamby (farm manager), Mr Jagedish (veterinarian), Mr Mamu (head staff), and all the staff at Cherry Alpha Dairy Farm for their assistance and cooperation throughout this study. Finally, thanks to Universiti Teknologi MARA for the support given to complete this study.

REFERENCES

Alworth, L. C., & Buerkle, S. C. (2013). The effects of music on animal physiology, behavior and welfare. *Lab Animal*, 42, 54-61. https://doi. org/10.1038/laban.162

- Aman, A. S. (2021, April 3). Dutch Lady to boost milk output. New Strait Times. https://www.nst. com.my/business/2021/04/679266/dutch-ladyboost-milk-output
- Arnold, N. A., Ng, K. T., Jongman, E. C., & Hemsworth, P. H. (2007). The behavioural and physiological responses of dairy heifers to taperecorded milking facility noise with and without a pre-treatment adaptation phase. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 106(1-3), 13-25. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.applanim.2006.07.004
- Bach, A., Iglesias, C., Devant, M., & Ràfols, N. (2006). Performance and feeding behavior of primiparous cows loose housed alone or together with multiparous cows. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 89(1), 337–342. https://doi.org/10.3168/ jds.S0022-0302(06)72099-9
- Beauchemin, K. A. (2018). Invited review: Current perspectives on eating and rumination activity in dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 101(6), 4762-4784. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2017-13706
- Bowman, A., Scottish, S. P. C. A., Dowell, F. J., & Evans, N. P. (2017). 'The effect of different genres of music on the stress levels of kennelled dogs'. *Physiology and Behavior*, 171, 207-215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.01.024
- Cabaral, N., Untalan, H., & Rieta, P. G. (2017). Type of music on the growth and laying performance, behaviour and marketability of quails. *Open Science Journal*, 2(4). https://doi.org/10.23954/ osj.v2i4.1089
- Ciborowska, P., Michalczuk, M., & Bień, D. (2021). The effect of music on livestock: Cattle, poultry and pigs. *Animals*, *11*(12), 3572. https://doi. org/10.3390/ani11123572
- Crouch, K., Evans, B., & Montrose, V. T. (2019, March 9-11). The effect of auditory enrichment on the behaviour of dairy cows (Bos taurus) [Paper presentation]. British Society of Animal Science Annual Conference 2019, Edinburgh,

United Kingdom. https://hartpury.pure.elsevier. com/en/publications/the-effects-of-auditory enrichment-on-the-behaviour-of-dairy-cows

- Dağli, E., & Çelik, N. (2022). The effect of oxytocin massage and music on breast milk production and anxiety level of the mothers of premature infants who are in the neonatal intensive care unit: A self-controlled trial. *Health Care for Women International*, 43(5), 465-478. https://doi. org/10.1080/07399332.2021.1947286
- Dhungana, S., Khanal, D. R., Sharma, M., Bhattarai, N., Tamang, D. T., Wasti, S., & Acharya, R. C. (2018). Effect of music on animal behavior: A review. *Nepalese Veterinary Journal*, 35, 142-149. https://doi.org/10.3126/nvj.v35i0.25251
- Donghai, W., Xiaoyan, M., Yufei, W., Chenglong, L., & Xiong, Y. (2018). Effects of latin, rock and African percussion music on protein and energy metabolism in cow. *Meteorological and Environmental Research*, 9(2), 87-90. https:// doi.org/10.19547/j.issn2152-3940.2018.02.021
- Faghiri, H., Yusop, Z., Krauss, S. E., Othman, M. H., & Mohamed, Z. (2019). Factors influencing the dairy industry development and milk production level in Malaysia: A hybrid approach of coding and theme development. *International Journal* of Modern Trends in Business Research, 2(10), 34-51.
- Ganesh, J. S. (2020). Impact of carnatic raga-s on the milk yield of cows. Shanlax International Journal of Arts, Science and Humanities, 8(2), 83-87. https://doi.org/10.34293/sijash.v8i2.3318
- Hart, K. D., McBride, B. W., Duffield, T. F., & DeVries, T. J. (2013). Effect of milking frequency on the behavior and productivity of lactating dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 96(11), 6973-6985. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2013-6764
- Jayamala, A. K., Lakshmanagowda, P. B., Pradeep, G. C. M., & Goturu, J. (2015). Impact of music therapy on breast milk secretion in mothers of premature newborns. *Journal of Clinical and*

Diagnostic Research, 9(4), CC04-CC06. https:// doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2015/11642.5776

- Katili, T. E. P. S., WardihanSinrang, A., & Ahmad, M. (2021). Literature review: Effect of breast care and classical music therapy on breast milk production. *Natural Volatiles and Essential Oils*, 8(4), 15021-15031.
- Kemp, A. (2020). The effects of music on dairy production [Honors' thesis, Murray State University]. Murray State's Digital Commons. https://digitalcommons.murraystate.edu/ honorstheses/41
- Kikelomo, A. M. (2016). Preliminary physicochemical investigation of local binding agents in mineral salt licks production for ruminants. *International Journal of Environment*, *Agriculture and Biotechnology*, 1(4), 997-1003. https://doi.org/10.22161/ijeab/1.4.52
- Kochewad, S. A., Gaur, G. K., Maurya, V. P., Bharti, P. K., Sahoo, N. R., Pandey, H. O., Singh, M., & Verma, M. R. (2022). Effect of milking environment enrichment through music on production performance and behaviour in cattle. *Tropical Animal Health and Production*, 54, 219. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/s11250-022-03217-4
- Kriengwatana, B. P., Mott, R., & ten Cate, C. (2022). Music for animal welfare: A critical review and conceptual framework. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 251, 105641. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.applanim.2022.105641
- Lemcke, M. C., Ebinghaus, A., & Knierim, U. (2021). Impact of music played in an automatic milking system on cows' milk yield and behavior — A pilot study. *Dairy*, 2(1), 73-78. https://doi. org/10.3390/dairy2010007
- Li, X., Zhao, J. N., Zhao, P., Zhang, X., Bi, Y. J., Li,
 J. H., Liu, H. G., Wang, C., & Bao, J. (2019).
 Behavioural responses of piglets to different
 types of music. *Animal*, *13*(10), 2319-2326.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/s1751731119000260

- Liu, J., Xu, C., Li, C., Zhang, B., Wang, Z., Wang, C., & Yu, X. (2017). Effects of different types of music on lactation and antioxidant capacity of dairy cows. *China Animal Husbandry and Veterinary Medicine*, 44(5), 1388-1392. https:// doi.org/10.16431/j.cnki.1671-7236.2017.05.019
- Llonch, P., Mainau, E., Ipharraguerre, I. R., Bargo, F., Tedó, G., Blanch, M., & Manteca, X. (2018). Chicken or the egg: The reciprocal association between feeding behavior and animal welfare and their impact on productivity in dairy cows. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 5, 305. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2018.00305
- Lovarelli, D., Tamburini, A., Mattachini, G., Zucali, M., Riva, E., Provolo, G., & Guarino, M. (2020). Relating lying behavior with climate, body condition score, and milk production in dairy cows. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 7, 565415. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2020.565415
- Ma, X., & Wang, D. (2020). Light music on milk production and blood hormone level of dairy cows. Revista Científica de la Facultad de Ciencias Veterinarias, 30(5), 2677-2688.
- Maekawa, M., Beauchemin, K. A., & Christensen, D. A. (2002). Chewing activity, saliva production, and ruminal pH of primiparous and multiparous lactating dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science*, *85*(5), 1176–1182. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds. S0022-0302(02)74180-5
- McDowell, L. R. (2002). Recent advances in minerals and vitamins on nutrition of lactating cows. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, 1(1), 8-19. https:// doi.org/10.3923/pjn.2002.8.19
- Meikle, A., Kulcsar, M., Chilliard, Y., Febel, H., Delavaud, C., Cavestany, D., & Chilibroste, P. (2004). Effects of parity and body condition at parturition on endocrine and reproductive parameters of the cow. *Reproduction*, 127(6), 727-737. https://doi.org/10.1530/rep.1.00080
- Mikuła, R., Pszczola, M., Rzewuska, K., Mucha, S., Nowak, W., & Strabel, T. (2022). The effect

of rumination time on milk performance and methane emission of dairy cows fed partial mixed ration based on maize silage. *Animals*, *12*(1). 50. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12010050

- Morales-Piñeyrúa, J. T., Damián, J. P., Banchero, G., Blache, D., & Sant'Anna, A. C. (2022).
 Metabolic profile and productivity of dairy Holstein cows milked by a pasture-based automatic milking system during early lactation: Effects of cow temperament and parity. *Research in Veterinary Science*, *147*, 50-59. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2022.04.001
- Mutiasari, D. N., Akhdiat, T., Permana, H., & Widjaja, N. (2018). Pengaruh musik terhadap peforma sapi perah FH laktasi [The effect of music to performance of milk cows FH in lactation period]. Sains Peternakan, 16(1), 30-33. https:// doi.org/10.20961/sainspet.v16i1.18738
- Neave, H. W., Lomb, J., von Keyserlingk, M. A. G., Behnam-Shabahang, A., & Weary, D. M. (2017). Parity differences in the behavior of transition dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 100(1), 548-561. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2016-10987
- Pahl, C., Hartung, E., Mahlkow-Nerge, K., & Haeussermann, A. (2015). Feeding characteristics and rumination time of dairy cows around estrus. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 98(1), 148-154. https:// doi.org/10.3168/jds.2014-8025
- Paudyal, S. (2021). Using rumination time to manage health and reproduction in dairy cattle: A review. *Veterinary Quarterly*, 41(1), 292-300. https://doi. org/10.1080/01652176.2021.1987581
- Pollock, J. G., Gordon, A. W., Huson, K. M., & McConnell, D. A. (2022). The effect of frequency of fresh pasture allocation on the feeding behaviour of high production dairy cows. *Animals*, 12(3), 243. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ani12030243
- Proudfoot, K. L., Veira, D. M., Weary, D. M., & von Keyserlingk, M. A. G. (2009). Competition at the feed bunk changes the feeding, standing, and

social behavior of transition dairy cows. *Journal* of *Dairy Science*, *92*(7), 3116-3123. https://doi. org/10.3168/jds.2008-1718

- Rickard, N. S., Toukhsati, S. R., & Field, S. E. (2005). The effect of music on cognitive performance: Insight from neurobiological and animal studies. *Behavioral and Cognitive Neuroscience Reviews*, 4(4), 235-261. https:// doi.org/10.1177/1534582305285869
- Schirmann, K., Chapinal, N., Weary, D. M., Heuwieser, W., & von Keyserlingk, M. A. G. (2012). Rumination and its relationship to feeding and lying behavior in Holstein dairy cows. *Journal* of Dairy Science, 95(6), 3212-3217. https://doi. org/10.3168/jds.2011-4741
- Siewert, J. M., Salfer, J. A., & Endres, M. I. (2019). Milk yield and milking station visits of primiparous versus multiparous cows on automatic milking system farms in the Upper Midwest United States. *Journal of Dairy Science*, *102*(4), 3523-3530. https://doi.org/10.3168/ jds.2018-15382
- Solan, M., & Józwik, M. (2009). Wpływ mikroklimatu oraz systemu utrzymania na dobrostan krów mlecznych [The effect of microclimate and management system on the welfare of dairy cows]. Wiadomości Zootechniczne, 1, 25–29.
- Stauder, A., Humer, E., Neubauer, V., Reisinger, N., Kaltenegger, A., & Zebeli, Q. (2020). Distinct responses in feed sorting, chewing behavior, and ruminal acidosis risk between primiparous and multiparous Simmental cows fed diets differing in forage and starch levels. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 103(9), 8467-8481. https://doi. org/10.3168/jds.2019-17760
- Suntharalingam, C. (2019). Marketing mix of milk and dairy products in peninsular Malaysia. https://www.eria.org/uploads/media/10.RPR_ FY2018 05 Chapter 5.pdf
- Temple, D., Bargo, F., Mainau, E., Ipharraguerre, I. & Manteca, X. (2016). *Lying behaviour and*

performances in dairy cattle — Practical case. Farm Animal Welfare Education Centre. https:// www.fawec.org/en/fact-sheets/31-cattle/196lying-performance-dairy-cattle

- Tucker, C. B., Jensen, M. B., de Passillé, A. M., Hänninen, L., & Rushen, J. (2021). Invited review: Lying time and the welfare of dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 104(1), 20-46. https:// doi.org/10.3168/jds.2019-18074
- Ungerfeld, R., Hötzel, M. J., Scarsi, A., & Quintans, G. (2011). Behavioral and physiological changes in early-weaned multiparous and primiparous beef cows. *Animal*, 5(8), 1270-1275. https://doi. org/10.1017/S1751731111000334
- Varişoğlu, Y., & Güngör Satilmiş, I. (2020). The effects of listening to music on breast milk production by mothers of premature newborns in the neonatal intensive care unit: A randomized controlled study. *Breastfeed Medicine*, 15(7), 465-470. https://doi.org/10.1089/bfm.2020.0027
- Wathes, D. C., Cheng, Z., Bourne, N., Taylor, V. J., Coffey, M. P., & Brotherstone, S. (2007). Differences between primiparous and multiparous dairy cows in the inter-relationships between metabolic traits, milk yield and body condition score in the periparturient period. *Domestic*

Animal Endocrinology, *33*(2), 203-225. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.domaniend.2006.05.004

- Weeks, C. A., Brown, S. N., Warriss, P. D., Lane, S., Heasman, L., & Benson, T. (2009). Noise levels in lairages for cattle, sheep and pigs in abattoirs in England and Wales. *The Veterinary Record*, *165*(11), 308-314. https://doi.org/10.1136/ vr.165.11.308
- Whitehead, R. (2019, October 23). Malaysia to set up its biggest dairy farm with help from Qatar. *DairyReporter*. https://www.dairyreporter.com/ Article/2019/10/23/Malaysia-to-set-up-itsbiggest-dairy-farm-with-help-from-Qatar
- Yusof, N. N. M. (2019). The effect of indoor management systems for pregnant ewes on maternal behaviour expressed after parturition [Doctoral dissertation, University of Edinburgh]. Edinburgh Research Archieve. http://hdl.handle. net/1842/35770
- Zhao, P., Zhao, J., Liu, H., Zhang, R., Li, J., Zhang, M., Wang, C., Bi, Y., Zhang, X., Yi, R., Li, X., & Bao, J. (2020). Effects of long-term exposure to music on behaviour, immunity and performance of piglets. *Animal Production Science*, *61*(5), 532-539. https://doi.org/10.1071/an20407



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Low Genetic Diversity of Vector-Borne Haemoparasites in Dogs and Their Ticks Revealed Local and Long-Range Transmission in Peninsular Malaysia

Quincie Sipin¹, Farina Mustaffa-Kamal¹, Malaika Watanabe², Puteri Azaziah Megat Abdul Rani² and Nor Azlina Abdul Aziz^{1*}

¹Department of Veterinary Pathology and Microbiology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia ²Department of Companion Animal Medicine and Surgery, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Molecular methods coupled with phylogenetic analysis are sensitive tools for detecting and classifying parasites. This study used nuclear and mitochondrial gene markers to investigate the host-vector interaction of the vector-borne haemoparasites. The population genetic structures of important vector-borne haemoparasites in dogs, namely, *Anaplasma platys, Ehrlichia canis, Babesia vogeli*, and *Babesia gibsoni*, were determined from the nuclear gene of 16S or 18S rRNA gene, *gltA* and *groESL* and mitochondrial gene of *COX1* across dogs and vector ticks. A total of 220 blood samples and 140 ticks were collected from shelter dogs in Peninsular Malaysia. Out of the positive samples for the vector-borne haemoparasites, 28 positive blood isolates and six tick isolates were selected and characterised. There was a low diversity in tick sequences, while varying degree of variability was observed in dogs' sequences. Overlapped haplotypes were observed in sequences of dogs and

ARTICLE INFO Article history: Received: 02 September 2022 Accepted: 01 December 2022 Published: 29 March 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.03

E-mail addresses:

quincie.sipin@gmail.com (Quincie Sipin) farina@upm.edu.my (Farina Mustaffa Kamal) malaikawatanabe@gmail.com (Malaika Watanabe) puteriazaziah@gmail.com (Puteri Azaziah Megat Abdul Rani) azlinaaziz@upm.edu.my (Nor Azlina Abdul Aziz) * Corresponding author ticks, revealing the possibility of the same infection origin. No regional separation was detected, but similar haplotypes from different regions were observed. These findings contribute to the epidemiology of vector-borne haemoparasites in dogs in Malaysia.

Keywords: Dogs, genetic structures, haemoparasites, ticks

ISSN: 1511-3701 e-ISSN: 2231-8542

INTRODUCTION

Ticks can transmit a wide range of diseases, including viral, bacterial, and protozoan, to animal hosts (Otranto & Wall, 2008). Rhipicephalus sanguineus sensu lato (R. sanguineus), the brown dog tick, now known as Rhipicephalus linnaei (Šlapeta et al., 2021) is an important vector of canine vector-borne haemoparasites (VBHs) in Southeast Asia (SEA), and the primary tick infesting dogs in Malaysia (Dantas-Torres, 2010; Low et al., 2017; Nguyen et al., 2019; Prakash, Low, Vinnie-Siow, et al., 2018; Sipin et al., 2020). The higher prevalence of VBHs in dogs and low prevalence in ticks were evident in previous studies (Galay et al., 2018; Low et al., 2018; Prakash, Low, Tan et al., 2018; Prakash, Low, Vinnie-Siow, et al., 2018; Sipin et al., 2020). Nevertheless, stray dogs were more susceptible to VBHs infection compared to pet dogs due to the high exposure to arthropod vectors (Cao et al., 2015). The infection rate in dogs strongly correlates to exposure to ticks and VBHs (Jennett et al., 2013).

The development of molecular methods combined with phylogenetic analysis provides a highly sensitive diagnostic tool for detecting and classifying these VBHs into their closely related species according to genetic makeup. Molecular methods and phylogenetic trees have been used in phylogenetic studies of parasites in corelation to their geographical distribution, climate change effects, and host-specificity (Clare, 2011; Martin et al., 2006; Martins et al., 2009; Morgan et al., 2012). Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based detection methods are commonly used for pathogen detection and species identification. The gene markers, namely 16S rRNA and 18S rRNA, are markers that are commonly used in canine VBHs detection using molecular techniques (Koh et al., 2016; Low et al., 2018; Mokhtar et al., 2013; Nazari et al., 2013; Prakash, Low, Vinnie-Siow, et al., 2018). However, these common nuclear gene markers were reported to be highly conserved (Harrus & Waner, 2011; Kamani, Baneth, et al., 2013; Vargas-Hernandez et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2008). Higher resolution marker such as the mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) gene (e.g., cytochrome c oxidase I (COX1)) is more variable than the nuclear gene. Thus, the present work attempts to use the COX1 gene, groESL gene, and citrate synthase (gltA) gene for the haplotype and nucleotide diversities analyses of selected VBHs.

Several studies in Malaysia have started focusing on phylogenetic analysis of VBHs in dogs and their arthropod vector, tick (Low et al., 2018; Prakash, Low, Vinnie-Siow, et al., 2018; Sipin et al., 2020). Nonetheless, further studies are required on the correlation of the presence of VBHs in dogs with the arthropod vector to investigate the origin of the infection. Therefore, this study aims to characterise VBHs in dogs and their ticks using molecular techniques, which focus on investigating the genetic overlap of VBHs in dogs and ticks and the origin of infection using phylogenetic and haplotype network analyses.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethical Approval

The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) Universiti Putra Malaysia (AUP no: UPM/IACUC/ AUP-R028/2018) approved the application for animal ethical clearance. Additionally, consent was obtained from the animal shelters before sampling activities were conducted. The owner of the shelters was briefed regarding the purpose of the study, and the handling of the animals during the sample collection was in accordance with animal ethics laws.

Parasites Isolation

Details of sample collection, tick identification, and DNA isolation were performed as described by Sipin et al. (2020). Briefly, a total of 220 dog blood samples and 140 tick samples were collected from 10 animal shelters in North (Pulau Pinang, Kedah, Perak), South (Johor), East (Pahang), and Central (Selangor) regions of Peninsular Malaysia for the detection of VBHs. Shelter dogs were restrained and subjected to blood and tick collection, where blood was sampled from the cephalic vein into ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA) blood tubes, and ticks were removed using forceps and placed in small plastic tubes. The morphological inspection of ticks was performed under a stereomicroscope before DNA extraction.

A total of 28 positive blood isolates and six tick isolates screened from 220 shelter dogs were subjected to further analyses (Table 1). Out of the 28 positive blood isolates used in this study, 11 samples were from each North and Central region, five were from the East region, and only one was from the South region. In addition, four tick isolates used were from the North region and one isolate from each South and Central region.

Table 1			
VBHs isolates subjected to	molecular	characterisat	ion

Region	Sample	ID no.	VBH detected
North (N)	Blood	Nb15	Anaplasma platys
		Nb2	Anaplasma platys
		Nc13	Anaplasma platys
		Nd4	Anaplasma platys
		Na12	Ehrlichia canis
		Nb9	Ehrlichia canis
		Nc6	Ehrlichia canis
		Nc7	Ehrlichia canis
		Nd15	Ehrlichia canis
		Nb1	Babesia gibsoni
		Nd7	Babesia vogeli
_	Tick	Nb17 (11)	Ehrlichia canis
		Nb17 (32)	Ehrlichia canis
		Nc15	Ehrlichia canis
		Nb4	Babesia vogeli

Quincie Sipin, Farina Mustaffa-Kamal, Malaika Watanabe, Puteri Azaziah Megat Abdul Rani and Nor Azlina Abdul Aziz

Table 1 (continue)

Region	Sample	ID no.	VBH detected
South(S)	Blood	Sa2	Babesia gibsoni
East(E)	Blood	Ea7	Anaplasma platys
		Ea8	Anaplasma platys
		Ea11	Anaplasma platys
		Ea6	Ehrlichia canis
		Ea14	Ehrlichia canis
	Tick	Ea8	Anaplasma platys
Central(W)	Blood	Wa19	Anaplasma platys
		Wd25	Anaplasma platys
		Wa19	Ehrlichia canis
		Wb20	Ehrlichia canis
		Wb23	Ehrlichia canis
		Wd1	Ehrlichia canis
		Wa1	Babesia vogeli
		Wb18	Babesia vogeli
		Wd2	Babesia vogeli
		Wb25	Babesia gibsoni
		Wd25	Babesia gibsoni
	Tick	Wd22	Anaplasma platys

Molecular Technique

DNA extraction of ticks and blood was conducted using commercially available extraction kits, DNEasy Blood and Tissue Kit (Qiagen, Germany). All DNA was eluted in 100 µl of elution buffer and stored at -20°C before PCR screening.

The PCR amplification for 16S rRNA and *groESL* gene for *A. platys*, 18S rRNA and *COX1* gene for *B. gibsoni*, 18S rRNA and *COX1* gene for *B. vogeli*, and 16S rRNA and *gltA* gene for *E. canis* from both blood and tick samples were performed with the cycling conditions indicated in Table 2.

PCR products were sequenced using the cycle sequencing technology (dideoxy chain termination/cycle sequencing) on ABI PRISM 3730x1 Genetic Analyser (Applied Biosystems, USA). The sequences obtained were subjected to the Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) identity search to compare with known sequences of *B. gibsoni*, *B. vogeli*, *A. platys*, and *E. canis* available in the NCBI GenBank.

Phylogenetic Analysis

The sequences obtained via sequencing were aligned using DAMBE5 (Xia, 2018). MEGA X was applied for phylogenetic relationship determination using a maximum likelihood (ML) algorithm (Kumar et al., 2018). At least 1,000 replicates were used to estimate each species' bootstrap values. Nucleotide sequences of *A. platys* (16S rRNA and

Table 2 Primers and annec	ding temperatures for PCR reaction used in this stud	~		
Haemoparasites	Primer sequence (5'-3')	Gene target (bp)	Annealing temperature (°C)	Reference
Babesia gibsoni	Gib599F (5'-CTCGGCTACTTGCCTTGTC-3') Gib1270R (5'-GCCGAAACTGAATAACGGC-3')	18S rRNA (690)	62	Otranto et al. (2009)
	Bg-cox1-F (5'-CTTCAGCCAATAGCTTTCTGTTTG-3') BG-cox1-R (5'-CCTGAGGCAAGTAAACCAAATAT-3')	<i>COXI</i> (150)	62	Qurollo et al. (2017)
Babesia vogeli	C172F (5'-GTTTATTAGTTTGAAACCCGC-3') C626R (5'-GAACTCGAAAAAGCCAAACGA-3')	18S rRNA (450)	57.5	Otranto et al. (2009)
	CoxBV-F (5'-TGAGTGGCGCAAATTTTGTA-3') CoxBV-R (5'-TGTCTGTCAAGAAAAACCATTAGC-3')	<i>COXI</i> (166)	62	Primers were designed based on accession no. KX426022.1 in the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) GenBank
Anaplasma platys	PlatysF (5'-AAGTCGAACGGATTTTTGTC-3') PlatysR (5'-CTTTAACTTACCGAACC-3')	16S rRNA (500)	60	Beall et al. (2008)
	GroESL-F (5'-AAGGCGAAAGAAGCAGTCTTA-3') GroESL-R (5'-CATAGTCTGAAGTGGAGGAC-3')	groESL (724)	60	Inokuma et al. (2002)
Ehrlichia canis	ECA (5'-AACACATGCAAGTCGAACGGA-3') HE3 (5'-TATAGGTACCGTCATTATCTTCCCTAT-3')	16S rRNA (400)	60	Wen et al. (1997)
	Ecanis(gltA)-F (5'-GCTGATCATGAGCAAAATGC-3') Ecanis(gltA)-R (5'-TTGACCAAAACCCATTAGCC-3')	gltA (400)	62	Primers were designed based on accession no. LC428206.1 in NCBI GenBank

Genetic Diversity of Vector-Borne Haemoparasites in Dogs

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 401 - 423 (2023)

405

groESL), B. vogeli (18S rRNA and COX1), B. gibsoni (18SrRNA and COX1), and E. canis (16S rRNA and gltA) in blood and tick samples were used for analyses in the phylogenetic tree. Furthermore, selected sequences in GenBank were used as an outgroup reference sequence for comparison to sequences obtained from the molecular work.

The present study nucleotide sequences were submitted to the NCBI GenBank database under the following accession numbers: *B. gibsoni* 18S rRNA [Blood (MN068981-84)], *B. vogeli* 18S rRNA [Blood (MN075251-54), Tick (MN194598)], *A. platys* 16S rRNA [Blood (MN075275-83), Tick (MN159064-65)], *A. platys groESL* [Blood (OP104926-35), Tick (OP184817)], *E. canis* 18S rRNA [Blood (MN075258-68), Tick (MN159066-67)], and *E. canis gltA* [Blood (OP104926-35), Tick (OP104936-37)].

Pairwise differences (pi) indices and population genetic estimators were calculated in ARLEQUIN version 3.5.2.1 using individual and combined dogs or tick samples sequences data, haplotype diversity h, nucleotide diversity π (Excoffier & Lischer, 2010). Meanwhile, minimum spanning trees were computed using HapStar version 0.7 (Teacher & Griffiths, 2011). Population genetic differences were estimated using ARLEQUIN by analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA) using predefined groups based on the host, comprising dogs and ticks.

RESULTS

Sequence Alignment

The phylogenetic analysis of VBHs obtained in the study was inferred from sequences, as presented in Table 3. The size of each studied gene and the similarity between blood and tick sequences are shown in Table 4. The size of the studied sequence ranges from 116 to 681 bp. Most of the nucleotides in the blood sequence were monomorphic (95.7-100%), with a few variable sites for dogs ranging from 1 to 10 bp. All tick sequences for this study's studied gene of interest were monomorphic.

Table 3

Number of sequences inferred for phylogenetic analysis for VBH species in the study

VBH	Gene	No. of
v D11	Gene	sequences
Anaplasma platys	16S rRNA	11
	groESL	9
Ehrlichia canis	16S rRNA	13
	gltA	12
Babesia vogeli	18S rRNA	5
	COX1	5
Babesia gibsoni	18S rRNA	4
	COX1	3

Phylogenetic Analysis

A phylogenetic tree based on the 16S rRNA gene of *A. platys* and *E. canis* revealed no significant clades and failed to reflect any correlation with the host and pattern of parasite transmission. Most of the sequences appeared similar and sequences from other regions of the world (Figure 1), with a few different sequences (highlighted in blue). A similar result was observed for the *groESL*

Genetic Diversity of Vector-Borne Haemoparasites in Dogs

VBH	Gene	Samples	Monomorphic	Polymorphic
Anaplasma platys	16S rRNA	Blood	257 bp (97.70%)	6 bp (2.30%)
		Tick	263 bp (100%)	-
	groESL	Blood	681 bp (100%)	-
		Tick	Only one tick sequence is available	-
Ehrlichia canis	16S rRNA	Blood	374 bp (95.65%)	17 bp (4.35%)
		Tick	391 bp (100%)	-
	gltA	Blood	230 bp (99.57%)	1 bp (0.43%)
		Tick	231 bp (100%)	-
Babesia vogeli	18S rRNA	Blood	421 bp (99.76%)	1 bp (0.24%)
		Tick	Only one tick sequence is available	
	COXI	Blood	131 bp (100%)	-
		Tick	131 bp (100%)	-
Babesia gibsoni	18S rRNA	Blood	616 bp (98.40%)	10 bp (1.60%)
		Tick	None tick positive	
	COXI	Blood	114 bp (98.28%)	1 bp (1.72%)
		Tick	None tick positive	

Table 4Sequences alignment of VBH from the study against outgroup sequence in GeneBank

gene of *A. platys* (Figure 2) and the *gltA* gene of *E. canis* (Figure 3). In addition, a similar result was observed in the phylogenetic tree based on the 18S rRNA gene (Figure 4) and *COX1* gene (Figure 5) of *B. gibsoni* and *B. vogeli*, revealing no significant clades and low diversity.

For the 16S rRNA gene of *A. platys* [Figure 6(a)] and *E. canis* [Figure 6(b)] haplotype network, four haplotypes were observed, with one common haplotype that was shared between both hosts. Only two haplotypes were observed for the *E. canis* gltA gene haplotype network, where one common haplotype was shared between both hosts [Figure 6(c)]. Additionally, four haplotypes were detected for the 18S rRNA gene of *B. vogeli*, comprising three diverse haplotypes in dogs and one separate haplotype for ticks [Figure 6(d)].

Haplotype and Nucleotide Diversity

The haplotype and nucleotide diversity for *A. platys* 16S rRNA, *E. canis* 16S rRNA, and *gltA* genes revealed no variation in the ticks and a low variation in dogs (Table 5). The haplotype and nucleotide diversity for *B. vogeli* 18S rRNA and *B. gibsoni* 18S rRNA and *COX1* genes depicted a low level of variation in dogs. Comparisons of haplotype and nucleotide diversity were generated for ticks as none of the tick samples were positive for *B. gibsoni*, while only one tick sample was positive for *B. vogeli* (Table 5).

DISCUSSION

The population genetic structure of *A. platys, E. canis, B. vogeli*, and *B. gibsoni* among dogs and the associated vector-

Quincie Sipin, Farina Mustaffa-Kamal, Malaika Watanabe, Puteri Azaziah Megat Abdul Rani and Nor Azlina Abdul Aziz



Figure 1. Phylogenetic analysis of *Anaplasma platys* and *Ehrlichia canis* based on the 16S rRNA gene obtained in this study and other countries using the Maximum Likelihood method (Kimura-two-parameter model). *Neorickettsia sennetsu* is provided as an outgroup species. MEGAX software with 1,000 bootstrap replications was used to create the phylogenetic tree

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 401 - 423 (2023)



Genetic Diversity of Vector-Borne Haemoparasites in Dogs

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 401 - 423 (2023)

409



410

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 401 - 423 (2023)



Figure 6. Haplotype network of *Anaplasma platys* 16S rRNA (a), *Ehrlichia canis* 16S rRNA (b), *Ehrlichia canis gltA* (c), and *Babesia vogeli* 18S rRNA (d) sequences. The size of the circles in the network is proportional to the frequency of the haplotype in the data set, and the coloured area identifies the sample collected

	Tal	bl	e	5
--	-----	----	---	---

Haplotype (h) and nucleotide diversities (\pi) based on the gene of interest of Anaplasma platys, Ehrlichia canis, Babesia vogeli, *and* Babesia gibsoni

Populations	Individuals	Haplotypes	Polymorphic sites	Haplotype diversity	Nucleotide diversity
Anaplasma pla	tys 16S rRNA				
Blood	9	3	6	0.417	0.006
Tick	2	1	0	0.000	0.000
Ehrlichia canis	16S rRNA				
Blood	11	4	17	0.491	0.010
Tick	2	1	0	0.000	0.000
Ehrlichia canis	gltA				
Blood	10	2	1	0.467	0.002
Tick	2	1	0	0.000	0.000
Babesia vogeli	18S rRNA				
Blood	4	2	1	0.667	0.002
Tick	-	-	-	-	-
Babesia gibson	i 18S rRNA				
Blood	4	2	10	0.500	0.008
Tick	-	-	-	-	-
Babesia gibson	i COX1				
Blood	3	2	2	0.667	0.013
Tick	-	-	-	-	-

borne haemoparasites in Malaysia were analysed in this study. This study revealed more variable genetic diversity in dogs as a host compared to the tick vector. Overlap was observed in ticks' and dogs' haplotypes except for the 18S rRNA gene of *B. vogeli*. However, the present study was unable to trace the origin of infection, most likely due to a low positive number of tick samples, overlapping of haplotypes between dogs and ticks, and the lack of clade separation according to regions in the phylogenetic tree analysis.

The low diversity in tick sequences and the more variations in dog sequences could be due to the movement of dogs and ticks as the carriers of VBHs. In terms of the tick vector, the haplotype in ticks has a low diversity due to the restricted movement to allow the genetic mixing or admixture event to occur. On the other hand, dogs can move in a broader range of geographical areas; thus, dogs are more likely to spread genetic variation, resulting in better haplotype diversity. It might explain why more haplotypes were observed in dogs than in ticks, as shown in the haplotype networks. The movement of stray dogs before being brought to the shelter might contribute to spreading ticks and haemoparasites. The role of dogs as longdistance hosts and carriers of the infection, as well as the capability of the tick vectors to remain attached to their host during travelling, might lead to the introduction of the same infection in other regions of the country. These events may contribute to the presence of the same haplotype in different

regions observed in this study. Moreover, some of the sampled shelters accepting dogs from other regions of the country could also contribute to the haplotype sharing between sequences obtained from different regions. Another theory that might play a role in the dispersal of pathogens from one region to another is the presence of a variety of hosts available for tick infestation. Although primarily infesting dogs, R. sanguineus sensu lato, now known as R. linnaei (Šlapeta et al., 2021), could also infest a wide range of hosts such as mammals, birds, and humans (Dantas-Torres, 2010). The mobility of these hosts throughout the country might be considered one of the factors influencing the genetic dispersal and transmission of the infection among dogs and ticks in different regions, which can also explain the different haplotypes observed in the same shelter.

The haplotype networks obtained for the 16S rRNA gene of A. platys (Figure 6a), 16S rRNA gene of E. canis (Figure 6b), and the gltA gene of E. canis (Figure 6c) revealed that the tick isolates were sharing the same haplotype with some of the blood isolates. The most likely explanation was that the infection in both dogs and ticks originated from the same source, which could be either the tick vector collected, different ticks feeding on the same infected dogs, or the movement mentioned earlier. On the other hand, the tick sampled for the 18S rRNA gene of B. vogeli (Figure 6d) showed a separate haplotype from the rest of the blood samples. It might indicate that the infection in ticks does not share the same origin with all the blood samples

collected. A haplotype network was not presented for the *groESL* gene of *A. platys* since the sequence alignment result was monomorphic. Likewise, the haplotype network was not presented for the *COX1* gene of *B. vogeli* since only one tick sample was found positive; thus, the haplotype and nucleotide diversity for tick samples could not be generated.

The 16S rRNA gene of E. canis reflected a slightly higher haplotype (0.491) and nucleotide (0.00954) diversities compared to the gltA gene of E. canis. This result was proportional to the haplotype network for both genes as the 16S rRNA gene of E. canis depicted the presence of four haplotypes, whereas only two haplotypes were observed for the *gltA* gene of *E*. *canis*. The *gltA* or citrate synthase gene encrypts an important enzyme in the tricarboxylic acid cycle, which is present in almost all living cells and acts as an important regulator for intracellular adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production (Wiegarg & Remington, 1986). These results indicated that the gltA gene was more conserved compared to the 16S rRNA gene in contrast to a previous study (Inokuma et al., 2001). The gltA gene was different among Ehrlichia spp. sequences compared to the 16S rRNA gene. Although the differences were small, the result suggests that the *gltA* could be a tool for advanced molecular work and suitable for comparing closely related species but not within species (Inokuma et al., 2001).

Although *E. canis* is widely distributed globally and has been identified for a long time, little is known about its genetic diversity and strains from geographically distant regions (Hsieh et al., 2010). Recent studies have focused on 16S rRNA genes for molecular work, while there is a dearth of information on other genes (Alhassan et al., 2021; Çelik et al., 2021; Low et al., 2018; Malik et al., 2018; Selim et al., 2021; Sipin et al., 2020). The 16S rRNA gene sequences of *E. canis* have high similarity despite originating from South America, North America, Asia, Europe, Africa, and the Middle East. The similar characteristic of the gene recommends significantly conserved and limited information on the gene diversity. Some other genes that were found to be conserved among isolates worldwide include the OMP-1 family, Dsb, TRP19, and TRP140 (Aguiar et al., 2008; Aguirre et al., 2004; C.-C. Huang et al., 2010; Kamani, Lee, et al., 2013; Yu et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2008). Two main antibody epitopes: TRP36 and gp36, in the tandem repeat region, were considered to vary among E. canis isolates. The studies of the trp36 gene in E. canis strains from the United States, Brazil (only a single strain), Cameroon, Nigeria, and Taiwan E. canis identified variations in the number of tandem repeats while a divergent E. canis genotype has been identified in Israel (Zhang et al., 2008). A phylogenetic tree of E. canis strains based on the gp36 amino acid sequences revealed that the Taiwanese isolates fell into a separate clade, indicating the presence of a novel strain that is yet to be characterised (Hsieh et al., 2010).

Anaplasma platys isolates in the current study presented four haplotypes using the 16S rRNA gene, and only one haplotype was observed in the *groESL* gene (haplotype

network not presented). These results were similar to previous studies reporting low variation in both genes in the sequences of A. platys strains (De La Fuente et al., 2006; H. Huang et al., 2005; Martin et al., 2005; Unver et al., 2003). The 16S rRNA and groESL sequences may be useful for phylogenetic studies of Anaplasma species (Inokuma et al., 2002); however, they are disadvantageous for within-species variation and strain differentiation (De La Fuente et al., 2006). The low genetic variation of A. platys compared to other Anaplasma species might be due to the limited movement of infected dogs compared to infected cattle in Anaplasma marginale and/or the narrow host range of Anaplasma ovis in comparison to Anaplasma phagocytophilum in humans (De La Fuente et al., 2005).

For the genes targeted for the detection of B. gibsoni, the COXI dataset displayed higher haplotype (0.667) and nucleotide diversities (0.01258) compared to the 18S rRNA gene of B. gibsoni. It is expected since the COX1 gene was considered to vary significantly compared to the 18S rRNA gene (Bilgic et al., 2010; Haanshuus et al., 2013; Isozumi et al., 2015). Small canine piroplasms, originally known as B. gibsoni, were found to be divided into three genetically distinct species with similar morphology and clinical signs. Babesia conradae, described in dogs in the western United States, was previously thought of as B. gibsoni (Conrad et al., 1991; Kjemtrup et al., 2006; Ionita et al., 2012). However, only B. gibsoni and B. vogeli infections were observed in the present work.

In this study, the 18S rRNA gene for B. vogeli revealed the presence of three haplotypes in dogs and one in ticks, while COX1 displayed 100% similarity in all sequences in dogs and ticks (haplotype network not presented). In 18S rRNA, the haplotype in a tick did not overlap with any of the sequences in dogs. It is most likely that the tick was newly introduced into the study area, given that the haplotype in a tick was new and yet to be established in the studied dogs. The present work was in contrast with previous work in Brazil, where only one haplotype was observed from the 18S rRNA gene of B. vogeli observed in dogs (Moraes et al., 2015). The researchers concluded that the genotypes observed were the most common in the South American continent (Moraes et al., 2015). In the present study, dogs and ticks shared no common haplotype for the 18S rRNA gene of B. vogeli, which corroborates the phylogenetic analysis by reflecting low variation in sequences and non-host-specific population structure.

Analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA) depicted a higher level of variation within populations than among populations (Table 6). It indicates that the infection in ticks used in this study has little to no variation from the infections in dogs, consistent with the haplotype networks. There were no significant differences in genetic variation within the population, although the percentage of variations was high. This result could indicate a low to no genetic differentiation of parasite isolates included in this study but a high gene flow of

Tal	bl	e	6

Gene/ Source of variation	d.f.	Sum of squares	Variance components	Percentage of variation	FST
Anaplasma platys 16SrRNA					
Among population	1	14.182	- 5.750 Va	- 21.100	- 0.211
Within population	9	297.000	33.000 Vb	121.100	
Total	10	311.182	27.250		
Ehrlichia canis 16S rRNA					
Among population	1	0.336	- 0.460 Va	- 32.110	- 0.094
Within population	11	20.818	1.893 Vb	132.110	
Total	12	21.154	1.433		
Ehrlichia canis gltA					
Among population	1	0.150	- 0.018 Va	- 9.380	- 0.094
Within population	10	2.100	0.210 Vb	109.380	
Total	11	2.250	0.192		
Babesia vogeli 18S rRNA					
Among population	1	1.300	0.083 Va	6.670	0.067
Within population	3	3.500	1.167 Vb	93.330	
Total	4	4.800	1.250		

Analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA) results for the gene of interest of Anaplasma platys, Ehrlichia canis, and Babesia vogeli for all samples as a group

Note. d.f. = Degrees of freedom; FST = Fixation indices; Va = Among groups variance; Vb = Within groups variance

the vector-borne haemoparasites in the study area (Yin et al., 2013). This high gene flow could stem from the movements of the dog host in the study area, as mentioned earlier. However, the current result could also be due to the small number of parasite isolates used in this study since the genetic diversity could be affected by several factors, including the sample size (Araya-Anchetta et al., 2015). The haplotype networks showed that most parasite isolates were in the same haplotype, with only one parasite isolated in several other haplotypes. In addition, the pairwise differences (pi) demonstrated no significant results statistically (Table 7), indicating little genetic differentiation between the host, which agrees with the phylogenetic analysis.

All the phylogenetic trees generated from this study exhibited no specific pattern or separation between isolates of VBHs in dogs and ticks, as well as region-wise separation for all observed haemoparasites. Two main factors exist for the insufficient separation obtained in the present study. First, the insufficient sample size represents the population where 28 blood isolates and only four tick isolates were used for the characterisation and phylogenetic analyses. The low number of tick isolates was insufficient to represent the population, thus affecting the phylogenetic data analysis results. The low prevalence of VBHs in ticks was also observed in previous studies despite high detection in dogs Quincie Sipin, Farina Mustaffa-Kamal, Malaika Watanabe, Puteri Azaziah Megat Abdul Rani and Nor Azlina Abdul Aziz

Table 7

Pairwise differences measures of haplotype frequencies (pi) based on the gene of interest of Anaplasma platys,
Ehrlichia canis, Babesia vogeli, and Babesia gibsoni sequences below diagonal and above diagonal, p values
of significant (*= $p < 0.05$)

Gene	Sample	Blood	Tick
Anaplasma platys 16SrRNA	Blood	-	0.991
	Tick	- 0.211	-
Ehrlichia canis 16S rRNA	Blood	-	0.991
	Tick	- 0.094	-
Ehrlichia canis gltA	Blood	-	0.991
	Tick	- 0.094	-
Babesia vogeli 18S rRNA	Blood	-	0.991
	Tick	0.067	-

(Chao et al., 2016; Foongladda et al., 2011; Galay et al., 2018; Inokuma et al., 2000; Livanova et al., 2018; Nguyen et al., 2019; Ybañez et al., 2012). Tick DNA isolation is difficult compared to blood due to the thick chitinous exoskeleton and the small amount of microbial nucleic acids usually present in ticks' DNA (Halos et al., 2004). Furthermore, inhibitors can interfere with PCR (Halos et al., 2004; Hill & Gutierrez, 2003; Hubbard et al., 1995). The other possible reason for the low prevalence of tick-borne haemopathogens (TBHs) in ticks might be due to the detachment of ticks infected with TBHs from the dog host before sample collection since most of the tick vectors rest in the environment (Dantas-Torres et al., 2008). The ticks sampled in this study were all attached to dogs during collection.

Second, the most likely reason is the conserved region of the genetic markers used in the present study. The use of *groESL* and *gltA* gene markers for *A. platys* and *E. canis* was due to the absence of previous

works on the mtDNA marker for both pathogens. Low variation was observed despite using the COXI gene for Babesia spp. COX1 is a mitochondrial gene that has been reported to be of more diversity than the nuclear gene. Mitochondrial genes have benefits in previous studies and have been used to identify variation within populations and cryptic species. Several mtDNA regions have served as relevant markers for genetic, epidemiological, and ecological studies (Hu & Gasser, 2006; Jex et al., 2010). mtDNA is acknowledged as a suitable marker in discovering the possibility of cryptic species when sequence data from small sample sizes were utilised (Blouin, 2002). However, COX1 is still considered a conserved gene compared to other mtDNA. Other mtDNA genes have a more variable region and were suggested by researchers as useful in exploring variation in parasite populations due to the within-species variation, for example, NADH dehydrogenase subunit 4 (NAD4) and subunit 6 (NAD6) (Lv et al., 2012; Jabbar et al., 2013).

Most of the molecular studies have reported various isolates of the canine VBHs targeting the 18S rRNA or the 16S rRNA gene markers. Both gene markers were suitable and widely used for species identification of the VBHs worldwide (Abd-Rani et al., 2011; Adao et al., 2017; Andersson et al., 2017; Galay et al., 2018; Nazari et al., 2013; Pinyoowong et al., 2008; Yabsley et al., 2008). Nevertheless, the 18S rRNA and 16S rRNA genes are conserved and considered unreliable in distinguishing between strains or subspecies (Aktas et al., 2009; Criado-Fornelio et al., 2003; Tian et al., 2013). Most studies using these target genes reported amplifying fragments with a higher similarity percentage to other strains of that pathogen deposited in GeneBank.

CONCLUSION

A more variable gene marker region should be employed for detailed phylogenetic analysis (e.g., NAD4, NAD6, and mitochondrial DNA). The present study was unable to infer the actual transmission pattern in VBHs among dog and tick hosts, which may be due to the conserved region of the gene of interest and a low number of positive samples, especially from ticks. Future studies are recommended to identify and employ a more variable gene region, as well as a larger sample size, to allow a better resolution to elucidate the transmission patterns of VBHs among dogs and the infecting ticks.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was financially supported by the Universiti Putra Malaysia research grant (GP-IPM 9617300). We are grateful to each animal shelter's staff for their help restraining the dogs during blood sampling.

REFERENCES

- Abd-Rani, P. A. M., Irwin, P. J., Coleman, G. T., Gatne, M., & Traub, R. J. (2011). A survey of canine tick-borne diseases in India. *Parasites and Vectors*, 4, 141. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-3305-4-141
- Adao, D. E. V., Herrera, C. M. T., Galarion, L. H., Bolo, N. R., Carlos, R. S., Carlos, E. T., Carlos, S. S., & Rivera, W. L. (2017). Detection and molecular characterization of *Hepatozoon* canis, Babesia vogeli, Ehrlichia canis, and Anaplasma platys in dogs from Metro Manila, Philippines. Korean Journal of Veterinary Research, 57(2), 79-88. https://doi.org/10.14405/ kjvr.2017.57.2.79
- Aguiar, D. M., Hagiwara, M. K., & Labruna, M. B. (2008). In vitro isolation and molecular characterization of an Ehrlichia canis strain from São Paulo, Brazil. Brazilian Journal of Microbiology, 39, 489-493. https://doi. org/10.1590/S1517-83822008000300014
- Aguirre, E., Sainz, A., Dunner, S., Amusategui, I., López, L., Rodríguez-Franco, F., Luaces, I., Cortés, O., & Tesouro, M. A. (2004). First isolation and molecular characterization of *Ehrlichia canis* in Spain. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *125*(3-4), 365-372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vetpar.2004.08.007
- Aktas, M., Altay, K., Dumanli, N., & Kalkan, A. (2009). Molecular detection and identification of *Ehrlichia* and *Anaplasma* species in ixodid ticks. *Parasitology Research*, 104, 1243–1248. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00436-009-1377-1

- Alhassan, A., Hove, P., Sharma, B., Matthew-Belmar, V., Karasek, I., Lanza-Perea, M., Werners, A. H., Wilkerson, M. J., & Ganta, R. R. (2021). Molecular detection and characterization of *Anaplasma platys* and *Ehrlichia canis* in dogs from the Caribbean. *Ticks and Tickborne Diseases*, 12(4), 101727. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ttbdis.2021.101727
- Andersson, M. O., Tolf, C., Tamba, P., Stefanache, M., Waldenström, J., Dobler, G., & Chitimia-Dobler, L. (2017). Canine tick-borne diseases in pet dogs from Romania. *Parasites and Vectors*, 10, 155. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-017-2092-x
- Araya-Anchetta, A., Busch, J. D., Scoles, G. A., & Wagner, D. M. (2015). Thirty years of tick population genetics: A comprehensive review. *Infection, Genetics, and Evolution*, 29, 164–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2014.11.008
- Beall, M. J., Chandrashekar, R., Eberts, M. D., Cyr, K. E., Diniz, P. P. V., Mainville, C., Hegarty, B. C., Crawford, J. M., & Breitschwerdt, E. B. (2008). Serological and molecular prevalence of *Borrelia burgdorferi*, *Anaplasma phagocytophilum*, and *Ehrlichia* species in dogs from Minnesota. *Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases*, 8(4), 455-464. https://doi.org/10.1089/ vbz.2007.0236
- Bilgic, H. B., Karagenç, T., Shiels, B., Tait, A., Eren, H., & Weir, W. (2010). Evaluation of *cytochrome* b as a sensitive target for PCR based detection of *T. annulate* carrier animals. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 174(3-4), 341–347. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2010.08.025
- Blouin, M. S. (2002). Molecular prospecting for cryptic species of nematodes: Mitochondrial DNA versus internal transcribed spacer. *International Journal for Parasitology*, 32(5), 527–531. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0020-7519(01)00357-5
- Cao, J., Yang, Q., Zhang, J., Zhou, Y., Zhang, H., Gong, H., & Zhou, J. (2015). Seroprevalence survey of *Babesia gibsoni* infection and tick

species in dogs in east China. Veterinary Parasitology, 214(1-2), 12-15. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2015.10.002

- Çelik, B. A., Ayan, A., Yilmaz, A. B., Çelik, Ö. Y., Kilinç, Ö. O., & Ayan, Ö. O. (2021). Molecular identification of *Ehrlichia canis* in *Rhipicephalus* sanguineus ticks from Siirt province. Acta Veterinaria, 71(3), 247-255. https://doi. org/10.2478/acve-2021-0022
- Chao, L. L., Yeh, S. T., Hsieh, C. K., & Shih, C. M. (2016). First detection and molecular identification of *Babesia vogeli* from *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* (Acari: Ixodidae) in Taiwan. *Experimental and Applied Acarology*, 68, 539-551. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10493-015-0010-5
- Clare, E. L. (2011). Cryptic species? Patterns of maternal and paternal gene flow in eight neotropical bats. *PLOS One*, 6(7), e21460. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0021460
- Conrad, P., Thomford, J., Yamane, I., Whiting, J., Bosma, L., Uno, T., Holshuh, H. J., & Shelly, S. (1991). Hemolytic anemia caused by *Babesia* gibsoni infection in dogs. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 199(5), 601-605.
- Criado-Fornelio, A., Gonzalez-del-Rio, M. A., Buling-Sarana, A., & Barba-Carretero, J. C. (2003). Molecular characterization of a *Babesia* gibsoni isolate from a Spanish dog. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 117(1-2), 123-129. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2003.08.006
- Dantas-Torres, F. (2010). Biology and ecology of the brown dog tick, *Rhipicephalus sanguineus*. *Parasites and Vectors*, 3, 26. https://doi. org/10.1186/1756-3305-3-26
- De la Fuente, J., Torina, A., Caracappa, S., Tumino,
 G., Furlá, R., Almazán, C., & Kocan, K.
 M. (2005). Serologic and molecular characterization of *Anaplasma* species infection

in farm animals and ticks from Sicily. *Veterinary Parasitology*, *133*(4), 357-362. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2005.05.063

- De la Fuente, J., Torina, A., Naranjo, V., Nicosia, S., Alongi, A., La Mantia, F., & Kocan, K. M. (2006). Molecular characterization of *Anaplasma platys* strains from dogs in Sicily, Italy. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 2, 24. http:// www.biomedcentral.com/1746-6148/2/24
- Excoffier, L., & Lischer, H. E. L. (2010). Arlequin suite ver 3.5: A new series of programs to perform population genetics analyses under Linux and Windows. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 10(3), 564-567. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-0998.2010.02847.x
- Foongladda, S., Inthawong, D., Kositanont, U., & Gaywee, J. (2011). Rickettsia, Ehrlichia, Anaplasma, and Bartonella in ticks and fleas from dogs and cats in Bangkok. Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases, 11(10), 1335-1341. https://doi.org/10.1089/vbz.2010.0174
- Galay, R. L., Manalo, A. A. L., Dolores, S. L. D., Aguilar, I. P. M., Sandalo, K. A. C., Cruz, K. B., Divina, B. P., Andoh, M., Masatani, T., & Tanaka, T. (2018). Molecular detection of tick-borne pathogens in canine population and *Rhipicephalus sanguineus (sensu lato)* ticks from southern Metro Manila and Laguna, Philippines. *Parasites and Vectors*, *11*, 643. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13071-018-3192-y
- Haanshuus, C. G., Mohn, S. C., Mørch, K., Langeland, N., Blomberg, B., & Hanevik, K. (2013). A novel, single-amplification PCR targeting mitochondrial genome highly sensitive and specific in diagnosing malaria among returned travelers in Bergen, Norway. *Malaria Journal*, 12, 26. http://www.malariajournal.com/ content/12/1/26
- Halos, L., Jamal, T., Vial, L., Maillard, R., Suau, A., LeMenach, A., Boulouis, H. J., Vayssier-Taussat, M. (2004). Determination of an efficient and

reliable method for DNA extraction from ticks. *Veterinary Research*, *35*, 709–713. https://doi. org/10.1051/vetres:2004038

- Harrus, S., & Waner, T. (2011). Diagnosis of canine monocytotropic ehrlichiosis (*Ehrlichia canis*): An overview. *Veterinary Journal*, 187(3), 292-296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2010.02.001
- Hill, C. A., & Gutierrez, J. A. (2003). A method for extraction and analysis of high quality genomic DNA from ixodid ticks. *Medical and Veterinary Entomology*, 17(2), 224–227. https:// doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2915.2003.00425.x
- Hsieh, Y. C., Lee, C. C., Tsang, C. L., & Chung, Y. T. (2010). Detection and characterization of four novel genotypes of *Ehrlichia canis* from dogs. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 146(1-2), 70-75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2010.04.013
- Hu, M., & Gasser, R. B. (2006). Mitochondrial genomes of parasitic nematodes - Progress and perspectives. *Trends in Parasitology*, 22(2), 78-84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2005.12.003
- Huang, C.-C., Hsieh, Y.-C., Tsang, C.-L., & Chung, Y.-T. (2010). Sequence and phylogenetic analysis of the gp200 protein of Ehrlichia canis from dogs in Taiwan. Journal of Veterinary Science, 11(4), 333-340. https://doi.org/10.4142/ jvs.2010.11.4.333
- Huang, H., Unver, A., Perez, M. J., Orellana, N. G., & Rikihisa, Y. (2005). Prevalence and molecular analysis of *Anaplasma platys* in dogs in Lara, Venezuela. *Brazilian Journal* of *Microbiology*, 36, 211-216. https://doi. org/10.1590/S1517-83822005000300002
- Hubbard, M. J., Cann, K. J., & Wright, D. J. (1995). Validation and rapid extraction of nucleic acids from alcohol-preserved ticks. *Experimental and Applied Acarology*, *19*(8), 473–478. https://doi. org/10.1007/bf00048266
- Inokuma, H., Brouqui, P., Drancourt, M., & Raoult, D. (2001). Citrate synthase gene sequence: A new

Quincie Sipin, Farina Mustaffa-Kamal, Malaika Watanabe, Puteri Azaziah Megat Abdul Rani and Nor Azlina Abdul Aziz

tool for phylogenetic analysis and identification of *Ehrlichia*. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *39*(9), 3031-3039. https://doi.org/10.1128/ JCM.39.9.3031-3039.2001

- Inokuma, H., Fujii, K., Okuda, M., Onishi, T., Beaufils, J. P., Raoult, D., & Brouqui, P. (2002). Determination of the nucleotide sequences of heat shock operon groESL and the citrate synthase gene (gltA) of Anaplasma (Ehrlichia) platys for phylogenetic and diagnostic studies. Clinical and Vaccine Immunology, 9(5), 1132-1136. https://doi.org/10.1128/CDLI.9.5.1132-1136.2002
- Inokuma, H., Raoult, D., & Brouqui, P. (2000). Detection of *Ehrlichia platys* DNA in brown dog ticks (*Rhipicephalus sanguineus*) in Okinawa Island, Japan. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 38(11), 4219-4221. https://doi. org/10.1128/JCM.38.11.4219-4221.2000
- Ionita, M., Mitrea, I. L., Pfister, K., Hamel, D., Buzatu, C. M., & Silaghi, C. (2012). Canine babesiosis in Romania due to *Babesia canis* and *Babesia vogeli*: A molecular approach. *Parasitology Research*, *110*, 1659-1664. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00436-011-2683-y
- Isozumi, R., Fukui, M., Kaneko, A., Chan, C. W., Kawamoto, F., & Kimura, M. (2015). Improved detection of malaria cases in island settings of Vanuatu and Kenya by PCR that targets the *Plasmodium* mitochondrial cytochrome c oxidase III (cox3) gene. *Parasitology International*, 64(3), 304–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. parint.2014.09.006
- Jabbar, A., Jex, A. R., Mohandas, N., Hall, R. S., Littlewood, D. T. J., & Gasser, R. B. (2013). The mitochondrial genome of *Aelurostrongylus abstrusus* - Diagnostic, epidemiological and systematic implications. *Gene*, 516(2), 294–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2012.10.072
- Jennett, A. L., Smith, F. D., & Wall, R. (2013). Tick infestation risk for dogs in a peri-urban

park. *Parasite and Vector*, *6*, 358. https://doi. org/10.1186/1756-3305-6-358

- Jex, A. R., Hall, R. S., Littlewood, D. T. J., & Gasser, R. B. (2010). An integrated pipeline for next-generation sequencing and annotation of mitochondrial genomes. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 38(2), 522–533. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/ gkp883
- Kamani, J., Baneth, G., Mumcuoglu, K. Y., Waziri, N. E., Eyal, O., Guthmann, Y., & Harrus, S. (2013).
 Molecular detection and characterization of tickborne pathogens in dogs and ticks from Nigeria. *PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 7(3), e2108. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0002108
- Kamani, J., Lee, C. C., Haruna, A. M., Chung, P. J., Weka, P. R., & Chung, Y. T. (2013). First detection and molecular characterization of *Ehrlichia canis* from dogs in Nigeria. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 94(1), 27-32. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2012.07.031
- Kjemtrup, A. M., Wainwright, K., Miller, M., Penzhorn, B. L., & Carreno, R. A. (2006). Babesia conradae, sp. Nov., a small canine Babesia identified in California. Veterinary Parasitology, 138(1-2), 103-111. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2006.01.044
- Koh, F. X., Panchadcharam, C., & Tay, S. T. (2016). Vector-borne diseases in stray dogs in peninsular Malaysia and molecular detection of *Anaplasma* and *Ehrlichia* spp. from *Rhipicephalus* sanguineus (Acari: Ixodidae) ticks. Journal of Medical Entomology, 53(1), 183-187. https:// doi.org/10.1093/jme/tjv153
- Kumar, S., Stecher, G., Li, M., Knyaz, C., & Tamura, K. (2018). MEGA X: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis across computing platforms. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 35(6), 1547– 1549. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msy096
- Livanova, N. N., Fomenko, N. V., Akimov, I. A., Ivanov, M. J., Tikunova, N. V., Armstrong, R., & Konyaev, S. V. (2018). Dog survey in

Russian veterinary hospitals: Tick identification and molecular detection of tick-borne pathogens. *Parasites and Vectors*, *11*, 591. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-018-3161-5

- Low, V. L., Prakash, B. K., Lim, Y. A. L., Tan, T. K., Vinnie-Siow, W. Y., Sofian-Azirun, M., & AbuBakar, S. (2018). Detection of Anaplasmataceae agents and co-infection with other tick-borne protozoa in dogs and *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* sensu lato ticks. *Experimental and Applied Acarology*, 75, 429-453. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10493-018-0280-9
- Low, V. L., Prakash, B. K., Tan, T. K., Sofian-Azirun, M., Anwar, F. H. K., Vinnie-Siow, W. Y., & AbuBakar, S. (2017). Pathogens in ectoparasites from free-ranging animals: Infection with *Rickettsia asembonensis* in ticks, and a potentially new species of *Dipylidium* in fleas and lice. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 245, 102–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2017.08.015
- Lv, S., Zhang, Y., Zhang, L. Liu, Q., Liu, H. X., Hu, L., Wei, F. R., Steinmann, P., Graeff-Teixeira, C., Zhou, X. N., & Utzinger, J. (2012). The complete mitochondrial genome of the rodent intra-arterial nematodes Angiostrongylus cantonensis and Angiostrongylus costaricensis. Parasitology Research, 111, 115–123. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00436-011-2807-4
- Malik M. I., Qamar M., Ain Q., Hussain M. F., Dahmani M., Ayaz M., Mahmood A. K., Davoust B., Shaikh R. S., & Iqbal F. (2018). Molecular detection of *Ehrlichia canis* in dogs from three districts in Punjab (Pakistan). *Veterinary Medicine and Science*, 4(2), 126-132. https:// doi.org/10.1002/vms3.94
- Martin, A. R., Brown, G. K., Dunstan, R. H., & Roberts, T. K. (2005). *Anaplasma platys*: An improved PCR for its detection in dogs. *Experimental Parasitology*, 109(3), 176-180. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.exppara.2004.11.007

- Martin, A. R., Dunstan, R. H., Roberts, T. K., & Brown, G. K. (2006). Babesia canis vogeli: A novel PCR for its detection in dogs in Australia. *Experimental Parasitology*, 112(1), 63–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exppara.2005.09.001
- Martins, F. M., Templeton, A. R., Pavan, A. C. O., Kohlback, B. C., & Morgante, J. S. (2009). Phylogeography of the common vampire bat (*Desmodus rotundus*): Marked population structure, Neotropical Pleistocene vicariance and incongruence between nuclear and mtDNA markers. *BMC Evolutionary Biology*, 9, 294. http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2148/9/294
- Mokhtar, A. S., Lim, S. F., & Tay, S. T. (2013). Molecular detection of *Anaplasma platys* and *Babesia gibsoni* in dogs in Malaysia. *Tropical Biomedicine*, 30(2), 345-348.
- Moraes, P. H. G., Rufino, C. P., Baraúna, A. R. F., Reis, T., Agnol, L. T. D., Meneses, A. M. C., Aguiar, D. C. F., Nunes, M. R. T., & Gonçalves, E. C. (2015). Molecular characterization of *Babesia vogeli* in dogs from Belém, northern Brazil. *Genetics and Molecular Research*, 14(4), 16364-16371. https://doi.org/10.4238/2015. December.9.4
- Morgan, E. R., & Van-Dijk, J. (2012). Climate and the epidemiology of gastrointestinal nematode infections of sheep in Europe. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 189(1), 8-14. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2012.03.028
- Nazari, M., Lim, S. Y., Watanabe, M., Sharma, R. S. K., Cheng, N. A. B. Y., & Watanabe, M. (2013). Molecular detection of *Ehrlichia canis* in dogs in Malaysia. *PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 7(1), e1982. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pntd.0001982
- Nguyen, V. L., Colella, V., Iatta, R., Bui, K. L., Dantas-Torres, F., & Otranto, D. (2019). Ticks and associated pathogens from dogs in northern

Quincie Sipin, Farina Mustaffa-Kamal, Malaika Watanabe, Puteri Azaziah Megat Abdul Rani and Nor Azlina Abdul Aziz

Vietnam. Parasitology Research, 118, 139-142. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/ s00436-018-6138-6

- Otranto, D., & Wall, R. (2008). New strategies for the control of arthropod vectors of disease in dogs and cats. *Medical and Veterinary Entomology*, 22(4), 291-302. https://doi.org/10 .1111/j.1365-2915.2008.00741
- Otranto, D., Dantas-Torres, F., & Breitschwerdt, E. B. (2009). Managing canine vector-borne diseases of zoonotic concern: Part one. *Trends in Parasitology*, 25(4), 157-163. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.pt.2009.01.003
- Pinyoowong, D., Jittapalapong, S., Suksawat, F., Stich, R. W., & Thamchaipenet, A. (2008). Molecular characterization of Thai *Ehrlichia canis* and *Anaplasma platys* strains detected in dogs. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution*, 8(4), 433-438. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2007.06.002
- Prakash, B. K., Low, V. L., Tan, T. K., Vinnie-Siow, W. Y., Lim, Y. A. L., Morvarid, A. R., Azman, A. S., Yeong, Y. S., AbuBakar, S., & Sofian-Azirun, M. (2018). Detection of *Hepatozoon canis* in the brown dog tick and domestic dogs in Peninsular Malaysia. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 55(5), 1346-1348. https://doi.org/10.1093/jme/tjy081
- Prakash, B. K., Low, V. L., Vinnie-Siow, W. Y., Tan, T. K., Lim, Y. A. L., Movarid, A. R., Abu-Bakar, S., & Sofian-Azirun, M. (2018). Detection of *Babesia* spp. in dogs and their ticks from Peninsular Malaysia: Emphasis on *Babesia gibsoni* and *Babesia vogeli* infections in *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* sensu lato (Acari: Ixodidae). *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 55(5), 1337-1340. https://doi.org/10.1093/jme/ tjy072
- Qurollo, B. A., Archer, N. R., Schreeg, M. E., Marr,
 H. S., Birkenheuer, A. J., Haney, K. N., Thomas,
 B. S., & Breitschwerdt, E. B. (2017). Improved molecular detection of *Babesia* infections in animals using a novel quantitative real-time

PCR diagnostic assay targeting mitochondrial DNA. *Parasites and Vectors*, *10*, 128. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-017-2064-1

- Selim A., Abdelhady A., & Alahadeb J. (2021). Prevalence and first molecular characterization of *Ehrlichia canis* in Egyptian dogs. *Pakistan Veterinary Journal*, 41(1), 117-121. https://doi. org/10.29261/pakvetj/2020.061
- Sipin, Q., Kamal, F. M., Watanabe, M., Rani, P. A. M. A., Low, V. L., & Aziz, N. A. A. (2020). Molecular detection of tick-borne haemopathogens in shelter dogs and *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* (sensu lato) ticks from Peninsular Malaysia. *Comparative Immunology, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases*, 73, 101563. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cimid.2020.101563
- Šlapeta, J., Chandra, S., & Halliday, B. (2021). The "tropical lineage" of the brown dog tick *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* sensu lato identified as *Rhipicephalus linnaei* (Audouin, 1826). *International Journal for Parasitology*, 51(6), 431-436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijpara.2021.02.001
- Teacher, A. G. F., & Griffiths, D. J. (2011). HapStar: Automated haplotype network layout and visualisation. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 11(1), 151-153. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-0998.2010.02890.x
- Tian, Z., Luo, J., Zheng, J., Xie, J., Shen, H., Yin, H., Luo, J., Tian, M., Yuan, X., Wang, F., & Liu, G. (2013). Phylogenetic analysis of *Babesia* species in China based on cytochrome b (COB) gene. *Infection, Genetic and Evolution*, 13, 36-40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2012.09.001
- Unver, A., Rikihisa, Y., Kawahara, M., & Yamamoto, S. (2003). Analysis of 16S rRNA gene sequences of *Ehrlichia canis*, *Anaplasma platys*, and *Wolbachia* species from canine blood in Japan. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 990(1), 692-698. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2003.tb07445.x

- Vargas-Hernandez, G., Andre, M. R., Faria, J. L. M., Munhoz, T. D., Hernandez-Rodriguez, M., Machado, R. Z., & Tinucci-Costa, M. (2012). Molecular and serological detection of *Ehrlichia* canis and Babesia vogeli in dogs in Colombia. Veterinary Parasitology, 186(3), 254-260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2011.11.011
- Wen, B., Rikihisa, Y., Mott, J. M., Greene, R., Kim, H. Y., Zhi, N., Couto, G. C., Unver, A., & Bartsch, R. (1997). Comparison of nested PCR with immunofluorescent antibody assay for detection of *Ehrlichia canis* infection in dogs treated with doxycycline. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *35*(7), 1852-1855. https://doi.org/10.1128/ jcm.35.7.1852-1855.1997
- Wiegarg, G., & Remington, S. J. (1986). Citrate synthase: Structure, control, and mechanism. Annual Review of Biophysics and Biophysical Chemistry, 15, 97-117. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev.bb.15.060186.000525
- Xia, X. (2018). DAMBE7: New and improved tools for data analysis in molecular biology and evolution. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 35(6), 1550–1552. https://doi.org/10.1093/ molbev/msy073
- Yabsley, M. J., McKibben, J., Macpherson, C.
 N., Cattan, P. F., Cherry, N. A., Hegarty,
 B. C., Breitschwerdt, E. B., O'Connor, T.,
 Chandrashekar, R., Paterson, T., Perea, M. L.,
 Ball, G., Friesen, S., Goedde, J., Henderson, B.,
 & Sylvester, W. (2008). Prevalence of *Ehrlichia*

canis, Anaplasma platys, Babesia canis vogeli, Hepatozoon canis, Bartonella vinsonii berkhoffii, and Rickettsia spp. in dogs from Grenada. Veterinary Parasitology, 151(2-4), 279-285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2007.11.008

- Ybañez, A. P., Perez, Z. O., Gabotero, S. R., Yandug, R. T., Kotaro, M., & Inokuma, H. (2012). First molecular detection of *Ehrlichia canis* and *Anaplasma platys* in ticks from dogs in Cebu, Philippines. *Ticks and Tick-borne Diseases*, 3(5-6), 288-293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ttbdis.2012.10.032
- Yin, F., Gasser, R. B., Li, F., Ba0, M., Huang, W., Zou, F., Zhao, G., Wang, C., Yang, X., Zhou, Y., Zhao, J., Fang, R., & Hu, M. (2013). Genetic variability within and among *Haemonchus contortus* isolates from goats and sheep in China. *Parasites and Vectors*, *6*, 279. https://doi. org/10.1186/1756-3305-6-279
- Yu, X. J., McBride, J. W., & Walker, D. H. (2007). Restriction and expansion of *Ehrlichia* strain diversity. *Veterinary Parasitology*, 143(3-4), 337–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vetpar.2006.08.027
- Zhang, X., Luo, T., Keysary, A., Baneth, G., Miyashiro, S., Strenger, C., Waner, T., & McBride, J. W. (2008). Genetic and antigenic diversities of major immunoreactive proteins in globally distributed *Ehrlichia canis* strains. *Clinical and Vaccine Immunology*, 15(7), 1080-1088. https:// doi.org/10.1128/CVI.00482-07



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Preliminary *In Silico* Analysis of *CHS1* Gene in Commelinids Clade: Family Zingiberaceae, Costaceae, and Poaceae

Seemab Akram¹, Shahrizim Zulkifly¹, Shamsul Khamis² and Nurul Izza Ab Ghani^{1,3*}

¹Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia ²Department of Biological Sciences and Biotechnology, Faculty of Science and Technology, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, 43600 Bangi, Selangor, Malaysia

³Laboratory of Sustainable Animal Production and Biodiversity, Institute of Tropical Agriculture and Food Security, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

The chalcone synthase (*CHS*) gene families are known to be conserved in plants and have been well-studied in many plants, and they have an important role in the physiological and biological processes of plants. One of the studied *CHS* gene families is the *CHS1* gene. *CHS1* gene is known for its function in the flavonoid biosynthetic pathway. However, not many studies have been reported on the *CHS1* gene in the Commelinids clade, especially the evolution of this gene within three families: Zingiberaceae, Costaceae, and Poaceae. Thus, this study aimed to perform a preliminary *in silico* comparative analysis of the *CHS1* gene across these three families. Through this *in silico* comparative analysis, 20 partial sequences of the *CHS1* gene, which are restricted to 565 bp regions, were analysed. The partial sequences were extracted from the National Center for Biotechnology Information database comprised of 16 Zingiberaceae species, three Costaceae species, and one Poaceae species. From the analysis, these targeted regions showed a low polymorphic site (18.23%) with 103 positions of single nucleotide polymorphisms and three mutations

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 15 September 2022 Accepted: 01 December 2022 Published: 29 March 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.04

E-mail addresses:

seemabakram@ymail.com (Seemab Akram) shahrizim@upm.edu.my (Shahrizim Zulkifly) shamsulk@ukm.edu.my (Shamsul Khamis) nurul_izza@upm.edu.my (Nurul Izza Ab Ghani) * Corresponding author

ISSN: 1511-3701 e-ISSN: 2231-8542 (substitution, insertion, and deletion). Meanwhile, phylogenetic analysis showed no clear evolutionary pattern within the three studied families. In conclusion, the studied partial sequences of the *CHS1* gene in Zingiberaceae, Costaceae, and Poaceae showed that the gene is conserved within the Commelinids clade. Further studies to understand the consequences of low polymorphism and mutations as well as adaptive evolution in the *CHS1* gene, accompanied by biochemistry and gene expression studies, should be done in these 20 species of Zingiberaceae, Costaceae, and Poaceae.

Keywords: *CHS1* gene, commelinids, Costaceae, evolution, Poaceae, Zingiberaceae

INTRODUCTION

A group of genes can be grouped into a family according to their high sequence similarity, but adaptation or speciation can contribute to gene diversification (gene polymorphism) and evolution (Lynch & Conery, 2000; Nei & Rooney, 2005). The mutation is a factor that induces gene diversification and evolution. Gene diversification has largely arisen from duplication followed by functional divergence (Reams & Roth, 2015). Many duplicates are immediately lost during a gene duplication event because mutations accumulate in duplicated genes with redundant functions (Innan & Kondrashov, 2010). However, some mutations can lead to a higher degree of functional divergence of duplicates, which can be advantageous for adaptive evolution (Ezoe et al., 2021), consistent with the neutral theory of molecular evolution (Kimura, 1983). Gene divergence could be measured in multigene families through unequal crossing-over rate, mutation rate, gene conversion rate, and selection coefficient of the locus (Matsuo & Yamazaki, 1989).

The chalcone synthase (*CHS*) gene families are among the important genes continuously studied in many plants to understand their evolutionary patterns (Durbin et al., 2000; Glagoleva et al., 2019). The CHS gene families express enzymes that belong to type III polyketide synthases and are involved in flavonoid biosynthesis (Roslan, Huy, Kee et al., 2020; Roslan, Huy, Ming et al., 2020; Yuan et al., 2021). The CHS genes have been studied in many plants and showed up to 60% homologues sequences (Jiang & Cao, 2008). The CHS genes have been studied in Arabidopsis thaliana (Dao et al., 2011), Juglans regia (Cheniany et al., 2012), Oncidium Gower Ramsay (Liu et al., 2012), Malus domestica (Dare et al., 2013), Garbera hybrida (Deng et al., 2014), Triticum aestivum (Trojan et al., 2014), and some species of Zingiberaceae such as Curcuma longa (Ayer et al., 20108; Deepa et al., 2017; Resmi & Soniya, 2012), Boesenbergia rotunda (Chia et al., 2020; Roslan, Huy, Kee, et al., 2020; Roslan, Huy, Ming, et al., 2020), and Alpinia oxyphylla (Yuan et al., 2021). Comparative analysis of the CHS gene between and among families of plants to understand the evolutionary pattern of the CHS gene is still scarce, and no study has been done on the CHS1 gene.

The *CHS1* gene involves in the flavonoid biosynthetic pathway. Flavonoid biosynthetic pathway genes (structural and regulatory genes) presented a model system to understand the variety of evolutionary processes, such as causes of evolutionary variation rate among genes, duplicated genes that presented an evolution of novel characters, and the relative importance of structural and regulatory genes that involved in important ecological characters (Rausher, 2006). Each of these processes

is important for plant adaptation, and it has been presumed that due to this reason, selection played a determining role in the evolution of the genes (Yang et al., 2004). However, *CHS* genes varied in plants across taxa leading to the evolution of those genes involved in the flavonoid pathway. Therefore, *in silico* comparative analysis of the *CHS1* gene between the Zingiberaceae, Costaceae, and Poaceae was done as a preliminary study to provide a fundamental idea of the evolutionary pattern in the *CHS1* gene within the Commelinids clade.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A total of 22 CHS1 sequences were downloaded from the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) database (Table 1; https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ genbank/). Those CHS1 sequences belong to 16 species of Zingiberaceae (Curcuma longa, Alpinia galanga, Alpinia luteocarpa, Alpinia vittata, Alpinia zerumbet, Curcuma amada, Curcuma aromatica, Curcuma caesia, Elettaria cardamomum, Globba marantina, Hedychium coronorium, Kaempferia elegans, Kaempferia galanga, Kaempferia rotunda, Etlingera elatior, and Zingiber officinale), five species of Costaceae and only one Poaceae species. Of those CHS1 sequences, two were complete CHS1 sequences, and 20 were partial CHS1 sequences, as shown in Table 1. All CHS1 sequences belonging to Costaceae and Poaceae were subjected to dataset selection. The sequences were checked for their percentage of identity, query cover, and E-value with CHS1 sequences of Zingiberaceae taxid using BLASTn (https:// blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi). Two *CHS1* sequences belonging to Costaceae (HM161806.1 and HM161808.1) were excluded from the final dataset because they showed no similarity with *CHS1* sequences belonging to the Zingiberaceae taxid (Table 2).

Thus, the final dataset consisted of 16 *CHS1* sequences belonging to Zingiberaceae, three *CHS1* sequences belonging to Costaceae, and one *CHS1* sequence belonging to Poaceae (Table 3). Then, multiple sequence alignment was performed using BioEdit 7.2 software (Hall, 1999), and all sequences were adjusted to well match each other by restricting the sequence size to 565 bp (Figure 2). Overall nucleotide dissimilarities among 20 *CHS1* sequences were manually determined to look for mutation and were recorded.

As shown in Figure 1, a similarity matrix was computed using MEGA X software (Kumar et al., 2018). After that, phylogenetic trees were constructed using unrooted neighbour-joining (NJ) trees with two iterations (100 and 1,000). Both iterations constructed similar trees. Hence, the phylogenetic tree constructed with 1,000 iterations was selected to show the *CHS1* evolutionary pattern within the Commelinids clade: Zingiberaceae, Costaceae, and Poaceae.

RESULTS

Twenty *CHS1* sequences belonging to Zingiberaceae, Costaceae, and Poaceae were aligned, and nucleotide dissimilarities

Seemab Akram, Shahrizim Zulkifly, Shamsul Khamis and Nurul Izza Ab Ghani

Table 1

List of CHS1 *gene sequences of Zingiberaceae, Costaceae, and Poaceae from the NCBI database*

Family	Species	Accession number	Sequence length (bp)	Sequence status		
	Curcuma longa	AB573020.1	2,107	Complete		
	Alpinia galanga	HM161832.1	568			
	Alpinia luteocarpa	HM161830.1	568			
	Alpinia vittata	HM161834.1	568			
	Alpinia zerumbet	HM161836.1	568			
	Curcuma amada	HM161809.1	568			
	Curcuma aromatica	HM161810.1	568			
7 in aile ana ana a	Curcuma caesia	HM161811.1	568	Partial		
Zingiberaceae	Elettaria cardamomum	HM161813.1	568			
	Globba marantina	HM161814.1	568			
	Hedychium coronarium	HM161815.1	568			
	Kaempferia elegans	HM161819.1	565			
	Kaempferia galanga	HM161816.1	HM161816.1 568			
	Kaempferia rotunda	HM161820.1	568			
	Etlingera elatior	HM161821.1	571			
	Zingiber officinale	DQ089697.2	578			
	Costus erythrophyllus	HM161829.1	568			
	Costus malortieanus	HM161838.1	568			
Costaceae	Costus pulverulentus	HM161806.1	568			
	Costus pictus	HM161826.1	568			
	Cheilocostus speciosus	HM161808.1	568			
Poaceae	Sorghum bicolor	AF152548.1	2,078	Complete		

Table 2

The similarity index of CHS1 sequences of Costaceae and Poaceae with Zingiberaceae taxid using BLASTn

Query sequence	Match sequence	Query cover	E-value	Percentage of identity
HM161829.1	HM161832.1 (<i>Alpinia galanga</i> chalcone synthase (<i>CHS1</i>) gene, partial cds)	100%	6e-159	84.51%
HM161838.1	HM161830.1 (<i>Alpinia luteocarpa</i> chalcone synthase (<i>CHS1</i>) gene, partial cds)	97%	6e-134	82.29%
HM161806.1	-	-	-	-
HM161826.1	HM161819.1 (<i>Kaempferia elegans</i> chalcone synthase (<i>CHS1</i>) gene, partial cds)	100%	9e-123	80.84%
HM161808.1	-	-	-	-
AF152548.1	MT811929.1 (Curcuma alismatifolia CHS1 mRNA, complete cds)	47%	0.0	79.90%

Note. Cds = Coding sequences

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 425 - 437 (2023)

In silico Analysis of Commelinid Clade

Family	Species	Accession number
	Curcuma longa	AB573020.1
	Alpinia galanga	HM161832.1
	Alpinia luteocarpa	HM161830.1
	Alpinia vittata	HM161834.1
Zingiberaceae	Alpinia zerumbet	HM161836.1
	Curcuma amada	HM161809.1
	Curcuma aromatica	HM161810.1
	Curcuma caesia	HM161811.1
	Elettaria cardamomum	HM161813.1
	Globba marantina	HM161814.1
	Hedychium coronarium	HM161815.1
	Kaempferia elegans	HM161819.1
	Kaempferia galanga	HM161816.1
	Kaempferia rotunda	HM161820.1
	Etlingera elatior	HM161821.1
	Zingiber officinale	DQ089697.2
Costaceae	Costus erythrophyllus	HM161829.1
	Costus malortieanus	HM161838.1
	Costus pictus	HM161826.1
Poaceae	Sorghum bicolor	AF152548.1

Table 3

The final dataset of CHS1 gene sequences for in silico comparative CHS1 gene study

[Cl]	[Ag]	[Al]	[Av]	[Az]	[Ca]	[Cr]	[Cc]	[Ec]	[Gm]	[Hc]	[Ke]	[Kr]	[Ne]	[Zo]	[Ce]	[Cm]	[Cp]	[Sb]	[Kg]
[Cl]																			
[Ag]	0.4705																		
[Al]	0.51380).4525																	
[Av]	0.51550).4443	0.3651																
[Az]	0.4913 (0.0348	0.4865 (0.4605															
[Ca]	0.47960	0.4412	0.3245 (0.05190	.4676														
[Cr]	0.49340).4444	0.31880	0.0462 0	.4676 0.	0145													
[Cc]	0.48610).4612	0.32160	0.05190	.4849 0.	02180	.0181												
[Ec]	0.47750	0.0181	0.4593 0	.45400	.0348 0.	45090	.4509 (0.4712											
[Gm]	0.47590	0.4580	0.33580	0.0813 0	.4853 0.	05580	.0558(0.06750	.4647										
[Hc]	0.48990).4476	0.32450	0.06350	.4675 0.	03860	.0367(0.04420	.4542 0	.0558									
[Ke]	0.50310).4519(0.48550	.50800	.47200.	47290	.4794 (0.47950	.45840	.4662 0	.4691								
[Kr]	0.47910).4477	0.33580	0.0713 0	.47100.	04800	.0461 (0.05760	.4543 0	.0615 0	.0385 0.	4660							
[Ne]	0.52140).4355(0.4859 0	.4624 0	.4585 0.	44270	.42970	0.4394 0	.4325 0	.4493 0	.4489 0.	2356 0.	4395						
[Zo]	0.55070).5137(0.53210	.5481 0	.5281 0.	51100	.51070	0.51450	.52800	.51870	.5108 0.	0836 0.	5182 0	2737					
[Ce]	0.48410	0.1756	0.4696 0	.4303 0	.1848 0.	4274 0	.4240 (0.43390	.17790	.4276 0	.4208 0.	4654 0.	41150	41960.	4852				
[Cm]	0.51780).4367(0.21710	.3303 0	.4629 0.	31070	.31070	.31900	.4399 0	.33320	.3219 0.	4316 0.	3218 0.	44470.	47800	.4458			
[Cp]	0.49050).4149(0.4555 0	.4509 0	.4276 0.	43100	.42100	0.43070	.4308 0	.4212 0	.4242 0.	2239 0.	4182 0	2075 0.	25110	.38370	.4361		
[Sb]	0.51560).2969(0.48650	.5023 0.	.2996 0.	52070	.5245 0	.53560	.30510	.5096 0	.5244 0.4	4974 0.	5132 0.	44890.	51130	2600 0	.4694 0.4	1436	
[Kg]	0.48300).4475(0.3301.0	.0773.0	.4710.0.	0538.0	.05190	0.0635.0	4542.0	.0714.0	.0442.0.	4902.0.	0386.0	4489.0.	5405.0	.41130	3274 0.4	4273 0.4	5131

Figure 1. Similarity matrices of 20 CHS1 sequences belong to 16 Zingiberaceae species, three Costaceae species, and one Poaceae species

Note. [Cl] Curcuma longa; [Ag] Alpinia galanga; [Al] Alpinia luteocarpa; [Av] Alpinia vittate; [Az] Alpinia zerumbet; [Ca] Curcuma amada; [Cr] Curcuma aromatica; [Cc] Curcuma caesia; [Ec] Elettaria cardamomum; [Gm] Globba marantina; [Hc] Hedychium coronarium; [Ke] Kaempferia elegans; [Kr] Kaempferia rotunda; [Ne] Etlingera elatior; [Zo] Zingiber officinale; [Ce] Costus erythrophyllus; [Cm] Costus malortieanus; [Cp] Costus pictus; [Sb] Sorghum bicolor; [Kg] Kaempferia galanga

Curcuma amada Curcuma casasi Curcuma casasi Alpinia vitate Redychium ocoronarium Redychium ocoronarium Alpinia urbeocarpa Costus microtrineanus Costus microtrineanus Costus microtrineanus Costus microtrineanus Costus microtrineanus Costus arythropylius Sorghum Dicolor Ringfore officianale Costus pricolar Sorghum Color Sorghum Color Sorghum Color Sorghum Stellar	1 6 1 6 1 6 1 6 1 6 1 7 1 7 1 7 1 7 1 7 1 7 1 7 1 7		TGC G G G GC G GC G G GC GC G GC G GC GC GC G GC GC G GC GC GC G GC GC GC G GC GC GC GC G GC GC G	λ c λ c λ c λ c Λ c Λ c Λ c σ C GT GT C GT GT C GT GT C GT GT A GT GT A GT GT A GT	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Curcuma amada Curcuma aromatica Curcuma cometa Maempforia galanga Kaempforia galanga Kaempforia galanga Alpinia uteocarpa Curcuma longa Alpinia galanga Curcuma longa Alpinia serumbe Costus erythrophyling Costus erythroph	Lio Trace Trace Trace Trace Trace Trace Trace Trace Trace Second Second	120 A G A G A G A G A G A G A G A G		150 160 C	170 IE	0 100 200 A CA G TTT 194 A CA G TTG 194 A CA G TTG 194 A CA G TTG 194 A CA G TTG 194 A CA G TT ACC 194 C CGG C TC GCG 194 C GG T ACC 194 C GG C TC ACC 194 C GG C C
Curcuma amada Curcuma aromatica Curcuma cometica Curcuma cometica Kaempferia galanga Kaempferia galanga Koba luteocorpa Costus micortineanua Costus diortineanua Carcona longa Alcona longa Alcona cortanoum Alpinia serumbet Clastaria cardanoum Alpinia serumbet Clastaria cardanoum Alpinia serumbet Clastaria cardanoum Alpinia serumbet Cardon cortica Sampforia elegana Elingiber critica Etilogera elatior		220 2 C AT C AT C AT C AT C AT C AT A C AG A C AG G AT A C AG G AT A C AG C T G GG C T G GG C C G G GGA AT G GA AT G GA AT	30 240 I G G C C C C G C C C G C G C G C G C G C G C <td>250 260 A c A c A c A c A c A c A c A c A c CCGC G G CCGC G G CCGC G G CCGC G C CCGC C C CCGC C C C CCGC C C C CCGC C C C C</td> <td>270 27 T C CTC CC C T C CTC CC C T C CGC CC C T C CGC CC C T C CGC CC C T C CGC CC C T C CCC CC C C C CTC CC CC C C C C C CTC CC CC C C C C C C C CC CC C C C C C</td> <td>2290 300 G A A 294 G A C C A 294 G A C C C A 294 G A C C C C A 294 G A C C C C A 294 G C C C C T A 294 G C C C C A G G C 231 294 C C A G T G G C 231 294 C C G A G G G G 237 294 C G A G G G G G 237 294</td>	250 260 A c A c A c A c A c A c A c A c A c CCGC G G CCGC G G CCGC G G CCGC G C CCGC C C CCGC C C C CCGC C C C CCGC C C C C	270 27 T C CTC CC C T C CTC CC C T C CGC CC C T C CGC CC C T C CGC CC C T C CGC CC C T C CCC CC C C C CTC CC CC C C C C C CTC CC CC C C C C C C C CC CC C C C C C	2290 300 G A A 294 G A C C A 294 G A C C C A 294 G A C C C C A 294 G A C C C C A 294 G C C C C T A 294 G C C C C A G G C 231 294 C C A G T G G C 231 294 C C G A G G G G 237 294 C G A G G G G G 237 294
Curcums ameda Curcums accomeica Alpinis viteae Kaempfenis optima Nedychium coronosium Japinis ulteeoaepa Costus malortimeanus Curcum malortimeanus Curcum malortimeanus Alpinis quianga Elettaris cardamum Alpinis quianga Elettaris cardamum Costus expinengyine Sorphum bicolor Costus expinengyine Costus poitons Eletingues atlente	3100 295 C T T G G G 295 C C T T G G G 295 C C C T G G G G 295 C C C A C C C 295 C C C A C C C 295 C G A C C C A C C C 295 G G A C C C A C C C 295 G G A C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	320 3 C C C C C C C C C C	30 340 a c c a a c a a c a a c a a c a a c a c a c c a c a c a c a c c c a c c c c c a c c c c a c c c c c a c c c c c a c c c c c c c c c c c c c c	350 360 T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	370 31 G G C G G C C G G C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	390 400 T GAACT 394 T GAACT 394 A GAACT 394 A GAACT 394 GAACT G C 394 GAACT G C 394 GCGAACC C C 394 CCGAACC C C 394 CCGAACC G C 394 CCGAACC C C 394 CCGAACC C C 394 CCGAACC C C 394 CCGAACC C C 394
Gircuma anexda Curreuma aromatica Curreuma comesia Alpinis viteate Kaempferia octinda Magnita octinda Alpinis utreocarpa Costus malosti alpinis alpinis alpinis aprumbet Costus aprimbet Costus aprimbet Costu	410	420 a C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	30 440 A = C A A = C A A = C A A = C A A = C A A = C A A = C A G = C A A = C A A = C A A = C A A = C A A = C	450 460 	470 41	400 500 AAT A T G 494 AT A T G 494 CA A CT G 494 CA A CT G 494 CA A CTAC 494 494 CA A CTAC C 494 CC A CTAC C 6 494 TCTC T C C 494 494 CA T T T G 494 494 CA T T T G 494
Curcuma amada Curcuma caesia Alpinia vittate Kaempferia rotti Hedychium coroi Alpinia luteoco Costus malortir Curcuma longa Alpinia luteoco Costus erythrog Elettaria cardd Alpinia zerumbe Costus erythrog Sarghum biacolog Sarghum biacolog Sarghu	495 495 495 1074 495 1074 495 1071 495	510 G G C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	520 G 6 G 7 G 7 G 7 G 7 G 7 G 7 G 7 G 7	530 GG T Z GG T Z GG T Z GG T Z AG A A AG A A AG A AG A A T TCA C AG A A TC C A TC C A TC C A TC C A C A G A G A G A G A G A G A G T Z C A C A C A C C A C A C C A C A	540 550 	560 C C 559 C C C 559 C C 559 C C C C 559 C C C C 556 C C C C 556 C C C C 556 C C C C 556 C C C C 556 C C C C 556 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C

Seemab Akram, Shahrizim Zulkifly, Shamsul Khamis and Nurul Izza Ab Ghani

Figure 2. The 20 CHS1 sequences aligned using BioEdit 7.0 software. The 16 Zingiberaceae species: Curcuma longa, Alpinia galanga, Alpinia luteocarpa, Alpinia vittata, Alpinia zerumbet, Curcuma amada, Curcuma aromatica, Curcuma caesia, Elettaria cardamomum, Globba marantina, Hedychium coronorium, Kaempferia elegans, Kaempferia galanga, Kaempferia rotunda, Etlingera elatior, and Zingiber officinale, three Costaceae species: Costus erythrophyllus, Costus malortineanus, and Costus pictus, and one Poaceae species: Sorghum bicolor

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 425 - 437 (2023)
were observed among them (Figure 2). The observed nucleotide dissimilarities proposed three mutations, which were deletion, insertion, and substitution. Two minor deletions were observed at 155 to 157 in two species (Kaempferia elegans and Zingiber officinale). Insertion mutations of three nucleotides were observed in two sequences at two different positions in two species: (i) CTT were inserted at positions 57 to 59 in Curcuma longa, while (ii) GTC were inserted at positions 158 to 160 in Etlingera elatior. Substitution mutations were observed at 285 positions, equivalent to 50.44% of sequence variation. Moreover, 103 positions showed single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs). Hence, the results

propose the studied 565 bp *CHS1* gene regions within the Commelinids clade; the Zingiberaceae, Costaceae, and Poaceae are conserved *CHS1* gene regions with low polymorphism (only 18.23% of SNPs).

Moreover, the evolutionary pattern of the *CHS1* gene within the Commelinids clade showed no clear evolutionary pattern (Figure 3), and this supports the previous results, which found *CHS1* gene is conserved within the Commelinids clade. The constructed phylogenetic tree showed two clades (Clade i and Clade ii). Clade i comprised 11 species, and Clade ii comprised two subclusters with nine species. In Clade i, 10 species belong to Zingiberaceae, while one belongs to Costaceae. In Clade ii, subcluster



Figure 3. An unrooted neighbour joining (NJ) tree with 1,000 iterations showed an unclear evolutionary pattern of the *CHS1* gene within the 20 studied sequences of the Commelinids clade

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 425 - 437 (2023)

i comprises three species that belong to Zingiberaceae, while only one species belongs to Costaceae. Whereas subcluster ii comprised three species belonging to Zingiberaceae, one species belonging to Costaceae, and one to Poaceae.

DISCUSSION

The present study investigated the evolutionary pattern in the *CHS1* gene of the Commelinids clade using 20 species belonging to Zingiberaceae, Poaceae, and Costaceae at a preliminary stage. Nucleotide dissimilarities were observed due to three mutations: substitution, insertion, and deletion. These mutations contribute to low polymorphism in the *CHS1* gene. In addition, the unrooted NJ tree showed no clear evolutionary pattern of the *CHS1* gene and supported the *CHS1* gene as a conserved gene with low polymorphism due to several mutations.

Two of the three mutations (i.e., substitution and deletion) observed in this study have been reported in previous CHS gene studies of different plant families. Deletion in the CHS gene has been reported at the promotor region of the CHS4 gene in Glycine max (Tuteja et al., 2004). Short frameshift deletions in protein-coding regions of CHS genes (Chs-A4T, Chs-A3, and Chs-A4T) have been found in Triticum aestivum (Glagoleva et al., 2019). Truncated CHS3-ICHS1 is presented in mutant soybean (Glycine max) due to deletion at 5' flanking or coding region of ICHS1 in Ms-m mutant (Senda et al., 2002). Meanwhile, Jiang and Cao (2008) have observed nucleotide

substitutions in BcCHS-wf at two positions (i.e., A to G at 37 and 970 bp, respectively) in both wild and mutant types of Chinese cabbage-Pak choi (Brassica campestris spp. chinensis). Another mutation reported in the CHS gene is duplication (Clegg et al., 1997; Lynch & Conery, 2000; Vision et al., 2000). It has been found in Arabidopsis thaliana (Lynch & Conery, 2000; Vision et al., 2000). However, duplication was not found in the present study. Duplication in a gene indicates polyploidisation, which was known to occur 100 million years ago (Durbin et al., 2000). Mutations at nucleotide sequences or amino acids are a primary step in gene evolution (Durbin et al., 2000; Vision et al., 2000). Mutations can lead to the divergence of gene families due to evolutionary forces, such as demographic history, mating system, and natural selection (Chiang et al., 2003; Chiang et al., 2004; Huang et al., 2004).

The CHS gene families are functional genes that control flavonoid production and are conserved genes that portray an adaptive evolution (De Meaux et al., 2006; Johnson & Dowd, 2004). For example, the CHS genes are structurally and functionally conserved in flowering plants, such as Antirrhinum majus (Sommer & Saedler, 1986). In functional and conserved genes, mutations usually occur in intergenic regions, including insertion, deletion, and a large amount of substitution (Mitchell-Olds, 2001). Previous studies also showed the CHS genes are conserved in many plant genera and families (Austin & Neol, 2003; Clegg et al., 1997; Durbin et al., 2000; Huang et al., 2004; Koch et al., 2000; Koes et al., 1989; Yang et al., 2002) as a single gene (Feinbaum & Ausubel, 1988; Kreuzaler, 1983) or as multigene families (Anguraj et al., 2018; Christensen et al., 1998; Deng et al., 2014; Durbin et al., 2000; Glagoleva et al., 2019; Han et al., 2016, 2017; Koes et al., 1987, 1989; Ito et al., 1997; Radhakrishnan & Soniya, 2009; Schroder et al., 1998; Tuteja et al., 2004). For example, barley has seven copies of CHS genes (Christensen et al., 1998), Pinus has two copies of CHS genes (Schroder et al., 1998), and Petunia hybrida has eight complete and four partial CHS genes that are expressed in floral tissues and seedlings but not present in leaf, root, and stem (Koes et al., 1987).

CONCLUSION

The in silico comparative CHS1 gene study within the Commelinids clade using 20 partial sequences (565 bp) belonging to 16 Zingiberaceae species, three Costaceae species, and one Poaceae species showed the CHS1 gene is conserved with no clear evolutionary pattern. However, low polymorphism (18.23% of SNPs) and a few mutations, substitution, insertion, and deletion were observed. Hence, further studies are needed to explain the possible consequences of low polymorphism and mutations in the CHS1 gene within the Commelinids clade. Understanding this might elucidate adaptive evolution in the CHS1 gene. In addition, more species under the Commelinids clade should also be studied for their CHS1 gene evolution.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We sincerely thank the Genome-Wide Association members and anonymous reviewers for their comments to improve this paper's writing. This study is part of a Ph.D. project entitled "Preliminary *in silico* analysis of *CHS1* gene in Commelinids clade; Family Zingiberaceae, Costaceae, and Poaceae" and partially funded by International Graduate Student Scholarship (IGSS), Universiti Putra Malaysia (UPM).

REFERENCES

- Anguraj Vadivel, A. K., Krysiak, K., Tian, G.,
 & Dhaubhadel, S. (2018). Genome-wide identification and localization of chalcone synthase family in soybean (*Glycine max* [L] Merr). *BMC Plant Biology*, 18, 325. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12870-018-1569-x
- Austin, M. B., & Noel, J. P. (2003). The chalcone synthase superfamily of type III polyketide synthases. *Natural Product Reports*, 20(1), 79-110. https://doi.org/10.1039/B100917F
- Ayer, D., Modha, K., Parekh, V., Patel, R., Ramtekey, V., & Bhuriya, A. (2018). Comparative gene expression study between two turmeric (*Curcuma longa* L.) cultivars. *Journal of Spices* and Aromatic Crops, 27(2), 131-137. https://doi. org/10.25081/josac.2018.v27.i2.1101
- Cheniany, M., Ebrahimzadeh, H., & Masoudi-nejad, A. (2012). Expression of chalcone synthase influences flavonoid content and frequency of rhizogenesis in microshoots of *Juglans regia* L. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture, 109*(1), 51-59. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11240-011-0072-y
- Chia, Y. C., Teh, S. H., & Mohamed, Z. (2020). Isolation and characterization of *chalcone isomerase* (*CHI*) gene from *Boesenbergia rotunda*. *South African Journal of Botany*, 130, 475-482. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.sajb.2020.01.010

- Chiang, Y. C., Schaal, B. A., Chou, C. H., Huang, S., & Chiang, T. Y. (2003). Contrasting selection modes at the Adh1 locus in outcrossing Miscanthus sinensis vs. inbreeding Miscanthus condensatus (Poaceae). American Journal of Botany, 90(4), 561-570. https://doi.org/10.3732/ajb.90.4.561
- Chiang, Y. C., Schaal, B. A., Ge, X. J., & Chiang, T. Y. (2004). Range expansion leading to departures from neutrality in the nonsymbiotic hemoglobin gene and the cpDNA *trnL-trnF* intergenic spacer in *Trema dielsiana* (Ulmaceae). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 31(3), 929-942. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ympev.2003.09.017
- Christensen, A. B., Gregersen, P. L., Schroder, J., & Collinge, D. B. (1998). A chalcone synthase with an unusual substrate preference is expressed in barley leaves in response to UV light and pathogen attack. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 37(5), 849-857. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1006031822141
- Clegg, M. T., Cummings, M. P., & Durbin, M. L. (1997). The evolution of plant nuclear genes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 94(15), 7791-7798. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.94.15.7791
- Dao, T. T. H., Linthorst, H. J. M., & Verpoorte, R. (2011). Chalcone synthase and its functions in plant resistance. *Phytochemistry Reviews*, 10(3), 397-412. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11101-011-9211-7
- Dare, A. P., Tomes, S., Jones, M., McGhie, T. K., Stevenson, D. E., Johnson, R. A., & Hellens, R. P. (2013). Phenotypic changes associated with RNA interference silencing of chalcone synthase in apple (*Malus domestica*). *The Plant Journal*, 74(3), 398-410. https://doi.org/10.1111/ tpj.12140
- De Meaux, J., Pop, A., & Mitchell-Olds, T. (2006). Cis-regulatory evolution of chalcone-synthase expression in the genus *Arabidopsis. Genetics*, 174(4), 2181-2202. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.106.064543

- Deepa, K., Sheeja, T. E., Rosana, O. B., Srinivasan, V., Krishnamurthy, K. S., & Sasikumar, B. (2017).
 Highly conserved sequence of *ClPKS11* encodes a novel polyketide synthase involved in curcumin biosynthesis in turmeric (*Curcuma longa* L.). *Industrial Crops and Products*, 97, 229-241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2016.12.003
- Deng, X., Bashandy, H., Ainasoja, M., Kontturi, J., Pietiäinen, M., Laitinen, R. A., & Teeri, T. H. (2014). Functional diversification of duplicated chalcone synthase genes in anthocyanin biosynthesis of *Gerbera hybrida*. New Phytologist, 201(4), 1469-1483. https://doi. org/10.1111/nph.12610
- Durbin, M. L., McCaig, B., & Clegg, M. T. (2000). Molecular evolution of the chalcone synthase multigene family in the morning glory genome. In J. J. Doyle & B. S. Gaut (Eds.), *Plant molecular evolution*, (pp. 79-92). https://doi. org/10.1007/978-94-011-4221-2_4
- Ezoe, A., Shirai, K., & Hanada, K. (2021). Degree of functional divergence in duplicates is associated with distinct roles in plant evolution. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 38(4),1447-1459. https:// doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msaa302
- Feinbaum, R. L., & Ausubel, F. M. (1988). Transcriptional regulation of the Arabidopsis thaliana chalcone synthase gene. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 8(5), 1985-1992. https://doi. org/10.1128/mcb.8.5.1985-1992.1988
- Glagoleva, A. Y., Ivanisenko, N. V., & Khlestkina, E. K. (2019). Organization and evolution of the chalcone synthase gene family in bread wheat and relative species. *BMC Genetics*, 20(Suppl 1), 30. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12863-019-0727-y
- Hall, T. A. (1999). BioEdit: A user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/NT. *Nucleic Acids Symposium Series*, 41(2), 95-98. https://doi. org/10.14601/Phytopathol_Mediterr-14998u1.29

- Han, Y., Cao, Y., Jiang, H., & Ding, T. (2017). Genomewide dissection of the chalcone synthase gene family in *Oryza sativa*. *Molecular Breeding*, 37, 119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11032-017-0721-x
- Han, Y., Ding, T., Su, B., & Jiang, H. (2016). Genome-wide identification, characterization and expression analysis of the chalcone synthase family in maize. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 17(2), 161. https://doi. org/10.3390/ijms17020161
- Huang, J. X., Qu, L. J., Yang, J., Yin, H., & Gu, H. Y. (2004). A preliminary study on the origin and evolution of chalcone synthase (*CHS*) gene in angiosperms. *Acta Botanica Sinica*, 46(1), 10-19.
- Innan, H., & Kondrashov, F. (2010). The evolution of gene duplications: classifying and distinguishing between models. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 11(2), 97-108. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2689
- Ito, M., Ichinose, Y., Kato, H., Shiraishi, T., & Yamada, T. (1997). Molecular evolution and functional relevance of the chalcone synthase genes of pea. *Molecular and General Genetics*, 255, 28-37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004380050471
- Jiang, M., & Cao, J. (2008). Sequence variation of chalcone synthase gene in a spontaneous white-flower mutant of Chinese cabbage-pakchoi. *Molecular Biology Reports*, 35, 507-512. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-007-9115-1
- Johnson, E. T., & Dowd, P. F. (2004). Differentially enhanced insect resistance, at a cost, in Arabidopsis thaliana constitutively expressing a transcription factor of defensive metabolites. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 52(16), 5135-5138. https://doi. org/10.1021/jf0308049
- Kimura, M. (1983). The neutral theory of molecular evolution. Cambridge University Press.
- Koch, M. A., Haubold, B., & Mitchell-Olds, T. (2000). Comparative evolutionary analysis of chalcone synthase and alcohol dehydrogenase

loci in Arabidopsis, Arabis, and related genera (Brassicaceae). Molecular Biology and Evolution, 17(10), 1483-1498. https://doi. org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.molbev.a026248

- Koes, R. E., Spelt, C. E., & Mol, J. N. M. (1989). The chalcone synthase multigene family of *Petunia hybrida* (V30): Differential, light-regulated expression during flower development and UV light induction. *Plant Molecular Biology*, *12*, 213-225. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00020506
- Koes, R. E., Spelt, C. E., Mol, J. N. M., & Gerats,
 A. G. M. (1987). The chalcone synthase multigene family of *Petunia hybrida* (V30): Sequence homology, chromosomal localization and evolutionary aspects. *Plant Molecular Biology*, *10*(2), 159-169. https://doi.org/10.1007/ bf00016153
- Kreuzaler, F., Ragg, H., Fautz, E., Kuhn, D. N., & Hahlbrock, K. (1983). UV-induction of chalcone synthase mRNA in cell suspension cultures of *Petroselinum hortense*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 80(9), 2591-2593. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.80.9.2591
- Kumar, S., Stecher, G., Li, M., Knyaz, C., & Tamura, K. (2018). MEGA X: Molecular evolutionary genetics analysis across computing platforms. *Molecular Biology* and Evolution, 35(6), 1547-1549. https://dpi. org/10.1093/molbev/msy096
- Liu, X. J., Chuang, Y. N., Chiou, C. Y., Chin, D. C., Shen, F. Q., & Yeh, K. W. (2012). Methylation effect on chalcone synthase gene expression determines anthocyanin pigmentation in floral tissues of two *Oncidium* orchid cultivars. *Planta*, 236(2), 401-409. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00425-012-1616-z
- Lynch, M., & Conery, J. S. (2000). The evolutionary fate and consequences of duplicate genes. *Science*, 290(5494), 1151-1155. https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.290.5494.1151

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 425 - 437 (2023)

- Matsuo, Y., & Yamazaki, T. (1989). Nucleotide variation and divergence in the histone multigene family in *Drosophila melanogaster. Genetics*, 122(1), 87-97. https:// doi.org/10.1093/genetics/122.1.87
- Mitchell-Olds, T. (2001). Arabidopsis thaliana and its wild relatives: A model system for ecology and evolution. Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 16(12), 693-700. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0169-5347(01)02291-1
- Nei, M., & Rooney, A. P. (2005). Concerted and birth-and-death evolution of multigene families. *Annual Review of Genetics*, 39, 121-152. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. genet.39.073003.112240
- Radhakrishnan, E. K., & Soniya, E. V. (2009). Molecular analysis of type III polyketide synthase (PKS) gene family from Zingiber officinale Rosc. International Journal of Plant Breeding and Genetics, 6(9), 1-5.
- Rausher, M. D. (2006). The evolution of flavonoids and their genes. In E. Grotewold (Ed.), *The science of flavonoids* (pp. 175-211). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-28822-2 7
- Reams, A. B., & Roth, J. R. (2015). Mechanisms of gene duplication and amplification. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 7(2), a016592. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a016592
- Resmi, M. S., & Soniya, E. V. (2012). Molecular cloning and differential expressions of two cDNA encoding type III polyketide synthase in different tissues of *Curcuma longa* L. *Gene*, 491(2), 278-283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2011.09.025
- Roslan, B. N., Huy, T. S., Kee, L. Y., Abd Rahman, N., & Mohamed, Z. (2020). Analyses of *Boesenbergia rotunda* cell suspension cultures with overexpressed *chalcone synthase* (*CHS*) manifesting changes on the expression level of flavonoid-related genes. *Malaysian Journal of Science*, 39(1), 15-29. https://doi.org/10.22452/ mjs.vol39no1.2

- Roslan, B. N., Huy, T. S., Ming, W. S., Khalid, N., & Mohamed, Z. (2020). Tissue specific expression of *chalcone synthase* (*CHS*) transcripts and overexpression of BrCHS in cell suspension cultures of *Boesenbergia rotunda*. *Malaysian Journal of Science*, 39(2), 92-110. https://doi. org/10.22452/mjs.vol39no2.6
- Schroder, J., Raiber, S., Berger, T., Schmidt, A., Schmidt, J., Soares-Sello, A. M., & Schroder, G. (1998). Plant polyketide synthases: A chalcone synthase-type enzyme which performs a condensation reaction with methylmalonyl-CoA in the biosynthesis of C-methylated chalcones. *Biochemistry*, 37(23), 8417-8425. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi980204g
- Senda, M., Kasai, A., Yumoto, S., Akada, S., Ishikawa, R., Harada, T., & Niizeki, M. (2002). Sequence divergence at chalcone synthase gene in pigmented seed coat soybean mutants of the inhibitor locus. *Genes and Genetic Systems*, 77(5), 341-350. https://doi.org/10.1266/ ggs.77.341
- Sommer, H., & Saedler, H. (1986). Structure of the chalcone synthase gene of Antirrhinum majus. Molecular and General Genetics, 202(3), 429-434. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00333273
- Trojan, V., Musilova, M., Vyhnánek, T., Klejdus, B., Hanacek, P., & Havel, L. (2014). Chalcone synthase expression and pigments deposition in wheat with purple and blue colored caryopsis. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 59(1), 48-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcs.2013.10.008
- Tuteja, J. H., Clough, S. J., Chan, W. C., & Vodkin, L. O. (2004). Tissue-specific gene silencing mediated by a naturally occurring chalcone synthase gene cluster in *Glycine max*. *The Plant Cell*, 16(4), 819-835. https://doi.org/10.1105/ tpc.021352
- Vision, T. J., Brown, D. G., & Tanksley, S. D. (2000). The origins of genomic duplications in *Arabidopsis. Science*, 290(5499), 2114-2117. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.290.5499.2114

- Yang, J., Gu, H., & Yang, Z. (2004). Likelihood analysis of the chalcone synthase genes suggests the role of positive selection in morning glories (*Ipomoea*). Journal of Molecular Evolution, 58(1), 54-63. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00239-003-2525-3
- Yang, J., Huang, J., Gu, H., Zhong, Y., & Yang, Z. (2002). Duplication and adaptive evolution of the chalcone synthase genes of *Dendranthema*

(Asteraceae). *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 19(10), 1752-1759. https://doi. org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.molbev.a003997

Yuan, L., Pan, K., Li, Y., Yi, B., & Gao, B. (2021). Comparative transcriptome analysis of *Alpinia* oxyphylla Miq. reveals tissue-specific expression of flavonoid biosynthesis genes. *BMC Genomic Data*, 22, 19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12863-021-00973-4



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Specific Sound Frequency Improves Intrinsic Water Efficiency in Rice Leaf by Imparting Changes in Stomatal Dimensions

Mashitah Jusoh¹, Shairul Izan Ramlee¹, Faiznur Iffah Pydi¹, Nur Aishah Mazlan¹, Zulkarami Berahim², Azzami Adam Muhamad Mujab³, Uma Rani Sinniah¹, Joanne Pei Sze Yeoh⁴, Khalisanni Khalid⁵ and Muhammad Nazmin Yaapar^{1*}

¹Department of Crop Science, Faculty of Agriculture, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

²Institute of Tropical Agriculture and Food Security, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia ³Commercialization and Business Centre, MARDI Parit, 32800 Parit, Perak, Malaysia

⁴Department of Music, Faculty of Human Ecology, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia ⁵Malaysian Agricultural Research and Development Institute, Persiaran MARDI-UPM, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Various attempts have been made to increase rice production, including breeding for high-yielding and stress-tolerant varieties, a good crop management system, and increased agricultural input in rice production. Soundwave stimulation has been demonstrated to affect plant growth; thus, this method can be employed in the current rice production methods to improve yield. The study aims to determine the effects of different sound wave qualities on the general growth, physiological, and morphological of rice seedlings. Rice seeds of the MR219 variety were grown under a glasshouse condition in a nested design with

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 30 July 2022 Accepted: 30 December 2022 Published: 18 April 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.05

E-mail addresses: mashitahj@upm.edu.my (Mashitah Jusoh) shairul@upm.edu.my (Shairul Izan Ramlee) faiznuriffah@gmail.com (Faiznur Iffah Pydi) aishahzinta@gmail.com (Nur Aishah Mazlan) zulkerami@upm.edu.my (Zulkarami Berahim) azzami@mardi.gov.my (Azzami Adam Muhamad Mujab) umarani@upm.edu.my (Joanne Pei Sze Yeoh) sanni@mardi.gov.my (Khalisanni Khalid) muhdnazmin@upm.edu.my (Muhammad Nazmin Yaapar) * Corresponding author five replications and were stimulated with various sound wave frequencies. Various sound wave frequencies, 380, 359, 357, 353, and 350 Hz, were obtained by placing the pot at varying distances (80, 160, 240, 320, and 400 cm, respectively) from the sound source, except control treatment. There were significant effects in some of the parameters: plant height, leaf physiology, and stomatal pore and length when treated with varying sound wave qualities. Plants can be stimulated with 380, 357, and 350 Hz soundwaves frequencies for the best

photosynthetic experience. In addition, 359 Hz of sound wave stimulation resulted in high water use efficiency, which is beneficial in improving crop performance in drought conditions. Thus, it was demonstrated that the sound wave stimulation method has the potential to enhance rice performance in addition to the regular agronomic practices of rice production in farmers' fields.

Keywords: Leaf physiology, *Oryza sativa* L., photosynthesis, rice growth, rice production, sound wave stimulation, stomatal morphology

INTRODUCTION

Rice (Oryza sativa L.) is largely regarded as a vital crop owing to its prominent roles in shaping histories, cultures, diets, and economics for half of humanity (Gomez, 2001). Rice feeds more than three billion people, in addition to one billion people depend on rice cultivation for their livelihood (Skinner, 2012). In 2020, the early report of the total rice production in Malaysia was around 2.3 million tonnes, and 78.4% came from the granary areas (Department of Agriculture [DOA], 2021). Although the government has made many efforts to improve the self-sufficiency level in Malaysia, rice production has only achieved a 63% self-sufficiency level, with the rest being imported to meet the needs of the 33 million people in this country (Department of Statistics Malaysia [DOSM], 2021). Although rice production is gradually increasing, consumption is also increasing, requiring more rice to be imported to meet local demand. Furthermore, the gap between rice production and consumption was projected to widen from 2018 to 2026 (Omar et al., 2019). Therefore, there is an urgent need to increase local rice production to ensure food security instead of relying on imports from neighboring countries to meet domestic consumption.

Various efforts are taken to address the issue of rice shortage, which includes breeding and the introduction of varieties resistant to pests and diseases. These include varieties such as Minghui63-Xa21 and Shanyou63-Xa21, which are resistant to bacterial blight, and Hanyou 2 and Hanyou 3, which have a tolerance to abiotic stresses such as flood responses and drought. (Luo, 2010; Zhai et al., 2001). Other researchers approached the issue from different angles (Stoop et al., 2002), such as the application of various good crop management systems, including a system of rice intensification (SRI) on infertile soils and reduced rate of irrigation while maintaining other agricultural inputs optimally (Kim et al., 2008). Traditional crop production practices involving applying more fertilizers and chemicals to improve performance are environmentally unfriendly. Since 2000, the rice harvested area in Malaysia has remained constant, but rice yield in Malaysia has increased due to the increasing use of nitrogen (N) fertilizers (Herman et al., 2015). Therefore, new ecofriendly approaches need to be developed to ensure sustainability in crop production and be environmentally friendly. Despite the increase of N fertilization, manipulating the photosynthesis of plants is considered a sustainable method to improve crop production. For example, rice variety MR253 showed higher photosynthetic assimilation under the light-saturated condition when treated with 50% N concentration compared to 100% N concentration in a hydroponic system (Herman et al., 2015). This result proved that applying more fertilizer does not necessarily improve crop performance. Similarly, it is believed that sound wave manipulation can be used to enhance photosynthesis at the leaf level, which could potentially improve plant growth and yield rice production.

Interestingly, sound wave has been reported to affect many biological properties in plants (Hassanien et al., 2014). However, whether the effect of sound waves promotes, or limits growth depends on the frequency, intensity, and acting time of the sound wave is not well defined. Stimuli, such as sonic, supersonic, electromagnetic, microgravity, and mechanical vibration, have been previously shown to affect plants. For example, the selectively permeable cell membrane can be injured by environmental factors, such as temperature, salinity, and air pollution. The injury incurred can be thought of as 'micro-perforations' that improve the penetrability of the membrane, beneficial in regulating substance movement into or out of the cell. Sound waves with a frequency of 400 Hz can improve the float of the cell membrane and strengthen the mutual function between the membrane's lipid and protein region (Bochu et al., 2003).

Many studies have demonstrated that music will increase plant growth. Yiyao

et al. (2002) reported that plant tissues could be enhanced at a certain range of intensity and frequency of sound waves, but the effect could become the opposite when the sound field is beyond a certain range. Some research also found that the mechanical acceleration wave is needed to promote seed germination (about 70 m/s^2), which is far more than the acceleration of gravity wave (9.8 m/s^2), although this purported value cannot be entirely confirmed due to vibrational acceleration changes that happen continuously in the testing system (Uchida & Yamamoto, 2002). Thus, it is hypothesized that there is a specific sound wave quality, with respect to the varying distances from the sound source, which will be beneficial to improve rice physiologically. In addition, varying sound wave treatments will have differing effects in altering the stomatal and epidermal properties of rice leaves that affect the genetics of rice plants, which could be beneficial in selection for breeding purposes. This study aims to determine the effects of different sound wave qualities on the general growth, physiological, and morphological of rice seedlings.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental Site

The experiment was conducted in 2018 in a greenhouse of the Institute of Tropical Agriculture and Food Security (ITAFoS), Universiti Putra Malaysia (UPM) (GIS location: 2.98414168 N, 101.7336908 E). Ten rice seeds of MR219 variety were sown in a pot (80 mm [D] × 80 mm [H])

containing paddy field soil (Serdang series), and all the pots were arranged in a nested design with five replications (five pots) per treatment. Treatments were imposed, and growth parameters were assessed within 30-35 days after sowing (DAS). Standard agronomic practices, such as thinning, fertilizing, weeding, and watering, were performed throughout the growing period to maintain good plant growth. Thinning of the seedlings was carried out after 10 days of sowing by leaving only one healthy plant within each pot. Rice plants were fertilized from 14 DAS once a week until 35 DAS with a proprietary blend of hydroponic nutrient solutions from a local garden store.

Rice plants were stimulated with different sound qualities in frequency (Hz). Six treatments were imposed on the seeds and seedlings, comprising five sound wave qualities and one control. Different sound qualities, which are 380, 359, 357, 353, and 350 Hz, were obtained by placing the pot at varying distances (80, 160, 240, 320, and 400 cm, respectively) from the sound source with a 600-watt loudspeaker (Aviano Precision, China) with the volume set to 5/10 (Figure 1). The decibel (dB) value, the scale of loudness (intensity of a wave) measured at these distances, is 78, 73, 69, 65, and 60 dB, respectively. The frequencies (Hz) and decibels (dB) were monitored using the FFTWave Android application on mobile phones for sound monitoring. The song used for the sound wave stimulation was a Mozart instrumental song by William McColl. The control treatment received no sound wave stimulation and was in a different

greenhouse. The distance between control and treated plants is approximately 28 m (Figures 1a and 1b). The condition between the two greenhouses, especially the sunlight, is the same because the greenhouses are in the same area, and no other building close to this facility can create shade. Sound barrier and absorber using egg cartons were installed to the left and right of the plant rows to reduce the impact of ambient noise. The sound wave stimulation was performed every other day for a month, starting from day 1 of seed sowing for 4 hr in the morning. The duration of the song was 5 min and was repeated during a 4 hr of stimulation period. This whole experiment was conducted only once and was not repeated.

Data Collection

Growth and Appearance. Leaf number was counted manually, and the plant height was measured from the base to the tip of the highest shoot of rice plant using a measuring tape.

Leaf Physiology. Photosynthesis rate (assimilation, A_{400}) and stomatal conductance (g_{sw}) were performed using a portable photosynthesis system (LICOR-6400/XT, USA) to measure the physiological activity of leaves. Gas exchange was measured on the middle part of leaf 5. In the leaf chamber, light intensity, temperature, humidity, and carbon dioxide (CO₂) concentration were set at 1,600 µmol·m⁻²·s⁻¹ PAR, 25°C, 60%, and 400 ppm, respectively. Intrinsic water use efficiency (iWUE) (µmol·CO₂·mol⁻¹·H₂O) was calculated as the ratio of assimilation

Specific Sound Quality Improves Water Use Efficiency in Rice



(a)



⁽b)

Figure 1. (a) A satellite image of two glasshouses used in the experiment and the distance between the experimental locations (about 28 m apart) of sound wave treatments and control treatment (no sound treatment); and (b) the experimental layout in the glasshouse. Rice seedlings treated with sound waves were placed in a different glasshouse (Greenhouse 1) than the non-treated rice seedlings (Greenhouse 2)

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 439 - 457 (2023)

rate to stomatal conductance and calculated using the following formula:

$$iWUE = \frac{Assimilation rate (A_{400})}{Stomatal conductance (g_{sw})} [1]$$

Leaf Stomatal Properties. A histology analysis was conducted to determine the properties of leaf stomata. The parameters evaluated were stomatal complex area, stomatal pore area, stomatal densities, percentage stomatal file, stomatal complex length, stomatal complex width, guard cell width, and cell file width. A section of about 1 cm of the fully expanded leaf 5 was cut and placed in Carnoy's fixative that was prepared according to Puchtler et al. (1968) without any modifications. All samples were placed in the Effendorf tubes and bleached with a 15% Clorox® (Malaysia) (sodium hypochlorite) solution for 24 hr until the samples became colorless (to remove the pigments). Then the bleached samples were cut in half, fixed on the slide with a chloralhydrate solution and Arabic gum, and covered with a cover slip.

Microscopy Analysis. Samples were observed using a LEICA DFC310 FX light microscope (United Kingdom) with a 400× magnification lens. The area of the stomatal complex, guard cell width, stomatal length, interveinal gap, and vein counting were performed using Image J software (version 1.48) (Schneider et al., 2012).

Measurement of Stomatal and Leaf Epidermal Characteristics. For the stomatal complex area, the width and length of the stomata were measured. The stomatal complex in rice consists of a pair of guard cells, and the area of the stomatal complex was calculated based on the measured values of the stomatal complex width and length using the following formula:

$$\frac{(2 \times \text{SPL} \times \text{GCW}) - \text{GCW}^2)}{2} \qquad [2]$$

where, SPL = Stomatal pore length; GCW = Guard cell width (Yaapar, 2017)

The guard cell width was determined by drawing the lines from the top to the bottom of the guard cell, and the length of this line was measured as the guard cell width (Figure 2b). The stomatal density (per mm²) was calculated by counting the number of stomatal complexes between two interveinal gap areas. The percentage of stomata files was calculated by counting the number of files with at least one stoma over the total number of cell files. The stomata files were counted between the two parallel veins (Figure 2a).

Statistical Analysis. All data were analyzed in a one-way analysis of variance using SAS 9.4 software using PROC GLM. PROC MIXED was used to analyze data of parameters with missing data and nonconstant variance (SAS Institute Inc., 2012). The data were subjected to a normality test to check residuals for normality and constant variance (SAS Institute Inc., 2012). When there were treatment differences, the means were compared and grouped into letter groupings using Fisher's protected least significant difference (LSD) (P = 0.05) with n = 5.



Figure 2. Micrograph images of (a) typical epidermal features and stomatal patterning in a rice leaf (S stomatal files, E epidermal files); and (b) a stomatal complex outline in rice leaves indicating the stomatal complex area (SCA) (surrounded by blue dashed line), guard cell width (GCW), stomatal cell width (SCW), stomatal pore area (SPA) (surrounded by red dashed line), subsidiary cells (SCs), stomatal cell width (SCW), and stomatal pore length (SPL)

RESULTS

The effects of the sound wave in rice plants were evaluated on a few growth and physiological parameters, including plant growth, leaf physiology, and leaf stomatal properties. Each of these parameters corresponded to specific stages of rice growth, allowing a general correlation to be deduced about the vigor and potential yield of the plant. Plant growth parameters include the number of leaves and plant height. Physiological assessments were always performed on the mid-region of the leaf blade of fully expanded leaf 5, including assimilation and stomatal conductance rate. In addition, the assessment of stomata morphologies was performed using samples obtained from leaf 5.

Growth and Appearance

Plant Height. The sound wave treatments significantly affected plant height. The frequency of 357 Hz resulted in the

highest average plant height of 43.6 cm, approximately 21% higher than the control (Figure 3a). It was observed that the control and 359 Hz treatment had the lowest plant heights averaging 36 and 39 cm, respectively.

Leaf Number. There was no significant difference in leaf number between any sound wave treatments. However, there is a tendency for the plants that received a frequency of 350 Hz to produce higher leaf numbers compared to other treatments (Figure 3b).

Leaf Physiology. Assimilation rate (A_{400}) , stomatal conductance (g_{sw}) , and intrinsic water use efficiency (iWUE) were used to assess the performance of leaf 5 after being stimulated with a sound wave of different quality (Hz).

Photosynthesis (A_{400}). A_{400} measurements showed that stimulation with sound waves





Figure 3. Mean of (a) plant height and (b) leaf number of seedlings grown at different frequencies measured at 80 cm distance interval from the sound wave source. Means with the same letter are not significantly different at P > 0.05 using LSD (n = 5). Error bars indicate the standard error of the mean

of 357 and 350 Hz led to the highest rate of photosynthesis (17.3 and 17.9 μ mol·CO₂·m⁻²·s⁻¹, respectively) compared to the other treatments (Figure 4a). Compared to the control, these two treatments increase the assimilation rate by 39 to 43%. Intermediate assimilation rates were observed in plants receiving 380 and 359 Hz sound waves and control treatments (14.67, 17.86, and 12.48 μ mol·CO₂·m⁻²·s⁻¹, respectively). The lowest A₄₀₀ value was observed in plants stimulated with 353 Hz soundwave (9.66 μ mol CO₂ m⁻²·s⁻¹).

Stomatal Conductance (g_{sw}) and Intrinsic Water Use Efficiency (iWUE). Significantly high g_{sw} values were observed in treatments of 380 and 350 Hz (0.54 and 0.65 µmol·H₂O· m⁻²·s ⁻¹, respectively) compared to the control (0.37 µmol·H₂O·m⁻²·s⁻¹) (Figure 4b). It is worth noting that the plants stimulated with sound waves of 359 to 353 Hz consistently produced significantly lower g_{sw} (and comparable to the control) compared to the plants stimulated at 380 and 350 Hz. When both A_{400} and g_{sw} were combined as a ratio to assess intrinsic water use efficiency (iWUE), the plants stimulated at 359, 357, and 353 Hz consistently produced significantly high iWUE (60.7, 48.3, and 48.5 µmol CO₂ mol H₂O⁻¹, respectively) compared to plants stimulated at 380 and 350 Hz (Figure 4c).

The iWUE for 359 Hz treatment was the highest among other treatments with an iWUE value of 60.6 μ mol·CO₂·mol·H₂O⁻¹, indicating that plants at this distance have high water use efficiency, and it is expected that these plants can tolerate the drought condition well. However, this treatment was not significantly different from plants receiving 357 and 353 Hz with iWUE values of 48.2 and 48.5 μ mol·CO₂·mol·H₂O⁻¹, respectively. The control, 380 and 350 Hz showed the lowest iWUE values, namely



Figure 4. Mean of (a) assimilation rate (A_{400}) ; (b) stomatal conductance (g_{sw}) ; and (c) intrinsic water use efficiency (iWUE) of seedlings grown at different frequencies measured at 80 cm distance interval from the sound wave source. Means with the same letter are not significantly different at P > 0.05using LSD (n = 5). Error bars indicate the standard error of the mean

37.3, 25.1, and 28.0 μ mol·CO₂·mol·H₂O⁻¹, respectively.

Leaf Stomatal Properties

Effects of Sound Wave on Stomatal and Epidermal Area. Stomata are small epidermal pores on leaves that regulate the movement of CO₂ and water in and out of the plants, respectively. Therefore, the attribute of stomata is crucial to ensure plants have a balanced gas exchange where they can maintain enough CO₂ for carbon fixation while minimizing water loss. The parameters quantified in this experiment included stomatal complex area (SCA), stomatal pore area (SPA), stomatal density (SD), percentage stomatal file (PSF), stomatal complex length (SCL), stomatal pore length (SPL), stomatal cell width (SCW), guard cell width (GCW), and cell file width (CFW) (Figure 2).

Stomatal Complex (Area, Length, and Width). Different frequencies of sound wave treatment have no significant effect on the SCL, SCW, and SCA (Figures 5a-5c). However, there is a tendency for the SCA to increase for plants stimulated with a 350 Hz sound wave ($314.2 \mu m^2$) compared to the control treatment ($293.6 \mu m^2$) (Figure 5c).

Stomatal Pore (Length and Area) and Guard Cell Width. It was observed that sound wave treatment had a significant impact in altering the length (SPL) and area of the stomatal pore (SPA) but not the width of the guard cell (GCW) (Figures 6a-6c). Significantly greater pore length was



Mashitah Jusoh, Shairul Izan Ramlee, Faiznur Iffah Pydi, Nur Aishah Mazlan, Zulkarami Berahim, Azzami Adam Muhamad Mujab, Uma Rani Sinniah, Joanne Pei Sze Yeoh, Khalisanni Khalid and Muhammad Nazmin Yaapar

Figure 5. Mean of (a) stomatal complex length (SCL); (b) stomatal complex width (SCW); and (c) stomatal complex area (SCA) of seedlings grown at different frequencies measured at 80 cm distance interval from the sound wave source. Means with the same letter are not significantly different at P > 0.05 using LSD (n = 5). Error bars indicate the standard error of the mean

Figure 6. Mean of (a) stomata pore length (SPL); (b) stomatal pore area (SPA); and (c) guard cell width (GCW) of seedlings grown at different frequencies measured at 80 cm distance intervals from the sound wave source. Means with the same letter are not significantly different at P > 0.05 using LSD (n = 5). Error bars indicate the standard error of the mean

observed in 350 Hz stimulated plants and in the control treatment with mean values of 16.1 and 14.8 μ m, respectively. It also showed that lower frequency has a significant effect in increasing the pore length. The shortest pore length was observed in plants receiving 353 Hz (12.19 μ m) sound wave, but not significantly different from the 357, 359, and 380 Hz sound wave treatments with mean pore lengths of 12.3, 12.9, and 13.7 μ m, respectively (Figure 6a). The 353 Hz sound wave stimulation produced the smallest pore length, and alikeuction was approximately 8 and 27% compared to control and 350 Hz treatments, respectively.

The largest SPA was observed in control, 380, and 350 Hz with a mean of 72.3, 87.23, and 84.63 mm², respectively. The smallest pore area was observed in plants that received 353 Hz, but this treatment is not significantly different from plants that received 380, 359, and 357 Hz. Sound wave treatments significantly reduced the pore area by 20–28% compared to the control. The GCW was not significantly affected by different sound wave treatments; however, the control treatment tends to have wider guard cells compared to other treatments.

Stomatal Density, Percentage Stomatal File, and Cell File Width. There was no significant difference in stomatal density (SD), percent stomatal file (PSF), and cell file width (CFW) of the rice plant when exposed to different sound wave treatments (Figures 7a-7c). The mean SD ranged from 187 to 291 per mm², with plants stimulated with 380 Hz tending to have a higher SD



Figure 7. Mean of (a) stomatal density (SD), (b) percentage stomatal file (PSF), and (c) cell file width (CFW) of seedlings grown at different frequencies measured at 80 cm distance interval from the sound wave source. Means with the same letter are not significantly different at P > 0.05 using LSD (n = 5). Error bars indicate the standard error of the mean

and those stimulated with 350 Hz tending to have a lower SD. For PSF, the mean was between 18 and 26%, and there is a tendency for plants stimulated with 350 Hz to increase PSF, and the control treatment had a lower PSF as compared to other treatments. For CFW, the mean ranged from 11.9 to 14.65 μ m, with plants exposed to 359 and 353 Hz sound waves tending to have higher and lower CFW, respectively.

Correlation Between Physiological and Morphological Attributes

The correlation analysis suggested that many of the stomatal morphological parameters have intermediate to strong correlations among each other, as compared to the correlation within growth/physiological parameters, as well as the correlation between growth/physiological and morphological parameters (Figure 8). The above results suggested that most stomatal characteristics are independent of leaf growth/physiological characteristics, except for the SPA and SPL, which had significant intermediate positive relationships with g_{sw}, a physiological parameter. Between the leaf physiological attributes, A₄₀₀ shows a significant intermediate positive correlation with stomatal conductance. In addition, iWUE shows a significantly high positive correlation with stomatal conductance. On the other hand, within the leaf morphological attributes, intermediate positive correlations were observed between SCA and SCW, SCL and GCW, SCL and SCW, SPL and SCW, and SPA and GCW. Strong positive correlations were observed between SPL

and SCA, SPA and SCA, SPA and SCW, SPA and SCA, and SPL.

DISCUSSION

This experiment studied the effect of sound wave qualities on three different components of crop performance in rice: plant growth, leaf physiology, and stomata morphology. In the first part of this study, the effects of sound waves on general plant growth and leaf physiological parameters were evaluated. The second part of the study evaluated the effects of sound waves on changing the morphological properties of the stomata and epidermis of rice leaves. The combined results from plants' physiological and morphological traits provide insight into how these components affect rice seedling growth.

Since ultrasound energy can increase the permeability and selectivity of cell membranes, thus promoting cell wall growth (Qi et al., 2010), it has been hypothesized that overall plant growth may benefit from enhanced permeability and selectivity of the cell membrane. However, sound wave qualities have a certain value that promotes or hinders plant growth. This study identified two soundwave frequencies, namely 357 and 350 Hz, which promote plant performance by significantly increasing several parameters, namely assimilation rate, stomatal conductance, and plant height. The above findings suggested that an increase or decrease in these parameters might correspond to the nature of the wave propagation, which has a peak and trough. The two peaks could correspond



Figure 8. Pearson correlation coefficients between plant leaf characteristics, leaf physiology, and stomatal morphology of rice (MR219) grown at Ladang 15, UPM, in 2017 *Note.* *, **, *** Statistically significant at P < 0.05, 0.01, and 0.001, respectively; r = Correlation coefficient;

sca = Stomata complex area; gcw = Guard cell width; scw = Stomata complex width; cfw = Cell file width; scl = Stomata complex width; spl = Stomata pore length; psf = Percentage of stomatal file; spa = Stomata pore area; sd = Stomatal density; A400 = Assimilation rate (CO₂ 400 ppm); g_{sw}= Stomatal conductance; iWUE = Intrinsic water use efficiency; ph = Plant height at day 28; nleaf = Number of leaves at day 28 Non-star circle means not statistically significant at P > 0.05. Blue and red circles indicate positive and negative

correlations, respectively. The size and color intensity of the circle indicates the strength of the correlation between parameters. Large circles mean a strong correlation, and small circle means a weak correlation

to the frequency of 357 and 350 Hz or 240 and 400 cm from the sound source (high values), while the trough could correspond to frequencies of 359 and 353 Hz or 160 and 320 cm from the sound source (low values). Although insignificant, other parameters also show a similar trend in sound wave propagation at slightly different distances. The above speculation needs to be proven, but a plausible explanation is that music can enhance the uptake of nutrients from the soil, resulting in better plant metabolism and increased growth and performance (Chowdhury et al., 2014). Sound waves

also can affect stomatal movement, so this may have an important impact on leaf gas exchange capacity (Cai et al., 2014).

Physiological data also revealed interesting findings which could be used to support the earlier results in general plant growth. It was previously reported that the frequencies of 357 Hz significantly improved plant height compared to plants that did not receive sound wave stimulation. The above finding is consistent with the photosynthesis measurements where the plants stimulated with similar sound wave quality also showed significantly higher assimilation rates compared to the control (Table 1).

The morphological study of stomatal and epidermal properties of rice leaf in this

study included many dimensional categories of the stomata, including area, frequency, length, and width. The results showed that different sound wave qualities had minimal effects on stomatal and epidermal properties, suggesting that stomatal and epidermal properties are not very responsive to different sound wave qualities. It has been reported that stomata size is inversely related to stomata density (Büssis et al., 2006; Doheny-Adams et al., 2012), and the increase in stomata density is compensated by a decrease in stomata size (Büssis et al., 2006). It implies that plants with high stomata density will have small stomata and vice versa. It has been shown that mutants with low stomata density and large size have reduced transpiration rates when

Table	1
-------	---

Summar	v of	f mean	comparison	when	compared	to	control	treatment	onl	v
Summen	$y \circ j$	mean	companison	much	comparea	10	001111 01	<i>ii</i> cathient	One	y .

		Frequency (Hz) [Decibel (dB)]					
	when compared to the control		350 (60)	353 (65)	357 (69)	359 (73)	380 (78)
	0 1	Leaf number (nleaf)					
Growth	Plant height (ph)						
wth a siolo	e di B B B B B C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	Assimilation rate (A ₄₀₀)		₽			
Gro [,] phy		Stomatal conductance (g_{sw})		➡		╇	
physiology	F)8)	Water use efficiency (iWUE)					
		Stomatal complex length (SCL)				➡	₽
Area, width, and length		Stomatal complex width (SCW)					
	Area, width,	Stomatal complex area (SCA)					
	Stomatal pore length (SPL)				➡	➡	
		Stomatal pore area (SPA)		➡	₽	➡	

Note. Threase; Decrease

The green and red arrows indicate a significant increase or decrease, respectively. The mean comparison was performed using least significant difference (LSD) at a significant level of P < 0.05

grown in different CO_2 concentrations (200, 450, and 1,000 ppm) and water regimes (70 and 30%) (Doheny-Adams et al., 2012), suggesting that plants with these traits may be beneficial in drought conditions where water availability is limited.

In rice leaves, one of the most important properties in photosynthesis is the guard cell width, which controls the gas and water movement in and out of the leaf. In this study, most of the stomatal properties, namely stomatal complex length, stomatal complex width, stomatal complex area, guard cell width, stomatal density, percentage stomatal file, and cell file width, did not respond significantly to sound waves stimulation. However, significant responses were observed in stomatal pore length and area, indicating that stomatal cells have been stimulated by the sound wave, which could have resulted in the differential gene expression for these traits. It was reported that RNA and soluble protein content increased in chrysanthemum cell culture stimulated with sound waves suggesting an alteration in gene expression (Xiujuan et al., 2003). In addition, SPA (Figure 6b), which trend was also similar to the stomatal complex area, suggests a significant correlation between these two parameters (Table 1).

Sound vibration is a mechanical stimulus that can cause thigmomorphogenetic responses in plants (Telewski, 2006). Therefore, to a certain degree, soundwave treatments could alter the stomatal pore size. It was documented that stomatal features, including stomatal pore size, influenced stomatal conductance (Fanourakis et al., 2015). This study observed an intermediate positive correlation between conductance and stomatal pore length and area, suggesting the tendency of stomatal pore length and area to affect stomatal conductance (Table 1).

In addition, it was found that certain high frequencies tend to reduce the length and area of the stomata, while those of plants stimulated at 350 Hz (60 dB) were unaffected compared to the control treatment. The assimilation rate for plants stimulated with 350 Hz (60 dB) is the greatest compared to other treatments, including the control (Figure 4a). The current finding contradicts those of Hou et al. (2009), who reported that when using four speakers as sound wave treatment at a different planting distance in cotton, the minimum yield was obtained in plants grown at a relatively far distance (30 m) with a sound wave intensity range of 75-110 db. Evidence from another study showed that net photosynthesis measured weekly in strawberry plants treated with sound waves of 100 dB and a frequency of 40-2,000 Hz was not significant compared to the control (no sound wave), except during the fourth sound stimulation. Although insignificant, there were tendencies to improve net photosynthesis when treated with sound waves, potentially leading to higher yield. Similarly, the sound wave treatment tends to produce a higher fruit number compared to the control (Meng et al., 2012)-different ranges of sound intensity measured in decibels used for multiple frequencies in sound wave studies.

As previously mentioned, the intensity of a wave is the energy carried by the wave per unit of time per unit area at that point. On the other hand, frequency measures sound quality or the number of sound waves per second. At a given frequency, the intensity can vary depending on how much energy the sound wave carries. Therefore, when treating the plants with sound waves, the researcher can adjust the intensity of a specific frequency of interest.

Additionally, this study found that the stomata density of plants treated at higher frequencies (Figure 7a) tended to have smaller pore sizes (length and area) (Figures 6a and 5b). Although the effect between frequencies in stomata density was insignificant, the response pattern for stomata density and pore size (area and length) showed a similar trend to the results reported in a study that manipulated the genetics of stomata density in Arabidopsis. It was also implied that the plants with small pore sizes and high stomatal density showed significantly higher water use efficiency and were likely to adapt well to drought environments (Franks et al., 2015). In another study, rice plants with reduced stomatal density exhibited the ability to conserve water and tolerate drought while maintaining rice yield (Caine et al., 2019).

It was observed that a certain frequency of sound waves significantly changes the membrane protein's structure and affects the cell membrane's permeability and fluidity (Zhao et al., 2002). In addition, it was observed that the activity of plasmalemma H⁺ ATPase (proton pumps), which regulates biochemical and physiological processes in plant growth, increases by 19.8% in plants treated with sound waves (Yi et al., 2003). It is believed that vibrations induced by sound waves can enhance the permeability of membranes and be useful in regulating the movement of substances in or out of the cell, thereby enhancing plant growth. Bochu et al. (2003) showed that sound waves with a frequency of 400 Hz could improve the buoyancy of the cell membrane and strengthen the mutual function between lipid and protein regions of the membrane.

It is worth mentioning that having a high photosynthetic rate alone, although sensible, means that resulting in relatively more vigorous plants will not always be helpful if the plant is experiencing water scarcity. There are two key findings in this study. First, if water is never an issue, rice plants can be stimulated with 380, 357, and 350 Hz soundwaves frequencies to achieve the best photosynthetic experience. Second, suppose water efficiency is the aim. In that case, stimulating the rice with a 359 Hz sound wave is the answer because the relatively high amount of carbon is assimilated for a one-unit amount of water lost. Nevertheless, it is worth noting that music comes with various sound qualities; thus, if the same physiological improvement is achieved, similar sound quality in terms of hertz and decibel should be applied regardless of the music type.

CONCLUSION

The current study aimed to determine the effects of sound wave quality on rice

plant characteristics, including height, stomatal properties, and physiological performances. These findings suggest that, in general, sound waves between the frequencies of 350 and 370 Hz could promote plant growth performance in terms of increased plant height. The proportionate carbon assimilation and stomatal conductance rates could be the reason for the growth increase, particularly at 350 Hz frequency. It was also shown that the pore dimensions of the stomata were alterable at frequencies higher than 350 Hz. The distinct significant effects of the sound wave in certain parameter classes suggest its useful potential as a stimulus like many other abiotic factors, such as light and temperature. The ability of sound wave stimulus to increase yield and achieve better water use efficiency indicates alternative options are always available in improving seedlings' establishment in rice, thus potentially leading to an enhanced overall rice yield and production. Also, since rice production is water intensive, reducing the water supply in the rice can adversely affect yield. Therefore, sound wave stimulation at a specific frequency, which can change the properties of stomata, resulting in the plant using water more efficiently, allows plants to produce a higher yield with limited water availability.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Dr. Liang Juan Boo, UPM, Malaysia, for the constructive feedback on this manuscript review.

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

The authors received no specific funding to support this research work, and it was fully self-funded by the authors.

REFERENCES

- Bochu, W., Xin, C., Zhen, W., Qizhong, F., Hao, Z., & Liang, R. (2003). Biological effect of sound field stimulation on paddy rice seeds. *Colloids* and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 32(1), 29–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0927-7765(03)00128-0
- Büssis, D., von Groll, U., Fisahn, J., & Altmann, T. (2006). Stomatal aperture can compensate altered stomatal density in *Arabidopsis thaliana* at growth light conditions. *Functional Plant Biology*, 33(11), 1037-1043. https://doi. org/10.1071/FP06078
- Cai, W., He, H., Zhu, S., & Wang, N. (2014). Biological effect of audible sound control on mung bean (*Vigna radiata*) sprout. *BioMed Research International*, 2014, 931740. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2014/931740
- Caine, R. S., Yin, X., Sloan, J., Harrison, E. L., Mohammed, U., Fulton, T., Biswal, A. K., Dionora, J., Chater, C. C., Coe, R. A., Bandyopadhyay, A., Murchie, E. H., Swarup, R., Quick, W. P., & Gray, J. E. (2019). Rice with reduced stomatal density conserves water and has improved drought tolerance under future climate conditions. *New Phytologist, 221*(1), 371–384. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.15344
- Chowdhury, M. E. K., Lim, H. S., & Bae, H. (2014). Update on the effects of sound wave on plants. *Research in Plant Disease*, 25(1), 1-7. https:// doi.org/10.5423/rpd.2014.20.1.001
- Department of Agriculture. (2021). Statistik tanaman industri 2021 [Industrial crop statistics 2021]. DOA. http://www.doa.gov.my/index/resources/ aktiviti_sumber/sumber_awam/maklumat_ pertanian/perangkaan_tanaman/statistik_ tanaman industri%202021.pdf

- Department of Statistics Malaysia. (2021). Current population estimates, Malaysia, 2021. DOSM. https://www.dosm.gov.my/v1/index. php?r=column/cthemeByCat&cat=155&bul_id =ZjJOSnpJR21sQWVUcUp6ODRudm5JZz09 &menu_id=L0pheU43NWJwRWVSZkIWdzQ 4TlhUUT09
- Doheny-Adams, T., Hunt, L., Franks, P. J., Beerling, D. J., & Gray, J. E. (2012). Genetic manipulation of stomatal density influences stomatal size, plant growth and tolerance to restricted water supply across a growth carbon dioxide gradient. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, 367, 547–555. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rstb.2011.0272
- Fanourakis, D., Giday, H., Milla, R., Pieruschka, R., Kjaer, K. H., Bolger, M., Vasilevski, A., Nunes-Nesi, A., Fiorani, F., & Ottosen, C.-O. (2015). Pore size regulates operating stomatal conductance, while stomatal densities drive the partitioning of conductance between leaf sides. *Annals of Botany*, 115(4), 555–565. https://doi. org/10.1093/aob/mcu247
- Franks, P. J., W. Doheny-Adams, T., Britton-Harper, Z. J., & Gray, J. E. (2015). Increasing water-use efficiency directly through genetic manipulation of stomatal density. *New Phytologist*, 207(1), 188–195. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13347
- Gomez, K. A. (2001). *Rice, the grain of culture*. http:// www.openbase.in.th/files/thairice010.pdf
- Hassanien, R. H., Hou, T.-Z., Li, Y.-F., & Li, B.-M. (2014). Advances in effects of sound waves on plants. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture*, *13*(2), 335–348. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2095-3119(13)60492-X
- Herman, T., Murchie, E. H., & Warsi, A. A. (2015). Rice production and climate change: A case study of Malaysian rice. *Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science*, 38(3), 321–328.
- Hou, T. Z., Li, B., Teng, G., Zhou, Q., Xiao, Y., & Qiao, L. (2009). Application of acoustic

frequency technology to protected vegetable production. *Transactions of the Chinese Society* of Agricultural Engineering, 25, 156-160. https:// doi.org/10.3969/J.ISSN.1002-6819.2009.2.030

- Kim, M. C., Ahn, J. H., Shin, H. C., Kim, T., Ryu, T. H., Kim, D. H., Song, H. G., Lee, G. H., & Ka, J. O. (2008). Molecular analysis of bacterial community structures in paddy soils for environmental risk assessment with two varieties of genetically modified rice, Iksan 483 and Milyang 204. *Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 18(2), 207–218.
- Luo, L. J. (2010). Breeding for water-saving and drought-resistance rice (WDR) in China. *Journal* of Experimental Botany, 61(13), 3509–3517. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erq185
- Meng, Q., Zhou, Q., Zheng, S., & Gao, Y. (2012). Responses on photosynthesis and variable chlorophyll fluorescence of *Fragaria ananassa* under sound wave. *Energy Procedia*, 16(Part A), 346–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. egypro.2012.01.057
- Omar, S. C., Sharudin, A., & Tumin, S. A. (2019). The status of the paddy and rice industry in Malaysia. ResearchGate. https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/351223058
- Puchtler, H., Sweat Waldrop, F., Conner, H. M., & Terry, M. S. (1968). Carnoy fixation: Practical and theoretical considerations. *Histochemie*, 16, 361–371. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00306359
- Qi, L., Teng, G., Hou, T., Zhu, B., & Liu, X. (2010). Influence of sound wave stimulation on the growth of strawberry in sunlight greenhouse. In D. Li & C. Zhao (Eds.), Computer and Computing Technologies in Agriculture III. CCTA 2009. IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology (Vol. 317, pp. 449–454). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-12220-0 65
- SAS Institute Inc. (2012). SAS/STAT[®] user's guide Procedures. https://support.sas.com/

documentation/onlinedoc/stat/indexproc. html#stat121

- Schneider, C. A., Rasband, W. S., & Eliceiri, K. W. (2012). NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nature Methods*, 9, 671–675. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2089
- Skinner, G. (2012). The price of rice: Using genetics to increase crop production. https://www.stem.org. uk/system/files/elibrary-resources/legacy_files_ migrated/16942-catalyst_22_3_509.pdf
- Stoop, W. A., Uphoff, N., & Kassam, A. (2002). A review of agricultural research issues raised by the system of rice intensification (SRI) from Madagascar: Opportunities for improving farming systems for resource-poor farmers. *Agricultural Systems*, 71(3), 249–274. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0308-521X(01)00070-1
- Telewski, F. W. (2006). A unified hypothesis of mechanoperception in plants. *American Journal* of Botany, 93(10), 1466–1476. https://doi. org/10.3732/ajb.93.10.1466
- Uchida, A., & Yamamoto, K. T. (2002). Effects of mechanical vibration on seed germination of *Arabidopsis thaliana* (L.) Heynh. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 43(6), 647–651. https://doi. org/10.1093/pcp/pcf079
- Xiujuan, W., Bochu, W., Yi, J., Chuanren, D., & Sakanishi, A. (2003). Effect of sound wave on the synthesis of nucleic acid and protein in chrysanthemum. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 29(2–3), 99–102. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0927-7765(02)00152-2

- Yaapar, M. N. (2017). The control of stomatal properties in rice (Oryza sativa L.) and their influence on photosynthetic performance [Doctoral thesis, The University of Sheffield]. White Rose University Consortium. https://etheses. whiterose.ac.uk/18056/1/Muhammad%20 Nazmin%20Yaapar%20thesis.pdf
- Yi, J., Bochu, W., Xiujuan, W., Chuanren, D., & Xiaocheng, Y. (2003). Effect of sound stimulation on roots growth and plasmalemma H⁺-ATPase activity of chrysanthemum (*Gerbera jamesonii*). *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 27(1), 65–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0927-7765(02)00037-1
- Yiyao, L., Bochu, W., Xuefeng, L., Chuanren, D., & Sakanishi, A. (2002). Effects of sound field on the growth of *Chrysanthemum* callus. *Colloids* and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 24(3-4), 321–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0927-7765(01)00275-2
- Zhai, W., Wang, W., Zhou, Y., Li, X., Zheng, X., Zhang, Q., Wang, G., & Zhu, L. (2001). Breeding bacterial blight-resistant hybrid rice with the cloned bacterial blight resistance gene *Xa21*. *Molecular Breeding*, 8, 285–293. https://doi. org/10.1023/A:1015234802902
- Zhao, H. C., Wu, J., Xi, B. S., & Wang, B. C. (2002). Effects of sound-wave stimulation on the secondary structure of plasma membrane protein of tobacco cells. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 25(1), 29–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0927-7765(01)00294-6



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Biodegradation of Expanded and Extruded Polystyrene with Different Diets by Using *Zophobas atratus* Larvae (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae)

Jun Hoe Tay¹, Norhayu Asib², Nor Azwady Abd Aziz³ and Geok Hun Tan^{1*}

¹Department of Land Management, Faculty of Agriculture, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia ²Department of Plant Protection, Faculty of Agriculture, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia ³Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Polystyrene waste pollutes the environment and poses a significant health risk to humans, animals, and marine ecology. This study aims to evaluate the effectiveness of degradation on expanded (EPS) and extruded (XPS) polystyrene with different diets using superworms (*Zophobas atratus* larvae) obtained in Malaysia. The growth and development of the larvae after consumption of EPS and XPS and the gut microbial community changes in response to high polystyrene consumption diets were also identified. The oatmeal, wheat bran, and commeal were used as supplement diets and showed significantly enhanced EPS and XPS consumption and degradation compared to sole diet treatment. Gel permeation chromatography was carried out using egested frass of *Z. atratus* larvae to characterize depolymerization of EPS and XPS, indicating a significant reduction in the average molecular weight and average molecular weight. The highest reduction occurred in the presence of oatmeal. Proton nuclear magnetic resonance and Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy analyses indicated functional group changes and chemical modification occurred with

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 24 September 2022 Accepted: 03 January 2023 Published: 12 April 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.06

E-mail addresses: junhoe91@hotmail.com (Jun Hoe Tay) norhayuasib@upm.edu.my (Norhayu Asib) azwady@upm.edu.my (Nor Azwady Abd Aziz) geok_hun@upm.edu.my (Geok Hun Tan) * Corresponding author

ISSN: 1511-3701 e-ISSN: 2231-8542 depolymerization and partial oxidation of EPS and XPS. The larvae length increased, while the number of instars and duration of larvae became shorter with the addition of supplement diets. Oatmeal is predominantly effective among other supplements in assisting Z. atratus larvae with EPS and XPS degradation. The results of this study support the ubiquity of polystyrene biodegradation in Z. atratus and the nextgeneration sequencing studies. *Kluyvera* sp., *Klebsiella* sp., and *Enterobacter* sp. were found to be strongly associated with degrading EPS and XPS polystyrene with oatmeal as a supplemental diet.

Keywords: Biodegradation, expanded polystyrene, extruded polystyrene, superworms, supplements, *Zophobas atratus*

INTRODUCTION

Plastic production worldwide is increasing yearly (Shanmugam et al., 2020). However, plastic waste takes the longest time to decompose naturally among different waste products. Improper plastic waste management, such as polystyrene, has caused accumulation in every corner of the world, adversely affecting wildlife and human health (Khoo et al., 2021). Besides, plastic trash accumulates in the sea creatures (Thushari & Senevirathna, 2020).

Insect larvae belonging to darkling beetles (Tenebrionidae), e.g., yellow mealworms (Tenebrio molitor) and superworms (Zophobas atratus), were found to degrade various plastic, especially polyethylene (PE), polystyrene (PS), and polypropylene (PP), among others, since 2015 (Brandon et al., 2018; Peng et al., 2019, 2022; Y. Yang et al., 2015, 2020; Yang, Brandon, et al., 2018; Yang, Wu, et al., 2018). The ubiquity of PS biodegradation of T. molitor was confirmed via tests of the larvae worldwide (Yang, Wu, et al., 2018). Zophobas atratus Fabricus 1775 (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae) is a superworms commercially available animal feed worldwide (Rumbos & Athanassiou, 2021). Recently, Z. atratus strains from China and USA were reported to biodegrade PS (Peng et al., 2020, 2022) and lowdensity polyethylene (LDPE) via a gut microbial-dependent mechanism (L. Yang et al., 2021). However, the plastic degrading ability of Z. atratus in other areas has not yet been elucidated. Meanwhile, the effect of expanded polystyrene (EPS) and extruded polystyrene (XPS) consumption with different feeding diets on Z. atratus larvae remains unclear. Oatmeal, wheat bran, and cornmeal were used as a supplemental diet for Z. atratus larva to evaluate the consumption of EPS and XPS. Oatmeal, wheat bran, and cornmeal rich in essential nutrients are common feeding diets for Z. atratus. Several studies showed that oatmeal, wheat bran, and cornmeal manipulated the guts microbiota of T. molitor larvae and enhanced polystyrene consumption (D. Zhou et al., 2021; Gao et al., 2010; Matyja et al., 2020). Yang, Brandon, et al. (2018) first reported enhanced PS consumption by T. molitor larvae due to co-feeding bran and protein powders.

Insects asylum diverse microorganisms in the guts benefit their host, physiologically and ecologically (Singh et al., 2019). The major function of microorganisms harboring in the gut is to digest ingested food (Jang & Kikuchi., 2020). The capacity of *Z. atratus* and *T. molitor* larvae to degrade polystyrene (PS) within the gut concerning microorganism activity has been confirmed recently (S.-S. Yang & Wu, 2020; Y. Yang et al., 2015, 2020; Yang, Wu, et al., 2018). Thus, studying the *Z. atratus* larvae gut microbial community on the high polystyrene (XPS and EPS) consumption diets is worth exploring.

This study investigated the supplementation of different co-diet to enhance Z. atratus larvae to degrade EPS and XPS. Besides, the growth and development of Z. atratus larvae after consuming expanded (EPS) and extruded (XPS) polystyrene was also evaluated. The gut microbial population alterations in response to high polystyrene consumption diets were also studied.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sources of *Zophobas atratus* Larval and Test Materials

Zophobas atratus beetles (120 individuals) with an average of 22.78 ± 2.36 mm length/ individual and 500.30 ± 74.00 mg/individual were purchased from Ban Lee Agro (M) Sdn. Bhd. (Rawang), Malaysia then reared into a plastic container (18 cm length \times 12 cm width \times 7 cm height). After Z. atratus beetles undergo oviposition, the eggs are collected and allowed to hatch before the experimental study. A newly hatched Z. atratus larvae were immediately isolated into each plastic container (18 cm length \times 12 cm width \times 7 cm height) in a controlled environment (temperature: $28 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C and relative humidity [RH]: 50-70% RH). All larvae were healthy, without defects, and free from disease, antibiotics, additives, and hormones.

EPS (0.0375 g/cm³ density) and XPS (0.1086 g/cm³ density) polystyrene were used as a feedstock purchased from Yee Hup Foam and Packaging Industries Sdn.

Bhd. (Shah Alam, Malaysia). Throughout gel permeation chromatography (GPC) analysis, the weight average molecular weight (Mw) and number average molecular weight (Mn) values of EPS were $399.90 \pm$ 1.54 and 98.50 ± 0.96 kDa, respectively. Meanwhile, XPS polystyrene has Mw and Mn values of 360.60 ± 0.60 and $83.50 \pm$ 0.67 kDa. Before the test, sterilized distilled water was used to clean the EPS and XPS polystyrene components, then dried for 48 hr at 30°C to ensure cleanliness and dirt removal.

Oatmeal (66.60% carbohydrates, 16.70% protein, 5.80% fat, 10.80% fiber, and others), wheat bran (64.20% carbohydrates, 15.80% protein, 4.20% fat, 12.90% fiber, and others), and cornmeal (76.70% carbohydrates, 8.30% protein, 3.30% fat, 7.50% fiber, and others) with 1.2 g, respectively, were used as supplements in the feedstock according to the treatment. All supplements were purchased from Ban Lee Agro (M) Sdn. Bhd. without adding pesticides and antibiotics. All supplement foods were sorted and appropriately filtered to eliminate impurities and contamination before the experiment.

Biodegradation of Expanded Polystyrene and Extruded Polystyrene

EPS and XPS polystyrene (1.2 g) used for each replicate according to treatment were washed with clean air to eliminate dirt particles. An isolated single *Z. atratus* larva was grown in each treatment container. During the cultivation period, *Z. atratus* larvae were raised in a controlled environment at $28 \pm$

1°C with a relative humidity of 50–70%, according to Yang, Brandon, et al. (2018), with slight modifications. Eight treatments were prepared according to the feeding conditions (Table 1): i) EPS only; ii) EPS + oatmeal; iii) EPS + wheat bran; iv) EPS + cornmeal; v) XPS only; vi) XPS + oatmeal; vii) XPS + wheat bran; and viii) XPS + cornmeal, respectively. Oatmeal, wheat bran, and cornmeal as supplements were supplied only once with 1.2 g, respectively, in the selected treatments. EPS and XPS consumption were identified based on the mass loss via weighing the unconsumed EPS and XPS within treatments. All treatments were carried out with sixty replicated.

Characterization of EPS and XPS Biodegradation with Frass Contents

Gel permeation chromatography with high temperature (HT-GPC) (Agilent 1260 Infinity II GPC/SEC system, USA) was used to identify the Mw and Mn of digested polystyrene in frass contents with minimal modifications based on Yang, Brandon, et al. (2018). Sample (frass) around 50 mg was deposited into a sterile glass vial (30 ml) that contained 10 ml tetrahydrofuran (THF) (Merck, Germany) to extract for 2 hr at 30°C. The extract was filtered twice using a polyvinyl difluoride (PVDF) sterile syringe filter with 0.22 μ m (Bioflow, Malaysia). THF extract samples (100 μ l) were inserted into a GPC running at 40°C with a THF eluent 1.0 ml/min (flow rate). The results of molecular weight (Mn and Mw) were recorded.

Proton nuclear magnetic resonance (¹H NMR) was used to examine the chemical changes between raw polystyrene and frass samples based on the Peng et al. (2020) protocol. Fresh frass samples (50 mg) were deposited in glass vials (10 ml), then 2,000 μ l chloroform-D (Merck, Germany) was added and allowed thoroughly mix for 2 hr. The extracts were transferred to a clean glass vial (10 ml) after being filtered with PVDF sterile syringe filter with 0.22 μ m (Bioflow

n 1	1 1	1	- 1
a	h	le	- 1

The treatment used	l for the	experimental	study
--------------------	-----------	--------------	-------

Treatment	Treatment Information		
	Group 1 (Expanded polystyrene)		
T1	Expanded polystyrene only		
T2	Expanded polystyrene + oatmeal (ratio 1:1)		
Т3	Expanded polystyrene + wheat bran (ratio 1:1)		
T4	Expanded polystyrene +cornmeal (ratio 1:1)		
	Group 2 (Extruded polystyrene)		
T5	Extruded polystyrene only		
Т6	Extruded polystyrene + oatmeal (ratio 1:1)		
Τ7	Extruded polystyrene + wheat bran (ratio 1:1)		
Т8	Extruded polystyrene + cornmeal (ratio 1:1)		

Note. Expanded polystyrene = 1.2 g; Extruded polystyrene = 1.2 g; Supplements (oatmeal, wheat bran, cornmeal = 1.2 g. The experiment was recorded until pupation took place

Lifescience, Malaysia). Extracts (600–700 μ l) were injected into the 1,000 μ l NMR tubes. The ¹H spectra were measured using a Varian Inova 500 MHz NMR spectrometer (USA). The ¹H spectra were expressed in ppm, also known as parts per million, with a reference peak for residual chloroform-D (¹H–7.26 ppm).

The alterations in the major functional groups of polystyrene were identified using Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR), known as Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (Brandon et al., 2018; Sekhar et al., 2016). FTIR spectroscopy (Perkin Elmer, Spectrum 100, USA) examined the frass samples. The absorbance was measured in the range of 650-4,000 per cm wavenumbers in the mid-IR region. A comparison among treatments was recorded when different peaks occurred, such as C=O carbonyl group, =C-H bend, C-O stretch, methylene (CH₂) deformation, C=C stretch (benzene ring), CH₂ bending (symmetrical), and CH₂ bending (asymmetrical).

Growth and Development of Z. atratus after Ingested Polystyrene

The growth and development of larvae after ingested polystyrene was investigated based on measuring body length (mm). The larvae length (mm) was measured using a digital vernier caliper (Senator DCS 200, Germany) after larval exuvium was observed (Kim et al., 2015). The larva length was measured from the tip of the head thorax until the end of the abdomen. During larva measurement, avoid direct contact because *Z. atratus* larvae are susceptible to external stimuli. It will shrink when touched, resulting in measuring errors.

The number of instars and total duration of larval instars (days) were recorded after the larval exuvium was observed. The exuvium of larvae was discarded after being observed to avoid duplicate counting. The number of instars and larval development duration can vary depending on food quality (Morales-Ramos et al., 2010). After pupation, the larvae-initiated curling and the number and duration of larval instar counting were stopped.

Microbial Community Analysis

The treatment focuses on potential supplement diets that effectively consume EPS or XPS. Three treatments were prepared according to the feeding conditions: (1) oatmeal only, (2) EPS + oatmeal, and (3) XPS + oatmeal, respectively. Twenty larvae with 10 to 12 instars from each treatment were randomly harvested to avoid individual variability between larvae with identical diets. The experiment was repeated three times. Larvae were collected to make a gut cell suspension used as a bacterial enrichment inoculum. The surfaces of the larvae were immersed in 70% absolute ethanol (Merck, Germany) for 60 s to eliminate surface germs. The larvae were washed with sterilized distilled water (Hu et al., 2018). The protocol by Brandon et al. (2018) and J. D. Zhou et al. (1996) was modified and used for bacterial genomic DNA extraction. Scalpel and clipper removed the guts walls from the outer skin layer (cuticle). Guts walls were discarded, and DNA was extracted by mixing guts contents with 500 µl of 2% (w/v) sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS, Merck, Germany) and lysis solution of 500 µl (ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid [EDTA, 0.5 M]) with pH 8.0, cetyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB, 0.1 M), Tris-hydrochloric acid (Tris-HCl, 10 Mm) with pH 7.5, sodium chloride (NaCl, 0.3 M), respectively in a microcentrifuge tube (2.0 ml) then vortexing for uniformly mixed.

The suspension formed was incubated at 37°C for 20 min in the water bath. The suspension was mixed with the same volume of phenol (Merck, Germany), chloroform (Merck, Germany), and isoamyl alcohol (Merck, Germany) with the ratio of 25:24:1 into a new 2.0 ml microcentrifuge tube and then centrifuged for 10 min with 12,298 x g (Eppendorf, Centrifuge 5415 R, Germany). The liquid formed at the aqueous phase was aliquoted into a new microcentrifuges tube (2.0 ml). The same amount of chloroform and isoamyl alcohol (24:1) was added and mixed well, then centrifuged for 10 min at 12,298 x g. The aqueous phase (top layer) containing genomic DNA was precipitated by adding 100% cold absolute ethanol (2.5 volumes) and mixed well. The mixture containing genomic DNA was incubated overnight at -4°C in the refrigerator. After overnight precipitation, the mixture was centrifuged for 10 min at 12,298 x g. The supernatant was discarded while the pellet consisting of genomic DNA was washed with 70% (v/v) cold absolute ethanol (700 µl) (Merck, Germany). The pellet containing 70% (v/v) absolute ethanol was centrifuged for 10 min at 12,298 x g and then allowed to air-dry in laminar airflow. The dried DNA pellet was then dissolved in 40 μ l of TE buffer [Tris-HCI (10 mM) with pH 7.5 and ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (1 mM with pH 8.0, Merck, Germany). The genomic DNA was then kept in a -20°C freezer.

The 16S rRNA gene in the V3-V4 region was sequenced using phasing amplicon sequencing (PCoA), as described by S.-S. Yang et al. (2021), with some modifications. Illumina MiSeq platform (next-generation sequencing [NGS]) was used to paired-end sequenced on purified amplicons. UCHIME (v4.2.4.0) was used to remove low-quality sequences. Ribosomal Database Project (RDP) used a 70% confidence level to evaluate the taxonomic of each 16S rRNA gene sequence against the SILVA 16S rRNA database. R packages (v3.4.3) and QIIME (v1.9.1) were used to run alpha diversity, principal coordinate analysis, and relative abundance analyses according to taxonomic tanks and operational taxonomic unit (OTU) sequences.

Statistical Analysis

All the research data was gathered and processed using statistical analysis (SAS) software and analysis of variance (ANOVA). The mean separation of treatment was done using Tukey's test to access total plastic consumption amount and changes in molecular weight, differences in body length, total number and duration of larval instars, and microbial diversity between diets. The study was conducted using a significance threshold of p<0.05.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

EPS and XPS Polystyrene Consumption by Z. atratus Larvae

The study of the EPS and XPS groups revealed that differing diets had a significant influence (p < 0.05) on polystyrene consumption (Figure 1). Treatments utilizing oatmeal, wheat bran, and cornmeal as codiet demonstrated a substantial polystyrene consumption by Z. atratus larvae in EPS and XPS groups. This phenomenon has proven that including nutrient-dense meals in one's diet may increase the consumption of EPS and XPS. Treatment EPS (oatmeal) as a codiet produced higher total EPS consumption, 422.30 ± 21.44 mg, compared to treatment EPS only $(57.40 \pm 6.05 \text{ mg})$. In the XPS group, XPS (oatmeal) as a co-diet showed the highest total plastic consumption, 268.33 \pm 11.08 mg, compared to treatment XPS only (43.73 \pm 5.70 mg). The interaction of nutrients with the microbiome may impact the larva's behavioral decisions (Leitão-Gonçalves et al., 2017). Oatmeal has slightly higher essential nutrient compositions. Most importantly, it may help improve larva appetite and increase the specific variety of microbiota in the Z. atratus larva gut to consume EPS and XPS efficiently (Fu et al., 2020). Peña-Pascagaza (2020) and Yang, Brandon, et al. (2018) revealed that EPS and XPS polystyrene contain only hydrogen and carbon elements, thus unfavored polystyrene consumption by larvae. Treatment EPS (wheat bran) showed significantly higher EPS consumption $(220.96 \pm 10.17 \text{ mg})$ than EPS (cornmeal), with 91.17 ± 4.87 mg within the EPS group.





Note. Initial EPS / XPS mass = 1.2 g; Supplement (oatmeal/wheat bran/cornmeal) mass = 1.2 g. The experiment was recorded until the pupation took place. All values were obtained from the mean of sixty replications with larvae reared individually and separately per replication. Mean followed by different letters are significantly different at p<0.05 level according to Tukey's one-way ANOVA. The same letter above the bar within the group represents no significant difference between treatments

In the XPS group, the treatment XPS (wheat bran) also showed significantly higher XPS consumption $(109.12 \pm 10.07 \text{ mg})$ than treatment XPS (cornmeal) with $63.97 \pm$ 5.80 mg. Lou et al. (2020) discovered that wheat bran as a co-diet may modify the gut microbiota of T. molitor larvae and improve the capacity to break down polyethylene and polystyrene. Wheat bran has slightly lower essential nutrient compositions than oatmeal, reducing the favoring of microbiota production and larvae appetite on EPS and XPS consumption. Besides, cornmeal easily absorbs moisture from the surroundings, influencing shelf life and nutrient contents (McHargue, 1920). Thus, treatment with cornmeal as a co-diet with insufficient nutrients provided the growth of the gut microbiome, reducing EPS or XPS consumption.

Evidence of EPS and XPS Polystyrene Biodegradation Through Frass Contents Analysis

GPC was carried out using egested frass of Z. atratus larvae to characterize the depolymerization of EPS and XPS (Peng et al., 2020). The GPC method determines linear polymers' molecular weight (Mw and Mn), particularly polystyrene (Kissin, 1995). GPC results revealed significant changes (p < 0.05) in Mw and Mn of the residual EPS and XPS polymers (Figure 2). Mn and Mw in EPS and XPS groups showed decreased values after EPS, and XPS degraded in the gut of Z. atratus larvae in all treatments. In the EPS group, GPC analysis on residual polymer showed that treatment EPS (oatmeal) produced the highest reduction with Mw ($49.08 \pm 2.08\%$) and Mn ($28.24 \pm 0.43\%$) compared among



Figure 2. Weight average of molecular weight (Mw) and number average of molecular weight (Mn) of residual polymer from larval frass with treatment EPS group and XPS group *Note.* GPC analytical technique was used to measure the molecular weight of degraded polymer after passing through the larval gut passage. Mean followed by different latters are significantly different at n<0.05 level

through the larval gut passage. Mean followed by different letters are significantly different at p<0.05 level according to Tukey's one-way ANOVA. The same letter above the bar within the group represents no significant difference between treatments

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 459 - 483 (2023)
the EPS group. Meanwhile, the XPS group with treatment XPS (oatmeal) produced the highest reduction with Mw $(38.37 \pm 2.60\%)$ and Mn ($25.35 \pm 0.33\%$) compared to the XPS group. Oatmeal with essential nutrients supports larvae growth and enhances EPS and XPS degradation. The higher Mw and Mn value reduction indicated degradation activity and depolymerization were highly effective than other treatments. The enhanced variety of gut microbial activity is responsible for the capacity to depolymerize polystyrene (Fu et al., 2020). Besides, treatment EPS (wheatmeal) and EPS (cornmeal) are insignificant, but both treatments showed significant residual polymer reduction in Mw and Mn when compared with the EPS original. The results obtained were similar to the XPS group as well. XPS (0.1086 g/cm³) is generally denser than EPS (0.0375 g/cm^3). It could be why more PS mass was consumed and higher depolymerization extent of EPS (27.9% Mw, 12.4% Mn reduction) than XPS (18% Mw, 9.3% Mn reduction), although both foams had similar Mw and Mn. When ingested by larvae, wheat bran contains essential nutrients, triggering the gut microbiome to metabolize polystyrene (Brandon et al., 2018). Cornmeal also plays a similar role in helping Z. atratus larva metabolize polystyrene. However, wheat bran and cornmeal can enhance the reduction of Mw and Mn but are less efficient than oatmeal as supplements. The difference in PS consumption and depolymerization extent between oatmeal vs. wheat bran or cornmeal could be the difference in protein

content of the co-diets. The results of GPC analyses indicated that both EPS and XPS degradation in *Z. atratus* larvae tested were performed via a broad depolymerization pattern or decrease in both Mw and Mn (L. Yang et al., 2021; Peng et al., 2022).

A comparison of FTIR spectra showed evidence of chemical changes and new functional group formation, indicating oxidation of residual polymer (Lin & Liu, 2021; Umamaheswari & Murali, 2013). Evidence of polystyrene degradation can be shown by monitoring the reduction in peak intensities and the new peak formation compared to the original polystyrene (J. Yang et al., 2014; Sekhar et al., 2016). The spectrum of residual polymer from Z. atratus larvae fed with EPS and XPS treatment showed decreased peak intensities, and a new functional group occurred compared with the original EPS (EPS group) and XPS (XPS group) (Figures 3 and 4). In the EPS group, the peaks with (C=C stretch, 1,551 to 1,610 per cm) are known as benzene rings (Yang, Brandon, et al., 2018). It was found that treatment EPS only, EPS (cornmeal), EPS (wheat bran), and EPS (oatmeal) showed a decrease in intensity accordingly and dampened, indicating the evidence of ring cleavage. Besides, the -C-O stretch and -C=O carbonyl were responsible for the peak at 1,736 per cm and the lesser intensity at about 1,085 per cm. This peak was found in all EPS treatments, and EPS (oatmeal) treatment showed the most significant EPS degradation with new peaks and decreasing intensity compared to different treatments. This peak showed signs

Jun Hoe Tay, Norhayu Asib, Nor Azwady Abd Aziz and Geok Hun Tan



Figure 3. FTIR spectra of residual polymer (EPS group) from larva frass *Note.* Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy analytical technique was used to characterize a major functional group of the degraded polymer after passing through the larva gut passage in the range of 650 - 4,000 cm⁻¹



Figure 4. FTIR spectra of residual polymer (XPS group) from larval frass *Note.* Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy analytical technique was used to characterize a major functional group of the degraded polymer after passing through the larva gut passage in the range of 650–4,000 per cm

of oxidation of ingested EPS (Brandon et al., 2018; Peng et al., 2020; Yang, Brandon, et al., 2018). The new peak appears at 1,369 per cm (CH- ring) in all EPS treatments assigned to the aromatic structures, as proved by Georgakopoulos (2003) and Yang, Brandon, et al. (2018). In the frass sample, a new absorption peak formed about 3,330–3,665 per cm. A new absorption peak ascribed to the hydroxyl group with OH stretch showed a change in surface characteristics from hydrophobic to hydrophilic (L. Yang et al., 2021). Overall, the

most effective EPS degradation by *Z. atratus* larva is treatment EPS oatmeal, followed by EPS (wheat bran), EPS (cornmeal), and weaker EPS alone based on the new peak appearance and level of intensities on peak decrease. The spectrum in the XPS group showed similar results as in the EPS group.

The aromatic structure and C=C stretch benzene ring were attributed to the peaks around per 1,360 cm (Yang, Brandon, et al., 2018). This peak appeared in all XPS treatments, while treatment XPS (oatmeal) showed a high peak indicating strong benzene ring cleavage. Besides, new peaks appeared around 1,160 and 1,710 per cm in all treatments, indicating the existence of C-O stretch and C=O carbonyl (J. Yang et al., 2014). The C-O stretch and C=O carbonyl on the polystyrene demonstrated that oxidation occurred, and deterioration was verified. The peak density showed that treatment XPS (oatmeal) is more distinct while treatment XPS (only) is the least. A peak was found at 2,839-3,000 per cm with distinct decreasing intensities. These peaks indicate that the C-H stretch was weaker, causing increasing vibration and instability, leading to the breakage of the C-H bond (Herman et al., 2015). Besides that, another new peak occurred around 3,330 per cm in all treatments attributed to the O-H stretch known as the hydroxyl band (S.-S. Yang et al., 2021). This peak indicates that the surface of XPS is changed to a hydrophilic character (Peng et al., 2019). EPS and XPS groups showed similar results, with the peak occurrence nearly identical, but each peak's intensity varies. The results showed that treatment with oatmeal as a co-diet demonstrated the most effective in helping larvae degrade EPS and XPS based on the occurrence of new peaks and intensity levels of the related peaks.

The proton nuclear magnetic resonance (¹H NMR) analysis was used to prove the chemical changes in the residual polymer (Kundungal et al., 2021). Brandon et al. (2018) characterized residual PS versus original PS foam using ¹H NMR. A comparison of ¹H NMR spectra among residual EPS and XPS treatment was examined by extracting the residual polymer with chloroform-D. The number of new peaks increased, indicating that the chemical structure of polystyrene has altered, resulting in the formation of new chemical bonds between functional groups (Sekhar et al., 2016). In the EPS group (Figure 5), new peaks occurred in regions of 2.3 ppm, denoting the formation of C=O (carbonyl group), 2.8 ppm, 3.8 ppm, 4.2 ppm denoting the formation of -OH (hydroxyl group), while 5.1 ppm and 5.5 ppm known as CH=CH- (alkenyl hydrogen) (Liu, 2021; Yang, Brandon, et al., 2018). The C=O (carbonyl group) and -OH (hydroxyl group) indicated that EPS oxidation occurs, and the surface is readily hydrophilic. The CH=CH- (alkenyl hydrogen) indicates a hydrogen shift to double-bond carbon, where the chemical shift is likely to occur (Liu, 2021). It was noticed that treatment EPS (oatmeal) appeared to have more peaks when compared to EPS origin, indicating the highest effectiveness on EPS degradation and depolymerization. The effectiveness

of EPS depolymerization starts from most effective to less with EPS (oatmeal), EPS (wheat bran), EPS (cornmeal), then EPS (only). In the XPS group (Figure 6), new peaks occurred among treatments with 2.3 ppm, 3.8 ppm, 4.6 ppm, and 5.1 ppm compared with XPS origin. The peaks in 2.3 ppm are C=O (carbonyl group), 3.8 ppm, and 4.6 ppm denoting the formation of -OH, while 5.1 ppm is CH=CH-. In the XPS group, XPS (oatmeal) treatment showed more peaks than XPS origin. It means that treatment XPS (oatmeal) is more effective in transforming and modifying XPS within the gut of the *Z. atratus* larva. Meanwhile, treatment XPS (wheat bran) and XPS (cornmeal) have more peaks than treatment XPS only when compared with XPS origin. The *Z. atratus* larva co-diet with wheat bran and cornmeal showed significant depolymerized XPS. EPS and XPS degradation are from most effective to less, such as oatmeal, wheat bran, cornmeal, and the sole diet.



Figure 5. ¹H NMR spectra of residual polymer from larva frass (EPS group) *Note.* ¹H nuclear magnetic resonance analytical technique was used to characterize changes in the end groups of the degraded polymer after passing through the larva gut passage

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 459 - 483 (2023)

Biodegradation of EPS and XPS with Diets Using Z. atratus Larvae



Figure 6. ¹H NMR spectra of residual polymer from larva frass (XPS group) *Note.* ¹H nuclear magnetic resonance analytical technique was used to characterize changes in the end groups of the degraded polymer after passing through the larva gut passage

Growth and Development of *Z. atratus* Larvae After Ingested EPS and XPS Polystyrene

The growth and development of larvae were recorded throughout the study to compare the differences in *Z. atratus* larva growth after consuming EPS and XPS in different feeding diets. The *Z. atratus* larvae's growth and development depended on the types of diet and quantity of nutritional contents obtained. The final larvae length of *Z. atratus* larva among treatments revealed a significant difference (p<0.05) with different diets (Figure 7). The results showed that EPS (oatmeal), EPS (wheat bran), and EPS (cornmeal) produced longer larva lengths with 48.01 ± 3.32, 39.01 ± 2.29, 30.03

 \pm 1.36 mm, respectively, as compared to treatment EPS alone (26.10 \pm 1.16 mm). In the XPS group, the larva's most extended final body length was attributed to treatment oatmeal as co-diet with 42.44 \pm 2.50 mm, while the shortest was found in treatment XPS alone (24.87 \pm 3.01 mm).

Oatmeal, wheat bran, and cornmeal provide essential nutrients for *Z. atratus* growth. These meals are protein-rich essentially for larvae growth (Emaleku et al., 2018; Onwulata et al., 2010; Rasane et al., 2015). Thus, all treatments in EPS and XPS groups containing supplements showed enhancement in final larva length compared to EPS or XPS alone. Larvae cuticles play an important role in larvae body elongation. Jun Hoe Tay, Norhayu Asib, Nor Azwady Abd Aziz and Geok Hun Tan



Figure 7. The final body length of the larva in each treatment with EPS and XPS groups. A digital vernier caliper was used to measure the larval body length

Note. All values were obtained from the mean of sixty replications with larvae reared separately per replication. Mean followed by different letters are significantly different at p<0.05 level according to Tukey's one-way ANOVA. The same letter above the bar within the group represents no significant difference between treatments

Protein is one of the components in larvae cuticle (Kaleka et al., 2019). Oatmeal and wheat bran-rich protein compared to cornmeal indicated larvae growth was more vigorous in a protein-rich meal. Besides, oatmeal could alter the gut microbiota to enhance digestion activity, improving nutrient uptake (Kristek et al., 2018). The larva length in oatmeal treatment as a co-diet showed a significant and highest value in the EPS and XPS groups. Meanwhile, wheat bran and cornmeal showed less efficiency in promoting Z. atratus larva growth than oatmeal. Treatment with EPS alone (EPS group) and XPS alone (XPS group) had shown the shortest larva length. Mlček et al. (2021) mentioned that the nutritional value of polystyrene-made materials is negligible but can convert into lipids after mineralization by providing a limited energy

source for larvae growth. Thus, EPS and XPS made from polystyrene only provided limited nutrition to *Z. atratus* larvae growth.

The total number of larval instars was counted when the Z. atratus larva exuvium was observed, and larva instars counting stopped when the larva started to curl (Kim et al., 2015). In EPS and XPS groups, the analysis showed a significant difference in the total number of larval instars among treatments (Figure 8). In the EPS group, treatment with EPS only showed the highest number of instars $(20 \pm 2 \text{ instars})$, followed by EPS (cornmeal) with 18 ± 1 instars, then EPS (wheat bran) with 16 ± 1 instars, and the lowest was EPS (oatmeal) with 15 \pm 2 instars. Meanwhile, treatment with XPS only $(20 \pm 1 \text{ instars})$ showed the highest number of larval instars among the XPS group, followed by XPS (cornmeal) with

Biodegradation of EPS and XPS with Diets Using Z. atratus Larvae



Figure 8. The total number of larval instars in each treatment with EPS and XPS groups. Each time of larvae molt (exuvium) was counted as a larval instar

Note. All values were obtained from the mean of sixty replications with larvae reared separately per replication. Mean followed by different letters are significantly different at p<0.05 level according to Tukey's one-way ANOVA. The same letter above the bar within the group represents no significant difference between treatments

 19 ± 2 instars. XPS (wheat bran) with 18 ± 2 instars and XPS (oatmeal) with 17 ± 1 instars. Nutrient intake influences larva's instars (Ribeiro et al., 2018). The rising number of instars might be a lack of food or nutritional deficiencies (Esperk et al., 2007). Treatment with EPS only and XPS only showed the highest number of instars.

In contrast, treatment with supplements revealed a lower total number of instars in EPS and XPS groups. Oatmeal as a supplement showed the lowest number of instars in the EPS and XPS groups, followed by wheat bran and cornmeal. The total number of instars in the wheatmeal and cornmeal supplement treatments was shorter than in the EPS (only) and XPS (only). Protein is a critical component of all organisms' tissues and essential for growth and development (Ortiz et al., 2016). Protein content increases and the instars number will reduce (Morales-Ramos et al., 2010). Oatmeal and wheat bran contain many essential nutrients, especially protein. However, the structural characteristics and protein fraction distribution are different. Oat protein is soluble in salt or water, while wheat protein is insoluble in salt solutions (Rasane et al., 2015). Thus, oat protein is more readily digested and dissolves completely in the larvae's gut than wheat. Besides, Chojnacka et al. (2021) study revealed that cornmeal contains an insufficient amount of amino acids compared to wheat diets which play an important role in assisting protein digestibility. Therefore, the highest number of larval instars is treatment EPS or XPS as sole diets followed by cornmeal, wheat bran, and oatmeal.

In EPS and XPS groups, the analysis showed a significant difference among treatments in the total duration of larval (Figure 9). Treatment with EPS only showed the most prolonged larval duration with 223 ± 9 days in the EPS group. Meanwhile, treatment with XPS only $(237 \pm 5 \text{ days})$ also showed similar results to the EPS group. In contrast, co-diet meal treatment revealed a shorter larval instar duration in EPS and XPS groups. Ruschioni et al. (2020)'s study on T. molitor revealed that protein and carbohydrates are the primary nutrients that affect larval development time. Rho and Lee (2022) discovered that increased dietary nutrition, such as protein and carbohydrates, shortened larval development time.

The total duration of larva in the treatment-contained supplements was shown to be shorter than treatment EPS (only) and XPS (only). The shortened development time of larvae growth in treatment supplements is due to the sufficient nutrient (protein and carbohydrates) and other micronutrients provided. Oonincx et al. (2019) study proved that sufficient protein diets able to reduce development time in T. molitor and black soldier flies (Hermetia illucens). Oatmeal as a co-diet showed the shortest instar duration in the EPS group (157 \pm 6 days) and XPS group (168 \pm 4 days). Oatmeal is rich in macronutrients and micronutrients and helps to improve the diversity of larvae gut microbiota, indirectly improving



Figure 9. The total duration of larval in each treatment with EPS and XPS groups. Larvae curled were counted as the end of the larval stage

Note. All values were obtained from the mean of sixty replications with larvae reared separately per replication. Mean followed by different letters are significantly different at p<0.05 level according to Tukey's one-way ANOVA. The same letter above the bar within the group represents no significant difference between treatments

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 459 - 483 (2023)

nutrient uptake. Urbanek et al. (2020) study revealed that *T. molitor* consuming oatmeal increases the variety of gut flora. It indicated that oatmeal, wheat bran, and cornmeal, with sufficient nutrients, supplied, reduced larval development time.

Gut Microbial Analysis

Microbial community analysis was done on oatmeal treatment due to high EPS and XPS polystyrene consumption. The alpha analysis resulted revealed that treatment OB (EPS) showed the highest value in Chao1 indices, Fisher alpha index, and Shannon and Simpson index as compared to other diets such as OB (XPS) and OB (only). Chao1 and fisher alpha indices indicated that the richness of bacterial species is slightly higher in the diet of OB (EPS) compared to other diets. Shannon diversity and Simpson index refer to the species diversity and also showed the highest values in OB (EPS) groups followed by OB (XPS), then OB only (Table 2). Jiang et al. (2021) revealed that the difference in diversity might be due to dietary differences and related to gut ecophysiology. Study by Peng et al. (2019) on T. molitor feeding with polystyrene also showed increasing microbial community diversity compared to normal diet feed. Therefore, the feeding meal that included EPS and XPS may lead the gut flora to grow, making it faster to digest. Similar phenomena were shown in four different diversity analyses where the treatment OB (EPS) and OB (XPS) showed higher value in terms of species richness and diversity compared to OB (only). Besides, density may affect the microbial population in the gut. High polymer density with high molar mass may cause microorganisms and oxidizing enzymes difficulty accessing polymer chains (Mohanan et al., 2020). Furthermore, XPS is denser than EPS, eventually reducing appetite and limiting the microbial population's growth. Thus, treatment OB (EPS) may have higher gut microbial diversity than OB (XPS).

The Bray-Curtis Distance dissimilarity measure was used to perform principal coordinate analysis (PCoA), which identified a cluster linked within treatment OB (only), OB (EPS), and OB (XPS). The microbiomes of *Z. atratus* larvae fed with treatment OB (EPS) and OB (XPS) were almost similar (Figure 10). However, the microbial community composition has differed from larvae fed between treatment OB (Only) and polystyrene (EPS and XPS) containing

Table 2

Bacterial diversity analyses based on illumine sequencing of the 16S rRNA gene amplicons for Zophobas atratus larvae under different diet conditions (OB only, OB + EPS groups, OB + XPS)

Samples	Chao1	Fisher	Shannon	Simpson
OB fed only	57.67	8.41	3.26	0.94
OB + EPS	66.00	9.89	3.62	0.96
OB + XPS	64.67	9.64	3.49	0.95

Note. OB = Oatmeal; EPS = Expanded polystyrene; XPS = Extruded polystyrene

Jun Hoe Tay, Norhayu Asib, Nor Azwady Abd Aziz and Geok Hun Tan



Figure 10. Analysis of gut microbiomes of *Zophobas atratus* larvae with PCoA *Note.* Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) on the population of gut microbiomes of *Z. atratus* larvae between different diets (OB only, XPS + OB, and EPS + OB fed) based on Bray Curtis Distance. OB = oatmeal; XPS = Extruded polystyrene; EPS = Expanded polystyrene

diets. EPS and XPS are made from styrene monomer, but the manufacturing processing method, cell structure, and density differ. Thus, the diversity of microbial species between treatment OB (EPS) and OB (XPS) may have high similarities. Oatmeal provides essential nutrients for the growth of Z. atratus larva and improves the appetite of larvae to ingest polystyrene (Fu et al., 2020). Therefore, adding EPS and XPS with oatmeal help improve larvae appetite and digestion, indirectly shifting the composition of specific microbial species to digest the EPS and XPS. Lou et al. (2021) study on yellow mealworms with different diets revealed that the gut microbiome showed distinct clustering between PS + bran co-diet and normal feeding diets. Therefore, the microbial community was

distinct from treatment OB only compared to OB (EPS) and OB (XPS).

Relative abundance analysis was performed on the genus level. Klebsiella sp., Kluyvera sp., and Enterobacter sp. were discovered as OTUs with higher relative abundance in treatment OB (EPS) and OB (XPS) compared to OB (only) (Figure 11). These three OTUs were identified as facultative anaerobic bacteria at the genus level, meaning they can live in an environment with or without oxygen (Farmer III, 2015; Lopes et al., 2010; Maintinguer et al., 2017). Klebsiella sp. was a prominent genus in the gut microbiomes of Z. atratus larvae fed with treatment OB (XPS) and OB (EPS) with respective $8.49 \pm$ 5.60% and $12.01 \pm 1.39\%$, which increased by 6.31% and 9.83% compared to treatment Biodegradation of EPS and XPS with Diets Using Z. atratus Larvae



Figure 11. Analysis of gut microbiomes of *Zophobas atratus* larvae with relative abundance in genus level *Note.* Relative abundance analysis on the population of gut microbiomes of *Z. atratus* larvae between different diets (OB only, XPS + OB, and EPS + OB fed) at the genus levels. OB = Oatmeal; XPS = Extruded polystyrene; EPS = Expanded polystyrene. All values represent mean \pm standard deviation

OB (only) with the relative abundance of $2.18 \pm 1.76\%$. *Klebsiella* sp. acts mutualistic relationship with insect hosts by digesting food in the gut and providing nutrients to the host (Sun et al., 2022). Besides, Machona et al. (2022) mentioned that Klebsiella sp. can degrade polystyrene in the gut system of T. molitor. Therefore, Klebsiella sp. showed higher abundance in OB (EPS), and OB (XPS) than OB (only) may be due to more Klebsiella sp. are require digesting oatmeal and EPS or XPS. Saygin and Baysal (2021) study revealed that Klebsiella sp. could degrade sub-microplastics through oxidation. The functional groups, such as the C=O carbonyl group, vinyl group, and oxygen-to-carbon ratio, were increased when the microplastics were treated by Klebsiella sp. Besides that, Kluyvera sp., as one of the OTUs members in the microbial community of treatment OB (XPS) and OB (EPS), showed a shift to slightly higher

relative abundance $(9.10 \pm 1.23\%$ and $4.89 \pm 3.98\%$) respectively than treatment OB (only) with a relative abundance of 2.17 $\pm 0.95\%$. *Kluyvera* sp. can help *Z. morio* digest oatmeal diets and convert nutrients to the gut (Pivato et al., 2022).

Furthermore, XPS is a more closely packed structure than EPS, which takes time to digest (Turner, 2020). The relative abundance of Kluyvera sp. is higher in OB (XPS) than OB (EPS) may be due to more need for this species among the gut community to digest XPS. Thus, Kluyvera sp. might help degrade polystyrene in the gut of Z. atratus larval. Enterobacter sp. in treatment OB (XPS) and OB (EPS) with $6.46 \pm 4.95\%$ and $7.53 \pm 4.10\%$, which increased by 5.28% and 6.35% as compared to treatment OB (only) with a relative abundance of $1.18 \pm 0.22\%$. The symbiotic relationships between insects and Enterobacter species may be advantageous

to the host as it has varied capacities to catalyze nitrogen fixation, hydrolyze and ferment carbohydrates, and synthesize vitamins and pheromones for the host (Hendrichs et al., 2021). Enterobacter sp. needs a small amount to break down normal feeding diets (oatmeal) but adding EPS or XPS triggers rapid growth of Enterobacter sp., digested all the food sources. It also suggested that *Enterobacter* sp. can biodegrade food, including EPS and XPS. Serratia marcescens belonging to Enterobacter sp. showed overwhelming superiority in PS-fed gut microbiomes and was found in the PS-fed group (Lou et al., 2020). Enterobacter sp. should be investigated further since it is thought that various Enterobacter species may play a role in EPS and XPS polystyrene degradation. Klebsiella sp., Kluyvera sp., and Enterobacter sp. species in the genus were advised to be further validated by isolation and enzymatic testing to evaluate the capacity of plastic breakdown and the enzyme involved.

CONCLUSION

The results of this study demonstrated that superworms, *Zophobas atratus* larvae, from a Malaysian source could biodegrade EPS and XPS, supporting the ubiquity of PS degradation in this insect species. Furthermore, the PS consumption rate was enhanced significantly in the presence of codiet with the sequence: oatmeal > wheat bran > cornmeal, positively depending on the protein content. FTIR and ¹H NMR analysis have further proven EPS and XPS polymer biodegradation. Incorporating co-diets such as oatmeal, wheat bran, and cornmeal in EPS and XPS groups showed an increase in *Z. atratus* larva length, total number of instar, and duration of instar. *Kluyvera* sp., *Klebsiella* sp., and *Enterobacter* sp. in the gut of *Z. atratus* larvae were discovered to be strongly associated with the XPS and EPS polystyrene degradation. Thus, further studies are needed to verify the role of gut microbes in depolymerization and biodegradation via antibiotic suppression tests. Besides, further study on PS degradation rates can be done by examining THF extracted fraction.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Universiti Putra Malaysia (UPM) for funding support under GP-IPS/2019/9680200.

REFERENCES

- Brandon, A. M., Gao, S. H., Tian, R., Ning, D., Yang, S. S., Zhou, J., Wu, W. M., & Criddle, C. S. (2018). Biodegradation of polyethylene and plastic mixtures in mealworms (larvae of *Tenebrio molitor*) and effects on the gut microbiome. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 52(11), 6526-6533. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.est.8b02301
- Chojnacka, K., Mikula, K., Izydorczyk, G., Skrzypczak, D., Witek-Krowiak, A., Gersz, A., Moustakas., K., & Korczyński, M. (2021). Innovative high digestibility protein feed materials reducing environmental impact through improved nitrogen-use efficiency in sustainable agriculture. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 291, 112693. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.112693

- Emaleku, S. A., Omueti O. O., & Emaleku, G. O. (2018). *Talinum triangulare* whole wheat meal fortified with soy flour consumed with *Talinum triangulare* (gbure) soup glycemic index and the test human subjects' lipid profiles. *Diabetes* and Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research and Reviews, 12(6), 831-837. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.dsx.2017.08.007
- Esperk, T., Tammaru, T., & Nylin, S. (2007). Intraspecific variability in number of larval instars in insects. *Journal of Economic Entomology*, 100(3), 627-645. https://doi. org/10.1603/0022-0493(2007)100[627:ivinol] 2.0.co;2
- Farmer III, J. J. (2015). Kluyvera. In Bergey's manual of systematics of archaea and bacteria. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and Bergey's Manual Trust. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118960608. gbm01151
- Fu, K. H., Yeung, C. H., Hung, S. C., & To, C. Y. (2020). Two wrongs could make a right: Food waste compost accelerated polystyrene consumption of *Tenebrio molitor*. *Journal of Emerging Investigators*, *3*, 1-7.
- Gao, H. L., Li, H. T., Zhang, L., & Hao, M. J. (2010). Effects of *Tenebrio molitor* L. larva decomposing polystyrene foam. *Advanced Materials Research*, *113-116*, 1972-1975. https://doi.org/10.4028/ www.scientific.net/AMR.113-116.1972
- Georgakopoulos, A. (2003). Study of low rank Greek coals using FTIR spectroscopy. *Energy Sources*, 25(10), 995–1005. https://doi. org/10.1080/00908310390232442
- Hendrichs, J., Pereira, R. & Vreysen, M. J. (Eds.) (2021). Area-wide integrated pest management: Development and field application. CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781003169239
- Herman, V., Takacs, H., Duclairoir, F., Renault, O., Tortai, J. H., & Viala, B. (2015). Core double-shell cobalt/graphene/polystyrene

magnetic nanocomposites synthesized by in situ sonochemical polymerization. RSC Advances, 5(63), 51371-51381. https://doi. org/10.1039/C5RA06847A

- Hu, L., Xia, M., Lin, X., Xu, C., Li, W, Wang, J., Zeng, R., & Song, Y. (2018). Earthworm gut bacteria increase silicon bioavailability and acquisition by maize. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *125*, 215-221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. soilbio.2018.07.015
- Jang, S., & Kikuchi, Y. (2020). Impact of the insect gut microbiota on ecology, evolution, and industry. *Current Opinion in Insect Science*, 41, 33-39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2020.06.004
- Jiang, S., Su, T., Zhao, J., & Wang, Z. (2021). Biodegradation of polystyrene by *Tenebrio* molitor, Galleria mellonella, and Zophobas atratus larvae and comparison of their degradation effects. Polymers, 13(20), 3539. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym13203539
- Kaleka, A. S., Kaur, N., & Bali, G. P. (2019). Larval development and molting. In H. Mikkola (Ed.), *Edible insects*. IntechOpen. https://doi. org/10.5772/intechopen.85530
- Khoo, K. S., Ho, L. Y., Lim, H. R., Leong, H. Y., & Chew, K. W. (2021). Plastic waste associated with the COVID-19 pandemic: Crisis or opportunity?. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 417, 126108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2021.126108
- Kim, S. Y., Kim, H. G., Song, S. H., & Kim, N. J. (2015). Developmental characteristics of *Zophobas atratus* (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae) larvae in different instars. *International Journal* of Industrial Entomology, 30(2), 45-49. https:// doi.org/10.7852/ijie.2015.30.2.45
- Kissin, Y. V. (1995). Molecular weight distributions of linear polymers: Detailed analysis from GPC data. *Journal of Polymer Science Part A: Polymer Chemistry*, 33(2), 227-237. https://doi. org/10.1002/pola.1995.080330205

- Kristek, A., Schär, M. Y., Soycan, G., Alsharif, S., Kuhnle, G. G. C., Walton, G., & Spencer, J. P. E. (2018). The gut microbiota and cardiovascular health benefits: A focus on wholegrain oats. *Nutrition Bulletin*, 43(4), 358-373. https:// doi.org/10.1111/nbu.12354
- Kundungal, H., Synshiang, K., & Devipriya, S. P. (2021). Biodegradation of polystyrene wastes by a newly reported honey bee pest *Uloma* sp. larvae: An insight to the ability of polystyrene-fed larvae to complete its life cycle. *Environmental Challenges*, 4, 100083. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envc.2021.100083
- Leitão-Gonçalves, R., Carvalho-Santos, Z., Francisco, A. P., Fioreze, G. T., Anjos, M., Baltazar, C., Elias, A. P., Itskov, P. M., Piper, M. D. W., & Ribeiro, C. (2017). Commensal bacteria and essential amino acids control food choice behavior and reproduction. *PLOS Biology*, *15*(4), e2000862. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pbio.2000862
- Lin, H. H., & Liu, H. H. (2021). FTIR analysis of biodegradation of polystyrene by intestinal bacteria isolated from Zophobas morio and Tenebrio molitor. Proceedings of Engineering and Technology Innovation, 17, 50-57. https:// doi.org/10.46604/peti.2021.5450
- Liu, X. (2021). ¹H NMR spectra and interpretation (Part I). https://batch.libretexts.org/print/ url=https://chem.libretexts.org/Bookshelves/ Organic_Chemistry/Organic_Chemistry_I_ (Liu)/06%3A_Structural_Identification_ of_Organic_Compounds-_IR_and_NMR_ Spectroscopy/6.06%3A_H_NMR_Spectra_and_ Interpretation_(Part_I).pdf
- Lopes, F. M., Batista, K. A., Batista, G. L., Mitidieri, S., Bataus, L. A. M., & Fernandes, K. F. (2010). Biodegradation of epoxyconazole and piraclostrobin fungicides by *Klebsiella* sp. from soil. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 26(7), 1155-1161. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11274-009-0283-0

- Lou, Y., Ekaterina, P., Yang, S., Lu, B., Liu, B.-F., Ren, N., Corvini, P., & Xing, D. (2020). Biodegradation of polyethylene and polystyrene by greater wax moth larvae (*Galleria mellonella* L.) and the effect of co-diet supplementation on the core gut microbiome. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 54(5), 2821-2831. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.est.9b07044
- Lou, Y., Li, Y., Lu, B., Liu, Q., Yang, S. S., Liu, B., Ren, N., Wu, W. M., & Xing, D. (2021). Response of the yellow mealworm (*Tenebrio molitor*) gut microbiome to diet shifts during polystyrene and polyethylene biodegradation. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 416, 126222. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2021.126222
- Machona, O., Chidzwondo, F., & Mangoyi, R. (2022). *Tenebrio molitor*: Possible source of polystyrenedegrading bacteria. *BMC Biotechnology*, 22, 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12896-021-00733-3
- Maintinguer, S. I., Lazaro, C. Z., Pachiega, R., Varesche, M. B. A., Sequinel, R., & de Oliveira, J. E. (2017). Hydrogen bioproduction with *Enterobacter* sp. isolated from brewery wastewater. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 42(1), 152-160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijhydene.2016.11.104
- Matyja, K., Rybak, J., Hanus-Lorenz, B., Wróbel, M., & Rutkowski, R. (2020). Effects of polystyrene diet on *Tenebrio molitor* larval growth, development and survival: Dynamic Energy Budget (DEB) model analysis. *Environmental Pollution*, 264, 114740. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envpol.2020.114740
- McHargue, J. S. (1920). The cause of deterioration and spoiling of corn and corn meal. *Industrial and Engineering Chemistry*, *12*(3), 257-262. https:// doi.org/10.1021/ie50123a019
- Mlček, J., Adámek, M., Adámková, A., Matyáš,
 J., Bučková, M., Mrázková, M., Vicha,
 R., Vychodil, R., Knížková, I., & Volek,
 Z. (2021). Feed parameters influencing

the breeding of mealworms (*Tenebrio* molitor). Sustainability, 13(23), 12992. https://doi.org/10.3390/su132312992

- Mohanan, N., Montazer, Z., Sharma, P. K., & Levin, D. B. (2020). Microbial and enzymatic degradation of synthetic plastics. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 11, 580709. https://doi. org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.580709
- Morales-Ramos, J. A., Rojas, M. G., Shapiro-Ilan, D. I., & Tedders, W. L. (2010). Developmental plasticity in *Tenebrio molitor* (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae): Analysis of instar variation in number and development time under different diets. *Journal of Entomological Science*, 45(2), 75-90. https://doi.org/10.18474/0749-8004-45.2.75
- Onwulata, C. I., Phillips, J. G., Tunick, M. H., Qi, P. X., & Cooke, P. H. (2010). Texturized dairy proteins. *Journal of Food Science*, 75(2), E100–E109. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2009.01473.x
- Oonincx, D. G., van Broekhoven, S., van Huis, A., & van Loon, J. J. A. (2019). Feed conversion, survival and development, and composition of four insect species on diets composed of food byproducts. *PLOS One*, *14*(10), e0222043. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0222043
- Ortiz, J. C., Ruiz, A. T., Morales-Ramos, J. A., Thomas, M., Rojas, M. G., Tomberlin, J. K., Yi, L., Han, R., Giroud, L., & Jullien, R. L. (2016). Insect mass production technologies. In *Insects* as sustainable food ingredients: Production, processing and food application (pp. 153-201). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-802856-8.00006-5
- Peña-Pascagaza, P. M., López-Ramírez, N. A., & Ballen-Segura, M. A. (2020). *Tenebrio molitor* and its gut bacteria growth in polystyrene (PS) presence as the sole source carbon. *Universitas Scientiarum*, 25(1), 37–53. https:// doi.org/10.11144/javeriana.sc25-1.tmai

- Peng, B.-Y., Li, Y., Fan, R., Chen, Z., Chen., J., Brandon, A. M., Criddle, C. C., Zhang, Y., & Wu, W.-M. (2020). Biodegradation of low-density polyethylene and polystyrene in superworms, larvae of *Zophobas atratus* (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae): Broad and limited extent depolymerization. *Environmental Pollution*, 266(Part 1), 115206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envpol.2020.115206
- Peng, B.-Y., Su, Y., Chen, Z., Chen, J., Zhou, X., Benbow, M. E., Criddle, C. C., Wu, W.-M., & Zhang, Y. (2019). Biodegradation of polystyrene by dark (*Tenebrio obscurus*) and yellow (*Tenebrio molitor*) mealworms (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae). *Environmental Science and Technology*, 53(9), 5256-5265. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.est.8b06963
- Peng, B.-Y., Sun, Y., Wu, Z., Chen, J., Shen, Z., Zhou, X., Wu, W.-M., & Zhang, Y. (2022). Biodegradation of polystyrene and low-density polyethylene by *Zophobas atratus* larvae: Fragmentation into microplastics, gut microbiota shift, and microbial functional enzymes. *Journal* of Cleaner Production, 367, 132987. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.132987
- Pivato, A. F., Miranda, G. M., Prichula, J., Lima, J. E. A., Ligabue, R. A., Seixas, A., & Trentin, D. S. (2022). Hydrocarbon-based plastics: Progress and perspectives on consumption and biodegradation by insect larvae. *Chemosphere*, 293, 133600. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2022.133600
- Rasane, P., Jha, A., Sabikhi, L., Kumar, A., & Unnikrishnan, V. S. (2015). Nutritional advantages of oats and opportunities for its processing as value added foods - A review. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 52, 662–675. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-013-1072-1
- Rho, M. S., & Lee, K. P. (2022). Behavioural and physiological regulation of protein and

carbohydrates in mealworm larvae: A geometric analysis. *Journal of Insect Physiology*, *136*, 104329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jinsphys.2021.104329

- Ribeiro, N., Abelho, M., & Costa, R. (2018). A review of the scientific literature for optimal conditions for mass rearing *Tenebrio molitor* (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae). *Journal of Entomological Science*, 53(4), 434-454. https:// doi.org/10.18474/jes17-67.1
- Rumbos, C. I., & Athanassiou, C. G. (2021). The superworm, Zophobas morio (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae): A 'Sleeping Giant' in nutrient sources. Entomological Society of America, 21(2), 13. https://doi.org/10.1093/jisesa/ieab014
- Ruschioni, S., Loreto, N., Foligni, R., Mannozzi, C., Raffaelli, N., Zamporlini, F., Pasquini, M., Roncolini, A., Cardinali, F., Osimani, A., Aquilanti, L., Isidoro, N., Riolo, P., & Mozzon, M. (2020). Addition of olive pomace to feeding substrate affects growth performance and nutritional value of mealworm (*Tenebrio molitor* L.) larvae. *Foods*, 9(3), 317. https://doi. org/10.3390/foods9030317
- Saygin, H., & Baysal, A. (2021). Insights into the degradation behavior of submicroplastics by *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. Journal of Polymers and the Environment, 29(3), 958-966. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10924-020-01929-y
- Sekhar, V. C., Nampoothiri, K. M., Mohan, A. J., Nimisha, R. N., Thallada, B., & Pandey, A. (2016). Microbial degradation of high impact polystyrene (HIPS), an e-plastic with decabromodiphenyl oxide and antimony trioxide. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 318, 347-354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.07.008
- Shanmugam, V., Das, O., Neisiany, R. E., Babu, K., Singh, S., Hedenqvist, M. S., Berto, F., & Ramakrishna, S. (2020). Polymer recycling in additive manufacturing: An opportunity for the circular economy. *Materials Circular Economy*,

2, 11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42824-020-00012-0

- Singh, B., Mal, G., Gautam, S. K., & Mukesh, M. (2019). Insect gut - A treasure of microbes and microbial enzymes. In *Advances in Animal Biotechnology* (pp. 51-58). Springer. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-030-21309-1_5
- Sun, J., Prabhu, A., Aroney, S., & Rinke, C. (2022). Insights into plastic biodegradation: Community composition and functional capabilities of the superworm (Zophobas morio) microbiome in styrofoam feeding trials. https://www.biorxiv. org/content/10.1101/2022.05.16.492041v1.full
- Thushari, G. G. N., & Senevirathna, J. D. M. (2020). Plastic pollution in the marine environment. *Heliyon*, 6(8), e04709. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. heliyon.2020.e04709
- Turner, A. (2020). Foamed polystyrene in the marine environment: Sources, additives, transport, behavior, and impacts. *Environmental Science* and Technology, 54(17), 10411-10420. https:// doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c03221
- Umamaheswari, S., & Murali, M. (2013). FTIR spectroscopic study of fungal degradation of poly (ethylene terephthalate) and polystyrene foam. *Chemical Engineering*, 64, 19159-19164.
- Urbanek, A. K., Rybak, J., Wróbel, M., Leluk, K., & Mirończuk, A. M. (2020). A comprehensive assessment of microbiome diversity in *Tenebrio molitor* fed with polystyrene waste. *Environmental Pollution*, 262, 114281. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.114281
- Yang, J., Yang, Y., Wu, W. M., Zhao, J., & Jiang, L. (2014). Evidence of polyethylene biodegradation by bacterial strains from the guts of plasticeating waxworms. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 48(23), 13776–13784. https://doi. org/10.1021/es504038a
- Yang, L., Gao, J., Liu, Y., Zhuang, G., Peng, X., Wu, W. M., & Zhuang, X. (2021).

Biodegradation of expanded polystyrene and low-density polyethylene foams in larvae of *Tenebrio molitor* Linnaeus (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae): Broad versus limited extent depolymerization and microbe-dependence versus independence. *Chemosphere*, 262, 127818. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2020.127818

- Yang, S.-S., & Wu, W.-M. (2020). Biodegradation of plastics in *Tenebrio* genus (mealworms). In D. He & Y. Luo (Eds.), *Microplastics in terrestrial environments: The handbook of environmental chemistry* (Vol. 95, pp. 385-422). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/698_2020_457
- Yang, S.-S., Brandon, A. M., Flanagan, J. C. A., Yang, J., Ning, D., Cai, S.-Y., Fan, H.-Q., Wang, Z.-Y., Ren, J., Eric, B., Ren, N.-Q., Waymouth, R. M., Zhou, J., Criddle, C. S., & Wu, W.-M. (2018). Biodegradation of polystyrene wastes in yellow mealworms (larvae of *Tenebrio molitor* Linnaeus): Factors affecting biodegradation rates and the ability of polystyrene-fed larvae to complete their life cycle. *Chemosphere*, *191*, 979-989. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2017.10.117
- Yang, S.-S., Ding, M.-Q., He, L., Zhang, C.-H., Li, Q.-X., Xing, D.-F., Cao, G.-L., Zhao, L., Ding, J., Ren, N.-Q., & Wu, W.-M. (2021). Biodegradation of polypropylene by yellow mealworms (*Tenebrio molitor*) and superworms (*Zophobas atratus*) via gut-microbedependent depolymerization. *Science of The Total Environment*, 756, 144087. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144087

- Yang, S.-S., Wu, W.-M., Brandon, A. M., Fan, H.-Q., Receveur, J. P., Li, Y., Wang, Z.-Y., Fan, R., McClellan, R., Gao, S.-H., Ning., D., Philips, D. H., Peng, B.-Y., Wang, H., Cai, S.-Y., Li, P., Cai, W.-W., Ding, L.-Y., Yang, J., ... Criddle, C. S. (2018). Ubiquity of polystyrene digestion and biodegradation within yellow mealworms, larvae of *Tenebrio molitor* Linnaeus (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae). *Chemosphere*, 212, 262-271. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.08.078
- Yang, Y., Wang, J., & Xia, M. (2020). Biodegradation and mineralization of polystyrene by plasticeating superworms *Zophobas atratus*. *Science of the Total Environment*, 708, 135233. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135233
- Yang, Y., Yang, J., Wu, W.-M., Zhao, J., Song, Y., Gao, L., Yang, R., & Jiang, L. (2015).
 Biodegradation and mineralization of polystyrene by plastic-eating mealworms: Part 2. Role of gut microorganisms. *Environmental Science Technology*, 49(20), 12087-12093. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.est.5b02663
- Zhou, D., Chen, J., Wu, J., Yang, J., & Wang, H. (2021). Biodegradation and catalyticchemical degradation strategies to mitigate microplastic pollution. Sustainable Materials and Technologies, 28, e00251. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.susmat.2021.e00251
- Zhou, J. Z., Mary, A. B., & James, M. T. (1996). DNA recovery from soils of diverse composition. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 62(2), 316-322. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.62.2.316-322.1996



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Evaluation of Environmental Contamination with *Salmonella* spp. in a Large Animal Ward at a Veterinary Hospital in Malaysia

Alexandria de Lima¹, Nurul Hayah Khairuddin^{1*}, Zunita Zakaria¹, Sarah Othman^{2,3} and Siti Khairani-Bejo¹

¹Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia ²Faculty of Biotechnology and Biomolecular Sciences, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

³UPM-MAKNA Cancer Research Laboratory, Institute of Bioscience, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Veterinary hospitals are important locations for various sick and immunocompromised animal patients. These centers may act as reservoirs for nosocomial diseases such as *Salmonella* infection, one of the most common causes of healthcare-associated infections in veterinary hospitals. The study was performed at the Large Animal Ward (LAW), University Veterinary Hospital, Universiti Putra Malaysia, to assess the environment's degree of *Salmonella* spp. contamination. Environmental samples were obtained from various floor and surface areas in the LAW using sterile, moistened gauze. *Salmonella* spp. was determined using conventional bacteriological culture on all samples. Positive *Salmonella* isolates were subject to antimicrobial sensitivity testing. A total of 6 out of 135 (4.4%) samples were found to be positive for *Salmonella* spp., with 5/116 (4.3%) samples obtained from the ward environment and 1/19 (5.3%) obtained from reusable equipment. Antimicrobial sensitivity testing revealed three resistance profiles: all isolates were resistant to penicillin and enrofloxacin, one isolate was resistant to streptomycin,

ARTICLE INFO Article history: Received: 26 September 2022 Accepted: 16 December 2022 Published: 12 April 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.07

E-mail addresses:

gs59131@student.upm.edu.my (Alexandria de Lima) nurulhayah@upm.edu.my (Nurul Hayah Khairuddin) zunita@upm.edu.my (Zunita Zakaria) sarahothman@upm.edu.my (Sarah Othman) skhairani@upm.edu.my (Siti Khairani Bejo) * Corresponding author and one was resistant to gentamicin. The results indicate that animal treatment areas within the LAW can become contaminated with *Salmonella* spp. This study highlights the importance of improving biosecurity programs to prevent nosocomial diseases in patients and the hospital environment.

Keywords: Environment, large animal, nosocomial, *Salmonella*, veterinary hospital

ISSN: 1511-3701 e-ISSN: 2231-8542

INTRODUCTION

The most prevalent healthcare-associated infection in large animal veterinary clinics has been attributed to Salmonella enterica, and outbreaks of nosocomial salmonellosis have been documented (Hartmann et al., 1996; Schott et al., 2001; Steneroden et al., 2010). These outbreaks of salmonellosis have resulted in the closure of hospitals for extensive cleaning and disinfection, which has led to significant financial losses, including losses in client confidence, employee morale, and student educational opportunities (Aceto et al., 2007; Dallap Schaer et al., 2010; Ward et al., 2005). In addition to patients and resident animals being infected or acquiring the infection, they may also act as a reservoir for transmitting these microorganisms to other patients, hospital staff, students, and clients. Salmonella infection is a major concern for animal health; there is also a serious concern about its zoonotic potential, which significantly impacts public health (Bean & Griffin, 1990; Mead et al., 1999). Furthermore, there is a possibility that animals returning to their farms and stables after being discharged from the hospital may carry infectious agents to their herd mates, and therefore represent a further ethical obligation for veterinarians to prevent the spread of the disease outside of the hospital environment (Morley et al., 2013). The ethical and professional responsibility of veterinarians is to create a protective environment for hospitalized animals, students, staff, and clients to minimize infectious disease hazards in

veterinary hospitals (Morley, 2013; Morley et al., 2013).

Stress is a factor that may instigate Salmonella fecal shedding by diseased animals (House et al., 1999; Wray et al., 1991). When animals infected with Salmonella are admitted to the hospital along with other immunocompromised animals, they may be subjected to environmental changes such as new locations, different feedings, and treatment regimens. These stressed animals pose a significant risk of nosocomial Salmonella infection to vulnerable animals (Pandya et al., 2009). Horses that have traveled an hour or more to the veterinary teaching hospital had antimicrobials before admission, abnormal nasogastric intubation findings, had an intravenous catheter placed, or rectal palpation performed, developed leukopenia, laminitis, or diarrhea during hospitalization, abdominal surgery performed (enterotomy or anastomosis) and were hospitalized for more than eight days had an increased likelihood of shedding Salmonella organisms in their feces (Burgess & Morley, 2019; Dallap Schaer et al., 2012; Ernst et al., 2004; Hird et al., 1984; Kim et al., 2001).

Hospitalized patients frequently have a compromised immune system because of the stress associated with transportation, management changes, and the underlying medical or surgical condition (Irwin, 1994; Radošević-Stasic et al., 1990; Sheridan et al., 1994; Tannock & Savage, 1974). Additionally, patients may have lowered resistance to gastrointestinal tract infections because of decreased gastrointestinal tract motility and altered gastrointestinal tract flora because of anorexia, surgery, and antimicrobial therapy (Hird et al., 1984; Owen et al., 1983). Thus, eliminating nosocomial *Salmonella* infections requires two fundamental strategies: decreasing patient exposure to pathogenic organisms and limiting additional increases in patient vulnerability to pathogens.

In large animal facilities, the veterinary staff will likely perform duties in central services (e.g., pharmacy, storerooms, and laundry) and some specialties (e.g., radiology). Commonly, the individuals most likely to encounter patients are veterinary students, who is rotated throughout multiple sections and may be considered novices concerning patient management and infection control practices. The degree of integration and shared resources in the hospital can impact disease transmission even though infectious disease or environmental contamination in one area may likely affect patients managed in that region (Burgess & Morley, 2019; Steneroden et al., 2010). A study has demonstrated that the probability of Salmonella detection in the hospital environment increases as the caseload increases and the demand for personnel subsequently increases. Personnel may not comply with established infectious disease control protocols with increased demand of cleaning frequency and patient contacts, which creates more opportunities for infectious organisms' transmission between patients (Burgess & Morley, 2018; Dallap Schaer et al., 2010; Hartmann et al., 1996;

Roberts & O'Boyle, 1981; Schott et al., 2001). These demonstrate that the ecological factors affecting the contamination of the hospital are complex and should be considered for the development of epidemics of nosocomial salmonellosis.

This study aims to ascertain the degree of *Salmonella* spp. contamination in the environment in a large animal veterinary hospital in Malaysia as one of the efforts to improve the biosecurity measures of the facility.

METHODOLOGY

Environmental samples were collected from 135 sites in the Large Animal Ward (LAW) at the University Veterinary Hospital (UVH), Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia. The selection of sample sites took into consideration the layout of the wards, the pattern of movement of the animals and staff in the ward, and the usage of space for treatment or procedures. A total of 17 pens/stable boxes were used to house resident animals and hospitalized patients in which the floors, walls, which are constructed from concrete and painted, feed, water buckets made of plastic, and the entrance gates were sampled. All wards are half-walled at the back, which faces outside or on the sides. Four stable boxes were used to ward horses, and four and nine pens were used to hospitalize large and small ruminant animals, respectively. Four walkways used to enter and exit the premises and five locations on treatment floor areas were also sampled. The other areas that were sampled were the cattle crush and horse stock bars, and flooring, which is in the central area of the LAW and close to each other, and hand contact surfaces such as table surfaces and tap handles located at sinks for handwashing and near wards, the entrance gate handles, and table surfaces used for the treatment of patients and preparation of treatments kept in the central area, and cupboards handle at the drugs dispensary cabinet. Cleaning equipment (brooms, rakes, and scoops) and reusable equipment (nasogastric and orogastric tubes and stomach pumps) were also sampled. The frequency of specific sites sampled is demonstrated in Table 1.

Environmental samples such as taps, table surfaces, cupboard handles, equipment, and entrance handles were collected by swabbing the targeted surface for approximately 20 s with a sterile gauze saturated with sterile saline for 5 s. The gauze was then placed in a sealable and labeled plastic bag. All samples were collected aseptically using sterile gloves that were changed between sampling locations. One or three gauze swabs were swabbed along the entire surface for the sampling of table tops and restraint equipment. Three gauze swabs were swabbed to sample the floors and walls, covering an area of roughly 61 cm × 61 cm.

Standard aerobic bacterial culture of the environmental samples was performed. For enrichment, the gauze swab was placed in 90 ml of Buffered Peptone Water (BPW) (Thermo Scientific TM Oxoid TM, USA), and the broth was incubated at 37°C for 24 hr in aerobic conditions. One ml of BPW mixture

was transferred by micropipette into 9 ml of Rappaport-Vassiliadis (RV) broth (Thermo Scientific TM Oxoid TM, USA) and incubated at 37°C for 24 hr in aerobic condition. A loopful of the RV broth was cultured onto brilliant green (BG) agar plates and xyloselysine-deoxycholate (XLD) agar plates (Thermo Scientific TM Oxoid TM, USA). The plates were incubated at 37°C for 24 hr in aerobic conditions. Three non-lactose fermenting, hydrogen sulfide-producing colonies would be selected and isolated. These colonies were then subjected to biochemical tests: urease agar, citrate utilization test, Sulfur Indole Motility (SIM) test, and triple sugars iron (TSI) agar slant (Thermo Scientific [™] Oxoid [™], USA), which were incubated at 37°C for 24 hr. TSI tubes were evaluated for changes that indicated alkaline (red) development in the slant and acid (yellow) and hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) precipitate in the butt, with or without gas presence. The absence of color in urease agar and color change from green to a blue indication of citrate utilization indicated positive Salmonella samples.

The antibiotic susceptibility of the positive isolates was tested using the standardized disc diffusion method (Bauer et al., 1966). Positive cultures were obtained from the nutrient agar collected using a wire loop, mixed into a test tube filled with 2–3 ml of sterile saline, and mixed using a vortex mixer until the density was visually equivalent to 0.5 MacFarland standard. The bacterial broth suspension was streaked evenly in 3 planes using sterile, non-toxic cotton swabs onto the surface of Mueller-

Hinton agar plates (Thermo Scientific TM Oxoid [™], USA) and left to dry for 2 to 4 min. The antimicrobial sensitivity discs were then placed on the culture using a Disk Diffusion Dispenser (Oxoid[™], USA). Antibiotic discs tested were penicillin 10 μg, streptomycin 300 μg, gentamicin 10 μg, and enrofloxacin 5 µg (Thermo Scientific TM Oxoid TM Antimicrobial Susceptibility Discs, USA). The plates were incubated at 37°C for 24 hr, and the size of the inhibition zone was interpreted as sensitive or resistant according to Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute guidelines (Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute [CLSI], 2020). According to Magiorakos' criteria, samples were classed as having Multiple Drug Resistance (MDR) when resistant to at least one drug in three or more antimicrobial classes (Magiorakos et al., 2012).

IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows (version 26.0) was utilized to generate descriptive statistics demonstrating *Salmonella* spp. contamination by different areas sampled and sampling locations.

RESULTS

Overall, 135 samples were collected from the walls (n = 49), floors (n = 10), handcontact surfaces (n = 21), food and water buckets (n = 32), and equipment (cleaning, n = 10; reusable, n = 9; restraint, n = 4) at the large animal ward. Samples were evaluated by standard aerobic bacteriological culture and antimicrobial sensitivity testing. The results revealed that the large animal ward areas and equipment are contaminated with Salmonella spp. with an overall prevalence of 4.4% (6/135). Salmonella was successfully isolated from floors of walkways in the large animal section of the hospital ad flooring of a pen (3/26, 11.5%), walls of a stall box (1/16, 6.3%), and a water bucket (1/32, 3.1%). Additionally, only one (10%) sampled cleaning equipment recovered Salmonella spp., which was isolated from a rake used to scoop fecal materials from the wards. The overall prevalence of positive samples for Salmonella is demonstrated in Table 1. Salmonella spp. was not isolated from the treatment area, restraining equipment, or the commonly used veterinary equipment such

Table 1

Ν	Positive	Negative
16	1 (6.3%)	15 (93.8%)
26	3 (11.5%)	23 (88.5%)
38	0 (0%)	38 (100%)
32	1 (3.1%)	31 (96.9%)
10	1 (10%)	9 (90%)
9	0 (0%)	9 (90%)
4	0 (0%)	4 (100%)
135	6 (4.4%)	129 (95.6%)
	N 16 26 38 32 10 9 4 135	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c } \hline N & Positive \\ \hline 16 & 1 (6.3\%) \\ \hline 26 & 3 (11.5\%) \\ \hline 38 & 0 (0\%) \\ \hline 32 & 1 (3.1\%) \\ \hline 10 & 1 (10\%) \\ \hline 9 & 0 (0\%) \\ \hline 4 & 0 (0\%) \\ \hline 135 & 6 (4.4\%) \\ \hline \end{tabular}$

The frequency of positively isolated Salmonella spp. of environmental and equipment samples obtained from the LAW, UVH

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 485 - 501 (2023)

as nasogastric or orogastric tubes. There was no statistically significant difference between environment and equipment samples, $\chi(1) = 0.35$, p = 0.852.

The results of the antimicrobial sensitivity testing revealed three antimicrobial-resistant profiles. Four isolates had an antimicrobial-resistance profile of penicillin-enrofloxacin, one isolate was penicillin-enrofloxacin-streptomycin, and one isolate was penicillin-enrofloxacingentamicin. None of the six Salmonella isolates were pan-susceptible: all isolates were resistant to penicillin and enrofloxacin. Five isolates were sensitive to streptomycin, while one was resistant. All isolates except one were sensitive to gentamicin (Table 2). Four of these isolates (the floor and water bucket of wards and floors of the two walkways) had similar antimicrobial patterns where isolates were sensitive to streptomycin and gentamicin and resistant to penicillin and enrofloxacin. Of these isolates, 2/6 (33.3%) were classified as having multiple drug resistance, as these were resistant to one agent in three or more antimicrobial classes.

DISCUSSION

Prevalence

The environmental contamination reported in this study is less prevalent than that reported at Ohio State University Veterinary Teaching Hospital (VTH) (5.9%) (Pandya et al., 2009), Colorado State University VTH (11.9%) (Burgess et al., 2004), and Equine Veterinary Hospital Santiago Chile (4.5%) (Soza-Ossandón et al., 2020), but higher than the prevalence reported by Michigan State University VTH (0.1%) (Ewart et al., 2001), and Purdue University VTH (2.1%) (Alinovi et al., 2003). However, it is challenging to directly compare the prevalence of Salmonella contamination in different hospital environments due to differences in microbiological culture techniques between institutions and their laboratories and various sampling techniques.

Various techniques and methods are used to recover or isolate *Salmonella* from environmental samples. The use of direct plating without enrichment, enrichment in a variety of broth media (including buffered peptone water, selenite, thioglycolate,

Table 2

Salmonella spp. frequency	Antimicrobial resistance profiles	
4	Penicillin-enrofloxacin	
1	Penicillin-enrofloxacin-streptomycin	
1	Penicillin-enrofloxacin-gentamicin	
Antimicrobials	Sensitive	Resistance
Penicillin	0 (0%)	6 (100%)
Streptomycin	5 (83.3%)	1 (16.6%)
Gentamicin	5 (83.3%)	1 (16.6%)
Enrofloxacin	0 (0%)	6 (100%)

The antimicrobial resistance profiles of the isolates of positively isolated Salmonella spp. from environmental samples acquired from the LAW, UVH

tetrathionate, and Rappaport-Vassiliadis broths), and culture on a variety of agar medium (including MacConkey, brilliant green, XLD, and xylose-lysine-tergitol-4 [XLT-4] agar) (Adzitey et al., 2012; Cummings et al., 2014; Rostagno et al., 2005; Ruple-Czerniak et al., 2014) are among the reported. Despite the numerous methods available to culture and isolate Salmonella spp., not all are equally effective at isolating the bacteria. A study compared two culture techniques during a Salmonella epidemic at a large animal hospital, one was the current method used in the diagnostic laboratory associated with the hospital, where samples were cultured in selenite broth (SEL) and plated on XLD (SEL-XLD), and the other method was reported for environmental surveillance in a veterinary teaching hospital where samples were incubated in tetrathionate broth with brilliant green (TBG), followed by Rappaport-Vassiliadis (RV) broth and plated on XLT-4 (TBG-RV-XLT) (Burgess et al., 2004). According to a study, the TBG-RV-XLT culture approach was significantly more sensitive than the SEL-XLD culture method for detecting Salmonella in environmental samples (Lyle et al., 2015).

A similar finding was also noted in another study which demonstrated that enrichment with tetrathionate and RV broth was three times more sensitive than a culture method that incubated in thioglycolate enrichment broth (Ruple-Czerniak et al., 2014). Failing to correctly detect *Salmonella* bacteria resulting from the use of poorly sensitive culture techniques that yield false negatives delays the application of strategies to curb nosocomial outbreaks and thereby facilitating the spread of *Salmonella* in hospital environments and between patients (Dallap Schaer et al., 2010; Hyatt & Weese, 2004). The more sensitive method could be attributed to increased testing that uses selective enrichment that encourages the growth of *Salmonella* spp.; however, more steps in the cultivation can cause a delay in the reporting of results. A rapid diagnosis is also vital to initiate proper treatment and infection control measures (Hyatt & Weese, 2004).

There is a general lack of sensitivity in all detection methods for Salmonella spp., which is why enrichment methods are typically recommended for use to aid in detection with culture (Hyatt & Weese, 2004). Recognizing that using enrichment broths in the culture process produces qualitative rather than quantitative results (positive vs. negative) is critical. It would preclude it from determining the degree of environmental contamination adequate to induce infection in animals or people (Burgess et al., 2004; Ruple-Czerniak et al., 2014). It is noted that there is a distinction between sampling strategies, such as the use of premoistened sponged, gauze sponges, gauze swabs, and electrostatic wipes. To date, there are no superior sampling or culture methods that have been determined; nonetheless, there have been two studies that have evaluated two distinct samplings and culture approaches. Both studies (Goeman et al., 2018; Ruple-Czerniak et al., 2014) agree that electrostatic wipes are more effective

at collecting bacteria and debris and using enrichment broths to aid in the detection of Salmonella bacteria. The sampling and recovery techniques applied in this study were deemed reliable and effective at isolating the bacteria, as the study used the lowest effective number of steps to isolate Salmonella spp. successfully. Bacterial growth may be inhibited by environmental factors such as disinfectants. Therefore, polymerase chain reaction (PCR) can be used to detect Salmonella bacteria in the environmental samples obtained. Studies have demonstrated that PCR was more sensitive in detecting positive Salmonella spp. in environmental samples than bacterial culture (Cohen et al., 1996; Ewart et al., 2001).

Impact

The study's findings imply that students and veterinarians working in the large animal hospital should be mindful of the dangers of nosocomial infections spreading to other patients and potential zoonotic infections spreading to themselves, clients, and visitors. Potential health problems that could be attributed to Salmonella infections in students, staff, and clients could not be identified as this was beyond the scope of the study. The two floors used as walkways are the most used entrances to the hospital by students and staff. Floor samples are the most frequently contaminated in veterinary hospital environments after floor drains (Alinovi et al., 2003; Pandya et al., 2009). It is a commendable finding that the treatment floor area, stock, crush, treatment tables,

and the entrance floors and gates used by animals are not contaminated with Salmonella spp. A water bucket in one of the small ruminant wards was contaminated with Salmonella spp. It could be a potential source of nosocomial infection to the resident animals or patients, as Salmonella is transmitted by ingesting the bacteria. Nasogastric intubation, a routine procedure to treat colic in horses, has been established as a risk factor for Salmonella detection (Hird et al., 1984, 1986; Traub-Dargatz et al., 1990). In this study, it was found that these gastric tubes were not contaminated with Salmonella spp. However, one of the cleaning equipment, the rake, was found to be harboring Salmonella organisms. It could be a potential method to disseminate the bacteria throughout the rest of the hospital environment. Salmonella spp. in the hospital environment could be detrimental to hospitalized patients, resident animals, and personnel working due to increased nosocomial and zoonotic risks. It is essential to comprehend and manage the microbial contamination of components interacting with patients to prevent nosocomial infections.

Current Cleaning Protocols

There have been no outbreaks of nosocomial infections due to *Salmonella* in this veterinary hospital. The current cleaning and disinfection protocols used at the hospital where areas are cleaned using a high-pressure water hose while scrubbing with a brush broom and disinfected with a diluted bleach solution (1:32). There is a foot bath

that is cleaned and filled daily with a diluted bleach solution, along with a separate area to wash boots at one entrance to the hospital, with sinks and soap available for hand washing near the treatment area. The entrances and treatment areas are cleaned at least twice daily and immediately following each animal examination. When there was suspicion or confirmed cases of infectious disease, animals were hospitalized at the ward, and infection control programs and other biosecurity measures such as the use of disposable gloves and gowns and frequent hand washing, and sanitizing were enforced. Unfortunately, a large animal isolation facility for infectious diseases is not available at the current time. Based on the output of this study, an environmental surveillance report for Salmonella spp. has been issued, and a suggestion for routine disinfection, guidelines for best-practice prevention efforts, and environmental surveillance protocol have been brought forward to the management of the large animal ward. The suggestions have been accepted positively. Other measures to further help reduce the population of pathogenic organisms in the wards by adding disinfectant footbaths at all entrances into the large animal ward, and not just at the main entrance to the facility. Before entering the hospital premises, boots should be vigorously scrubbed and cleaned after each farm/stable visit. The boots should be immersed in a regularly changed footbath containing disinfectant such as 1:16 dilution of sodium hypochlorite (bleach) for the appropriate contact time, which has been

shown to decrease microbial loads on the surface of the boots significantly (Hornig et al., 2016; Kirk et al., 2003; Morley et al., 2005; Stockton et al., 2006). Bleach is a very potent and inexpensive disinfectant used in veterinary settings that thoroughly inactivates numerous pathogens of concern. However, it is considerably deactivated by organic matter and has no detergent action (Steneroden, 2012). Disposable boot covers have significantly reduced nosocomial infections in hospital settings (Schott et al., 2001).

Infectious Disease Control Program

Infection prevention and control recommendations include wearing gloves when cleaning wards and treating animals, removing gloves, and washing hands immediately after work is complete. In places where patients are handled, handwashing sinks or alcohol-based handsanitizing solutions should be readily available (Smith et al., 2004; Wright et al., 2005). All disinfectants require a clean and debris-free surface, and the disinfectant must be utilized at the manufacturer's recommended dilution and contact time. Stalls that housed discharged animals should be cleaned by removing all soiled bedding, followed by gently hosing down and scrubbing. Once the stall looks completely free of feed, bedding, feces, and blood, it should be cleaned extensively with a brush and detergents such as an iodophor detergent (Lindores*-30, Sunzen Biotech Berhad, Malaysia) to remove organic matter and biofilms. Follow up with rinsing and application of the disinfectant, such as sodium hypochlorite, diluted at 1:32, allowing at least 10 min of contact time. In a study comparing the effectiveness of different types of disinfectants, bleach was the most effective in eliminating *Salmonella* organisms from all surfaces when detected using bacterial culture or PCR testing (Ewart et al., 2001). It is because of the mechanism of action of bleach, which causes the breakdown of the cellular lining but also destroys the DNA of the bacteria (Merritt et al., 2000).

It has been suggested that periodic environmental surveillance by dried environmental sampling should be collected and cultured for Salmonella spp. to determine the cleaning protocol's efficiency (Smith et al., 2004). While continuous monitoring is not required, it is preferable to undertake it on a set schedule, such as monthly or biannually (Burgess & Morley, 2015). It is also essential to ensure that any defect, chipped paint, loose flooring, floor mats, and damaged or rotted wood on surfaces of the ward and treatment areas are in good repair so that they can be easily cleaned and not become a nidus for pathogens to survive (Kramer & Ames, 1987). A study has shown that environmental sampling is indicated following the cleaning and disinfection protocol as a small proportion of stalls may remain contaminated with Salmonella spp.; therefore, a second round of cleaning and disinfection can be performed before the stall can be used for admissions (Alinovi et al., 2003). However, it has been noted that certain strains of Salmonella have been shown to survive in the environment despite rigorous cleaning and disinfection methods, functioning as a reservoir for hospitalacquired diseases and zoonoses. It was speculated that complete eradication might be difficult or unattainable in a large animal hospital environment (Pandya et al., 2009; Ruple-Czerniak et al., 2014; Steneroden et al., 2010).

Veterinary health care providers have an ethical and legal responsibility to minimize risks for infectious disease transmission in health care settings. To date, there have been few published discussions on the responsibilities of nosocomial infections in veterinary settings, and this aspect has to be emphasized and highlighted to the many veterinary care providers throughout the country. Several veterinary associations from various countries such as Australia, Britain, Canada, and the United States have released guidelines for infection control procedures (Australian Veterinary Association [AVA], 2017; Canadian Committee on Antibiotic Resistance [CCAR], 2008; Gerrad, 2021; Newbury et al., 2010; Stull et al., 2018). While Veterinary Associations set protocols, the employment and implementation of the procedures may vary from facility to facility. It was surmised from multiple studies that a significant number of veterinarians are either unaware of the risks of zoonoses or nosocomial infections or are complacent about the risks (Anderson & Weese, 2022; Lipton et al., 2008; McMillian et al., 2007; Tambuwal et al., 2009; Wright et al., 2008). An international group of experts recently developed a consensus on

opinions about infection control in equine populations (Morley et al., 2013). Therefore, at the current time, the best practice of infection control should be acknowledged and promoted in veterinary settings.

Antimicrobial Resistance

In this study, antimicrobial sensitivity testing tested the common antimicrobial drugs currently used in large animal practices in Malaysia. In this study, all the Salmonella isolates were resistant to penicillin (100%) and enrofloxacin (100%). Only two isolates had different antibiograms; one demonstrated resistance to gentamicin in addition to penicillin and enrofloxacin, and the other demonstrated resistance to streptomycin. It could be interpreted as three different species of Salmonella bacteria; however, further investigation with serotyping is warranted to assess this accurately. The emergence of resistance to antimicrobial drugs in salmonellae is a worldwide problem (Chaslus-Dancla et al., 2000; Dargatz & Traub-Dargatz, 2004). An amount of 28.6% of isolates in this study was resistant to one agent in three antimicrobial classes, which agrees with earlier reports in humans, horses, and other domestic animals (Mammina et al., 2002; van Duijkeren et al., 2002). Many of the documented nosocomial outbreaks associated with Salmonella in veterinary hospitals have been associated with MDR strains, even in isolates obtained from the environment (Amavisit et al., 2001; Castor et al., 1989; Dallap Schaer et al., 2010; Hartmann et al., 1996; Hartmann & West,

1995; Schott et al., 2001; Steneroden et al., 2010; Tillotson et al., 1997). Even routine environmental surveillance of veterinary hospitals has demonstrated isolates that possess MDR, where 6.25–40.1% of isolates demonstrated MDR (Pandya et al., 2009; Soza-Ossandón et al., 2020). These studies showed that isolates were resistant to streptomycin (Pandya et al., 2009) and gentamicin (Soza-Ossandón et al., 2020), similar to what was seen in this study; however, neither study reported resistance to enrofloxacin as seen in all isolates obtained from this study.

CONCLUSION

This study has established the presence and degree of Salmonella spp. contamination in the environment in this large animal veterinary hospital for the duration of sampling highlighted the importance of periodic environmental surveillance and monitoring. Implementing infectious disease control and biosecurity protocols is vital to controlling nosocomial infections, especially with Salmonella spp., and is considered an ethical and professional responsibility of any veterinary practice. It can be recommended that other veterinary facilities in this country consider evaluating the environmental contamination in their healthcare premises.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank the veterinary and assistant veterinary officers at the Department of Farm and Exotic Animal Medicine and Surgery, University Veterinary Hospital (UVH) of Universiti Putra Malaysia, for their assistance and cooperation throughout the study period.

FUNDING

This research is supported by Universiti Putra Malaysia, Putra Grant- Putra Graduate Initiative (GP-IPS/2022/9724200).

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

- Aceto, H., Rankin, S. C., Dallap, B. L., Dolente, B., Munro, D. S., Benson Charles, C. E., & Smith G. (2006). Salmonella infection at a veterinary teaching hospital: The University of Pennsylvania experience. https://www. usaha.org/upload/Proceedings/2006_USAHA_ Proceedings.pdf
- Adzitey, F., Rusul, G., & Huda, N. (2012). Prevalence and antibiotic resistance of *Salmonella* serovars in ducks, duck rearing and processing environments in Penang, Malaysia. *Food Research International*, 45(2), 947–952. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2011.02.051
- Alinovi, C. A., Ward, M. P., Couëtil, L. L., & Wu, C. C. (2003). Detection of Salmonella organisms and assessment of a protocol for removal of contamination in horse stalls at a veterinary teaching hospital. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 223(11), 1640–1644. https://doi.org/10.2460/ JAVMA.2003.223.1640
- Amavisit, P., Markham, P. F., Lightfoot, D., Whithear, K. G., & Browning, G. F. (2001). Molecular epidemiology of *Salmonella* Heidelberg in an equine hospital. *Veterinary Microbiology*,

80(1), 85–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-1135(00)00373-4

- Anderson, M. E. C., & Weese, J. S. (2022). Video observation of hand hygiene practices at a petting zoo and the impact of hand hygiene interventions. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 140(1), 182–190. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S095026881100029X
- Australian Veterinary Association. (2017). *Guidelines* for veterinary personal biosecurity. AVA. https://www.ava.com.au/siteassets/resources/ veterinary-personal-biosecurity/guidelines-forveterinary-personal-biosecurity-2017-final.pdf
- Bauer, A. W., Kirby, W. M. M., Sherris, J. C., & Turck, M. (1966). Antibiotic susceptibility testing by a standardized single disk method. *American Journal of Clinical Pathology*, 45(3), 493–496.
- Bean, N. H., & Griffin, P. M. (1990). Foodborne disease outbreaks in the United States, 1973-1987: Pathogens, vehicles, and trends. *Journal* of Food Protection, 53(9), 804–817. https://doi. org/10.4315/0362-028x-53.9.804
- Burgess, B. A., & Morley, P. S. (2015). Veterinary hospital surveillance systems. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice, 45(2), 235–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cvsm.2014.11.002
- Burgess, B. A., & Morley, P. S. (2018). Risk factors for veterinary hospital environmental contamination with Salmonella enterica. Epidemiology and Infection, 146(10), 1282–1292. https://doi. org/10.1017/S0950268818001164
- Burgess, B. A., & Morley, P. S. (2019). Risk factors for shedding of *Salmonella enterica* among hospitalized large animals over a 10-year period in a veterinary teaching hospital. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 33(5), 2239–2248. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvim.15579
- Burgess, B. A., Morley, P. S., & Hyatt, D. R. (2004). Environmental surveillance for *Salmonella*

enterica in a veterinary teaching hospital. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 225(9), 1344–1348. https://doi. org/10.2460/javma.2004.225.1344

- Canadian Committee on Antibiotic Resistance. (2008). Infection prevention and control best practices for small animal veterinary clinics. https://www.oahn.ca/wp-content/ uploads/2021/04/OAHN-IPC-Guide-SB-Final-Jan0820_All_tagged.pdf
- Castor, M. L., Wooley, R. E., Shotts, E. B., Brown, J., & Payeur, J. B. (1989). Characteristics of *Salmonella* isolated from an outbreak of equine salmonellosis in a veterinary teaching hospital. *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science*, 9(5), 236–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0737-0806(89)80078-4
- Chaslus-Dancla, E., Lafont, J. P., & Martel, J. L. (2000). Spread of resistance from food animals to man: The French experience. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 93, 53–60.
- Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. (2020). Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing (32nd ed.). CLSI. https:// clsi.org/standards/products/microbiology/ documents/m100/
- Cohen, N. D., Martin, L. J., Simpson, R. B., Wallis, D. E., & Neibergs, H. L. (1996). Comparison of polymerase chain reaction and microbiological culture for detection of salmonellae in equine feces and environmental samples. *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, 57(6), 780–786.
- Cummings, K. J., Rodriguez-Rivera, L. D., Mitchell, K. J., Hoelzer, K., Wiedmann, M., McDonough, P. L., Altier, C., Warnick, L. D., & Perkins, G. A. (2014). Salmonella enterica serovar Oranienburg outbreak in a veterinary medical teaching hospital with evidence of nosocomial and on-farm transmission. Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases, 14(7), 496–502. https://doi. org/10.1089/vbz.2013.1467

- Dallap Schaer, B. L., Aceto, H., Caruso, M. A., & Brace, M. A. (2012). Identification of predictors of *Salmonella* shedding in adult horses presented for acute colic. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 26(5), 1177–1185. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1939-1676.2012.00984.x
- Dallap Schaer, B. L., Aceto, H., & Rankin, S. C. (2010). Outbreak of salmonellosis caused by Salmonella enterica serovar Newport MDR-AmpC in a large animal veterinary teaching hospital. Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine, 24(5), 1138–1146. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1939-1676.2010.0546.x
- Dargatz, D. A., & Traub-Dargatz, J. L. (2004). Multidrug-resistant Salmonella and nosocomial infections. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Equine Practice, 20(3), 587–600. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cveq.2004.07.008
- Ernst, N. S., Hernandez, J. A., Mackay, R. J., Brown, M. P., Gaskin, J. M., Nguyen, A. D., Giguere, S., Colahan, P. T., Troedsson, M. R., Haines, G. R., Addison, I. R., & Miller, B. J. (2004). Risk factors associated with fecal *Salmonella* shedding among hospitalized horses with signs of gastrointestinal tract disease. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 225(2), 275–281. https://doi.org/10.2460/ javma.2004.225.275
- Ewart, S. L., Schott, H. C., Robison, R. L., Dwyer, R. M., Eberhart, S. W., & Walker, R. D. (2001). Identification of sources of *Salmonella* organisms in a veterinary teaching hospital and evaluation of the effects of disinfectants on detection of Salmonella organisms on surface materials. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 218(7), 1145–1151. https://doi. org/10.2460/javma.2001.218.1145
- Gerrad, E. (2021). Infection control and hygiene: A guide to best practice. British Veterinary Nursing Association. https://bvna.org.uk/blog/infectioncontrol-and-hygiene-a-guide-to-best-practice/

- Goeman, V. R., Tinkler, S. H., Hammac, G. K., & Ruple, A. (2018). Evaluation of environmental sampling methods for detection of *Salmonella enterica* in a large animal veterinary hospital. *Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 59(4), 408– 412.
- Hartmann, F. A., Callan, R. J., McGuirk, S. M., & West, S. E. (1996). Control of an outbreak of salmonellosis caused by drug-resistant Salmonella anatum in horses at a veterinary hospital and measures to prevent future infections. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 209(3), 629–631.
- Hartmann, F. A., & West, S. E. H. (1995). Antimicrobial susceptibility profiles of multidrug-resistant Salmonella anatum isolated from horses. Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation, 7(1), 159–161. https://doi. org/10.1177/104063879500700128
- Hird, D. W., Casebolt, D. B., Carter, J. D., Pappaioanou, M., & Hjerpe, C. A. (1986). Risk factors for salmonellosis in hospitalised horses. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 188(2), 173–177.
- Hird, D. W., Pappaioanou, M., & Smith, B. (1984). Case-control study of risk factors associated with isolation of *Salmonella* Saintpaul in hospitalized horses. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *120*(6), 852–862. https://doi.org/10.1093/ oxfordjournals.aje.a113957
- Hornig, K. J., Burgess, B. A., Saklou, N. T., Johnson, V., Malmlov, A., van Metre, D. C., Morley, P. S., & Byers, S. R. (2016). Evaluation of the efficacy of disinfectant footmats for the reduction of bacterial contamination on footwear in a large animal veterinary hospital. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 30(6), 1882–1886. https://doi. org/10.1111/jvim.14576
- House, J. K., Mainar-jaime, R. C., & Smith, B. P. (1999). Risk factors for nosocomial *Salmonella* infection among hospitalized horses. *Journal of*

the American Veterinary Medical Association, 214(10), 1511–1516.

- Hyatt, D. R., & Weese, J. S. (2004). Salmonella culture: Sampling procedures and laboratory techniques. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Equine Practice, 20(3), 577–585. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cveq.2004.07.007
- Irwin, M. (1994). Stress-induced immune suppression: Role of brain corticotropin releasing hormone and autonomic nervous system mechanisms. *Advances in Neuroimmunology*, 4(1), 29–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-5428(06)80188-9
- Kim, L. M., Morley, P. S., Traub-Dargatz, J. L., Salman, M. D., & Gentry-Weeks, C. (2001). Factors associated with *Salmonella* shedding among equine colic patients at a veterinary teaching hospital. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 218(5), 740– 748. https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2001.218.740
- Kirk, J., Boggs, C., Jeffery, J., & Cardona, C. (2003). Efficacy of disinfectants for sanitizing boots under dairy farm conditions. *The Bovine Practitioner*, 37(1), 50–53.
- Kramer, G. F., & Ames, B. N. (1987). Oxidative mechanisms of toxicity of low-intensity near-UV light in Salmonella typhimurium. Journal of Bacteriology, 169(5), 2259–2266. https:// journals.asm.org/journal/jb
- Lipton, B. A., Hopkins, S. G., Koehler, J. E., & DiGiacomo, R. F. (2008). A survey of veterinarian involvement in zoonotic disease prevention practices. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 233(8), 1242– 1249. https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.233.8.1242
- Lyle, C. H., Annandale, C. H., Gouws, J., & Morley, P. S. (2015). Comparison of two culture techniques used to detect environmental contamination with Salmonella enterica in a large-animal hospital. Journal of the South African Veterinary Association, 86(1), 1292–1295. https://doi. org/10.4102/jsava.v86i1.1292

- Magiorakos, A. P., Srinivasan, A., Carey, R. B., Carmeli, Y., Falagas, M. E., Giske, C. G., Harbarth, S., Hindler, J. F., Kahlmeter, G., Olsson-Liljequist, B., Paterson, D. L., Rice, L. B., Stelling, J., Struelens, M. J., Vatopoulos, A., Weber, J. T., & Monnet, D. L. (2012). Multidrug-resistant, extensively drug-resistant and pandrug-resistant bacteria: An international expert proposal for interim standard definitions for acquired resistance. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, *18*(3), 268–281. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2011.03570.x
- Mammina, C., Cannova, L., Massa, S., Goffredo, E., & Nastasi, A. (2002). Drug resistances in Salmonella isolates from animal foods, Italy 1998–2000. Epidemiology and Infection, 129(1), 155–161. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0950268802007239
- McMillian, M., Dunn, J. R., Keen, J. E., Brady, K. L., & Jones, T. F. (2007). Risk behaviors for disease transmission among petting zoo attendees. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 231(7), 1036–1038. https://doi. org/10.2460/javma.231.7.1036
- Mead, P. S., Slutsker, L., Dietz, V., McCaig, L. F., Bresee, J. S., Shapiro, C., Griffin, P. M., & Tauxe, R. V. (1999). Food-related illness and death in the United States. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 5(5), 607–625. https://doi.org/10.3201/ eid0505.990502
- Merritt, K., Hitchins, V. M., & Brown, S. A. (2000). Safety and cleaning of medical materials and devices. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research*, 53(2), 131–136. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-4636(2000)53:2<131::AID-JBM1>3.0.CO;2-I
- Morley, P. S. (2013). Evidence-based infection control in clinical practice: If you buy clothes for the Emperor, will he wear them?. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 27(3), 430–438. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvim.12060

- Morley, P. S., Anderson, M. E. C., Burgess, B. A., Aceto, H., Bender, J. B., Clark, C., Daniels, J. B., Davis, M. A., Hinchcliff, K. W., Johnson, J. R., McClure, J., Perkins, G. A., Pusterla, N., Traub-Dargatz, J. L., Weese, J. S., & Whittem, T. L. (2013). Report of the third Havemeyer workshop on infection control in equine populations. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 45(2), 131–136. https://doi.org/10.1111/evj.12000
- Morley, P. S., Morris, S. N., Hyatt, D. R., & van Metre, D. C. (2005). Evaluation of the efficacy of disinfectant footbaths as used in veterinary hospitals. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 226(12), 2053–2058. https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2005.226.2053
- Newbury, S., Blinn, M. K., Bushby, P. A., Cox, C. B., Dinnage, J. D., Griffin, B., Hurley, K. F., Isaza, N., Jones, W., Miller, L., O'Quin, J., Patronek, G. J., Smith-Blackmore, M., & Spindel, M. (2010). *Guidelines for standard of care in animal shelters*. The Association of Shelter Veterinarians. https://oacu.oir.nih.gov/system/ files/media/file/2021-02/shelterguide.pdf
- Owen, R. A., Fullerton, J., & Barnum, D. A. (1983). Effects of transportation, surgery, and antibiotic therapy in ponies infected with Salmonella. *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, 44(1), 46–50.
- Pandya, M., Wittum, T., Tadesse, D. A., Gebreyes, W., & Hoet, A. (2009). Environmental Salmonella surveillance in the Ohio State University Veterinary Teaching Hospital. Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases, 9(6), 649–654. https://doi. org/10.1089/vbz.2008.0120
- Radošević-Stasic, B., Cuk, M., Mrakovčić-Šutić, I., Barac-Latas, V., Muhvić, D., Lučin, P., Petković, M., & Rukavina, D. (1990). Immunosuppressive properties of halothane anesthesia and/or surgical stress in experimental conditions. *International Journal of Neuroscience*, 51(3–4), 235–236. https://doi.org/10.3109/00207459008999706

- Roberts, M. C., & O'Boyle, D. A. (1981). The prevalence and epizootiology of salmonellosis among groups of horses in south east Queensland. *Australian Veterinary Journal*, 57(1), 27–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-0813.1981. tb07081.x
- Rostagno, M. H., Gailey, J. K., Hurd, H. S., Mckean, J. D., & Leite, R. C. (2005). Culture methods differ on the isolation of *Salmonella enterica* serotypes from naturally contaminated swine fecal samples. *Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation*, 17(1), 80–83. https://doi. org/10.1177/104063870501700118
- Ruple-Czerniak, A., Bolte, D. S., Burgess, B. A., & Morley, P. S. (2014). Comparison of two sampling and culture systems for detection of *Salmonella enterica* in the environment of a large animal hospital. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 46(4), 499–502. https://doi.org/10.1111/ evj.12193
- Schott, H. C., Ewart, S. L., Walker, R. D., Dwyer, R. M., Dietrich, S., Eberhart, S. W., Kusey, J., Stick, J. A., & Derksen, F. J. (2001). An outbreak of salmonellosis among horses at a veterinary teaching hospital. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 218(7), 1152–1159. https://doi.org/10.2460/ javma.2001.218.1152
- Sheridan, J. F., Dobbs, C., Brown, D., & Zwilling, B. (1994). Psychoneuroimmunology: Stress effects on pathogenesis and immunity during infection. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 7(2), 200–212. https://doi.org/10.1128/cmr.7.2.200
- Smith, B. P., House, J. K., Magdesian, K. G., Jang, S. S., Cabral, R. L., Madigan, J. E., & Herthel, W. F. (2004). Principles of an infectious disease control program for preventing nosocomial gastrointestinal and respiratory tract diseases in large animal veterinary hospitals. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 225(8), 1186–1195. https://doi.org/10.2460/ javma.2004.225.1186

- Soza-Ossandón, P., Rivera, D., Tardone, R., Riquelme-Neira, R., García, P., Hamilton-West, C., Adell, A. D., González-Rocha, G., & Moreno-Switt, A. I. (2020). Widespread environmental presence of multidrug-resistant *Salmonella* in an equine veterinary hospital that received local and international horses. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 7, 346. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fvets.2020.00346
- Steneroden, K. (2012). Sanitation. In L. Miller & S. Zawistowski (Eds.), Shelter medicine for veterinarians and staff (2nd ed., pp. 37–47). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119421511. ch4
- Steneroden, K. K., van Metre, D. C., Jackson, C., & Morley, P. S. (2010). Detection and control of a nosocomial outbreak caused by *Salmonella* Newport at a large animal hospital. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine*, 24(3), 606–616. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-1676.2010.0484.x
- Stockton, K. A., Morley, P. S., Hyatt, D. R., Burgess, B. A., Patterson, G., Dunowska, M., & Lee, D. E. (2006). Evaluation of the effects of footwear hygiene protocols on nonspecific bacterial contamination of floor surfaces in an equine hospital. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 228(7), 1068–1073. https:// doi.org/10.2460/javma.228.7.1068
- Stull, J. W., Bjorvik, E., Bub, J., Dvorak, G., Petersen, C., & Troyer, H. L. (2018). 2018 AAHA infection control, prevention, and biosecurity guidelines. *Journal of the American Animal Hospital Association*, 54(6), 297–326. https:// doi.org/10.5326/JAAHA-MS-6903
- Tambuwal, F. M., Shittu, A., Abubakar, M. B., Salihu, M. D., Junaidu, A. U., Magaji, A. A., Lawal, M., & Danyaro, M. (2009). A survey of veterinary hospitals in Nigeria for the presence of some bacterial organisms of nosocomial and zoonotic potential. *Veterinaria Italiana*, 45(2), 235–241.

- Tannock, G. W., & Savage, D. C. (1974). Influences of dietary and environmental stress on microbial populations in the murine gastrointestinal tract. *Infection and Immunity*, 9(3), 591–598. https:// doi.org/10.1128/iai.9.3.591-598.1974
- Tillotson, K., Savage, C. J., Salman, M. D., Gentry-Weeks, C. R., Rice, D., Fedorka-Cray, P. J., Hendrickson, D. A., Jones, R. L., Nelson, W., & Traub-Dargatz, J. L. (1997). Outbreak of Salmonella infantis infection in a large animal veterinary teaching hospital. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 211(12), 1554–1557.
- Traub-Dargatz, J. L., Salman, M. D., & Jones, R. L. (1990). Epidemiologic study of salmonellae shedding in the feces of horses and potential risk factors for development of the infection in hospitalized horses. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 196(10), 1617–1622.
- van Duijkeren, E., Wannet, W. J. B., Heck, M. E. O. C., van Pelt, W., Sloet van Oldruitenborgh-Oosterbaan, M. M., Smit, J. A. H., & Houwers, D. J. (2002). Sero types, phage types and antibiotic susceptibilities of *Salmonella* strains isolated from horses in The Netherlands from 1993 to 2000. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 86(3), 203–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1135(02)00007-X

- Ward, M. P., Brady, T. H., Couetil, L. L., Liljebjelke, K., Maurer, J. J., & Wu, C. C. (2005). Investigation and control an outbreak of *Salmonella typhimurium* in a population of hospitalized horses. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 107(3-4), 233–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vetmic.2005.01.019
- Wray, C., Todd, N., McLaren, I. M., & Beedell, Y. E. (1991). The epidemiology of Salmonella in calves: The role of markets and vehicles. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 107(3), 521–525. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268800049219
- Wright, J. G., Jung, S., Holman, R. C., Marano, N. N., & McQuiston, J. H. (2008). Infection control practices and zoonotic disease risks among veterinarians in the United States. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 232(12), 1863–1872. https://doi.org/10.2460/ javma.232.12.1863
- Wright, J. G., Tengelsen, L. A., Smith, K. E., Bender, J. B., Frank, R. K., Grendon, J. H., Rice, D. H., Thiessen, A. M. B., Gilbertson, C. J., Sivapalasingam, S., Barrett, T. J., Besser, T. E., Hancock, D. D., & Angulo, F. J. (2005). Multidrug-resistant *Salmonella* Typhimurium in four animal facilities. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, *11*(8), 1235–1241. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1108.050111


TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Isolation and Characterization of *Avian Coronavirus* from Diagnostic Cases of Selected Bird Species in Malaysia

Sarenasulastri Awang Besar^{1,3*}, Siti Suri Arshad¹, Siti Zubaidah Ramanoon² and Abdul Rahman Omar¹

¹Department of Veterinary Pathology and Microbiology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

²Department of Farm and Exotic Animal Medicine and Surgery, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

³Northern Zone Veterinary Laboratory, Disease Control and Veterinary Biosecurity Division, Department of Veterinary Services, 14007 Bukit Mertajam, Pulau Pinang, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Infectious bronchitis virus (IBV) in chicken (*Gallus gallus*) is the most common and well-studied *Avian coronavirus* (ACoV) in avian species. The study aims to molecularly characterize ACoV isolate of selected bird species other than chicken obtained from the archived samples of field diagnostic cases in the Northern Zone Veterinary Laboratory (MVZU), Malaysia. Twelve archived virus isolates from 2013 to 2019 were amplified using selected primers on the 3' UTR gene and S1 gene for oligonucleotide sequencing. These sequences were then molecularly characterized and compared with common IBV strains in chicken to determine the genetic diversity of the virus among selected avian species. Subsequent analyses of the nucleotides amplified on 3' UTR conserved region of 12 selected ACoVs isolates originating from peacocks (*Pavo cristatus*), turkey (*Meleagris*), jungle fowl (*Gallus gallus spadiceous*), guinea fowl (*Meleagris gallopavo domesticus*), goose (*Anser anser domesticus*), love bird (*Agapornis*), macaw (*Ara macao*), and bird (species unidentified) are classified as belonging to the *gammacoronavirus* (Gamma-CoV)

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 08 September 2022 Accepted: 08 December 2022 Published: 12 April 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.08

E-mail addresses:

sarenasulastri@dvs.gov.my (Sarenasulastri Awang Besar) suri@upm.edu.my (Siti Suri Arshad) sramanoon@upm.edu.my (Siti Zubaidah Ramanoon) aro@upm.edu.my (Abdul Rahman Omar) * Corresponding author genus and have a high degree of homology. The S1 complete gene sequence analyses of guinea fowl and jungle fowl showed that both ACoV isolates are Gamma-CoV and under genotype I and GI-13 lineages. Both are identified as having a high similarity of 98% and 99%, respectively, with IBV vaccine strain 4/91 (AF093793). Due attention should be given to ACoVs strains,

ISSN: 1511-3701 e-ISSN: 2231-8542

© Universiti Putra Malaysia Press

especially the IBV vaccine strains detected in other bird species, because there is a high probability that other bird species could be the source of pathogenic ACoV infection in general and IBV infection in chickens, as reported in other countries.

Keywords: Avian coronavirus, diagnostic cases, gammacoronavirus, IBV vaccine strain, selected bird species

INTRODUCTION

The emergence of diseases caused by *Coronaviridae* that are zoonotic, highly contagious, and fatal in humans, such as Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus (SARS-CoV) (2002), Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus (MERS-CoV) (2012), and ongoing SARS-CoV2 (Covid-19) recently attracted the attention of researchers worldwide. It has opened the eyes of many parties, especially researchers. It has boosted research into the molecular and evolutionary mechanisms that control coronavirus cell tropism and interspecies transmission (Parkhe & Verma, 2021).

Most Avian coronavirus (ACoV) in birds are classified under Gamma-CoV, and only some numbers are in Delta-CoV (de Wit & Cook, 2020). The taxonomic designation comprises the extremely contagious infectious bronchitis viruses (IBVs) in chickens and ACoVs affecting other domestic birds like turkeys, guinea fowls, or quails (de Wit & Cook, 2020). Gamma-CoV has no zoonotic implications (World Organization for Animal Health [WOAH], 2018). IBV in chickens causes severe morbidity and impairs production, especially in poultry industries such as layer and broiler (Bande et al., 2016). IBV exhibits a wide variety of tissue tropism, including the renal and reproductive systems, despite mostly impacting the respiratory tract. Thus, the organ or tissue implicated and the pathotype or strain of the infecting virus may impact the disease's outcome (Bande et al., 2016). IBV could mutate and recombine genetically, resulting in antigenic drift and shift. As a result, control through vaccination alone is challenging (Cook et al., 2012), despite proper vaccination and biosecurity in farms (Guzmán & Hidalgo, 2020).

Vaccines are available in various strains and forms, depending on local conditions and legal dispositions. Live vaccinations, commonly attenuated via repeated passages in chicken embryos, offer higher local respiratory tract protection than inactivated vaccines (WOAH, 2018). The use of live vaccines carries the risk of back-passage in subsequent flocks via the excreted feces, thus, resulting in residual pathogenicity (WOAH, 2018). The vaccine 4/91 strain is a live attenuated type of vaccine and is most commonly and widely used to control infectious bronchitis (IB) together with biosecurity implementation in poultry farms (Guzmán & Hidalgo, 2020). As the live attenuated virus vaccine, the vaccine would undergo a normal infection process without causing disease; thus, effective mass vaccination results in the safe administration of live vaccines in most cases.

In Malaysia, many studies of ACoVs have been conducted, and most focus on the IBV in poultry species, which covers many aspects. Among the studies that have been conducted are the following; the sequence and phylogenetic analysis of selected genes of IBV by Zulperi et al. (2009), the molecular characterization of IBV strains in Malaysia based on partial genomic sequences by Khanh et al. (2017), the molecular characterization studies on the Malaysian IBV isolates by Leow et al. (2018), and the evaluation of the antigen relatedness and efficacy of a single vaccination with different infectious bronchitis virus strains by Ismail et al. (2020). There is a lack of studies involving the molecular characterization of ACoVs focusing on other bird species. Most ACoVs from other bird species studies in Malaysia and other countries are on the isolates obtained from the random sampling of the surveillance program. The virus isolates are collected from samples such as cloacal or tracheal swabs and feces from random, apparently healthy birds, with none of the dead birds testing positive for coronavirus (CoV) (Chamings et al., 2018).

In this study, isolates of ACoVs obtained from tissue samples of selected bird species with a history of swollen kidneys and sudden death from field diagnostic cases were molecularly characterized. Thus, this study provides a comprehensive overview of the ACoVs among selected bird species and their relationship with IBV in commercial chickens.

METHODOLOGY

Samples

Positive IBV and ACoV isolates were obtained from diagnostic cases of the Northern Region Veterinary Laboratory (MVZU), Department of Veterinary Service Malaysia (DVS), from 2013 to 2019. The viruses were obtained from post-mortem samples of organ tissues of the lung, kidney, brain, trachea, and gastrointestinal tract tissues of bird carcasses that had died and were referred to the laboratory. The tissues were further processed, and the viral suspension was inoculated into embryonated chicken eggs (ECE) and propagated for one or two passages. The allantoic fluids (AF) were harvested, and the IBV and ACoV were confirmed by detection with reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) assay targeting the untranslated region (UTR) (Adzhar et al., 1996). Allantoic fluids of the viral isolates were stored at -80°C. This study used virus isolates confirmed as ACoV from selected bird species other than commercial chickens, totaling 12 isolates.

PCR Extraction, Amplification, and Sequencing

Viral RNA was extracted from the allantoic fluid using TRIzol[®] LS reagent (Life-Technologies Inc., USA). The primer used for the amplification of the 3' UTR genomic region of IBV was selected based on several recommendations in the recent studies of ACoV by Adzhar et al. (1996), Hughes et al. (2009), and Ismail (2019). Amplifying the 3' UTR region of *Avian coronavirus* for initial RT-PCR uses both previously published forward and reverse primers (Adzhar et al., 1996). For heminested-PCR, similar forward oligonucleotide primers were used as in initial RT-PCR but with another reverse primer (Hughes, 2009). Amplification of the full-length gene of the S1 region was conducted using primer pairs IBS FQ1 and IBS-RQ1 (Ismail, 2018) to produce an amplicon at approximately 1,183 bp. The position of the full-length S1 gene is between the ORF1b and S2 genes, as listed in Table 1. Reverse transcription and amplification were using the OneStep RT-PCR Bioline kit (Bioline MyTaq One-Step RT-PCR kit, Meridian Bioscience[®], United Kingdom) and performed in accordance with the manufacturer's protocols. The isolated DNA fragments were submitted for DNA purification and sequencing at Apical Scientific Sdn. Bhd. (Malaysia).

Analysis of S1 Gene Sequences

The complete S1 gene sequences from the isolates of the guinea fowl and jungle fowl were selected and further analyzed.

The identity or similarity of sequences was analyzed using Molecular Evolutionary Genetic Analysis (MEGA) version X (Kumar et al., 2018) and the opensource Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) program. The complete S1 sequenced isolates were aligned and compared with the available similar gene sequences in GenBank of the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI). The query sequence in FASTA format is BLAST for the similarity with any available gene in the GenBank. Open reading frames (ORFs) were identified, and nucleotide sequences were translated into deduced amino acid sequences using Unipro UGENE version 37 (Okonechnikov et al., 2012) for codon-based tests. Homology analyses were conducted by pairwise alignment tests using the Multiple Sequence Alignment Distance Matrix for identity, similarity, gaps, and alignment scores of sequences. The similarity test was also conducted via open source pairwise alignment, the EMBOSS program using

Table 1

Type of primers used in the amplification of UTR region of Avian coronavirus and amplification of the fulllength SI gene of ACoV

No.	Primer*	Sequences (5'-3')	Nucleotide location 5'-3'**	Product size (bp)	Reference
1.	UTR41+	5'-ATGTCTATCGCCAGGGAAATGTC-3'	27373-27395		Adzhar et al.
2.	UTR11-	5'-GCTCTAACTCTATACTAGCCTA-3'	27617-27638		(1996)
3.	UTR41+	5'-ATGTCTATCGCCAGGGAAATGTC-3'	27373-27395	214	Hughes et al.
4.	UTR-hemi	5'-CTTAAACTAAAATTTAGCTCTTCC-3'	27559-27582	214	(2009)
5.	IBS_FQ1	5'-AGTGGAAAAACACTGCACGC-3'	20140-20159	1 1 0 2	$I_{amoil}(2018)$
6.	IBS_RQ1	5'-AGGGTGGTAGGACCCARACA-3'	21322-21307	1,165	Isman (2018)

Note. F = Forward prime; R = Reverse primer; *=Oligonucleotide identification; **=Location corresponds to that complete S1 sequence of GenBank Accession MN548289

optimal global alignment of two sequences using the Needleman-Wunsch algorithm.

RESULTS

Following the amplification of the conserved 3' UTR region, all the 12 selected ACoVs isolates were sequence analyzed. Analyses of their nucleotides showed that all ACoVs isolates are classified as Gamma-CoV genus and show high homologous to each other (Figure 1). There were represented by 5 peacocks (DVS/MVZU1007/14, DVS/MVZU1730/14, DVS/MVZU1007/14, DVS/MVZU102/15, and DVS/MVZU102/180), and one each in turkey (DVS/MVZU1664/19),

jungle fowl (DVS/MVZU1365/190, guinea fowl (DVS/MVZU3574/19), goose (DVS/MVZU1389/19), love bird (DVS/MVZU1649/13), bird (DVS/ MVZU1691/19), and macaw (DVS/ MVZU232/17).

Two selected ACoVs isolates of jungle fowl (DVS/MVZU2166/15) and guinea fowl (DVS/MVZU3574/16) were amplified in their S1 region. Their hypervariable region of the S1 complete gene was compared with 42 other reference strains. The phylogenetic tree showed both sequences classified under the Gamma-CoV genus. The reference strains consisted of 3 common IBV isolates, 32 prototype lineages reference isolates of



Figure 1. Phylogenetic consensus tree of 3' UTR gene analysis of coronavirus (CoV) for genus classification. The phylogenetic tree was constructed by the maximum likelihood method, and bootstrap was applied for 1,000 replications. The 12 local *Avian coronavirus* (ACoV) isolates were classified within the Gamma-CoV genus and highlighted in yellow.

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 503 - 516 (2023)

the Gamma-CoV genus (Valastro, 2016), and 7 gene sequences to represent Alpha-CoV, Beta-CoV, and Delta-CoV. These gene sequences were used as the outgroup gene references, and the sequence details are listed in Table 2. Further phylogenetic analyses of jungle fowl (DVS/MVZU2166/15) and guinea fowl (DVS/MVZU3574/16) for genotype and lineages were compared with 19 other reference strains based on the S1 gene full length of ACoV (Table 3).

Table 2

List of 44 avian coronavirus gene sequences used for phylogenetic analysis of complete S1 gene for genus classification

Na	Saguaraa nama	GenBank accession	Amplicon
INO.	Sequence name	reference	(bp)
1.	Bulbul CoV ^c	NC_011547	26,487
2.	Camel CoV ^d	MF593473	27,389
3.	GI-1: 1937–2013; Beaudette USA 1937 ^b	M95169	27,608
4.	GI-2: 1954–2006; Holte USA 1954 ^b	GU393336	1,168
5.	GI-3: 1960–2006; Gray USA 1960 ^b	L14069	1,738
6.	GI-4: 1962–1998; Holte USA 1962 ^b	L18988	1,636
7.	GI-5: 1962–2012; N1/62 Australia 1962 ^b	U29522	1,709
8.	GI-6: 1962–2010; VicS Australia 1962 ^b	U29519	1,703
9.	GI-7: 1964–2012; TP/64 Taiwan 1964 ^b	AY606320	1,617
10.	GI-8: 1965–1967; L165 USA 1965 ^b	JQ964061	1,632
11.	GI-9: 1973–2011; ARK99 USA 1973 ^b	M99482	1,974
12.	GI-10: 1970s-2000s; New Zealand 1970s ^b	AF151954	1,635
13.	GI-11: 1975–2009; UFMG/G Brazil 1975 ^b	JX182775	1,610
14.	GI-12: 1978–2006; D3896 The Netherlands 1978 ^b	X52084	1,776
15.	GI-13: 1983–2013; Moroccan-G/83 Morocco 1983 ^b	EU914938	1,764
16.	GI-14: 1984–2006; B1648 Belgium 1984 ^b	X87238	2,882
17.	GI-15: 1986–2008; B4 Korea 1986 ^b	FJ807932	1,632
18.	GI-16: 1986–2011; IZO 28/86 Italy 1986b	KJ941019	1,780
19.	GI-17: 1988–1999; CA/Machado/88 USA 1988 ^b	AF419315	1,632
20.	GI-18: 1993–1999; JP8127 Japan 1993 ^b	AY296744	1,635
21.	GI-19: 1993–2012; 58HeN-93II China 1993 ^b	KC577395	1,620
22.	GI-20: 1996–1999; Qu_mv Canada 1996 ^b	AF349621	1,629
23.	GI-21: 1997–2005; Spain/97/314 Spain 1997 ^b	DQ064806	1,620
24.	GI-22: 1997–2011; 40GDGZ-97I China 1997 ^b	KC577382	1,635
25.	GI-23: 1998–2012; Variant 2 Israel 1998 ^b	AF093796	1,614
26.	GI-24: 1998–2013; V13 India 1998 ^b	KF757447	1,523
27.	GI-25: 2004–2013; CA/1737/04 USA 2004 ^b	EU925393	1,626
28.	GI-26: 2006–2007; NGA/B401/2006 Nigeria 2006 ^b	FN182243	1,611
29.	GI-27: 2008–2013; GA08 USA 2008 ^b	GU301925	1,630
30.	GII-1: 1979–1984; D1466 The Netherlands 1979 ^b	M21971	1,605
31.	GIII-1: 1988–2008; N1/88 Australia 1988 ^b	U29450	1,712
32.	GIV-1: 1992–2003; DE/072/92 USA 1992 ^b	U77298	1,654

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 503 - 516 (2023)

Avian Coronavirus in Bird Species

Tab	ole 2	(continue)

No.	Sequence name	GenBank accession reference	Amplicon (bp)
33.	GV-1: 2002–2008; N4/02 Australia 2002b	DQ059618	1,614
34.	GVI-1: 2007–2012; TC07-2 China 2007 ^b	GQ265948	1,638
35.	Guinea fowl DVS/MVZU3574/16	NA	1,129
36.	IBV Malaysian Variant Strain ^a	MK828778	3,502
37.	IBV QX-Like ^a	KU949746	6,789
38.	IBV H120 ^a	MK937831	27,642
39.	Jungle fowl DVS/MVZU2166/15	NA	1,129
40.	SARS-related bat strain ^e	KY352407	29,274
41.	SARS civet CoV ^e	AY572038	29,683
42.	SARS CoV2 ^e	NC_045512	29,903
43.	Thrush CoV ^c	FJ376621	26,396
44.	TGEV ^d	KX900398	28,521

Note. a = Reference group common IBV strain; b = Prototype lineages reference group; c = Outgroup *deltacoronavirus*; d = Outgroup *alphacoronavirus*; e = Outgroup *betacoronavirus*; NA = Not applicable

Table 3

List of 21 avian coronavirus gene sequences used for phylogenetic analysis of complete S1 gene for genotype and lineages identification

No.	Sequence name	GenBank accession reference	Amplicon (bp)
1.	Guinea fowl DVS/MVZU3574/16	NA	1,129
3.	IBV Malaysian Variant Strain ^a	MK828778	3,502
4.	IBV Malaysian QX-like strain ^a	KU949743	6,789
5.	IBV Malaysian Variant Strain IBS037A/2014 ^a	KU949737	6,789
6.	IBV Malaysian Variant V9/04ª	FJ518779	1,593
7.	IBV Malaysian Variant MH5365/95ª	EU086600	1,720
8.	IBV Indonesian QX-like strain ^b	MH671338	383
9.	IBV China QX strain ^b	AF193423	1,657
10.	IBV China LX4 strain ^b	AY189157	3,495
11.	IBV CR88 vaccine strain ^c	JN542567	1,617
12.	IBV 793B vaccine strain ^c	GQ844991	1,617
13.	IBV 4/91 vaccine strain ^c	AF093793	1,617
14.	IBV 4/91 vaccine strain ^c	JN192154	3,492
15.	IBV D274 vaccine strain ^c	X15832	3,570
16.	Jungle fowl DVS/MVZU2166/15	NA	1,129
17.	Lineages GI-1; USA ^d	M95169	27,608
18.	Lineages GI-12; The Netherlands ^d	X52084	1,776
19.	Lineages GI-13; Morocco ^d	EU914938	1,764
20.	Lineages GI-19; China ^d	KC577395	1,620
21.	Lineages GI-24; India ^d	KF757447	1,523

Note. a = Common local Malaysian strain; b = Other common strain; c = Vaccine strain; d = Prototype lineages reference; NA = Not applicable

Based on the S1, complete gene sequence analyses showed that both ACoV isolates are Gamma-CoV and under genotype I and GI-13 lineages (Figure 2). Both are identified as having a very high similarity with IBV vaccine strain 4/91 (AF093793). Reference sequences of Malaysian QX-like strains are in lineage G-19, and reference strains of QX-like Indonesia and QX/LX4 China strains. However, the reference sequences of Malaysian variant strains are forming unique clusters which



Figure 2. Phylogenetic radiation tree analyses of isolates sequences for identifying *Avian coronavirus* (IBV) genotypes and their lineages based on the S1 nucleotide complete gene. Sequences were analyzed by MAFFT v.7.475 and aligned using the MAFFT-FFT-NS-i method. The phylogenetic tree was constructed using the neighborhood joining with the Jukes-Cantor method and bootstrap applied for 1,000 replicates. Both jungle and guinea fowl isolates are closely distanced with lineage GI-13 and sequence references of common vaccine strain 4/91, 793B, and CR88. The vaccine sequence reference strains of H120 are in GI-1

significantly genetically distance against any existing lineage.

Deduced amino acids of S1 gene sequences were compared for similarity by NCBI using the open source of BLASTP for a protein similar in NCBI GenBank, indicating that both are highly similar to the S1 spike glycoprotein of IBV. The high similarity of the isolates with other ACoV S1 protein reference strains of GI-13 lineages by Multiple Sequence Alignment Distance Matrix, UGENE (Okonechnikov, 2012) showed 99% and 98% similarity of 4/91 vaccine strain reference with ACoV sequences of jungle fowl and guinea fowl, respectively. Other similarity analyses were conducted by Pairwise Sequence Alignment of EMBOSS Needle method, which also showed 100% and 98.4% similarity between 4/91 vaccine strain reference with jungle fowl and guinea fowl.

Pairwise sequence alignment by EMBOSS Needle method was performed between jungle fowl and guinea fowl ACoV isolates and showed 98.4% identification and 98.4% similarity.

DISCUSSION

Avian coronavirus has many hosts, from chickens and turkeys to wild birds (Suryaman et al., 2019). Coronaviruses have been identified in several avian hosts and mammals, including camels, bats, masked palm civets, mice, dogs, and cats (Lu et al., 2020). Infectious bronchitis is the only wellstudied disease among ACoVs, especially in commercial chickens. This virus remains one of the most impacting and causes massive economic losses in the poultry industry (Legnardi et al., 2020). ACoVs have also been isolated from guinea fowl, domesticated and wild peafowls, partridge, pigeon, jungle fowl, pheasants, turkey, and non-Galliformes birds like teal. Although these ACoVs are mainly based on IBVs or IBV-like, molecular and sequence analyses showed they were genetically distant from IBVs (Promkuntod, 2016). Commercial IBV H120 vaccine strain has been detected in peafowl CoVs isolate (Liu et al., 2005).

Coronaviruses isolated from turkeys, pheasants, and guinea fowl are genetically similar to IBV by the highly conserved region of 3' UTR that shows 90% nucleotide identity (Cavanagh et al., 2002). Several recent studies have found that IBV has been isolated from other bird species, where IBV Massachusetts strains in wild peafowls (Sun et al., 2007), IBV of chicken strains detected in turkey (Cavanagh et al., 2001), IBV H120 vaccine strains isolated from peafowl is pathogenic to chicken (Felippe et al., 2010) as well as detection of Gamma-CoV in wild birds (Muradrasoli et al., 2010). Hence, the real potential role of the other bird species in the transmission of ACoVs and IBV in chickens has not been well determined.

Various aspects such as geographical conditions, living norms, social economy, and habitat and physiology of birds generally explain the role of other bird species in the transmission and replication of IBV among chickens and other bird species. Other studies of ACoVs showed that the IBV could replicate in other galliform and some non-galliform bird species with or without clinical signs and lesions. It has been proposed that the other bird species act as a natural reservoir of the carrier of IBV (Promkuntod, 2016).

There are nine species of birds from the 12 selected samples of birds used in this study. Peacock is the most common species with 4 isolates, one isolate of each for guinea fowl (Numida meleagris), goose (Anser anser domesticus), turkey (Meleagris gallopavo domesticus), macaw (Ara macao), jungle fowl (Gallus gallus spadiceous), duck (Anas platyrhynchos domesticus), lovebird (Agapornis), and unclassified bird, respectively. Phylogenetic analysis of the 3' UTR gene of all these birds has shown that the ACoVs are Gamma-CoV, the same genus as IBV in chickens. It is consistent with the commonly known fact of CoVs genus classification stating that all ACoVs are classified mostly under Gamma-CoV and some under Delta-CoV (Zhou et al., 2021).

Hypervariable regions of the S1 gene of coronavirus are recommended genomic regions for genotyping and lineage identification and provide more bioinformatic information and are more accurate as compared with conventional strain identification by serotyping methods (Valastro, 2016). The information on lineages obtained from the phylogenetic analysis could give us an idea of the origin or closer lineages of the ACoVs with other reference strains. This study compared two isolates of jungle fowl and guinea fowl ACoVs with local Malaysian common IBV strains and vaccine strains. Both sample isolates are classified in genotype I and grouped in the GI-13 lineages with three other common local vaccine strains of CR88, 4/91, and 793B. The samples are distinctly separated from both the Malaysian IBV QX-like strain (in GI-19) and the Malaysian variant strain (unique unidentified lineages). Both isolates were highly similar to the IBV vaccine strain of live attenuated 4/91 vaccine, a broadly and commonly used vaccine strain in most commercial chicken farms worldwide, including Malaysia, for years (Guzmán & Hidalgo, 2020).

The phylogenetic analysis of the S1 hypervariable region and similarity analyses shows that the ACoVs from both guinea fowl and jungle fowl are grouped under GI-13 lineages and are highly similar at 98% and 99%, respectively to the live attenuated IBV 4/91 vaccine strain. This finding showed that IBV strain 4/91 is present in other than commercial chicken species: the jungle fowl and guinea fowl. The administration of the IBV vaccine to these two species has never been practiced in Malaysia; furthermore, both species are known as disease-resistant species in general (Syahar et al., 2014).

Jungle fowl or *Gallus gallus spadiceus* (local name known as 'ayam hutan merah') is the species available in Southeast Asia, including Malaysia. It is an endangered species, and hunting is only allowed during certain seasons by those with a hunting license from the Department of Wildlife (PERHILITAN) Malaysia. This jungle fowl is most popular and highly demanded on the illegal market for its meat and colorful feathers. The habitat of the jungle fowl is in the bushes at the fringe of the jungle. In Malaysia, jungle fowls have frequently been seen on palm oil plantation farms because they sleep on trees, eat in the open areas in the morning and evening, and eat under a tree. It is an opportunistic feeder and eats various insects, animals, and plant components, including oil palm fruit (Syahar et al., 2014).

Guinea fowl or *Numida meleagris* (local name known as 'ayam piru') originated from an African tropical forest. They were once wild birds, and according to the Encyclopedia Britannica (n.d.), the modern birds are the domesticated form of the helmeted guinea fowl. It is a hardy and disease-resistant bird. It has become one of the choices for meat protein other than chicken or duck meat due to its tenderness and nutritious meat. It lives in flocks and walks about on the ground, feeding on seeds, tubers, and some insects.

Based on the background information of these two avian species, it can be postulated that the common IBV 4/91 strain isolated from these two species is most likely to be obtained through the environment that has been contaminated with feces from commercial chickens that received live attenuated strain vaccine 4/91. Since IBV 4/91 vaccine is a live attenuated virus vaccine, the virus vaccine could have been transmitted via contaminated feces of the commercial poultries. The shaded vaccine virus would have spread to the jungle and guinea fowls. It is a diagnostic case with a history of sudden death that was sent to the MVZU. The results of the postmortem

findings only showed gross lesions of swollen kidneys. The case background information is unclear enough to state whether these two species of birds show clinical signs. Chicken farming is normally within the palm oil farms near the jungle fowl habitat (Syahar et al., 2014), and the jungle fowl occasionally search for food nearby and would have consumed the contaminated feed. DVS Malaysia livestock data shows that most backyard farms practice integrated farming with multi-avian species, including chickens, ducks, geese, guinea fowl, turkeys, and other avian species. This multispecies farming practiced by certain farmers has increased the likelihood of guinea fowl contracting the infection from soil contaminated by feces containing the virus.

Viral vaccine reversion to virulence may hinder the control of IB in the country as the source of the virus will now be in the wild, by the jungle fowl and guinea fowl, which will spread or be transmitted to other wild birds. Disease control procedures and policies on using the IBV vaccine, especially the live attenuated form, need to be improved to ensure this risk can be controlled. The farm biosecurity also needs to be improved. The question of whether the virus isolated from these two birds is pathogenic and causing the death of the birds needs to be determined. Moreover, there could also be other risk factors that aggravate the condition of the already infected birds. Further studies on the pathogenicity of the newly isolated virus and its protection studies need to be conducted to get more convincing answers. Surveillance

studies on how the IBV vaccine strains circulate among other bird species will be very useful. This information will provide significant input for developing effective vaccines using circulating local viruses.

CONCLUSION

Based on the UTR region, all the local ACoVs isolates of nine bird species were classified under Gamma-CoV. The molecular characterization demonstrated that ACoV isolates from diagnostic cases of jungle fowl (isolate 2015) and guinea fowl (isolate 2016) strains are homologous to common IBV vaccine 4/91 strains. Due attention should be given to ACoVs among other bird species because there is a high probability that other bird species could cause transmission of pathogenic ACoV infection (IBV) in chickens, as reported in other countries.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank the Public Service Department Malaysia (JPA) for the facilities of study leave and scholarship, the Department of Veterinary Service Malaysia (DVS), and the Northern Region Veterinary Laboratory (MVZU) for authorization and access to the related samples and database.

REFERENCES

Adzhar, A., Shaw, K., Britton, P., & Cavanagh, D. (1996). Universal oligonucleotides for the detection of infectious bronchitis virus by the polymerase chain reaction. Avian Pathology, 25(4), 817–36. https://doi. org/10.1080/03079459608419184.

- Bande, F., Arshad, S. S., Omar, A. R., Bejo, M. H., Abubakar, M. S., & Abba, Y. (2016).
 Pathogenesis and diagnostic approaches of avian infectious bronchitis. *Advances in Virology*, 2016, 4621659. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/4621659
- Cavanagh, D., Mawditt, K., Sharma, M., Drury, S. E., Ainsworth, H. L., Britton, P., & Gough, R. E. (2001). Detection of a coronavirus from turkey poults in Europe genetically related to infectious bronchitis virus of chickens. *Avian Pathology*, 30(4), 355-368. https://doi. org/10.1080/03079450120066368
- Cavanagh, D., Mawditt, K., Welchman, D. D. B., Britton, P., & Gough, R. E. (2002). Coronaviruses from pheasants (*Phasianus colchicus*) are genetically closely related to coronaviruses of domestic fowl (infectious bronchitis virus) and turkeys. *Avian Pathology*, 31(1), 81-93. https:// doi.org/10.1080/03079450120106651
- Chamings, A., Nelson, T. M., Vibin, J., Wille, M., Klaassen, M., & Alexandersen, S. (2018). Detection and characterisation of coronaviruses in migratory and non-igratory Australian wild birds. *Scientific Report*, 8, 5980. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41598-018-24407-x
- Cook, J. K., Jackwood, M., & Jones, R. C. (2012). The long view: 40 years of infectious bronchitis research. Avian Pathology, 41(3), 239–250. https://doi.org/10.1080/03079457.2012.680432
- de Wit, J. J., & Cook, J. K. A. (2020). Spotlight on Avian coronaviruses. Avian Pathology, 49(4), 313–316. https://doi.org/10.1080/03079457.20 20.1761010
- Encyclopedia Britannica. (n.d.). *Guinea fowl*. https:// www.britannica.com/animal/guinea-fowl
- Felippe, P. A. N., da Silva, L. H. A., Santos, M. M. A. B., Spilki, F. R., & Arns, C. W. (2010). Genetic diversity of avian infectious bronchitis virus isolated from domestic chicken flocks and coronaviruses from feral pigeons in Brazil between 2003 and 2009. *Avian Diseases*, 54(4),

1191-1196. https://doi.org/10.1637/9371-041510-Reg.1

- Guzmán, M., & Hidalgo, H. (2020). Live attenuated infectious bronchitis virus vaccines in poultry: Modifying local viral populations dynamics. *Animals*, 10(11), 2058. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ani10112058
- Hughes, L. A., Savage, C., Naylor, C., Bennett, M., Chantrey, J., & Jones, R. (2009). Genetically diverse coronaviruses in wild bird populations of northern England. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 15(7), 1091–1094. https://doi.org/10.3201/ eid1507.090067
- Ismail, M. I. (2019). Molecular characterisation and pathogenicity evaluation of attenuated Malaysian strains of infectious bronchitis virus [Doctoral dissertation, Universiti Putra Malaysia]. Universiti Putra Malaysia Institutional Repository. http://psasir.upm.edu. my/id/eprint/90484/
- Ismail, M. I., Tan, S. W., Hair-Bejo, M., & Omar, A. R. (2020). Evaluation of the antigen relatedness and efficacy of a single vaccination with different infectious bronchitis virus strains against a challenge with Malaysian variant and QX-like IBV strains. *Journal of Veterinary Science*, 21(6), e76. https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2020.21.e76
- Khanh, N. P., Tan, S. W., Yeap, S. K., Satharasinghe, D. A., Bejo, M. H., Bich, T. N., & Omar, A. R. (2017). Molecular characterization of QX-like and variant infectious bronchitis virus strains in Malaysia based on partial genomic sequences comprising the S-3a/3b-E-M-intergenic region-5a/5b-N gene order. Avian Diseases, 61(4), 442-452. https://doi.org/10.1637/11637-032817-Reg.1
- Kumar, S., Stecher, G., Li, M., Knyaz, C., & Tamura, K. (2018). MEGA X: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis across computing platforms. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 35(6), 1547– 1549. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msy096

- Legnardi, M., Tucciarone, C. M., Franzo, G., & Cecchinato, M. (2020). Infectious bronchitis virus evolution, diagnosis and control. *Veterinary Sciences*, 7(2), 79. https://doi.org/10.3390/ vetsci7020079
- Leow, B. L., Syamsiah Aini, S., Faizul Fikri, M. Y., Muhammad Redzwan, S., Khoo, C. K., Ong, G. H., Basirah, M. A., Norazura, B., Mazaitul, Z., Mohd Khairil, A., Mohd Jihan, R., Sohayati, A. R., & Chandrawathani, P. (2018). Molecular characterization of avian infectious bronchitis virus isolated in Malaysia during 2014-2016. *Tropical Biomedicine*, 35(4), 1092–1106.
- Liu, S., Chen, J., Chen, J., Kong, X., Shao, Y., Han, Z., Feng, L., Cai, X., Gu, S., & Liu, M. (2005). Isolation of avian infectious bronchitis coronavirus from domestic peafowl (*Pavo* cristatus) and teal (*Anas*). Journal of General Virology, 86(3), 719-725. https://doi.org/10.1099/ vir.0.80546-0
- Lu, R., Zhao, X., Li, J., Niu, P., Yang, B., Wu, H., Wang, W., Song, H., Huang, B., Zhu, N., Bi, Y., Ma, X., Zhan, F., Wang, L., Hu, T., Zhou, H., Hu, Z., Zhou, W., Zhao, L., ...Tan, W. (2020). Genomic characterisation and epidemiology of 2019 novel coronavirus: Implications for virus origins and receptor binding. *The Lancet*, 395(10224), 565-574. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(20)30251-8
- Muradrasoli, S., Bálint, Á., Wahlgren, J., Waldenström, J., Belák, S., Blomberg, J., & Olsen, B. (2010). Prevalence and phylogeny of coronaviruses in wild birds from the Bering Strait area (Beringia). *PLOS One*, 5(10), e13640. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0013640
- Okonechnikov, K., Golosova, O., Fursov, M. & the UGENE team (2012). Unipro UGENE: A unified bioinformatics toolkit. *Bioinformatics*, 28(8), 1166-1167. https://doi.org/10.1093/ bioinformatics/bts091

- Parkhe, P., & Verma, S. (2021). Evolution, interspecies transmission, and zoonotic significance of animal coronaviruses. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science*, 8, 719834. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fvets.2021.719834
- Promkuntod N. (2016). Dynamics of Avian coronavirus circulation in commercial and non-commercial birds in Asia - A review. The Veterinary Quarterly, 36(1), 30–44. https://doi. org/10.1080/01652176.2015.1126868
- Sun, L., Zhang, G. H., Jiang, J. W., Fu, J. D., Ren, T., Cao, W. S., Xin, C. A., Liao, M.& Liu, W. J. (2007). A Massachusetts prototype like coronavirus isolated from wild peafowls is pathogenic to chickens. *Virus Research*, *130*(1-2), 121-128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. virusres.2007.06.003
- Suryaman, G. K., Soejoedono, R. D., Setiyono, A., Poetri, O. N., & Handharyani, E. (2019). Isolation and characterization of Avian coronavirus from healthy Eclectus parrots (Eclectus roratus) from Indonesia. Veterinary World, 12(11), 1797-1805. https://doi.org/10.14202/ vetworld.2019.1797-1805
- Syahar, A. A. G., Zakaria, M. H., Zuki, A. B. Z., Lokman, H. I., & Mazlina, M. (2014).

The existence of red jungle fowls (*Gallus* gallus) in oil palm plantation selected states in Malaysia and their morphological characteristics. *Malaysian Journal of Veterinary Research*, 26(2), 38-40.

- Valastro, V., Holmes, E. C., Britton, P., Fusaro, A., Jackwood, M. W., Cattoli, G., & Monne, I. (2016). S1 gene-based phylogeny of infectious bronchitis virus: An attempt to harmonize virus classification. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution*, 39, 349–364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. meegid.2016.02.015
- World Organisation for Animal Health. (2018). Manual of diagnostic tests and vaccines for terrestrial animals (Chapter 3.3.2). WOAH.
- Zhou, Z., Qiu, Y., & Ge, X. (2021). The taxonomy, host range and pathogenicity of coronaviruses and other viruses in the *Nidovirales* order. *Animal Diseases*, 1, 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s44149-021-00005-9
- Zulperi, Z. M., Omar, A. R., & Arshad, S. S. (2009). Sequence and phylogenetic analysis of S1, S2, M, and N genes of infectious bronchitis virus isolates from Malaysia. *Virus Genes*, 38, 383–391. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11262-009-0337-2



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Locule Position and Thawing Duration Affect Postharvest Quality of Freshly Cryo-Frozen Musang King Durian Fruit

Shahidah Md Nor¹, Phebe Ding^{2*} and Tan Jit Chun³

¹Department of Technology and Natural Resources, Faculty of Applied Science and Technology, Universiti Tun Hussein Onn Malaysia, Hab Pendidikan Tinggi Pagoh, KM 1, Jalan Panchor, 84600 Muar, Johor, Malaysia ²Department of Crop Science, Faculty of Agriculture, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

³Green Mile Gain Ltd., Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong

ABSTRACT

This study examined the effect of locule position and thawing duration on the physicochemical and nutritional characteristics of intact cryo-frozen Musang King durian fruit. Cryo-frozen durian that had 5 locules was thawed for 2 and 18 hr, and the fruitlets of each locule were analysed for colour (L*, a*, b*, C*, and h°), firmness, soluble solids concentration (SSC), titratable acidity (TA), pH, ascorbic acid (AA), total phenolic content, total flavonoid content, 1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl, 2,2'-azinobis-(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid and ferric reducing antioxidant power assay (FRAP). Results show that L* and a* of pulp colour, firmness, SSC, pH, TA, AA, and FRAP of cryo-frozen durian fruit were affected by a significant interaction between locule position and thawing duration. It implies the postharvest quality of intact cryo-frozen durian fruitlet distinct from each other due to their locule position and thawing duration.

Keywords: Colour, cryogenic, eating quality, fruitlet, nutritional quality

ARTICLE INFO Article history: Received: 30 October 2022 Accepted: 14 December 2022 Published: 12 April 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.09

E-mail addresses: shahidahmn@uthm.edu.my (Shahidah Md Nor) phebe@upm.edu.my (Phebe Ding) jcjitan@gmail.com (Tan Jit Chun) * Corresponding author

ISSN: 1511-3701 e-ISSN: 2231-8542

INTRODUCTION

Durian (*Durio zibethinus*) fruit, especially clones like Musang King and Black Thorn, is popular among durian connoisseurs due to their unique mouthfeel and pulp colour. As a result, the planting acreage of durian has increased to 72,391 ha with a total production of 210,874 MT/year (Md Nor, Ding, Sakimin, et al., 2022). Currently, Musang King durian has been exported to countries such as China, Singapore, Taiwan, Australia, and European countries (Razali et al., 2020). Musang King durian fruit is very perishable, with easily dehisce husk within 12 hr of harvest under harsh and poor handling environments. The fruit must be frozen using a cryogenic technique where liquid nitrogen of -110 to -90°C is used to freeze the intact fruit for at least one hour before storage and shipping under -20 to -18°C (Ding, 2018). As a result, the postharvest life of intact cryo-frozen Musang King durian fruit is longer than fresh fruit; thus, the fruit can be exported to long-distance markets using sea referral.

Since the husk of intact cryo-frozen durian is strong and cannot be dehisced, the fruit must be thawed before serving. Thawing can be as simple as leaving the intact cryo-frozen durian at room temperature or using electromagnetic radiation to generate heat within the fruit (Wu et al., 2021). During thawing, the ice crystals of water molecules in the frozen fruit will change from solid to liquid, an important deterioration phenomenon to the fruit quality as cell structure collapses and nutrients are lost. Thus, thawing duration may affect cell structure and nutrients. The information on the thawing duration of durian fruit quality is very scarce. Although some studies on cryo-frozen durian have been reported, their focus was not on the effect of thawing duration on fruit quality. Razali et al. (2022) thawed intact cryofrozen Musang King durian fruit for 0, 12, 24, and 36 hr to compare the effectiveness of conventional and cryo-freezing on the fruit

and concluded that cryo-freezing was better in preserving durian fruit. The Japanese group of researchers revealed that thawing conventional-frozen (keeping fruit in a -20°C freezer) Thai durian neither using iced water (~0°C) nor hot water (~90°C) affects fruit eating quality (Tagubase et al., 2016). There are no standard operating procedures to thaw the cryo-frozen durian fruit: some vendors advise thawing the fruit overnight, but most do thaw for 2 hr. Nevertheless, the effect of thawing duration on fruitlets eating quality of Musang King durian fruit is not known.

Apart from thawing, it is believed that fruit locule may affect the eating quality of durian fruitlets. Generally, a durian has three to seven locules, where fruitlets are formed from the flower ovary after successful pollination (Ketsa et al., 2020). Fruit such as pineapple has been evident that the parts (basal, medium, top) of a fruit affected flesh firmness, with the basal part showing lower firmness than the medial and top parts (Joomwong & Sornsrivichai, 2005). The central part of white-fleshed dragon fruit (Hylocereus undatus) contained higher soluble solids than other parts of the fruit; thus, the fruit core tastes sweeter than the pulp near the peel (Nomura et al., 2015). The pulp dry matter at the stem end of Hass avocado was higher than above the seed, and the dry matter gradient decreased from the outside (peel) to the core (seed) of the fruit, indicating the distribution of moisture content varied in different parts of a fruit (Phetsomphou, 2000). For durian, the information on the locule effect on fruiteating quality is almost nil. The information may enhance the knowledge of fruit quality from different locules of durian fruit.

Thus, the present study was conducted to study the effect of locule position and thawing duration on the postharvest quality of cryo-frozen Musang King durian.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Fruit Samples

The fresh Musang King durian of export grade (having 5 locules and a weight of approximately 2 kg per fruit) was cryo-frozen using liquid nitrogen for 60 min at -110°C within 5 hr of harvesting. The freshly cryo-frozen fruits were packed in a polystyrene box with an ice gel pad and stored at -20°C overnight while waiting for transport to send to the laboratory. The frozen fruit arrived at the laboratory within 3 hr from Top Fruits Sdn. Bhd., Batu Pahat, Malaysia. Upon arrival, the fruits were removed from the polystyrene box and allowed to thaw at room temperature $(25 \pm 2^{\circ}C)$ for 2 and 18 hr. After the thawing duration, the fruits were opened with the help of a chopping knife. Randomly, one of the dehisced locules was assigned as locule number 1 (L1), the following locules from the right of the L1 were assigned as locule number 2 (L2), locule number 3 (L3), locule number 4 (L4), and locule number 5 (L5), respectively. The L5 was to the left of L1. Each locule of durian fruit consisted of five to seven fruitlets. Analyses were immediately conducted once the fruitlets were removed from each locule.

Physico-Chemical Analysis

The durian pulp physio-chemical properties of each fruitlet, such as colour (L*, a*, b*, C*, and h°), firmness, soluble solids concentration (SSC), pH, titratable acidity (TA), and ascorbic acid contents (AA) were analysed (Md Nor et al., 2021). The colour and firmness were measured when the pulp was attached to the seed. The Durian pulp colour of each fruitlet was taken using a colourimeter (CR-400, Minolta Corp., Japan) that was calibrated with a standard white tile before measuring. Three random points of each fruitlet were taken and presented in lightness/darkness (L*), redness/greenness (a*), yellowness/ blueness (b^*) , chroma (C^*) , and hue angle (h°) according to International Commission on Illumination CIELAB. The firmness was measured using Instron Universal Testing Machine (5543P5995, Instron Corp., USA) fitted with a 6-mm diameter cylindrical probe and a 5-kg load cell. Each durian fruitlet was penetrated with a probe to a depth of 3 mm at a crosshead speed of 20 mm/min. The reading was recorded in Newton (N) using the Instron Merlin Software version M12-13664-EN. For SSC determination, 10 g durian pulp was homogenised with 20 ml distilled water prior to cotton filtration. Two to three drops of the filtrate were placed on a digital hand-held pocket refractometer (ATAGOTM RX-5000 α , Japan), and the reading was calculated and presented as %SSC. The remaining filtrate prepared for SSC analysis was used for pH and TA analysis. pH was measured using an electrode of a pH meter, and TA was measured by acid-base titration (Ding & Raja, 2021). Titration was performed using 10 ml filtrate added with 2 drops of phenolphthalein against 0.1 N sodium hydroxide (NaOH) until a light pink solution appeared for at least 15 s, and results were expressed as a percentage of malic acid. The dye method was applied according to Zainal et al. (2019) with modifications for AA determination. One gram of pulp was first homogenised with 25 ml 2% cold metaphosphoric acid (HPO_3) , followed by a second filtering step using cotton. The filtrate was made up of 25 ml solution, and 10 ml filtrate was then titrated with standardised dye solution until a permanent pink colour appeared. The result was expressed as mg/100 g of fresh weight (FW).

Antioxidant Analysis

Prior to antioxidant analysis, 0.50 g of durian pulp was extracted with 1.50 ml (75% methanol) (Merck, Germany) using a Wise Clean ultrasonic water bath (Wise Laboratory Instrument, Germany) at 35°C for 30 min. Then, the sample was centrifuged at $16,100 \times g$ for 10 min. The supernatant was collected and further analysed for total phenolic content (TPC), total flavonoid content (TFC), 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radical scavenging assay, and 2,2'-azino-bis (3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) (ABTS) radical scavenging assay analysis.

TPC was determined using 0.2 M Folin-Ciocalteau phenol reagent (SIGMA Chemical Co., USA) according to Ding

and Choon (2021) with slight modification. A diluted extract of 200 µl was mixed with 25 µl Folin-Ciocalteu reagent for 4 min. Consequently, 20 μ l 6% (w/v) sodium bicarbonate solution was added to the mixture and incubated in the dark for 30 min. Finally, the absorbance of the reaction mixture was measured at 750 nm using a spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, Multiskan[™] Go Microplate Spectrophotometer, Finland). The result was extrapolated using a gallic acid standard curve, and the value was expressed as milligrams of gallic acid equivalents (GAE) in 100 g extract (mg GAE/100 g extract).

TFC was quantified using the aluminium trichloride method modified by Rebaya et al. (2015). A volume of 125 µl extract was added to 75 µl 5% sodium nitrite (NaNO₂) (SIGMA Chemical Co., USA). The mixture was allowed to mix for 6 min before adding 150 µl aluminium trichloride (10% AlCl₃) (Merck, Germany). Later, the mixture was incubated for 2 hr at room temperature with continuous shaking. Then, 750 µl 1 M NaOH (Merck, Germany) and 1,475 µl distilled water were added into the mixture and incubated for 15 min until a pink-peach colour solution formed. The absorbance was measured at 510 nm. Quercetin was standard, and the result was expressed as quercetin equivalents (QE) in mg/100 g FW.

The 2,2-diphenyl-1-picryl-hydrazylhydrate (DPPH) radical scavenging assay was modified according to the procedure described by Ding and Choon (2021). The solution of 0.2 mM DPPH (Merck, Germany) was prepared in methanol. A total volume of 20 μ l fruit extract was added to 180 μ l DPPH and incubated in the dark for 30 min at 25°C. Discolouration of DPPH was measured against a blank at 517 nm. Trolox solution was used as the reference standard, and DPPH free radical scavenging activity results were expressed as μ mol Trolox equivalent (TE)/100 g FW.

The 2, 2'-azino-bis(3ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) (ABTS) assay was adapted from the method of Ding and Choon (2021) with some modifications. Firstly, 0.7 mM ABTS salt (Merck, Germany) and 0.24 mM potassium persulfate (K₂S₂O₈) (Merck, Germany). were mixed and incubated in the dark for overnight to form a stock solution. Then, 5 ml stock solution was mixed with 100% methanol (MeOH) (Merck, Germany) to form a 25 ml working solution. Fruit extract with volume 10 µl was added to 150 µl ABTS working solution and let to react in the dark within 6 min at room temperature. The ABTS⁺⁺ radical discolouration was measured at 734 nm. Trolox solution was used as a reference, and results were expressed as µmol Trolox equivalent (TE)/100 g FW.

The FRAP assay was prepared and modified according to the procedure applied by Ding and Choon (2021) using 2,4,6-tripyridyl-S-triazine (TPTZ) (Merck, Germany). The essay was prepared by mixing 25 ml acetate buffer (pH 3.6), 2.5 ml TPTZ solution (10 mM), and 2.5 ml ferric chloride hexahydrate (FeCl₃·6H₂O) (20 mM) solution (Merck, Germany), warmed in the dark at 37°C just before conducting the analysis. Then, 25 μ l of the sample solution was mixed with 175 μ l FRAP essay and incubated for 10 min in the dark at 25°C. Absorbance was measured at 562 nm. Trolox was standard, and results were expressed in μ mol Trolox equivalent (TE)/100 g FW.

Statistical Analysis

The experiments were conducted using a completely randomised design with a factorial arrangement of treatments (2 thawing duration × 5 locule) with 3 biological replications and 3 technical replicates. Statistical analysis was performed by SAS software (SAS Institute, USA). Data were analysed using analysis of variance (ANOVA), and means separation was determined by Tukey's post hoc tests at p<0.05.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Effects of Locule Position and Thawing Duration on Eating Quality of Cryo-Frozen Musang King Durian

The main effects of locule position and thawing duration and their interaction on the colour of durian pulp are presented in Table 1. The colour of L* and a* of durian pulp was affected significantly by the interaction between the locule position \times thawing duration, while another colour parameter was not affected by the interaction. From Table 1, the L* (lightness) and a* (red/ green coordinate) values of durian pulp varied among locules and changed with thawing duration, with fruit thawing for 18 hr having darker colour (lower L* and higher a* values) than those thawing for 2 hr. The b* (yellow/blue coordinate), C* (colour chromaticity), and h° (hue angle) of durian pulp colour was not affected by the interaction but affected by locules position (Table 1). During the thawing of conventional-frozen (using -20°C) Thai durian fruit using hot water, it was found that the fruit pulp was darker in colour than iced-water thawing (Tagubase et al., 2016). The temperature could affect thawed durian fruit's L* and a* values. The temperature of Musang King durian fruit thawed for 18 hr has elevated and higher than those thawed for 2 hr, thus causing darker pulp colour in fruit pulp thawed for 18 hr.

Table 1

The main and interaction effects of locule position and thawing duration on pulp colour (L^* , a^* , b^* , C^* , and h^o) of intact cryo-frozen Musang King durian fruit

Factors	L*	a*	b*	C*	h°
The main effect of locule p	osition				
L1	76.55ª	0.13°	42.58 ^b	42.58 ^b	88.28
L2	71.24 ^b	1.05ª	48.07 ^{ab}	48.07 ^{ab}	88.59
L3	72.82 ^b	1.02 ^{ab}	47.62 ^{ab}	47.62 ^{ab}	88.95
L4	72.53 ^b	1.12ª	49.83ª	52.10 ^a	88.68
L5	72.04 ^b	0.49 ^{bc}	49.13 ^{ab}	49.83 ^{ab}	89.04
Levels of significance	**	**	*	*	ns
The main effect of thawing	duration (hr)				
2	74.70ª	0.64 ^b	47.63	47.69	89.02
18	70.97 ^b	0.89ª	47.26	47.26	88.40
Levels of significance	**	*	ns	ns	ns
Interaction effect of locule	position and tha	wing duration			
2 hr of thawing					
L1	76.31ª	0.10°	41.45	41.41	86.72
L2	75.20 ^{ab}	0.70^{ab}	48.19	48.11	88.80
L3	74.21 ^{ab}	1.15ª	48.09	48.02	88.61
L4	74.80 ^{ab}	0.79^{ab}	52.10	52.11	89.11
L5	72.82 ^b	0.46 ^{bc}	48.30	48.30	88.62
18 hr of thawing					
L1	74.72ª	0.16°	43.70	43.70	89.81
L2	67.22°	1.40ª	47.95	47.95	88.33
L3	71.44 ^b	0.89^{ab}	47.14	47.14	89.23
L4	70.26 ^b	1.45ª	47.57	47.56	88.25
L5	71.21 ^b	0.52 ^{bc}	49.95	49.95	89.41
Levels of significance	*	*	ns	ns	ns

Note. Means (n = 3) followed by the same letter in the same column within factors are not significantly different at p < 0.05 according to Tukey's post hoc tests

ns, *, ** = Non-significant or significant at $p \le 0.05$ or $p \le 0.01$, respectively

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 517 - 528 (2023)

Table 2 shows pulp firmness, SSC, pH, TA, and AA of cryo-frozen Musang King durian was affected by a significant interaction between locule position × thawing duration. Regardless of thawing duration, the firmness, SSC, pH, TA, and AA of durian fruitlets differed among locules (Table 2). For the eating quality of durian fruitlets, firmness, pH, TA, and AA of 18 hrthawed fruitlets was lower than 2 hr-thawed while SSC of cryo-frozen durian fruit increased with thawing duration. Thawing conventional-frozen Thai durian using 90°C hot water at a high temperature but shorter

Table 2

The main and interaction effects of locule position and thawing duration on pulp firmness, soluble solids concentration, pH, titratable acidity, and ascorbic acid of intact cryo-frozen Musang King durian fruit

Factors	Firmness (N)	Soluble solids concentration (%SSC)	pH	Titratable acidity (%malic acid)	Ascorbic acid (mg/100 g)
The main effect of locule	position				
L1	1.51 ^b	29.95ª	6.79°	0.07^{a}	7.52 ^b
L2	1.53 ^b	27.22 ^ь	7.22 ^{ab}	0.04^{b}	6.41 ^b
L3	1.96 ^{ab}	26.40 ^b	7.10 ^b	0.04 ^b	6.15 ^b
L4	1.97 ^{ab}	27.00 ^ь	7.28ª	0.03°	7.09 ^b
L5	2.51ª	21.95°	7.32ª	0.04^{b}	10.34ª
Levels of significance	*	**	**	**	**
The main effect of thawin	g duration (hr)			
2	2.53ª	25.12 ^ь	7.55ª	0.05ª	8.65ª
18	1.26 ^b	27.89ª	6.73 ^b	0.03 ^b	6.36 ^b
Levels of significance	**	**	**	**	**
Interaction effect of locul	e position and	thawing duration			
2 hr of thawing					
L1	1.35°	28.20ª	6.18 ^e	0.10 ^a	6.84 ^b
L2	2.13 ^{bc}	25.90 ^b	6.87°	0.05 ^b	6.50 ^b
L3	2.92 ^{ab}	25.20 ^b	6.60 ^d	0.04°	4.62°
L4	2.62 ^{ab}	25.90 ^b	6.93 ^b	0.03 ^d	4.62°
L5	3.64ª	20.40°	7.08 ^a	0.05 ^b	9.23ª
18 hr of thawing					
L 1	1.68ª	31.70ª	7.40 ^b	0.04ª	8.21 ^{bc}
L 2	0.94 ^b	28.53 ^b	7.57 ^{ab}	0.02°	6.33°
L 3	0.99 ^{ab}	27.60 ^b	7.59 ^{ab}	0.03 ^b	7.69 ^{bc}
L 4	1.32 ^{ab}	28.10 ^b	7.63ª	0.02°	9.57 ^{ab}
L 5	1.34 ^{ab}	23.50°	7.57 ^{ab}	0.02°	11.45 ^a
Levels of significance	*	*	**	**	*

Note. Means (n = 3) followed by the same letter in the same column within factors are not significantly different at p < 0.05 according to Tukey's post hoc tests

*, ** = Significant at $p \le 0.05$ or $p \le 0.01$, respectively

thawing duration caused higher moisture content to fruitlets compared to ice-water thawing with a longer period (Tagubase et al., 2016). At the same time, thawing methods did not affect other eating qualities of durian, such as texture profile (hardness, cohesiveness, and adhesiveness), SSC, pH, organic acids, and sugar contents.

In terms of durian fruitlet firmness. fruit thawing for 2 hr has a firmer texture than those thawing for 18 hr (Table 2). Firmer fruit is more acceptable than softer fruit since it gives a fresh perception to consumers (Md Nor & Ding, 2020). The softening of durian pulp in prolonged thawing duration may be due to the melting of crystalised water that breakdown the cell's structure. The greater SSC value in fruit thawed for 18 hr compared to 2 hr (Table 2) may indicate that starch has been actively converted to simple sugar as enzyme activity increases with temperature as the thawing process progresses. Additionally, the lower pH values in fruit thawed for 18 hr shows that durian pulp is acidic and exhibits a greater hydrogen dissociation rate than 2 hr-thawed fruit. TA reflects titratable organic acids content, and the lower TA in 18 hr-thawed fruit may be due to the utilisation of organic acids during metabolic respiration as a respiratory substrate or carbon skeleton (Md Nor, Ding, Abas, et al., 2022) during the thawing of durian fruit at room temperature. Lower AA in durian fruit thawed for 18 hr, signifying more degradation of AA has occurred during longer thawing duration compared to 2 hr thawing (Table 2). AA is

water soluble and a powerful antioxidant that prevents or reduces the damage caused by reactive oxygen species in fruit (Khaliq et al., 2015). Oxidative damage could have taken place during longer thawing duration and utilise the natural AA in the fruit as a detoxification compound to fight against reactive oxygen species (Table 2).

Effects of Locule Position and Thawing Duration on Nutritional Quality of Cryo-Frozen Musang King Durian

Bioactive compounds such as phenolic and flavonoid, as part of the nutritional quality of fruit, were quantified as TPC and TFC in this study. At the same time, the oxidant systems of cryo-frozen durian were evaluated based on radical scavenging activity (DPPH and ABTS) and one assay based on the reducing potential of antioxidants (FRAP) (Table 3). The presence of bioactive compounds with antioxidant activity in a fruit indicates it is packed with nutrients that can combat oxidative stress-induced degenerative illnesses (Ding & Choon, 2021). This study's findings revealed no significant interaction between locule position × thawing time on the nutritional quality of cryo-frozen durian fruit except FRAP (Table 3). It indicates that regardless of thawing duration, every locule fruitlet in a cryo-frozen durian fruit has the same amount of nutritional quality except FRAP.

The pulp colour (L* and a*) of durian fruitlet that underwent longer thawing duration was darker and redder than those thawing for a shorter period (Table 1). The pulp darkening could be due to an enzymatic browning reaction and degradation of natural pigment. This study has quantified that cryo-frozen durian contains polyphenol compounds as valued by TPC (Table 3). During thawing, cell decompartmentalisation may occur, permitting a reaction between enzymes and polyphenol compounds, consequently leading to browning (Wei

Table 3

The main and interaction effects of locule position and thawing duration on total phenolic content, total flavonoid content, DPPH, and ABTS a FRAP of intact cryo-frozen Musang King durian fruit

Factors	Total phenolic content	Total flavonoid content (mg	DPPH (µmol	ABTS (µmol	FRAP (µmol
The main effect of leave	(mg GAE/100 g)	QE/100 g)	1E/100 g)	1E/100 g)	1E/100 g)
	e position				
LI	16.54	0.50 ^{ab}	22.79	8.69	62.11
L2	12.76	0.54^{ab}	31.48	7.90	63.21
L3	15.75	0.77ª	28.07	7.15	68.63
L4	14.30	0.29 ^b	26.33	8.89	59.43
L5	15.86	0.42 ^{ab}	28.07	8.09	62.70
Levels of significance	ns	*	ns	ns	ns
The main effect of thaw	ing duration (hr)				
2	17.09	0.48	30.45	8.38	73.55ª
18	12.99	0.53	26.61	7.91	52.88 ^b
Levels of significance	ns	ns	ns	ns	**
Interaction effect of locu	le position and thaw	ing duration			
2 hr of thawing					
L1	15.97	0.56	19.54	9.66	58.22ª
L2	14.00	0.41	39.47	8.83	55.96ª
L3	21.37	0.70	30.52	7.59	59.29ª
L4	15.58	0.28	28.55	8.42	42.53 ^b
L5	18.54	0.46	34.14	7.39	48.40 ^{ab}
18 hr of thawing					
L1	17.11	0.45	26.05	7.71	65.99 ^b
L2	11.51	0.67	23.49	6.97	70.47 ^{ab}
L3	10.12	0.84	37.41	6.71	77.98ª
L4	13.02	0.30	24.10	9.36	76.32ª
L5	13.17	0.38	34.14	8.79	77.01ª
Levels of significance	ns	ns	ns	ns	*

Note. Means (n = 3) followed by the same letter in the same column within factors are not significantly different at p < 0.05 according to Tukey's post hoc tests

GAE = Gallic acid equivalent; QE = Quercetin equivalent; TE = Trolox equivalent; DPPH = 1,1-diphenyl-2-picryl-hydrazyl; ABTS = 2-2'-azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiozoline-6-sulfonic acid); FRAP = Ferric reducing antioxidant power

ns, *, ** = Non-significant or significant at $p \le 0.05$ or $p \le 0.01$, respectively

et al., 2022). Furthermore, a carotenoid responsible for the intense yellowish colour of durian pulp (Tan et al., 2020) is heat labile and susceptible to degradation (Gheonea et al., 2020). Temperature equilibration between frozen fruit (-20°C) and room (25°C) could have degraded the carotenoid and thus manifested in a darker colour, especially when the thawing duration was prolonged.

CONCLUSION

Results from this study indicated that the locule position and thawing duration significantly interact with the postharvest quality of cryo-frozen Musang King durian fruit. Unfortunately, the locule position of durian fruit was assigned randomly. Thus, it could not corroborate the cause of variation in each locule towards the postharvest quality of durian fruit. However, the finding of this study indicates that the sampling methods employed in collecting data on an intact durian should consider the locule effect. Since the thawing duration of cryofrozen durian affects the colour of durian pulp, thus vendors must provide proper advice or instruction to consumers in enjoying the intact cryo-frozen durian fruit.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors acknowledged the grant given by Green Mile Gain Limited (Vote: 6380067), Hong Kong, for funding this project. The authors also thank the Top Fruits Sdn. Bhd., Malaysia, for providing the intact cryo-frozen Musang King durian fruit.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

- Ding, P. (2018, September 26). Cryogenic freezing technology: Twisting M'sian durians' fate. *The Borneo Post*. https://www.theborneopost. com/2018/09/26/cryogenic-freezing-technologytwisting-msian-durians-fate/#:~:text=Dr%20 Ding%20said%20presently%2C%20 local,taste%2C%20flesh%20colour%20and%20 texture
- Ding, P., & Choon, S. Y. (2021). Effects of storage temperature on postharvest quality of Malaysian grown fig (*Ficus carica* L.) cv. Ipoh Blue Giant. *Mindanao Journal of Science and Technology*, 19(2), 91-106.
- Ding, P., & Raja M. R. N. (2021). Hydro-cooling as means to retain fresh sweet corn ears quality. *Sains Malaysiana*, 50(12), 3593-3602. https:// doi.org/10.17576/jsm-2021-5012-11
- Gheonea, I., Aprodu, I., Enachi, E., Horincar, G., Bolea, A. C., Bahrim, G. E., Rapeanu, G., & Stanciuc, N. (2020). Investigations on thermostability of carotenoids from tomato peels in oils using a kinetic approach. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*, 44(1), e14303. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfpp.14303
- Joomwong, A., & Sornsrivichai, J. (2005). Morphological characteristics, chemical composition and sensory quality of pineapple fruit in different season. *Chiang Mai University Journal of Natural Science*, 4(2), 149-164.
- Ketsa, S., Wisutiamonkul, A., Palapol, Y., & Paull, E. R. (2020). The durian: Botany, horticulture, and utilization. In I. Warrington (Ed.), *Horticultural reviews* (Vol. 47, pp. 125-211). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi. org/10.1002/9781119625407.ch4

- Khaliq, G., Muda Mohamed, M., Ali, A., Ding, P., & Ghazali, H. (2015). Effect of gum arabic coating combined with calcium chloride on physico-chemical and qualitative properties of mango (*Mangifera indica* L.) fruit during low temperature storage. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 190, 187–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. SCIENTA.2015.04.020
- Md Nor, S., & Ding, P. (2020). Trends and advances in edible biopolymer coating for tropical fruit: A review. *Food Research International*, *134*, 109208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foodres.2020.109208
- Md Nor, S., Ding, P., Sakimin, S., Ismail, A., & Abas, F. (2022). Passion fruit - A potential crop for exploration in Malaysia: A review. *Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science*, 45(3), 761–780. https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.45.3.14
- Md Nor, S., Ding, P., Abas, F., & Mediani, A. (2022). ¹H NMR reveals dynamic changes of primary metabolites in purple passion fruit (*Passiflora edulis* Sims) juice during maturation and ripening. *Agriculture*, 12(2), 156. https://doi. org/10.3390/agriculture12020156
- Md Nor, S., Siti, N. F. M. H., & Ding, P. (2021). Effects of temperature and storage duration on keeping quality of Malaysian grown passion fruit (*Passiflora edulis* Sims f. *flavicarpa* Deg.). *Acta Horticulturae*, 1327, 557-562. https://doi. org/10.17660/actahortic.2021.1327.73
- Nomura, K., Ide, M., & Yonemoto, Y. (2015). Changes in sugars and acids in pitaya (*Hylocereus* undatus) fruit during development. Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology, 80(6), 711-715. https://doi.org/10.1080/14620316.200 5.11512003
- Phetsomphou, V. (2000). Evaluation of various methods for dry matter content and firmness of 'Hass' avocados [Unpublished Bachelor dissertation]. Massey University.

- Razali, N., Rosly, N., Hamzah, F., Abdullah, S., & Hussin, W. (2020). Optimum storage temperature of mature drop durian (*Durio zibethinus* cv. Musang King). *International Journal of Agriculture, Forestry and Plantation*, 10(9), 267-273.
- Razali, N., Wan Ibrahim, W. M. Safari, S., Rosly, N. K., Hamzah, F. A., & Wan Husin, W. M. R. I. (2022). Cryogenic freezing preserves the quality of whole durian fruit for the export market. *Food Research*, 6(3), 360-364. https:// doi.org/10.26656/fr.2017.6(3).428
- Rebaya, A., Belghith, S., Baghdikian, B., Leddet, V., Mabrouki, F., Olivier, E., Cherif, J., & Ayadi, M. (2015). Total phenolic, total flavonoid, tannin content, and antioxidant capacity of *Halimium halimifolium* (Cistaceae). *Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science*, 5(1), 52-57. https://doi. org/10.7324/JAPS.2015.50110
- Tagubase, J. L., Ueno, S., Yoshie, Y., & Araki, T. (2016). Effect of freezing and thawing on the quality of durian (*Durio zibethinus* Murray) pulp. *Transactions of the Japan Society of Refrigerating and Air Conditioning Engineers*, 33(3), 267-272. https://doi.org/10.11322/ tjsrae.16-17NR OA
- Tan, X. Y., Misran, A., Daim, L. D. J., Ding, P., & Dek, M. S. P. (2020). Effect of freezing on minimally processed durian for long term storage. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 264, 109170. https://doi. org/10.1016/J.SCIENTA.2019.109170
- Wei, D., Yang, J., Xiang, Y., Meng, L., Pan, Y., & Zhang, Z. (2022). Attenuation of postharvest browning in rambutan fruit by melatonin is associated with inhibition of phenolics oxidation and reinforcement of antioxidative process. *Frontiers in Nutrition*, 9, 905006. https://doi. org/10.3389/fnut.2022.905006
- Wu, J., Zhang, M., Bhandari, B., & Yang, C.-H. (2021). Drip loss control technology of frozen fruit and vegetables during thawing: A review.

International Agrophyscis, 35(3), 235-250. https://doi.org/10.31545/intagr/142289

Zainal, B., Ding, P., Safinar, I., & Saari, N. (2019). Physico-chemical and microstructural characteristics during postharvest storage of hydrocooled rockmelon (*Cucumis melo* L. *reticulatus* cv. Glamour). *Postharvest Biology* and *Technology*, 152, 89-99. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2019.03.001



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Subcutaneous Implantation of Unidirectional Self-Inflating Anisotropic Tissue Expander Has No Effect on the Physiological Parameters and Behaviours of Horses

Saddam Hussein Al-Majhali^{1,2}, Nurul Hayah Khairuddin^{1*}, Intan-Shameha Abdul Razak³, Zamri Radzi⁴, Mohammad Tariqur Rahman⁵, Tengku Rinalfi Putra Tengku-Azizan³, John Tito Sapalo⁶ and Abubakar Musa Mayaki^{3,7}

¹Department of Farm and Exotic Animals Medicine and Surgery, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

²Department of Veterinary Medicine, College of Agriculture and Veterinary Medicine, Thamar University, 13020 Dhamar, Yemen

³Department of Veterinary Preclinical Science, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

⁴Department of Paediatric Dentistry and Orthodontics, Faculty of Dentistry, Universiti Malaya, 50603 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

⁵Faculty of Dentistry, Universiti Malaya, 50603 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

⁶Ceremonial Mounted Squadron, Malaysian Armed Forces, Military Camp, 47000 Sungai Buloh, Selangor, Malaysia

⁷Department of Veterinary Medicine, Usmanu Danfodiyo University, PMB 2346, Sokoto, Nigeria

ABSTRACT

The tissue expansion technique is one of the most important innovations in skin reconstructive surgery in human and veterinary medicine. This study investigated horses' physiological and behavioural responses to subcutaneous implantation of a unidirectional self-inflating anisotropic tissue expander. The tissue expanders were subcutaneously implanted on six

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 23 September 2022 Accepted: 16 December 2022 Published: 12 April 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.10

E-mail addresses:

almajhalisaddam@gmail.com (Saddam Hussein Al-Majhali) nurulhayah@upm.edu.my (Nurul Hayah Khairuddin) intanshameha@upm.edu.my (Intan-Shameha Abdul Razak) zamri@um.edu.my (Zamri Radzi) m.tariqur.rahman@gmail.com (Mohammad Tariqur Rahman) rinalfi@upm.edu.my (Tengku Rinalfi Putra Tengku-Azizan) johnsapalo2009@gmail.com (John Tito Sapalo) bubakar241@yahoo.com (Abubakar Musa Mayaki)

* Corresponding author

ISSN: 1511-3701 e-ISSN: 2231-8542 horses at three different locations: the frontal region of the head, the lateral side of the right shoulder, and the dorsomedial part of the cannon region of the right forelimb. Prior to the tissue expander implantation, each horse was clinically examined, and the observed vital parameters and behaviour were recorded as baseline data. For six days post implantations, the horses were clinically examined, implantation sites monitored, and the horse's behaviour was recorded both during the day by visual observation Saddam Hussein Al-Majhali, Nurul Hayah Khairuddin, Intan-Shameha Abdul Razak, Zamri Radzi, Mohammad Tariqur Rahman, Tengku Rinalfi Putra Tengku-Azizan, John Tito Sapalo and Abubakar Musa Mayaki

and at night with a video camera. The results showed that all horses tolerated the subcutaneous gradual skin expansion by implantation of the tissue expanders, and all surgical sites healed without any complications. The implantation of the tissue expanders does not affect the vital parameters or overall horse behaviour either during the day or at night. In conclusion, the subcutaneous implantation of unidirectional anisotropic tissue expanders in horses resulted in successful skin growth with no physiological and psychological discomfort; hence skin expansion is a good option to be considered when pursuing equine skin reconstructive surgery.

Keywords: Behaviour, horse, self-inflating tissue expander, subcutaneous expansion

INTRODUCTION

In equine practice, a large wound is commonly managed as an open wound with scar formation resulting in deformation of the injured area (Theoret & Schumacher, 2017; Zöllner et al., 2012). To ensure anatomical restoration of the injured or defective site, reconstructive surgery is usually required (De Lorenzi et al., 2018; Keller et al., 1994; Whittaker et al., 2020).

The tissue expansion technique is a surgical technique to generate excess skin adjacent to a defect mechanically (Fang et al., 2013). The significance of this technique is that it allows the replacement of lost tissue with analogous tissue with matching texture, colour, and other important local features (Agrawal & Agrawal, 2012; Tepole et al., 2012). In humans, the skin expansion technique is used to manage soft tissue defects because of neoplastic resection, burns, congenital conditions, and adjacent or distant skin expansion for use as a local or free flap, respectively. In the equine clinical setting, surgical coverage of large wounds, particularly at the distal part of the horse's legs and face, cannot be easily performed due to inadequate skin for closure (Zöllner et al., 2012). Thus, healing is characterised by excessive scar formation resulting in deformation of the injured area. Although skin grafting has been used to fill the skin defect, however, tissue expansion technique has been proposed as an alternative technique to skin grafting because it is more favourable in terms of higher success rates and cosmetic results since the defect is replaced with analogous tissue with matching texture, colour and other important local features (Agrawal & Agrawal, 2012; Al-Majhali et al., 2021; Whittaker et al., 2020).

Considering the recent awareness and the potential use of the tissue expansion technique in equine reconstructive surgery, the knowledge of possible behavioural responses to gradual subcutaneous expansion to unidirectional self-inflating tissue expander implantation became necessary. Currently, no research has evaluated the behaviour of horses to tissue expander implantation. Behaviour in animal species, including horses, is one of the most readily observed measures of welfare (Budras et al., 2012; Chung et al., 2018; Mason & Mench, 1997), and it is mostly studied by assessing the animal response to its environment or procedures. To substantiate the significance of the behavioural evidence, including physiological assessment in the behavioural study is always considered an important step (Yarnell et al., 2013).

Therefore, in this study, we investigate the effect of subcutaneous implantation of unidirectional anisotropic tissue expanders on the physiological parameters and behaviour of horses. It was hypothesised that there would be no physiological parameters and behavioural changes to horses' subcutaneous implantation of tissue expanders.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethical Consideration

The study was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Universiti Putra Malaysia (UPM/IACUC/ AUP-R066/2018).

Animals

A total of six horses comprising four geldings and two mares were used in this study. The horses were aged 17-22 and weighed 450 to 500 kg. They were housed separately in a clean stall box ($3.5 \text{ m} \times 4.5 \text{ m} \times 4 \text{ m}$) with good bedding and fed on hay, pelleted feed, and clean water provided ad libitum. The horses had up-to-date vaccination against equine influenza, Japanese Encephalitis, and tetanus. All the horses were from Ceremonial Mounted Squadron, Malaysian Armed Forces.

Subcutaneous Implantation of Unidirectional Self-Inflating Anisotropic Tissue Expanders

The horses were implanted with the tissue expanders (Expaniderm, Oxtex®, United Kingdom) subcutaneously at three locations: the rostral part of the frontal region of the head, the lateral side of the right shoulder, and the dorsomedial part of the cannon region of the right forelimb. All procedures were performed under the aseptic condition with the horses on standing sedation with xylazine (Chanazine® 10%, Chanelle Pharma, Ireland) with normal saline infusion (100 µg/ml, at a constant infusion rate of 14 drops/min). The 2% lignocaine hydrochloride (DSN Pharma Sdn. Bhd, Malaysia) was infiltrated at the sites of the surgical implantation. After which, a horizontal incision was made at the implantation site, and the skin was then undermined with blunt dissection to create a subcutaneous pocket. A piece of anisotropic tissue expander was then gently inserted into the subcutaneous pocket and secured in position by placing a few tacking sutures to prevent migration of the tissue expander subcutaneously. The incision site was then sutured with 3-0 Ethilon[®] (USA) using a cross-mattress suture pattern. During the post-implantation, the antibiotic of procaine penicillin and dihydrostreptomycin sulphate (Norbrook, United Kingdom) (22,000 IU/kg, intramuscularly), and anti-inflammatory of flunixin meglumine (Norbrook, United Kingdom) (1.1 mg/kg, intravenously) was given once a day for three days. A period

Saddam Hussein Al-Majhali, Nurul Hayah Khairuddin, Intan-Shameha Abdul Razak, Zamri Radzi, Mohammad Tariqur Rahman, Tengku Rinalfi Putra Tengku-Azizan, John Tito Sapalo and Abubakar Musa Mayaki

of 14 days was allowed for the cutaneous expansion process as recommended by the manufacturer. The experiment lasted for 18 days.

Behavioural and Physiological Vitals Assessment

Three days prior to the tissue expander implantation, each horse was observed for normal behaviour in the stall box (Table 1). Physiological parameters were determined, including rectal temperature, heart rate, and respiratory rate. The physiological parameters were assessed 30 min before the behavioural observational section. The horse behaviour was observed and recorded at an interval of 10 min for four hours during the daytime and another four hours at night. All observation sessions were performed around 10:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. and between 9:00 p.m. to 1:00 a.m. The frequency and duration based on the ethogram before the implantation of tissue expanders were recorded and considered as baseline data (D_o). Two camera traps (Ltl Acorn, Ltl-5210A, United Kingdom) were installed in the stable where the horses are kept and adjusted to record the horses' behaviour and responses according to a schedule throughout the day/night.

Table 1

Description of horse behaviours examined before and after implantation of tissue expanders

Behaviour	Description
	Measured in Frequency (number of occurrences/hour)
Head shaking	Shaking the head from side to side
Head-turning	Turning the head together with the neck to a particular side
Nose scratching	Rubbing a nose area on the wall or any hard object
Circling	Radial locomotion in the stable
Eating	Mastication and swallowing
Drinking	Ingest water by dipping lips at or slightly below the surface of the water and drawing the water with a sucking action, and swallowing
	Measured in Duration (hour)
Lying	Lying down on the sternum with legs folded under the body
	Lying down on the side with legs stretched out
Scratching of the	Rubbing of the forehead
implant site	Rubbing of the shoulder area
	Nibbling, biting, licking, or rubbing the lower forelimb
Standing rest	Weight-bearing on all four legs
	Weight-bearing on three legs with right hindleg slightly flexed
	Weight-bearing on three legs with left hindleg slightly flexed
Walking	Forward and backward movement of more than 1 limb resulting in a new position within the stable
Exploring	Foraging without eating or smelling the local environment while standing or walking

Note. The ethogram description of horse behaviours was based on previous studies (Ashley et al., 2005; Price et al., 2003; Torcivia & Mcdonnell, 2020)

Post-surgical implantation of tissue expanders, the horses were observed for any change in behavioural patterns and comfort level for up to 6 days (D_1 , D_2 , D_3 , D_4 , D_5 , and D_6). On each day prior to behavioural observation, the rectal temperature, heart rate and respiratory rate were taken 30 min before recording the horse's behaviour. The frequency and time duration of the specific behaviour were analysed based on the visual observation and recorded video of the horse in the stable.

Statistical Analysis

The data were expressed as mean and standard deviation. The mean frequency or percentage difference of the behavioural parameters between pre- and post-implantation was analysed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey's post hoc for multiple comparisons. The *p*-value < 0.05 was considered significant. All statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism version 8.0.2 (GraphPad Software, USA).

RESULTS

Physiological Assessments

All horses tolerated the surgical implantation procedure, and the incision sites healed without complications. There was no evidence of suture breakage, implant rupture, hematoma, or discharge. The physiological parameters of the horses preand post-implantation of tissue expander subcutaneously in horses are shown in Figure 1. There was no significant effect (p > 0.05) of tissue expander implantation on the rectal temperature (Figure 1A) and respiratory rate over the six days observational period (Figure 1C). However, a significant difference (p = 0.0245) in heart rate within the observational days was observed among the horses (Figure 1B).

Behavioural Assessments

The mean proportion of time duration for each behaviour during the day and night of the pre-and post-implantation observational period are presented in Tables 2 and 3,



Figure 1. Rectal temperature (A), heart rate (B), and respiratory rate (C) determined pre and six days postimplantation of tissue expander subcutaneously in horses

Note. * $p \le 0.05$ significance different over the time duration; ns = No significant difference between the time duration

			Percenta	ige of observation t	ime/hour		
Behaviour	Pre-implantation			Post-im	olantation		
	D。	D	D_2	D3	D_4	D,	D ₆
Standing rest	40.49±4.88	42.53±7.76	41.74 ± 5.35	37.78 ± 4.13	44.79±3.61	39.68±3.75	41.71 ± 4.78
Walking	7.46 ± 1.41	7.11 ± 0.50	7.29±0.83	6.51 ± 2.11	7.66 ± 0.31	7.57±1.36	7.52±1.41
Exploring	11.25 ± 2.86	10.65 ± 4.03	12.35 ± 3.09	9.03 ± 5.20	12.22 ± 1.86	12.36 ± 2.67	11.81 ± 2.07
Eating	37.23±5.70	38.61 ± 4.47	36.32±6.47	39.54±7.34	33.24 ± 4.81	37.87±1.15	37.34 ± 4.46
Lying down	3.18 ± 5.79	1.11 ± 2.72	2.315±5.67	6.898 ± 7.78	2.083 ± 3.49	2.362±5.79	1.297 ± 3.18
Forehead scratching	$0.01{\pm}0.03^{ m b}$	0	0	3.36 ± 5.15^{a}	0	0	$0.05{\pm}0.07^{ m b}$
Shoulder scratching	0.14 ± 0.16	0	0.12 ± 0.14	0.23 ± 0.33	0.05 ± 0.11	0.09 ± 0.11	0.26 ± 0.31
Lower limb scratching	0.21 ± 0.25	0	0.17 ± 0.19	0.26 ± 0.39	0.05 ± 0.11	0.17 ± 0.14	$0.33 {\pm} 0.39$
- - -			Percenta	ge of observation t	ime/hour		
Behaviour	Pre-implantation			Post-imp	lantation		
	D。	\mathbf{D}_1	\mathbf{D}_2	D_3	D_4	D_5	D_6
Standing rest	62.08 ± 10.39	58.59±5.68	62.18±7.82	61.71 ± 16.65	56.94 ± 9.67	67.32±7.53	$68.84{\pm}6.36$
Walking	4.08 ± 0.85	4.19 ± 0.86	4.44 ± 1.39	4.77 ± 1.21	4.35 ± 1.68	4.49 ± 1.60	5.16 ± 0.87
Exploring	6.57 ± 1.46	6.80 ± 3.60	5.47 ± 1.63	5.63 ± 2.64	5.78 ± 4.08	6.32 ± 3.11	8.45 ± 1.09
Eating	23.87±8.72	27.18 ± 8.73	21.16 ± 11.02	23.10 ± 16.17	22.52 ± 11.56	20.00 ± 2.04	14.86 ± 4.05
Lying down	3.12 ± 3.01	3.24 ± 3.56	6.67 ± 8.17	4.58±7.34	10.28 ± 19.39	5.28 ± 12.93	2.45 ± 3.81
Forehead scratching	0	0	0	0	0.05 ± 0.11	0.05 ± 0.11	0.02 ± 0.06
Shoulder scratching	$0.14{\pm}0.22$	0	0.05 ± 0.07	0.19 ± 0.27	0.05 ± 0.07	0.07 ± 0.08	0.19 ± 0.25
Lower limb scratching	0.04 ± 0.06	0	0.05 ± 0.07	0.02 ± 0.06	0.02 ± 0.06	0.05 ± 0.07	0.02 ± 0.06
Note. All values expresse	ed in mean and stand	dard deviation					

Saddam Hussein Al-Majhali, Nurul Hayah Khairuddin, Intan-Shameha Abdul Razak, Zamri Radzi, Mohammad Tariqur Rahman, Tengku Rinalfi Putra Tengku-Azizan, John Tito Sapalo and Abubakar Musa Mayaki

534

Table 2

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 529 - 540 (2023)

respectively. During the day observation, the horses spent most of their time either standing rest (40.5%), exploring (11.3%), or eating (37.2%). There was no significant (p > 0.05) change in the time spent in all the behavioural parameters observed both during the pre-and post-implantation, except for forehead scratching, which was significantly (p = 0.04) higher in the daytime. Similarly, the time spent at night on each behaviour did not change significantly (p > 0.05) between the preand post-implantation periods. Compared to the daytime observations, the horses spent more time standing at rest, eating and recumbent rest (lying down), and less

time exploring the stall box. Overall, the horses spent most of the time standing square on their 4 legs or with slightly flexed right or left hindlimb feet. There was no difference in the time spent in these different standing postures between the pre-and post-implantation day and night periods of observations (Figures 2A and 2B).

The frequency of other miscellaneous behaviour, such as headshaking, headturning, circling, and scratching of the nose and/or abdomen, did not significantly change when compared between the preand post-implantation for day and night observation periods (Tables 4 and 5).





Note. LHL = Left hind limb; RHL = Right hind limb

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 529 - 540 (2023)

м У)				
			Mean fr	equency of observa	tion time		
Behaviour	Pre-implantation			Post-im	olantation		
	D。	D1	D_2	D3	D_4	D5	D_6
Head shaking	13.33 ± 9.46	13.33 ± 6.09	8.00±5.55	8.67±5.85	8.67±5.39	10.00 ± 7.82	14.17±13.41
Head-turning	$4.00{\pm}1.67$	3.33 ± 2.07	2.50 ± 1.76	2.83 ± 1.47	$3.50{\pm}1.38$	1.83 ± 0.98	$3.00{\pm}2.10$
Circling	1.33 ± 0.82	1.17 ± 0.98	0.67 ± 0.82	1.00 ± 0.89	$1.00{\pm}1.55$	1.17 ± 1.33	$0.5 {\pm} 0.84$
Drinking	2.83 ± 4.62	1.50 ± 3.67	3.17 ± 6.31	$5.00{\pm}6.87$	1.83 ± 2.14	0.83 ± 0.75	2.167 ± 3.92
Nose scratching	$0.67{\pm}1.03$	$0.33 {\pm} 0.82$	0.17 ± 0.41	$0.33 {\pm} 0.82$	1.17 ± 2.86	0.67 ± 1.63	$0.17{\pm}0.41$
Abdomen scratching	$0.50 {\pm} 0.84$	0.17 ± 0.41	0.33 ± 0.82	$0.50{\pm}0.84$	0	0.17 ± 0.41	0
Rehaviour	Pre-imulantation		Mean fr	equency of observa	tion time		
	D_	Ċ	Ď	D,	D	Č	Ũ
Head shaking	8.0±8.67	8.5±10.01	10.0 ± 10.49	7.50±7.18	6.17±4.96	7.67±7.99	9.67±10.75
Head-turning	2.17 ± 1.72	1.5 ± 1.38	1.83 ± 1.17	2.67 ± 1.63	2.167 ± 2.32	$1.167{\pm}1.17$	1.67 ± 0.82
Circling	0.83 ± 0.75	0.33 ± 0.52	3.33 ± 6.25	1.83 ± 2.14	0.67 ± 1.21	1.5 ± 2.35	0.67 ± 0.82
Nose scratching	$0.67 {\pm} 0.82$	0.33 ± 0.82	$0.17 \pm .41$	0	1.0 ± 2.45	0.5 ± 1.23	0.17 ± 0.41
Abdomen scratching	$0.5 {\pm} 0.84$	0.17 ± 0.41	0.5 ± 1.23	0.83 ± 0.98	0.5 ± 0.84	$0.33 {\pm} 0.52$	0
Note. All values expres:	sed in mean and star	ndard deviation					

Saddam Hussein Al-Majhali, Nurul Hayah Khairuddin, Intan-Shameha Abdul Razak, Zamri Radzi, Mohammad Tariqur Rahman, Tengku Rinalfi Putra Tengku-Azizan, John Tito Sapalo and Abubakar Musa Mayaki

Table 4 Mean frequency of other miscellaneous behaviours observed during the day

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 529 - 540 (2023)

536

DISCUSSION

It is the first study to describe that horse does not show any significant change in behaviour following subcutaneous tissue expander implantations with the hydrogel unidirectional self-inflating anisotropic tissue expanders. When assessed day and night, all horses showed no physiological and behavioural changes associated with the tissue expander implantation. All horses tolerated the implantation procedure, and the surgical sites healed without complication. There was no evidence of suture breakage, implant rupture, hematoma, or discharge. These findings are consistent with earlier observations (Al-Majhali et al., 2018; Chandawarkar et al., 2003; Whittaker et al., 2020). The elimination of pain after surgical implantation of the tissue expander by parenteral analgesia was to ensure the observed physiological and behaviour were not due to pain. The rectal temperature, respiratory, and heart rate of each horse over the six-days observation period, when compared with baseline data (pre-implantation), revealed normal vital parameters. Similarly, the rectal temperature and respiratory rate showed no significant change when considering all horses together. Although the heart rate revealed significant change over the observed period, the mean heart rate for each observed day is within the normal reference value. The slight changes in heart rate could be attributed possibly to the individual horse variation effect. This finding is similar to a previous behavioural study on pain where no correlation between the vital parameters and pain surgery,

particularly following post-operative analgesia, was observed (Price et al., 2003).

In this study, the behavioural indices observed during the day and night preimplantation of the tissue expanders considered normal for horses include standing, walking, exploring, lying down (recumbent rest), eating, and drinking. Based on the proportion of time, the horse spent most of the day standing, eating, and exploring the stall box. While at night, they spent the highest of the observed periods standing, resting and eating. Postimplantation, there was no significant change in the proportion of time spent on each of the behavioural parameters observed about the baseline (pre-implantation) during day and night over the six-day observational period. Scratching at the implantation areas was considered insignificant as it may reflect itching due to the inflammatory response to healing processes. Moreover, this behaviour was occasionally observed during the preimplantation period suggesting a response to an external irritant (Velnar et al., 2009).

The findings of standing rest to be the predominating behaviour are not surprising, as it is typical for horses to spend most of the hours of the day and night in standing rest and lesser time in recumbent rest (Chung et al., 2018; Evans, 2000; Ransom & Cade, 2009). Horses can stand for long periods and even drowse and sleep while standing due to their unique passive stay apparatus of the equine forelimbs and hindlimbs. Thus, the horse could stand on their feet with minimum muscular effort (Dyce et al., 2009). Furthermore, horses may shift Saddam Hussein Al-Majhali, Nurul Hayah Khairuddin, Intan-Shameha Abdul Razak, Zamri Radzi, Mohammad Tariqur Rahman, Tengku Rinalfi Putra Tengku-Azizan, John Tito Sapalo and Abubakar Musa Mayaki

weight between the hindlimb with slight flexing of the foot (Budras et al., 2012; Fuchs et al., 2016). This study's less time spent on recumbent rest seems lower than the average recumbent resting duration reported previously. In those reports, the type of bedding has been identified as an important factor that affects the duration of recumbent rest: sternal and/or lateral recumbency (Pedersen et al., 2004; Werhahn et al., 2010). Besides the bedding type, the depth and nature of bedding materials, such as cleanliness, texture, softness, and odour, could also influence the recumbent rest duration. However, the present observation of shorter recumbent rest duration is similar to what was documented for horses housed in shaving bedding, the same bedding material used in this study (Greening et al., 2013).

The duration of hay and/or concentrated eating during day and night, either pre- or post-implantation, were consistently normal for horses. Similar to the earlier report on the normal digestive behaviour of horses, the horses spent about 1/3 of the daytime and 1/4 of the night observation period engaged in eating (Greening et al., 2013).

When compared between the pre-and post-implantation period, the non-significant change in spent time on the behaviour of horses, such as eating, drinking, circling, head shaking or turning, and exploring during day and night horses tolerated the skin expansion technique without any discomfort or unwanted responses. Among the unwanted responses is reflected restlessness behaviour, which may be seen as either decreased eating, drinking, and exploring time or increased circling, head shaking, and/or turning (Ashley et al., 2005). More importantly, with a strong correlation between the longer time spent on standing rest and eating, standing rest behaviour has been described as an appropriate indicator of good welfare in horses (Ninomiya et al., 2007).

CONCLUSION

The subcutaneous implantation of unidirectional anisotropic tissue expanders in horses does not affect the physiological and behaviour of the horses. Hence tissue expansion technique is a good option to be considered when pursuing equine skin reconstructive surgery for equine skin reconstructive surgery.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the staff and members of the Ceremonial Mounted Squadron, Malaysian Armed Forces and University Veterinary Hospital (UVH) of Universiti Putra Malaysia for their assistance and cooperation throughout the study period.

FUNDING

This research is supported by Universiti Putra Malaysia, Putra Grant - Putra Graduate Initiative (GP-IPS/2019/9675600).

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.
REFERENCES

- Agrawal, K., & Agrawal, S. (2012). Tissue regeneration during tissue expansion and choosing an expander. *Indian Journal of Plastic Surgery*, 45(1), 7-15. https://doi.org/10.4103/0970-0358.96566
- Al-Majhali, S. H., Khairuddin, N. H., Intan-Shameha, A. R., Radzi, Z., Rahman, M. T., Sapalo, J. T., Mayaki, A. M., & Czernuszka, J. T. (2021). Biomechanical effects of unidirectional expansion using anisotropic expanders in horse skin tissue. *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science*, 99, 103399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jevs.2021.103399
- Al-Majhali, S. H., Khairuddin, N. H., Loqman, M. Y., Radzi, Z., Chen, H. C., Lau, S. F., & Rahman, M. T. (2018). Physical measurement of the expansion rate of anisotropic tissue expander in the skin of the horse. *Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science*, 41(4), 1899 -1904.
- Ashley, F., Waterman-Pearson, A., & Whay, H. (2005). Behavioural assessment of pain in horses and donkeys: Application to clinical practice and future studies. *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 37(6), 565-575. https://doi. org/10.2746/042516405775314826
- Budras, K. D., Sack, W. O., Rock, S., Horowitz, A., & Berg, R. (2012). Anatomy of the horse (6th ed.). Schlütersche. https://doi. org/10.1201/9783842683686
- Chandawarkar, R. Y., Cervino, A. L., & Pennington, G. A. (2003). Intraoperative acute tissue expansion revisited: A valuable tool for challenging skin defects. *Dermatologic Surgery*, 29(8), 834-838. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1524-4725.2003.29218.x
- Chung, E. L. L., Khairuddin, N. H., Azizan, T. R. P. T., & Adamu, L. (2018). Sleeping patterns of horses in selected local horse stables in Malaysia. *Journal of Veterinary Behaviour*, 26, 1-4. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2018.03.014

- De Lorenzi, M., Swan, M., Easter, C., & Chanoit, G. (2018). Outcome of reconstruction of cutaneous limb defects in dogs using hygroscopic "selfinflating" tissue expanders. *Journal of Small Animal Practice*, 59(2), 98-105. https://doi. org/10.1111/jsap.12766
- Dyce, K. M., Sack, W. O., & Wensing, C. J. G. (2009). *Textbook of veterinary anatomy* (4th ed.). Elsevier Health Sciences.
- Evans, J. W. (2000). *Horses: A guide to selection, care, and enjoyment* (3rd ed.). Henry Holt and Company.
- Fang, L., Zhou, C., & Yang, M. (2013). Expansion in-situ' concept as a new technique for expanding skin and soft tissue. *Experimental* and Therapeutic Medicine, 6(5), 1295-1299. https://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2013.1269
- Fuchs, C., Kiefner, C., Reese, S., Erhard, M., & Wohr, A. (2016). Narcolepsy: Do adult horses really suffer from a neurological disorder or rather from a recumbent sleep deprivation/rapid eye movement (REM)-sleep deficiency? *Equine Veterinary Journal*, 48(S50), 9. https://doi. org/10.1111/evj.09 12612
- Greening, L., Shenton, V., Wilcockson, K., & Swanson, J. (2013). Investigating duration of nocturnal ingestive and sleep behaviours of horses bedded on straw versus shavings. *Journal* of Veterinary Behaviour, 8(2), 82-86. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jveb.2012.05.003
- Keller, W., Aron, D., Rakich, P., Crowe, D., & Marks, M. (1994). Rapid tissue expansion for the development of rotational skin flaps in the distal portion of the hindlimb of dogs: An experimental study. *Veterinary Surgery*, 23(2), 31-39. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-950X.1994.tb00439.x
- Mason, G., & Mench, J. (1997). Using behaviour to assess animal welfare. In: M. Appleby & B. O. Hughes (Eds.), *Animal welfare* (pp. 127-141). CAB International.

Saddam Hussein Al-Majhali, Nurul Hayah Khairuddin, Intan-Shameha Abdul Razak, Zamri Radzi, Mohammad Tariqur Rahman, Tengku Rinalfi Putra Tengku-Azizan, John Tito Sapalo and Abubakar Musa Mayaki

- Ninomiya, S., Sato, S., Kusunose, R., Mitumasu, T., & Obara, Y. (2007). A note on a behavioural indicator of satisfaction in stabled horses. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 106(1-3), 184-189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. applanim.2006.06.011.
- Pedersen, G. R., Sondergaard, E., & Ladewig, J. (2004). The influence of bedding on the time horses spend recumbent. *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science*, 24(4), 153-158. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jevs.2004.03.013
- Price, J., Catriona, S., Welsh, E. M., & Waran, N. K. (2003). Preliminary evaluation of a behaviour-based system for assessment of postoperative pain in horses following arthroscopic surgery. *Veterinary Anaesthesia and Analgesia*, 30(3), 124-137. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1467-2995.2003.00139.x
- Ransom, J. I., & Cade, B. S. (2009). Quantifying equid behaviour - A research ethogram for freeroaming feral horses. US Geological Survey. https://doi.org/10.3133/tm2A9
- Tepole, A. B., Gosain, A. K., & Kuhl, E. (2012). Stretching skin: The physiological limit and beyond. *International Journal of Non-Linear Mechanics*, 47(8), 938-949. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijnonlinmec.2011.07.006
- Theoret, C., & Schumacher, J. (2017). *Equine wound* management (3rd ed.). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118999219
- Torcivia, C., & Mcdonnell, S. (2020). Equine discomfort ethogram. Animals, 11(2), 580. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11020580

- Velnar, T., Bailey, T., & Smrkolj, V. (2009). The wound healing process: An overview of the cellular and molecular mechanisms. *Journal of International Medical Research*, 37, 1528-1542. https://doi.org/10.1177/147323000903700531
- Werhahn, H., Hessel, E. F., Bachhausen, I., & Van den Weghe, H. F. (2010). Effects of different bedding materials on the behaviour of horses housed in single stalls. *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science*, 30(8), 425-431. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jevs.2010.07.005
- Whittaker, C. J., Reynolds, B. D., McCarthy, P. M., Taylor, S. F., Major, D., Caruso, K. A., & Smith, J. (2020). Use of a chronic soft tissue expansion device to facilitate blepharoplasty in a horse with lower-lid cicatricial ectropion with a 14-year follow-up. *Veterinary Ophthalmology*, 23(5), 899-904. https://doi.org/10.1111/vop.12806
- Yarnell, K., Hall, C., & Billett, E. (2013). An assessment of the aversive nature of an animal management procedure (clipping) using behavioural and physiological measures. *Physiology and Behavior*, 118, 32-39. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.05.013
- Zöllner, A. M., Tepole, A. B., Gosain, A. K., & Kuhl, E. (2012). Growing skin: Tissue expansion in pediatric forehead reconstruction. *Biomechanics* and Modeling in Mechanobiology, 11(6), 855-867. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10237-011-0357-4



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Review Article

Review on the Epidemiology, Milk Composition Changes, and Antimicrobial Susceptibility of Causative Agents of Bubaline Mastitis in Asia

Nor'Amira Mohd Amin¹, Md Zuki Abu Bakar², Sharina Omar³ and Rozaihan Mansor^{1*}

¹Department of Large and Exotic Animals Medicine and Surgery, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

²Department of Veterinary Pre-Clinical Science, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

³Department of Veterinary Pathology and Microbiology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Mastitis is one of the diseases that cause economic losses worldwide due to the reduction in milk yield and the high treatment costs in dairy buffaloes. Although antibiotics are the mainstay treatment for this disease, the overuse of antibiotics has resulted in the emergence of antimicrobial resistance in animals and humans. Hence, this study aims to review and assess the available literature on bubaline mastitis in Asia. The prevalence of subclinical mastitis was higher in dairy buffaloes than in clinical mastitis, especially in Pakistan. Bubaline mastitis was commonly detected using the California mastitis test, surf field mastitis test, somatic cell count, and bacterial culture. In Asia, farm management and host factors were the primary causes of bubaline mastitis risk factors. Mastitis in buffaloes caused alterations in milk composition, such as increasing lactose levels, somatic cell count, and the presence of bacteria in the milk. However, protein, fat, and solid non-

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 04 October 2022 Accepted: 14 December 2022 Published: 12 April 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.11

E-mail addresses:

gs58466@student.upm.edu.my (Nor'Amira Mohd Amin) zuki@upm.edu.my (Md Zuki Abu Bakar) sharina@upm.edu.my (Sharina Omar) rozaihan@upm.edu.my (Rozaihan Mansor) * Corresponding author fat level variations were also affected by other factors such as the stage of lactation, breed, and age. The most prevalent isolated bacteria in bubaline mastitis milk samples were coagulase-negative staphylococci, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Streptococcus* spp., and *Escherichia coli*. Most showed high resistance toward penicillin, amoxicillin, ampicillin, and streptomycin. The

ISSN: 1511-3701 e-ISSN: 2231-8542

© Universiti Putra Malaysia Press

antimicrobial susceptibility of causative agents in Asia varies depending on the usage of common antibiotics to treat bubaline mastitis in each country. This review will help to understand bubaline mastitis better, although studies are limited in many Asian countries.

Keywords: Antimicrobial resistance, Asia, bubaline mastitis, buffalo, epidemiology, milk composition

INTRODUCTION

Mastitis is the inflammation and infection of the udders area, a global issue in the dairy buffaloes farming industry. Mastitis is classified as either subclinical mastitis (SCM) or clinical mastitis (CM). The risk factors of bubaline mastitis include milking practices, farm and milk management, age, number of parity, stage of lactation, udder and leg hygiene, and teat end morphology of dairy buffaloes (Salvador et al., 2012). Common mastitis treatments in dairy animals are streptomycin, ampicillin, cloxacillin, penicillin, and tetracycline (Bhosale et al., 2014). The consequences of mastitis in dairy animals included a reduction of milk yield, an increase in the spread of mastitis within the herd, high treatment costs, and high economic losses (Fareed et al., 2017; Fetrow, 2000; Jingar et al., 2017).

Although mastitis can be treated with antibiotics, the misuse and overuse of antibiotics can lead to another serious issue: antimicrobial resistance (AMR). The common causative agents of AMR in bubaline mastitis are *Staphylococcus* spp. (36.04%), *Enterococcus* spp. (19.52%), *Escherichia coli* (9.26%), and *Streptococcus* spp. (4.39%) (Patel et al., 2019). The consequences of AMR in mastitis are harmful to animals and humans due to the causative pathogens resistant to antibiotic treatment, increased mortality, high cost of treatment, and high economic losses.

The buffaloes are considered to be less susceptible to mastitis than cows (Fagiolo & Lai, 2007). However, once the buffaloes are infected, the causative pathogens can multiply rapidly due to the high nutrient content in buffalo milk. Buffaloes have tighter teat sphincters, which is one of the reasons the occurrence of mastitis in buffaloes is lower than in bovine mastitis, as well as contributes to a better barrier to pathogens invasion (Krishnaswamy et al., 1965), and the mucin-1 (MUC1) gene that mainly to protect the cell surface from the environment pathogens (da Rosa et al., 2020). Since the occurrence of mastitis in buffaloes is lower than in bovine mastitis, the information about the risk factors, milk composition changes, occurrence, and antimicrobial susceptibility of mastitis in dairy buffaloes, especially in Asian countries, is very limited.

For this review, the main objective was to review and assess available literature on the epidemiology, milk composition changes, and antimicrobial susceptibility of causative agents of bubaline mastitis in Asia.

Dairy Industry

The dairy industry consists of dairy farming and the processing industry. Dairy farming is an agricultural class of animal husbandry that involves long-term milk production, mainly from cows and followed by buffaloes, goats, sheep, and camels. Cows, buffaloes, goats, sheep, and camels are the important dairy animals that contributed 81.05, 15.14, 2.25, 1.20, and 0.35%, respectively, to the world milk production in 2019 (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations [FAO], n.d.).

Due to the high consumption of dairy products, especially cheese, there is still insufficient supply to satisfy the world's demand for dairy products, despite increases in milk production, dairy product

Table 1World dairy buffaloes population and milk productionin 2019

	Population of	Production
Countries	dairy buffaloes	of milk
	(heads)	(tonnes)
Total (World)	69,924,520	133,752,296
Total (Asia)	68,328,457	131,363,080
Bangladesh	90,934	35,790
Bhutan	261	261
Brunei	178	183
China	5,818,607	2,928,369
(Mainland)		
Georgia	10,177	6,180
India	45,000,000	92,000,000
Indonesia	117,441	85,474
Iran	45,000	128,000
Iraq	59,738	35,981
Malaysia	5,555	7,691
Myanmar	458,523	204,750
Nepal	1,560,584	1,372,905
Pakistan	14,959,000	34,371,000
Sri Lanka	91,790	73,566
Syria	3,940	6,378
Turkey	79,333	79,341
Vietnam	27,396	27,211

manufacture, and the number of dairy animals. India and Pakistan are expected to contribute to milk production in the world over the next ten years, which includes milk production from cows and buffaloes (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development/Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations [OECD/ FAO], 2020).

India and Pakistan have produced more milk from buffaloes than cows (FAO, n.d.). Buffaloes are the second-highest milk producer in the world, producing approximately 133,752,296 tonnes of milk, and have the fourth-highest dairy animal population in the world, with about 69,924,520 heads. A total of 98.21% of buffalo milk is produced in Asia countries, especially in India (70.03%) and Pakistan (26.16%). The world and Asia countries' dairy buffalo population and milk production in 2019 are shown in Table 1 (FAO, n.d.).

Buffaloes

Buffaloes can be categorized into river and swamp buffaloes. Both are used as human food sources such as meat and milk, byproducts such as hide, fertilizer, and draught power (Deb et al., 2016), and river buffaloes produce more milk than swamp buffaloes, which each produce 1,800 to 2,000 kg per lactation and 500 to 800 kg per lactation, respectively (Borghese, 2011; Nanda & Nakao, 2003). The breeds of Asian swamp buffalo (Moioli & Borghese, 2005; Mokhber et al., 2018; Mukesh et al., 2009; Sethi, 2003) are listed in Table 2. Based on Table 2, the common breeds of river buffalo are

Table 2			
Buffalo	breed	in	Asia

Breed	Countries	Milk yield (kg/lactation)	Milk fat (%)
Sambalpuri	India	2,200–2,400	-
Kundi	Pakistan	2,000	7.0
Jafarabadi	India	1,800-2,700	8.5
Meshana	India	1,800-2,700	6.6-8.1
Murrah	India (common in Asian countries)	1,800-2,000	7.2
Nili Ravi	Pakistan, India (common in Asian countries)	1,800-2,000	6.5
Pandharpuri	India	1,502	-
Surti	India	1,300-2,090	6.6-8.1
Kuzestani	Iran, Iraq	1,300-1,865	6.6
Azeri	Iran, Azerbaijan	1,200-1,300	6.6
Paralakhemudi	India	1,200	-
Anatolian	Turkey	700-1,000	4.2–4.6
Bhadawari	India	780-1,150	7.2
Lime	Nepal	875	7.0
Parkote	Nepal	875	7.0

Murrah and Nili Ravi due to their high milk yields and high-fat content in milk (Siddiky & Faruque, 2017; Zhou et al., 2018).

Buffaloes can be readily acclimatized to varied climates and reared in Southeast Asian countries with hot and humid climates (Ayalew & Taye, 2004). They are known to be less prone to disease than cows and have better productivity with a high milk yield (Siddiky & Faruque, 2017). Buffalo's milk contains low water content and cholesterol levels as well as high total solids, lactose, proteins, and fat content, which are suitable for producing fat-based and solid non-fat (SNF) based dairy products such as cheese, butter, and ghee (Fundora et al., 2001).

Mastitis and the Effect of Bubaline Mastitis on the Dairy Industry

Dairy animal diseases can affect milk production in the dairy industry. Mastitis

is one of the major economic diseases in dairy animals worldwide. The repercussions of mastitis in the dairy industry can be decreased milk quality and yield, high treatment costs and veterinary services, discarded milk, and milk withholding times, leading to economic losses in the dairy industry. One previous study on economic losses due to mastitis in Pakistan (2015) stated that the total daily cost of milk losses and mastitis treatment for dairy cows is \$8.02 and \$26.31, respectively (Fareed et al., 2017). India (2011) and the United States (US) (2009) reported that the annual economic losses on dairy cows were \$47.14 and \$2 billion, respectively (Jingar et al., 2017; Viguier et al., 2009). Due to a lower incidence of mastitis among buffaloes in India, the total loss in buffaloes (\$18.77) was lower than in cows (\$21.23) (Jingar et al., 2017).

Mastitis is a mammary gland or udder inflammation caused by several diverse pathogens, including bacteria, fungi, viruses, and others (Dalanezi et al., 2020). Pathogen invasion on the udder is followed by pathogen multiplication and the production of harmful substances, resulting in inflammation, decreased milk production, and altered milk quality (Oliver & Calvinho, 1995). Based on the clinical examination of dairy cattle for mastitis symptoms such as redness and swelling of the udders, altered milk consistency, and appearance; reduced milk production; lack of appetite, and fever, clinical mastitis can be characterized (Harmon, 1994). It is readily visible and easy to detect. In comparison, subclinical mastitis is difficult to distinguish from CM because there are no visible symptoms on the udder or milk. However, the number of somatic cells increases, and milk production diminishes, usually diagnosed based on somatic cell counts and inflammatory markers in milk (Schukken et al., 2003; Varshney & Mukherjee, 2002).

Prevalence and Detection of Bubaline Mastitis

Several methods that can be used to detect bubaline mastitis include the California mastitis test (CMT), surf field mastitis test (SFMT), white side test (WST), somatic cell count (SCC), electrical conductivity (EC), bromothymol blue (BTB), N-acetyl glucosaminidase (NAGase), and bacteria culture (BC). Combining CMT and SCC to detect mastitis in dairy animals is the best method than SCC, CMT, WST, and SFMT alone because the result is more precise and accurate (Hoque et al., 2014). SFMT was suggested as a cheaper and more user-friendly method for poor countries to use as SCM diagnostic test (Akhtar et al., 2012). BC is a gold standard in the detection method for determining the prevalence of causative pathogens in bubaline mastitis (Anirban et al., 2012). However, BTB and NAGase are rarely used to detect mastitis in dairy animals. These methods can be used for early diagnosis and prevention of SCM in dairy animals, which can prevent mastitis infection, boost milk quality and quantity, and prevent economic losses in the future (Panchal et al., 2016).

The prevalence of bubaline mastitis in Asia (2005 to 2021) is listed in Table 3. In Asia, the prevalence range of animal-based SCM and CM varies between 36.38 and 77.98% and between 10.20 and 24.60%, respectively. Meanwhile, the prevalence ranges for quarter-based SCM and CM are 9.77 to 64% and 2.81 to 9.33%, respectively. The prevalence of SCM was higher in dairy buffaloes than in CM, especially in Pakistan (Ashfaq & Muhammad, 2008). However, the prevalence of bubaline mastitis in Asia varies due to risk factors such as animal breed, lactation stage, immunological response, season, temperature, detection methods, and management practices, including poor environmental hygiene, improper hygiene, improper milking handling, and milking method (Aliul et al., 2020; Eberhart, 1986; Jingar et al., 2014; Kavitha et al., 2009; M. Z. Khan & Khan, 2006; R. Hussain et al., 2013; Salvador et al., 2012; Tapdasan et al., 2018).

Nor'Amira Mohd Amin, Md Zuki Abu Bakar, Sharina Omar and Rozaihan Mansor

Table 3

Prevalence and detection of bubaline mastitis in Asia (2005 to 2021)

Countries	Prevalence	Methodology	Sample size	Reference
Bangladesh	Animal-wise SCM: 56.66% (17/30 buffaloes) Quarter-wise SCM: CMT: 32.50% (39/120 milk	CMT, WST, SFMT	30 buffaloes, 120 milk samples	Kisku and Samad (2013)
	samples) WST: 29.16% (35/120 milk samples) SFMT: 26.66% (32/120 milk samples)			
	SCM: 70% (21/30)	CMT	30 buffaloes	Talukder et al. (2013)
	SCM: 20% (14/70 buffaloes)	CMT	70 buffaloes	Biswas et al. (2020)
India	SCM: 32.90% (1878/5707 milk samples) CM: 18.74% (1070/5707 milk samples)	BC	2,057 buffaloes, 5,707 milk samples	Sharma and Sindhu (2007)
	Animal-wise SCM: CMT: 14.03% (8/57 buffaloes) EC: 10.53% (6/57 buffaloes) SCC: 12.28% (7/57 buffaloes) BC: 15.78% (9/57 buffaloes)	CMT, EC, SCC, BC	57 buffaloes, 228 milk samples	Neelesh et al. (2009)
	SCM: 13.60% (17/125 buffaloes) CM: 3.10% (31/1000 milk samples)	SCC, CMT	125 buffaloes, 1,000 milk samples	Kavitha et al. (2009)
	78.10% (1883/2411 milk samples)	CMT	2,411 milk samples	Bhanot et al. (2012)
	Animal-wise SCM: BC: 28.78% (19/66) SCC: 13.63% (9/66) Quarter-wise SCM: BC: 18.30% (48/262) SCC: 7.25% (19/262)	BC, SCC	66 buffaloes, 262 milk samples	Charaya et al. (2013)
	CM: 47.83% (22/46 milk samples)	CMT	46 milk samples	Sagi (2014)
	SCM: SCC: 48.40% EC: 40% CMT: 45.80% BTB: 61.10% NAGase: 61.60%	SCC, EC, CMT, BTB, NAGase	57 buffaloes, 190 milk samples	Preethirani et al. (2015)
	20% (48/240)	CMT, BC	240 milk samples	Maurya and Joshi (2021)
Iran	SCM: CMT: 34.82% (70/201 milk samples) SCC: 45.77% (92/201 milk samples)	CMT, SCC	51 buffaloes, 201 milk samples	Beheshti et al. (2011)

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 541 - 570 (2023)

Bubaline Mastitis in Asia

Table 3 (continue)

untries Prevalence Animal-wise SC	ble size Reference
Animal-wise SC	(0.1 TT 1.1 (0.0.1.4)
(71/300 buffaloe	uffaloes, Vajdi et al. (2011) 0 milk
Quarter-wise SC (166/1200)	nples
Iraq CM: 36.25% (29	ctating Al-saadi and Alshakh Caloes (2015)
CM: 12% (12/10 samples) SCM: 24% (24/ samples)	aloes, 100 Wahid et al. (2017) samples
urkey SCC: SCM: 9.77% (10 samples) CM: 2.81% (46/ samples) CMT (CM and S (206/1637 milk	7 milk Özenç et al. (2008) nples
Nepal SCM: 6.48% (2) buffaloes) CM: 93.52% (3) buffaloes)	uffaloes Dhakal et al. (2007)
55.15% (75/136	uffaloes Ng et al. (2010)
lippines 24.22% (93/384	uffaloes Badua et al. (2020)
kistan SCM: 27% (54/2 samples) CM: 4% (8/200	aloes, 200 Z. Khan and samples Muhammad (2005)
Animal-wise SC (234/300 buffalc Quarter-wise SC 58.75% (705/12 samples)	affaloes, Bachaya et al. (2005)) milk aples
Quarter-wise CM: 9.33% (7/7 samples) SCM: 64% (48/ samples)	samples Ashfaq and Muhammad (2008)
SCM: 44% (264 buffaloes)	uffaloes M. A. Ali et al. (2011)
Animal-wise: SCM: 36.38% (buffaloes) CM: 24.60% (94 buffaloes) Quarter-wise: SCM: 16.04% (2 samples) CM: 8.04% (122)	affaloes, Hameed et al. (2012) 8 milk aples
SCM: 44% (264 buffaloes) Animal-wise: SCM: 36.38% (1 buffaloes) CM: 24.60% (94 buffaloes) Quarter-wise: SCM: 16.04% (12 samples) CM: 8.04% (12) samples)	uffaloes M. A. A Iffaloes, Hamee 8 milk nples

Nor'Amira Mohd Amin, Md Zuki Abu Bakar, Sharina Omar and Rozaihan Mansor

Table 3	(continue)
I u o i o o	(commuc)

Countries	Prevalence	Methodology	Sample size	Reference
	SCM: 18.46% (240/1300 milk samples) CM: 4.62% (60/1300 milk samples)	SFMT	1,300 milk samples	A. Hussain et al. (2013)
	SCM: 41.80% (163/390 buffaloes) CM: 13.60% (53/390 buffaloes)	СМТ	390 buffaloes	T. Ali et al. (2014)
	SCM: 38.80% (402/1036 buffaloes) CM: 10.20% (106/1036 buffaloes)	СМТ	1,036 buffaloes	A. Hussain et al. (2018)

Note. SCM = Subclinical mastitis; CM = Clinical mastitis; CMT = California mastitis test; SFMT = Surf field mastitis test; WST = White side test; SCC = Somatic cell count; EC = Electrical conductivity; BTB = Bromothymol blue; NAGase = N-acetyl glucosaminidase; BC = Bacteria culture

One previous study about the prevalence of bovine and bubaline mastitis stated that the prevalence of bubaline mastitis is lower than bovine mastitis because the buffaloes have a tighter teat sphincter that provides a better barrier to the invasion of causative pathogens (Krishnaswamy et al., 1965), a longer teat and teat canal than cows so that pathogens must travel further through the teat to establish the infection within the mammary gland (Thomas, 2004), and the *MUC1* gene that mainly to protect the cell surface from the environmental pathogens (da Rosa et al., 2020).

Causative Agents of Bubaline Mastitis

There are several methods, such as BC, polymerase chain reaction (PCR), and metagenomics pyrosequencing, are utilized to detect the causative pathogens of bubaline mastitis (SCM and CM) (Patel et al., 2019; Preethirani et al., 2015). Using BC, bacteria are detected based on the morphology and biochemical tests, consequently allowing antibiotic susceptibility testing. At the same time, PCR utilizes primers to detect the conserved DNA sequences of bacterial genes that encode ribosomal RNA (Järvinen et al., 2009). PCR can also detect all genotypic resistance and underlying genetic mechanisms. The advantage of PCR is simple, less time-consuming (it can take less than 24 hr to complete compared to BC), and a less expensive method for processing milk samples (Abd El-Razik et al., 2010).

Metagenomics pyrosequencing of 16rDNA was performed to characterize the bacterial communities associated with milk samples from healthy, CM, and SCM in buffaloes. Quantitative Insights into Microbial Ecology (QIIME) analyzed the obtained sequencing data (Caporaso et al., 2010), whereas Paleontological Statistics (PAST) was used for statistical analysis (Hammer et al., 2001). Pyrosequencing produced 47.3 million base pairs reads (Patel et al., 2019). Phylogenetic profiles using the ribosomal database resulted in the

different genus-level prevalence of bacterial communities in healthy, CM, and SCM samples. Healthy samples are prevalent with Lactobacillus, Paenibacillus, and Pseudomonas; CM samples are prevalent with Staphylococcus, Enterococcus, Escherichia, and Streptococcus; and SCM samples are prevalent with Staphylococcus, Ralstonia, Enterococcus, and Bacillus (Patel et al., 2019). Genomic pyrosequencing can detect highly diverse and complex bacterial communities in three milk samples simultaneously. However, the bacterial communities included causative bacteria and non-causative bacteria. In the future. it can contribute to an increase in general insights into the pathogenesis of bubaline mastitis, which can lead to improved diagnostics (Patel et al., 2019).

The prevalence of causative pathogens of bubaline mastitis in Asia is listed in Table 4. The causative pathogens of bubaline mastitis can be divided into two types: contagious pathogens such as Staphylococcus aureus and Streptococcus agalactiae, and environmental pathogens such as Streptococcus uberis, Streptococcus dysgalactiae, Escherichia coli, Klebsiella pneumonia, and Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Environmental pathogens are present in feces, bedding surfaces, milking equipment, and milkers' hands (Fagiolo & Lai, 2007). However, Streptococcus agalactiae can be either contagious or environmental pathogens. The common causative pathogens in bubaline mastitis are Staphylococcus spp. including S. aureus and coagulase-negative staphylococci (CNS), including (Staphylococcus albus, Staphylococcus epidermidis, Staphylococcus simulans, Staphylococcus hyicus, Staphylococcus lentus, Staphylococcus xylosus, Staphylococcus *hominis*, and *Staphylococcus intermedius*); Streptococcus spp. including S. agalactiea, S. dysgalactiae, S. uberis, and Streptococcus mitis; Escherichia spp. such as E. coli; and Entrococcus spp.

Table 4

Countries	Prevalence	Methodology	Total of isolated bacteria	References
Bangladesh	Single infection: Staphylococcus spp. (30.77%) Streptococcus spp. (20.51%) Bacillus spp. (15.39%) Escherichia coli (12.82%) Mixed infection (12.82%) Unclassified bacterial growth (7.69%)	BC	39 isolated bacteria	Kisku and Samad (2013)
	Staphylococcus spp. (50%) Escherichia coli (28.57%) Enterobacter (14.29%) Bacillus spp. (4.76%) Proteus spp. (2.38%)	BC	42 isolated bacteria	Talukder et al. (2013)

Prevalence of causative pathogens of bubaline mastitis in Asia

Nor'Amira Mohd Amin, Md Zuki Abu Bakar, Sharina Omar and Rozaihan Mansor

Table 4 (continue)

Countries	Prevalence	Methodology	Total of isolated bacteria	References
	Bacteria culture: Staphylococcus aureus (44.83%) Escherichia coli (31.03%) Bacillus spp. (13.79%) Streptococcus spp. (10.34%) PCR: Staphylococcus aureus Escherichia coli	BC, PCR	29 isolated bacteria	Biswas et al. (2020)
Turkey	Candida spp. (41.91%) CNS (20.59%) Staphylococcus aureus (16.91%) Penicillium spp. (2.21%) Bacillus spp. (1.47%) Mixed infections (16.91%)	BC	136 isolated bacteria	Özenç et al. (2008)
India	Staphylococcus spp. (coagulase positive) (30%) Escherichia coli (18.75%) Coagulase-negative staphylococci (17.50%) Streptococcus agalactiae (7.50%) Corynebacterium pyogenes (6.25%) Klebsiella pneumonie (6.25%) Corynebacterium bovis (5%) Bacillus cereus (5%) Pseudomonas aeruginosa (3.75%)	BC	80 isolated bacteria	Das and Joseph (2005)
	Staphylococcus spp. (38.81%)Streptococcus spp. (32.40%)Escherichia coli (11.80%)Corynebacterium spp. (5.20%)Bacillus spp. (1.36%)Klebsiella spp. (2.03%)Pseudomonas aeruginosa (0.78%)Proteus (0.14%)Mixed infections (7.33%)	BC	3,447 isolated bacteria	Sharma and Sindhu (2007)
	Staphylococcus spp. (20.11%) Staphylococcus aureus (11.73%) Escherichia coli (16.76%) Streptococcus spp. (11.17%) Streptococcus dysgalactiae (5.03%) Streptococcus uberis (3.91%) Streptococcus agalactiae (2.23%) Mixed infections (29.05%)	PCR, BC	179 isolated bacteria	Kumar (2009)
	Staphylococcus spp. (43.60%) Streptococcus spp. (21.80%) Escherichia coli (16.3%) Klebsiella spp. (5.40%)	BC	-	Bhanot et al. (2012)

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 541 - 570 (2023)

Bubaline Mastitis in Asia

Table 4 (continue)

Countries	Prevalence	Methodology	Total of isolated bacteria	References
	Corynebacterium pyogenes (5.40%) Pseudomonas aeruginosa (3.60%) Bacillus spp. (3.60%)			
	Staphylococcus spp. (64%) Streptococcus spp. (36%)	BC	50 isolated bacteria	Charaya et al. (2013)
	Coagulase-negative staphylococci (64.80%) Streptococcus spp. (18.10%) Escherichia coli (9.80%) Staphylococcus aureus (7.30%)	BC, Monoplex PCR, multiplex PCR	195 isolated bacteria	Preethirani et al. (2015)
	Staphylococcus spp. (51.16%) Streptococcus spp. (37.94%) Escherichia coli (8.41%) Corynebacterium pyogenes (1.62%) Pseudomonas aeruginosa (0.46%) Klebsiella (0.19%) Mixed infections (10.38%)	BC	2,580 isolated bacteria	Sharma et al. (2018)
	CM causative pathogens: Staphylococcus (25.95%) Enterococcus (10.80%) Escherichia (8.88%) Streptococcus (3.97%) SCM causative pathogens: Lactococcus (23.96%) Staphylococcus (10.09%) Ralstonia (12.72%) Enterococcus (8.72%) Bacillus (4.29%)	Metagenomic pyrosequencing	-	Patel et al. (2019)
	Escherichia coli (29.17%) Staphylococcus aureus (54.17%)	BC	48 isolated bacteria	Maurya and Joshi (2021)
Iran	Staphylococcus spp. (48.55%) CNS (36.18%) Staphylococcus aureus (14%) Lactobacillus (14%) Corynebacterium bovis (8%) Bacillus subtilis (7%)	BC	173 isolated bacteria	Beheshti et al. (2011)
	CNS (38.24%) Corynebacterium bovis (11.75%) Bacillus subtilis (11.75%) Streptococcus agalactiae (5.87%) Staphylococcus aureus (2.95%) Mixed infections (29.41%)	BC	34 isolated bacteria	Vajdi et al. (2011)
	CNS (66.08%) Staphylococcus aureus (33.91%)	BC, PCR	171 isolated bacteria	Ahmadi et al. (2020)

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 541 - 570 (2023)

Nor'Amira Mohd Amin, Md Zuki Abu Bakar, Sharina Omar and Rozaihan Mansor

Table 4 (continue)

Countries	Prevalence	Methodology	Total of isolated bacteria	References
Iraq	Escherichia coli (27.78%)	BC	36 isolated bacteria	Wahid et al. (2017)
Nepal	CNS (36.96%) <i>Micrococcus</i> (21.74%) <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> (20.65%) <i>Clostridium</i> spp. (8.69%) <i>Bacillus subtillis</i> (7.61%) <i>Escherichia coli</i> (5.43%) <i>Klebsiella pneumonia</i> (2.17%) <i>Providencia</i> spp. (2.17%) <i>Pseudomonas</i> spp. (2.17%) <i>Streptococcus mitis</i> (1.09%) <i>Corynebacterium diphtheria</i> (1.09%) Mixed infections (4.35%)	BC	92 isolated bacteria	Dhakal et al. (2007)
	CNS (35.70%) <i>Micrococcus</i> (23.20%) <i>Clostridium</i> spp. (10.70%) <i>Bacillus subtillis</i> (8.90%) <i>Escherichia coli</i> (7.10%) <i>Klebsiella pneumonia</i> (3.60%) <i>Providencia</i> spp. (3.60%) <i>Pseudomonas</i> spp. (3.60%) Mixed infections (3.60%)	BC	56 isolated bacteria	Dhakal and Nagahata (2018)
Pakistan	Staphylococcus aureus (45.16%) Streptococcus agalactiae (22.58%) Escherichia coli (17.74%) Bacillus spp. (14.52%)	BC	62 isolated bacteria	A. Z. Khan and Muhammad (2005)
	Staphylococcus aureus (44%) Streptococcus agalactiae (22%) Escherichia coli (16%) Bacillus spp. (4%) Mixed growth (14%)	BC	50 isolated bacteria	Kisku and Samad (2013)
	Staphylococcus aureus (48.08%) Streptococcus agalactiae (21.15%) CNS (13.45%) Corynebacterial spp. (3.9%) Undifferentiable (nontypable) Coagulase-negative staphylococci (3.8%) Bacillus spp. (3.8%) Staphylococcus hominis (1.92%) Escherichia coli (1.9%)	BC	52 isolated bacteria	Ashfaq and Muhammad (2008)
	Staphylococci (28.32%) Escherichia coli (16.18%) Pseudomonas (13.29%)	BC	364 isolated bacteria	M. A. Ali et al. (2011)

Bubaline Mastitis in Asia

Countries	Prevalence	Methodology	Total of isolated bacteria	References
	Bacillus (12.42%)			
	Streptococci (7.51%)			
	Salmonellae (7.22%)			
	Corynebacterium (6.64%)			
	Klebsiella (5.20%)			
	Enterococci (3.17%)			
	CNS (61.67%)	BC	180 isolated	A. Hussain e
	Staphylococcus aureus (38.33%)		bacteria	al. (2013)
Philippines	Staphylococcus aureus (41.94%)	BC	93 isolated bacteria	Badua et al. (2020)

Table 4 (continue)

Risk Factors of Bubaline Mastitis

In Asia, the risk factors of bubaline mastitis can be divided into 3 main categories, which are climatic and seasonal, host, and management. In countries with hot and humid climates, such as Southeast Asia, the prevalence of bubaline mastitis is higher than in countries with cold and humid and hot and dry climates, especially in the rainy season. In temperate countries, the prevalence of bubaline mastitis is higher in winter than in other seasons due to the low temperature-humidity index (THI)associated with cold stress during the night as the buffaloes are in loose housing systems (Aliul et al., 2020; Jingar et al., 2014).

The host factor consists of animal age, breed, number of parities, stage of lactation, the shape of udders, teat end morphology, teat and udder lesion, leakage from the teats, and position of quarters. The prevalence of bubaline mastitis is higher in buffalo aged 7 to 18 than in those aged 3 to 6 due to the structural changes in the udder and teats and the gradual suppression of the buffalo immune system (Tapdasan et al., 2018). The prevalence of bubaline mastitis is higher in crossbred buffalo than in indigenous breed buffaloes, as the crossbred buffaloes can produce more milk (Tapdasan et al., 2018). Buffaloes with more than 4 parities had a higher chance of getting infected with mastitis than buffaloes with less than 3 parities (Kavitha et al., 2009; T. Ali et al., 2014). The prevalence of bubaline mastitis in the early lactation stage (14 to 100 days) is higher than in the late lactation stage (more than 200 days) and the mid-lactation stage (100 to 200 days) due to a gradual increase in milk production (Kavitha et al., 2009; T. Ali et al., 2014; Tapdasan et al., 2018).

It will lead to physiological stress in newly calved buffalo, with various contaminations of causative pathogens of mastitis during parturition. The prevalence of bubaline mastitis is higher in buffaloes with bowl- or round-shaped udders than cup shape udders and higher in cylindrical and round teat ends than pointed teat ends (R. Hussain et al., 2013). The presence of teat and udder lesions leads to a high prevalence of bubaline mastitis because the causative pathogens enter easily through the teat canal. The prevalence of bubaline mastitis is also high in the presence of leakage from the teats due to incomplete milk removal in the udders after milking. It is important to completely remove the milk from the udder to decrease the bubaline mastitis prevalence (R. Hussain et al., 2013). The hind-quarters are more easily infected with bubaline mastitis than the fore-quarters because the hind-quarters have greater chances of getting soiled with tail and urine (Kavitha et al., 2009; R. Hussain et al., 2013; Salvador et al., 2012; T. Ali et al., 2014).

Management factors for bubaline mastitis include herd size, type of bedding, cleanliness of the farm, milking method, milking hygiene practices, history of the postparturient disease, as well as dry cow management and antibiotic therapy (Biswas et al., 2020; Kaur et al., 2015; T. Ali et al., 2014). Due to the differences in the farm management systems, bubaline mastitis is higher in big herds than in medium or small herds (Aliul et al., 2020). The prevalence of bubaline mastitis in freerange feeding areas is higher than in stallfeeding areas (Aliul et al., 2020), and there is a higher prevalence for buffaloes raised on the floor without bedding compared to concrete and sand flooring (Hameed et al., 2012; Kavitha et al., 2009). It is due to the close contact of the buffaloes with pathogens from the environment. The poor condition and cleanliness of the farm also lead to contaminated environments with increased exposure to causative pathogens of bubaline mastitis (Biswas et al., 2020; T. Ali et al., 2014). The hand milking method, including full hand, knuckling, and stripping, contributed to a high prevalence of bubaline mastitis rather than machine milking (Kaur et al., 2015; Kavitha et al., 2009; T. Ali et al., 2014). The milking method is closely related to milking hygiene practices themselves. Improper milking handling and cleaning of milking equipment, as well as poor milker hygiene habits, also cause a higher prevalence of bubaline mastitis (Biswas et al., 2020; Sharif & Ahmad, 2007) due to the transmission of causative pathogens from equipment and humans to buffaloes and from buffaloes to humans through the milk. Post antiseptic teat dipping, cleaning the milking equipment and milker hand with hot water and detergent, and drying it before milking can help to prevent and reduce bubaline mastitis (Aliul et al., 2020; M. Z. Khan & Khan, 2006; Rathva et al., 2019; Sah et al., 2020). However, the knowledge of good milking practices, such as postantiseptic teat dipping in Asia countries, is very poor and limited. The presence of dry cow management and antibiotic therapy can reduce bubaline mastitis prevalence by eliminating 70% of environmental causative pathogens such as Streptococcus spp. (Eberhart, 1986; M. Z. Khan & Khan, 2006).

Milk Composition Changes in Bubaline Mastitis

Bubaline mastitis causes a reduction in milk quantity and alteration in milk composition, such as increased lactose levels, somatic cell count, and bacteria in the milk. Variations in protein level, fat level, and solid non-fat level were also affected by other factors such as stage of lactation, breed, and age. Some studies found that mastitis in buffaloes changes milk composition, especially in protein, lactose, fat, and SNF (M. Singh et al.,2017; R. Hussain et al., 2012; Swami et al., 2017; Uallah et al., 2005). Low lactose concentration is due to the lactose efflux from milk to blood, and increased tissue permeability between the udder milk duct and blood results in blood components leakage into the udder and milk composition changes (Sharif et al., 2007). One previous study done on the difference in mineral and traces element profiles in milk between healthy buffaloes and buffaloes infected with SCM stated that there is an increase in sodium (Na) and chloride (Cl) content and a decrease in protein, fat, and zinc (Zn), iron (Fe), potassium (K), calcium (Ca), and selenium (Se) content. The value of protein, fat, Zn, Fe, Na, K, Ca, Cl, and Se in healthy buffaloes and buffaloes infected with SCM are listed in Table 5 (M. Singh et al., 2017). Fat percentage decrease in

bubaline mastitis due to an increase in lipolysis rate. Na, Cl, and K decrease due to intramammary infection (IMI) response, causing the breakdown of ductal cells and secretory epithelium. Ca decreases due to the unbalanced permeability of calcium transport from milk to blood and the disruption of a junctional complex of mammary epithelium by udder pathogens (Aslam & Tucker, 1998). The IMI causes an increase in somatic cells, which leads to changes in milk's mineral and trace element profile, as well as oxidative stress due to free radical production and reactive oxygen that leads to mammary gland damage (K. V. Singh et al., 2017).

Treatment and Prevention for Bubaline Mastitis

The common treatment for bubaline mastitis is β -lactam antibiotics such as penicillin, tetracycline, streptomycin, ampicillin, and cloxacillin (Bhosale et al., 2014; Preethirani et al., 2015), and dry antibiotic therapy are enrofloxacin and oxytetracycline (Kashif et al., 2013). Both have a high cure rate

Table 5	,
---------	---

Nutritional val	ue between	healthy	buffaloes	and	buffal	oes inf	ected	with w	SCM
-----------------	------------	---------	-----------	-----	--------	---------	-------	--------	-----

Nutritional value	Healthy buffaloes	Buffaloes infected with SCM
Protein	4.44±0.10%	3.65±0.08%
Fat	$7.08 {\pm} 0.14\%$	6.38±0.24%
Zn	5.96±1.44 mg/L	4.22±0.69 mg/L
Fe	6.99±1.37 mg/L	4.97±0.76 mg/L
Na	450±52 mg/L	606±152 mg/L
K	1063±90 mg/L	856±156mg/L
Ca	566±90 mg/L	475±77 mg/L
Cl	616±47 mg/L	828±113 mg/L
Se	0.22±0.04 mg/L	0.14±0.06 mg/L

of 91.67 and 70%, respectively (Kashif et al., 2013), administered intramammary to eliminate the existing IMI and prevent the new IMI. In return, dry therapy helps to control mastitis (Kashif et al., 2013). Another study was done on non-antibiotic and non-proprietary formulations containing trisodium citrate, vitamin C, zinc sulfate, and copper sulfate, which were equivalently effective in treating CM compared to antibiotic treatment with cure rates were 70.21 and 72.09%, respectively (Manzoor et al., 2020).

The prevention of bubaline mastitis is by introducing the latest technologies for mastitis diagnosis and implementing good milking hygiene and practice guidelines provided by National Mastitis Council (NMC) to the farmers. The mastitis-field test kit, such as CMT, SFMT, and WST, can be introduced to the farmers, which can help in the early detection of bubaline mastitis. One example of milking hygiene and practice guidelines are washing their hands with water and soap and drying them properly, washing the teats and udder of dairy animals with sanitizing solution and drying it with paper towels or individual towels, using the chlorhexidine gluconate to clean the udders, dipping the teats using germicidal teat dip solution to provide a protective germicidal barrier film on teats skin before and after milking, drying and wiping off the excess germicidal teat dip solution on the teat with paper towels or individual towels, wipe the end teat with a soaked cotton swab of 70% alcohol to kill the pathogens, and always start to cleaning

the farthest teat to the nearest teat from the milkers to prevent contamination at the teat ends (A. Singh & Ramachandran, 2020; NMC, n.d.). The importance of knowledge of good milking hygiene and practices guidelines can benefit the farmers, such as reducing mastitis occurrence on farms and increasing milk yield and quality (Sah et al., 2020).

Antimicrobial Resistance (AMR) and the Impact of AMR on the Buffalo Dairy Industry

To control mastitis in dairy animals, antibiotics treatment is commonly used. It has raised another global concern on AMR due to the overuse and misuse of antibiotics, inadequate infection prevention and control measures, and lack of surveillance and monitoring. The development of AMR reduces the effectiveness of existing treatments, with the need to develop new antibiotics. The development of AMR in dairy animals leads to high potential resistant infections to humans, high pressure in the antimicrobial selection, high mortality in dairy animals, and high economic losses (Loo et al., 2019).

The World Health Assembly of the World Health Organization (WHO) endorsed a global action plan to tackle AMR in May 2015. The global action plan on AMR has five strategic objectives, including improving awareness and understanding of antimicrobial resistance through effective communication, education, and training; strengthening the knowledge and evidence base through surveillance and research; reducing the incidence of infection through effective sanitation, hygiene, and infection prevention measures; to optimize the use of antimicrobial medicines in human and animal health; and to develop the economic case for sustainable investment that takes account of the needs of all countries and increase investment in new medicines, diagnostic tools, vaccines, and other interventions. All countries are expected to develop national action plans on AMR (WHO, 2015).

Antimicrobial Susceptibility of Causative Agents of Bubaline Mastitis

There are several methods for determining the antimicrobial susceptibility of causative pathogens of bubaline mastitis, such as the disk diffusion method, microdilution assay, and PCR (Clinical Laboratory Standards Institute [CLSI], 2019; Hoque et al., 2022). Disk diffusion method is commonly used to determine the antimicrobial susceptibility causative pathogens of bubaline mastitis in Asia countries because it is simple, reliable, and can detect the isolated resistant colonies (Mayrhofer et al., 2008; Milici et al., 2007). PCR detected the virulence genes in isolated bacteria (Hoque et al., 2022).

Kirby-Bauer disk diffusion assay was performed to determine the antimicrobial susceptibility of the isolated pathogen colonies of mastitis in buffaloes in which the commercially prepared antimicrobial disks containing common antibiotics used to treat bubaline mastitis were put on each inoculated plate (Maurya & Joshi, 2021). The inhibition zones are then measured using a precision caliper and interpreted as susceptible or sensitive, intermediate, or resistant following the suggested breakpoints diameter according to the Clinical Laboratory Standards Institute standard (CLSI, 2019).

The antimicrobial susceptibility of causative pathogens of bubaline mastitis in Asia is listed in Table 6. Most showed high resistance towards penicillin, amoxicillin, ampicillin, and streptomycin, except for cefoxitin (Gram-positive bacteria), ceftriaxone, and cefotaxime (Gram-negative bacteria). In Asia, the antimicrobial susceptibility of causative agents of bubaline mastitis countries varies based on the common antibiotics used to treat mastitis. The isolated bacteria are resistant to the common antibiotics used to treat mastitis and susceptible to antibiotics not commonly used to treat bubaline mastitis. The antibiotics susceptible to isolated bacteria can potentially become the new antibiotics to treat bubaline mastitis (Biswas et al., 2020).

CONCLUSION

The prevalence of SCM was higher in dairy buffaloes than in CM, especially in Pakistan. SFMT and CMT are usually used to detect subclinical mastitis in dairy buffaloes since both methods are cheaper, reliable, and can be used in the field. In Asia, the main risk factors of bubaline mastitis are caused by farm management, including improper milking handling and host factors such as lactation stage, age, and quarters position. Farmers can be educated on proper milking

Table 6 Antimicrobi	al susceptibility of causative pathc	gens of bubaline mastitis in Asia			
Countries	s Isolated bacteria	Antimicrobial susceptibility	Number of antibiotics used	Methodology	References
India	Streptococcus agalactiae	Resistant: Penicillin	8 antibiotics	Disk diffusion method	Das and Joseph (2005)
	Klebsiella pneumonie, Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Resistant: Penicillin and erythromycin	I		
	Staphylococcus spp. (CPS and CNS), Corynebacterium bovis, Corynebacterium pyogenes, E. coli, Bacillus cereus	Susceptible: Ciproftoaxacin, penicillin, chloramphenicol, gentamycin, erythromycin, kanamycin, ampicillin, and streptomycin			
	Staphylococcus spp.	Susceptible: Ampicillin, cloxacillin, amoxycillin, ceftriaxone, cefoperazone, penicillin, chloramphenicol, tylosin, and enrofloxacin	14 antibiotics	Disk diffusion method	Charaya et al. (2013)
	Streptococcus spp.	Susceptibility: Chloramphenicol, ampicillin, enrofloxacin, amoxycillin, ceftriaxone, and cefoperazone			
	Staphylococcus aureus	Disk diffusion method: Resistant: Penicillin, methicillin, amoxycillin, ceftriaxone, amoxycillin + clavulanic acid, and ceftriaxone + tazobactum	6 antibiotics (disk diffusion method), 3 antibiotics (microdilution assay)	Disk diffusion method, microdilution assay	Sagi (2014)
		Microdilution assay: Resistant: Amoxycillin and amoxycillin + clavulanic acid microdilution assay Susceptible: Amoxycillin + clavulanic acid			

Nor'Amira Mohd Amin, Md Zuki Abu Bakar, Sharina Omar and Rozaihan Mansor

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 541 - 570 (2023)

Table 6 (conti	nue)				
Countries	Isolated bacteria	Antimicrobial susceptibility	Number of antibiotics used	Methodology	References
	Staphylococcus aureus	Resistant: Penicillin, vancomycin, and nalidixic acid Intermediate: Cefixime, methicillin, novobiocin, amoxiclav, colistin, pipemidic aroid, ofloxacin, streptomycin, aroid, ofloxacin, streptomycin, acid, ofloxacin, streptomycin, acid, ofloxacin, streptomycin, acid, ofloxacin, streptomycin, acid, ofloxacin, ecfoperazone, enrofloxacin, floxidin, and meropenem Susceptible: Cefuroxim, ciprofloxacin, clindamycin, gentamicin, levofloxacin, norfloxacin, and tetracycline	38 antibiotics	Disk diffusion method	Nigam (2015)
	CNS Staphylococcus aureus	Resistant: Methicillin, amoxycillin/sulbactam, and penicillin G Intermediate: Ceftriaxone/sulbactam, cefoxitin, and cefotaxime Susceptible: Co-trimoxazole, chloramphenicol, and gentamicin Resistant: Co-trimoxazole, chloramphenicol, and gentamicin Resistant: Co-trimoxazole and oxacillin Susceptible: Co-trimoxazole and oxacillin	15 antibiotics	Disk diffusion method	Preethirani et al. (2015)

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 541 - 570 (2023)

559

Countries	Isolated bacteria	Antimicrobial susceptibility	Number of antibiotics used	Methodology	References
	Streptococcus spp.	Resistant: Methicillin, streptomycin, cefoxitin, and penicillin G Intermediate: Gentamicin and ceftriaxone Susceptible: Chloramphenicol and Oxacillin			
	Escherichia coli	Resistant: Amikacin, amoxycillin/sulbactam, ampicillin, cefotaxime, cefoxitin, ceftriaxone/sulbacta, methicillin, penicillin G, and streptomycin Intermediate: Enrofloxacin Susceptible: Cotrimazole and chloramphenicol			
	Staphylococcus aureus	Susceptible: Gentamicin and streptopenicillin	12 antibiotics	Disk diffusion method	Maurya and Joshi (2021)
	Escherichia coli	Susceptible: Tetracycline, gentamicin, enrofloxacin, streptopenicillin, ceftriaxone + sulbactum, streptomycin, ceftriaxone, and methicillin			
Bangladesh	Staphylococcus spp., Streptococcus spp., Bacillus spp., E. coli	Resistant: Ampicillin, Amoxycillin and streptomycin High and intermediate susceptible: Gentamicin, ciprofloxacin, Endrofloxacin and chloramphenicol	7 antibiotics	Disk diffusion method	Kisku and Samad (2013)

Nor'Amira Mohd Amin, Md Zuki Abu Bakar, Sharina Omar and Rozaihan Mansor

Table 6 (continue)

560

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 541 - 570 (2023)

Table 6 (cont	inue)				
Countries	Isolated bacteria	Antimicrobial susceptibility	Number of antibiotics used	Methodology	References
	All isolated bacteria	Resistant: Amoxicillin Susceptible: Chloramphenicol and ciprofloxac	10 antibiotics	Disk diffusion method	Talukder et al. (2013)
	Staphylococcus spp.	Resistant: Amoxicillin, erythromycin, and azithromycin Susceptible: Ceftriaxone, trimethoprim, chloramphenicol, gentamycin, levofloxacin, and amoxicillin			
	Escherichia coli	Resistant: Ceftriaxone, trimethoprim, Azithromycin and nitrofurantoine Susceptible: Ciprofloxacin, azithromycin, trimethoprim, chloramphenicol, and levofloxacin			
	Staphylococcus aureus, E. coli, Streptococcus spp., Bacillus spp.	Resistant: Penicillin, amoxicillin, cefoxitin, and tetracycline Intermediate: Ceftriaxone, enrofloxacin, vancomycin, and erythromycin Susceptible: Gentamicin and cinrofloxacin	12 antibiotics	Disk diffusion method	Biswas et al. (2020)
Iraq	Escherichia coli	Resistant: Cefotaxime and ampicillin Susceptible: Tetracycline, amikacin, trimethoprim/ sulfamethaxol, gentamicin, and ciprofloxacin	7 antibiotics	Disk diffusion method	Wahid et al. (2017)

Bubaline Mastitis in Asia

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 541 - 570 (2023)

561

References	Bhandari et al. (2021)	Mustafa et al. (2013)	A. Hussain et al. (2013)	A. Hussain et al. (2020)	Badua et al. (2020)
Methodology	Disk diffusion method	Disk diffusion method	Disk diffusion method	Disk diffusion method	Disk diffusion method
Number of antibiotics used	1	8 antibiotics	9 antibiotics	10 antibiotics	9 antibiotics
Antimicrobial susceptibility	Resistant: Ceftriaxone and ciprofloxacin	Resistant: Ampicillin, streptomycine, chloramphenicol, penicillin, and amoxicillin Susceptible: Ciprofloxacin Sensitive: Gentamicin and norfloxacine	Susceptible: Co-trimaxazole, oxytetracycline, ciprofloxacin, chloramphenicol, amoxicillin, gentamycin, ampicillin, novobiocin, and enrofloxacin	Susceptible: Trimethoprim, erythromycin, ciprofloxacin, doxycycline, streptomycin, gentamycin, tylosin, kanamycin, amoxicillin, and chloramphenicol	Resistant: Penicillin Intermediate: Erythromycin Susceptible: Chloramphenicol, clindamycin, trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, tetracycline, rifampicin, ciprofloxacin, and gentamycin
Isolated bacteria	Escherichia coli	All isolated bacteria	Staphylococcus aureus	Staphylococcus aureus	Staphylococcus aureus
Countries	Nepal	Pakistan	-		Philippines

Nor'Amira Mohd Amin, Md Zuki Abu Bakar, Sharina Omar and Rozaihan Mansor

Table 6 (continue)

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 541 - 570 (2023)

562

practices and farm management to help reduce the prevalence of bubaline mastitis. Mastitis in buffaloes causes changes in milk composition, such as increased lactose levels, SCC, and bacteria in the milk. However, protein, fat, and solid nonfat level variations were also affected by other factors such as the stage of lactation, breed, and age. The most prevalent bacteria in bubaline mastitis milk samples were CNS, S. aureus, and Streptococcus spp., including S. agalactiae and S. uberis, and E. coli were detected using bacterial isolation and identification and PCR. Penicillin, amoxicillin, ampicillin, and streptomycin are highly resistant to the isolated bacteria, according to previous studies, but not cefoxitin for Gram-positive bacteria or ceftriaxone for Gram-negative bacteria. However, the antimicrobial susceptibility of causative agents in Asia varies depending on the usage of common antibiotics to treat bubaline mastitis in each country. This review will help better understand bubaline mastitis, although studies are limited in Asia except for Pakistan and India, which both have the most buffalo and produce the highest amount of buffalo milk. However, Southeast Asian countries, except Thailand, have conducted no studies on bubaline mastitis. More studies on the epidemiology, diagnostic tests, milk composition changes, and antimicrobial susceptibility of causative agents of bubaline mastitis in Asian countries are needed to fill the knowledge gap in the future.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by a Transdisciplinary Research Grant Scheme (TRGS2020/5536000) from the Department of Higher Education, Ministry of Higher Education.

REFERENCES

- Abd El-Razik, K. A., Abdelrahman, K. A., Ahmed, Y. F., Gomaa, A. M., & Eldebaky, H. A. (2010).
 Direct identification of major pathogens of the bubaline subclinical mastitis in Egypt using PCR. *Journal of American Science*, 6(10), 652-660.
- Ahmadi, E., Djeddi, A. N., & Mousavi, S. A. (2020). Prevalence of coagulase negative *Staphylococcus* including methicillin resistant strains in buffalo subclinical mastitis in Northwest of Iran. *Buffalo Bulletin*, 39(1), 17–26.
- Akhtar, A., Ameer, M., & Aeshad, M. (2012). Prevalence of sub clinical mastitis in buffaloes in district D.I. Khan. *Pakistan Journal of Science*, 64(2), 132-138.
- Al-saadi, B. Q. H., & Alshakh, M. A. A. (2015). Some physiological factors influence somatic cell counts and milk contents associated with mastitis in Iraqi buffaloes. *World Journal of Pharmaceutical Research*, 4(7), 214–224.
- Ali, M. A., Ahmad, M. D., Muhammad, K., & Anjum, A. A. (2011). Prevalence of sub clinical mastitis in dairy buffaloes of Punjab, Pakistan. *The Journal Animal & Plant Sciences*, 21(3), 477–480.
- Ali, T., Rahman, A., Qureshi, M. S., Hussain, M. T., Khan, M. S., Uddin, S., Iqbal, M., & Han, B. (2014). Effect of management practices and animal age on incidence of mastitis in Nili Ravi buffaloes. *Tropical Animal Health* and Production, 46, 1279–1285. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11250-014-0641-2

- Aliul, H., Kumar, P. A., Mahmood, R. M., Mizanur, R., & Selim, A. M. (2020). Investigation of prevalence and risk factors of subclinical mastitis of dairy buffaloes at Bhola district of Bangladesh. Asian Journal of Medical and Biological Research, 6(4), 697–704. https://doi. org/10.3329/ajmbr.v6i4.51236
- Anirban, G., Ruby, G., & Sandeep, G. (2012). Comparison of somatic cell count, California mastitis test, chloride test and rennet coagulation time with bacterial culture examination to detect subclinical mastitis in riverine buffalo (*Bubalus bubalis*). African Journal of Agricultural Research, 7(41), 5578–5584. https://doi. org/10.5897/AJAR12.922
- Ashfaq, K., & Muhammad, G. (2008). Pathogens associated with bovine and bubaline mastitis in peri-urban areas of Faisalabad, Pakistan. *Pakistan Journal of Life and Social Science*, 6(2), 86–88.
- Aslam, M., & Tucker, W. B. (1998). Influence of intramammary infusion of calcium on the calcium status of periparturient lactating dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 81(7), 1883–1888. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(98)75759-5
- Ayalew, W., & Taye, T. (2004). Would introducing the domestic buffalo into Ethiopia be worthwhile? In Proceedings of the 13th Annual Conference of the Ethiopian Society of Animal Production (ESAP): The Role of Agricultural Universities/ Colleges in Transforming Animal Agriculture in Education, Research and Development in Ethiopia: Challenges and Opportunities (pp. 85-91). ESAP Publishing. https://cgspace.cgiar.org/handle/10568/51328
- Bachaya, H. A., Iqbal, Z., Muhammad, G., Yousaf, A., & Ali, H. (2005). Subclinical mastitis in buffaloes in Attock district of Punjab (Pakistan). *Pakistan Veterinary Journal*, 25(3), 134-136.

- Badua, A. T., Boonyayatra, S., Awaiwanont, N., Gaban, P. B. V., & Mingala, C. N. (2020). Methicillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) associated with mastitis among water buffaloes in the Philippines. *Heliyon*, 6(12), e05663. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e05663
- Beheshti, R., Eshratkhah, B., Shayegh, J., Giasi Ghalehkandi, J., Dianat, V., & Valiei, K. (2011).
 Prevalence and etiology of subclinical mastitis in Buffalo of the Tabriz region, Iran. *Journal of American Science*, 7(5), 642-645.
- Bhandari, S., Subedi, D., Tiwari, B. B., Shrestha, P., Shah, S., & Al-Mustapha, A. I. (2021). Prevalence and risk factors for multidrugresistant *Escherichia coli* isolated from subclinical mastitis in the western Chitwan region of Nepal. *Journal of Dairy Science*, *104*(12), 12765-12772. https://doi.org/10.3168/ jds.2020-19480
- Bhanot, V., Chaudhri, S. S., Bisla, R. S., & Singh, H. (2012). Retrospective study on prevalence and antibiogram of mastitis in cows and buffaloes of Eastern Haryana. *Indian Journal of Animal Research*, 46(2), 160–163.
- Bhosale, R. R., Shaikh, S., Osmani, R. A., Ghodake, P. P., Shaikh, S. M., & Chavan, S. R. (2014). Mastitis: An intensive crisis in veterinary science. *International Journal of Pharma Research and Health Sciences*, 2(2), 96-103.
- Biswas, D., Hanif, S., Rana, E. A., & Anower, A. M. (2020). A study on udder health management practices, reproductive disorders and subclinical mastitis in buffalo herds in coastal region of Bangladesh. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture - Food Science and Technology*, 8(8), 1662–1667. https:// doi.org/10.24925/turjaf.v8i8.1662-1667.3416
- Borghese, A. (2011). Situation and perspectives of buffalo in the world, Europe and Macedonia. *Macedonian Journal of Animal Science*, 1(2), 281–296.

- Caporaso, J. G., Kuczynski, J., Stombaugh, J., Bittinger, K., Bushman, F. D., Costello, E. K., Fierer, N., Peña, A. G., Goodrich, J. K., Gordon, J. I., Huttley, G. A., Kelley, S. T., Knights, D., Koenig, J. E., Ley, R. E., Lozupone, C. A., McDonald, D., Muegge, B. D., Pirrung, M., Reeder, J., Sevinsky, J. R., Turnbaugh, P. T., Walters, W. A., Widmann, J., Yatsunenko, T., Zaneveld, J., & Knight, R. (2010). QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. *Nature Methods*, 7(5), 335–336. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.f.303
- Charaya, G., Sharma, A., Singh, M., Tiwari, S., & Kumar, A. (2013). Subclinical mastitis at an organised farm: Prevalence, etiology and antibiogram. *Haryana Veterinary*, 52, 30–32.
- Clinical Laboratory Standards Institute. (2019). M100: Performance standards antimicrobial susceptibility testing (29th ed.). CLSI. https://clsi. org/media/2663/m100ed29 sample.pdf
- da Rosa, F. T., Moreira, C. G. A., Barbero, M M. D., Lugo, N. A. H., de Camargo, G. M. F., Borquis, R. R. A., de Oliveira, H. N., Boligon, A. A., de Vargas, L., Moreira, H. L. M., Tonhati, H., & de Souza, F. R. P. (2020). Associations between MUC1 gene polymorphism and resistance to mastitis, milk production and fertility traits in Murrah water buffaloes. *Journal of Applied Animal Research*, 48(1), 151-155. https://doi. org/10.1080/09712119.2020.1749641
- Dalanezi, F. M., Joaquim, S. F., Guimarães, F. F., Guerra, S. T., Lopes, B. C., Schmidt, E. M. S., Cerri, R. L. A., & Langoni, H. (2020). Influence of pathogens causing clinical mastitis on reproductive variables of dairy cows. *Journal* of Dairy Science, 103(4), 3648–3655. https:// doi.org/10.3168/jds.2019-16841
- Das, P. K., & Joseph, E. (2005). Identification and antibiogram of microbes associated with buffalo mastitis in Jabalpur, Madhya Pradesh, India. *Buffalo Bulletin*, 24(1), 3-9.

- Deb, G. K., Nahar, T. N., Duran, P. G., & Presicce, G. A. (2016). Safe and sustainable traditional production: The water buffalo in Asia. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, *4*, 38. https://doi. org/10.3389/fenvs.2016.00038
- Dhakal, I. P., Dhakal, P., Koshihara, T., & Nagahata, H. (2007). Epidemiological and bacteriological survey of buffalo mastitis in Nepal. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*, 69(12), 1241–1245. https://doi.org/10.1292/jvms.69.1241
- Dhakal, I. P., & Nagahata, H. (2018). Evaluation of mastitis related measures and their applications to classify buffalo milk in Chitwan, Nepal. *Journal of Agricultural Science and Technology* A, 8, 99–111. https://doi.org/10.17265/2161-6256/2018.02.006
- Eberhart, R. J. (1986). Management of dry cows to reduce mastitis. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 69(6), 1721–1732. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.s0022-0302(86)80591-4
- Fagiolo, A., & Lai, O. (2007). Mastitis in buffalo. Italian Journal of Animal Science, 6(sup2), 200-206. https://doi.org/10.4081/ijas.2007.s2.200
- Fareed, S. K., Memon, K. H., Kachiwal, A. B., Azhar, S., Brula, M. I., Ali, M., & Khan, T. A. (2017). Prevalence and economic losses of reproductive disorders and mastitis in buffaloes at Karachi, Pakistan. *Indian Journal of Animal Research*, 51(6), 1130–1133. https://doi.org/10.18805/ ijar.8602
- Fetrow, J. (2000). Mastitis: An economic consideration. NMC Proceedings Library. http://nmconline.omnibooksonline.com/67710-2000-annual-1.4222897/t001-1.4223209/t001-1.4223210/a002-1.4223256?qr=1
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. (n.d.). *FAOSTAT: Crops and livestock products*. FAO. https://www.fao.org/faostat/ en/#data/QCL

- Fundora, O. G., Lezcano, M. E., Montejo, O., Pompa, A., & Enriquez, N. (2001). A comparative study of milk composition and stability of Murrah river buffaloes and Holstein cows grazing star grass. *Revista Cubana de Ciencia Agrícola*, 35(3), 219-222.
- Hameed, S., Arshad, M., Ashraf, M., Avais, M., & Shahid, M. (2012). Cross-sectional epidemiological studies on mastitis in cattle and buffaloes of Tehsil Burewala, Pakistan. *The Journal of Animal and Plant Sciences*, 22(Sup 3), 371–376.
- Hammer, Ø., Harper, D. A. T., & Ryan, P. D. (2001). PAST: Paleontological statistics software package for education and data analysis. *Palaeontologia Electronica*, 4(1), 1-9.
- Harmon, R. J. (1994). Physiology of mastitis and factors affecting somatic cell counts. *Journal* of Dairy Science, 77(7), 2103–2112. https://doi. org/10.3168/jds.s0022-0302(94)77153-8
- Hoque, M. N., Talukder, A. K., Saha, O., Hasan, M. M., Sultana, M., Rahman, A. N. M. A., & Das, Z. C. (2022). Antibiogram and virulence profiling reveals multidrug resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* as the predominant aetiology of subclinical mastitis in riverine buffaloes. *Veterinary Medicine and Science*, 8(6), 2631-2645. https://doi.org/10.1002/vms3.942
- Hoque, M. N., Das, Z. C., Talukder, A. K., Alam, M. S., & Rahman, A. N. M. A. (2014). Different screening tests and milk somatic cell count for the prevalence of subclinical bovine mastitis in Bangladesh. *Tropical Animal Health and Production*, 47, 79–86. https://doi.org/10.1007/ S11250-014-0688-0
- Hussain, A., Ahmed, M., Mushtaq, M. H., Khan, M. S., Khan, M. A., Nisar, M., Sabir, N., & Khan, S. A. (2013). Antibiogram analysis of *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from mastitic milk samples of buffaloes in district Bhimber Azad Kashmir. *Buffalo Bulletin*, 32(Special Issue 2), 1021-1028.

- Hussain, A., Mushtaq, M. H., Chaudhry, M., Nisar, M., Khan, M. S., Reichel, M., Kuthu, Z. H., Ahmed, I., & Khan, A. (2020). Prevalence and sensitivity of *Staphylococcus aureus* causing mastitis in buffaloes around Lahore, Pakistan. *Buffalo Bulletin*, 39(1), 9–16.
- Hussain, A., Hassan, M. M., Chaudhry, M., Ahmad, M., Mushtaq, M. H., Sarwar Khan, M. S., Reichel, M., Hussain, T., Khan, A., Nisar, M., & Khan, I. A. (2018). Prevalence of overall and teatwise mastitis and effect of herd size in dairy buffaloes. *Article in Pakistan Journal of Zoology*, 50(3), 1107-1112. https://doi.org/10.17582/ journal.pjz/2018.50.3.1107.1112
- Hussain, R., Javed, M. T., Khan, A., & Muhammad, G. (2013). Risks factors associated with subclinical mastitis in water buffaloes in Pakistan. *Tropical Animal Health and Production*, 45(8), 1723– 1729. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11250-013-0421-4
- Hussain, R., Tariq, J., & Khan, A. (2012). Changes in some biochemical parameters and somatic cell counts in the milk of buffalo and cattle suffering from mastitis. *Pakistan Veterinary Journal*, 32(3), 418–421.
- Järvinen, A.-K., Laakso, S., Piiparinen, P., Aittakorpi, A., Lindfors, M., Huopaniemi, L., Piiparinen, H., & Mäki, M. (2009). Rapid identification of bacterial pathogens using a PCR- and microarraybased assay. *BMC Microbiology*, 9, 161. https:// doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-9-161
- Jingar, S. C., Mahendra, S., & Roy, A. (2017). Economic losses due to clinical mastitis in cross-bred cows. *Journal of Dairy and Veterinary Sciences*, 3(2), 555606. https://doi.org/10.19080/JDVS.2017.03.555606
- Jingar, S. C., Mehla, R. K., & Singh, M. (2014). Climatic effects on occurrence of clinical mastitisin different breeds of cows and buffaloes. *Archivos de Zootecnia*, 63(243), 473–482. https:// doi.org/10.4321/S0004-05922014000300008

- Kashif, M., Ahmad, T., Shakoor, A., Rana, M. Y., Awais, M. M., Muhmmad, S. A., Yousaf, A., Yaqoob, M., Iqbal, Z., Nasir, A., & Khan, A. (2013). Comparative efficacy of enrofloxacin and oxytetracycline as systemic dry period therapy in the control of bubaline mastitis. *Buffalo Bulletin*, 32(Special Issue 2), 1002-1008.
- Kaur, M., Verma, R., Bansal, B. K., Mukhopadhyay, C. S., & Arora, J. S (2015). Status of sub-clinical mastitis and associated risk factors in Indian water buffalo in Doaba region of Punjab, India. *Indian Journal Dairy Sciences*, 68(5), 483-487. https://doi.org/10.5146/ijds.v68i5.48136
- Kavitha, K. L., Rajesh, K., Suresh, K., Satheesh, K., & Sundar, N. S. (2009). Buffalo mastitis-risk factors. *Buffalo Bulletin*, 28(3), 134–137.
- Khan, A. Z., & Muhammad, G. (2005). Quarter-wise comparative prevalence of mastitis in buffaloes and crossbred cows. *Pakistan Veterinary Journal*, 25(1), 9–12.
- Khan, M. Z., & Khan, A. (2006). Basic facts of mastitis in dairy animals: A review. *Pakistan Veterinary Journal*, 26(4), 204-208.
- Kisku, J. J., & Samad, M. A. (2013). Prevalence of sub-clinical mastitis in lactating buffaloes detected by comparative evaluation of indirect tests and bacteriological methods with antibiotic sensitivity profiles in Bangladesh. *Buffalo Bulletin*, 32(4), 293-306. https://doi. org/10.14456/ku-bufbu.2013.41
- Krishnaswamy S., Vedanayaham A.R., & Varma, K. (1965). Studies on mastitis in cattle. *Indian Veterinary Journal*, 42, 92–103.
- Kumar, P. A. (2009). Evaluation of PCR test for detecting major pathogens of bubaline mastitis directly from mastitic milk samples of buffaloes. *Tropical Animal Health and Production*, 41(8), 1643–1651. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11250-009-9360-5
- Loo, E., Lai, K. S., & Mansor, R. (2019). Antimicrobial usage and resistance in dairy cattle production.

In S. O. Bekoe, M. Saravanan, R. K. Adosraku, & P. K. Ramkumar (Eds.), *Veterinary medicine and pharmaceuticals*. IntechOpen. https://doi. org/10.5772/intechopen.81365

- Manzoor, A., Muhammad, G., Deeba, F., & Arshad, M. I. (2020). Therapeutic evaluation of an out of the box oral nonantibiotic formulation against clinical mastitis in buffalos. *Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 57(1), 269–274. https:// doi.org/10.21162/pakjas/20.7770
- Maurya, P. K., & Joshi, R. K. (2021). Multidrugresistance pattern of antibiogram of *Escherichia coli* and *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from mastitis affected buffaloes in Eastern Uttar Pradesh. *Indian Journal of Animal Research*, *B-4435*, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.18805/ IJAR.B-4435
- Mayrhofer, S., Domig, K. J., Mair, C., Zitz, U., Huys, G., & Kneifel, W. (2008). Comparison of broth microdilution, Etest, and agar disk diffusion methods for antimicrobial susceptibility testing of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* group members. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 74(12), 3745–3748. https://doi.org/10.1128/ aem.02849-07
- Milici, M. E., Maida, C. M., Spreghini, E., Ravazzolo, B., Oliveri, S., Scalise, G., & Barchiesi, F. (2007). Comparison between disk diffusion and microdilution methods for determining susceptibility of clinical fungal isolates to caspofungin. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 45(11), 3529-3533. https://doi.org/10.1128/ jcm.00826-07
- Moioli, B., & Borghese, A. (2005). Buffalo breeds and management systems. In A. Borghese (Ed.), *Buffalo production and research* (pp. 51–76). Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Mokhber, M., Moradi-Shahrbabak, M., Sadeghi, M.,
 Moradi-Shahrbabak, H., Stella, A., Nicolzzi,
 E., Rahmaninia, J., & Williams, J. L. (2018). A
 genome-wide scan for signatures of selection

in Azeri and Khuzestani buffalo breeds. *BMC Genomics*, *19*, 449. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12864-018-4759-x

- Mukesh, M., Mishra, B. P., Kataria, R. S., Sobti, R. C., & Ahlawat, S. P. S. (2009). Sequence analysis of UTR and coding region of kappacasein gene of Indian riverine buffalo (*Bubalus bubalis*). *DNA Sequence*, 17(2), 94–98. https:// doi.org/10.1080/10425170600699950
- Mustafa, Y. S., Awan, N., Zaman, T., Chaudhry, S. R., & Zoyfro, V. (2013). Prevalence and antibacterial susceptibility in mastitis in buffalo and cow in and around the district Lahore-Pakistan. *Buffalo Bulletin*, 32(4), 307-314. https://doi. org/10.14456/ku-bufbu.2013.42
- Nanda, A. S., & Nakao, T. (2003). Role of buffalo in the socioeconomic development of rural Asia: Current status and future prospectus. *Animal Science Journal*, 74(6), 443–455. https://doi. org/10.1046/j.1344-3941.2003.00138.x
- National Mastitis Council. (n.d.). National mastitis council protocols, guidelines and procedures. NMC. www.nmconline.org/nmc-protocolsguidelines-and-procedures/
- Neelesh, S., Anshu, S., Vikas, N., & Jain, V. (2009). Occurrence of subclinical mastitis in cows and buffaloes at an organised farm. *Haryana Veterinarian*, 48, 85–87.
- Ng, L., Jost, C., Robyn, M., Dhakal, I. P., Bett, B., Dhakal, P., & Khadka, R. (2010). Impact of livestock hygiene education programs on mastitis in smallholder water buffalo (*Bubalus bubalis*) in Chitwan, Nepal. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine*, 96(3-4), 179–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. prevetmed.2010.06.012
- Nigam, R. (2015). Incidence and pattern of antibiotic resistance of *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from clinical and subclinical mastitis in cattle and buffaloes. *Asian Journal of Animal Sciences*, 9(3), 100–109. https://doi.org/10.3923/ ajas.2015.100.109

- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development/Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. (2020). *OECD-FAO agricultural outlook 2020-2029*. OECD iLibrary. https://doi.org/10.1787/1112c23b-en
- Oliver, S. P., & Calvinho, L. F. (1995). Influence of inflammation on mammary gland metabolism and milk composition. *Journal of Animal Science*, 73(suppl_2), 18–33. https://doi. org/10.2527/1995.73suppl_218x
- Özenç, E., Rıfat Vural, M., Şeker, E., & Uçar, M. (2008). An evaluation of subclinical mastitis during lactation in anatolian buffaloes. *Turkish Journal of Veterinary and Animal Sciences*, 32(5), 359–368.
- Panchal, I., Sawhney, I. K., Sharma, A. K., & Dang, A. (2016). Classification of healthy and mastitis Murrah buffaloes by application of neural network models using yield and milk quality parameters. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 127, 242–248. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.compag.2016.06.015
- Patel, R., Kunjadia, P., Koringa, P., Joshi, C., & Kunjadiya, A. (2019). Microbiological profiles in clinical and subclinical cases of mastitis in milking Jafarabadi buffalo. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 125, 94–99. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2019.05.012
- Preethirani, P. L., Isloor, S., Sundareshan, S., Nuthanalakshmi, V., Deepthikiran, K., Sinha, A.
 Y., Rathnamma, D., Prabhu, K. N., Sharada, R., Mukkur, T. K., & Hegde, N. R. (2015). Isolation, biochemical and molecular identification, and *invitro* antimicrobial resistance patterns of bacteria isolated from bubaline subclinical mastitis in South India. *PLOS One*, 10(11), e0142717. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0142717
- Rathva, A. L., Sorathiya, L. M., & Sabapara, G.
 P. (2019). Milking management practices followed at commercial dairy farms in urban and peri-urban areas of Navsari district of

Gujarat. *Veterinary Research International*, 7(4), 263-266.

- Sagi, S. B. R. (2014). Detection of genetic determinants of antibiotic resistance and biofilm formation in Staphylococcus aureus isolates from bubaline mastitis [Unpublished Doctoral dissertation]. Sri Venkateswara Veterinary University.
- Sah, K., Karki, P., Shrestha, R. D., Sigdel, A., Adesogan, A. T., & Dahl, G. E. (2020). MILK Symposium review: Improving control of mastitis in dairy animals in Nepal. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 103(11), 9740-9747. https://doi. org/10.3168/jds.2020-18314
- Salvador, R. T., Beltran, J. M. C., Abes, N. S., Gutierrez, C. A., & Mingala, C. N. (2012). Short communication: Prevalence and risk factors of subclinical mastitis as determined by the California Mastitis Test in water buffaloes (*Bubalis bubalis*) in Nueva Ecija, Philippines. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 95(3), 1363–1366. https://doi.org/10.3168/JDS.2011-4503
- Schukken, Y. H., Wilson, D. J., Welcome, F., Garrison-Tikofsky, L., & Gonzalez, R. N. (2003). Monitoring udder health and milk quality using somatic cell counts. *Veterinary Research*, 34(5), 579–596. https://doi.org/10.1051/vetres:2003028
- Sethi, R. K. (2003). Improving riverine and swamp buffaloes through breeding. In Proceeding of The 4th Asian Buffalo Congress: Buffalo for Food Security and Rural Development (Vol. 1, pp. 51-60). Indian Society for Buffalo Development: Asian Buffalo Association.
- Sharif, A., & Ahmad, T. (2007). Prevalence of severity of mastitis in buffaloes in district Faisalabad (Pakistan). Journal Agriculture and Social Science, 3(4), 34-36.
- Sharif, A., Ahmad, T., Bilal, M. Q., Yousaf, A., & Muhammad, G. (2007). Effect of severity of subclinical mastitis on somatic cell count and lactose contents of buffalo milk. *Pakistan Veterinary Journal*, 27(3), 142–144.

- Sharma, A., Chhabra, R., Singh, M., & Charaya, G. (2018). Prevalence, etiology and antibiogram of bacterial isolates recovered from mastitis of buffaloes. *Buffalo Bulletin*, 37(3), 313–320.
- Sharma, A., & Sindhu, N. (2007). Occurrence of clinical and subclinical mastitis in buffaloes in the State of Haryana (India). *Italian Journal of Animal Science*, 6(sup2), 965–967. https://doi. org/10.4081/ijas.2007.s2.965
- Siddiky, M. N. A., & Faruque, M. O. (2017). Buffaloes for dairying in South Asia: Potential, challenges and way forward. *SAARC Journal of Agriculture*, *15*(2), 227–239. https://doi.org/10.3329/sja. v15i2.35167
- Singh, K. V., Sharma, D., Singh, S. K., Srivastava, M., Garg, S. K., & Yadav, B. K. (2017). Assessment of alteration in metabolic profile and milk composition of buffaloes with subclinical mastitis. *Buffalo Bulletin*, 36(2), 349-356.
- Singh, A., & Ramachandran, A. (2020). Assessment of hygienic milking practices and prevalenceof bovine mastitis in small dairy farms of Peri-Urban area of Jaipur. *Indian Journal of Community Medicine*, 45(Suppl 1), S21-S25. https://doi. org/10.4103/ijcm.ijcm 363 19
- Singh, M., Yadav, P., Sharma, A., Garg, V. K., & Mittal, D. (2017). Estimation of mineral and trace element profile in bubaline milk affected with subclinical mastitis. *Biological Trace Element Research*, 176(2), 305–310. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12011-016-0842-9
- Swami, S. V, Patil, R. A., & Gadekar, S. D. (2017). Studies on prevalence of subclinical mastitis in dairy animals. *Journal of Entomology and Zoology Studies*, 5(4), 1297–1300.
- Talukder, A. A., Rahman, H. H., Mahmud, S. J., Alam, F., & Dey, S. K. (2013). Isolation, identification and resistance pattern of microorganisms associated with mastitis in buffalo. *Bangladesh Journal of Microbiology*, 30(1-2), 1–5. https:// doi.org/10.3329/bjm.v30i1-2.28445

- Tapdasan, E. P., Balala, L. M., Olana, K. O. A., Bajenting, G. P., & Salces, C. B. (2018).
 Prevalence of mastitis and analysis of risk factors among dairy buffaloes in Ubay, Bohol, Philippines. *Journal of Agriculture and Technology Management*, 21(1), 17-23.
- Thomas, C. S. (2004). Milking management of dairy buffaloes [Doctoral thesis, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences]. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Library. https://pub. epsilon.slu.se/512/1/Thesis.PDF
- Uallah, S., Ahmad, T., Bilal, M. Q., Muhammad, G., & Rahman, S. U. (2005). The effect of severity of mastitis on protein and fat contents of buffalo milk. *Pakistan Veterinary Journal*, 25(1), 1–4.
- Vajdi, H., Farhoudi, M., & Mohammad, S. (2011). Bacterial pathogens of intramammary infections in Azeri buffaloes of Iran and their antibiogram. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, 6(11), 2516–2521. https://doi.org/10.5897/ AJAR10.204
- Varshney, J. P., & Mukherjee, R. (2002). Recent advances in management of bovine mastitis. *Intas Polivet*, 3(1), 62–65.

- Viguier, C., Arora, S., Gilmartin, N., Welbeck, K., & O'Kennedy, R. (2009). Mastitis detection: Current trends and future perspectives. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 27(8), 486–493. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2009.05.004
- Wahid, N. A. A., Atabi, A. C. A., & Saeed, A. A. (2017). Isolation and identification study of *Escherichia coli* from buffalo mastitis and antimicrobial susceptibility pattern of its. *Kufa Journal For Veterinary Medical Sciences*, 8(2), 179–186.
- World Health Organization. (2015). Global action plan on antimicrobial resistance. WHO. https://www. who.int/publications/i/item/9789241509763
- Zhou, L., Tang, Q., Wasim Iqbal, M., Xia, Z., Huang, F., Li, L., Liang, M., Lin, B., Qin, G., & Zou, C. (2018). A comparison of milk protein, fat, lactose, total solids and amino acid profiles of three different buffalo breeds in Guangxi, China. *Italian Journal of Animal Science*, *17*(4), 873–878. https://doi.org/10.1080/18280 51X.2018.1443288



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Revisiting *In Vitro* Micropropagation Protocols of *Mimosa pudica* for Enhanced Seed Germination, Shoot Multiplication, and Root Initiation

Nor Saffana Baharuddin¹, Muhamad Aidilfitri Mohamad Roslan¹, Noor Amani Ramli¹, Azzreena Mohamad Azzeme², Zuraida Ab Rahman³, Mohd Ezuan Khayat², Helmi Wasoh¹ and Zulfazli M. Sobri^{1,4}*

¹Department of Bioprocess Technology, Faculty of Biotechnology and Biomolecular Sciences, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

²Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Biotechnology and Biomolecular Sciences, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

³Biotechnology Research Centre, MARDI Headquarters, Persiaran MARDI-UPM, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia ⁴Bioprocessing and Biomanufacturing Research Centre, Faculty of Biotechnology and Biomolecular Sciences, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Mimosa pudica is a medicinal plant worthy of therapeutic properties. It is often overlooked as one of the weed species, and the potential was underappreciated despite its abundance in nature, particularly in tropical climate countries. Considering the aptitude of this species, the micropropagation protocol of *M. pudica* was revisited and enhanced. The seed surface sterilization and germination were assessed, followed by shoot multiplication rate and root initiation efficiency. Seeds of *M. pudica* were best surface sterilized with 35% of Clorox and recorded the highest germination rate at 65.55% in media of three-quarter strength

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 15 October 2022 Accepted: 30 January 2023 Published: 18 April 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.12

E-mail addresses:

nsaffana@gmail.com (Nor Saffana Baharuddin) fitree91@gmail.com (Muhamad Aidilfitri Mohamad Roslan) amani7ramli@gmail.com (Noor Amani Ramli) azzreena@upm.edu.my (Azzreena Mohamad Azzeme) azuraida@mardi.gov.my (Zuraida Ab Rahman) m_ezuan@upm.edu.my (Mohd Ezuan Khayat) helmi_wmi@upm.edu.my (Helmi Wasoh) zulfazli@upm.edu.my (Zulfazli M. Sobri) *Corresponding author Murashige and Skoog (MS) combined with 30 g of sucrose. The explants were harvested and subcultured into multiplication media fortified with 6-benzylaminopurine, kinetin, and coconut water. The highest number of new shoots and leaves were obtained at 3 shoots and 3.27 cm in media of MS combined with 17.6 μ m kinetin. Half-strength MS media devoid of hormone was recommended for root induction, resulting in the 5 healthy roots at 2.06 cm after 4 weeks of culture. Overall, the developed

ISSN: 1511-3701 e-ISSN: 2231-8542

© Universiti Putra Malaysia Press

micropropagation protocol of *M. pudica* could facilitate its large-scale cultivation, indicating its potential as a medicinal crop for the extraction of bioactive compounds.

Keywords: Medicinal weed, micropropagation, *Mimosa pudica*

INTRODUCTION

Mimosa pudica is a medicinal plant known for its sensitive trait in which its leaves fold inward and droop as a form of defensive response. In previous reports, *M. pudica* has been demonstrated to possess promising antioxidant and antidiabetic properties (Baharuddin et al., 2021). The significant amount of phenols and flavonoids in *M. pudica* extract, especially when extracted using optimal solvent extraction techniques, has positioned it as the next valuable medicinal plant species to be regenerated *in vitro*.

Among many advantages of in vitrocultured plants is the ability to synthesize and accumulate many of the same important bioactive compounds as the parent plant in nature (Baskaran et al., 2014). It also enables biosynthetic pathways to be manipulated to boost the synthesis and accumulation of compounds of interest (Dias et al., 2016). The most significant aspect is the capacity to produce a continuous, sustainable, affordable, and viable synthesis of natural substances within a controlled microenvironment (Anand, 2010). However, studies on the protocols of in vitro micropropagation of M. pudica are limited (Hassan et al., 2010; Ramesh et al., 2013). In general, the medium composition is one of the many factors

that influence the success of an *in vitro* micropropagation protocol. The result from the most recent micropropagation study of M. pudica by Bianchetti et al. (2017) in the germination part was not reproducible in this present study. To investigate this issue, other germination media components not addressed in the previous study, such as the type and strength of the basal medium and sucrose concentration, were assessed to establish a reproducible in vitro germination media for M. pudica seeds. Also, an organic additive was tested in the shoot multiplication test, and 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) was used in the rooting part of this experiment to fill in the gap in the previous studies.

Therefore, the present study aimed to develop reliable micropropagation protocols for the *in vitro* seed germination, shoot multiplication, and root initiation of M. *pudica*. Through a series of experiments, the effects of media composition were determined: (1) effects of basal medium type, basal medium strengths, and sucrose concentration in response to seed germination, (2) effects of different types of cytokinins and organic additive in response to the shoot multiplication, and (3) effects of Murashige and Skoog (MS) basal medium strength and 2,4-D in response to root initiation of M. *pudica* plantlets.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Surface Sterilization, Seed Germination, and Culture Initiation

Seeds of *M. pudica* were obtained from a single source from Beijing, China, to

ensure uniformity of origin. The seeds were put in a conical flask and washed under running tap water, followed by a Decon 90 (Decon, United Kingdom) wash. The seeds were treated with fungicide (Ancom Thiram 80, Malaysia) containing several drops of Tween-20 (Merck Schuchardt OHG, Germany) for 30 min on a rotary shaker before being rinsed with distilled water. Next, the seeds were transferred to a laminar airflow chamber (BIOBASE, BBS-V800, China) and soaked in 70% ethanol (Systerm Chemicals, Malaysia) for 1 min. Subsequently, the seeds were treated with three different treatments of 35, 70,

hardt sterile distilled water five times before otary culturing them into media containing MS basal medium. The rate of contamination and germination was recorded after 14 days ASE, of culture using equations 1 and 2 (Ahmadi 70% et al., 2012). The appropriate concentration a) for of Clorox© was selected for the subsequent seed germination experiment.

and 100% Clorox[©] (contains 5% sodium

hypochlorite, NaOCl (Systerm Chemicals,

Malaysia) as an active ingredient) for

15 min (Table 1). In each treatment, 100

seeds were used with three replicates. The

surface-sterilized seeds were rinsed with

Table 1

Mimosa pudica seed sterilization treatment steps

Traatmant no		Sterilizing agen	ts with exposure tim	e
Treatment no. –	Step 1 (30 min)	Step 2 (30 min)	Step 3 (1 min)	Step 4 (15 min)
1	5 00			35% Clorox
2	Decon 90 + Teepol	Thiram + Tween 20	70% ethanol	70% Clorox
3	Тесрог	Tween 20		100% Clorox

Equation 1:

Contamination percentage (%) = (Number of seeds with microbial growth/Total number of seeds) \times 100%

Equation 2:

Germination percentage (%) = (Number of grown seeds/Total number of seeds) \times 100%

To assess the effects of media composition on seed germination of M. *pudica*, the surface-sterilized seeds were cultured into two different basal mediums (Murashige and Skoog, MS and Gamborg, B5) at different basal medium strengths (half, three-quarter, and full) with different sucrose (MSM Holdings Berhad, Malaysia) concentrations (15, 30, 45 g/L). The media used were adjusted to a pH of 5.7 using sodium hydroxide (NaOH) (Systerm Chemicals, Malaysia) or hydrochloric acid (HCl) (Systerm Chemicals, Malaysia) and solidified with 3% agar (Gelrite, Sigma Aldrich, USA) before autoclaving at 121°C and 103 kPa for 20 min. The flasks were then sealed with parafilm M[®] (Bemis Company, USA), and the cultures were incubated in a culture room at 25 ± 2 °C, illuminated by white fluorescent light at an intensity of 3,000 lux (OSRAM Licht AG, Germany), with a photoperiod of 16 hr light and 8 hr darkness. The same condition of the culture room was used for subsequent *in vitro* experiments. Cultures were checked routinely for any contamination. The seed germination percentage, number of shoots, and shoot length were recorded on the 30th day of culture.

Shoot Multiplication of M. pudica

To determine the effects of different types of cytokinin, i.e., 6-benzylaminopurine (BAP) and kinetin (KIN), and coconut water (CW) to shoot multiplication of M. *pudica*, sterile nodal segments of 2.0 - 3.0cm obtained from culture initiation with decapitated leaves were vertically cultured on MS containing 3% sucrose and 3 g/L of agar with varying concentration of BAP and KIN (2.2, 4.4, 8.8, 17.6, and 35.2 µM) and CW (10, 20, 30, 40, and 50% v/v). CW was acquired from fresh coconuts sold by a local vendor. MS was the control group without adding plant growth hormone or organic additives. The number of new shoots, shoot length, and morphology were visually assessed and recorded after 30 days of culture.

Root Initiation of M. pudica

To evaluate the effects of MS basal medium strength and auxin concentration, which was 2,4-D to root initiation of *M. pudica*, sterile plantlet clusters of about 4 cm having at least 4 shoots were excised and cultured into rooting media treatment with different MS strength (half and full) and varying 2,4-D concentrations (5.33 and 10.66 μ M). Days to root emergence, number of roots, root

length, and morphology were recorded after 30 days of culture.

Statistical Analysis

All the experimental data were given as mean \pm standard error of the mean and submitted to analysis of variance (ANOVA) to detect significant differences between means. Means differing significantly were compared using the Tukey post hoc test (*p*<0.05) using the statistical software program SPSS (version 23).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Effect of Different Sterilization Treatments on Contamination and Seed Germination Rate

Surface sterilization of seeds is a crucial step in plant tissue culture since it is necessary not only to disinfect seeds from seed-borne microorganisms but also to ensure they can grow into healthy plantlets. Failure to optimize this step will result in microorganisms competing for nutrients with the growing explants (Tiwari et al., 2012). Furthermore, this procedure is required to eliminate or destroy contaminants while preserving the biological activity of the explants (Felek et al., 2015).

Clorox is a commercial bleach commonly used in sterilization treatments with 5% NaOCl as its active ingredient in an undiluted solution. In the control group (0% Clorox), contamination recorded was 100%, observed in each culture, and the germination rate was 9.67% (Figures 1A and 1B). Furthermore, the 35% Clorox treatment indicated 13.66 and 41.33% contamination and germination rates,
respectively. Contrariwise, the 70% Clorox treatment resulted in a marginally lower contamination rate of 12.33% with a significantly reduced seed germination rate of 27.33% (p<0.05). In 100% Clorox, zero contamination was observed, resulting in extremely few germinated seeds. The morphology and survival of explants are known to be affected by sterilizing agent dosages and exposure time. Explants must be disinfected for a specific amount of time and at a specific concentration, as overdosing might result in plant tissue death (Oyebanji et al., 2009). Even though there was no contamination, 100% Clorox was shown to be ineffective for seed surface sterilization of M. pudina since it dried out the seeds (Figure 1C) and impaired their propensity to germinate.

The same pattern was observed in the surface sterilization of Zea mays seeds, where the combination of 70% ethanol and 10% NaOCl was agreed to be the most effective treatment in eliminating seeds-associated microbes. It resulted in the highest number of germinated seeds with the lowest contamination rate, as compared to the treatments with 10% hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) or 10% sodium hypochloride (NaOCl) (Davoudpour et al., 2020). Similarly, using 4% NaOCl to surface-sterilize the seeds of Althaea officinalis showed the lowest contamination rate compared to using mercuric chloride. The germination percentage recorded was also comparable to the treatment that resulted in the highest germination rate (Younesikelaki et al., 2016).



Figure 1. A) Contamination rate of *Mimosa pudica* after different sterilization treatments; B) Germination rate of *M. pudica* after different sterilization treatments. Values are expressed as mean \pm standard error (n = 3). Different letters indicate statistically significant differences between factors (one-way ANOVA + Tukey post-hoc test at *p*<0.05); C-F) Seeds of *M. pudica* after surface sterilization with different concentrations of Clorox ranging from 0, 35, 70, and 100%, respectively

Seed Germination of *M. pudica* Seeds and Plantlets Development in Response to Different Medium Composition

Seed germination was recorded starting from day five after inoculation in germination media as the hypocotyls emerged (Figure 2A). Following that, the dicotyledons appeared (Figure 2B), the first true leaves were formed (Figure 2C), and the shoot was established (Figure 2D). The most recent micropropagation study of *M. pudica* by Bianchetti et al. (2017) incorporated a fullstrength MS basal medium and recorded 87% germination. In this study, other germination media parameters, such as type and strength of the basal medium and sucrose concentration, need to be assessed to establish a reproducible in vitro germination media for M. pudica seeds, which were not addressed in the previous study.

Therefore, different media compositions were incorporated in the basal medium,

MS and B5, with varied concentrations (i.e., ¹/₂, ³/₄, and full), including sucrose with concentrations ranging from 15, 30, to 45 g/L. The overall results (Table 2) demonstrated that the $\frac{1}{2}$ MS + 15 g/L sucrose recorded the highest percentage of germinated seeds (68.85%), the $\frac{3}{4}$ MS + 30 g/L sucrose recorded the highest number of new shoots (3.22 cm), and full MS + 15 g/L sucrose recorded the longest shoot length (3.78 cm). In contrast, the full B5 +45 g/L sucrose recorded the lowest values for all three responses. Therefore, based on the results, the $\frac{3}{4}$ MS + 30 g/L sucrose was selected as germination media for plantlet production for the subsequent study shoot multiplication study.

All three factors demonstrated statistically significant differences (p<0.05) in seed germination percentage. However, only the basal medium type was found significant to the number of new shoots



Figure 2. Culture initiation of *Mimosa pudica* seed. A) Emergence of hypocotyls; B) Emergence of dicotyledons; C) Formation of first true leaves; D) Formation of shoots

Note. Bar = 1.0 cm

formed and the shoot length. In terms of interactions between the factors, overall interactions were significant to germinated seeds percentage. Nevertheless, the factors' interactions had no notable effect on the number of shoots. The same applies to the length of the shoot, except that basal medium strength and sucrose were the only significant interaction factors (Table 3).

Table 2

Basal medium	Basal medium strength	Sucrose concentration (g/L)	Germinated seeds (%)	Number of shoots	Shoot length (cm)
-	Control	-	$50.00\pm5.6^{\rm b,c}$	$2.78\pm0^{\rm a}$	$1.18\pm0.2^{\rm b}$
	1/2	15	$68.85\pm4.5^{\rm a}$	$2.22\pm1.4^{\rm a}$	$3.09 \pm 1.3^{\rm a}$
MS		30	$52.20\pm1.1^{\text{a,b,c}}$	$2.11\pm0.7^{\tt a}$	$2.86 \pm 1.3^{\rm a,b}$
		45	$36.70 \pm 1.1^{\text{c,d}}$	$2.11\pm0.7^{\rm a}$	$3.36\pm0.7^{\rm a,b}$
	3/4	15	$47.75\pm5.6^{\rm c}$	$2.61\pm0.7^{\rm a}$	$2.88\pm0.8^{\rm a,b}$
		30	$65.55\pm3.3^{\rm a,b}$	$3.22\pm1.4^{\rm a}$	$3.38\pm0.6^{\rm a}$
		45	$47.80 \pm 1.1^{\circ}$	$2.33\pm0.7^{\rm a}$	$3.68 \pm 1.1^{\text{a,b}}$
	Full (1)	15	$44.45\pm2.3^{\rm c,d}$	$3.11\pm1.4^{\rm a}$	$3.78\pm0.2^{\rm a,b}$
		30	$40.00\pm2.2^{\rm c,d}$	$2.67\pm0.7^{\rm a}$	$3.16\pm0.4^{\rm a,b}$
		45	$38.9\pm3.3^{\text{c,d}}$	$2.11\pm0.7^{\rm a}$	$3.04\pm0.9^{\rm a}$
	1/2	15	$44.4\pm2.2^{\text{b,c}}$	$2.44\pm0.8^{\mathtt{a}}$	$2.90\pm0.6^{\rm a,b}$
		30	$36.67\pm5.6^{\rm c,d}$	$2.11\pm0.7^{\rm a}$	$3.19\pm0.4^{\rm a,b}$
		45	$42.22\pm0^{\rm d}$	$1.78\pm0.8^{\rm a}$	$1.92\pm0.7^{\rm a,b}$
	3/4	15	$28.89\pm2.2^{\rm d}$	$1.67\pm0.6^{\rm a}$	$2.10\pm0.8~^{\rm a,b}$
B5		30	$27.78 \pm 1.1^{\text{c,d}}$	$1.44\pm0.8^{\tt a}$	$2.58\pm0.9^{\rm a,b}$
		45	$43.33 \pm 1.1^{\text{c,d}}$	$2.22\pm1.3^{\mathtt{a}}$	$3.38 \pm 1.1^{\rm a}$
	Full (1)	15	$51.11\pm2.2^{\rm c,d}$	$2.67\pm1.2^{\rm a}$	$3.04\pm0.6^{\rm a,b}$
		30	$42.22\pm2.2^{\rm c,d}$	$2.11 \pm 1.1^{\text{a}}$	$2.59 \pm 1.1^{\rm a,b}$
		45	$27.78 \pm 1.1^{\text{c,d}}$	$1.44 \pm 1.3^{\texttt{a}}$	$2.08 \pm 1.4^{\mathtt{a},\mathtt{b}}$

The effects of the type and concentration of the basal medium and the sucrose concentration in the germination media on the percentage of seed germination, number of shoots, and shoot length of M. pudica

Note. Data were collected and expressed as the mean \pm standard error after 30 days of culture of three replicates, in which each replicate contains three explants. The data were tested for statistical differences by three-way ANOVA followed by the Tukey post hoc test. The criterion for significance was set at p < 0.05. Means that do not share a letter are significantly different

MS = Murashige and Skoog B5 = Gamborg B5

Table 3

The p value of interactions between factors affecting seed germination of M. pudica

Factor's interaction	Response	<i>p</i> value
Basal medium type * Basal medium strength		0.000*
Basal medium type * Sucrose	Germinated	0.003*
Basal medium strength * Sucrose	seeds	0.000*
Basal medium type * Basal medium strength * Sucrose		0.009*
Basal medium type * Basal medium strength		0.219
Basal medium type * Sucrose	Number of	0.697
Basal medium strength * Sucrose	shoots	0.458
Basal medium type * Basal medium strength * Sucrose		0.557
Basal medium type * Basal medium strength		0.787
Basal medium type * Sucrose	Length of	0.495
Basal medium strength * Sucrose	shoots	0.021*
Basal medium type * Basal medium strength * Sucrose		0.368

Note. Value with * is significant (p < 0.05)

MS and B5 have their properties and potential effects on in vitro plantlets. Generally, the most notable difference between MS and B5 media is the decreased ammonium/nitrate (NH₄⁺/NO₃⁻) ratio in the B5 medium (Russowski et al., 2006). The saturated nutritional content of fullstrength MS might be inappropriate for the small, immature seeds of M. pudica, which hinders germination and healthy growth of the plantlets. On the other hand, the low inorganic nutrients of B5 (e.g., calcium and magnesium) might cause nutrient deficiency, thus compromising the germination and growth of seedlings (Li & Zhang, 2018). MS contains high inorganic salts (e.g., nitrate, potassium, and ammonium), facilitating plant nutrient uptake and development (Koné et al., 2015). This study supports evidence from previous observations on Dendrobium

hookerianum seeds (Paul et al., 2012), where the highest percentage of germination and plantlets growth was recorded in those of MS medium. Similar to the case of embryo germination of *Juglans regia*, the MS medium demonstrated outstanding proliferation from the embryonic axis compared to the other media (Sánchez-Zamora et al., 2006). According to these data, it can be generally inferred that MS basal medium is more suitable than B5 for micropropagation of *M. pudica*.

Regarding the MS basal medium strength, the results confirmed that high MS strength was unnecessary to improve overall seed germination. This observation might be attributed to the increased quantity of a certain nutritional salt, which inhibits the plant's ability to absorb other mineral nutrients. The ½ MS resulted in the highest

germination percentage, whereas full MS resulted in a 24% lower germination rate. The finding is inconsistent with those observed on Vanilla planifolia by Jing (2016), in which seed germination performed better in a full-strength MS. Nevertheless, fewer shoots were recorded in the same media at 2.22 shoots per explant and a reduced shoot length at 3.09 cm. This result indicated that a low macro- and micronutrient concentration in the culture media might promote germination but not plantlet development. No significant difference was detected between the different strengths of MS in response to the number of new shoots of each plantlet and the shoot length, which exhibited a similar trend to a study on Vigna subterranea by Koné et al. (2015). Thus, the $\frac{3}{4}$ strength or 3.3 g/L of MS is sufficient for germinating M. pudica seeds.

Plantlets grown in culture vessels are called semi-autotrophic plants since their leaves may not acquire photosynthetic competency due to a lack of carbon dioxide (Hazarika, 2003). Therefore, a carbohydrate source like sucrose is commonly added to provide a sufficient supply of carbon for in vitro multiplication and growth of plant cells, tissues, organs, and entire plantlets. Carbon sources are also required as osmotic agents in the culture medium, which can alter cell physiology, proliferation, and differentiation (Gibson, 2000). Different carbohydrate sources can affect the development of plantlets in different ways. Improper type and concentration selection could cause morphogenesis to be delayed and physiological diseases like vitrification to develop. Sucrose has been widely used as a carbon source in most studies involving in vitro shoot induction and development, root induction, callogenesis, embryogenesis, and regeneration (Yaseen et al., 2012). Sucrose is a significant carbon and energy source in plant tissue culture since it is the most frequent carbohydrate in phloem sap and regulates many development stages (Zahara et al., 2016). The high solubility in water, electrical neutrality, and lack of inhibitory effect on most metabolic processes are all linked to sucrose's favorable effects on explant growth in vitro (Liu et al., 2006). In this study, sucrose concentration was found significant to the percentage of germinated seeds of M. pudica, although it did not significantly affect the plantlets' development in terms of the number of new shoots and length. The highest seed germination percentage was observed from the $\frac{1}{2}$ MS + 15 g/L of sucrose, while higher sucrose concentrations up to 45 g/L resulted in a lower germination rate. At high sucrose levels, seed germination and plantlet development were stunted, implying that the seeds were either subjected to osmotic stress at greater molarities or that sucrose hydrolysis products produced during autoclaving hampered their growth and development (Johnson et al., 2011).

Koné et al. (2015) reported that the plant height and biomass of *Bambara* groundnuts were increased when the sucrose content was increased from 1 to 3%. However, there was no significant variation in the number of leaves and root length among the different

sucrose concentrations examined. Studies on Ruscus hypoglossum and Cornus alba also found similar results (Ilczuk & Jacygrad, 2016). A high sucrose concentration also hindered orchid plantlets' growth, particularly the shoot and root numbers (Wotavová-Novotná et al., 2007). In Drosera intermedia, maximum shoot length and shoot number were reported on liquid medium containing 10 and 20 g/L sucrose, respectively (Rejthar et al., 2014). On the contrary, Abelmoschus esculentus did not thrive in a medium containing 10 and 15 g/L sucrose, where the explants displayed shoot tip necrosis and could not produce leaves. This finding indicated that lowering sucrose content influenced cellular division directly owing to a lack of carbon supply and energy, resulting in poor shoot regeneration and growth (Woldeyes et al., 2021). The contrasting difference is due to the variation in genotype, growth regulators, and culture conditions. In the case of M. pudica seeds, 3% sucrose concentration in the basal medium, equivalent to 30 g/L, is sufficient for normal plant growth.

Shoot Multiplication of *M. pudica* in Response to Different Plant Growth Hormone and Organic Additives at Different Concentrations

Nodal segments of *M. pudica* obtained from germinated seeds cultured in germination media were inoculated in media of MS basal medium supplemented with different concentrations of exogenous cytokinin hormones (i.e., BAP and KIN) and organic

additive CW. The results revealed that plant growth hormone or additive types and the interaction with the concentration had statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) to shoot multiplication, determined by shoot number and shoot length. However, the difference in plant growth hormone or additive concentration alone was significant only to shoot number but not to the shoot length. Based on Table 4, media supplemented with 35.2 µM KIN exhibited the highest shoot number formed (4.87), which was two-fold higher as compared to MSO (control). MSO is Murashige and Skoog only with no plant growth regulator added. All concentrations of CW treatments and 17.6 µM and 35.2 µM BAP treatments recorded the lowest shoot number of below 2. Treatments with 2.2 µM BAP, 35.2 µM BAP and 35.2 µM KIN produced more than four shoots per explant. While all CW treatments yielded the longest shoot length of over 3 cm, they produced a relatively small number of shoots. The shortest shoot of 0.32 cm was exhibited by 35.2 µM BAP.

Leaves production and basal callus formation were visually assessed and scored as – (absent), + (low), ++ (moderate), and +++ (high). MSO (control) and 17.6 μ M BAP produced moderate leaves (++). A low concentration of BAP resulted in shoots with leaves, but leaves were not produced at a concentration of 17.6 μ M and above. As for KIN, at 17.6 μ M, leaves produced were twice as produced in BAP and coconut water, but at other concentrations, leaves were minimal (+) or absent (-). CW, at all concentrations, consistently produced

Plant growth regulator	Concentration	Number of shoots	Shoot length (cm)	Leaves	Initiated callus
MSO (Control)	-	$2.33 \pm 1.4^{\text{a,b,c,d,e}}$	$2.89\pm2.0^{\rm a,b,c}$	++	-
	2.2	$4.07\pm0.96^{\rm a,b}$	$3.06\pm0.4^{\rm a,b,c}$	+	++
	4.4	$2.87 \pm 1.6^{\text{b,c,d}}$	$2.17\pm1.2^{\rm b,c}$	+	++
BAP (µM)	8.8	$3.8\pm2.3^{\rm a,b}$	$3.2\pm1.4^{\rm a,b,c}$	+	-
	17.6	$1.67 \pm 1.0^{\text{d,e}}$	$2.07\pm0.9^{\circ}$	-	-
	35.2	$0.07\pm0.3^{\text{e}}$	$0.32 \pm 1.2^{\rm d}$	-	-
	2.2	$4.0\pm1.1^{\text{a,b}}$	$3.18\pm0.9^{\rm a,b,c}$	+	+
	4.4	$3.53 \pm 1.3^{\rm a,b,c}$	$3.09 \pm 1.0^{\rm a,b,c}$	-	++
KIN (µM)	8.8	$3.93\pm2.1^{\rm a,b}$	$2.79\pm1.0^{\scriptscriptstyle a,b,c}$	+	-
	17.6	$3.6\pm2.3^{\rm a,b,c}$	$3.27\pm1.0^{\rm a,b,c}$	++	+
	35.2	$4.87 \pm 1.2^{\rm a}$	$3.65\pm0.9^{\text{a,b}}$	-	+
	10%	$1.27\pm0.7^{\text{d},\text{e}}$	$3.43 \pm 1.1^{\mathtt{a,b,c}}$	+	-
	20%	$1.27\pm1.0^{\rm d,e}$	$3.8\pm1.8^{\rm a}$	+	-
CW (%)	30%	$1.73\pm0.8^{\rm d,e}$	$3.98 \pm 1.5^{\rm a}$	+	-
	40%	$1.93\pm0.7^{\rm c,d}$	$3.1\pm1.6^{\rm a,b,c}$	+	-
	50%	$1.67\pm0.6^{\rm d,e}$	$4.2\pm0.8^{\rm a}$	+	-

Effects of types of plant growth regulators (PGR), additive, and their concentrations on shoot multiplication of M. pudica

MSO = Murashige and Skoog without plant growth regulator

BAP = 6-benzylaminopurine

KIN = kinetin

Table 4

CW = coconut water

shoots with a small number of leaves. Basal callus formation was observed in plantlets treated with $2.2 - 4.4 \mu M$ BAP (Figure 3C) and all concentrations of KIN except for one at 8.8 μ M while MSO (control) and CW exhibited zero basal callus. The basal callus is a common issue in most plants during shoot induction; however, the severity varies by species. It was most likely caused by a disruption in endogenous hormones in the tissue, as a common physiological stress

reaction. In several cases, callus is formed due to the accumulation of endogenous auxin at the wounded parts of the plants (Fehér, 2019). Above all, MS basal medium fortified with 17.6 μ M KIN (Figure 3A) was selected as the best media for shoot multiplication of *M. pudica* due to the satisfactory shoot number and shoot length, a moderate amount of leaves with low basal callus formation.

Note. Data were collected and expressed as the mean \pm standard error after 30 days of culture. The data were tested for statistical differences by two-way ANOVA followed by the Tukey post hoc test. The criterion for significance was set at p < 0.05. Means that do not share a letter are significantly different. Leaves and basal callus rating: – (absent), + (low), ++ (moderate), and +++ (high)



Figure 3. Shoot multiplication of *Mimosa pudica.* A) Shoot multiplication in media fortified with 17.6 μ M KIN; B) Shoot multiplication in media fortified with 35.2 μ M KIN; C) Shoot multiplication in media fortified with 4.4 μ M BAP, the arrow pointing to formed basal callus

Note. Bar = 1.0 cm KIN = kinetin BAP = 6-benzylaminopurine

Consistent with the previous observation by Bianchetti et al. (2017), the highest number of shoots recorded in 5 µM BAP was 5 shoots/explant, which was just marginally higher than those in the current study (4.87 shoots/explant in 35.2 µM KIN). It was also reported that increasing BAP concentration hindered shoot number and elongation, with plantlets reaching an average height of 2.5 cm, which was lower than the shoot length achieved in this study, which was over 3 cm. On the contrary, they found that supplementing *M. pudica* shoots with KIN did not significantly increase their proliferation with no significant differences compared to the control. In addition, supplementing with 1-naphthaleneacetic acid (NAA) and BAP did not affect shoot elongation, demonstrating a negative relationship between multiplication rate and shoot length.

The cytokinin signaling system involves coordinating three types of proteins: histidine kinase receptors for signal perception, histidine phosphotransfer proteins for the signal relay, and response regulators for signal output (Keshishian & Rashotte, 2015). When the signal is relayed to the nucleus, it will be conveyed to two types of gene expression regulators that govern the plant's developmental stages. The signal receptor perceives different types of cytokinin differently, which explains the differences in plant response even though it comes from the same group of PGR (Schepetilnikov & Ryabova, 2017). Plant growth hormone supplementation in cultures causes the transcription of specific genes that modulate each stage of plant growth. When the groups of genes responsible for a particular plant growth process are identified, the media culture can be better optimized, promoting the defined hormones with their effective concentration to influence gene expression throughout the development process (Jiang & Asami, 2018).

Cytokinin is commonly used in the induction and proliferation stages of explants. Aside from PGR, organic additives like CW, apple juice, tomato juice, and peptone may help plant tissues grow and develop (Gupta, 2016; Kaur & Bhutani, 2016; Prando et al., 2014). CW contains sugars, amino acids, vitamins, enzymes, and organic acids, as well as endogenous cytokinin that promotes explant development and regeneration by stimulating cell division (Ge et al., 2005). When plant portions are excised into smaller sizes, the production of cytokinin in plants is restricted owing to the damage (Gallavotti, 2013). Therefore, in the present study, cytokinin was added to the basal media to stimulate shoot induction, cell division, and cell differentiation. In the case of M. pudica plantlets, this study revealed that KIN was the most suitable cytokinin option for its shoot multiplication and proliferation.

On the contrary, previous research on *Justicia gendarussa* found that supplementing BAP in MS basal medium resulted in the highest percentage of shoot induction, the number of shoots, and shoot length compared to KIN and thidiazuron (TDZ) (Janarthanam et al., 2011). The same finding was observed in *Clinacanthus nutans*, in which 12 μ M BAP was more effective than the other cytokinins in the early stages of shoot induction (Haida et al., 2020). Moreover, comparable research on *Clitoria ternatea* and *Pisum sativum*, which belong to the same family as *M*. *pudica*, reported that the proportion of shoot regeneration and the number of shoots increased when BAP was incorporated into the culture media (Das et al., 2014; Mukhtar et al., 2010).

According to this study, CW supplementation in M. pudica culture media did not have a significant effect on the number of shoots, but it did have a significant effect on shoot length. It accords with a previous report (Buah & Agu-Asare, 2014), which revealed that CW treatment only exhibited 25 shoots on the Cavendish banana plant compared to 37 shoots by BAP. Nevertheless, the banana plantlet's height was 3 cm longer in CW treatment compared to BAP. Conversely, other species like Pomacentrus amboinensis thrived in a medium fortified with CW in terms of root elongation, leaf size, and plantlet elongation (Utami & Hariyanto, 2019). The same trend was observed in plantlets of Renanthera imschootiana, in which 10% (v/v) of CW supplementation in $^{1}\!\!\!/_{4}\,MS$ enhanced the growth of the protocorms (Wu et al., 2014). The same pattern was seen in in vitro cultivated olive embryos, where CW supplementation enhanced the number of leaves but did not affect shoot length or other features (de Souza et al., 2013). The discrepancies in plantlet responses could be related to the CW treatment's reaction being relatively species-specific (Villa et al., 2010).

Leaves are the most critical organ to develop to initiate rooting. A classical study

of in vitro rooting on avocado cuttings revealed that the number of leaves preserved on the cuttings was linked with the number of root plantlets. The role of leaves in ensuring the continuation of photosynthesis has resulted in a build-up of carbohydrates at the cuttings' base (Reuveni & Raviv, 1980). In Plectranthus scutellarioides, longer roots were produced at stem cuttings with apical leaves, as compared to leafless stem cuttings. The correlation between the presence of leaves and rooting performance was due to the leaves providing reserves, hormones, and co-factors that stems alone lack sufficient quantity (Belniaki et al., 2018). The same behavior was observed in bitter melon cuttings, where leaf-on cuttings had a major effect on roots, with rooting remaining extremely modest even when the incubation time was increased to 10 days. While bitter melon failed to root on leafless cuttings even with auxin hormone treatment, sweet potato cuttings can root easily without leaves (Malik et al., 2012). A moderate 17.6 µM KIN supplementation was deemed the most suitable shoot multiplication media for *M. pudica*. After that, it was used for the next *in vitro* rooting study.

Rooting Initiation of *M. pudica* in Response to Different MS Strength and Auxin Hormone, 2,4-D Concentrations

The effect of MS basal medium strength and supplementation of exogenous auxin hormone 2,4-D on *in vitro* rooting of M. pudica was evaluated. Based on Table 5, only two treatments, 1/2 and full MS were shown to respond with rooting, both of which were devoid of 2,4-D addition. Other treatments supplemented with 2,4-D resulted in no rooting response, and gall formation was observed at the basal part (Figure 4B). The emergence of roots in plantlets in 1/2 MS media was recorded after 5.93 days; for full MS, they took 7.27 days to root. In addition, the number of roots produced in $\frac{1}{2}$ MS was higher (5.13) as compared to full MS (1.47). However, both treatments exhibited the same root length of 2.06 cm.

Table 5

MS strength	2,4-D (μM)	Days to root	Number of roots	Length of root (cm)	Morphology of root
1/2	-	$5.93\pm3.28^{\rm a}$	$5.13\pm2.61^{\mathtt{a}}$	$2.06 \pm 1.41^{\mathtt{a}}$	Thin, long
1/2	5.33	-	0	0	Gall formed
1/2	10.66	-	0	0	Gall formed
Full	-	$7.27\pm2.87^{\rm a}$	$1.47\pm0.83^{\text{b}}$	$2.06 \pm 1.41^{\mathtt{a}}$	Thick, rotten
Full	5.33	-	0	0	Gall formed
Full	10.66	-	0	0	Gall formed

Effects of Murashige and Skoog (MS) strength and 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) concentration on in vitro *rooting of* M. pudica

Note. Data were expressed as the mean \pm standard error of fifteen replicates. The data were tested for statistical differences by two-way ANOVA followed by the Tukey post hoc test. The criterion for significance was set at p < 0.05. Means that do not share a letter are significantly different

In Vitro Micropropagation of Mimosa pudica

The roots of *M. pudica* in ½ MS treatment appeared healthy, thin, and long (Figure 4A), while in full MS, the single root that emerged were thick, and some were observed rotten (Figure 4 C). It may be inferred that adding 2,4-D did not help the rooting initiation of *M. pudica*; hence PGR incorporation was unnecessary. Additionally, ½ MS is sufficient for rooting since full MS resulted in low rooting efficacy, with only 1–2 thick and rotting roots emerging, compared to a higher number of healthy roots in ½ MS.

These results reflect those of Bianchetti et al. (2017), who found that no significant difference was observed between control and NAA-fortified treatments of *M. pudica*, indicating that this PGR did not promote rooting regardless of the concentration. Since there has been little research on 2,4-D as a source of auxin in *M. pudica* rooting, it was examined in this study.

Even when auxins are present in culture media, excessive salt concentrations in basal medium might hamper root development. Therefore, it is necessary to reduce macroand micronutrient concentrations to half their normal levels during the rooting phase of most plant species (Woldeyes et al., 2021). Similar observations were recorded in Ruscus hypoglossum (Dahab et al., 2005), Drosera intermedia (Rejthar et al., 2014), and Abelmoschus esculentus (Rizwan et al., 2018) in which ¹/₂ strength MS media produced the highest root number and length. However, at a much lower concentration of MS (1/4 MS strength), the least weak root development and proliferation were recorded in Abelmoschus esculentus (0.70 root number and 0.54 cm root length).



Figure 4. Root initiation of *Mimosa pudica*. A) Plantlet in rooting media fortified with ½ MS void of 2,4-D; B) Plantlet in rooting media fortified with ½ MS + 1.0 mg/L 2,4-D, an arrow pointing to rotten gall formed; C) Plantlet in rooting media fortified with full MS void of 2,4-D

Note. Bar = 1.0 cm

MS = Murashige and Skoog 2,4-D = 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid

When 2,4-D is administered at effective concentrations to dicotyledonous plants, it will be absorbed by the roots, stems, and leaves and translocated to the plant's meristems (Munro et al., 1992). As a result, the roots thicken and become stunted, stem phloem and xylem tissue disintegrate, and leaf development ceases, followed by stem curling, leaf withering, and eventually plant death (Grossmann, 2009; Song, 2013). The molecular mode of action of auxin is administered by the auxin receptor residing at the plasma membrane, which involves an amino acid permease-like protein that mediates auxin inflow (Swarup et al., 2008), efflux carriers that mediate auxin outflow and ATP-binding cassette, which serve as auxin transporters (Petrásek et al., 2006). The structure or size of their auxin binding pockets on the receptor, which is regulated by its aromatic ring size, may explain the difference in the effectiveness of various auxin types on the plants (Calderon-Villalobos et al., 2010).

According to observations in vine rootstock cuttings, 2,4-D did not stimulate the formation of adventitious roots or sprouting. However, it did reduce mortality, attributed to the stimulation of ethylene biosynthesis, which promoted senescence in various tissues (Tofanelli et al., 2014). The rooting of *Lippia* species cuttings treated for 24 hr with IBA, NAA, or 2,4-D showed that 2,4-D did not promote the formation of adventitious roots and that 100% of the treated cuttings died (Pimenta et al., 2007), which recorded similar response to this study. Despite this, 2,4-D is a key synthetic plant regulator, acting similarly to auxins in promoting lateral roots and preventing root stretching (Simon & Petrášek, 2011). On the one hand, 2,4-D might produce harmful metabolic and biochemical alterations in nucleic acids, cell wall flexibility, and the function of the RNA-polymerase enzyme causing excessive cell proliferation in tissues, in stem epinasty and phloem disruption (Tofanelli et al., 2014). It can be deduced that *M. pudica* can root without supplementing exogenous auxins such as IBA, NAA, and 2,4-D.

CONCLUSION

This study outlined a procedure for seed germination, shoot multiplication, and root initiation of in vitro micropropagation of the undervalued medicinal plant, M. pudica. The best basal medium for seed germination and culture initiation was 3/4 MS supplemented with 30 g/L of sucrose. MS fortified with 35.2 µM of kinetin was the most satisfactory treatment for shoot multiplication. Roots of in vitro M. pudica were effectively initiated in 1/2 strength of MS devoid of any plant hormone. The impact of other main media components not explored in this study could improve the culture medium. Further research is warranted to gauge the adaptability of the in vitro plantlets to the environment. Overall, in vitro culture is a sustainable alternative to harvesting wild plants for their medicinal properties and an appealing approach that may provide sufficient preliminary materials for the large-scale cultivation of medicinal plants.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors gratefully acknowledge the financial assistance from Putra Grant GP/2018/9602200 granted by Universiti Putra Malaysia.

REFERENCES

- Ahmadi, E., Nasr, S. M. H., Jalilvand, H., & Savadkoohi, S. K. (2012). Contamination control of microbe *Ziziphus spina* [christti] seed *in vitro* culture. *Trees*, 26, 1299-1304. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00468-012-0705-8
- Anand, S. (2010). Various approaches for secondary metabolite production through plant tissue culture. *Pharmacia*, *1*(1), 1–7.
- Baharuddin, N. S., Roslan, M. A. M., Bawzer, M. A. M., Mohamad Azzeme, A., Rahman, Z. A., Khayat, M. E., Rahman, N. A. A., & Sobri, Z. M. (2021). Response surface optimization of extraction conditions and *in vitro* antioxidant and antidiabetic evaluation of an under-valued medicinal weed, *Mimosa pudica. Plants*, *10*(8), 1692. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants10081692
- Baskaran, P., Moyo, N., & Staden, J. V. (2014). In vitro plant regeneration, phenolic compound production and pharmacological activities of Coleonema pulchellum. South African Journal of Botany, 90, 74–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. sajb.2013.10.005
- Belniaki, A. C., Rabel, L. A. D. N., Gomes, E. N., & Zuffellato-Ribas, K. C. (2018). Does the presence of leaves on coleus stem cuttings influence their rooting? *Ornamental Horticulture*, 24(3), 206– 210. https://doi.org/10.14295/oh.v24i3.1204
- Bianchetti, R. E., de Resende, C., F., Pacheco, V. S., Dornellas, F. F., de Oliveira, A. M. S., Freitas, J. C. E., & Peixoto, P. H. P. (2017). An improved protocol for *in vitro* propagation of the medicinal plant *Mimosa pudica* L. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, *16*(9), 418–428. https://doi. org/10.5897/AJB2016.15831

- Buah, J. N., & Agu-Asare, P. (2014). Coconut water from fresh and dry fruits as an alternative to BAP in the *in vitro* culture of dwarf cavendish banana. *Journal of Biological Science*, 14(8), 521-526. https://doi.org/10.3923/jbs.2014.521.526
- Calderon-Villalobos, L. I., Tan, X., Zheng, N., & Estelle, M. (2010). Auxin perception - Structural insights. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 2(7), a005546. https://doi.org/10.1101/ cshperspect.a005546
- Dahab, A., Habib, A. M. A., Hosni, Y. A., & Gabr, A. M. M. (2005). Effect of MS-salt strength, sucrose and IBA concentration and acclimatization media on *Ruscus hypoglossum* L. micropropagation. *Arab Journal of Biotechnology*, 8(1), 141–154.
- Das, A., Kumar, S., Nandeesha, P., Yadav, I. S., Saini, J., Chaturvedi, S. K., & Datta, S. (2014). An efficient in vitro regeneration system of fieldpea (*Pisum sativum* L.) via shoot organogenesis. *Journal of Plant Biochemistry* and Biotechnology, 23, 184–189. https://doi. org/10.1007/s13562-013-0200-3
- Davoudpour, Y., Schmidt, M., Calabrese, F., Richnow, H. H., & Musat, N. (2020). High resolution microscopy to evaluate the efficiency of surface sterilization of *Zea mays* seeds. *PLOS One*, *15*(11), e0242247. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0242247
- de Souza, R. A. V., Braga, F. T., Setotaw, T. A., Neto, J. V., de Azevedo, P. H., de Azevedo, V. H., & de Almeida Cançado, G. M. (2013). Effect of coconut water on growth of olive embryos cultured *in vitro*. *Ciência Rural*, 43(2), 290–296. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0103-84782013000200016
- Dias, M. I., Sousa, M. J., Alves, R. C., & Ferreira, C. F. R. (2016). Exploring plant tissue culture to improve the production of phenolic compounds: A review. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 82, 9-22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. indcrop.2015.12.016

Nor Saffana Baharuddin, Muhamad Aidilfitri Mohamad Roslan, Noor Amani Ramli, Azzreena Mohamad Azzeme, Zuraida Ab Rahman, Mohd Ezuan Khayat, Helmi Wasoh and Zulfazli M. Sobri

- Fehér, A. (2019). Callus, dedifferentiation, totipotency, somatic embryogenesis: What these terms mean in the era of molecular plant biology? *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10, 536. https://doi. org/10.3389/fpls.2019.00536
- Felek, W., Mekibib, F., & Admassu, B. (2015). Optimization of explants surface sterilization condition for field grown peach (*Prunus persica* L. Batsch. Cv. Garnem) intended for *in vitro* culture. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 14(8), 657–660. https://doi.org/10.5897/ajb2014.14266
- Gallavotti, A. (2013). The role of auxin in shaping shoot architecture. Journal of Experimental Botany, 64(9), 2593–2608. https://doi. org/10.1093/jxb/ert141
- Ge, L., Yong, J. W. H., Goh, N. K., Chia, L. S., Tan, S. N., & Ong, E. S. (2005). Identification of kinetin and kinetin riboside in coconut (*Cocos nucifera* L.) water using a combined approach of liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry, high performance liquid chromatography and capillary electrophoresis. *Journal of Chromatography*, 829(1-2), 26–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2005.09.026
- Gibson, S. I. (2000). Plant sugar-response pathways. Part of a complex regulatory web. *Plant Physiology*, 124(4), 1532–1539. https://doi. org/10.1104/pp.124.4.1532
- Grossmann, K. (2009). Auxin herbicides: Current status of mechanism and mode of action. *Pest Management Science*, 66(2), 113-120. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ps.1860
- Gupta, A. (2016). Asymbiotic seed germination in orchids: Role of organic additives. International Advanced Research Journal in Science, Engineering and Technology, 3(5), 143–147. https://doi.org/10.17148/IARJSET.2016.3530
- Haida, Z., Nakasha, J. J., & Hakiman, M. (2020). In vitro responses of plant growth factors on growth, yield, phenolics content and antioxidant activities of *Clinacanthus nutans* (Sabah snake grass).

Plants, 9(8), 1030. https://doi.org/10.3390/ plants9081030

- Hassan, A. K. M. S., Sultana, R., Jahan, M. A. A., & Khatun, R. (2010). *In vitro* mass propagation of *Mimosa pudica* L., using shoot tip and nodal explants. *Bangladesh Journal of Scientific and Industrial Research*, 45(2), 95–100. https://doi. org/10.3329/bjsir.v45i2.5704
- Hazarika, B. N. (2003). Acclimatization of tissuecultured plants. *Current Science*, 85(12), 1704–1712. https://doi.org/10.17660/ ActaHortic.1992.314.13
- Ilczuk, A., & Jacygrad, E. (2016). In vitro propagation and assessment of genetic stability of acclimated plantlets of Cornus alba L. using RAPD and ISSR markers. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology - Plant, 52, 379–390. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11627-016-9781-6
- Janarthanam, B., Gayathri, B., & Sumathi, E. (2011). A rapid, high frequency regeneration of Justicia gendarussa Burm.f. Bangladesh Journal of Scientific and Industrial Research, 46(2), 201– 204. https://doi.org/10.3329/bjsir.v46i2.4388
- Jiang, K., & Asami, T. (2018). Chemical regulators of plant hormones and their applications in basic research and agriculture. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 82(8), 1265-1300. https://doi.org/10.1080/09168451.2018. 1462693
- Jing, G. F. (2016). Effects of selected additives for growth efficiency on in vitro grown Vanilla planifolia Andrews [Master's thesis, Universiti Sains Malaysia]. Repository@USM. http:// eprints.usm.my/31559/1/GOH_FOONG_ JING_24.pdf
- Johnson, T. R., Kane, M. E., & Pérez, H. E. (2011). Examining the interaction of light, nutrients and carbohydrates on seed germination and early seedling development of *Bletia purpurea* (Orchidaceae). *Plant Growth Regulator*, 63, 89– 99. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10725-010-9516-3

- Kaur, S., & Bhutani, K. K. (2016). Asymbiotic seed germination and multiplication of an endangered orchid – *Paphiopedilum venustum* (Wall. ex Sims.). *Acta Societatis Botanicorum Poloniae*, 85(2), 3494. https://doi.org/10.5586/asbp.3494
- Keshishian, E. A., & Rashotte, A. M. (2015). Plant cytokinin signalling. *Essays in Biochemistry*, 58, 13–27. https://doi.org/10.1042/bse0580013
- Koné, M., Koné, T., Silué, N., Soumahoro, A. B., & Kouakou, T. H. (2015). *In vitro* seeds germination and seedling growth of bambara groundnut (*Vigna subterranea* (L.) Verdc. (Fabaceae)). *The Scientific World Journal*, 2015, 595073. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/595073
- Li, H., & Zhang, D. (2018). In vitro seed germination of Kalmia latifolia L. hybrids: A means for improving germination and speeding up breeding cycle. American Society for Horticultural Science, 53(4), 535–540. https://doi. org/10.21273/HORTSCI12829-17
- Liu, T.-H. A., Lin, J.-J., & Wu, R.-Y. (2006). The effects of using trehalose as a carbon source on the proliferation of *Phalaenopsis* and *Doritaenopsis* protocorm-like-bodies. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture*, 86, 125–129. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11240-006-9092-4
- Malik, N. S. A., Perez, J. L., & Kunta, M. (2012). The effect of leaf presence on the rooting of stem cutting of bitter melon and on changes in polyamine levels. *Agricultural Sciences*, 3(7), 936–940. https://doi.org/10.4236/as.2012.37114
- Mukhtar, S., Anis, M., & Ahmad, N. (2010). In vitro optimization of phytohormones on micropropagation in butterfly pea (Clitoria ternatea L.). Journal of Herbs, Spices and Medicinal Plants, 16(2), 98–105. https://doi.or g/10.1080/10496475.2010.499310
- Munro, I. C., Carlo, G. L., Orr, J. C., Sund, K. G., Wilson, R. M., Kennepohl, E., Lynch, B. S., & Jablinske, M. (1992). A comprehensive,

integrated review and evaluation of the scientific evidence relating to the safety of the herbicide 2,4-D. *Journal of the American College of Toxicology*, *11*(5), 559–664. https://doi. org/10.3109/10915819209141893

- Oyebanji, O. B., Nweke, O., Odebunmi, O., Galadima, N. B., Idris, M. S., Nnodi, U. N., Afolabi, A. S., & Ogbadu, G. H. (2009). Simple, effective and economical explant-surface sterilization protocol for cowpea, rice and sorghum seeds. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 8(20), 5395–5399. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJB09.923
- Paul, S., Kumaria, S., & Tandon, P. (2012). An effective nutrient medium for asymbiotic seed germination and large-scale *in vitro* regeneration of *Dendrobium hookerianum*, a threatened orchid of northeast India. *Annals of Botany PLANTS*, 2012, plr032. https://doi.org/10.1093/aobpla/ plr032
- Petrásek, J., Mravec, J., Bouchard, R., Blakeslee, J. J., Abas, M., Seifertová, D., Wiśniewska, J., Tadele, Z., Kubeš, M., Covanová, M., Dhonukshe, P., Skůpa, P., Benková, E., Perry, L., Křeček, P., Lee, O. R., Fink, G. R., Geisler, M., Murphy, A. S., ... Friml, J. (2006). PIN proteins perform a rate-limiting function in cellular auxin efflux. *Science*, *312*(5775), 914–918. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.1123542
- Pimenta, M. R., Fernandes, L. S., Pereira, U. J., Garcia, L. S., Leal, S. R., Leitão, S. G., Salimena, F. R. G., Viccini, L. F., & Peixoto, P. H. P. (2007). Flowering, germination and rooting of cuttings of *Lippia* L. (Verbenaceae). *Revista Brasileira de Botânica*, 30(2), 211–220. https:// doi.org/10.1590/S0100-84042007000200006
- Prando, M. A. S., Chiavazza, P., Faggio, A., & Contessa, C. (2014). Effect of coconut water and growth regulator supplements on *in vitro* propagation of *Corylus avellana* L. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 171, 91–94. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scienta.2014.03.052

- Ramesh, S., Chandran, C., & Venkatesan, G. (2013). In vitro clonal propagation of vulnerable medicinal plant, Mimosa pudica L. International Journal of Current Research and Development, 2(1), 18–30.
- Rejthar, J., Viehmannova, I., Cepkova, P., Fernández, E., & Milella, L. (2014). *In vitro* propagation of *Drosera intermedia* as influenced by cytokinins, pH, sucrose and nutrient concentration. *Emirates Journal of Food and Agriculture*, 26(6), 558– 564. https://doi.org/10.9755/ejfa.v26i6.18022
- Reuveni, O., & Raviv, M. (1980). Importance of leaf retention to rooting of avocado cuttings. *Journal* of the American Society for Horticultural Science, 106(2), 127–130. https://doi.org/10.21273/ JASHS.106.2.127
- Rizwan, H. M., Irshad, M., He, B. Z., Debnath, B., Mitra, S., Li, M., Lu, X. C., Sun, Y. T., & Qiu, D. L. (2018). Silver nitrate (AgNO₃) boosted high-frequency multiple shoot regeneration from cotyledonary node explants of okra (*Abelmoschus esculentus* L.). *Applied Ecology* and Environmental Research, 16(3), 3421–3435. https://doi.org/10.15666/aeer/1603
- Russowski, D., Maurmann, N., Rech, S. B., & Fett-Neto, A. G. (2006). Role of light and medium composition on growth and valepotriate contents in *Valeriana glechomifolia* whole plant liquid cultures. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture*, *86*, 211–218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11240-006-9109-z
- Sánchez-Zamora, M. Á., Cos-Terrer, J., Frutos-Tomás, D., & García-López, R. (2006). Embryo germination and proliferation *in vitro* of *Juglans regia* L. *Scientia Horticulturae*, *108*(3), 317–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2006.01.041
- Schepetilnikov, M., & Ryabova, L. A. (2017). Auxin signaling in regulation of plant translation reinitiation. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 8, 1014. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.01014

- Simon, S., & Petrášek, J. (2011). Why plants need more than one type of auxin. *Plant Science*, *180*(3), 454–460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. plantsci.2010.12.007
- Song, Y. (2013). Insight into the mode of action of 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) as an herbicide. *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology*, 56(2), 106–113. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jipb.12131
- Swarup, K., Benková, E., Swarup, R., Casimiro, I., Péret, B., Yang, Y., Parry, G., Nielsen, E., Smet, I. D., Vanneste, S., Levesque, M. P., Carrier, D., James, N., Calvo, V., Ljung, K., Kramer, E., Roberts, R., Graham, N., Marillonnet, S., ... Bennett, M. J. (2008). The auxin influx carrier LAX3 promotes lateral root emergence. *Nature Cell Biology*, 10, 946–954. https://doi. org/10.1038/ncb1754
- Tiwari, S., Tiwari, R., & Singh, A. (2012). Impact of cypermethrin on fingerlings of common edible carp (*Labeo rohita*). *The Scientific World Journal*, 2012, 291395. https://doi. org/10.1100/2012/291395
- Tofanelli, M. B. D., Freitas, P. L., & Pereira, G. E. (2014). 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid as an alternative auxin for rooting of vine rootstock cuttings. *Revista Brasileira de Fruticultura*, 36(3), 664–672. https://doi.org/10.1590/0100-2945-266/13
- Utami, E. S. W., & Hariyanto, S. (2019). In vitro seed germination and seedling development of a rare Indonesian native orchid *Phalaenopsis* amboinensis J.J.Sm. Scientifica, 2019, 8105138. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/8105138
- Villa, F., Pasqual, M., & de Faria Freitas, G. (2010). Optimization of a protocol for the micropropagation of olive tree cv. Ascolano 315. *Revista Ceres*, 57(4), 530–534. https://doi. org/10.1590/S0034-737X2010000400015

- Woldeyes, G. G., Senbeta, T. F., Adugna, A. Y., & Abegaz, A. W. (2021). The effect of MS strength, pH and sucrose concentrations on *in vitro* propagation of okra (*Abelmoschus esculentus* L.) from shoot tip explants. *Research Square*. https:// doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-153475/v1
- Wotavová-Novotná, K., Vejsadová, H., & Kindlmann, P. (2007). Effects of sugars and growth regulators on *in vitro* growth of *Dactylorhiza* species. *Biologia Plantarum*, 51, 198–200. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10535-007-0040-x
- Wu, K., Zeng, S., Lin, D., da Silva, J. A. T., Bu, Z., Zhang, J., & Duan, J. (2014). *In vitro* propagation and reintroduction of the endangered *Renanthera imschootiana* Rolfe. *PLOS One*, 9(10), e0110033. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0110033
- Yaseen, M., Ahmad, T., Sablok, G., Standardi, A., & Hafiz, I. A. (2012). Review: Role of carbon sources for *in vitro* plant growth and development. *Molecular Biology Reports*, 40, 2837-2849. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-012-2299-z

- Younesikelaki, F. S., Ebrahimzadeh, M. H., Desfardi, M. K., Banala, M., Marka, R., & Nanna, R. S. (2016). Optimization of seed surface sterilization method and *in vitro* seed germination in *Althaea officinalis* (L.) - An important medicinal herb. *Indian Journal of Science and Technology*, 9(28), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.17485/ijst/2016/ v9i28/90896
- Zahara, M., Datta, A., & Boonkorkaew, P. (2016). Effects of sucrose, carrot juice and culture media on growth and net CO₂ exchange rate in *Phalaenopsis* hybrid 'Pink'. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 205, 17–24. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scienta.2016.04.011



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Parthenium hysterophorus Weed Fecundity and Seed Survival at Different Soil pH and Burial Conditions

Mohd Norsazwan Ghazali*, Uma Rani Sinniah and Muhammad Saiful Ahmad-Hamdani

Department of Crop Science, Faculty of Agriculture, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Parthenium hysterophorus L. is regarded as one of the most invasive weed species. This study evaluated the effect of soil pH on *P. hyterophorus* weed growth and fecundity, as well as the effect of burial depths on *P. hyterophorus* seed survival and emergence. The first study evaluated five soil pH levels (acidic, sub-acidic, neutral, sub-basic, and basic) in a randomised complete block design. Seed germinability and subsequent seedling growth (height, leaf area, biomass, and seed number/plant) were evaluated. This study showed that *P. hysterophorus* seeds have a similar germination capacity under varying soil pH conditions. However, acidic soil indicated accelerated growth (25% higher biomass with 15.2% more leaf area) and fecundity (13.4% faster to enter the flowering stage at 74 days after sowing). In the second study, two factors were tested; burial depths (0.5, 5, 10, and 20 cm) being nested into seven burial durations (0, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, and 12 months). Seed viability (final germination percentage and germination rate index), electrical conductance, and emergence percentage were assessed with the burial conditions. The results showed that only seed buried at 0.5 cm depth indicated emergence (81.3% of cumulative emergence).

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 31 October 2022 Accepted: 31 January 2023 Published: 18 April 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.13

E-mail addresses:

mohdnorsazwan@upm.edu.my (Mohd Norsazwan Ghazali) umarani@upm.edu.my (Uma Rani Sinniah) s_ahmad@upm.edu.my (Muhammad Saiful Ahmad Hamdani) *Corresponding author Forty per cent of the seeds remained viable after exhumation at 0.5–5 cm depth, while only 19–27% survived as the burial depth increased beyond 10 cm depth within 12 months. The seed remained viable for more than 12 months as a seed bank, despite faster deterioration at increasing soil depth.

Keywords: Parthenium hysterophorus, seed, survival

INTRODUCTION

Parthenium hysterophorus L. is one of the most invasive weeds from the Asteraceae family, which has spread and distributed throughout almost the entire globe (Kaur et al., 2014; Tanveer et al., 2015). It was originally native to North and South America (Bajwa et al., 2019; Kaur et al., 2014). In Malaysia, the invasion of P. hyterophorus was officially reported in 2013, which had then spread to several states, mainly Kedah, Perak, Negeri Sembilan, and a few other regions within Peninsular Malaysia (Karim et al., 2018). Parthenium hysterophorus infestations were mainly associated with human and animal health issues such as dermatitis, asthma, bronchitis, agricultural losses, and a significant threat to biodiversity (Allan et al., 2018; Kaur et al., 2014). Significant loss of grains and forage yields by 40 to 90% was reported, as it exhibited a strong allelopathic influence, which increased its competitive advantage for soil available moisture and nutrients. These allelochemicals, such as parthenin and hysterin, were proven to inhibit agronomic crops and vegetables germination and growth (Bajwa et al., 2019; Tanveer et al., 2015). Currently, an integrative management approach is utilised to control P. hysterophorus infestations, including the usage of chemical herbicides (mainly clomazone, metribuzin, atrazine, glyphosate, metsulfuron methyl, butachlor, bentazone, dicamba, and metsulfuronmethyl), extracts of allelopathic plants (herbs, grasses, and trees that showed inhibitory effect on seed germination), intercropping with competitive plant species, and usage of biological control agents such as Mexican beetle, seed-feeding weevils, leaf-mining moth, and sap-feeding plant hopper (Tanveer et al., 2015).

Parthenium hysterophorus is regarded as a highly prolific seed producer as a single plant could produce up to 28,000 seeds in a life cycle (Kaur et al., 2014; Tanveer et al., 2015), which in turn contributed to a large and persistent seed bank in the soil (Navie et al., 2004; Nguyen et al., 2017). The small sized seed (2 mm in length) are easily dispersed by water and wind, but most of the spread across the regions were mainly through farm vehicles and machinery and as contaminants in the exported animals' feed as well as other crop seed lots (Kaur et al., 2014). The rapid spread of P. hysterophorus can be attributed to its seed production's prolific nature and its high capacity to adapt to a wide range of environmental conditions (Annapurna & Singh, 2003; Bajwa et al., 2020). Nevertheless, some variation may persist from the plant-environment interactions, ultimately influencing weed invasiveness or infestations (Vilà et al., 2021). The soil conditions, including pH, moisture levels, and temperatures, affect seed germination, seedling growth, and the buried seedbanks' longevity (Merino-Martín et al., 2017; Schwartz-Lazaro & Copes, 2019).

From a seed germination perspective, studies have shown that the pH range can promote or suppress weed seed germination. Pierce et al. (1999) suggested that *Digitaria sanguinalis* seed showed higher germination and growth under acidic and sub-acidic conditions (pH 5-6). In contrast, Cyperus esculentus (L.) showed that acidic pH resulted in 33% less germination in comparison to neutralalkaline conditions. Similarly, Sida spinosa (L.) seed germination was highest in alkaline (more than pH 8) soil (Singh & Singh, 2009). Interestingly, for *Eleucine indica*, a pH ranging from 5 to 10 did not influence seed germination (Chauhan & Johnson, 2008). From the seedling growth aspect, the plant characteristics such as heights, leaf area or lateral spread, dry biomass, number of flowers, and pollen quality are known to be influenced by soil pH conditions (Jiang et al., 2017). Gentili et al. (2018) reported that common ragweed (Ambrosia artemisiifolia L.) showed a higher growth rate with earlier flowering time, as well as more inflorescences and pollen production under acidic soil conditions. Based on these studies, soil pH may greatly affect weed fecundity and spread.

As mentioned previously, one of the main characteristics contributing to a weed's prolific nature is its persistence in the soil as a seed bank. However, it is important to note that the seed's survival upon burial will be influenced by the soil's specific conditions (such as moisture and temperature). In arid, semi-arid, or temperate regions, most of the seed could exhibit long seed bank persistence due to inconsistent rainfall, which reduces germination. A tropical region such as Malaysia, where the monthly rainfall ranges from 150–350 mm (Wong et al., 2009), could be an ideal condition for germination

commencement, thus accelerating the seed-to-seed cycles. Nevertheless, for the same reason, the buried seed also may experience a higher level of deterioration due to the higher moisture level, reducing the seed's long-term survival. Thus, this study aims to determine the effect of soil pH on *P. hyterophorus* weed growth and seed production and the effect of burial depths and duration on *P. hyterophorus* seed survival and emergence.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Seed Collection

The seed samples were collected from the Department of Veterinary Services Ladang Infoternak, Sungai Siput Perak (4.7844° N, 101.1089° E). Mature seeds of *P. hysterophorus* were collected and stored in labelled paper bags. The samples were immediately transported to Seed Technology Laboratory, Universiti Putra Malaysia (UPM), and kept inside desiccators prior to further analysis.

Study Location

The study was conducted at the Field 15, Universiti Putra Malaysia (UPM).

Seedling Growth and Seed Production as Influenced by Soil PH

Site Preparation. This study was conducted inside a 2 m \times 10 m double-layered shelter unit at Field 15 UPM to prevent weed infestation. An organic soil mix was used, and the desired pH range was obtained by adjusting the soil's calcium magnesium carbonate (dolomite) amount. Two kilograms (kg) of soil mix was then transferred into a 36 cm \times 30 cm plastic pot for each experimental unit. Triangular spacing of 0.5 m was used to minimise light competition along with ease of access for data collection and pest control application. Each of the pots was watered with approximately 500 ml of water daily.

Experimental Design. Five levels of soil pH were evaluated (5-acidic, 6-sub-acidic, 7-neutral, 8-sub-basic, and 9-basic) in a randomised complete block design (RCBD), with four replications; a total of 20 experimental units. The pots were blocked according to the sunlight direction in the field.

Seed Germination. Four replications of 25 seeds were directly sown into the pot and monitored for 14 days. Germination was counted upon radicle emergence from the seed. The germination parameters were assessed as described by Ranal et al. (2009), including:

Final germination percentage, FGP (%) = The total seeds germinated at the end of the trial/Number of initial seeds used × 100 %

Germination index, $GI = (20 \times n_1) + (19 \times n_2) + ... + (1 \times n_{14})$; where $n_1, n_2 ... n_{14}$ is the number of germinated seeds on the first, second, and subsequent days until the 14th day and the multipliers are weights given to the days of the germination

Mean germination time, MGT (day) = $\Sigma Fx/\Sigma F$, where F is the number of seeds germinated on day x

Germination rate index, GRI (% / day) = G1/1 + G2/2 + + Gi/I, where Gn is the germination percentage on day n

Time spread of germination, TSG (day) = Differences between final dan first day of germination (days)

Seedling Vigour Index, SVI = Seedling length (cm) × Germination (%)

Seedling Evaluation. Seedling growth data were collected 4, 8, 12, and 16 weeks after sowing. Four replications of three seedlings were used in all data collection. Seedling height (cm) was measured using a measuring tape. The height was taken from the base of the stem until the base of the highest fully opened leaves. Stem diameter was also recorded by using callipers. Total leaf area (cm²) was determined using a benchtop Li-COR Area Meter (model LI-3100, USA) at Plant Physiology Laboratory, UPM. Both shoot and root were dried separately using an oven at 70°C for at least 76 hr until no change in mass was observed. The dry biomass was measured using the Mettler Toledo balance (B303-S, USA). The numbers of developing inflorescences and seeds per plant were also recorded.

Seed Survival and Seedling Emergence at Different Burial Conditions

Site Preparation and Experimental **Design.** A nested design was used; the first

factor was burial depths (0.5, 5, 10, and 20)cm), nested into seven burial durations (0, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, and 12 months), with three replications. The 15 cm \times 15 cm burial plots were made for 20 cm depth, with 30 cm spacing between plots. A nylon mesh bag ($6 \text{ cm} \times 8 \text{ cm}$) containing 100 mg seeds was laid flat onto the bottom of the plot. The hole was covered with soil until 10 cm depth before placing another bag containing seeds onto it. The process was repeated until 0.5 cm depth before the surface was lightly topped with soil and labelled accordingly. This part will provide information on the ability of the seeds to be viable under buried conditions. It was followed by a seedling emergence study using polybags to prevent the possibility of spreading the species. Three replications of 25 seeds were placed inside 20 cm x 30 cm polybags at respective burial depths, with 0.5 m spacing between rows. The soil pH was taken using Takemura Soil pH Meter DM-15 (Japan) at each data collection point. The soil moisture was determined gravimetrically by drying 100 g of soil samples at 105°C for 24 hr, as a percentage of dry weight basis. The emergence test will reveal the ability of the seeds to emerge from different depths without tillage.

Seed Germination. Three replications of 25 seeds were exhumed and germinated using the top paper method (International Seed Testing Association [ISTA], 2016). The final germination percentage and rate index were calculated as described previously (Ranal et al., 2009).

Seedling Emergence. Seedling emergence was monitored at 2 monthly intervals for 12 months. Cumulative emergence is the total number of seedlings from the soil/25 \times 100 (%). At each count, emerged seedlings were removed due to limited space in the polybag.

Electrical Conductivity. Measured on three replications of 100 seed samples (approximately 50 mg) per lot weighed on an analytical balance (0.0001 g) and soaked in a container containing 50 ml deionised water for 24 hr at 20°C (Dutra & Vieira, 2006). Reading was made using a digitised conductivity meter. Results were expressed as μ S·cm⁻¹·g⁻¹.

Statistical Analysis

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed by Microsoft Excel and Statistical Analysis Software, SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute, USA). Significance levels of $p \le 0.05$ were used to calculate the least significant differences (LSD) throughout this study. Pearson correlation analysis was performed among studied parameters by CORR procedure using SAS 9.4

RESULTS

Germination, Seedling Growth, and Seed Production as Influenced by Soil PH

Parthenium hysterophorus seeds showed similar final germination (FGP) values for all the soil pH, ranging from 78 to 88% (Table 1).

No mean germination time (MGT) differences were recorded, as most seeds germinated between days 6 and 7

Table 1

Final germination (FG), germination index (GI), mean germination time (MGT), germination rate index (GRI) and time spread of germination (TSG), and seedling vigour index (SVI) for seeds germinated under acidic and basic soil condition

рН	FGP (%)	GI	MGT (day)	GRI (%/day)	TSG (day)	SVI
5 (Acidic)	79.00 ± 4.43ª	171.25 ± 9.36 ^{abc}	$\begin{array}{c} 6.33 \pm \\ 0.10^{a} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 14.56 \pm \\ 0.83^{abc} \end{array}$	8.25 ± 0.48^{a}	$407.00 \pm 18.62^{\rm bc}$
6 (Sub- acidic)	$\begin{array}{c} 87.00 \pm \\ 4.12^{a} \end{array}$	${\begin{array}{r} 184.75 \pm \\ 12.60^{ab} \end{array}}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.53 \pm \\ 0.24^{a} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 15.76 \pm \\ 1.08^{ab} \end{array}$	$6.25 \pm 0.58^{\rm b}$	$\begin{array}{c} 510.90 \pm \\ 22.64^a \end{array}$
7 (Neutral)	$\begin{array}{c} 88.00 \pm \\ 2.83^{\mathtt{a}} \end{array}$	${192.25 \pm \atop 10.08^a}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.26 \pm \\ 0.33^{\mathtt{a}} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 16.45 \pm \\ 0.92^{a} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 7.00 \pm \\ 0.91^{ab} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 508.87 \pm \\ 15.96^{a} \end{array}$
8 (Sub- basic)	$\begin{array}{c} 80.00 \pm \\ 5.16^{a} \end{array}$	$162.75 \pm 10.61^{\rm bc}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.82 \pm \\ 0.47^a \end{array}$	$13.28 \pm 1.01^{\rm bc}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.00 \pm \\ 0.87^{\mathrm{b}} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 469.10 \pm \\ 32.40^{ab} \end{array}$
9 (Basic)	$\begin{array}{c} 78.00 \pm \\ 2.58^a \end{array}$	155.50 ± 6.65°	$\begin{array}{c} 7.02 \pm \\ 0.30^a \end{array}$	13.25 ± 0.57°	$\begin{array}{c} 8.25 \pm \\ 0.63^{a} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 393.07 \pm \\ 18.62^{\circ} \end{array}$

Note. Mean with different letters indicate significant differences between treatments

after sowing. In terms of time spread of germination (TSG), no specific pattern was observed as the seeds germinated within 6 to 9 days after sowing. However, based on the germination index (GI) and germination rate index (GRI) values, seeds sown at pH 7 and below showed slightly higher yet significant GI (more than 171.25) and GRI (more than 14% per day). Interestingly, the seedling vigour index (SVI) was higher for soil pH ranging from 6 to 7 (more than 469 SVI), as compared to acidic (pH 5) and basic (pH 9) conditions. Within the first 8 weeks, generally, no differences were observed for all treatments, except for plant height, where acidic soil recorded a significantly higher value of 17.17 cm compared to less than 15.2 cm, as shown by another soil pH (Table 2).

Table 2

Time (weeks)	pH	Plant height (cm)	Stem diameter (mm)	Florets number/plant	Seed number/plant
4	5 (Acidic)	$\begin{array}{c} 5.87 \pm \\ 0.03^{a} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.92 \pm \\ 0.19^{a} \end{array}$	0	0
	6 (Sub- acidic)	$\begin{array}{c} 5.14 \pm \\ 0.02^{\mathrm{b}} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.75 \pm \\ 0.12^{a} \end{array}$	0	0
	7 (Neutral)	5.78 ± 0.05^{a}	$\begin{array}{c} 3.08 \pm \\ 0.19^a \end{array}$	0	0

Plant height, stem diameter, florets, and seed number of Parthenium hysterophorus seedlings under different soil pH conditions (Note: no florets and seeds were recorded in week 4 and 8)

Time (weeks)	рН	Plant height (cm)	Stem diameter (mm)	Florets number/plant	Seed number/plant
	8 (Sub-basic)	5.85 ± 0.04^{a}	2.91 ± 0.23^{a}	0	0
	9 (Basic)	$5.06 \pm 0.20^{\rm b}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.83 \pm \\ 0.17^{a} \end{array}$	0	0
8	5 (Acidic)	17.17 ± 0.61ª	$\begin{array}{c} 5.75 \pm \\ 0.18^{a} \end{array}$	0	0
	6 (Sub- acidic)	$13.92 \pm 0.51^{\rm bc}$	$\begin{array}{c} 5.03 \pm \\ 0.23^{ab} \end{array}$	0	0
	7 (Neutral)	13.42 ± 0.57°	$\begin{array}{c} 4.42 \pm \\ 0.23^{\text{b}} \end{array}$	0	0
	8 (Sub-basic)	15.17 ± 0.55 ^b	$\begin{array}{c} 4.59 \pm \\ 0.19^{\text{b}} \end{array}$	0	0
	9 (Basic)	13.42 ± 0.51°	$\begin{array}{c} 5.08 \pm \\ 0.26^{ab} \end{array}$	0	0

Note. Mean with different letters indicate significant differences between treatments

However, at 12 weeks after sowing, a marked increase in height and stem diameter was recorded by acidic soil, with 20 and 13% higher than the average treatment values, respectively. At 16 weeks, this trend continued where acidic soil showed 14 and 10% higher values of plant height and stem diameter, respectively—the average days to flowering commenced as early as 74 days after sowing for acidic soil, followed by sub-acidic and sub-basic (83 days), basic (86 days), and neutral pH soil (90 days). By the end of the 16th week, acidic soil recorded an average of 2,850 total seeds/plant, followed by neutral, sub-acidic, and sub-basic (ranged from 647–1,258 seeds/plant), and basic soil conditions (740 seeds/plant). All soil pH conditions showed similar shoot and root growth values and the total leaf areas within the first 4 weeks (Table 3). At 8 weeks after sowing, acidic soil (pH 5) indicated a significantly higher leaf area of 304.58 cm², whereas other treatments recorded less than 268.00 cm². By the 12th week, acidic soil generally showed 10% higher total biomass and 14% more leaf area values than other treatments. This pattern remained until 16 weeks after sowing, when the acidic soil showed a 25% higher overall biomass with 15.2% more leaf area values.

Biomass (g) Time (weeks) Shoot Leaf area (cm²) pН Root $42\pm1.73^{\rm ab}$ 4 5 (Acidic) $0.112\pm0.004^{\mathrm{a}}$ $0.045 \pm 0.003^{\rm b}$ 6 (Sub-acidic) 0.116 ± 0.006^{a} $0.047 \pm 0.006^{\rm b}$ 37.083 ± 1.83^{b} 7 (Neutral) $0.113\pm0.006^{\mathrm{a}}$ 0.044 ± 0.002^{b} $43.58\pm2.18^{\rm a}$ 42.08 ± 2.06^{ab} 8 (Sub-basic) 0.109 ± 0.004^{a} $0.038 \pm 0.001^{\rm b}$ 41.583 ± 2.39^{ab} 9 (Basic) $0.11\pm0.005^{\rm a}$ $0.066\pm0.007^{\mathrm{a}}$ 8 5 (Acidic) $1.971 \pm 0.0450^{\rm a}$ 0.211 ± 0.007^{a} 304.58 ± 11.06^{a} 6 (Sub-acidic) $1.545\pm0.077^{\texttt{c}}$ $0.183\pm0.015^{\text{ab}}$ 246.58 ± 12.42^{b} 7 (Neutral) 1.774 ± 0.077^{ab} $0.16\pm0.008^{\text{b}}$ $245.33 \pm 10.59^{\text{b}}$ 8 (Sub-basic) 1.745 ± 0.079^{bc} 0.182 ± 0.011^{ab} $267.5 \pm 10.25^{\text{b}}$ 9 (Basic) $1.792\pm0.088^{\text{ab}}$ $0.199\pm0.014^{\rm a}$ $258.08 \pm 11.04^{\rm b}$ 12 $4.407\pm0.196^{\rm a}$ 5 (Acidic) 9.135 ± 0.189^{a} 491.67 ± 10.11^{a} 6 (Sub-acidic) 7.867 ± 0.341^{b} 3.536 ± 0.164^{b} 410.33 ± 18.07^{b} 7 (Neutral) 8.425 ± 0.22^{ab} 3.726 ± 0.09^{b} 428.58 ± 13.90^{b} 8 (Sub-basic) 8.327 ± 0.313^{ab} 3.765 ± 0.111^{b} 425.83 ± 13.54^{b} 9 (Basic $7.911 \pm 0.396^{\rm b}$ 3.609 ± 0.126^{b} $393.5 \pm 15.16^{\text{b}}$ 16 5 (Acidic) $16.975 \pm 0.376^{\rm a}$ $7.195\pm0.153^{\mathtt{a}}$ $792.5\pm20.23^{\mathrm{a}}$ 6 (Sub-acidic) $12.467\pm0.20^{\mathrm{ab}}$ 5.392 ± 0.183^{ab} $670.58 \pm 18.03^{\text{bc}}$ $13.859\pm0.883^{\mathtt{a}}$ 6.116 ± 0.212^{ab} $619.83 \pm 19.97^{\circ}$ 7 (Neutral) 8 (Sub-basic) $11.601 \pm 0.430^{\text{b}}$ 4.921 ± 0.153^{b} 684.25 ± 17.36^{b} 9 (Basic) 12.551 ± 0.58^{ab} 5.299 ± 0.269^{ab} 672.5 ± 25.14^{bc}

Total dr	v hiomass	and leaf	area o	f Parthenium	ivsteroi	phorus	seedlings	under	different :	soil n	H con	ditions
roun m	y oronnass	and real	area of	1 an the fill and the	1,000101	01101 40	securitys	unuuu		oup	11 0000	<i>circions</i>

Note. Mean with different letters indicate significant differences between treatments

Seed Survival and Seedling Emergence at Different Burial Conditions

In terms of seedling emergence, only seeds buried at 0.5 cm depth indicated emergence throughout the 12 months evaluation period. Cumulative emergence of 81.3% was recorded at 2 months after burial, with no additional emergence recorded afterwards (Figure 1).

At the beginning of this study, the FGP and GRI ranged from 81–88% and 11.4–16.4, respectively (Figure 2). As the



Figure 1. Percentage of seedling emergence for *Parthenium hysterophorus* at 0.5, 5, 10, and 20 cm depths upon 12 months of burial

burial duration increased, it was evident that P. hysterophorus viability decreased by an average of 25.5% after 6 months and 59.2% towards the end of 12 months burial period. Higher seed viability loss was found at a deeper burial depth of 10 and 20 cm. At 10 months of burial, the differences in FGP between 0.5 and 20 cm burial was more than 25%. The seed electrical conductance values were positively correlated with burial time and depth. Initially, the seeds recorded 8-11 μ S·cm⁻¹·g⁻¹ of EC, and the values increased up to 60 μ S·cm⁻¹·g⁻¹ within 4 months, with no significant differences among depths. However, at 6 months onwards, higher EC values were recorded for 10 and 20 cm depths compared to less than 5 cm burial.

By 12 months after burial, 10 and 20 cm depth indicated higher than 200 μ S· cm⁻¹·g⁻¹ of EC. The soil moisture content was positively correlated with depth, and the values remained consistent throughout

the study period. Both 0.5 and 5 cm depths generally showed 3–13% soil moisture, whereas, for 10 and 20 cm depths, the values were between 7–25%. Based on the Pearson correlations values, there was a strong positive correlation between FP with GRI ($R^2 = 0.914$) and moderate negative correlations between FGP and GRI with EC ($R^2 = 0.627$ and 0.683, respectively) values. The seed EC value was found to have a moderate positive correlation ($R^2 = 0.684$) with the soil moisture levels.

DISCUSSION

This study showed that *P. hysterophorus* seeds had a similar capacity to germinate for most germination parameters under varying soil pH conditions, except for GI and GRI, which were found to be slightly higher when the pH was 7 or lower. Pérez-Fernández et al. (2006) suggested that pH generally had no significant effect on total



Figure 2. Final germination percentage (FGP), germination rate index (GRI), electrical conductivity (EC), and soil moisture content of *Parthenium hysterophorus* at 0.5, 5, 10, and 20 cm depths upon 12 months field burial

germination percentage, but the reduction in germination speed was found particularly in high pH environments. It simply means that P. hysterophorus can germinate under a wide range of soil pH, giving it a competitive advantage compared to other seeds, hence facilitating its spread. On the other hand, Laghmouchi et al. (2017) reported that Origanum compactum seed favours a more neutral pH as maximum germination of 71% was obtained at pH 7. The influence of soil pH was more prominent as the germinated seed entered the early seedling stage. It is widely known that soil pH affects plant growth based on its influence on nutrient availability. Generally, most micronutrients, including iron, manganese, boron, and copper, are more available to plants under acidic and sub-acidic conditions than neutral-basic ones, thus favouring growth (Lončarić et al., 2008). Findings from the subsequent seedling analysis indicated that P. hysterophorus seedlings showed accelerated growth and fecundity in acidic soil conditions. As a result, the seedling enters the flowering stage at 74 days after sowing, resulting in a 13.4% quicker rate compared to pH 6 and above (with 85 days average).

It, in turn, shortens the seed-to-seed cycle as each seedling enters maturity significantly faster compared to higher soil pH conditions, again providing means for quick infestation. Gentili et al. (2018) reported similar findings as *A. artemisiifolia* seedlings showed faster growth (larger size, more dry weight) at pH 5 and 6, along with a higher number of inflorescences and pollen production. This study showed

that P. hysterophorus seeds buried at 5 cm depth and below could not emerge from the soil. However, the non-emerged seeds were generally still viable upon exhumation, at a varying level, depending on the burial conditions. More than 40% of the seeds survived when buried at 0.5-5cm depth, while only 19-27% survived as the burial depth increased beyond 10 cm at 12 months. The lower germinability observed at increasing burial depth can be linked to a higher rate of deterioration from higher soil moisture levels. It is generally known that seed longevity is influenced by several factors, including relative humidity or moisture, temperature, and oxygen level (Rajjou & Debeaujon, 2008).

Low relative humidity could reduce the deterioration rate even with high storage temperature conditions, suggesting that moisture level might play a larger role in determining seed longevity. In general, seed EC value could indicate membrane integrity perseverance which protects the seed tissue from oxidative damage; and can be linked to the seed germinability. From the Pearson correlation analysis, both EC and soil moisture indicated a moderate positive correlation, which could explain the higher reduction in exhumed seed viability for 10 and 20-cm burial depths. Higher EC values recorded at both depths suggested that the electrolytes were leached out due to a higher degradation level of the outer membrane (Nakagawa et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2018). These findings suggest that P. hysterophorus weed seed bank emergence and survival would vary depending on the burial depth, regional rainfall, and soil moisture level. It may exhibit secondary dormancy that relates mainly to water availability. Navie et al. (2004) suggested that *P. hysterophorus* does not confer the typical physical dormancy characteristics since the seed can emerge immediately within two weeks upon exposure to moisture or rainfall.

In the case of Parthenium argentatum seed, the onset of prolonged rainfall was reported to trigger germination immediately in desert conditions. It ensures that germination inhibitors are leached when there is sufficient water level to prevent untimely germination of seeds, particularly in arid environments. As a consequence, the emerged seedlings would be able to sustain the growth stages and reproduce. The results obtained in this study on the viability of seeds upon burial showed that only seeds at the 0.5 cm depth can germinate, while the rest will remain viable for slightly more than a year before total deterioration occurs. It, however, is the situation if no-tillage is done.

CONCLUSION

The overall findings from this study suggested that *P. hyterosphorus* seed could survive a wide range of conditions with high germinability. However, the environment affected the subsequent seedling growth and flowering time. Higher plant height, leaf areas, and overall seedling biomass were recorded in lower pH conditions, enabling the seedlings to enter the earlier flowering stage. It reduces the seed-to-seed cycle and increases overall weed fecundity. The seed, however, showed a marked decline in viability if buried for more than 12 months without tillage.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors sincerely thank the Research Management Centre of Universiti Putra Malaysia under the Putra Grants (project no. UPM/700-2/1/GP IPB/2017/9523403).

REFERENCES

- Allan, S., Shi, B., & Adkins, S. W. (2018). Impact of parthenium weed on human and animal health. In S. Adkins, A. Shabbir, & K. Dhileepan (Eds.), *Parthenium weed: Biology, ecology and management* (pp. 105-128). Centre for Agriculture and Bioscience International. https:// doi.org/10.1079/9781780645254.0105
- Annapurna, C., & Singh, J. S. (2003). Variation of *Parthenium hysterophorus* in response to soil quality: Implications for invasiveness. *Weed Research*, 43(3), 190-198. https://doi. org/10.1046/j.1365-3180.2003.00332.x
- Bajwa, A. A., Farooq, M., Nawaz, A., Yadav, L., Chauhan, B. S., & Adkins, S. (2019). Impact of invasive plant species on the livelihoods of farming households: Evidence from *Parthenium hysterophorus* invasion in rural Punjab, Pakistan. *Biological Invasions*, 21, 3285-3304. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10530-019-02047-0
- Bajwa, A. A., Ullah, A., Farooq, M., Chauhan, B. S., & Adkins, S. (2020). Competition dynamics of *Parthenium hysterophorus* in direct-seeded aerobic rice fields. *Experimental Agriculture*, 56(2), 196-203. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0014479719000292
- Chauhan, B. S., & Johnson, D. E. (2008). Germination ecology of goosegrass (*Eleusine indica*): An important grass weed of rainfed rice. *Weed Science*, 56(5), 699–706. https://doi.org/10.1614/ WS-08-048.1

- Dutra, A. S., & Vieira, R. D. (2006). Accelerated ageing test to evaluate seed vigor in pumpkin and zucchini seeds. Seed Science and Technology, 34(1), 209-214. https://doi. org/10.15258/sst.2006.34.1.24
- Gentili, R., Ambrosini, R., Montagnani, C., Caronni, S., & Citterio, S. (2018). Effect of soil pH on the growth, reproductive investment and pollen allergenicity of *Ambrosia artemisiifolia* L. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 9, 1335. https://doi. org/10.3389/fpls.2018.01335
- International Seed Testing Association. (2016). International rules for seed testing. https://www. seedtest.org/en/publications/international-rulesseed-testing.html
- Jiang, Y., Li, Y., Zeng, Q., Wei, J., & Yu, H. (2017). The effect of soil pH on plant growth, leaf chlorophyll fluorescence and mineral element content of two blueberries. *Acta Horticulturae*, *1180*, 269–276. https://doi.org/10.17660/ ActaHortic.2017.1180.36
- Karim, S. M. R., Naher, L., Norhafizah, M. Z., Kayat, F., & Sarip, N. (2018). First report of *Rhizoctonia solani* Kuhn. isolated from parthenium weed (*Parthenium hysterophorus* L.) in Malaysia. *Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science*, 41(3), 1355-1365.
- Kaur, M., Aggarwal, N. K., Kumar, V., & Dhiman, R. (2014). Effects and management of *Parthenium hysterophorus*: A weed of global significance. *International Scholarly Research Notices*, 2014, 368647. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/368647
- Laghmouchi, Y., Belmehdi, O., Bouyahya, A., Senhaji, N. S., & Abrini, J. (2017). Effect of temperature, salt stress and pH on seed germination of medicinal plant Origanum compactum. Biocatalysis and Agricultural Biotechnology, 10, 156-160. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bcab.2017.03.002
- Lončarić, Z., Karalić, K., Popović, B., Rastija, D., & Vukobratović, M. (2008). Total and

plant available micronutrients in acidic and calcareous soils in Croatia. *Cereal Research Communications*, *36*, 331–334.

- Merino-Martín, L., Courtauld, C., Commander, L., Turner, S., Lewandrowski, W., & Stevens, J. (2017). Interactions between seed functional traits and burial depth regulate germination and seedling emergence under water stress in species from semi-arid environments. *Journal* of Arid Environments, 147, 25-33. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2017.07.018
- Nakagawa, A. C., Ario, N., Tomita, Y., Tanaka, S., Murayama, N., Mizuta, C., & Ishibashi, Y. (2020). High temperature during soybean seed development differentially alters lipid and protein metabolism. *Plant Production Science*, 23(4), 504-512. https://doi.org/10.1080/134394 3X.2020.1742581
- Navie, S. C., Panetta, F. D., McFadyen, R. E., & Adkins, S. W. (2004). Germinable soil seedbanks of central Queensland rangelands invaded by the exotic weed *Parthenium hysterophorus* L. *Weed Biology and Management*, 4(3), 154-167. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1445-6664.2004.00132.x
- Nguyen, T. L., Bajwa, A. A., Navie, S. C., O'Donnell, C., & Adkins, S. W. (2017). The soil seedbank of pasture communities in central Queensland invaded by *Parthenium hysterophorus* L. *Rangeland Ecology and Management*, 70(2), 244-254. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.rama.2016.07.010
- Pérez-Fernández, M. A., Calvo-Magro, E., Montanero-Fernández, J., & Oyola-Velasco, J.A. (2006). Seed germination in response to chemicals: Effect of nitrogen and pH in the media. *Journal* of Environmental Biology, 27(1), 13-20.
- Pierce, G. L., Warren, S. L., Mikkelsen, R. L., & Linker, H. M. (1999). Effects of soil calcium and pH on seed germination and subsequent growth of large crabgrass (*Digitaria sanguinalis*). *Weed Technology*, *13*(2), 421–424. https://doi. org/10.1017/S0890037X00041968

- Rajjou, L., & Debeaujon, I. (2008). Seed longevity: survival and maintenance of high germination ability of dry seeds. *Comptes Rendus Biologies*, 331(10), 796-805. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. crvi.2008.07.021
- Ranal, M. A., Santana, D. G. D., Ferreira, W. R., & Mendes-Rodrigues, C. (2009). Calculating germination measurements and organizing spreadsheets. *Brazilian Journal of Botany*, 3(4), 849-855. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-84042009000400022
- Schwartz-Lazaro, L. M, & Copes, J. T. (2019). A review of the soil seedbank from a weed scientists perspective. Agronomy, 9(7), 369. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy9070369
- Singh, S., & Singh, M. (2009). Effect of temperature, light and pH on germination of twelve weed species. *Indian Journal of Weed Science*, 41(3/4), 113–126.
- Tanveer, A., Khaliq, A., Ali, H. H., Mahajan, G., & Chauhan, B. S. (2015). Interference and management of parthenium: The world's most important invasive weed. *Crop Protection*, 68, 49-59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2014.11.005

- Vilà, M., Beaury, E. M., Blumenthal, D. M., Bradley, B. A., Early, R., Laginhas, B. B., Trillo, A., Dukes, J. S., Sorte, C. J. B., & Ibañez, I. (2021). Understanding the combined impacts of weeds and climate change on crops. In *Environmental Research Letters* (Vol. 16, No. 3, p. 034043). IOP Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abe14b
- Wang, W., He, A., Peng, S., Huang, J., Cui, K., & Nie, L. (2018). The effect of storage condition and duration on the deterioration of primed rice seeds. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 9, 172. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.00172
- Wong, C. L., Venneker, R., Uhlenbrook, S., Jamil, A. B. M., & Zhou, Y. (2009). Variability of rainfall in Peninsular Malaysia. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences Discussions*, 6(4), 5471-5503. https://doi.org/10.5194/hessd-6-5471-2009



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Isolation of Proteolytic Enzyme from Pineapple Crown

Noor Khaleeda Arsad, Azman Abd Samad*, Haryati Jamaluddin and Wan Rosmiza Zana Wan Dagang

Department of Biosciences, Faculty of Science, Universiti Teknologi Malaysia, 81310 Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

The pineapple waste from the pineapple industry has contributed to an increase in waste in Malaysia and worldwide every year. A major type of endopeptidase enzymes found in pineapple is fruit bromelain, stem bromelain, ananain, and comasain. This study aims to extract and purify protease from the crown of MD2 pineapple. Protease was extracted and purified using anion exchange chromatography, gel filtration, and desalting before being identified using liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS). Proteolytic activity was determined using the well diffusion method and Casein Digestion Unit. In the present study, the proteolytic assay showed that 1 kg crown of MD2 cultivar produced an activity of 126.0 ± 3.86 U/ml, a specific activity of 3937.50 U/mg. In the present study, the proteolytic assay showed that 1 kg crown of MD2 cultivar produced an activity of 126.0 ± 3.86 U/mL, a specific activity of 3937.50 U/mg and the total activity of 3.94×10^9 U. The molecular weight of the purified enzyme was in the range of 25 to 35 kDa under the optimum condition of pH 7 and 37°C. Purification of the extract yielded a band at the molecular weight of 20-25 kDa at the optimum pH of 3 and 9 at 60°C. From LC-MS analysis, the purified enzyme from the crown extract was similar to ananain under accession number A0A199VSS3 (according to Uniprot). It had five

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 21 October 2022 Accepted: 03 March 2023 Published: 18 April 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.14

E-mail addresses:

khaleeda940411@gmail.com (Noor Khaleeda Arsad) azmansamad@utm.my (Azman Abd Samad) haryatijamaluddin@utm.my (Haryati Jamaluddin) rosmiza@utm.my (Wan Rosmiza Zana Wan Dagang) *Corresponding author unique peptides and covered 97/356 amino acids (44.9% coverage). The ananain (EC 3.4.22.31) is classified in the subfamilies of cysteine protease C1A (clan CA, family C1), a peptidase family related to papain. In conclusion, protease was extracted and identified as an ananain-like protease from the crown.

Keywords: Ananain, bromelain, crown, MD2, proteolytic activity

ISSN: 1511-3701 e-ISSN: 2231-8542

INTRODUCTION

Pineapple (Ananas comosus), locally known as 'nanas,' is a member of the Bromeliaceae family. It is the most common fruit cultivated worldwide, particularly in China, Indonesia, Malaysia, Thailand, Kenya, the Philippines, and India (Ramli et al., 2017). Today, world pineapple production continues to increase yearly, including in Malaysia. Three common cultivars that are commercially cultivated in Malaysia are Spanish (also known as Josapine, Maspine, and hybrid pineapple), Queen, and Smooth Cayenne (Sarawak pineapple) (Hidayat et al., 2012). The introduction of MD2 (hybrid variety) into the pineapple market in Malaysia has increased demand and a gradual shift from the export of Smooth Cayenne to MD2. Among pineapples, MD2 and N36 are cultivated for export due to their longer shelf life, whereas Moris, Sarawak, and Josapine are grown for the local market. Therefore, pineapple cultivars MD2 are a benchmark in developing future cultivars for fresh consumption. The MD2 pineapple weight is uniform, approximately 1.5 kg each, and has a shelf life of 30 days, like papaya (Falah et al., 2015; Thalip et al., 2015).

According to the Malaysia Pineapple Industry Board (MPIB), in 2017, Malaysia had a total cultivation area of 13,733 ha with a production of 432,812 metric tonnes and import of USD 24 million, while exports of USD 47 million for all varieties of pineapple (Lembaga Perindustrian Nanas Malaysia [LPNM], 2018). After durian and banana, the pineapple industry is one of Malaysia's most important fruit sectors. The production is expected to reach 1.7 million metric tonnes by 2025. For MD2, the production has increased and reached 3,600 metric tonnes by the end of the year 2017. The MD2 pineapple production at 3,800 metric tonnes by 2019 saw an increase of 200 metric tonnes. Malaysia currently targets USD 42 million to export pineapple products, with a total production of 253,227 metric tonnes by 2023. Three hundred sixty hectares of MD2 pineapple plants are being grown commercially in Ulu Tiram, Kluang, and most recently, in Tanah Abang, Mersing, Johor. The plan was to expand the crop to 1,000 ha by 2021. The aim is to produce 100 containers together with 1,800 tonnes of pineapple per month, including 50 containers or 900 tonnes of pineapple would be exported. Growing pineapple crops in Malaysia generates millions of tons of plant waste. During harvesting activities, a large amount of leftover from pineapple growing, known as agro-waste, is created in the agricultural process. According to Nor et al. (2015), the waste proportions are twice the proportion of fruit for the flesh, core, peel, and crown of the Smooth Cayenne pineapple. In addition, approximately one billion tons of agricultural waste are produced globally, with 1.2 million tonnes of agro-waste disposed of into landfills in Malaysia each year (Neh & Ali, 2020). In Malaysia, agricultural waste is projected to be 0.210 (kg·cap⁻¹·day⁻¹) in 2025 (Ngoc & Schnitzer, 2009). Generally, harvest leftovers from crops such as pineapple waste are usually just burnt or left to rot, releasing carbon dioxide and methane gas into the atmosphere. Recovery of nutrients from fruit processing wastes could minimize environmental issues (Mirabella et al., 2014). It was revealed that some parts of the pineapple waste, such as the core, crown, and peel, were sources of protease enzyme (Ketnawa et al., 2012).

Pineapple waste has been discovered as a possible source of proteases like bromelain (Abreu & Figueiredo, 2019). Bromelain comprises proteases such as fruit bromelain (EC 3.4.22.33), stem bromelain (EC 3.4.22.32), ananain (EC 3.4.22.31), and comosain, whereas non-proteases components consist of carbohydrates, peroxidases, cellulases glucosidases, glycoproteins, and phosphatases (Sahoo & Das, 2017). Therefore, it suggested that protease enzymes extracted from pineapple can be utilized to fulfill the demand in industrial processes, including the foods, textile, and medical cosmeceutical industries. Protease enzyme has been shown to aid in the tenderization of meat (M. S. Arshad et al., 2017), the relaxation and suppression of shrinkage in baking industries (Sahoo & Das, 2017), the improvement of silk and wool quality (Z. I. M. Arshad et al., 2014), and the removal of tooth stains in tooth whitening products (Munchow et al., 2016).

In addition, the topical application of protease for the debridement of skin wounds and burns has been introduced (Muhammad & Ahmad, 2017). It acts as a fibrinolytic agent, which increases fibrinolysis by activating the conversion of plasminogen to plasmin (Kwatra, 2019), an anti-cancer agent by suppressing carcinogenesis during the cancer development (Rathnavelu et al., 2016), and an anti-inflammatory agent (Barrera-Núñez et al., 2014). As a result, there is an increasing demand to exploit the sustainable utilization of pineapple wastes for industrial applications that can be commercialized as an environment-friendly alternative for carbon source utilization. However, enzyme purity is necessary for industrial and commercial applications (Nor et al., 2015). Since a high degree of purity is required, entire downstream processing is necessary, including extraction, purification using ion-exchange chromatography, and identification of purified enzyme. Therefore, pineapple stems, fruits, and waste products such as crowns, leaves, peel, and core are extracted and purified with different homogenization processes and the addition of different extraction buffers to produce beneficial products (Wan et al., 2016; Youryon et al., 2018).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Plant Materials

Six pineapple wastes (crown and stem) from different cultivars were brought from a local market at Taman Universiti, Skudai, Johor, Malaysia (Figure 1). The six pineapple cultivars included Madu Kaca, Josaphine, Morris, Yankee, N36, and MD2. All the pineapples were verified by Hj Musliman bin Tasim from Lembaga Pekan Nanas Malaysia (LPNM). The wastes (crown and stem) were directly taken to the laboratory (Plant Biotechnology Lab, T02 UTM) for enzyme assay. However, the wastes (MD2 crown) were taken from LPNM,



Figure 1. Six pineapple cultivars: (A) Madu Kaca; (B) Josaphine; (C) Morris; (D) Yankee; (E) N36; and (F) MD2

Pekan Nanas, to the laboratory (Plant Biotechnology Lab, T02 UTM) a day before the purification step. All the samples were kept at room temperature.

Preparation of Crude Protease Extract from the Pineapple Waste

A known quantity (1 kg) of each crown was ground into a fine piece using a blender (Panasonic MX-GM1011 G, Malaysia). Then 100 mM sodium acetate buffer solution (pH 7.0) (Bio-Rad, USA) was added and left at room temperature for 3 min. Next, the mixture was filtered through a filter (Minisart PES 28, Sartorius, Germany) and centrifuged at 10,108 x g for 20 min at 4°C. After that, the supernatant (crude enzyme extract) was collected, measured, and stored at -20°C before the experiment.

Determination of Proteolytic Activity Using Casein Digestion Unit (CDU)

The CDU method determined the enzyme activity (Murachi, 1976). This study chose casein as substrate, and L-tyrosine was used as standard. In this method, the proteolytic activity of hydrolyzed casein was measured. One unit of proteolytic activity was defined as 1 g of tyrosine released in 1 min/ml of a sample when casein was hydrolyzed under the standard conditions at 37°C and pH 7.0 for 10 min. The activity of the protease was estimated by the following Equation 1:

$$Proteolytic activity \left(\frac{Units}{ml}\right)$$
(1)
= $\frac{\mu moles \ of \ tyrosine \ \times \ Reaction \ vol}{Sample \ vol \ \times \ Reaction \ time \ \times \ Vol \ assayed}$

Determination of Proteolytic Activity Using Well Diffusion Method

The enzyme activity is used well diffusion as described by Vijayaraghavan and Vincent (2013) with a minor modification. About 1% (w/v) casein skimmed milk (Sunlac, New Zealand) was added into the agar and autoclaved at 121°C for 15 min. Then, the agar was poured into disposable Petri dishes and solidified for 30 min. Approximately 8 mm diameter was punched into the solidified agar using tip collars of 1 ml pipette tips. A 70 µl crude supernatant volume was pipetted
into the holes and incubated overnight at 37°C. A 70 µl of acetate buffer (Bio-Rad, USA) was used as a negative control.

Protein Concentration

The concentration of the crude enzyme extract was determined as described by the Bradford method (Bradford, 1976) and bovine serum albumin (BSA) as a standard. Coomassie Brillant Blue G-250 (Bio-Rad, USA) was a dye bound to an unknown protein and formed a complex detected spectrophotometrically at 595 nm.

Specific Activity of Enzyme

The specific activity of the enzyme was determined by the following formula and expressed as U/mg protein.

$$Specific activity \left(\frac{Units}{mg}\right)$$
$$= \frac{Proteolytic activity}{Protein concentration}$$
(2)

Purification of Protease Enzyme

The purification steps were constructed according to Costa et al. (2014). However, the buffers used in each stage of purification, on the other hand, are slightly different. Firstly, the resuspended extracts were transferred into centrifugal filter devices (Amicon Ultra-15 10K, Merck, Germany) for fast ultrafiltration and centrifuged at 1,792 x g for 20 min at 4°C. The concentrate was collected from the filter device sample reservoir using a pipette. The extract was concentrated using the Amicon Ultra-15 (Merck, Germany) before being loaded onto a 5 ml HiTrap Q HP $(5 \times 5 \text{ ml})$ (Cytiva, USA) column pre-equilibrated with buffer A (50 mM Tris hydrochloride [Tris-HCL] buffer, pH 8.0) (Bio-Rad, USA). The protein was eluted using buffer B (50 mM Tris-HCL, pH 8, and 1 M sodium chloride (NaCl) (Bio-Rad, USA). The eluate was collected in a 96-deep well plate container after elution at a flow rate of 2 ml/min. Aliquots of anion exchange chromatography were collected and subjected to gel filtration chromatography purification. The Sephadex 200 column (Merck, Germany) was prepared with pH 8 buffer (25 mM Tris + 150 mM NaCl+0.5 mM ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA) (Bio-Rad, USA). The sample was eluted at a flow rate of 0.5 ml/min. The purified enzyme was loaded onto a 5 ml HiTrap Q HP $(5 \times 5 \text{ ml})$ (Cytiva, USA) equilibrated with sodium acetate buffer (pH 7) (Bio-Rad, USA) and then eluted at a flow rate of 3 ml/min. All procedures were conducted at 4°C. The desalted enzyme was stored at 4°C.

Determination of Protein Molecular Weight by SDS-PAGE

The sodium dodecyl-sulfate polyacrylamide gel (SDS-PAGE) electrophoresis estimated the molecular weight of the purified protein with different gel concentrations of 12 and 15% (w/v). First, each 20 µl protein sample was mixed with 10 µl loading buffer (Bio-Rad, USA) comprising 0.2 M Tris-HCl of pH 6.8, 20% (v/v) glycerol, 10% (w/v) SDS, 10 mM beta-mercapto-ethanol, and 0.05% (w/v) bromophenol blue. Then, the protein sample was heated at 95°C for 15 min. Then, the protein sample was electrophoresed at 150 V for 120 min and stained with 0.02% Comassive Brilliant Blue G-250 (Bio-Rad, USA) for 30 min. Finally, the gel was detained with a mixture of acetic acid and methanol solution for 1 hr till the bands were visible. The molecular weight markers used were Precision Plus Protein[™] Dual Color Standards (Bio-Rad, USA).

pH and Temperature Characterizations

The pH profile of protease was determined by assaying its proteolytic activity at various pHs ranging from 3 to 10 according to the previous method (Ketnawa et al., 2012). The residual proteolytic activity was measured and expressed as the relative proteolytic activity. In addition, the effect of temperatures (30, 37, 40, 50, 60, 70, 80, and 90°C) on proteolytic activity was performed for 10 min. All assays were carried out using casein as the substrate. The caseinolytic activity was expressed as the relative proteolytic activity compared to the control.

LC-MS

Amino acid sequence analysis was recorded using LC-MS. The purified enzymes were digested with ammonium bicarbonate which consisted of 12.5 ng/µl mass spectrometry grade Trypsin Gold. The Liquid Chromatography analysis was carried out in Dionex Ultimate 3000 RSLCnano, and full scan spectra were collected using orbital MS (OTMS) following the parameters of scan range of 310–1800 m/z, resolving power of 120000, AGC target of 4.0 e5 (400 000), and maximum injection time of 50 ms. LC-MS data were investigated using Thermo ScientificTM Proteome DiscovererTM 4 Software Version 2.1.

Phylogenetic Analysis

Five peptide sequences obtained from LC-MS analysis were subjected to sequence analyses using National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI-Bethesda, Maryland, USA) BLASTP. Then, the full sequences of ananain of Ananas comosus under the accession number AOA199VSS3 were retrieved from the NCBI Genbank database. Ten sequences with 100% sequences identity (AOA199UL32, AOA199UUY2, AOA199W8N4, AOA199VSB5, AOA199W3D2, AOA199W9F2, AOA199W8R4, O24641, and P0074.8) to AOA199VSS3 were aligned using Clustal Omega. Ten aligned sequences were used to construct the phylogenetic tree using the MEGA-X version software. The domain was identified using InterProScan against multiple databases, including Pfam, PRINTS, SMART, PROSITE, ProDom, Panther, GO lookup, TMHMM, and SignalP EUK with pathway.

Statistical Analysis

All data obtained from three or more independent variables were analyzed using One-way ANOVA of Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS) version 22. The Bonferroni method evaluated differences between means of treatments by the posthoc test. The test was used to compare the means at a significance level of $\alpha = 0.05$.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Proteolytic Activity in Crown and Stem of Pineapple from Different Cultivars

Major endopeptidase enzymes found in bromelain extract are stem bromelain (EC 3.4.22.32), fruit bromelain (EC 3.4.22.32), ananain (EC 3.4.22.31), and comasain (Kahiro et al., 2017; Ketnawa et al., 2012). These enzymes were found in pineapple fruit and industrial waste, such as the crown, core, leaves, and peel (Z. I. M. Arshad et al., 2014). However, each extract's enzyme activity and protein content are influenced by different proteolytic enzymes (Ketnawa et al., 2012). This study revealed that the MD2 crown obtained higher proteolytic activity than the MD2 stem, and different protease enzymes were found in both the crown and stem extracts.

The extracts from the MD2 crown (A) recorded higher proteolytic activity than stem (B), with values of 126.27 ± 3.86 and 118.5 ± 1.19 U/ml in 100 g of pineapple wastes, respectively (Figure 2). This study recorded that the MD2 crown exhibited a higher yield than the MD2 stem (p < 0.05). The MD2 crown also showed a larger diameter of the halo zone in casein and skim milk plates, where it was 9.3 mm and 11.0 mm, respectively (Figures 3A and 3C). The halo zone diameters of the stem in the casein and skimmed milk plates were 6.0 mm and 9.7 mm, respectively (Figures 3B and 3D). The resulting halo zone may be related to the amount of protease presented in the crude extract. Similar findings also showed that the crown of Ananas comosus L. contained higher proteolytic activity compared to other parts (Hebbar et al., 2008, 2011, 2012; Kahiro et al., 2017; Ketnawa et al., 2012; Neta et al., 2012; Z. I. M. Arshad et al., 2014). According to Neta et al. (2012), proteolytic activity depends on the part of the plant from which the sample was extracted.

Furthermore, some researchers also found that crown extracts from both cultivars (Nang Lae and Phu Lae) contained bromelain as the major protease enzyme (Ketnawa et al., 2012; Neta et al., 2012)-pineapple cv. Vitória has high proteolytic activity than other cultivars (Costa et al., 2014). Ananas comosus also showed the highest proteolytic activity than other varieties of pineapples (Chaurasiya & Hebbar, 2013; Martins et al., 2014). In addition, the expression of the proteolytic enzyme was influenced by environmental conditions such as salt concentration, temperature, soil moisture, and agroecological zone (Kahiro et al., 2017). Thus, it shows that the proteolytic activity varies depending on the cultivar and the part of the examined and extracted plant. The MD2 cultivar showed the highest proteolytic activity in this study, with the crown being the best part. The MD2 crown was purified for further characterization. In conclusion, cultivars and different parts of plant extracts gave differences in enzyme activity and protein content.

Purification of Protease Enzyme

Protease purification using anion exchange chromatography yielded 147.09 U/ml of proteolytic activity, 171.03 U/mg of specific activity, and a purification



Figure 2. Comparison of proteolytic activity (U/ml) in (A) crown and (B) stem of different pineapple cultivars *Note*. Different alphabetical letters indicate the significant differences (p>0.05)



Figure 3. Halo zone formation on casein plate by extracts from the crown (A) and stem (B) and halo zone formation on skim milk plates by extracts from the crown (C) and stem (D)

fold of 4.33 (Table 1). The proteolytic and specific activities were higher than previously reported bromelain purification by Costa and co-workers (2012). They reported the purification of bromelain from carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC) that exhibited specific enzyme activity with a purification fold of 69.50 U/mg and 3.01, respectively. It indicated that the purified protease in this study showed higher proteolytic activity than other reported pineapple proteases using anion exchange chromatography. The high proteolytic activity obtained in this study could be attributed to using 50 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 8) instead of 1 M acetate buffer (pH 4.5) at the ion exchange chromatography step. Novaes et al. (2016) reported that bromelain exhibited an enhanced capacity to bind to acid 8-aniline-1-sulfonic acid without tertiary contact at pH 8. Optimization of the extraction conditions is necessary to extract the protease enzyme from the main contaminants, thus greatly enhancing the purity of the enzyme extracted (Vicente et al., 2016).

Table 1

Purification steps	of crown extract
--------------------	------------------

Steps	Vol (ml)	Total protein (mg)	Total activity (Units)	Protein concentration (mg/ml)	Proteolytic activity (U/ml)	Specific activity (U/mg)	Fold purification	% yield
Step 1 (After crude extract)	200	640	25200	3.20	126.27	39.46	1.00	100
Step 2 (After anion exchange chromatography)	150	129	22060.50	0.86	147.09	171.03	4.33	0.87
Step 3 (After gel filtration chromatography)	0.50	0.24	75.47	0.48	150.90	314.38	1.84	0.03
Step 4 (After desalt)	0.50	0.42	72.01	0.84	144.02	171.45	0.55	0.95

After ion exchange chromatography, fractions pooled I (fractions D12-E6), II (fractions 2 A10-2B9), and III (fractions 2 C12-2 D9) (Figure 4) were used for the gel filtration chromatography step. The gel filtration chromatogram showed that the C10/C11 peak was eluted at 17 ml (Figure 5). After the gel filtration chromatography step, the concentration, proteolytic activity, and specific activity of the purified enzyme were 0.48 mg/ml, 150.90 U/ml, and 314.38 U/mg, respectively (Table 1). Based on these results, high solution concentrations make the enzyme more stable, resulting in decreased proteolytic activity, whereas low concentrations make the enzyme less stable, resulting in increased proteolytic activity. According to Hale (2005), low bromelain concentrations are more susceptible to spontaneous inactivation of proteolytic activity than concentrated bromelain solution. In addition, stem bromelain was more stable than fruit bromelain and ananain. Plus, the higher number of steps involved in purification could remove more natural protease enzyme inhibitors, causing activity to rise (Bala et al., 2012).

Initially, during the purification process, it was observed that purified protease did not show a clear and distinct band on SDS-PAGE gel even though proteolytic activity was detected when assayed. It indicates that the purified proteases were actively being degraded and most likely were self-degrading. During gel filtration chromatography, ethylene diamine tetra acetic acid (EDTA) was added to the buffer to chelate metal ions by forming a stable complex with divalent ions, such as calcium ions (Ca²⁺). EDTA is a cationchelating agent that eliminates essential cations required for proteases. That way, EDTA inactivates protease activity so that the purification process will proceed with low or negligible proteolytic degradation, and the purified enzyme can be detected on an SDS-PAGE gel. However, EDTA must be removed before catalytic activity characterization so the protease can be activated again. Removal of EDTA from the purified sample was achieved by using desalting chromatography.



Figure 4. Anion exchange chromatography using step gradient for the crown extract. Green (L1), brown (L2), and blue (L3) lines represent the percent concentration of buffer B (%), the conductivity of protein (mS/cm), and protein sample flow. Y-axis represents the intensity of absorbance (mAU), and the x-axis represents the volume of the sample (ml)

Isolation of Proteolytic Enzyme from Pineapple Crown



Figure 5. Gel filtration chromatography of crown extract. Y-axis represents the intensity of absorbance (mAU), and the x-axis represents the sample volume (ml). The arrow indicated the elution of purified enzyme at 17 ml

After desalting chromatography purification, the purified enzyme's proteolytic activity and specific activity decreased to 144.02 U/ml and 171.45 U/ mg, respectively. The reduced activity could be due to the loss of enzyme during the desalting chromatography step and the inhibitory effect conferred by residual EDTA that may still be in the sample. Figure 6A depicts SDS-PAGE with 15% acrylamide for improved separation. Lane C was the crude sample, D4, D3, and B2 were from anion exchange chromatography peaks, and C10/11 was from gel filtration chromatography. The C10/C11 fraction has high protein band intensities with 25-32 kDa MW. The purified enzyme was then desalted, and a single band on SDS-PAGE in Lane I showed an MW of 25-32 kDa (Figure 6B). It demonstrates that it is a single polypeptide, and the protease was purified to

apparent homogeneity. According to certain studies, protease enzyme isolated from the crown has a molecular weight of 25–27 kDa and a more intense band of 28–30 kDa (Bresolin et al., 2013; Ketnawa et al., 2012; Krishnan & Gokulakrishnan, 2015).

pH and Thermal Profiles

Based on a comparison among cultivars, crowns from the MD2 cultivar showed the highest proteolytic activity. Thus, the purified protease enzyme from the MD2 crown was used for further characterization. The effect of pH on proteolytic activity from the crown was measured and expressed as a relative protease activity against control. Purified protein from the MD2 crown exhibited the highest proteolytic activity at pH 7. Lower proteolytic activity was detected in acidic conditions (pH 4–5) and alkaline conditions (pH 8) (Figure 7). The





Figure 6. (A) 15% SDS-PAGE; C is the crude extract, D4, D3, and B2 are from anion exchange chromatography and C10/11 from gel filtration. (B) Desalting step of purified protein in the lane I. The arrow shows the band of the purified enzyme

major components of protease enzyme in pineapple were stem bromelain (80%), fruit bromelain (10%), and ananain (5%) (Kahiro et al., 2017). The types of protease enzymes depend on the extracted part of the fruit. Some researchers found that the activation of protease enzyme was at the pH range of 3–7 for all parts of pineapple and showed high proteolytic activity and specific activity at pH 7 and gradually declining after attaining the optimum pH (Ketnawa et al.,



Figure 7. Effect of pH on the proteolytic activity of purified protein extracted from crown MD2 cultivar

Note. Different alphabetical letters indicate the significant differences (p>0.05)

2012; Krishnan & Gokulakrishnan, 2015; Novaes et al., 2016; Omotovinbo & Sanni, 2017). However, the proteolytic activity of fruit bromelain was found to be optimum at pH 4.5 with 4.429 U/ml (Mohan & Sivakumar, 2016), whereas stem bromelain recorded the optimum pH in the range of 7.5-10 (Han et al., 2018). In addition, peel and pulp extracts exhibited optimum pH at 7.5 and slightly decreased when pH changed to alkali or acidic (Indrajeet et al., 2017). Pineapple leaf and pulp also recorded the maximum activity at pH 6 and 8, respectively (Ramalingam et al., 2012). It revealed that different extracted parts of pineapple possessed different optimum pH due to the surface charge on the adsorbent materials (Omotoyinbo & Sanni, 2017).

However, no activity was recorded at pH 3, 6, and 9. Different pHs affect the enzyme's structure and enzyme activity by changing the ionization state of basic or acidic amino acids. Basic amino acids

have amine-containing functional groups, whereas acidic amino acids have carboxyl functional groups on their side chains. The ionic bonds hold three dimensional of a protein; therefore, if the ionized state of the amino acids in the protein changes, the protein structure will also alter. It may result in the inactivation of enzymes or alterations in protein function. Thus, extremes of acidity (pH 2 to 3) or alkalinity (pH 9) can cause the total loss of enzyme activity. Aside from that, no activity was shown at pH 6. However, adjusting the pH of the reaction mixture to the optimal pH restored the highest activity observed at pH 7. The pH of the reaction mixture may promote substrate dissociation and hence impact activity by its action on the substrate (Piper & Fenton, 1965).



Figure 8. Effect of temperature on the proteolytic activity of purified protein extracted from crown MD2 cultivar

Note. Different alphabetical letters indicate the significant differences (p>0.05)

The temperature condition for activity was between 30-40°C (Figure 8). As the temperature rises, more molecules have adequate kinetic energy to react up to the optimal point, when the peptide bonds begin to degrade, resulting in protein misfolding and structural alteration (Han et al., 2018; Ketnawa et al., 2012). As a result of the irreversible inactivation of the enzyme, the proteolytic enzyme, and its function decreased (Ataide et al., 2018; Soares et al., 2012). Hence, bromelain has optimum activity ranging from 30 and 40°C. As a result, the purified enzyme showed an optimum pH of 7 and temperature between 30–40°C with a molecular weight of 25 to 32 kDa. However, the fruit bromelain showed an optimum pH of 7 and a temperature between 30 and 40°C with a molecular weight of 24.5 kDa (Ferreira et al., 2011). Even though the purified protein seemed to resemble fruit bromelain, the activity was drastically reduced at temperatures ranging from 40 to 60°C. It showed that the purified protein was not a glycosylated enzyme (Mamo & Assefa, 2019). Generally, stem and fruit bromelains consist of 1-2 sites of glycosylation (Ramli et al., 2018). Thus, the purified protein was most likely to be ananain as it was a non-glycosylated protein, while comosain differed from ananain but had similar carbohydrate composition closely resembling stem bromelain (Napper et al., 1994). Unlike stem bromelain and fruit bromelain, the purified protein from the crown more resembled ananain. The purified protein was then identified via LC-MS.

LC-MS

The use of LC-MS is to provide protein identification information and quantitative measurements in proteomic research. From this analysis, five unique sequences (Query ID: 55577, 46136, 15596, 35225, and 36722) were subjected to sequence analyses using NCBI BLASTP, which revealed that 100% of the amino acids sequences were identical with the sequences of ananain of Ananas comosus from the family Bromeliaceae under accession number OAY80104.1 (according to NCBI) or AOA199VSS3 (according to Uniprot) (Table 2). The five unique peptide sequences (in colors) show that 100% of sequences were identified with the full sequences of ananain of Ananas comosus from the family Bromeliaceae under accession number AOA199VSS3 (Figure 9). It covered 97/356 amino acids with 44.9% coverage. In addition, this study revealed that the ananain from Ananas comosus (AOA199VSS3) had the closest relationship with ananain (accession number AOA199UL32, AOA199UUY2, and AOA199W8N4), fruit bromelain (AOA199VSB5, AOA199W3D2,

AOA199W9F2, and AOA199W8R4), bromelain (O24641), and papain (P0074.8).

Thus, the phylogenetic relationships of 10 proteases were constructed (Figure 10). Based on the MEROPS database (the peptidase database), the evolutionary tree indicated that family C1 was categorized into two subfamilies: C1A and C1B, which are closely related to the papain and bleomycin hydrolase subfamily, respectively. Ananain (EC 3.4.22.31) was classified in the subfamilies of C1A, a peptidase family related to papain (Figure 10). The molecular weight of ananain is in the range of 20 to 35 kDa and, thus, grouped in the clan CA (superfamily cysteine protease). In conclusion, a comparative analysis of this sample revealed that the purified enzyme had highly matched with the sequences of ananain from A. comosus under accession number A0A199VSS3 (according to Uniprot). It has five unique peptides and covers 97/356 amino acids (44.9% coverage). Thus, the purified enzyme extracted from pineapple crown was ananain-like protease, one type of cysteine protease like other papain family members.

Tal	ble	e 2

Ιc	leni	tif	icati	ion	of	five	unique	peptides	sequences j	from	the	purified	enzyme
----	------	-----	-------	-----	----	------	--------	----------	-------------	------	-----	----------	--------

No.	Query ID	Sequences	Read	Total	% identity
			length	score	
1.	55577	KGILEPLSEQQVLDCAK	17	56.6	100 % OAY80104.1 (Ananain)
2.	46136	GVASGAIYPYK	11	37.1	100 % OAY80104.1 (Ananain)
3.	15596	QPITVAVDANANFQYYK	17	58.7	100 % OAY80104.1 (Ananain)

Isolation of Proteolytic Enzyme from Pineapple Crown

Table 2 (Continue)

No.	Query	Sequences	Read	Total	% identity
	ID		length	score	
4.	35225	SGVFNGPCGTSLNHAVTAIGYGQDSNGKK	29	91.8	100 % OAY80104.1 (Ananain)
5.	36722	DVSSSSGICGIAIDSLYPTLESR	23	73.6	100 % OAY80104.1 (Ananain)

MAWKVQLVFLFLFLCVMWASPSAASADEPSDPMMKRFEEWMVEYGRVYKDNDEKMRRFQIFKNNV NHIETFNSRNENSYTLGINQFTDMTNNEFIAQYTGGISRPLNIEREPVVSFDDVDISAVPQSIDWRDYGA VTSVKNQNPCGACWAFAAIATVESIYKIKKGILEPLSEQQVLDCAKGYGCKGGWEFRAFEFIISNKGVAS GAIYPYKAAKGTCKTNGVPNSAYITGYARVPRNNESSMMYAVSKQPITVAVDANANFQYYKSGVFNGP CGTSLNHAVTAIGYGQDSNGKKYWIVKNSWGARWGEAGYIRMARDVSSSSGICGIAIDSLYPTLESRAN VEAIKMVSESRSSV

Figure 9. The full sequences of ananain of *Ananas comosus* under the accession number AOA199VSS3. The colors indicated the five unique peptides sequences (Query ID: 55577, 46136, 15596, 35225, and 36722)



Figure 10. The phylogenetic relationship of ananain from Ananas comosus

CONCLUSION

The proteolytic activity of the MD2 crown was 126.0 ± 3.86 U/ml, the specific activity was 3937.50 U/mg, and the specific activity in 1 kg of waste was 3.94×10^9 U. Therefore, in 50 tonnes of a crown, it is possible to obtain 1.97×10^{14} U of bromelain. MD2 crown recorded the highest proteolytic activity, as shown by larger halo zone formation on both casein and skim milk plates. As a result, the MD2 cultivar was the best cultivar with the most proteolytic activity. The purified enzyme (ananain) extracted from the pineapple's crown contained high proteolytic activity and specific activity of 144.02 U/ml and 171.43 U/mg, respectively. Purification of the extract yielded a band at a molecular weight of 25-32 kDa MW. The optimum conditions for the proteolytic activity of this purified enzyme were pH 7 at 37°C. The purified protein was characterized, and LC-MS confirmed that it resembled more ananain than comosain, stem bromelain, or fruit bromelain. The sample highly matched with ananain from A. comosus, under accession number A0A199VSS3 (according to Uniprot), and it has five unique peptides and covered 97/356 amino acids (44.9 percent coverage). Ananain (EC 3.4.22.31) was classified in the subfamilies of C1A, a peptidase family related to papain. The molecular weight of ananain is in the range of 20 to 35 kDa and, thus, grouped in the clan CA (superfamily cysteine protease). Thus, the purified enzyme extracted from pineapple crown was ananain-like protease, one type of cysteine protease like other papain family members.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors acknowledged the Ministry of Higher Education (MOHE, Malaysia) for the Universiti Teknologi Malaysia (UTM, Malaysia)-Transdisciplinary Research (TDR) Grant No. Q.J130000.3554.06G70 and the Faculty of Science for research laboratory facilities. The authors are also thankful to Malaysian Genome Institute for the guidance given in completing this research.

REFERENCES

- Abreu, D. C. A., & Figueiredo, K. C. D. (2019). Bromelain separation and purification processes from pineapple extract. *Brazilian Journal of Chemical Engineering*, 36(2), 1029-1039. https://doi.org/10.1590/0104-6632.20190362s20180417
- Arshad, M. S., Kwon, J., Imran, M., & Sohaib, M. (2017). Plant and bacterial proteases: A key towards improving meat tenderization, a mini review. *Cogent Food and Agriculture*, 2(1), 1261780. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311932.20 16.1261780
- Arshad, Z. I. M., Amid, A., Yusof, F., Jaswir, I., Ahmad, K., & Loke, S. P. (2014). Bromelain: An overview of industrial application and purification strategies. *Applied Microbiology* and Biotechnology, 98(17), 7283–7297. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00253-014-5889-y
- Ataide, J. A., Gerios, E. F., Mazzola, P. G., & Souto, E. B. (2018). Bromelain-loaded nanoparticles: A comprehensive review of the state of the art. *Advances in Colloid and Interface Science*, 254, 48-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cis.2018.03.006
- Bala, M., Ismail, N. A., Mel, M., Jami, M. S., Salleh, H. M., & Amid, A. (2012). Bromelain production: Current trends and perspective. *Archives Des Sciences*, 65(11), 369–399.

- Barrera-Núñez, M. C., Yáñez-Vico, R. M., Batistacruzado, A., Heurtebise-Saavedra, J. M., Castillo-de Oyagüe, R., & Torres-Lagares, D. (2014). Prospective double-blind clinical trial evaluating the effectiveness of bromelain in the third molar extraction postoperative period. *Medicina Oral Patologia Oral y Cirugia Bucal*, 19(2), e157–e162. https://doi.org/10.4317/ medoral.19105
- Bradford, M. M. (1976). A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 72(1-2), 248–254.https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(76)90527-3
- Bresolin, I. R. A. P., Bresolin, I. T. L., Silveira, E., Tambourgi, E. B., & Mazzola, P. G. (2013). Isolation and purification of bromelain from waste peel of pineapple for therapeutic application. *Brazilian Archives of Biology* and Technology, 56(6), 971–979. https://doi. org/10.1590/S1516-89132013000600012
- Chaurasiya, R. S., & Hebbar, H. U. (2013). Extraction of bromelain from pineapple core and purification by RME and precipitation methods. *Separation* and Purification Technology, 111, 90-97. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2013.03.029
- Costa, H. B., Fernandes, P. M. B., Romão, W., & Ventura, J. A. (2014). A new procedure based on column chromatography to purify bromelain by ion exchange plus gel filtration chromatographies, *Industrial Crops and Products*, 59, 163–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2014.04.042
- Falah, M. A. F., Nadine, M. D., & Suryandono, A. (2015). Effects of storage conditions on quality and shelf-life of fresh-cut melon (*Cucumis melo* L.) and Papaya (*Carica papaya* L.). *Procedia Food Science*, 3, 313–322. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.profoo.2015.01.034
- Ferreira, J. F., Santana, J. C. C., & Tambourgi, E. B. (2011). The effect of pH on bromelain

partition from *Ananas comosus* by PEG4000/ phosphate ATPS. *Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology*, *54*(1), 125–132. https://doi. org/10.1590/s1516-89132011000100017

- Hale, L. P., Greer, P. K., Trinh, C. T., & James, C. L. (2005). Proteinase activity and stability of natural bromelain preparations. *International Immunopharmacology*, 5(4), 783–793. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2004.12.007
- Han, J., Cai, Y. F, Xie, X. Q, Wang, Y., Wang, L., Li, C., Rao, W. W., & Ni, L. (2018). A simple method for purification of bromelain in a thermosensitive triblock copolymer-based protection system and recycling of phase components. *Separation Science and Technology*, 53(4), 636–644. https:// doi.org/10.1080/01496395.2017.1398757
- Hebbar, H. U., Hemavathi, A. B., Sumana, B., & Raghavarao, K. S. M. S. (2011). Reverse micellar extraction of bromelain from pineapple (Ananas comosus L. Merryl) waste: Scaleup, reverse micelles characterization and mass transfer studies. Separation Science and Technology, 46(10), 1656–1664. https://doi.org /10.1080/01496395.2011.572110
- Hebbar, H. U., Sumana, B., & Raghavarao, K. S. M. S. (2008). Use of reverse micellar systems for the extraction and purification of bromelain from pineapple wastes. *Bioresource Technology*, 99(11), 4896–4902. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2007.09.038
- Hebbar, H. U., Sumana, B., Hemavathi, A. B., & Raghavarao, S. M. S. (2012). Separation and purification of bromelain by reverse micellar extraction coupled ultrafiltration and comparative studies with other methods. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 5(3), 1010–1018. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11947-010-0395-4
- Hidayat, T, Abdullah, F. I., Kuppusamy, C., Samad, A. A., & Wagiran, A. (2012). Molecular identification of Malaysian pineapple cultivar based on internal transcribed spacer region.

APCBEE Procedia, *4*, 146–151. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.apcbee.2012.11.025

- Indrajeet, S. O., Singh, S., Chakravarty, I., & Kundu, S. (2017). Extraction and purification of bromelain from pineapple fruit pulp and peel and comparative study of enzymatic activities. *International Journal of Basic and Applied Biology*, 4(1), 4–7.
- Kahiro, S. K., Kagira, J. M., Maina, N., Karanja, S. M., & Njonge, F. N. (2017). Enzymatic activity of bromelain from crude extracts of crown, peels and stem of pineapples from different agro-ecological zones of Thika region, Kenya. *Asian Journal of Biotechnology and Bioresource Technology*, 1(2), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.9734/ AJB2T/2017/34314
- Ketnawa, S, Chaiwut, P., & Rawdkuen, S. (2012). Pineapple wastes: A potential source for bromelain extraction. *Food and Bioproducts Processing*, 90(3), 385–391. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.fbp.2011.12.006
- Krishnan, V. A., & Gokulakrishnan, M. (2015). Extraction and purification of bromelain from pineapple and determination of its effect on bacteria causing peridontitis. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Research*, 6(12), 5284–5294. https://doi. org/10.13040/IJPSR.0975-8232.
- Kwatra, B. (2019). A review on potential properties and therapeutic applications of bromelain. World Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, 8(11), 488-500. https://doi. org/10.20959/wjpps201911-14941.
- Lembaga Perindustrian Nanas Malaysia. (2018). Maklumat statistik 2018 [Statistical information of 2018]. LPNM. https://www.mpib.gov.my/en/ publication/
- Mamo, J., & Assefa, F. (2019). Antibacterial and anticancer property of bromelain: A plant protease enzyme from pineapples (*Ananas comosus*). *Current Trends Biomedical Engineering*

& Bioscience, 19(2), 556009. https://doi. org/10.19080/CTBEB.2019.19.556009

- Martins, B. C., Rescolino, R., Coelho, D. C., Zanchetta, B., Tambourgi, E. B., & Silveira, E. (2014). Characterization of bromelain from *Ananas comosus* agroindustrial residues purified by ethanol factional precipitation. *Chemical Engineering Transactions*, 37, 781–786. https:// doi.org/10.3303/CET1437131
- Mirabella, N., Castellani, V., & Sala, S. (2014). Current options for the valorization of food manufacturing waste: A review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 65, 28–41. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.10.051
- Mohan, R., & Sivakumar, V. (2016). Optimisation of bromelain enzyme extraction from pineapple (Ananas comosus) and application in process industry. American Journal of Biochemistry and Biotechnology, 12(3), 188–195. https://doi. org/10.3844/ajbbsp.2016.188.195
- Muhammad, Z. A., & Ahmad, T. (2017). Therapeutic uses of pineapple-extracted bromelain in surgical care - A review. *Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association*, 67(1), 121–125.
- Munchow, E. A., Hamann, H. J., Carvajal, M. T., Pinal, R., & Bottino, M. C. (2016). Stain removal effect of novel papain and bromelaincontaining gels applied to enamel. *Clinical Oral Investigations*, 20(8), 2315–2320. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00784-016-1840-1
- Murachi, T. (1976). Bromelain enzymes. In *Methods in enzymology* (Vol. 45, pp. 475–485). Academic Press.
- Napper, A. D., Bennett, S. P., Borowski, W., Holdridge, M. B., Leonard, M. J., Rogers, E. E., Duan, Y., Laursen, R. A., Reinhold, B., & Shames, S. L. (1994). Purification and characterization of multiple forms of the pineapple-stem-derived cysteine proteinases ananain and comosain. *Biochemical Journal*, 301(3), 727–735. https:// doi.org/10.1042/bj3010727

- Neh, A., & Ali, N. E. (2020). Agricultural waste management system [AWMS] in Malaysian. Open Access Journal of Waste Management & Xenobiotics, 3(2), 000140. https://doi. org/10.23880/oajwx-16000140
- Neta, J. L. V., Lédo, A. D., Lima, A. A. B., Santana, J. C. C., Leite, N. S., Ruzene, D. S., Silva, D. P., & de Souza, R. R. (2012). Bromelain enzyme from pineapple: *In vitro* activity study under different micropropagation conditions. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, *168*(2), 234– 246. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-012-9753-1
- Ngoc, U. N., & Schnitzer, H. (2009). Sustainable solutions for solid waste management in Southeast Asian countries. *Waste Management*, 29(6), 1982–1995. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. wasman.2008.08.031
- Nor, M. Z. M., Ramchandran, L., Duke, M., & Vasiljevic, T. (2015). Characteristic properties of crude pineapple waste extract for bromelain purification by membrane processing. *Journal* of Food Science and Technology, 52(11), 7103–7112. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-015-1812-5
- Novaes, L. C. D, Jozala, A. F., Lopes, A. M., Santos-Ebinuma, V. D, Mazzola, P. G., & Pessoa, A. (2016). Stability, purification, and applications of bromelain: Review. *Biotechnology Progress*, 32(1), 5–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/btpr.2190
- Omotoyinbo, O. V., & Sanni, D. M. (2017). Characterization of bromelain from parts of three different pineapple varieties in Nigeria. *American Journal of Bioscience*, 5(3), 35–41. https://doi. org/10.11648/j.ajbio.20170503.11
- Piper, D. W., & Fento, B. H. (1965). pH stability and activity curves of pepsin with special reference to their clinical importance. *Gut*, 6(5), 506–508. https://doi.org/10.113/gut.6.5.506
- Ramalingam, C., Srinath, R., & Islam, N. N. (2012). Isolation and characterization of bromelain from pineapple (*Ananas comosus*) and comparing its anti-browning activity on apple juice with

commercial anti-browning agents. *Elixir Food Science*, *45*, 7822–7826.

- Ramli, A. N. M., Aznan, T. N. T., & Illias, R. M. (2017). Bromelain: From production to commercialisation. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 97(5), 1386–1395. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.8122
- Ramli, A. N. M., Manas, N. H. A., Hamid, A. A., Hamid, H., & Illias, R. (2018). Comparative structural analysis of fruit and stem bromelain from *Ananas comosus*. *Food Chemistry*, 266, 183-191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foodchem.2018.05.125
- Rathnavelu, V., Alitheen, N. B., Sohila, S., Kanagesan, S., & Ramesh, R. (2016). Potential role of bromelain in clinical and therapeutic applications (Review). *Biomedical Reports*, 5(3), 283–288. https://doi.org/10.3892/br.2016.720
- Sahoo, R., & Das, P. K (2017). Bromelain: Applications and purification strategies. *PharmaTutor*, 5(11), 40–48.
- Soares, P. A. G., Vaz, A. F. M., Correia, M. T. S., Pessoa Jr., A., Carneiro-da-Cunha, M. G. (2012). Purification of bromelain from pineapple wastes by ethanol precipitation. *Separation and Purification Technology*, *98*, 389–395. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2012.06.042
- Thalip, A. A., Tong, P. S., & Ng, C. (2015). The MD2 'super sweet' pineapple (*Ananas comosus*). *UTAR Agriculture Science*, 1(4), 14–17.
- Vicente, F. A., Lario, L. D., Pessoa, A., & Ventura, S. P. M. (2016). Recovery of bromelain from pineapple stem residues using aqueous micellar two-phase systems with ionic liquids as co-surfactants. *Process Biochemistry*, 51(4), 528–534. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2016.01.004
- Vijayaraghavan, P., & Vincent, S. G. P. (2013). A simple method for the detection of protease activity on agar plate using bromocresolgreen dye. *Journal of Biochemical Technology*, 4(3), 628–630. https://doi.org/10.101/j. bej.2007.08.016

- Wan, J., Guo, J. J., Miao, Z. T., & Guo, X. (2016). Reverse micellar extraction of bromelain from pineapple peel – Effect of surfactant structure. *Food Chemistry*, 197(Part A), 450–456. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.10.145
- Youryon, P., Supapvanich, S., Kongtrakool, P., & Wongs-Aree, C. (2018). Calcium chloride and calcium gluconate peduncle infiltrations alleviate the internal browning of queen pineapple in refrigerated storage. *Horticulture Environment* and, Biotechnology, 59(2), 205–213. https://doi. org/10.1007/s13580-018-0028-9



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Effects of Spacing on Early Growth Rate and Yield of Hybrid *Eucalyptus* Stands

Guilherme Luiz Fernandes¹*, Gianmarco Goycochea Casas², Leonardo Pereira Fardin², Gilciano Saraiva Nogueira³, Rodrigo Viera Leite^{2,4}, Laercio Couto⁵ and Hélio Garcia Leite²

¹Vital Brasil Street, 36-Imbaúbas, Zip Code 35160 283 Ipatinga, Minas Gerais, Brazil
 ²Department of Forest Engineering, Federal University of Viçosa, Av. Purdue, s/n, Viçosa Campus, Zip Code 36570-900 Viçosa, Minas Gerais, Brazil
 ³Department of Forestry, Federal University of the Valleys of Jequitinhonha and Mucuri, Diamantina Campus,

Zip Code 39100-000 Diamantina, Minas Gerais, Brazil ⁴Forest Biometrics and Remote Sensing Laboratory (Silva Lab), School of Forest, Fisheries, and Geomatics Sciences, University of Florida, PO Box 110410, Gainesville, 32611 Florida, USA ⁵Daniels Faculty's Forestry, University of Toronto, M5S 3B2 Toronto, Canada

ABSTRACT

Optimizing tree spacing in a forest plantation is one of the main management techniques to improve stand quality and productivity. Its influence on growth from an early age is an important matter for forest management. This study aims to evaluate the effect of tree spacing on early growth rate and yield over time in *Eucalyptus grandis* × *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* hybrids. The data were obtained from an experiment in Itamarandiba, Minas Gerais, Brazil. The plots were composed of five planting spacing ($3.00 \text{ m} \times 0.50 \text{ m}$, $3.00 \text{ m} \times 1.00 \text{ m}$, $3.00 \text{ m} \times 1.50 \text{ m}$, $3.00 \text{ m} \times 2.00 \text{ m}$, and $3.00 \text{ m} \times 3.00 \text{ m}$) measured at the ages of 7, 12, 24, 36, 48, 61, 77, 85, and 102 months. Growth and yield were analyzed by fitting the Gompertz model and a baseline exponential model up to 36 months of age to evaluate

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 08 November 2022 Accepted: 16 January 2023 Published: 18 April 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.15

E-mail addresses:

fernandesguilhermeluiz@gmail.com (Guilherme Luiz Fernandes) gianmarco.casas@ufv.br (Gianmarco Goycochea Casas) leopfard@gmail.com (Leonardo Pereira Fardin) gilciano.nogueira@ufvjm.edu.br (Gilciano Saraiva Nogueira) rodrigo.leite@ufv.br (Rodrigo Vieira Leite) laercio.couto@utoronto.ca (Laercio Couto) hgleite@ufv.br (Hélio Garcia Leite) * Corresponding author the influence of early growth on the harvest age. A Pearson correlation matrix was also generated to find out the relationship between the mean annual increment in the respective treatments during the studied period. It was observed that a positive correlation in the average annual increase in the 3×2 and 3×3 spacings. It was verified that tree spacing influenced the yielded wood volume and the optimal harvest age. The early growth rate influences the optimal harvest, which may explain a possible loss of yield during the productive cycle of the forest stand.

Keywords: Growth and yield modeling, harvest planning, mean annual increment, optimal harvest age

INTRODUCTION

Brazil is one of the major suppliers of forest products and by-products (da Silva et al., 2017). The Brazilian forest-based industry has been highlighted for presenting the highest productivity with a short-rotation intensive culture (Moreira et al., 2017). Eucalyptus is an especially important species in Brazil due to its rapid growth, low-density canopy shape, and multiple uses for its wood (Souza et al., 2020). Eucalyptus timber is used for various purposes, such as producing timber plates, plywood, charcoal, wood foils, sawn timber, pulp, furniture, and building purposes (Gonçalves et al., 2008; Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística [IBGE], 2021).

The growth rate of a forest stand is determined by factors such as the site's productive capacity species, number, and spatial distribution of trees. It is also linked to soil conditions, as high salt concentrations can cause reductions in plant growth and productivity, such as for early growth eucalyptus clones (Lacerda, 2016). These characteristics need to be accounted for by the forest manager to select silvicultural treatments and harvest strategies (Clutter et al., 1983).

Mathematical models are often used to predict the growth and yield of a forest stand to aid in the decision-making process. Models are especially useful for reasoning, forecasting, and decision-making and aim to abstract and summarize the problem in real life (Buongiorno & Gilless, 2003). These models must be dependable to describe as precisely as possible the complex dynamics of the nonlinear system that is the growth of forest stands (Porté & Bartelink, 2002). The accuracy of growth estimates directly affects forest planning (Bettinger et al., 2017; Campos & Leite, 2017).

The spacing and spacing arrangement definition directly reflect the silvicultural activities in the stands. These activities influence the availability of resources for plant growth, forest management, wood quality, and production costs (Corrêa et al., 2020; de Oliveira Neto et al., 2003; Moulin et al., 2017).

Some factors must be taken into account to select the best number of trees per unit area: the population density, the local productive capacity, intended wood product, technological aspects (e.g., the equipment to be used for harvesting), silvicultural, ecological, and economic aspects, represented by climate, soil, relief, condition with higher or lower plantation density and management (Campos & Leite, 2017; Salles et al., 2012). At high-density spacings, the growth resources become limited more rapidly, resulting in suppressed individuals and a low population growth rate at relatively young ages (Soares et al., 2004).

In addition, the growth in diameter might also be influenced by the tree spacing, where the larger the spacing, the less competition among the trees and, thus, the greater development in diameter of the trees (Berger et al., 2002; Cockerham, 2004; dos Santos Leles et al., 2001; Pinkard & Neilsen, 2003).

Denser spacings generally provide trees with a smaller diameter and lower survival percentage but higher basal area per hectare and higher total volume per hectare (Stape & Binkley, 2010). However, denser plantations result in smaller trees, shorter rotation, and higher costs of mechanized harvesting, as tree spacing is one factor that defines the trees' growth rate. Meanwhile, the effects of tree spacing on early growth rates and final yields of hybrid Eucalyptus stands have not yet been decided. Based on the above, the study aimed to test if the spacing between eucalyptus trees affects the final yield evaluated from the early growth rate (less than 2 years). This study aims to evaluate the effects of spacing on early growth rate and yield over time in Eucalyptus grandis × Eucalyptus camaldulensis hybrid stands.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Study Site and Experiment Design

The dataset for the development of the study was from a tree spacing experiment installed in a hybrid *E. grandis x E. camaldulensis* stand in Itamarandiba, in the Jequitinhonha Valley, Minas Gerais, Brazil (17.86° S latitude and 42.86° W longitude). The average annual temperature is 21.2°C, and the climate is tropical altitude with two well-defined seasons. The region has an altitude ranging from 645 to 1,648 m, with an average rainfall of 1,130 mm per year (Alvares et al., 2013).

The experiment started in 2002 and used a randomized block design with five treatments (spacing) and three blocks. Each experimental plot had six planting rows with 28 trees (168 trees) with a distance between rows equal to 3 m. The distance within rows varied according to the treatment and was defined as 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 2.0, and 3.0 m. A double border was used with 48 measurable trees in each plot (Table 1). The detailed experiment design and dendrometry data by age and treatment in hybrid stands of *E. grandis* × *E. camaldulensis* are shown in Table S1.

Data Collection, Height, and Volume Estimates

The plots were measured at ages 7, 12, 18, 24, 36, 48, 61, 77, 85, and 102 months. In these ages, the circumference at the breast

Table 1

Experiment design and treatments to study the effects of spacing on the early growth rate and yield over time in hybrid Eucalyptus *stands*

Treatment	Spacing (m × m)	Area per tree (m ²)	N° of tree in the block	N° of the tree on the border	N° of measurable tree per plot	Plot area (m ²)
1	3.00×0.50	1.5	168	120	48	72
2	3.00×1.00	3.0	168	120	48	144
3	3.00×1.50	4.5	168	120	48	216
4	3.00×2.00	6.0	168	120	48	288
5	3.00×3.00	9.0	168	120	48	432

height of all trees in each experimental plot was measured using a measuring tape. From the age of 48 months onward, the heights of the first 12 normal trees in each plot were measured (Paulino, 2012). A Haglöf hypsometer (Sweden) was used to measure these heights. A hypsometric equation (Equation 1) was fitted to estimate the tree heights that were not measured.

A total of 245 sample trees were scaled by measuring the diameter at every 1-meter section of the stem and calculating their total stem volumes using Smalian's formula. The data from these trees fit the Schumacher and dos Santos Hall (1933) model to estimate the volume for all trees in the plots (Equation 2).

$$LnHt = \beta_0 + \beta_1 Dbh^{-1} + \varepsilon \tag{1}$$

$$LnV = \beta_0 + \beta_1 LnDbh + \beta_2 LnHt + \varepsilon$$
(2)

where, $V = \text{Volume (m}^3)$; Dbh = Diameter atbreast height (cm); Ht = Total height (m); Ln= Natural logarithm; β_0 , β_1 , β_2 = Regression coefficient; and ε = Random error

Growth and Yield Modeling

The growth and yield model were developed using the measurements from 7 to 102 months old stands. The Gompertz model (Gompertz, 1833) (Equation 3) was fitted for each treatment in the experiment. The Gompertz model is the most suitable for analyzing growth as a function of age for eucalypt stands (Reis et al., 2022):

$$Y = \beta_0 e^{-e\beta_1 - \beta_2 A} \tag{3}$$

where, Y = Estimated volume outside bark; $\beta_0, \beta_1, \beta_2 =$ Regression coefficients ; and A = Age (months)

The equations to generate the current monthly increment (CMI) and acceleration curves were obtained through the first (Equation 4) and second (Equation 5) derivatives of the Gompertz model, respectively. The curves were created by treatment.

1st derivative of the Gompertz model:

$$Y' = \beta_0 \beta_2 e^{(-e^{(\beta_1 - \beta_2 X)} - \beta_2 A + \beta_1)}$$
(4)

2nd derivative of the Gompertz model:

$$Y'' = \beta_0 \beta_2 (\beta_2 e^{(\beta_1 - \beta_2 A)} - \beta_2) e^{(-e^{(\beta_1 - \beta_2 A)} - \beta_2 A + \beta_1)}$$
(5)

The model was evaluated using the correlation $ry\hat{y}$ between observed and estimated volume (Equation 6), percent root mean square error (RMSE%) (Equation 7), and bias (Equation 8). The scatterplots between observed and estimated values were also analyzed.

$$ry\hat{y} = \frac{n^{-1}\sum_{i=1}^{n} (\hat{Y}_{i} - \hat{Y}_{m}) (Y_{i} - \overline{Y})}{\sqrt{n^{-1}\sum_{i=1}^{n} (\hat{Y}_{i} - \hat{Y}_{m})^{2} n^{-1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (Y_{i} - \overline{Y})^{2}}}$$
(6)

$$RMSE\% = 100\overline{Y_i}^{-1} \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (\hat{Y_i} - Y_i)^2}{n}} \quad (7)$$

$$bias = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\hat{Y}_i - Y_i \right) \tag{8}$$

where, Y_i and \hat{Y}_i = Observed and estimated volumes, respectively; \overline{Y} and \hat{Y}_m = Mean

of the observed and estimated values, respectively; *n* = Number of cases

Assessment of Early Growth Rate and Yield

The exponential model was fitted for each plot and treatment for the early ages of 7 to 36 months to evaluate the influence of the early growth rate on the mean annual increment (MAI) 6 (MAI 6) and 7 years (MAI 7). The parameter estimates were then related to yield at 6 and 7 years.

$$Y = \beta_0 A^{\beta_1} \tag{9}$$

where, $Y = \text{Yield (m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ year}^{-1}); \beta_0, \beta_1$ = Parameters of the equation; A = Age inmonths, up to the age of 3 years (36 months)

An exponential reference model, up to 36 months of age, was fitted with a higher early growth rate. Finally, the influence of early growth on the cutting age was evaluated by comparing parameter β_1 s with MAI 6 and MAI 7.

A Pearson correlation matrix was generated in R studio (R Core Team, 2020)

using the corrplot package (Wei et al., 2021), and the Shapiro-Wilk normality test was performed using the nortest package (Gross & Ligges, 2015) for each treatment to figure out the relationship between MAI in the respective treatments over the studied period. In this way, it was possible to infer in each treatment if the early yield has any positive relationship with the final yield.

RESULTS

It was observed that all treatments slightly underestimated the total volume. Treatment 4 had the highest bias, and Treatment 2 had the highest RMSE%. The lowest RMSE% was obtained in Treatment 5. All treatments showed a Pearson correlation between observed and estimated volume higher than 98%. The model results and parameters for each treatment can be seen in Table 2, and its distribution graph is in Figure 1.

Figure 2 illustrates the growth curves obtained for the outside bark wood volume as a function of the age in months, the current monthly increment (CMI), mean

Table 2

Parameter estimates and performance statistics for the Gompertz model for each treatment in hybrid eucalypt stands

Spacing (m						
× m)	β_0	β_1	β_2	Bias	RMSE%	Ryy'
3.00 x 0.50	299.3482	1.3215	0.0578	-1.2246	15.2907	0.9896
3.00 x 1.00	293.994	1.4198	0.0476	-1.1218	16.2654	0.9878
3.00 x 1.50	296.6093	1.467	0.0462	-0.8735	14.9302	0.9898
3.00 x 2.00	278.3436	1.4564	0.0479	-1.2320	15.9876	0.9872
3.00 x 3.00	252.1766	1.5925	0.0461	-0.6413	7.8878	0.9962
	Spacing (m × m) 3.00 x 0.50 3.00 x 1.00 3.00 x 1.50 3.00 x 2.00 3.00 x 3.00	$\begin{array}{c c} Spacing (m \\ \times m) & \beta_0 \\ \hline 3.00 \ x \ 0.50 & 299.3482 \\ \hline 3.00 \ x \ 1.00 & 293.994 \\ \hline 3.00 \ x \ 1.50 & 296.6093 \\ \hline 3.00 \ x \ 2.00 & 278.3436 \\ \hline 3.00 \ x \ 3.00 & 252.1766 \\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c } \hline Spacing (m & $$Parameters$ \\ \hline \timesm$) & $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c } \hline Parameters & \hline Par$

Note. $\beta_0, \beta_1, \beta_2$ = Parameters of the equation $Y = \beta_0 e^{-e^{\beta_1 - \beta_2 A}}$, where Y = volume outside bark (m³/ ha) and A = age (months); RMSE% = Percentage of root mean square error; Ryy' = Correlation between the observed and estimated volume



Guilherme Luiz Fernandes, Gianmarco Goycochea Casas, Leonardo Pereira Fardin, Gilciano Saraiva Nogueira, Rodrigo Viera Leite, Laercio Couto and Hélio Garcia Leite

Figure 1. Distribution of observed volumes (m^3/ha) on the y-axis and estimated volumes (m^3/ha) on the x-axis by treatment for the ages of 7 to 102 months in hybrid eucalypt stands: (a) Treatment 1; (b) Treatment 2; (c) Treatment 3; (d) Treatment 4; and (e) Treatment 5

monthly increment (MMI), and Acceleration curves. The growth acceleration curve is null when the maximum current monthly increment (MCMI) is reached, and they must occur at the same age. The null hypothesis of normality was not rejected in 33 of 35 cases, with 0.1041 $\leq p$ -value ≤ 0.9869 . In the other three cases, the *p*-values were 0.0289, 0.0308, and 0.0372 (Table S3). The highest positive



Early Growth Rate and Yield Associated with Tree Spacing

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 627 - 645 (2023)

633

Mean monthly increment (MMI); and (c) Acceleration curves

Guilherme Luiz Fernandes, Gianmarco Goycochea Casas, Leonardo Pereira Fardin, Gilciano Saraiva Nogueira, Rodrigo Viera Leite, Laercio Couto and Hélio Garcia Leite

correlations were observed for Treatments 4 and 5, representing 3×2 and 3×3 -meter spacings (Figure 3).

Table 3 shows the parameter estimates for IMA6 and IMA7. The parameter β_1 of the exponential model indicates the growth rate. Treatment 1 had the lowest parameter value and the highest yield and Treatment 5 had the highest and lowest yield. As shown in Figure 4, the trend was for a lower yield (i.e., lower MAI6 and MAI7) when the parameter β_1 value was higher (i.e., higher early growth rates). This behavior was both for increases at ages 6 and 7.



Figure 3. Pearson correlation matrices for mean productivities in the ages of 1 to 7 years in hybrid eucalypt stands: (a) Treatment 1; (b) Treatment 2; (c) Treatment 3; (d) Treatment 4; and (e) Treatment 5

Table 3

Estimation of parameter β_1 *of the exponential model and mean annual increment at 6 and 7 years in hybrid eucalypt stands*

Treatment	Spacing (m × m)	Plot	β_1	MAI 6	MAI 7
1	3.00×0.50	1	0.53	47.5	42.6
1	3.00×0.50	6	0.49	43.7	41.5
1	3.00×0.50	11	0.54	46.4	42
2	3.00×1.00	2	0.7	46.9	42.4
2	3.00×1.00	7	0.74	42.9	39.6
2	3.00×1.00	12	0.69	37.6	35.6
3	3.00×1.50	3	0.76	44.6	40.8

Treatment	Spacing $(m \times m)$	Plot	β_1	MAI 6	MAI 7
3	3.00×1.50	8	0.83	43.8	40.7
3	3.00×1.50	13	0.7	37.8	34.4
4	3.00×2.00	4	0.68	42.9	40.7
4	3.00×2.00	9	0.73	39.2	36.1
4	3.00×2.00	14	0.75	37.3	34.5
5	3.00×3.00	5	0.82	35.9	35.3
5	3.00×3.00	10	0.81	34.4	31.4
5	3.00×3.00	15	0.89	33.8	33.3

Table 3 (co	ontinue)
-------------	----------

Note. β_1 = Parameter of the equation $MAI_i = \beta_0 A^{\beta_1}$, where MAI = Mean annual increment (m³/ha/year) at 6 and 7 years and A = Age in months, up to the age of 3 years (36 months)



Figure 4. Correlation analysis of parameter (β_1) of the exponential model with mean annual increment (MAI) in hybrid eucalypt stands at (a) 6 and (b) 7 years, respectively

DISCUSSION

This study evaluated the effect of tree spacing on early growth rate and final yield. It was observed that distance within trees in a row influences turnover and yield. Using inventory data in ages lower than two years can lead to inefficiencies in modeling. It, associated with economic issues, reinforces the proposal to carry out a continuous forest inventory of *Eucalyptus* stands from two years of age.

Growth and yield were evaluated by fitting the Gompertz model and found that it was unbiased and allowed the evaluation of the characteristics of each treatment, such as optimal harvest age, zero acceleration age, and MCMI, and to analyze the effect of spacing. Leite et al. (2006), studying *Pinus taeda* stands, concluded that spacing influences the volume growth trend per hectare as a function of fertilization and tree spacing; they also observed higher volume yield per unit area at smaller spacings in *E. camaldulensis* stands (de Oliveira Neto et al., 2003). However, Schneider and Schneider (2008) affirmed that the total volume per hectare increases with the number of trees until a certain planting density is reached (critical density), after which the increase in the number of trees causes the reduction of the total volume per hectare due to mortality for competition.

With the increase in tree spacing, it is expected a delay in the optimal harvest age (MMI = CMI). It was observed in Treatments 1, 2, 3, and 5, where the optimal harvest age is about 34 months for Treatment 1, 42 months for Treatment 2, 49 months for Treatment 3, and about 59 months of age for Treatment 5.

Treatment 4 had an unexpected behavior because an ideal harvest age between 49 and 59 months was expected. According to the intersection point of the MMI = CMI curves, the optimal harvest age is 48 months for Treatment 4. On the other hand, Treatment 1 presents the intersection point at 34 months. It may be explained due to the denser spacing in Treatment 1, so the age for harvest tends to be early. More details can be found in Table S2.

Treatments 1, 3, and 5 had an expected behavior where the null acceleration must coincide with the same period of the MCMI. Treatment 1 was at 31 months, Treatment 3 at 32 months, and Treatment 5 at 43 months of age. On the other hand, Treatments 2 and 4 did not have similar behavior. They did not present the same period of null acceleration with the MCMI. Treatment 2 had the maximum increment at 31 months and the null acceleration at 29 months. Whereas, for Treatment 4, the maximum increment was observed at about 29 months and null acceleration at 30 months. Furthermore, relatively low correlations were observed between early yield (1 and 3 years) and yield at 6 and 7 years.

Positive correlations were seen only in Treatments 4 and 5, characterized by spacings 3×2 and 3×3 meters within rows. It is possible to infer that an increase in the yield at early ages results in an increase in the yield at final ages and, therefore, a reduction in the rotation period. It shows the risk when selecting genotypes based on clonal tests or other types of experiments based on the results of measurements made at early ages, mainly before 3 years.

This trend, however, may not occur in a high-quality site. In this case, the environment supports high growth rates for longer. On the other hand, if the environment is not able to support the early growth rate, there will be a possible reduction in yield at the harvest age (7 years).

Figure 4 shows the estimates for the parameter β_1 in the function of the yield at 7 years, where the higher the value of the parameter (i.e., higher early growth rate), the lower the MAI 7 in relation to the maximum mean annual increment (MMAI) (about 3 years). However, this trend may not occur if the site's quality is extremely high.

Genetic materials with high early growth rates present a greater difference between MMAI and MAI 7 regardless of the tree spacing, with MAI 7 < MMAI. Plots with denser tree spacing tended to have a higher total yield which is also observed in the works of Corrêa et al. (2020) as well as Watzlawick and Carla Benin (2020), with a shorter cutting cycle. Nonetheless, it is important to consider wood use, where a greater total yield does not imply a higher economic return. For instance, a higher total yield may imply higher economic return for energy purposes since there is no effect on wood density and calorific value. Thus, choosing genetic materials with lower early growth rates based on site quality may be an alternative for forest-based companies to reduce yield losses at the end of the cutting cycle.

The growth of a forest stand depends on the genetic material, age, productive capacity, the degree of utilization of the productive potential of the site, silvicultural treatments, and the most relevant environmental factors are the availability of water for the plants throughout the years, temperature, and solar radiation (Campos & Leite, 2017; de Alcantra et al., 2018). The clones developed in Minas Gerais showed a good adaptation to the environmental conditions of the site, with high production (dos Santos et al., 2017).

CONCLUSION

Tree spacing directly affects eucalypt stands growth rates. This study found that distance between trees affects the early growth rate of *Eucalyptus* trees for a fixed distance between rows. It is especially highlighted in early ages (< 2 years) and was noted for the most common tree spacing designs used in eucalyptus plantations. The results suggest that growth and yield models can be affected using datasets collected early in the growth stages. Therefore, forest yield prognosis using only data from early age inventory can have relatively low accuracy. It highlights the importance of continuously collecting inventory data, especially using information from stands older than 2 years to infer the growth and yield of eucalyptus forest plantations.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out with the support of the "Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior, Brasil – CAPES" – Financing Code 001.

REFERENCES

- Alvares, C. A., Stape, J. L., Sentelhas, P. C., de Moraes Gonçalves, J., & Sparovek, G. (2013). Köppen's climate classification map for Brazil. *Meteorologische Zeitschrift*, 22(6), 711–728. https://doi.org/10.1127/0941-2948/2013/0507
- Berger, R., Schneider, P. R., Finger, C. A. G., & Haselein, C. R. (2002). Efeito do espaçamento e da adubação no crescimento de um clone de *Eucalyptus saligna* Smith [Growth rate of *Eucalyptus saligna* Smith clone affected by spacing and fertilization]. *Ciência Florestal*, 12(2), 75–87. https://doi. org/10.5902/198050981682
- Bettinger, P., Boston, K., Siry, J. P., & Grebner, D. L. (2017). Forest management and planning (2nd ed.). Academic Press.

Guilherme Luiz Fernandes, Gianmarco Goycochea Casas, Leonardo Pereira Fardin, Gilciano Saraiva Nogueira, Rodrigo Viera Leite, Laercio Couto and Hélio Garcia Leite

- Buongiorno, J., & Gilless, J. K. (2003). Decision methods for forest resource management (1st ed.). Academic Press.
- Campos, J. C. C., & Leite, H. G. (2017). Mensuração florestal: Perguntas e respostas (5. ed. atual. e ampl.) [Forest measurement: Questions and answers (5th ed.)]. Universidade Federal de Viçosa.
- Clutter, J. L., Fortson, J. C., Pienaar, L. V., Brister, G. H., & Bailey, R. L. (1983). *Timber management:* A quantitative approach. John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Cockerham, S. T. (2004). Irrigation and planting density affect river red gum growth. *California Agriculture*, 58(1), 40–43. https://doi. org/10.3733/ca.v058n01p40
- Corrêa, R. S., Soares, T. S., Alves, M. A., Souza, J. P., & Vieira, E. M. (2020). Plant spacing promote distinct production in eucalypt hybrid. *Advances in Forestry Science*, 7(3), 1073–1079. https://doi. org/10.34062/afs.v7i3.7887
- da Silva, C. M. S., Silva, M. L., *de Cássia Oliveira Carneiro*, A., Donato, D. B., & de Magalhães, M. A. (2017). Cavacos e partículas de madeira – Concentração mundial de mercado e contribuição para a balança comercial Brasileira [Wood chips and particles - Global trade concentration and contribution to the Brazilian commercial balance]. *Revista Ciência da Madeira*, 8(2), 74–81. https://doi.org/10.12953/2177-6830/rcm. v8n2p74-81
- de Alcantra, A. E. M., de Albuquerque Santos, A. C., da Silva, M. L. M., Binoti, D. H. B., Soares, C. P. B., Gleriani, J. M., & Leite, H. G. (2018). Use of artificial neural networks to assess yield projection and average production of eucalyptus stands. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, 13(42), 2285-2297. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJAR2017.12942
- de Oliveira Neto, S. N., dos Reis, G. G., das Graças Ferreira Reis, M., & Neves, J. C. L. (2003). Produção e distribuição de biomassa em

Eucalyptus camaldulensis Dehn. em resposta à adubação e ao espaçamento [Biomass production and distribution in *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* Dehn. as influenced by fertilization and spacing]. *Revista Árvore*, 27(1), 15–23. https://doi. org/10.1590/S0100-67622003000100003

- dos Santos, J., Lima, V. O. B., de Oliveira, J. C., Matos, P. S., & Trazzi, P. A. (2017). Avaliação do crescimento de clones de eucalipto no norte de Minas Gerais [Evaluation of the growth of eucalyptus clones in the north of Minas Gerais]. *Enciclopédia Biosfera*, 14(26), 75-83. https://doi.org/10.18677/EnciBio 2017B7
- dos Santos Leles, P. S., dos Reis G. G., das Graças Ferreira Reis, M., & de Moraes E. J. (2001). Crescimento, produção e alocação de matéria seca de *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* e *E. pellita* sob diferentesespaçamentos na região de cerrado, MG [Growth and biomass distribution in *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* and *E. pellita* under different spacing in the savannah region, Brazil]. *Scientia Forestalis*, 59, 77–87.
- Gompertz, B. (1833). On the nature of the function expressive of the law of human mortality, and on a new mode of determining the value of life contingencies. In a letter to Francis Baily, Esq. F. R. S. &c. By Benjamin Gompertz, Esq. F. R. S. Abstracts of the Papers Printed in the Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, 2, 252–253. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rspl.1815.0271
- Gonçalves, J. L. M., Stape, J. L., Laclau, J.-P., Bouillet, J.-P., & Ranger, J. (2008). Assessing the effects of early silvicultural management on long-term site productivity of fast-growing eucalypt plantations: The Brazilian experience. *Southern Forests: A Journal of Forest Science*, 70(2), 105–118. https://doi.org/10.2989/SOUTH. FOR.2008.70.2.6.534
- Gross, J., & Ligges, M. U. (2015). Nortest: Tests for normality. https://CRAN.R-project.org/ package=nortest

- Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística. (2021). Produção da extração vegetal e da silvicultura [*Production of plant extraction and forestry*]. IBGE. https://www.ibge.gov.br/estatisticas/ economicas/agricultura-e-pecuaria/9105producao-da-extracao-vegetal-e-da-silvicultura. html?edicao=29153&t= fresultados
- Lacerda, J., J. (2016). Estresse salino e seus efeitos no crescimento inicial de clones de Eucalyptus spp. [Salt stress and its effects on initial growth of Eucalyptus spp. clones] [Master's dissertation, Universidade Estadual do Sudoeste da Bahia]. Institutional Repository of the Universidade Estadual do Sudoeste da Bahia. http://www2.uesb.br/ppg/ppgagronomia/ dissertacoes-e-teses/
- Leite, H. G., Nogueira, G. S., & Moreira, A. M. (2006). Efeito do espaçamento e da idade sobre variáveis de povoamentos de *Pinus taeda* L. [Effect of spacing and age on stand variables of *Pinus taeda* L.]. *Revista Árvore*, 30(4), 603–612. https://doi. org/10.1590/S0100-67622006000400013
- Moreira, J. M. M. Á. P., Simioni, F. J., & de Oliveira, E. B. (2017). Importância e desempenho das florestas plantadas no contexto do agronegócio Brasileiro [Importance and performance of planted forests in the context of Brazilian agribusiness]. *Floresta*, 47(1), 85-94. https://doi. org/10.5380/rf.v47i1.47687
- Moulin, J. C., Arantes, M. D. C., de Oliveira, J. G. L., Campinhos, E., Gomes, F., & Vidaurre, G. B. (2017). Efeito do espaçamento, idade e irrigação no volume e densidade básica do *Eucalipto* [Effect of spacing, age and irrigation on the volume and basic density in *Eucalyptus*]. *Floresta e Ambiente*, 24, e00073914. https://doi. org/10.1590/2179-8087.073914
- Paulino, E. J. (2012). Influência do espaçamento e da idade na produção de biomassa e na rotação econômica em plantios de eucalipto [Influence of spacing and the age on biomass production and economic rotation in eucalypt plantations]

[Master's dissertation, Universidade Federal dos Vales do Jequitinhonha e Mucuri]. Acervo. http:// acervo.ufvjm.edu.br/jspui/handle/1/492

- Pinkard, E. A., & Neilsen, W. A. (2003). Crown and stand characteristics of *Eucalyptus nitens* in response to initial spacing: Implications for thinning. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 172(2–3), 215–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0378-1127(01)00803-9
- Porté, A., & Bartelink, H. H. (2002). Modelling mixed forest growth: A review of models for forest management. *Ecological Modelling*, 150(1-2), 141–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0304-3800(01)00476-8
- Reis, T., Silva, S., Junior, I. T., Leite, R., Atanazio, K., Fardin, L., Cruz J., & Leite, H. (2022). Assessing alternatives for growth and yield modelling in eucalypt stands. *Southern Forests: A Journal of Forest Science*, 84(1), 34-43. https://doi.org/10. 2989/20702620.2021.2011468
- R Core Team. (2020). *R: A language and environment* for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Salles, T. T., Leite, H. G., Oliveira Neto, S. N. D., Soares, C. P. B., Paiva, H. N. D., & Santos, F. L. D. (2012). Modelo de Clutter na modelagem de crescimento e produção de eucalipto em sistemas de integração lavoura-pecuáriafloresta [Clutter model in modeling growth and yield of eucalyptus in crop-livestock-forest integration systems]. *Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira*, 47(2), 253-260. https://doi. org/10.1590/S0100-204X2012000200014
- Schneider, P. R., & Schneider, P. S. P. (2008). Introdução ao manejo florestal (2ª ed.) [Introduction to forest management (2nd ed.)]. Universidade Federal de Santa Maria.
- Schumacher, F. X., & dos Santos Hall, F. (1933). Logarithmic expression of timber-tree volume. *Journal of Agricultural Research*, 47(9), 719– 734.

Guilherme Luiz Fernandes, Gianmarco Goycochea Casas, Leonardo Pereira Fardin, Gilciano Saraiva Nogueira, Rodrigo Viera Leite, Laercio Couto and Hélio Garcia Leite

- Soares, C. P. B., Leite, H. G., de Oliveira, M. L. R., & Carvalho, A. (2004). Especificação de um modelo de crescimento e produção florestal [Specifying a model of forest growth and yield]. *Revista Árvore*, 28(6), 831–837. https://doi. org/10.1590/S0100-67622004000600007
- Souza, H. S., da Silva Lopes, A., Baretta, M. C., dos Santos, J. O. P., & de Arruda Tsukamoto Filho, A. (2020). Crescimento de eucalipto em diferentes arranjos espaciais de sistemas silvipastoris no município de Santa Rita do Trivelato – Mato Grosso [Growth of eucalyptus in different spatial arrangements of silvipastoral systems in the municipality of Santa Rita do Trivelato - Mato Grosso]. *Advances in Forestry Science*, 7(1), 847-853. https://doi.org/10.34062/afs.v7i1.5511
- Stape, J. L., & Binkley, D. (2010). Insights from fullrotation Nelder spacing trials with *Eucalyptus* in São Paulo, Brazil. *Southern Forests: A Journal* of Forest Science, 72(2), 91–98. https://doi.org/ 10.2989/20702620.2010.507031
- Watzlawick, L. F., & Benin, C. C. (2020). Variáveis dendrométricas e produção de Eucalyptus benthamii em diferentes espaçamentos [Dendrometric variables and Eucalyptus benthamii production in different spaces]. Colloquium Agrariae, 16(6), 111–120. https:// doi.org/10.5747/ca.2020.v16.n6.a413
- Wei, T., Simko, V., Levy, M., Xie, Y., Jin, Y., Zemla, J., Freidank, M., Cai, J., & Protivinsky, T. (2021). *Corrplot: Visualization of a correlation matrix*. https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/corrplot

APPENDICES

Supplementary Table 1 Dendrometric data by age and treatment in hybrid eucalypt stands

Treatment	Spacing $(m \times m)$	Age (months)	QMD (cm)	BA (m²/ha)	Volume (m ³ /ha)
1	3.00×0.50	7	2.77	4.02	7.85
1	3.00×0.50	12	4.00	8.38	31.63
1	3.00×0.50	18	5.52	16.00	87.97
1	3.00×0.50	24	6.36	21.15	134.51
1	3.00×0.50	36	7.08	24.69	199.00
1	3.00×0.50	48	7.38	26.92	216.42
1	3.00×0.50	61	7.84	29.72	256.37
1	3.00×0.50	72	8.04	31.02	275.18
1	3.00×0.50	85	8.27	32.77	297.89
1	3.00×0.50	102	8.57	33.64	310.96
2	3.00×1.00	7	3.04	2.30	1.82
2	3.00×1.00	12	4.65	5.68	15.60
2	3.00×1.00	18	6.78	12.08	57.47
2	3.00×1.00	24	7.65	15.32	88.24
2	3.00×1.00	36	8.78	18.91	150.33
2	3.00×1.00	48	9.22	21.00	178.31
2	3.00×1.00	61	9.82	23.29	231.40
2	3.00×1.00	72	10.04	24.56	254.77
2	3.00×1.00	85	10.42	25.86	277.71
2	3.00×1.00	102	10.83	26.64	287.46
3	3.00×1.50	7	3.07	1.66	1.94
3	3.00×1.50	12	5.00	4.38	15.04
3	3.00×1.50	18	7.33	9.40	51.70
3	3.00×1.50	24	8.32	12.08	78.75
3	3.00×1.50	36	9.87	16.38	133.90
3	3.00×1.50	48	10.60	19.07	177.12
3	3.00×1.50	61	11.25	21.05	229.49
3	3.00×1.50	72	11.44	21.86	252.46
3	3.00×1.50	85	11.92	23.62	273.62
3	3.00×1.50	102	12.37	24.32	287.16
4	3.00×2.00	7	2.96	1.16	1.15
4	3.00×2.00	12	5.16	3.52	11.89
4	3.00×2.00	18	7.83	8.08	46.38
4	3.00×2.00	24	9.40	11.59	81.63
4	3.00×2.00	36	10.91	14.77	146.04
4	3.00×2.00	48	11.77	17.23	166.42
4	3.00×2.00	61	12.59	19.28	214.90
4	3.00×2.00	72	12.85	20.28	238.77

Guilherme Luiz Fernandes, Gianmarco Goycochea Casas, Leonardo Pereira Fardin, Gilciano Saraiva Nogueira, Rodrigo Viera Leite, Laercio Couto and Hélio Garcia Leite

Treatment	Spacing $(m \times m)$	Age (months)	QMD (cm)	BA (m²/ha)	Volume (m ³ /ha)
4	3.00×2.00	85	13.32	21.59	262.99
4	3.00×2.00	102	13.75	21.98	274.70
5	3.00×3.00	7	3.31	0.96	0.84
5	3.00×3.00	12	5.64	2.79	8.35
5	3.00×3.00	18	8.48	6.28	31.55
5	3.00×3.00	24	10.07	8.86	55.49
5	3.00×3.00	36	12.10	12.31	101.41
5	3.00×3.00	48	13.06	14.67	142.68
5	3.00×3.00	61	14.07	16.68	186.78
5	3.00×3.00	72	14.27	17.00	208.30
5	3.00×3.00	85	15.11	18.84	236.13
5	3.00×3.00	102	15.52	18.85	238.26

Supplementary Table 1 (continue)

Note. QMD = Quadratic mean diameter; BA = Basal area

Table <i>Table</i>	S2 of produc	tion for	each o	f the tree	atments i	n hybri	d eucal	ypt star	spi	1								1		
		Treatm	ent 1			Treatm	ent 2			Treatm	lent 3			Ireatm	ent 4			Treatm	ent 5	
Age (months)	Volume (m ³ /ha)	MMI (m ³ /ha/month)	CMI (m ³ /ha)	Acceleration (m ³ /ha)	Volume (m ³ /ha)	MMI (m³/ha/month)	CMI (m ³ /ha)	Acceleration (m ³ /ha)	Volume (m ³ /ha)	MMI (m ³ /ha/month)	CMI (m ³ /ha)	Acceleration (m ³ /ha)	Volume (m ³ /ha)	MMI (m ³ /ha/month)	CMI (m³/ha)	Acceleration (m ³ /ha)	Volume (m ³ /ha)	MMI (m ³ /ha/month)	CMI (m³/ha)	Acceleration (m ³ /ha)
7	24.54	3.51	3.55	0.31	15.16	2.17	2.14	0.20	12.88	1.84	1.87	0.18	12.94	1.85	1.90	0.19	7.17	1.02	1.18	0.14
8	28.24	3.53	3.85	0.30	17.40	2.18	2.34	0.20	14.84	1.85	2.05	0.19	14.94	1.87	2.09	0.19	8.42	1.05	1.32	0.15
6	32.25	3.58	4.15	0.29	19.84	2.20	2.54	0.21	16.99	1.89	2.25	0.19	17.13	1.90	2.29	0.20	9.81	1.09	1.47	0.15
:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
31	160.31	5.17	5.79	-0.13	114.09	3.68	5.14	-0.01	105.45	3.40	5.04	0.01	105.30	3.40	4.90	-0.01	77.68	2.51	4.22	0.03
32	166.03	5.19	5.66	-0.13	119.22	3.73	5.12	-0.02	110.50	3.45	5.04	0.00	110.20	3.44	4.89	-0.02	81.92	2.56	4.25	0.02
33	171.62	5.20	5.52	-0.14	124.32	3.77	5.09	-0.03	115.54	3.50	5.04	-0.01	115.08	3.49	4.87	-0.03	86.17	2.61	4.27	0.01
34	177.07	5.21	5.38	-0.15	129.39	3.81	5.05	-0.04	120.57	3.55	5.02	-0.02	119.93	3.53	4.84	-0.04	90.44	2.66	4.28	0.01
35	182.37	5.21	5.23	-0.15	134.42	3.84	5.00	-0.05	125.57	3.59	4.99	-0.03	124.75	3.56	4.80	-0.05	94.72	2.71	4.28	0.00
36	187.52	5.21	5.07	-0.16	139.40	3.87	4.95	-0.06	130.55	3.63	4.95	-0.04	129.52	3.60	4.75	-0.05	98.99	2.75	4.27	-0.01
37	192.51	5.20	4.91	-0.16	144.32	3.90	4.88	-0.07	135.48	3.66	4.91	-0.05	134.23	3.63	4.69	-0.06	103.25	2.79	4.25	-0.02
38	197.35	5.19	4.75	-0.16	149.17	3.93	4.81	-0.07	140.36	3.69	4.86	-0.06	138.89	3.66	4.62	-0.07	107.49	2.83	4.23	-0.03
39	202.02	5.18	4.59	-0.16	153.94	3.95	4.74	-0.08	145.19	3.72	4.80	-0.06	143.48	3.68	4.55	-0.07	111.70	2.86	4.19	-0.04
40	206.53	5.16	4.43	-0.16	158.64	3.97	4.66	-0.08	149.95	3.75	4.73	-0.07	148.00	3.70	4.48	-0.08	115.88	2.90	4.15	-0.04
41	210.88	5.14	4.27	-0.16	163.25	3.98	4.57	-0.09	154.64	3.77	4.66	-0.08	152.44	3.72	4.40	-0.08	120.01	2.93	4.11	-0.05
<u>42</u>	215.07	5.12	4.11	-0.16	<u>167.78</u>	<u>3.99</u>	4.48	-0.09	159.26	3.79	4.58	-0.08	156.79	3.73	4.31	-0.09	124.09	2.95	4.06	-0.05
43	219.11	5.10	3.95	-0.16	172.21	4.00	4.38	-0.10	163.80	3.81	4.50	-0.08	161.05	3.75	4.22	-0.09	128.12	2.98	4.00	-0.06
44	222.98	5.07	3.80	-0.15	176.54	4.01	4.28	-0.10	168.26	3.82	4.41	-0.09	165.23	3.76	4.13	-0.09	132.09	3.00	3.94	-0.06
45	226.70	5.04	3.64	-0.15	180.77	4.02	4.18	-0.10	172.62	3.84	4.32	-0.09	169.31	3.76	4.03	-0.10	135.99	3.02	3.87	-0.07
46	230.27	5.01	3.49	-0.15	184.90	4.02	4.08	-0.10	176.90	3.85	4.23	-0.09	173.29	3.77	3.93	-0.10	139.83	3.04	3.80	-0.07

Early Growth Rate and Yield Associated with Tree Spacing

		Acceleration (m ³ /ha)	-0.08	-0.08	-0.08	-0.08	-0.08	-0.08	:	:	-0.09	-0.09	-0.09	-0.08	-0.08	-0.08	:	:	-0.01	-0.01	-0.01	
S too		CMI (m ³ /ha)	3.73	3.65	3.57	3.49	3.41	3.32	:	:	2.98	2.89	2.81	2.72	2.64	2.56	:	:	0.24	0.23	0.22	
Tupot	Ilcault	MMI (m ³ /ha/month)	3.06	3.07	3.08	3.09	3.10	3.10	:	:	3.10	3.10	3.10	3.09	3.08	3.08	:	:	2.09	2.08	2.06	
		Volume (m ³ /ha)	143.60	147.29	150.90	154.43	157.88	161.25	:	:	173.86	176.80	179.65	182.41	185.09	187.69	:	:	246.85	247.09	247.32	est age
		Acceleration (m ³ /ha)	-0.10	-0.10	-0.10	-0.10	-0.10	-0.10	:	:	-0.10	-0.10	-0.10	-0.09	-0.09	-0.09	:	:	-0.01	-0.01	-0.01	nal harv
1	ICIII 4	CMI (m ³ /ha)	3.83	3.73	3.63	3.53	3.42	3.32	:	:	2.92	2.82	2.72	2.63	2.54	2.44	:	:	0.20	0.19	0.18	e optin
Tubout	ILCAUL	MMI (m ³ /ha/month)	3.77	3.77	3.77	3.76	3.76	3.75	:	:	3.71	3.69	3.68	3.66	3.64	3.62	:	:	2.32	2.31	2.29	n at the
		Volume (m ³ /ha)	177.17	180.96	184.64	188.22	191.69	195.06	:	:	207.54	210.41	213.18	215.85	218.44	220.93	:	:	274.18	274.37	274.56	roduction
		Acceleration (m ³ /ha)	-0.10	-0.10	-0.10	-0.10	-0.10	-0.10	:	:	-0.10	-0.10	-0.10	-0.10	-0.10	-0.09	:	:	-0.01	-0.01	-0.01	= The pi
2 2 2 2	C 1112	CMI (m³/ha)	4.13	4.03	3.93	3.83	3.73	3.63	:	:	3.22	3.12	3.02	2.93	2.83	2.74	:	:	0.25	0.24	0.23	values =
Tuccetore	IIngall	MMI (m ³ /ha/month)	3.85	3.86	3.86	3.86	3.86	3.86	:	:	3.83	3.81	3.80	3.79	3.77	3.76	:	:	2.47	2.45	2.43	erlined '
		Volume (m ³ /ha)	181.08	185.16	189.14	193.03	196.81	200.49	:	:	214.20	217.37	220.45	223.42	226.30	229.09	:	:	291.17	291.41	291.64	ent; Und
		Acceleration (m ³ /ha)	-0.11	-0.11	-0.11	-0.11	-0.11	-0.11	:	:	-0.10	-0.10	-0.10	-0.10	-0.10	-0.09	:	:	-0.01	-0.01	-0.01	increm
C +===	CIII 7	CMI (m³/ha)	3.97	3.87	3.76	3.65	3.55	3.44	:	:	3.02	2.92	2.82	2.72	2.63	2.53	:	:	0.21	0.20	0.19	month
Tucotuc	ILCAUII	MMI (m ³ /ha/month)	4.02	4.02	4.01	4.01	4.00	3.99	:	:	3.94	3.92	3.90	3.88	3.86	3.84	:	:	2.45	2.44	2.42	Jurrent
		Volume (m ³ /ha)	188.93	192.85	196.66	200.37	203.97	207.47	:	:	220.38	223.35	226.22	228.99	231.67	234.25	:	:	289.59	289.79	289.99	CMI = C
		Acceleration (m ³ /ha)	-0.15	-0.14	-0.14	-0.13	-0.13	-0.13	:	:	-0.11	-0.10	-0.10	-0.10	-0.09	-0.09	:	:	0.00	0.00	0.00	ement;
1	1 111:	CMI (m ³ /ha)	3.35	3.20	3.06	2.93	2.79	2.67	:	:	2.20	2.09	1.99	1.89	1.80	1.71	:	:	0.07	0.07	0.06	nth incr
Tuccettee	ILCAUIIC	MMI (m³/ha/month)	4.97	4.94	4.90	4.86	4.82	4.78	:	:	4.61	4.57	4.53	4.48	4.44	4.40	:	:	2.53	2.51	2.49	fean mo
		Volume (m ³ /ha)	233.69	236.96	240.09	243.09	245.95	248.68	:	:	258.38	260.53	262.57	264.51	266.35	268.11	:	:	298.13	298.20	298.26	MMI = N.
		Age (months)	47	48	49	50	51	52	:	:	56	57	58	59	60	61	:	:	118	119	120	Note:

Guilherme Luiz Fernandes, Gianmarco Goycochea Casas, Leonardo Pereira Fardin, Gilciano Saraiva Nogueira, Rodrigo Viera Leite, Laercio Couto and Hélio Garcia Leite

Supplementary Table 2 (continue)

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 627 - 645 (2023)

644

Early Growth Rate and Yield Associated with Tree Spacing

Treatment	Period	W	<i>p</i> -value
1	MAI_1	1.00	0.89
1	MAI_2	0.90	0.38
1	MAI_3	0.86	0.26
1	MAI_4	0.81	0.14
1	MAI_5	0.95	0.55
1	MAI_6	0.94	0.54
1	MAI_7	1.00	0.87
2	MAI_1	0.88	0.33
2	MAI_2	0.77	0.04
2	MAI_3	0.93	0.50
2	MAI_4	1.00	0.97
2	MAI_5	0.99	0.86
2	MAI_6	0.99	0.84
2	MAI_7	0.99	0.79
3	MAI_1	0.85	0.25
3	MAI_2	0.80	0.10
3	MAI_3	0.86	0.27
3	MAI_4	0.92	0.45
3	MAI_5	0.83	0.18
3	MAI_6	0.84	0.21
3	MAI_7	0.76	0.03
4	MAI_1	0.92	0.45
4	MAI_2	0.98	0.76
4	MAI_3	1.00	0.88
4	MAI_4	0.76	0.03
4	MAI_5	0.97	0.66
4	MAI_6	0.97	0.67
4	MAI_7	0.93	0.47
5	MAI_1	0.83	0.18
5	MAI_2	0.93	0.50
5	MAI_3	0.97	0.65
5	MAI_4	1.00	0.98
5	MAI_5	0.92	0.44
5	MAI_6	0.93	0.49
5	MAI_7	1.00	0.99

Shapiro-Wilk normality test for mean productivity in the ages of 1 to 7 years in hybrid eucalypt stands

Table S3


TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Improvement of Growth and Development of Sweet Basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) Through the Application of Chitosan at Different Plant Maturity Stages

Ahmad Zubair Qazizadah, Jaafar Juju Nakasha*, Uma Rani Sinniah and Puteri Edaroyati Megat Wahab

Department of Crop Science, Faculty of Agriculture, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Selangor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Sweet basil is one of the most popular culinary, medicinal, and fragrance herbs in Mediterranean, Asian, and Western countries. This study aims to increase the growth performance of sweet basil via different concentrations of chitosan, which is applied at three growth stages. The study was arranged in a factorial randomized complete block design with four replications. The plants were divided into three growth stages, which were the vegetative stage (S1), the reproductive stage (S2), and both the vegetative and reproductive stages (S1 + S2). Those plants were then treated with four different concentrations of chitosan (0, 2, 4, and 6 ml/L) either on S1, S2, or S1 + S2. The results indicated that plants treated with chitosan at S1 showed greater performance. Chitosan concentration of 4 ml/L produced greater plant height (55.09 ± 1.75 cm/plant), stem diameter (11.08 ± 0.89 mm/ plant), and a number of leaves (296.57 ± 11.61 leaves/plant). It is also interesting to observe that the lowest chitosan concentration was non-significantly different, with 4 ml/L at S1 in some parameters. Plants in those treatments showed the highest average length of internode, number of branches, total root length, average root diameter, total root volume, and total

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 08 November 2022 Accepted: 30 December 2022 Published: 18 April 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.16

E-mail addresses:

az.qazizadah@parwan.edu.af (Ahmad Zubair Qazizadah) jujunakasha@upm.edu.my (Jaafar Juju Nakasha) umarani@upm.edu.my (Uma Rani Sinniah) putri@upm.edu.my (Puteri Edaroyati Megat Wahab) * Corresponding author root surface area. Besides, correlation analysis proved that all the parameters significantly correlated positively. As the concentration of 4 ml/L showed a superior effect, especially on the number of yields, thus it is recommended for growers to apply chitosan at 4 ml/L during S1.

Keywords: Chitosan, drenching, physiology, reproductive stage, vegetative stage

ISSN: 1511-3701 e-ISSN: 2231-8542

INTRODUCTION

The Lamiaceae family is one of the most important and largest pharmaceutical and aromatic plants, where sweet basil (Ocimum basilicum L.) is the main valuable member (Mosadegh et al., 2021). Sweet basil is an annual, warm-season, and sun-loving herb (Zulfigar et al., 2021). Sweet basil poses a valuable source of nutraceuticals such as proteins, carbohydrates, minerals, and vitamin C (Corrado et al., 2020). Due to widespread culinary, medicinal, and aromatic consumption, sweet basil is a popular herb in Mediterranean, Asian, and Western countries (Bufalo et al., 2015; Delbeke et al., 2015; Harnafi et al., 2013; Incrocci et al., 2019). Sweet basil is a naturally eatable antioxidant (Patriani et al., 2021). The antioxidant compounds present in sweet basil provide treatment for human cell cancers (Hanachi et al., 2021). Traditionally, it is used to treat inflammation and helminthic (Osei-Akoto et al., 2020).

Regarding dietary, sweet basil is used as a fresh vegetable alone or with many foods and salads (Mirzajani et al., 2015). Commonly, sweet basil is produced for the fresh market (Corrado et al., 2020; Delbeke et al., 2015; Fattahi et al., 2019; Klintham et al., 2018). Since as a medicinal herb, the whole plant is used in traditional pharmacies (Ghasemzadeh et al., 2016). The total fresh biomass is considered as yield (Scagel et al., 2019). Hence, the yield is assumed to be associated with plant growth and development. In recent years the demand for sweet basil has increased (Acharya et al., 2020; Ciriello et al., 2021; Pandey et al., 2019).

Sweet basil is the most consumed herb and is a highly demanded fresh market, but still, the production is insufficient to meet the demand. In sweet basil, the yield is associated with growth parameters. Thus, the growth and yield of sweet basil could be affected by environmental factors (Elhindi et al., 2017). One of those factors is a chitinbased biopolymer plant growth promoter named chitosan (Govindaraju & Arulselvi, 2018). Since chitosan is obtained from waste materials of seafood industries, the use of chitosan could be actively attributed to reducing pollution (El-Amerany et al., 2020). Chitosan is biodegradable, biocompatible, and ecologically friendly with low economical cost (Jiao et al., 2018). Chitosan has been tested in crops other than sweet basil and showed greater growth performance (Monfared et al., 2020; Turk, 2019). For instance, Mondal et al. (2016) suggested that Solanum lycopersicum be treated with 75 mg/L to obtain maximum plant growth and yield components. In addition, a concentration of 5 mg/L chitosan gave a higher number of branches, length of branches, and a number of leaves compared to other common growth regulators such as cytokinins, kinetin, and auxins in Ipomoea purpurea L. (Acemi et al., 2018). Similarly, Acemi (2020) suggested that chitosan could be a good alternative to other growth regulators, such as 6-benzylaminopurine and jasmonic acid, in improving plant growth and development. Also, Chamnanmanoontham et al. (2015) reported that 40 mg/L chitosan resulted in greater growth performance in terms of shoot and root in Oryza sativa L. plants.

Since herbal yield is associated with growth parameters as well as the number of leaves per plant, chitosan was reported to increase herbal yield in several plants such as *Thymus vulgaris* L., *Mentha* × *Piperita* L., *Nigella sativa* L., and *Lavandula officinalis* Chaix. (Fahmy & Nosir, 2021; Goudarzian et al., 2020; Ibrahim, 2020; Waly et al., 2020).

Although chitosan is considered a growth-promoting substance, its effectiveness depends on the crop species, concentration, and plant's growth stage to be treated (Heidari et al., 2020). Hence, it would be a great contribution for the producers to determine the effective concentration of chitosan and the suitable time of application for sweet basil. Therefore, in the current study, four concentrations of chitosan were tested at three different growth stages on sweet basil.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experiment

To evaluate four different levels of chitosan, including 0, 2, 4, and 6 ml/L at three different stages of growth, including the growing stage (S1: 45 days after sowing [DAS]), reproductive stage (S2: 65 DAS), and both (S1 + S2) on sweet basil cv. 213, the experiment was arranged in a randomized complete block design (RCBD) with four replications. The blocking was oriented against sunlight movement. Five plants were included in each replication, and the total number of observed plants was 240 (12 \times 4×5). Furthermore, all 240 observations contributed to the data belonging to plant height, stem diameter, length of internode, number of branches, number of leaves, total

root length, average root diameter, total root volume, total root surface area, and total fresh biomass.

Field Conditions and Activities

The experiment was performed in Field 15 of the research farm in the Faculty of Agriculture, Universiti Putra Malaysia. Seeds were purchased from Green World Genetics Sdn. Bhd., Malaysia. Seeds germinated in peat moss, and seedlings were produced under 50% shade and transplanted at 25 days old prior to 4 leaf stages. Plants grew in 14" polybags with a commercial soil mixture (Bio-soil, Melayu ImpraTM, Malaysia). Plants were oriented at 3,500 cm² planting density in open field conditions and treated with concentrations of 0, 2, 4, and 6 ml/L chitosan (KitosanPlus+, Malaysia) at the growing stage (S1, 45 DAS), reproductive stage (S2, 65 DAS), and both stages (S1 + S2). Finally, plants were harvested at 85 DAS.

Data Collection and Analysis

The physiological parameters such as plant height, stem diameter, and leaf number were collected prior to harvesting at 84-85 DAS in the field. Briefly, plant height was measured from the base form of the stem to the shoot tip using a ruler (100 cm stainless steel), and the average was taken (Hassnain et al., 2020). Stem diameter was measured by using an electronic digital calliper (Insize, Resolution: 0.01 mm/0.0005", Accuracy: $\pm 0.2 \text{ mm}/0.1$ ", Germany), and the average was taken. The internode length was measured using a ruler (30 cm), and the average was taken. Branches from the base of the stem to the end were counted, and the average was taken for data on the number of branches. Leaves of the whole plant were counted, and the average was recorded as data on the number of leaves per plant. After this, plants were harvested and delivered to the laboratory for further investigation. Both shoot and root were weighed using a digital balance (Model B303-S, Mettler Toledo, Switzerland) and recorded as data of total fresh biomass. The root systems were detached from the stems and subjected to a root scanner (WinRHIZO Pro 2019a, Canada) for picture analysis. Data of root parameters such as total root length, average root diameter, total root volume, and total root surface area were taken from the output.

The data were analyzed using Statistical Analysis Software version 9.4 (SAS 9.4). Analysis of variance was performed using least significant differences (LSD) at 95% significant difference, and means were separated. Besides, Pearson correlation analysis was performed to evaluate the relationships between 10 parameters—the results of correlation analysis are presented in Table 1.

RESULTS

Plant Height

The results showed that plant height was significantly affected by the interaction of chitosan concentrations and plant maturity stages at ($p \le 0.05$). Concentrations of 2 and 4 ml/L of chitosan applied at the vegetative stage had significantly increased plant height from 45.35 ± 2.59 to 55.08 ± 1.75 cm and decreased to 42.20 ± 2.23 cm at 6 ml/L (Figure 1). The non-treated chitosan plants produced shorter plant heights, where all the plants were less than 40 cm tall. However, applying chitosan at all concentrations in the reproductive stage was not significantly



Figure 1. Effect of application of different chitosan concentrations in plant height of sweet basil. Means with the same letters are not significantly different at $p \le 0.05$, and the error bar shows the standard error *Note.* S1 = 45 days after sowing; S2 = 65 days after sowing

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 647 - 670 (2023)

different compared to the control. When chitosan was applied two times (vegetative and reproductive stage), only plants treated with 6 ml/L showed significantly taller compared to the control, which was 43.36 \pm 1.12 cm. The differences in plant height can be seen in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Representative sweet basil plants treated with different concentrations of chitosan. Where C0, C1, C2, and C3 are 0, 2, 4, and 6 ml/L chitosan, respectively

Note. S1 = 45 days after sowing; S2 = 65 days after sowing

Stem Diameter

The result showed that stem diameter was significantly affected by different concentrations of chitosan and the plant's maturity stage at $p \leq 0.5$. Plants treated with chitosan showed bigger diameters compared to non-treated plants (Figure 3). Single application of chitosan at vegetative stage increased the stem diameter from 10.04 ± 0.71 (2 ml/L of chitosan) to 11.08 \pm 0.89 mm (4 ml/L of chitosan). A further increase to 6 ml/L of chitosan applied at the vegetative stage reduced the stem diameter to 9.02 ± 0.26 mm, which is still bigger than the control (8.06 ± 0.80 mm). Those plants were not significantly different from others that received 6 ml/L at both the reproductive and vegetative stages.

Applying chitosan at the reproductive stage showed all plants having less than 9 mm of stem diameter, including the control. However, those applied two times (at vegetative and reproductive stages) showed a stem diameter of more than 9 mm, with 4 ml/L recorded at 10.04 ± 0.70 mm of stem diameter, which was significantly bigger compared to other treatments at this time of application.

Length of Internode

The results showed that the internode length was significantly affected by the interaction of different concentrations of chitosan and plant maturity stages at $p \le 0.05$. Applying chitosan at 4 ml/L at the vegetative stage significantly increased the internode length from 39.30 ± 4.30 (control) to 50.43 ± 4.30 mm per internode. It was the highest



Ahmad Zubair Qazizadah, Jaafar Juju Nakasha, Uma Rani Sinniah and Puteri Edaroyati Megat Wahab

Figure 3. Effect of application of different chitosan concentrations in stem diameter of sweet basil *Note.* Means with the same letters are not significantly different at $p \le 0.05$, and the error bar shows the standard error. S1 = 45 days after sowing; S2 = 65 days after sowing



Figure 4. Effect of application of different chitosan concentrations in the length of internode of sweet basil *Note.* Means with the same letters are not significantly different at $p \le 0.05$, and the error bar shows the standard error. S1 = 45 days after sowing; S2 = 65 days after sowing

value recorded in this study's internode length. Twice application of chitosan does not effectively enhance the length of the internode (Figure 4).

Number of Branches

A number of branches were significantly affected by the interaction of chitosan concentrations and plant maturity stages at $p \le 0.05$. Based on the results, plants treated with concentrations of 2, 4, and 6 ml/L chitosan in the vegetative stage produced 16.04 ± 0.77 , 16.70 ± 0.21 , and 15.16 ± 0.33 branches per plant, which are significantly higher compared to none treated plants (13.83 ± 0.96 branches). Concentrations of 2 and 4 ml/L chitosan applied on the reproductive stage showed similar results to the control, while 6 ml/L chitosan resulted from a significantly higher number of branches $(15.24 \pm 0.95 \text{ branches per plant})$ compared to the control. Twice the application of chitosan, which was at vegetative and reproductive stages at 2 ml/L, showed similar results to control plants, where plants treated with concentrations of 4 and 6 ml/L chitosan showed a significantly higher number of branches by 15.36 ± 0.49 and 15.57 ± 0.83 branches per plant, respectively (Figure 5).

Number of Leaves

Results showed that number of leaves was significantly affected by the interaction of chitosan concentrations and plant maturity stages at $p \le 0.05$. Treated plants with chitosan concentrations significantly increased the number of leaves compared to the control (Figure 6). From the result, the application of chitosan at the vegetative stage positively influenced the number of leaves per plant, followed by the frequent



Figure 5. Effect of application of different chitosan concentrations in the number of branches of sweet basil *Note.* Means with the same letters are not significantly different at $p \le 0.05$, and the error bar shows the standard error. S1 = 45 days after sowing; S2 = 65 days after sowing



Figure 6. Effect of application of different chitosan concentrations in the number of leaves of sweet basil *Note.* Means with the same letters are not significantly different at $p \le 0.05$, and the error bar shows the standard error. S1 = 45 days after sowing; S2 = 65 days after sowing

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 647 - 670 (2023)

application at vegetative and reproductive stages compared to at reproductive stage. Increasing the chitosan concentration from 2 to 4 ml/L increased the number of leaves from 270.90 ± 3.01 to 296.57 ± 11.61 per plant. Further increased to 6 ml/L showed a reduction in the number of leaves where the plants only produced 260.71 ± 8.85 leaves per plant. However, those in control showed fewer leaves produced, only 235.91 ± 10.17 per plant.

Applying chitosan at the reproductive stage showed no significant difference among different concentrations of chitosan. However, those plants were still producing a higher number of leaves compared to the control. The same pattern was also found when chitosan was applied at both vegetative and reproductive stages, where all chitosan-treated plants showed non-significant differences in the number of leaves but were still higher than the control.

Total Root Length

The underground part of sweet basil plants was also investigated. Results indicated that the interaction of different concentrations of chitosan with plant maturity stages significantly affected total root length at p \leq 0.05. Plants treated with chitosan with a single application at the vegetative stage and twice application at the vegetative and reproductive stages showed significantly higher root lengths compared to non-treated plants (Figure 7). Total root length was increased with the increase in chitosan concentration until it reached 4 ml/L (454.90 \pm 16.35 cm) and reduced at 6 ml/L (405.26 \pm 33.87 cm) for plants treated at the vegetative stage. However, control plants have only 339.02 ± 27.02 cm of total root length. It showed that chitosan effectively enhanced root growth and development in sweet basil. However, a different pattern was found when chitosan was applied at the reproductive stage of plant growth. All



Figure 7. Effect of application of different chitosan concentrations in total root length of sweet basil *Note.* Means with the same letters are not significantly different at $p \le 0.05$, and the error bar shows the standard error. S1 = 45 days after sowing; S2 = 65 days after sowing

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 647 - 670 (2023)

plants treated with a single application of chitosan at the reproductive stage showed no effectiveness in enhancing root growth in sweet basil, whereas all plants under this treatment showed a total root length of less than 400 cm. Thus, it is confirmed that chitosan can only help root development when applied at the vegetative stage and not at the reproductive stage. Furthermore, when chitosan was applied twice during the vegetative and reproductive stages, the total root length for all plants was more than 400 cm. Despite different concentrations being applied in this treatment, the root length was not significantly different from each other. The differences in root appearance as well as root length can be seen in (Figure 8).

Root Average Diameter

Root average diameter was investigated to qualify the root system of sweet basil plants. Results indicated that the interaction of chitosan concentrations and plant maturity stages at $p \le 0.05$ significantly affected average root diameter. Chitosan-treated plants showed significantly higher average root diameters than non-treated plants, except those treated once at the reproductive stage.

Application of chitosan when plants are at the vegetative stage and concentrations of 2, 4, and 6 ml/L increased the average root diameter by 1.16 ± 0.01 , 1.20 ± 0.01 , and 1.15 ± 0.08 mm significantly, compared to control (1.05 ± 0.05 mm). Surprisingly, all plants treated with chitosan at the reproductive stage showed a similar average of root diameter to control. This study's



Figure 8. Roots of representative sweet basil plants treated with different concentrations of chitosan at different plant maturity stages in 15 cm \times 20 cm containers. Where C0, C1, C2, and C3 are 0, 2, 4, and 6 ml/L chitosan, respectively

Note. S1 = 45 days after sowing; S2 = 65 days after sowing

finding proves that the time of application of chitosan is important to sweet basil, as it only influences root development, particularly the enlargement of the root when applied at the vegetative stage. The result from plants treated at vegetative and reproductive stages (two times) again proved this: the average root diameter increased by 1.16 ± 0.03 , 1.13 ± 0.01 , and



Figure 9. Effect of application of different chitosan concentrations in average root diameter of sweet basil *Note.* Means with the same letters are not significantly different at $p \le 0.05$, and the error bar shows the standard error. S1 = 45 days after sowing; S2 = 65 days after sowing

 1.15 ± 0.02 mm, respectively, increase in concentrations compared to control (Figure 9). It is then assumed that the increase in diameter for those plants was caused by the application at the vegetative stage and not at the reproductive stage. Thus, a single application at the vegetative stage only is needed to enlarge the diameter of the sweet basil root.

Total Root Volume

In sweet basil plants, root volume was significantly and positively affected when plants were treated with different concentrations of chitosan at different plant maturity stages ($p \le 0.05$). Treated plants showed greater root volume compared to non-treated plants, except those treated with 2 and 4 ml/L chitosan in the reproductive stage (Figure 10). Based on single-factor analysis, the difference between concentrations of chitosan was

insignificant, where application at the vegetative stage showed a greater value of root volume compared to the application at the reproductive stage and both vegetative and reproductive stages. The interaction of both factors showed that the highest root volume (4.76 ± 0.34 and 5.09 ± 0.38 cm³ per plant) were observed at concentrations of 2 ml/L and 4 ml/L, respectively, where higher concentration (6 ml/L) resulted in 4.02 \pm 0.27 cm³ per plant, which is still higher compared to control (3.13 \pm 0.20 cm³ per plant). Applying 6 ml/L chitosan during the reproductive stage significantly increased root volume from 3.16 \pm 0.25 to 4.57 \pm 0.54 cm³, where there was no significant difference between 2 and 4 ml/L with control. When plants were treated two times on vegetative and reproductive stages with concentrations of 2, 4, and 6 ml/L chitosan, the root volume significantly increased by 4.17 ± 0.58 , 4.66 ± 0.26 , and 4.00 ± 0.14

Chitosan at Different Plant Maturity Stages



Figure 10. Effect of application of different chitosan concentrations in total root volume of sweet basil *Note.* Means with the same letters are not significantly different at $p \le 0.05$, and the error bar shows the standard error. S1 = 45 days after sowing; S2 = 65 days after sowing

cm³, respectively compared to control. This result shows that the highest root volume is 62.62% greater than the control.

Total Root Surface Area

Analysis of variances for root surface area showed a significant difference in the

interaction of chitosan concentrations and plant maturity stages at $p \le 0.05$. Plants treated with chitosan showed significantly higher root surface area compared to nontreated plants, except for those treated with 2 ml/L at the reproductive stage (Figure 11). A concentration of 2 ml/L applied at the



Figure 11. Effect of application of different chitosan concentrations in total root surface area of sweet basil *Note.* Means with the same letters are not significantly different at $p \le 0.05$, and the error bar shows the standard error. S1 = 45 days after sowing; S2 = 65 days after sowing

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 647 - 670 (2023)

reproductive stage resulted in 130.97 ± 8.33 cm² of total root surface area, which was non-significant with control (121.32 ± 4.39) cm²). At the same time, 4 and 6 ml/L chitosan concentrations showed significantly higher root surface area by 136.34 ± 13.54 and 136.19 ± 9.56 cm², respectively. Applying chitosan at both vegetative and reproductive stages seems ineffective, as all concentrations showed non-significantly differences with chitosan applied at the reproductive stage. The peak value of root surface area was found in those treated at the vegetative stage, where a concentration of 4 ml/L was 34.79% higher compared to the control. It showed that a specific chitosan concentration enhances the root surface area when applied at the correct plant's age.

Total Fresh Biomass

The data on total fresh biomass showed a significant difference at $p \le 0.05$ between a combination of chitosan concentrations and plant maturity stages. All concentrations

of chitosan applied at the vegetative stage showed greater value compared to the control (Figure 12). The highest total fresh biomass (109.49 \pm 2.01 g per plant) was obtained when plants were treated with 4 ml/L at the vegetative stage, followed by the second highest $(103.42 \pm 2.59 \text{ g per plant})$ at 2 ml/L. A higher concentration of chitosan applied at the vegetative and reproductive stages or both vegetative and reproductive stages showed total fresh biomass ranging from 93.65 ± 5.31 to 94.85 ± 2.93 g per plant, still higher compared to the control. Those plants treated with low concentrations (2 or 4 ml/L) at the reproductive stage or both vegetative and reproductive stages showed total fresh biomass ranging from 89.43 ± 1.9 to 94.85 ± 2.9 g per plant, which are similar to the control.

Correlation Between Growth and Yield Components

The Pearson correlation analysis showed a significant positive correlation between



Figure 12. Effect of application of different chitosan concentrations in total fresh biomass of sweet basil *Note.* Means with the same letters are not significantly different at $p \le 0.05$, and the error bar shows the standard error. S1 = 45 days after sowing; S2 = 65 days after sowing

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 647 - 670 (2023)

all growth parameters and biomass yield (Table 1). Based on the results, plant height has a strong positive and intermediate correlation with stem diameter and length of internode at r = 0.79 and r = 0.71, respectively. Similar to this, a positive intermediate correlation was found between plant height and the number of branches (r = 0.47). Thus, a positive intermediate correlation was found between the number of leaves with plant height and the number of branches at r = 0.54 and r = 0.58, respectively. In addition, total root length showed a positive intermediate correlation with plant height, stem diameter, length of internode, number of branches, and number of leaves at r = 0.63, 0.60, 0.58, 0.42, and 0.59, respectively. The total fresh biomass positively correlated with aerial parts such as plant height, stem diameter, length of internode, and the number of branches and leaves at r = 0.61, 0.77, 0.54, 0.62, and

Correlation matrix between yield components of sweet basil

Table 1

0.68, respectively. Similarly, a significant and positive correlation was found between total fresh weight and the root parameters such as total root length, average root diameter, total root volume, and total root surface area at r = 0.66, 0.72, 0.70, and 0.57, respectively.

DISCUSSION

The results show that specific chitosan concentration acts differently according to the plant's growth stage in enhancing plant height. Besides, without a doubt, applying chitosan led to enhancing plant height. It agrees with Mukta et al. (2017), who found that a concentration of 250 mg/L chitosan was applied on *Fragaria* × *ananassa* Duch, produced the tallest plant height (19 cm) compared to the control, which was only 17.30 cm. Similarly, Rahman et al. (2018) reported that foliar application of chitosan at a concentration of 500 mg/L on *Fragaria*

Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
PH	1									
SD	0.79***	1								
LOI	0.71**	0.72**	1							
NOB	0.47**	0.55**	0.71**	1						
NOL	0.54**	0.65**	0.67**	0.58**	1					
TRL	0.63**	0.60**	0.58**	0.42*	0.59**	1				
RAD	0.71**	0.70**	0.59**	0.48*	0.69**	0.60**	1			
TRV	0.73**	0.74**	0.72**	0.61**	0.59**	0.76**	0.68**	1		
TRSA	0.61**	0.61**	0.71**	0.55**	0.59**	0.85***	0.47*	0.80***	1	
TFB	0.61**	0.77***	0.54**	0.62**	0.68**	0.66**	0.72**	0.70**	0.57**	1

Note. PH = Plant height; SD = Stem diameter; LOI = Length of internode; NOB = Number of branches; NOL = Number of leaves; TRL = Total root length; RAD = Root average diameter; TRV = Total root volume; TRSA = Total root surface area; TFB = Total fresh biomass

** and *** = Significant intermediate correlation and significant strong correlation, respectively

× ananassa Duch. plants resulted in higher plant height (25.10 cm) compared to the control (19.50 cm). The mechanism behind chitosan's effectiveness in increasing plant height is regulated by gibberellic acid inside the plant tissue (Lopez-Moya et al., 2019). Gibberellic acid can be found in all plants and is responsible for incrementing the number and length of cells in the plant's tissues (Guttridge & Thompson, 1959).

Similarly, the increment of stem diameter under the application of chitosan agrees with the previous reports of Choudhary et al. (2017), Dwyer et al. (1995), and Ullah et al. (2020), who confirmed the ability of chitosan to increase stem diameter. A bigger stem diameter can lead to a strong and stable stem, which can help the plants support a greater number of leaves and protect the plants from strong wind situations. Besides, stems with large diameters transport materials essential for plant growth and development as well as plant leaf biomass and contribute to biomass yield (Sun et al., 2019). Therefore, a bigger stem diameter in sweet basil is assumed to contribute to yield, which is leaf biomass.

Since chitosan regulates the accumulation of gibberellic acid inside the plants (Lopez-Moya et al., 2019), gibberellic acid was proven responsible for incrementing internode length (Mahmoody & Noori, 2014). This result agrees with Avestan et al. (2017), who reported the increment of internode length in chitosantreated apple cuttings. This increment first appears in the length of internodes and then contributes to the increment of plant height (Atait & Qureshi, 2020; Brian, 1958; Wang et al., 2017).

Plants treated with 4 ml/L chitosan in the vegetative stage showed the best performance in relation to the number of branches. The increment of lateral branches under the application of chitosan agreed with Salehi et al. (2017), who reported the enhancement of a number of branches under the application of chitosan in Satureja hortensis plants. Similarly, Mondal et al. (2016) also stated that chitosan at a concentration of 100 mg/L can increase the number of branches in Solanum lycopersicum L. plants by 38.81%. In the case of sweet basil, a higher number of branches will bring benefits whereby it gives more surface for the leaves to develop and thus increasing its yield.

Also, chitosan enhanced the number of leaves in sweet basil plants. Similar to the results of the current study, early reports confirmed the increment of the number of leaves under the application of chitosan in Curcuma longa L., Oryza sativa, Amaranthus hybridus, Hordeum vulgare, and Stevia rebaudiana (Anusuya & Sathiyabama, 2016; Berliana et al., 2020; Divya et al., 2019; Hafez et al., 2020). For instance, chitosan at the rate of 75 ml/L applied as seed soaking increased the number of leaves from 14 to 16 per plant in Capsicum frutescens Linn. (Sari et al., 2020). Chitosan was claimed to be related to stimulating plant nutrition, where it has been reported that chitosan provides essential nutrients for plants (Sharif et al., 2018) to enhance plant growth and

development and produce leaves. Besides, soil application of chitosan was said to increase the absorption of essential nutrients for plants by increasing the number of beneficial soil microorganisms (Boonlertnirun et al., 2008). Water is assumed to transfer nutrients from the soil to different organs. Interestingly, chitosan increases water absorption in plants by increasing the growth and development of the root system (Hidangmayum et al., 2019). Thus, applying chitosan at the vegetative stage resulted in more leaves than in the reproductive stage. It is supported by Oosterhuis (1990), which stated that the early growing stage (after the seedling stage) is the time for Gossypium hirsutum plant to develop a leaf canopy. It is also assumed that plants are more active at an early growth stage and could easily respond to chitosan concentrations. At the late growing stage, plants may not absorb enough chitosan or cannot fully respond. However, more investigation is needed to clarify the mechanism of the physiological response of sweet basil plants to chitosan at different growth stages.

Since nitrogen is a mobile element in the soil and can be easily leached deeper, plants should provide long roots to search for this essential element. Therefore, reports say plants often produce long roots when facing nitrogen deficit only (Gruber et al., 2013). The results do not agree with this since the literature says that chitosan provides essential nutrition for plants as well as nitrogen elements (Xu & Mou, 2018). Thus, the results showed increased total root length because of chitosan treatment. It is supported by Sathiyabama and Parthasarathy (2016), who reported an increment of total root length to 31.25% in Cicer arietinum seedlings under the application of 0.10% chitosan. It is near the best treatment, resulting in a 34.18 % higher total root length in sweet basil. Similarly, Khan et al. (2011) observed an increment of total root length by 35% in Arabidopsis thaliana plants under the application of chitosan at a concentration of 10 µM. Furthermore, Iglesias et al. (2019) mentioned that applying chitosan could increase auxin accumulation in the plant's root system. At the same time, auxin is well-known as a root growth hormone (Tanimoto, 2005; Went, 1935). Therefore, the enhancement of root length in this study could be related to the potential of chitosan in stimulating the biosynthesis of auxin, which functioned in the root system. Longer root growth and development can help plants to reach more minerals to support their growth, besides increasing the anchoring of the plants to the soil, which in return is more stable.

From the results, sweet basil's growing stage was able to influence the effects of chitosan on the root system as well as total root length. The early growth stage was more efficient than the late growing stage for sweet basil plants to respond to treatment applications. Although, there was no significant difference between the vegetative and at both vegetative and reproductive stages of growing to apply chitosan on sweet basil plants based on single factor analysis. The application of chitosan at reproductive phase has no effect on the root development, particularly on the root length. Furthermore, the effectiveness of chitosan at frequent application could be mostly related to the effectiveness at the vegetative stage. It is well supported by Ljung et al. (2001), which declared that auxin as root growth hormone could be synthesized at a maximum rate when the plant is at the early growth stage. To interoperate this, at the early growing stage of sweet basil plants, chitosan can improve the accumulation of auxin, where this hormone optimizes its function and increases root growth as well as prolonging of roots.

Root diameter is another important parameter of the root system (Bouma et al., 2000). Plants with thicker root diameters could survive longer and easily (Baddeley & Watson, 2005). It could be helpful for plants in finding water and nutrient elements from the soil. In addition, roots with higher diameters can absorb and transport a large amount of water and nutrient solution over the plants (Hutchings & John, 2003). Therefore, the thick root diameter in the root system could contribute to the overall growth of the plant canopy. Root diameter was improved due to applying chitosan at the vegetative stage. The result from this study agrees with Khan et al. (2011), who reported an increment of root diameter under the application of chitosan at a concentration of 100 μ M chitosan in A. thaliana plants. The increment in average root diameter could be related to the potential of chitosan in manipulating auxin in the root system (Iglesias et al., 2019).

According to Davis and Jacobs (2005), root volume is an important parameter in the quality assessment of the root system. The higher root volume is said to provide larger contact with soil and a chance for more nutrient uptake by the plant (Haase & Rose, 1994). The root length, root diameter, and density of the roots contribute data for the root volume. Based on the results of this study, it was proven that the drench application of chitosan at a suitable stage could increase root volume in sweet basil plants. The increment of root volume is directly linked to the enhancement of nutrient uptake by the plants (Marschener, 1998). At the same time, Farouk et al. (2011) reported a positive correlation between root volume and nutrient uptake in Raphanus sativus L. var. sativus plants. Hence, an increment in root volume may contribute to growth and development.

Chitosan could also increase root surface area, which agreed with Guo et al. (2020), who reported the increment of root surface area in Eleutherococcus senticosus. According to Tagliavini et al. (1993), the increment of root surface area was influenced by the increment of root length and average diameter. Moreover, the effectiveness of water and nutrient uptake from the soil was attributed to the large root surface area (Marschener, 1998; Yang et al., 2009). For instance, Genc et al. (2007) reported that the increment of root surface area had positively influenced zinc uptake by Hordeum vulgare plants. In trees such as Larix gmelinii, the increment of leaf biomass was related to the increment in root surface area (Meng et al., 2018). Therefore, as the application of chitosan increased the root surface area in this study, it has been proven beneficial to sweet basil.

The optimum total fresh biomass yield per plant (109.49 \pm 2.01 g) obtained in this study is 23.93% higher than control plants, equal to 21.14 g per plant. Normally, the conventional cultivation density of sweet basil is 140,000 plants/ha (Guerrero-Lagunes et al., 2020). Considering this, treating sweet basil plants with 4 ml/L chitosan will increase the biomass yield by 2959.60 kg/ha. It could be a great contribution to the producers. In sweet basil plants, it is assumed that the yield is associated with growth and development, and several parameters may contribute to the increment of total fresh biomass. However, the increment in yield of sweet basil, as well as total fresh biomass due to chitosan, which was applied at the vegetative stage, agrees with the previous report by Mondal et al. (2011), who confirmed the increment of fresh biomass in Basella alba L. plants under 75 mg/L at the early stage of growth. It is 21.56% higher when compared with the control.

From the results of correlation analysis, plant height has a strong positive correlation and a positive intermediate correlation with stem diameter and length of the internode. It is assumed that a big stem could provide sufficient water and organic materials transportation to allow the plant to grow higher (Sun et al., 2019). Furthermore, the stem cell enlargement led to an increase in the internode length, which directly influences plant height. A positive intermediate correlation exists between plant height and the number of branches. In sweet basil, branches are produced from the nodes, which proves that in addition to the length of the internode, the number of nodes also contributes to the height of sweet basil plants. A positive intermediate correlation of the number of leaves with plant height and the number of branches revealed that the increment of plant height and the number of branches provided a larger surface for the development of leaves through the canopy of sweet basil plants. In addition, there is notably a relationship between sweet basil plants' underground and aerial parts. In plants, to be facilitated growth and development, it is assumed that the root system provides mechanical support, water, and essential nutrients for the shoot to produce organic materials through photosynthesis and distribute overall the plant. Thus, the previous report confirmed a positive correlation between shoots and roots in A. thaliana plants (Bouteillé et al., 2012). Considering this, all the aerial and underground parameters strongly contributed to yield performance. The current study's finding proves it, whereas the total fresh biomass had a significantly positive correlation with both aerial and underground parts in sweet basil plants.

CONCLUSION

A field experiment was carried out to evaluate the performance of sweet basil under the application of chitosan at different plant maturity stages. Results showed that application of chitosan improved growth parameters, contributing to yield performance. Based on the findings, sweet basil plants should be treated with chitosan at one time at the vegetative stage compared to the reproductive stage or both. Therefore, it is recommended for sweet basil plants be treated with 4 ml/L chitosan at the vegetative stage. The use of commercial growing media could be a limitation of this study, and minor differences may occur if growers use field soil. Future study is needed to investigate phytochemicals as well as their postharvest quality.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors acknowledge Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia, for funding this work under grant number 9692600 and Dasatim Sdn. Bhd. for providing chitosan to be used in this work.

REFERENCES

- Acemi, A. (2020). Chitosan versus plant growth regulators: A comparative analysis of their effects on *in vitro* development of *Serapias vomeracea* (Burm. f.) Briq. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture, 141*, 327-338. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11240-020-01789-3
- Acemi, A., Bayrak, B., Çakır, M., Demiryürek, E., Gün, E., El Gueddari, N. E., & Özen, F. (2018). Comparative analysis of the effects of chitosan and common plant growth regulators on *in vitro* propagation of *Ipomoea purpurea* (L.) Roth from nodal explants. *In Vitro Cellular* & *Developmental Biology-Plant*, 54, 537-544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11627-018-9915-0
- Acharya, T. P., Reiter, M. S., Welbaum, G., & Arancibia, R. A. (2020). Nitrogen uptake and use

efficiency in sweet basil production under low tunnels. *HortScience*, *55*(4), 429-435. https://doi.org/10.21273/HORTSCI14515-19

- Anusuya, S., & Sathiyabama, M. (2016). Effect of chitosan on growth, yield and curcumin content in turmeric under field condition. *Biocatalysis* and Agricultural Biotechnology, 6, 102-106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcab.2016.03.002
- Atait, M., & Qureshi, U. S. (2020). Efficacy of different primers on growth and yield of tulip (*Tulipa gesneriana* L.). World Journal of Biology and Biotechnology, 5(2), 31-35.
- Avestan, S., Naseri, L., & Barker, A. V. (2017). Evaluation of nanosilicon dioxide and chitosan on tissue culture of apple under agar-induced osmotic stress. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 40(20), 2797-2807. https://doi.org/10.1080/01904167.2 017.1382526
- Baddeley, J. A., & Watson, C. A. (2005). Influences of root diameter, tree age, soil depth and season on fine root survivorship in *Prunus avium*. *Plant and Soil*, 276, 15-22. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11104-005-0263-6
- Berliana, A. I., Kuswandari, C. D., Retmana, B.
 P., Putrika, A., & Purbaningsih, S. (2020).
 Analysis of the potential application of chitosan to improve vegetative growth and reduce transpiration rate in *Amaranthus* hybridus. In IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science (Vol. 481, No. 1, p. 012021). IOP Publishing. https://doi. org/10.1088/1755-1315/481/1/012021
- Boonlertnirun, S., Boonraung, C., & Suvanasara, R. (2008). Application of chitosan in rice production. *Journal of Metals, Materials and Minerals*, 18(2), 47-52.
- Bouma, T. J., Nielsen, K. L., & Koutstaal, B. A. S. (2000). Sample preparation and scanning protocol for computerised analysis of root length and diameter. *Plant and Soil*, *218*, 185-196. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1014905104017

- Bouteillé, M., Rolland, G., Balsera, C., Loudet, O., & Muller, B. (2012). Disentangling the intertwined genetic bases of root and shoot growth in *Arabidopsis. PLOS One*, 7(2), e32319. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0032319
- Brian, P. W. (1958). Gibberellic acid: A new plant hormone controlling growth and flowering. *Journal of the Royal Society of Arts*, 106(5022), 425-441.
- Bufalo, J., Cantrell, C. L., Astatkie, T., Zheljazkov, V. D., Gawde, A., & Boaro, C. S. F. (2015). Organic versus conventional fertilization effects on sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) growth in a greenhouse system. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 74, 249-254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. indcrop.2015.04.032
- Chamnanmanoontham, N., Pongprayoon, W., Pichayangkura, R., Roytrakul, S., & Chadchawan, S. (2015). Chitosan enhances rice seedling growth via gene expression network between nucleus and chloroplast. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 75, 101-114. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10725-014-9935-7
- Choudhary, R. C., Kumaraswamy, R. V., Kumari, S., Sharma, S. S., Pal, A., Raliya, R., Biswas, P., & Saharan, V. (2017). Cu-chitosan nanoparticle boost defense responses and plant growth in maize (*Zea mays* L.). *Scientific Reports*, 7, 9754. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-08571-0
- Ciriello, M., Formisano, L., El-Nakhel, C., Corrado, G., Pannico, A., De Pascale, S., & Rouphael, Y. (2021). Morpho-physiological responses and secondary metabolites modulation by preharvest factors of three hydroponically grown Genovese basil cultivars. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *12*, 671026. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpls.2021.671026
- Corrado, G., Chiaiese, P., Lucini, L., Miras-Moreno, B., Colla, G., & Rouphael, Y. (2020). Successive harvests affect yield, quality and metabolic profile of sweet basil (*Ocimum*

basilicum L.). *Agronomy*, *10*(6), 830. https://doi. org/10.3390/agronomy10060830

- Davis, A. S., & Jacobs, D. F. (2005). Quantifying root system quality of nursery seedlings and relationship to out planting performance. *New Forests*, 30(2), 295-311. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11056-005-7480-y
- Delbeke, S., Ceuppens, S., Jacxsens, L., & Uyttendaele, M. (2015). Microbiological analysis of prepacked sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum*) and coriander (*Coriandrum sativum*) leaves for the presence of *Salmonella* spp. and Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli. International Journal* of Food Microbiology, 208, 11-18. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2015.05.009
- Divya, K., Vijayan, S., Nair, S. J., & Jisha, M. S. (2019). Optimization of chitosan nanoparticle synthesis and its potential application as germination elicitor of Oryza sativa L. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 124, 1053-1059. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2018.11.185
- Dwyer, P. J., Bannister, P., & Jameson, P. E. (1995). Effects of three plant growth regulators on growth, morphology, water relations, and frost resistance in lemonwood (*Pittosporum* eugenioides A. Cunn). New Zealand Journal of Botany, 33(3), 415-424. https://doi.org/10.1080 /0028825X.1995.10412968
- El-Amerany, F., Rhazi, M., Wahbi, S., Taourirte, M., & Meddich, A. (2020). The effect of chitosan, *Arbuscular mycorrhizal* fungi, and compost applied individually or in combination on growth, nutrient uptake, and stem anatomy of tomato. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 261, 109015. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2019.109015
- Elhindi, K. M., Al-Amri, S. M., Abdel-Salam, E. M., & Al-Suhaibani, N. A. (2017). Effectiveness of salicylic acid in mitigating salt-induced adverse effects on different physio-biochemical attributes in sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.). Journal

of Plant Nutrition, *40*(6), 908-919. https://doi.or g/10.1080/01904167.2016.1270311

- Fahmy, A. A., & Nosir, W. S. (2021). Influence of chitosan and micronutrients (Fe + Zn) concentrations on growth, yield components and volatile oil of lavender plant. *Scientific Journal* of Flowers and Ornamental Plants, 8(1), 87-100. https://doi.org/10.21608/sjfop.2021.155941
- Farouk, S., Mosa, A. A., Taha, A. A., & El-Gahmery,
 A. M. (2011). Protective effect of humic acid and chitosan on radish (*Raphanus sativus*L. var. sativus) plants subjected to cadmium stress. Journal of Stress Physiology and Biochemistry, 7(2), 99-116.
- Fattahi, B., Arzani, K., Souri, M. K., & Barzegar, M. (2019). Effects of cadmium and lead on seed germination, morphological traits, and essential oil composition of sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.). *Industrial Crops and Products*, *138*, 111584. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2019.111584
- Genc, Y., Huang, C. Y., & Langridge, P. (2007). A study of the role of root morphological traits in growth of barley in zinc-deficient soil. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 58(11), 2775-2784. https:// doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erm142
- Ghasemzadeh, A., Ashkani, S., Baghdadi, A., Pazoki, A., Jaafar, H. Z., & Rahmat, A. (2016). Improvement in flavonoids and phenolic acids production and pharmaceutical quality of sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) by ultraviolet-B irradiation. *Molecules*, 21(9), 1203. https://doi. org/10.3390/molecules21091203
- Goudarzian, A., Pirbalouti, A. G., & Hossaynzadeh, M. (2020). Menthol, balance of menthol/ menthone, and essential oil contents of *Mentha* × *Piperita* L. under foliar-applied chitosan and inoculation of *Arbuscular mycorrhizal* fungi. *Journal of Essential Oil Bearing Plants*, 23(5), 1012-1021. https://doi.org/10.10 80/0972060X.2020.1828177

- Govindaraju, S., & Arulselvi, P. I. (2018). Effect of cytokinin combined elicitors (l-phenylalanine, salicylic acid and chitosan) on *in vitro* propagation, secondary metabolites and molecular characterization of medicinal herb Coleus aromaticus Benth (L). Journal of the Saudi Society of Agricultural Sciences, 17(4), 435-444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jssas.2016.11.001
- Gruber, B. D., Giehl, R. F., Friedel, S., & von Wirén, N. (2013). Plasticity of the Arabidopsis root system under nutrient deficiencies. *Plant Physiology*, 163(1), 161-179. https://doi. org/10.1104/pp.113.218453
- Guerrero-Lagunes, L. A., Ruiz-Posadas, L. M., Rodríguez-Mendoza, M. N., & Soto-Hernández, M. (2020). Quality and yield of basil (*Ocimum* basilicum L.) essential oil under hydroponic cultivation. Agro Productividad, 13(9), 89-94. https://doi.org/10.32854/agrop.vi.1616
- Guo, S., Zhang, S., Jia, L., Xu, M., & Wang, Z. (2020). Root growth of eleuthero (*Eleutherococcus* senticosus [Rupr. & Maxim.] Maxim.) seedlings cultured with chitosan oligosaccharide addition under different light spectra. Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca, 48(2), 626-635. https://doi.org/10.15835/nbha48211634
- Guttridge, C. G., & Thompson, P. A. (1959). Effect of gibberellic acid on length and number of epidermal cells in petioles of strawberry. *Nature*, 183, 197-198. https://doi.org/10.1038/183197b0
- Haase, D. L., & Rose, R. (1994). Effects of soil water content and initial root volume on the nutrient status of 2+0 Douglas-fir seedlings. *New Forests*, 8, 265-277. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF00025372
- Hafez, Y., Attia, K., Alamery, S., Ghazy, A., Al-Doss, A., Ibrahim, E., Rashwan, E., El-Maghraby, L., Awad, A., & Abdelaal, K. (2020). Beneficial effects of biochar and chitosan on antioxidative capacity, osmolytes accumulation, and anatomical characters of water-stressed barley

plants. *Agronomy*, 10(5), 630. https://doi. org/10.3390/agronomy10050630

- Hanachi, P., Fakhrnezhad, F. R., Zarringhalami, R., & Orhan, I. E. (2021). Cytotoxicity of Ocimum basilicum and Impatiens walleriana extracts on AGS and SKOV-3 cancer cell lines by flow cytometry analysis. International Journal of Cancer Management, 14(3), e102610. https:// doi.org/10.5812/ijcm.102610
- Harnafi, H., Ramchoun, M., Tits, M., Wauters, J. N., Frederich, M., Angenot, L., Aziz, M., Alem, C., & Amrani, S. (2013). Phenolic acid-rich extract of sweet basil restores cholesterol and triglycerides metabolism in high fat diet-fed mice: A comparison with fenofibrate. *Biomedicine and Preventive Nutrition*, 3(4), 393-397. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bionut.2013.03.005
- Hassnain, M., Alam, I., Ahmad, A., Basit, I., Ullah, N., Alam, I., Ullah, I., Khalid, M. A., Shair, M., & Ain, N. (2020). Efficacy of chitosan on performance of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* L.) plant under water stress condition. *Pakistan Journal* of Agricultural Research, 33(1), 27-41. https:// doi.org/10.17582/journal.pjar/2020/33.1.27.41
- Heidari, J., Amooaghaie, R., & Kiani, S. (2020). Impact of chitosan on nickel bioavailability in soil, the accumulation and tolerance of nickel in *Calendula tripterocarpa. International Journal* of Phytoremediation, 22(11), 1175-1184. https:// doi.org/10.1080/15226514.2020.1748564
- Hidangmayum, A., Dwivedi, P., Katiyar, D., & Hemantaranjan, A. (2019). Application of chitosan on plant responses with special reference to abiotic stress. *Physiology and Molecular Biology of Plants*, 25(2), 313-326. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12298-018-0633-1
- Hutchings, M. J., & John, E. A. (2003). Distribution of roots in soil, and root foraging activity. In H. de Kroon & E. J. W. Visser (Eds.), *Root ecology* (Vol. 168, pp. 33-60). Springer. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-662-09784-7_2

- Ibrahim, M. F. (2020). The role of vermicompost and chitosan nanoparticles as foliar application to enhancing growth, yield and oil of black cumin (*Nigella sativa* L.) plants. *Archives of Agriculture Sciences Journal*, 3(2), 205-223. https://doi. org/10.21608/aasj.2020.178054
- Iglesias, M. J., Colman, S. L., Terrile, M. C., Paris, R., Martín-Saldaña, S., Chevalier, A. A., Álvarez, V. A., & Casalongué, C. A. (2019). Enhanced properties of chitosan microparticles over bulk chitosan on the modulation of the auxin signaling pathway with beneficial impacts on root architecture in plants. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 67(25), 6911-6920. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.9b00907
- Incrocci, L., Carmassi, G., Maggini, R., Poli, C., Saidov, D., Tamburini, C., Kiferle, C., Perata, P., & Pardossi, A. (2019). Iodine accumulation and tolerance in sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) with green or purple leaves grown in floating system technique. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10, 1494. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2019.01494
- Jiao, J., Gai, Q.-Y., Wang, X., Qin, Q. P., Wang, Z.-Y., Liu, J., & Fu, Y.-J. (2018). Chitosan elicitation of *Isatis tinctoria* L. hairy root cultures for enhancing flavonoid productivity and gene expression and related antioxidant activity. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 124, 28-35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. indcrop.2018.07.056
- Khan, W., Costa, C., Souleimanov, A., Prithiviraj, B.,
 & Smith, D. L. (2011). Response of *Arabidopsis* thaliana roots to lipo-chitooligosaccharide from *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* and other chitin-like compounds. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 63(3), 243-249. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10725-010-9521-6
- Klintham, P., Tongchitpakdee, S., Chinsirikul, W., & Mahakarnchanakul, W. (2018). Two-step washing with commercial vegetable washing solutions, and electrolyzed oxidizing microbubbles water to decontaminate sweet basil and Thai mint: A

case study. *Food Control*, *94*, 324-330. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2018.07.025

- Ljung, K., Bhalerao, R. P., & Sandberg, G. (2001). Sites and homeostatic control of auxin biosynthesis in *Arabidopsis* during vegetative growth. *The Plant Journal*, 28(4), 465-474. https://doi.org/10.1046/ j.1365-313X.2001.01173.x
- Lopez-Moya, F., Suarez-Fernandez, M., & Lopez-Llorca, L. V. (2019). Molecular mechanisms of chitosan interactions with fungi and plants. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(2), 332. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms20020332
- Mahmoody, M., & Noori, M. (2014). Effect of gibberellic acid on growth and development plants and its relationship with abiotic stress. *International Journal of Farming and Allied Sciences*, 3, 717-721.
- Marschener, H. (1998). Role of root growth, Arbuscular mycorrhiza, and root exudates for the efficiency in nutrient acquisition. Field Crops Research, 56(1-2), 203-207. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0378-4290(97)00131-7
- Meng, S., Jia, Q., Zhou, G., Zhou, H., Liu, Q., & Yu, J. (2018). Fine root biomass and its relationship with aboveground traits of *Larix gmelinii* trees in Northeastern China. *Forests*, 9(1), 35. https:// doi.org/10.3390/f9010035
- Mirzajani, Z., Hadavi, E., & Kashi, A. (2015). Changes in the essential oil content and selected traits of sweet basil (Ocimum basilicum L.) as induced by foliar sprays of citric acid and salicylic acid. Industrial Crops and Products, 76, 269-274. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2015.06.052
- Mondal, M. M. A., Rana, M. I. K., Dafader, N. C., & Haque, M. E. (2011). Effect of foliar application of chitosan on growth and yield in Indian spinach. *Journal of Agroforestry and Environment*, 5(1), 99-102.

- Mondal, M., Puteh, A. B., & Dafader, N. C. (2016). Foliar application of chitosan improved morphophysiological attributes and yield in summer tomato (Solanum lycopersicum). Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Sciences, 53(2), 339-344.
- Monfared, B. B., Noormohamadi, G., Rad, A. H. S., & Hervan, E. M. (2020). Effects of sowing date and chitosan on some characters of canola (*Brassica napus* L.) genotypes. *Journal of Crop Science and Biotechnology*, 23, 65-71. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12892-019-0177-0
- Mosadegh, H., Trivellini, A., Maggini, R., Ferrante, A., Incrocci, L., & Mensuali, A. (2021). *In*vivo in-vitro screening of Ocimum basilicum L. ecotypes with differential UV-B radiation sensitivity. *Horticulturae*, 7(5), 101. https://doi. org/10.3390/horticulturae7050101
- Mukta, J. A., Rahman, M., Sabir, A. A., Gupta, D. R., Surovy, M. Z., Rahman, M., & Islam, M. T. (2017). Chitosan and plant probiotics application enhance growth and yield of strawberry. *Biocatalysis and Agricultural Biotechnology*, *11*, 9-18. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bcab.2017.05.005
- Oosterhuis, D. M. (1990). Growth and development of a cotton plant. In W. N. Miley & D. M. Oosterhuis (Eds.), *Nitrogen nutrition of cotton: Practical issues* (pp. 1-24). American Society of Agronomy. https://doi.org/10.2134/1990. nitrogennutritionofcotton.c1
- Osei-Akoto, C., Acheampong, A., Boakye, Y. D., Naazo, A. A., & Adomah, D. H. (2020). Antiinflammatory, antioxidant, and anthelmintic activities of *Ocimum basilicum* (sweet basil) fruits. *Journal of Chemistry*, 2020, 2153534. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/2153534
- Pandey, P., Singh, S., & Banerjee, S. (2019). Ocimum basilicum suspension culture as resource for bioactive triterpenoids: Yield enrichment by elicitation and bioreactor cultivation. Plant Cell,

Tissue and Organ Culture, *137*, 65-75. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11240-018-01552-9

- Patriani, P., Hellyward, J., Hafid, H., & Apsari, N. L. (2021). Application of sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum*) on physical and organoleptic qualities of chicken meatballs. In *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science* (Vol. 782, No. 2, p. 022083). IOP Publishing. https://doi. org/10.1088/1755-1315/782/2/022083
- Rahman, M., Mukta, J. A., Sabir, A. A., Gupta, D. R., Mohi-Ud-Din, M., Hasanuzzaman, M., Miah, G., Rahman, M., & Islam, M. T. (2018). Chitosan biopolymer promotes yield and stimulates accumulation of antioxidants in strawberry fruit. *PLOS One*, *13*(9), e0203769. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0203769
- Salehi, S., Rezayatmand, Z., & Pirbalouri, A. G. (2017). The effect of foliar application of chitosan on yield and essential oil of savory (*Satureja isophylla* L.) under salt stress. *Journal* of Medicinal Herbs, 8(2), 101-108.
- Sari, S. G., Selvia, E., Nisa, C., & Junaidi, A. B. (2020). Pengaruh pemberian komposit kitosan asap cair terhadap pertumbuhan cabai rawit merah *Capsicum frutescens* Linn. [The effect of liquid smoke and chitosan composition on the growth of red cayenne pepper *Capsicum frutescens* Linn.]. *Biotropika Journal of Tropical Biology*, 8(1), 8-12. https://doi.org/10.21776/ ub.biotropika.2020.008.01.02
- Sathiyabama, M., & Parthasarathy, R. (2016). Biological preparation of chitosan nanoparticles and its *in vitro* antifungal efficacy against some phytopathogenic fungi. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 151, 321-325. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2016.05.033
- Scagel, C. F., Lee, J., & Mitchell, J. N. (2019). Salinity from NaCl changes the nutrient and polyphenolic composition of basil leaves. *Industrial Crops* and Products, 127, 119-128. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2018.10.048

- Sharif, R., Mujtaba, M., Ur Rahman, M., Shalmani, A., Ahmad, H., Anwar, T., Tianchan, D., & Wang, X. (2018). The multifunctional role of chitosan in horticultural crops; A review. *Molecules*, 23(4), 872. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules23040872
- Sun, J., Wang, M., Lyu, M., Niklas, K. J., Zhong, Q., Li, M., & Cheng, D. (2019). Stem diameter (and not length) limits twig leaf biomass. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10, 185. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpls.2019.00185
- Tagliavini, M., Veto, L. J., & Looney, N. E. (1993). Measuring root surface area and mean root diameter of peach seedlings by digital image analysis. *American Society for Horticultural Science*, 28(11), 1129-1130. https://doi. org/10.21273/HORTSCI.28.11.1129
- Tanimoto, E. (2005). Regulation of root growth by plant hormones — Roles for auxin and gibberellin. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences, 24(4), 249-265. https://doi. org/10.1080/07352680500196108
- Turk, H. (2019). Chitosan-induced enhanced expression and activation of alternative oxidase confer tolerance to salt stress in maize seedlings. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 141, 415-422. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2019.06.025
- Ullah, N., Basit, A., Ahmad, I., Ullah, I., Shah, S. T., Mohamed, H. I., & Javed, S. (2020). Mitigation the adverse effect of salinity stress on the performance of the tomato crop by exogenous application of chitosan. *Bulletin of the National Research Centre*, 44, 181. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s42269-020-00435-4
- Waly, A. A., El-Fattah, A., Hassan, M. A. E., El-Ghadban, E. M., & Abd Alla, A. S. (2020). Enhancing growth, productivity and essential oil percentage of *Thymus vulgaris* L. plant using seaweeds extract, chitosan and potassium silicate in sandy soil. *Scientific Journal of Flowers and Ornamental Plants*, 7(4), 549-562. https://doi. org/10.21608/sjfop.2020.148056

- Wang, Y., Zhao, J., Lu, W., & Deng, D. (2017). Gibberellin in plant height control: Old player, new story. *Plant Cell Reports*, 36(3), 391-398. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00299-017-2104-5
- Went, F. W. (1935). Auxin, the plant growthhormone. *The Botanical Review*, 1(5), 162-182.
- Xu, C., & Mou, B. (2018). Chitosan as soil amendment affects lettuce growth, photochemical efficiency, and gas exchange. *American Society of Horticultural Science*, 28(4), 476-480. https:// doi.org/10.21273/HORTTECH04032-18
- Yang, J., Kloepper, J. W., & Ryu, C.-M. (2009). Rhizosphere bacteria help plants tolerate abiotic stress. *Trends in Plant Science*, 14(1), 1-4. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2008.10.004
- Zulfiqar, F., Chen, J., Finnegan, P. M., Younis, A., Nafees, M., Zorrig, W., & Hamed, K. B. (2021). Application of trehalose and salicylic acid mitigates drought stress in sweet basil and improves plant growth. *Plants*, 10(6), 1078. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants10061078



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Evaluation of Avian Papillomavirus Occurrences and Effective Sampling Materials for Screening Purpose in Bird Species Through Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Nurulhuda Najihah¹, Aminuddin Baki Nurul Najian¹, Amir Syahir^{2,3,4}, Jalila Abu⁵, Kok Lian Ho⁶, Wen Siang Tan^{1,7} and Abdul Razak Mariatulqabtiah^{1,8*}

¹Laboratory of Vaccine and Biomolecules, Institute of Bioscience, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

²Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Biotechnology and Biomolecular Sciences, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

³Nanobiotechnology Research Group, Faculty of Biotechnology and Biomolecular Sciences, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

⁴UPM-MAKNA Cancer Research Laboratory, Institute of Bioscience, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

⁵Department of Veterinary Clinical Studies, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

⁶Department of Pathology, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

⁷Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Biotechnology and Biomolecular Sciences, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

⁸Department of Cell and Molecular Biology, Faculty of Biotechnology and Biomolecular Sciences, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

Papillomaviruses (PVs), double-stranded circular DNA viruses, typically cause regressing papillomas (warts) on mucosal or keratinized epithelia of a wide spectrum of species. The viruses largely infect mammals, whereby PV infections in humans, bovines, and rabbits

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 12 November 2022 Accepted: 09 February 2023 Published: 16 May 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.17

E-mail addresses:

nurulhudanajihah91@gmail.com (Nurulhuda Najihah) nurulnajian@yahoo.com (Aminuddin Baki Nurul Najian) amirsyahir@upm.edu.my (Amir Syahir) jalila@upm.edu.my (Jalila Abu) klho@upm.edu.my (Kok Lian Ho) wstan@upm.edu.my (Wen Siang Tan) mariatulqabtiah@upm.edu.my (Abdul Razak Mariatulqabtiah) * Corresponding author are extensively reported. However, studies on non-mammalian PVs, particularly avian ones, are relatively lacking and worthy of investigation. This study performed a metaanalysis post-systematic review based on the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses statement guidelines to evaluate the occurrences of avian papillomaviruses (APVs) in bird species and effective materials used for virus detection. The electronic databases Science

ISSN: 1511-3701 e-ISSN: 2231-8542

© Universiti Putra Malaysia Press

Direct, Medline via PubMed, and Google Scholar were used to search for the journal articles. Upon article eligibility check, the OUADAS-2 was employed to assess the data. Of 1139 records, 31 were eligible for full-text review, but only 9 were significant for the final review. The results showed that APVs are highly prevalent among the Fringillidae family, with a proportion of 81%, followed by Laridae (30%) and Anatidae (13%). The pooled prevalence of APV in tissue samples was 38%, while in swab samples was 13%. Only one study reported positive APV from fecal materials (0.4%); hence, the reliability comparison between these three samples was not performed. This study concluded that APVs are most prevalent in the Fringillidae bird family, while tissues are the most suitable biological samples for APV screening and should be considered as a single sample material. From epidemiology, knowledge of APV incidences and distribution may assist in controlling papillomatosis in bird species.

Keywords: Avian, bird, meta-analysis, papillomavirus, virus

INTRODUCTION

Papillomaviruses (PVs) are relatively small, non-enveloped, icosahedral viruses belonging to the family *Papillomaviridae*. PVs contain circular double-stranded DNA with a complete genome size ranging from 6.9 to 8.6 kb. The genome is divided into three codon regions (early, E; late, L; and long codon region, LCR) that encode the replication proteins E1, E2, E4, the oncoproteins E5, E6, and E7, and the

capsid proteins L1 and L2 (Araldi et al., 2017). More than 130 species in more than 50 genera of PV were identified (Canuti et al., 2019). Most PVs are detected in mammals; however, the number of PVs detected in birds is increasing. To date, 11 complete genomes and 9 partial sequences of avian papillomaviruses (APVs) have been reported. The APV with complete genome sequences were discovered in chaffinch (FcPV1)(Terai et al., 2002), Northern fulmar (FgPV1) (Gaynor et al., 2015), yellownecked francolin (FlPV1) (Van Doorslaer et al., 2009), Adélie penguin (PaPV1 and PaPV2) (Varsani et al., 2014), African gray parrot (PePV1) (Tachezy et al., 2002), and Yorkshire canary (ScPV1) (Truchado, Moens, et al., 2018). The complete genome sequence of APV was identified in Atlantic puffin (PuPV-1), American herring gull (GuPV-1), mallard and American black duck (DuPV-3), and black-legged kittiwake (KiPV-2), while APV with partial sequence were identified in mallard (Duck PV), gull (GuPV-2 and GuPV-3), and black-legged kittiwake (KiPV-1, KiPV-3, KiPV-4, KiPV-5, KiPV-6, and KiPV-7) (Canuti et al., 2019).

PVs primarily infect and replicate in the mucosal and keratinized epithelia, which may induce the development of benign and malignant neoplastic lesions. The lesions or neoplasms are discovered in various body parts among different bird species. Chaffinch papillomatosis is cauliflowershaped neoplasms on the tarsi and digits (Lina et al., 1973). Small featherless wartlike growths were found in the unfeathered areas around the canary's beak (Dom et al., 1993). Cutaneous papilloma-like lesions in African gray parrots are discovered on the beak's head, eyelids, and commissure (Latimer et al., 1997). However, APV was also discovered in the healthy skin of a yellow-throated francolin (Van Doorslaer et al., 2009) and non-obvious lesions in the oral mucosa and tongue of a captive Yorkshire canary (Truchado, Moens, et al., 2018). Papilloma-like lesions also appeared in the legs of some bird species with no APV detected (Katoh et al., 2010).

Knowledge regarding APV prevalence is still very limited; thus, efforts need to be made to increase the sampling and screening of APV. Several diagnosis methods were implemented to identify APV. The first identification of APV was demonstrated using electron microscopy in the 1970s (Lina et al., 1973). The virus was examined in the nuclei of cells isolated from proliferative lesions on the legs of chaffinches (Fringilla coelebs). Electron microscopy also revealed leg papillomatosis in six chaffinches in the Czech Republic and one in Germany (Literák et al., 2003). Molecular technique such as PCR is developed to detect the presence of the virus in griffon vultures (Di Francesco et al., 2019), ducks (Williams et al., 2018), and other wild birds (Canuti et al., 2019; Padzil et al., 2022). The viruses were detected from various sample types, including skin, internal epithelium, fecal material, and oropharyngeal and cloacal swabs (Truchado, Williams, et al., 2018). PVs are highly host-specific DNA viruses; thus, the immunity is species-specific (King et al., 2011). Although data on APV prevalence are still very limited, a significant number of non-human PVs were identified in different species, especially birds. A proper diagnosis method and appropriate sample materials are needed to detect APV. Therefore, the objectives of this meta-analysis are to observe the distribution of APV in bird species and to determine the prevalence of APV in different sample materials. Thus, the most favorable biological sample type for APV screening can be determined.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Protocol and Search Strategy

The protocol for the systematic review was performed according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement guidelines to specify the search strategy, eligibility criteria, objectives, and methods (Moher et al., 2009). The electronic databases Science Direct, Medline via PubMed, and gray literature (Google Scholar) were searched for papers published in any year. The following terms were used: "papillomavirus", "avian papillomavirus", "avian papillomavirus prevalence", or "avian papillomavirus detection". Reference lists cited in all article searches were also checked. An updated search was performed on November 13, 2020. Relevant citations from each database were extracted, and duplicate files were removed.

Eligibility Criteria

Titles and abstracts retrieved from journal articles were screened for eligibility. All the relevant journal articles were reviewed in full text, and those fulfilling inclusion criteria were extracted for their data. All abstracts were screened by one author (NN). The journal articles were included if they met all the following eligibility criteria: (1) targeted PV in all avian species at any ages, not in human or other non-mammalian species, (2) screened using any laboratory-confirmed methods, (3) used any sample materials, and (4) published in English in any year. Studies that did not clearly state the presence of PVs in the avian species were excluded.

Data Extraction and Bias Assessment

Data extracted from the included studies were compiled in a developed data extraction sheet. Table 1 shows the information extracted from the selected studies. The risk of bias in each study was assessed using the Diagnostic Precision Study Quality Assessment Tool (QUADAS-2) recommended by the Cochrane Collaboration.

Data Analysis

The random effects model meta-analysis method was used to analyze the pooled prevalence of APV in different avian species and sample materials. The heterogeneity among the studies was analyzed using the Higgins test (I^2), which shows the percentage of variation among studies (Higgins et al., 2003). These analyses were compiled using the Review Manager Software (version 5.4) (Moher et al., 2009). The odds ratio (OR) test, with a 95% confidence interval (95% CI), was calculated to measure the probability of APV infection for symptomatic compared to asymptomatic birds.

RESULTS

Search results returned a total of 1,170 articles after duplicate removal. Of these, 1,139 studies were excluded due to irrelevant titles and abstracts during screening, while 31 were eligible for full-text review. After full-text articles were extracted, only nine studies indicated the presence of PVs in the avian species. Therefore, only these studies were considered completely relevant and thus included in the final review (Canuti et

Table 1

Datasheet extracted from articles and records included in this systematic review

Data	Range
Year	Any year
Sample taken	Avian species only
Sample size	1–500
Symptoms	General symptoms Appearance of papilloma Appearance of lesion Respiratory problem Dead Other Asymptomatic
Stages of samples	Juvenile Adult Other
Epidemiological unit	Wild bird species Wild habitat Zoo Natural park
Method of testing	Histopathology Molecular Combination (Histopathology and molecular)
Sample type	Biopsy Swab Feces Mixed
Avian papillomavirus prevalence	0–100%

al., 2019; Dom et al., 1993; Latimer et al., 1997; Pérez-Tris et al., 2011; Prosperi et al., 2016; Sironi & Gallazzi, 1992; Truchado, Williams, et al., 2018; Van Doorslaer et al., 2017; Williams et al., 2018). The result of the search strategy is shown in a PRISMA flow chart (Figure 1).

The included studies were published from 1992 to 2019. Despite the 27 years of time scale, the limited relevant studies affirm the insufficient knowledge of PVs in avian species. Out of nine, two studies were conducted in the United States and Italy, whereas Spain, Georgia, Sweden, Canada, and Belgium contributed with one study each. Six studies mentioned that symptoms appeared on the collected birds, while three did not report whether the birds were symptomatic or asymptomatic. The information on the stages and sex of the birds was insufficiently provided in all studies, so the criteria were not reported here. Meta-analysis of diagnostic accuracy of the APV detection methods was also not performed in this study due to inadequate data, such as sensitivity value, specificity value, true/false-positive value, and true/ false-negative value.

Nine studies screened for APV from 711 bird samples of 47 different specified species and 3 unspecified species. The APV was detected in 17 species that are categorized under 6 families. Among the family Alcidae, *Fratercula arctica* was detected with a prevalence of 9.8%. Two studies detected APV in the family Anatidae, with four species (American black duck × mallard hybrid, *Anas platyrhynchos*, *Anas platyrhynchos domesticus*, and *Anas rubripes*) that were positive for APV infection. Four species among the family Fringillidae that showed positive APV



Figure 1. The process of article selection is based on PRISMA. Out of 31 eligible articles, only 9 reported on APV infection and thus were included in the final review

Nurulhuda Najihah, Aminuddin Baki Nurul Najian, Amir Syahir, Jalila Abu, Kok Lian Ho, Wen Siang Tan and Abdul Razak Mariatulqabtiah

infection were *Carduelis chloris*, *Fringilla coelebs*, *Fringilla montifringilla*, and *Serinus canaria*, whereas the viruses were detected in three species among the family Laridae, namely, *Larus marinus*, *Larus smithsonianus*, and *Rissa tridactyla*. The families of Psittacidae, Spheniscidae, and Sylviidae had one species detected with PV infections: *Psittacus erithacus*, *Pygoscelis adeliae*, and *Sylvia atricapilla*. Table 2 presents the distribution of APV in the collected birds according to their species.

Among the included studies, five performed APV screening on the wild birds, whereas four performed screening at the aviary, with one performed screening on both wild and captive birds. One study performed the screening using archived tissue samples. The pooled prevalence of APV can be analyzed among the families Anatidae (duck species), i.e., 13% (95% CI = -0.03 - 0.29, $I^2 = 90\%$), Fringillidae, i.e., 81% (95% CI = 0.56 - 1.05, $I^2 = 0\%$), and Laridae, i.e., 30% (95% CI = 0.04 - 0.56, $I^2 = 96\%$) (Figure 2).

Five studies included the descriptions of APV in biopsy samples from symptomatic birds. Seven types of biopsy samples involved a total of 43 samples, which were skin (n = 10), larynx/trachea (n = 2),

Table 2

Distribution of avian papillomavirus in the collected birds according to their species. Out of 798 birds of various species reported by nine studies, 95 were positive for APV

Family	Bird species	Number of bird sample	Number of birds with positive APV	Reference
Alcidae	Alca torda	30	0	Canuti et al. (2019)
	Fratercula arctica	51	5	
	Uria aalge	41	0	
	Uria lomvia	2	0	
Anatidae	American black duck × mallard hybrid	4	1	Canuti et al. (2019)
	Anas crecca	35	0	Williams et al. (2018)
	Anas penelope	1	0	Williams et al. (2018)
	Anas platyrhynchos	246	6	Williams et al. (2018)
		10	1	Canuti et al. (2019)
	Anas platyrhynchos domesticus	17	2	Williams et al. (2018)
	Anas rubripes	102	30	Canuti et al. (2019)
Burhinidae	Burhinus oedicnemus	1	0	Pérez-Tris et al. (2011)
Cacatuidae	Cacatua moluccensis	2	0	Latimer et al. (1997)
Columbidae	Ducula oceanica	1	0	Pérez-Tris et al. (2011)
	Leptotila rufaxilla	1	0	
	Streptopelia orientalis	1	0	
	Cyanocorax yncas	1	0	Pérez-Tris et al. (2011)
Emberizidae	Emberiza leucocephalos	1	0	Pérez-Tris et al. (2011)

Avian Papillomavirus Occurrences in Bird Species

Table 2 (continue)

Family	Bird species	Number of bird sample	Number of birds with positive APV	Reference
Fringillidae	Carduelis chloris	1	0	Pérez-Tris et al. (2011)
C		2	2	Sironi and Gallazi (1992)
	Euphonia musica	1	0	Pérez-Tris et al. (2011)
	Fringilla coelebs	6	5	Pérez-Tris et al. (2011)
		5	5	Prosperi et al. (2016)
	Fringilla montifringilla	1	1	Prosperi et al. (2016)
	Loxia curvirostra	1	0	Pérez-Tris et al. (2011)
	Pyrrhula pyrrhula	1	0	Pérez-Tris et al. (2011)
	Pyrrhula pyrrhula griseiventris	1	0	Pérez-Tris et al. (2011)
	Serinus canaria	4	3	Truchado, Williams, et al. (2018)
		2	2	Dom et al. (1993)
Laridae	Larus delawarensis	9	0	Canuti et al. (2019)
	Larus glaucoides	4	0	
	Larus marinus	38	1	
	Larus smithsonianus	94	16	
	Rissa tridactyla	16	13	
Paridae	Cyanistes caeruleus	1	0	Pérez-Tris et al. (2011)
	Parus afer	1	0	Pérez-Tris et al. (2011)
	Periparus ater	1	0	Pérez-Tris et al. (2011)
Passeridae	Passer domesticus	7	0	Pérez-Tris et al. (2011)
	Passer griseus	1	0	Pérez-Tris et al. (2011)
Psittacidae	Amazona aestiva	1	0	Latimer et al. (1997)
	Amazona amazonica	1	0	Latimer et al. (1997)
	Amazona autumnalis	1	0	Latimer et al. (1997)
	Amazona farinosa	1	0	Latimer et al. (1997)
	Amazona ochrocephala	1	0	Pérez-Tris et al. (2011)
		1	0	Latimer et al. (1997)
	Amazona ochrocephala auropalliata	2	0	Latimer et al. (1997)
	Amazona sp unspecified	4	0	Latimer et al. (1997)
	Ara ararauna	6	0	Latimer et al. (1997)
	Ara chloroptera	1	0	Latimer et al. (1997)
	Ara sp unspecified	2	0	Latimer et al. (1997)
	Aratinga erythrogenys	1	0	Latimer et al. (1997)
	Aratinga sp unspecified	2	0	Latimer et al. (1997)
	Psittacus erithacus	2	1	Latimer et al. (1997)
Spheniscidae	Pygoscelis adeliae	25	1	Van Doorslaer et al. (2017)
Sylviidae	Sylvia atricapilla	3	0	Pérez-Tris et al. (2011)

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 671 - 685 (2023)

(A) Family	Alcidae				
				Prevalence	Prevalence
Study or Subgroup	Prevalence	SE	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
Canuti (a) 2019	0	0		Not estimable	
Canuti (b) 2019	0.098	0.0416	100.0%	0.10 [0.02, 0.18]	
Canuti (c) 2019 Canuti 2019	0	0		Not estimable	
041140 2010	· ·	Ť		rior countable	
Total (95% CI)			100.0%	0.10 [0.02, 0.18]	
Heterogeneity: Not a	ipplicable + 7 = 2 26 (P = 0	0.025			-0.2 -0.1 0 0.1 0.2
restion overall ellec	. 2 = 2.50 (r = 0	.02)			
(B) Family	Anatidae				
				Prevalence	Prevalence
Study or Subgroup	Prevalence	SE	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% Cl
Canuti (a) 2019 Canuti (b) 2019	0.25	0 0040	21.1%	0.25 [-7.59, 8.09]	
Canuti (c) 2019	0.2941	0.0451	26.8%	0.29 [0.21, 0.38]	
Williams (a) 2018	0	0		Not estimable	
Williams (b) 2018	0	0		Not estimable	
Williams (c) 2018	0.015	0.0077	29.0%	0.01 [-0.00, 0.03]	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
Williams (d) 2018	0.1176	0.0781	23.1%	0.12[-0.04, 0.27]	
Total (95% CI)			100.0%	0.13 [-0.03, 0.29]	
Heterogeneity: Tau ²	= 0.02; Chi ² = 3	9.31, df =	= 4 (P < 0.	.00001); I ² = 90%	
Test for overall effect	t Z = 1.58 (P = 0	D.11)			-0.5 -0.25 0 0.25 0.5
(C) Family Fr	ingillidae				
				Drovalonco	Provalence
Study or Subgroup	Prevalence	SE	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% Cl
Pérez-Tris 2011	0.833	0.1523	66.9%	0.83 [0.53, 1.13]	
Truchado 2018	0.75	0.2165	33.1%	0.75 [0.33, 1.17]	
Total (95% CI)			100.0%	0.81 [0.56, 1.05]	
Heterogeneity Tau ² =	$0.00^{\circ} \text{ Chi}^2 = 0^{\circ}$	10 df=1	P = 0.7	(0.01 [0.00, 1.00])	
Test for overall effect:	Z= 6.47 (P < 0	.00001)			-1 -0.5 0 0.5 1
(D) Family La	ridae				
				Prevalence	Prevalence
Study or Subgroup	Prevalence	SE	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
Canuti (a) 2019	0.0263 (0.0267	35.9%	0.03 [-0.03, 0.08]	T
Canuti (b) 2019 Canuti (c) 2019	0.1702 0	0.0388	35.3%	0.17 [0.09, 0.25]	· · ·
0011011 (07 2010	0.0120		20.070	0.01 [0.00] 1.00]	
Total (95% CI)			100.0%	0.30 [0.04, 0.56]	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	0.05; Chi ² = 50.	.86, df =	2 (P < 0.0	0001); I² = 96%	-1 -0.5 0 0.5 1
Test for overall effect: .	Z = 2.30 (P = 0.0)	02)			
(E) Family P	sittacidae				
Study on Sub-	Desustance		Mainta	Prevalence	Prevalence
Study or Subgroup	Prevalence	SE 0.0506	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% Cl
Laurrer 1997	0.5	0.3030	100.0%	0.00 [-0.19, 1.19]	-
Total (95% CI)			100.0%	0.50 [-0.19, 1.19]	
Heterogeneity: Not ap	plicable				-2 -1 0 1 2
Test for overall effect:					
	Z = 1.41 (P = 0.	16)			
	Z = 1.41 (P = 0.	16)			
	Z = 1.41 (P = 0.	16)			
(F) Family Spl	Z = 1.41 (P = 0. neniscida	16)			
(F) Family Spl	Z = 1.41 (P = 0.	16)		Prevalence	Prevalence
(F) Family Spl	Z = 1.41 (P = 0.	SE V	Veight IV	Prevalence 7, Random, 95% Cl	Prevalence IV, Random, 95% Cl
(F) Family Sp Study or Subgroup Van Doorslaer 2017	Z = 1.41 (P = 0. neniscida Prevalence 0.04 0	<u>SE V</u> .0392 1	<u>Veight IV</u> 00.0%	Prevalence /, Random, 95% Cl 0.04 [-0.04, 0.12]	Prevalence IV, Random, 95% Cl
(F) Family Sp Study or Subgroup Van Doorslaer 2017 Total (95% CI)	Z = 1.41 (P = 0. neniscida Prevalence 0.04 0	SE V .0392 1	<u>Veight IV</u> 00.0%	Prevalence /, Random, 95% Cl 0.04 [-0.04, 0.12] 0.04 [-0.04, 0.12]	Prevalence IV, Random, 95% CI
(F) Family Spl Study or Subgroup Van Doorslaer 2017 Total (95% Cl) Heterogeneity: Not app	Z = 1.41 (P = 0. heniscida Prevalence 0.04 0 licable	<u>SE V</u> 0392 1	<u>Veight IV</u> 00.0% 100.0%	Prevalence /, Random, 95% Cl 0.04 [-0.04, 0.12] 0.04 [-0.04, 0.12]	Prevalence IV, Random, 95% CI

Nurulhuda Najihah, Aminuddin Baki Nurul Najian, Amir Syahir, Jalila Abu, Kok Lian Ho, Wen Siang Tan and Abdul Razak Mariatulqabtiah

Figure 2. Forest plot of random-effect meta-analysis of avian papillomavirus in different bird families. Data shows that APVs are highly prevalent among the Fringillidae family, followed by Laridae and Anatidae

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 671 - 685 (2023)

digestive tract (n = 2), tongue (n = 2), and cloacal/oral (n = 27). Of these, 12 samples were positive for APV infection, with 10 from the skin, 1 from the tongue, and 1 from cloacal/oral papilloma. Skin biopsies were performed in three studies, whereas other types of biopsy samples were reported by one individual study separately. Only one study screened APV in three biopsy samples: larynx/trachea, digestive tract, and tongue. The high prevalence of APV on bird skins corresponds to the known type of human cutaneous PV, represented by the beta and gamma genera, which reside widely on the skin surface. Therefore, a similar skin commensalism/mutualism between APV with their avian hosts and APV occurrences would best be diagnosed by symptom manifestations on the skin is proposed.

Four studies included descriptions of APV in swab samples. Three types of swab samples involved a total of 641 samples, which were oral swabs (n =164), cloacal swabs (n = 25), and paired oropharyngeal and cloacal swabs (n = 452). Of these, 96 samples were positive for APV, with 20 from oral swab samples, 4 from cloacal swab samples, and 72 from paired oropharyngeal and cloacal swab samples. Two studies screened APV in oral swab samples, whereas cloacal swab and paired oropharyngeal and cloacal swab samples were separated in one study. One study involving 33 tissue biopsies and skin swab samples was excluded because it did not mention the virus in which sample types accordingly (Pérez-Tris et al., 2018). The pooled prevalence of APV in tissue samples was 38% (95% CI = 20–55, P=0%), and the pooled prevalence of APV in swab samples was 13% (95% CI = 5–21, $I^2=83\%$), as shown in Figures 3(a) and 3(b), respectively. Only one study screened APV in fecal material, where 4 out of 968 (0.4%) samples were positive for APV.

Out of the 711 samples, 68 birds were symptomatic, and 6 birds were asymptomatic, while clinical symptoms were not mentioned in the remaining 637 birds. The reported symptoms include the appearance of papillomas, pododermatitis, breathing problems, and lesions at the eyelid, leg, beak, head, and toe. Two birds with positive APV infection were reported dead. Only two studies screened for APV in both symptomatic and asymptomatic birds. The meta-analysis showed no significant occurrence of APV cases in asymptomatic birds and symptomatic birds (pooled OR = 2.89, 95% CI = 0.27-31.32, p = 0.71) (Figure 3(c)).

DISCUSSION

This study systematically collated published literature on the detection of APV in nonmammalian species, particularly in bird species, to observe the distribution of APV. This meta-analysis also aimed to determine the most favorable sample materials for APV screening. The information regarding accuracy parameters, such as sensitivity, specificity, true/false-positive, and true/ false-negative values, was insufficiently provided in the studies included in the analysis. As such, a meta-analysis on the

Nurulhuda Najihah,	Aminuddin B	aki Nurul Naji	an, Amir Syahiı	, Jalila Abu,
Kok Lian Ho,	Wen Siang Ta	n and Abdul R	azak Mariatulq	abtiah

				Prevalence	Prevalence
Study or Subgroup	Prevalence	SE	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
Dom 1993	1	0		Not estimable	
Latimer 1997	0.37	0.0929	93.5%	0.37 [0.19, 0.55]	-=
Prosperi 2016	1	0		Not estimable	
Sironi 1992	1	0		Not estimable	
Truchado 2018	0	0		Not estimable	
Truchado b 2018	0	0		Not estimable	
Truchado c 2018	0.5	0.3536	6.5%	0.50 [-0.19, 1.19]	
Total (95% CI)			100.0%	0.38 [0.20, 0.55]	•
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	= 0.00; Chi ² = 0	.13, df = 1	1 (P = 0.7	2); I ² = 0%	
Test for overall effect:	Z= 4.21 (P < 0	0.0001)			-1 -U.5 U U.5 1

Study or Subaroup	Prevalence	SF	Weight	Prevalence IV. Random, 95% Cl	Prevalence IV. Random, 95% CI
Canuti 2019	0.159	0.0172	35.4%	0.16 [0.13, 0.19]	
Truchado 2018	0.75	0.2165	3.3%	0.75 [0.33, 1.17]	
Van Doorslaer 2017	0.04	0.0392	28.1%	0.04 [-0.04, 0.12]	+
Williams 2018	0.10625	0.0244	33.3%	0.11 [0.06, 0.15]	•
Total (95% CI)			100.0%	0.13 [0.05, 0.21]	•
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = Test for overall effect:	0.00; Chi² = 17 Z = 3.10 (P = 0	2.23, df = .002)	3 (P = 0.0	0006); I² = 83%	-1 -0.5 0 0.5 1

(a)

(b)



is of oution n

Figure 3. Forest plot of random-effect meta-analysis of avian papillomavirus (AVP) screened in (a) tissue biopsy samples, (b) swab samples, and (c) symptomatic vs. asymptomatic birds. Data shows the pooled prevalence of APV in tissue samples higher than in swabs, and no significant occurrence of APV cases in symptomatic birds compared to asymptomatic birds

diagnostic accuracy of APV screening was not performed.

Based on our findings, APV is highly distributed among the families Fringillidae, followed by Laridae and Anatidae. The high prevalence of APV in the American black duck population and a lower circulation rate in mallards were related to seasonality in infections (Canuti et al., 2019). There is also an assumption that the sexual route is a possible viral transmission mode because APV was significantly more prevalent in adult ducks during the pre-breeding season (Canuti et al., 2019; Williams et al., 2018).

Five studies performed APV screening on the wild birds, whereas four performed screening on birds at the aviary, with one of the studies screenings on both wild and aviary birds. The incidence of APV infection among wild bird populations is found to be low (Prosperi et al., 2016). Nonetheless, the species-specific nature of the virus allows local transmission even with no direct cutaneous or mucosal contact, which may jeopardize the health status of either captive or wild bird populations. The prevalence of APV from tissue and swab samples was 38 and 13%, respectively, with only one study screened from fecal material (0.4%). As such, this study did not compare the reliability between these three samples. APV commonly infects the cloaca; hence, feces are preferable to other sample materials (Varsani et al., 2015). Besides, fecal sampling is considered a fast and noninvasive screening technique since it requires no physical contact and does not cause stress to exotic birds (Zanon et al., 2018). However, a study, which conducted virus screening in only fecal or swab samples, reported a lower incidence rate (Williams et al., 2018) compared to screening in paired oropharyngeal and cloacal swabs samples (Canuti et al., 2009). There were cases of APV detection in oropharyngeal swab samples but not in cloacal swabs (Canuti et al., 2009). It affirms the importance of selecting the correct

sample materials to avoid false-negative results.

A specific, sensitive, and rapid method is important to improve our knowledge of the agents causing avian cutaneous lesions. Initially, the primary investigation method for avian papillomatosis relied on histologic examination of the lesions. This method involved tissue fixation, staining, and optical microscope observation (Di Francesco et al., 2019). There was no identity confirmation of the causative agents following histologic examination. As such, the unknown causative agent can be any papilloma-caused virus or bacteria. Electron microscopy provides evidence of PV in symptomatic samples based on the virus particle. PVs can be differentiated from other viruses based on their non-enveloped icosahedral structure with a diameter of 50-60 nm (Doorbar et al., 2015). Using negative contrast electron microscopy, Sironi and Gallazi (1992) demonstrated that PVs in green finches were 52.6 nm in diameter. However, the intranuclear rounded PV-like particles in canaries were shown to be smaller, i.e., approximately 45 nm in diameter (Dom et al., 1993). The same study reported that the smaller size might be due to the fixation artifacts in the ultrathin sections compared to negative staining electron microscopy (Sironi & Gallazi, 1992). A molecular diagnostic technique, polymerase chain reaction (PCR), was developed to detect the presence of PVs in avian species. Most PCR techniques target the L1 gene due to its highly conserved region (Padzil et al., 2021; Van Doorslaer et al., 2016).

A multiplex PCR was developed to screen more than one papilloma-causative agent, PV, and poxvirus concurrently (Pérez-Tris et al., 2011; Truchado, Williams, et al., 2018). Thus, molecular diagnostic provides reliable results as they can differentiate the absence or presence of the target organisms.

APV infection is usually characterized by papilloma lesions at the base of the tongue or on the glottis among psittacines (Truchado, Williams et al., 2018). The infection of certain APVs, such as FcPV1, FgPV1, and PePV1, is associated with cutaneous papillomas (Jones et al., 2020). However, the occurrence of APV infection is not always presented in the clinical symptoms of the disease. The metaanalysis showed no significant APV cases in asymptomatic and symptomatic birds. Besides, there are cases where PV is not detected in birds, despite showing clinical signs (Di Francesco et al., 2018; Johne et al., 2002; Jones et al., 2020). It is due to the other viruses or bacteria that can cause similar clinical signs with PV infections. For example, viruses like poxvirus and herpesvirus may cause the development of nodules or papillomas, while bacterial abscesses or neoplastic diseases may cause epithelial tumors and soft tissue sarcomas (Di Francesco et al., 2018; Johne et al., 2002; Pérez-Tris et al., 2011). To further validate and reduce the gap of knowledge of APV occurrences in asymptomatic birds and symptomatic birds, increasing the number of APV screenings is recommended.

This study encountered several limitations, i.e., (1) the sample number

varied from as low as 2 to 452 bird samples, thus did not provide a standardized data comparison, (2) few studies did not specifically mention the pre-deposited clinical signs of birds, either they were symptomatic or asymptomatic, (3) the diagnostic techniques were varied among those included studies, which might cause an argument in the meta-analysis study, and (4) a high heterogeneity in the results was also observed despite the small number of reviews being included. It was believed to be due to the random effects model, which was selected as the meta-analysis model. A further subgroup analysis or meta-regression model, which includes study settings, sample size, publication year, and phenotype search terms (Sun & Feng, 2019), can be explored in future work. Additionally, a reliability comparison can be conducted by reproducing the experiments to confirm the findings.

CONCLUSION

APV is most prevalent among three families, i.e., the Fringillidae, Laridae, and Anatidae. The distribution of APV among wild and captive birds could not be predicted efficiently due to insufficient rapid diagnostic kits targeting APV of birds compared to other species such as bovines and humans. Using paired samples in the virus screening is important because inconsistent results can occur in different sample materials collected from the same bird. However, the prevalence of APV in tissue samples is high, which can be used as a single sample material. The occurrence of APV cases among
symptomatic and asymptomatic birds is not significant. It was assumed that a high virus load is needed to develop the clinical signs among infected birds. Thus, this metaanalysis study helps determine the most suitable sampling methods for retrieving the PV in avian species. The information gathered from this study can significantly increase the chances of isolating the APV from tissue samples and studying them on molecular and structural levels.

CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was supported by the Ministry of Higher Education Malaysia (MOHE) through the Fundamental Research Grant Scheme (FRGS/1/2018/STG05/ UPM/02/31) and the *Geran Inisiatif Putra Siswazah* (GP-IPS/2018/9622700) from the Universiti Putra Malaysia (UPM). N. N. was financially supported by the FRGS through the Special Graduate Research Allowance Scheme (SGRA).

REFERENCES

- Araldi, R. P., Assaf, S., Carvalho, R. F., Carvalho, M. A. C. R., Souza, J. M., Magnelli, R. F., Módolo, D. G., Roperto, F. P., Stocco, R. C., & Beçak, W. (2017). Papillomaviruses: A systematic review. *Genetic and Molecular Biology*, 40(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-4685-GMB-2016-0128
- Canuti, M., Munro, H. J., Robertson, G. J., Kroyer A. N. K., Roul, S., Ojkic, D., Whitney, H.

G., & Lang, A. S. (2019). New insight into avian papillomavirus ecology and evolution from characterization of novel wild bird papillomaviruses. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 10, 701. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.00701

- Di Francesco, C. E., Profeta, F., Romanucci, M., Zuccarini, R., Altea, T., Malatesta, D., Salda, L. D., & Marsilio, F. (2019). Evidence of avian poxvirus and papillomavirus infection in *Gyps fulvus* in Italy. *Archives of Virology*, *164*, 291–295. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-018-4055-8
- Dom, P., Ducatelle, R., Charlier, G., & de Groot, P. (1993). Papillomavirus-like infections in canaries (Serinus canarius). Avian Pathology, 22(4), 797-803. https://doi. org/10.1080/03079459308418966
- Doorbar, J., Egawa, N., Griffin, H., Kranjec, C., & Murakami, I. (2015). Human papillomavirus molecular biology and disease association. *Review in Medical Virology*, 25(S1), 2–23. https://doi.org/10.1002/rmv.1822
- Gaynor, A. M., Fish, S., Duerr, R. S., Dela Cruz Jr., F. N., & Pesavento, P. A. (2015). Identification of a novel papillomavirus in a Northern Fulmar (*Fulmarus glacialis*) with viral production in cartilage. *Veterinary Pathology*, 52(3), 553–561. https://doi.org/10.1177/0300985814542812
- Higgins, J. P., Thompson, S. G., Deeks, J. J., & Altman, D. G. (2003). Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *BMJ*, *327*(7414), 557–560. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.327.7414.557
- Johne, R., Konrath, A., Krautwald-Junghanns, M. E., Kaleta, E. F., Gerlach, H., & Müller, H. (2002). Herpesviral, but no papovaviral sequences, are detected in cloacal papillomas of parrots. *Archives of Virology*, 147, 1869–1880. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00705-002-0858-7
- Jones, A. L., Suárez-Bonnet, A., Mitchell, J. A., Ramirez, G. A., Stidworthy, M. F., & Priestnall, S. L. (2020). Avian papilloma and

Nurulhuda Najihah, Aminuddin Baki Nurul Najian, Amir Syahir, Jalila Abu, Kok Lian Ho, Wen Siang Tan and Abdul Razak Mariatulqabtiah

squamous cell carcinoma: A histopathological, immunohistochemical and virological study. *Journal of Comparative Pathology*, *175*, 13–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcpa.2019.11.007

- Katoh, H., Ogawa, H., Ohya, K., & Fukushi, H. (2010). A review of DNA viral infections in psittacine birds. *Journal of Veterinary Medicine* and Science, 72(9), 1099–1106. https://doi. org/10.1292/jvms.10-0022
- King, A. M. Q., Adams, M. J., Carstens, E. B., & Lefkowitz, E. J. (Eds.) (2011). Virus taxonomy: Ninth report of the international committee on taxonomy of viruses. Elsevier.
- Latimer, K. S., Rakich, P. M., Campagnoli, R. P., Ritchie, B. W., McGee, E. D., & Niagro, F. D. (1997). Investigation of parrot papillomavirus in cloacal and oral papillomas of psittacine birds. *Veterinary Clinical Pathology*, 26(4), 158–163. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-165x.1997. tb00727.x
- Lina, P. H., van Noord, M. J., & de Groot, F. G. (1973). Detection of virus in squamous papillomas of the wild bird species *Fringilla coelebs*. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 50(2), 567–571. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/50.2.567
- Literák, I., Šmíd, B., & Valíček, L. (2003). Papillomatosis in chaffinches (*Fringilla coelebs*) in the Czech Republic and Germany. *Veterinary Medicine-Czech*, 48(6), 169–173. https://doi. org/10.17221/5765-VETMED
- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., Altman, D. G., & The PRISMA Group (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: The PRISMA statement. *PLOS Medicine*, 6(7), e1000097. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pmed.1000097
- Padzil, F., Halim, N. S. A., Najihah, N., Najian, A. B. N., Abu, J., Isa, N. M., Lau, H. Y., & Mariatulqabtiah, A. R. (2021). Evaluation of beak and feather disease virus, avian polyomavirus

and avian papillomavirus of captives psittacine birds in Seri Kembangan, Selangor, Malaysia. *Malaysian Journal of Microbiology*, 17(3), 338-344. https://doi.org/10.21161/mjm.201062

- Padzil, F., Mariatulqabtiah, A. R., Tan, W. S., Ho, K. L., Isa, N. M., Lau, H. Y., Abu, J., & Chuang, K. P. (2022). Loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP) as a promising point-of-care diagnostic strategy in avian virus research. *Animals*, *12*(1), 76. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12010076
- Pérez-Tris, J., Williams, R. A., Abel-Fernández, E., Barreiro, J., Conesa, J. J., Figuerola, J., Martinez-Martínez, M., Ramírez, A., & Benitez, L. (2011). A multiplex PCR for detection of poxvirus and papillomavirus in cutaneous warts from live birds and museum skins. *Avian Diseases*, 55(4), 545– 553. https://doi.org/10.1637/9685-021411-Reg.1
- Prosperi, A., Chiari, M., Zanoni, M., Gallina, L., Casà, G., Scagliarini, A., & Lavazza, A. (2016). Identification and characterization of *Fringilla coelebs* papillomavirus 1 (FcPV1) in freeliving and captive birds in Italy. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 52(3), 756–758. https://doi. org/10.7589/2015-09-254
- Sironi, G., & Gallazzi, D. (1992). Papillomavirus infection in greenfinches (*Carduelis chloris*). *Journal of Veterinary Medicine*, 39(6), 454–458. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0450.1992. tb01193.x
- Sun, L., & Feng, Y. (2019). Can results of metaanalysis with high heterogeneity provide any predictive values? *European Heart Journal*, 40(38), 3205. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ ehz530
- Tachezy, R., Rector, A., Havelkova, M., Wollants, E., Fiten, P., Opdenakker, G., Jenson, B., Sundberg, J., & Van Ranst, M. (2002). Avian papillomaviruses: The parrot *Psittacus erithacus* papillomavirus (PePV) genome has a unique organization of the early protein region and is phylogenetically related to the chaffinch

papillomavirus. *BMC Microbiology*, 2, 19. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2180-2-19

- Terai, M., DeSalle, R., & Burk, R. D. (2002). Lack of canonical E6 and E7 open reading frames in bird papillomaviruses: *Fringilla coelebs* papillomavirus and *Psittacus erithacus* timneh papillomavirus. *Journal of Virology*, 76(19), 10020–10023. https://doi.org/10.1128/ jvi.76.19.10020-10023.2002
- Truchado, D. A., Moens, M., Callejas, S., Pérez-Tris, J., & Benítez, L. (2018). Genomic characterization of the first oral avian papillomavirus in a colony of breeding canaries (*Serinus canaria*). *Veterinary Research Communications*, 42(2), 111–120. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11259-018-9713-5
- Truchado, D. A., Williams, R. A. J., Benítez, L. (2018). Natural history of avian papillomaviruses. *Virus Research*, 252, 58-67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. virusres.2018.05.014
- Van Doorslaer, K., Sidi, A. O., Zanier, K., Rybin, V., Deryckère, F., Rector, A., Burk, R. D., Lienau, E. K., van Ranst, M., & Travé, G.

(2009). Identification of unusual E6 and E7 proteins within avian papillomaviruses: Cellular localization, biophysical characterization, and phylogenetic analysis. *Journal of Virology*, *83*(17), 8759–8770. https://doi.org/10.1128/ JVI.01777-08

- Varsani, A., Kraberger, S., Jennings, S., Porzig, E. L., Julian, L., Massaro, M., Pollard, A., Ballard, G., & Ainley, D. G. (2014). A novel papillomavirus in Adélie penguin (*Pygoscelis adeliae*) faeces sampled at the Cape Crozier colony, Antarctica. *Journal of General Virology*, 95(6), 1352–1365. https://doi.org/10.1099/vir.0.064436-0
- Williams, R. A. J., Tolf, C., & Waldenström, J. (2018). Molecular identification of papillomavirus in ducks. *Scientific Report*, 8, 9096. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41598-018-27373-6
- Zanon, Z., Najihah, N., Abu, J., & Mariatulqabtiah, A. R. (2018). Prevalence of avian polyomavirus in psittacine birds in the Klang Valley. *Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agriculture Science*, 41(2), 917-924.



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Comparative Study on Leaf Anatomy in Selected *Garcinia* **Species in Peninsular Malaysia**

Aiesyaa Majdiena Emlee¹, Che Nurul Aini Che Amri^{1,2*} and Mohd Razik Midin^{1,2}

¹Department of Plant Science, Kulliyyah of Science, International Islamic University Malaysia, 25200 Kuantan, Pahang, Malaysia ²Sustainable Agriculture and Green Technology Research Unit, Kulliyyah of Science, International Islamic University Malaysia, 25200 Kuantan, Pahang, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

A comparative study of leaf anatomy was attempted on *Garcinia* species in Peninsular Malaysia to identify anatomical features useful in species identification and classification. The species are *Garcinia mangostana* var. *mangostana*, *Garcinia mangostana* var. *malaccensis*, and *Garcinia celebica*. Leaves were collected from two different regions: Kuantan, Pahang and Kepong, Kuala Lumpur. The leaf anatomical study was done using the methods of leaf peeling, leaf venation, leaf cross-section, and scanning electron microscopy. The assessment of the leaf anatomy found that these three *Garcinia* species showed similarities in anatomical features, including the presence of paracytic stomata on the abaxial surface, a straight to wavy anticlinal wall of both adaxial and abaxial surfaces, a thick cuticle wax layer, the presence of druses, mucilage canal, petiole vascular bundle, the presence of collenchyma cells in the midrib, and also the presence of sclerenchyma cells in midrib and petiole. Meanwhile, the notable anatomical variation observed in this study included three types of midrib vascular bundles: the outline of the leaf margin,

marginal, and laminal venation as six types of epicuticular waxes present on epidermal surface. Overall, this study highlighted the anatomical features that are taxonomically valuable, which could be used to identify selected *Garcinia* species in Malaysia.

the presence of tanniferous idioblast, leaf

Keywords: Garcinia, Garcinia celebica, Garcinia mangostana var. malaccensis, Garcinia mangostana var. mangostana, leaf anatomy, taxonomy

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 11 November 2022 Accepted: 23 February 2023 Published: 16 May 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.18

E-mail addresses: aiesyaamajdiena24@gmail.com (Aiesyaa Majdiena Emlee) chenurulainicheamri@iium.edu.my (Che Nurul Aini Che Amri) mohdrazik@iium.edu.my (Mohd Razik Midin) * Corresponding author

ISSN: 1511-3701 e-ISSN: 2231-8542

INTRODUCTION

Plant systematics is established in the fundamental elements of evolution theory, and it purposely reveals and reconstructs phylogeny among species, genera, and families (Simpson, 2020). Plant anatomy serves as a tool that aids in plant systematics in terms of identification and classification based on specific characteristics. However, more than anatomical features are needed to implement the established classification, as it exclusively provides extra details to external morphological features (Metcalfe & Chalk, 1950). It only can be used as secondary evidence to the initial classification based on morphological features. Given the significance of anatomy as a tool for systematics and taxonomy, acquiring anatomical data is essential to overcome classification and phylogeny challenges. Due to inadequate morphological details, plant anatomy sometimes delivers primary evidence for classification at the species or subspecies level (Maiti et al., 2012). Both morphological and anatomical data can obtain more accuracy in plant classification.

The characteristics of the leaf epidermis provide important information for identifying plant species within various plant families (Adedeji et al., 2007), such as trichomes, stomata types, stomata pore, stomata index, and subsidiary cells (Ullah et al., 2018). These micromorphological features assist species delimitation (Stefano et al., 2008). Several *Garcinia* species reported the absence of trichomes (Gupta et al., 2018; Priya et al., 2018). Some features in the petiole cross sections, including vascular pattern, the appearance of sclerenchyma cells, and the presence of medullary vascular bundles and trichomes types, are helpful in species identification, especially in Dipterocarpaceae (Noraini et al., 2016). The structure, composition, and tissue arrangement in the leaf midrib provide excellent additional sources for plant delimitation (da Silva et al., 2015; Dalvi et al., 2014; Mantovani et al., 2009). Besides, the utilisation of plant anatomy is widespread for plant physiology and ecology (Sokoloff et al., 2021). Previous studies have incorporated the correlation of anatomies and environmental conditions, such as water stress on Garcinia brasiliensis (de Souza et al., 2013) and Garcinia madruno (Abreu et al., 2017), as well as in vitro gamma irradiation on Garcinia mangostana var. mangostana calli in combating photosynthesis deficiency (Qosim et al., 2011).

Garcinia is a notably large genus from Clusiaceae and subfamily Clusioideae Burnett (Stevens, 2007). Approximately 240 *Garcinia* species were discovered across Asia and Africa, predominantly in Southeast Asia, and 49 *Garcinia* species were distributed in Peninsular Malaysia (Nazre et al., 2007). The species range from small to large trees or shrubs in tropical forests (Nazre et al., 2018). Moreover, *Garcinia* can be distinguished through gummy latex and hard timber. It is also mentioned that *G. mangostana* var. *mangostana* (mangosteen), labelled the "Queen of Fruit", is a wellknown cultivated species in Southeast Asia. Some of *Garcinia* species such as *G. mangostana* var. *mangostana* and *Garcinia mangostana* var. *malaccensis* can adapt better to tropical climates and organic rich soils (Lim, 2012a, 2012b). Meanwhile, the coastal nature of *Garcinia celebica* tolerates salty conditions well, especially in sandy, rocky, and acid clay soils or areas with heavy rainfall and drought environments (Lim, 2012c).

For Garcinia species, the classification and phylogeny have been well constructed based on the morphological and genetic features from previous studies over the decades. The morphological features are widely documented by including the most important parts: inflorescences, stamens, and fruits in Garcinia. The recognition of Garcinia species is also possible through vegetative features such as the leaf, particularly in G. mangostana var. mangostana (Nazre et al., 2018). However, Nazre et al. (2018) also stated that leaf features must be carefully treated for species isolation due to the convergence of vegetative features, as they inaccurately showed upperlevel relationships in all instances. Besides, the anatomical studies of Garcinia still need to be widely utilised, and only a few pieces of data were documented recently. Additional material, such as leaf anatomy, can provide more evidence and justification for species identification in Garcinia. Thus, this study aims to identify the leaf anatomical features of the selected Garcinia species in Malaysia, which are G. mangostana var. mangostana, G. mangostana var. malaccensis, and G. celehica

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Plant Collection and Preparation

The study was conducted on three selected *Garcinia* species, namely *G. mangostana* var. *mangostana*, *G. mangostana* var. *malaccensis*, and *G. celebica*. The leaves samples were collected from Glasshouse Nursery Complex at International Islamic University Malaysia (IIUM), Kuantan Campus, Pahang and Forest Research Institute Malaysia (FRIM), Kepong, Kuala Lumpur. The leaves samples were then compressed and dried in the oven for approximately two weeks. The voucher specimens were preserved in the IIUM Herbarium for future reference and analysis.

Leaves Peeling

The fresh leaves samples at the epidermal surface of the abaxial and adaxial were scraped off using a sharp blade until the desired epidermis could be reached. The epidermal peels were placed on the glass slide and stained with safranin solution (Systerm, Malaysia) for 5 min. The features of the epidermal surface were viewed under a light microscope (Leica ICC50 HD, Germany).

Leaves Venation

The fresh leaves samples in a petri dish were submerged in a basic fuchsin solution (Bendosen, Malaysia) as a clearing agent. The petri dish was placed in the oven at 60°C until the leaves samples were fully cleared. The cleared leaf sample was placed on a glass slide, and the features of the veins were viewed under a light microscope (Leica ICC50 HD, Germany).

Leaves Cross Section

The fresh leaves parts (margin, petiole, midrib, and lamina) were sliced in a range of thickness (35-40 µm) using a sliding microtome. The sliced leaves samples were stained in safranin (Systerm, Malaysia) and Alcian blue (Sigma, USA) for approximately 5 min for each staining. The stained leaves samples were dehydrated using alcohol (ethanol) solutions at different concentrations (50, 70, 95, and 100%). The method, including slicing, staining, and dehydration, were modified following Johansen's (1940) and Sass's (1958) recommendations. The samples were placed on a slide and mounted in Euparal. Anatomical images were captured using the LAS EZ software (version 3.0.0) attached to a microscope (Leica ICC50 HD, Germany). The anatomical features were described properly.

Scanning Electron Microscopy

The selected leaf samples were collected from the dried herbarium samples. The lamina part from the samples was excised in 1 cm² measurements, attached to aluminium stubs, and mounted on a mounting holder. The mounted samples were sputter-coated with a film layer of gold. The sample's notable features, such as waxes and stomata structure, were observed under a scanning electron microscope Zeiss Model EVO 50 (Germany).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The findings of this study showed that all three *Garcinia* species shared eight common anatomical features, which are the presence of paracytic stomata on the abaxial surface (Figure 1A), a straight to wavy anticlinal wall of both adaxial and abaxial surfaces (Figure 1B), a thick cuticle wax layer (Figure 1C), the presence of druses (Figure 1D), mucilage canal (Figure 1E), petiole vascular bundle (Figure 1F), the presence of collenchyma cells in midrib (Figure 1G), as well as the presence of sclerenchyma cells in midrib and petiole (Figure 1H).

This study also reported the notable variations that can be used to differentiate all three Garcinia species studied. First, three types of midrib vascular bundles were observed in the three Garcinia species in this study (Table 1). The midrib of the vascular bundle consists of a main vascular bundle (closed system with a non-continuous ring of the vascular bundle and O-shaped) and a medullary vascular bundle (opened system with a continuous ring of the vascular bundle and U-shaped), which can be found in both G. mangostana var. mangostana (Figure 2A) and G. celebica (Figure 2B). These two species only varied in the number of additional vascular bundles (opened system with continuous rings of vascular bundles). Meanwhile, the medullary vascular bundle was not observed in G. mangostana var. malaccensis (Figure 2C). Another variation is the outline of the leaf margin (Table 2). G. mangostana var. mangostana and G. mangostana var. malaccensis showed a 20° curved downward pattern toward the abaxial



Figure 1. Common features of leaf anatomy and micromorphology in *Garcinia.* (A) Presence of paracytic stomata (black arrow), (B) Straight to the wavy anticlinal wall of adaxial and abaxial surfaces, (C) Presence of thick cuticular wax (black arrow), (D) Presence of druses (black arrow), (E) Presence of mucilage canal, (F) Petiole vascular bundle, (G) Presence of collenchyma cells in midrib (black arrow), and (H) Presence of sclerenchyma cells in midrib and petiole (black arrow)

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 687 - 705 (2023)

Aiesyaa Majdiena Emlee, Che Nurul Aini Che Amri and Mohd Razik Midin

Table 1

The identification and classification of midrib vascular bundles

Туре	Description	Species	Illustration
1	Closed system (non-continuous ring of the vascular bundle) with O-shaped, one medullary vascular bundle (opened system with a continuous ring of the vascular bundle) with U-shaped, five additional vascular bundles (opened system with continuous rings of vascular bundles)	Garcinia mangostana var. mangostana	
2	Closed system (non-continuous ring of the vascular bundle) with O-shaped, four additional vascular bundles (opened system with continuous rings of vascular bundles), no presence of medullary vascular bundle	Garcinia mangostana var. malaccensis	
3	Closed system (non-continuous ring of the vascular bundle) with O-shaped, one medullary vascular bundle (opened system with a continuous ring of the vascular bundle) with U-shaped, three additional vascular bundles (opened system with continuous rings of vascular bundles)	Garcinia celebica	

Table 2

The classification and description of the outline of the leaf margin

Туре	Description	Species	Illustration
1	Tapered with a blunt end, 20° curved downward towards the abaxial epidermis. The size decreases gradually toward the edge of the margin	Garcinia mangostana var. mangostana Garcinia mangostana var. malaccensis	
2	Tapered with a blunt end, straight. The size decreases gradually toward the edge of the margin	Garcinia celebica	

epidermis (Figure 2D), while *G. celebica* showed a straight pattern (Figure 2E).

Next is the presence of tanniferous idioblast (Figure 2F), which can be found only in *G. celebica* and *G. mangostana* var. *malaccensis*. Furthermore, complete leaf

marginal venation (Figure 2G) was observed in *G. mangostana* var. *mangostana*, while incomplete venation (Figure 2H) was found in *G. mangostana* var. *malaccensis* and *G. celebica*. For lamina venation, minority opened, and majority closed venation with Comparative Leaf Anatomy of Garcinia in Malaysia



Figure 2. Variation characteristics of leaf anatomy and micromorphology in *Garcinia*. (A) Midrib of *Garcinia mangostana* var. *mangostana*, (B) Midrib of *Garcinia celebica*, (C) Midrib of *G. mangostana* var. *malaccensis*, (D) Marginal leaf outline of *G. mangostana* var. *mangostana* var. *malaccensis*, (E) Marginal leaf outline of *G. celebica*, (F) Presence of tanniferous idioblast (black arrow) in *G. mangostana* var. *mangostana*

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 687 - 705 (2023)

swollen tracheid (Figure 2I) was reported in *G. mangostana* var. *mangostana* and *G. mangostana* var. *malaccensis*, while minority closed and majority opened with swollen tracheid was seen in *G. celebica* (Figure 2J). Lastly, six types of epicuticular waxes presented on both epidermal surfaces were reported in all *Garcinia* species studied, which are irregular platelets (Figure 2K), needle-like wax (Figure 2L), smooth layer (Figure 2M), granules (Figure 2N), crust (Figure 2N), and flakes (Figure 2O). The variation in terms of epicuticular wax in *Garcinia* species in this study was summarised in Table 3.

Watson (1962) stated that the stomata arrangement and distribution are taxonomically essential above the species level. The stomatal distribution on the leaf surface and the type of stomata were similar among all Garcinia species in this study. All Garcinia species showed hypotomatous stomata, which means the stomata are distributed on the leaf's lower surface (abaxial part). The distribution of stomata is affected by the surrounding environment, especially in mesophytic habitats. In adapted aerial habitats, plants with hypostomatous stomata usually reduce water loss (Stebbins & Khush, 1961). The type of stomata is significant in determining numerous ranks,

establishing the linkage among distinct taxa, and clarifying taxonomic challenges (Baranova, 1992). Stomata are determined into various shapes through the guard's position and neighbouring cells' position. Van Cotthem (1970) listed several types of stomata, such as anomocytic, anisocytic, paracytic, diacytic, actinocytic, cyclocytic, and tetracytic. Paracytic stomata are identified when the stomata are enclosed by two subsidiaries, which are arranged side by side to the stomatal pore and the guard cells. This study found that all Garcinia species shared similar paracytic types of stomata. The paracytic pattern observed in G. mangostana var. mangostana complements the finding from the previous research done by Priya and Hari (2019). Hypostomatous and paracytic stomata were also reported on Garcinia brasilliensis (Cardoso et al., 2013), Garcinia cambogia (Sreelakshmi et al., 2014), Garcinia zhangpuensis (Wang et al., 2018), Garcinia dulcis (Begum, 2020), and Garcinia atroviridis (Susilowati et al., 2022). These findings supported the evidence that these two features of stomata are common in the Garcinia genus (Pathirana & Herat, 2004) and the Clusiaceae family (Metcalfe & Chalk, 1950).

Cutler et al. (1978) highlighted that plant species could be identified through

Table 3

The identification and classification of epicuticular wax

	Types of cuticular wax		
Plant species	Adaxial	Abaxial	
Garcinia mangostana var. mangostana	Irregular platelets, granules	Smooth layer, needle-like wax	
Garcinia mangostana var. malaccensis	Crust, granules	Smooth layer, granules	
Garcinia celebica	Crust, granules	Crust, flakes, granules	

leaf epidermis characterisation. Shah et al. (2018) mentioned that the structure and pattern of anticlinal walls are believed to be a form of environmental adaptation, given that xerophytes plant located in a dry area typically have straight walls, while mesophytic species located in average to hot areas typically have sinuous walls (Gifford & Foster, 1989). The findings of this study showed that all Garcinia species exhibited straight-to-wavy anticlinal walls on the abaxial and adaxial epidermis. According to Pathirana and Herat (2004), all Garcinia taxa for the adaxial and abaxial epidermis consist of rectangular to square cells. A similar pattern was also observed in G. zhangpuensis (Wang et al., 2018), Garcinia indica, and Garcinia livingstonei (Priya et al., 2018). The types of epidermal cells which are straight, undulated, and sinuate observed in the Tomovita species can be utilised in the phylogenetic study of morphological features and determination of linkages across species (Gahagen, 2015). In Garcinia cases, epidermal cells of G. dulcis (Begum, 2020) and G. madruno (Abreu, 2017) showed sinuosity, while G. cambogia exhibited undulating to irregular cells (Sreelakshmi et al., 2014). An epidermal anticlinal wall pattern can be a suitable anatomical feature for species delimitation in Garcinia.

Furthermore, all *Garcinia* species in this study exhibited a thick cuticular wax in the leaf midrib, petiole, lamina, and margin. Metcalfe and Chalk (1950) mentioned that cuticle thickness is essential to characterise *Garcinia* species. Data collected on the Sri Lanka Garcinia species included dorsiventral leaves and a thick cuticle (Pathirana & Herat, 2004). Other Garcinia species, such as G. livingstonei and G. indica, also showed thick cuticles on the leaf midrib, petiole, and lamina (Priya et al., 2018; Priya & Hari, 2019), except for G. zhangpuensis, which has a thin cuticle on the leaf abaxial part (Wang et al., 2018). This study proposed a thick cuticle wax to serve as a delimiting feature in the examined Garcinia species. The presence of cuticles attests to the interaction between plants and the environment. A previous study by Abreu et al. (2017) found thick cuticle wax on G. madruno under flooded conditions. They pointed out that this condition led to low water potential (Medri et al., 2011); thus, thick wax offered more protection to G. madruno (Abreu et al., 2017).

This study observed abundant mucilage canals or secretory cavities in all parts of the leaf cross-section. Mucilage canals were widely distributed surrounding the tissues of the vascular bundle, parenchyma, spongy mesophyll, and palisade mesophyll. This finding was justified by the report of Metcalfe and Chalk (1950). They also mentioned that the distribution of the secretory canal is important for characterising the Garcinia species. As Nnamani and Nwosu (2012) mentioned, the mucilage canal is used in closed and distinct related families since it possesses taxonomic value (Vieira et al., 2001). The taxonomic value of secretory cavities is demonstrated in numerous genera of the angiosperm families (Metcalfe & Chalk, 1957). The appearance of mucilage

canals was reported in *G. brasiliensis* (Cardoso et al., 2013) and *Garcinia kola* (Nnamani & Nwosu, 2012). Meanwhile, the presence of this feature was restricted to *G. dulcis* (Begum, 2020).

The presence of calcium oxalate crystal, commonly in a woody plant (Wu & Huang, 1997), justified the abundance of druses observed in all Garcinia species studied. This study found that the druses (Figure 1D) exhibited compact and spherical aggregates of angular crystal appearance. Beck (2010) explained that druses are commonly found in plants beside raphides, which appear as needle-like crystals. The presence of druses was observed in every tissue of the leaf crosssection. However, it was restricted to the leaf margin of G. mangostana var. mangostana and G. mangostana var. malaccensis. Druses could be used as a diagnostic character to identify Garcinia species, as observed in Garcinia morella, Garcinia spicata (Pathirana & Herat, 2004), G. madruno (Abreu et al., 2017), G. indica (Priya & Hari, 2019), Garcinia dioica (Wulansari et al., 2020), and G. dulcis (Begum, 2020). All of these Garcinia species exhibited a similar appearance of druses. Oxalate removal from the metabolic process, calcium storage, light regulation, and physical protection are all related to the occurrence of crystals (Franceschi & Nakata, 2005).

Moreover, a similar pattern of the vascular bundle in the petiole (Figure 1F) was observed in all *Garcinia* species in this study. Pathirana and Herat (2004) described the pattern of the petiole vascular bundle as consisting of a single arc-pattern collateral

strand, open on the adaxial part with incurved distal ends that almost connect to form a complete tube. This pattern was also comparable according to the study reported by Priya and Hari (2019) on G. mangostana var. mangostana, where the vascular bundle consists of an incurved vascular strand with a narrow gap. A similar pattern of a vascular bundle in petiole was also found in other Garcinia species, which are Garcinia talbotii (Palkar et al., 2017) and G. indica (Priya et al., 2018). Some Garcinia species showed an incurved pattern but with a large gap on the adaxial part of the vascular bundle, such as G. livingstonei (Priya et al., 2018) and G. spicata (Palkar et al., 2017). The pattern of the vascular bundle is utilised to delimit the genus taxa in Clusiaceae (D'Arcy & Keating, 1979). Delimitation is crucial for allocating individuals to the same species or different species. In the Dipterocarpaceae family, the petiole vascular bundle is taxonomically essential to identify species and categorise different genera (Noraini et al., 2016).

The presence of collenchyma cells in the midrib is necessary for support against the strong wind (Amri et al., 2019) by facilitating bending to avoid vascular damage (Leroux, 2012). This statement could validate the presence of collenchyma cells in *G. celebica*, where the plants are commonly found in coastal areas (Nazre et al., 2018). In this study, about 2 to 3 layers of collenchyma cells were concentrated underneath the adaxial and abaxial epidermis in the midrib of all *Garcinia* species. This anatomical feature could be used as a promising identification tool. Ibrahim et al. (2016) demonstrated the taxonomic significance of the number of collenchyma layers on two species, *Datura innoxia* and *Datura stramonium*. In the family Euphorbiaceae, the distribution of collenchyma is significantly important as the continuous rings of collenchyma were observed in the petiole of three *Acalypha s*pecies (Tadavi & Badhane, 2014). The morphology of collenchyma was considered for a taxonomical study on Cucurbitaceae (Abbas et al., 2022).

Sclerenchyma cells include numerous cell types with thick secondary walls that will lignify in maturity (Dickison, 2000). In this study, sclerenchyma cells were scattered as smaller patches encompassing vascular bundles in the petiole and midrib of all Garcinia species. However, these cells were absent in the midrib of G. celebica only. These patches of sclerenchyma cells were observed in Garcinia pedunculata (Gupta et al., 2018) and most Euphorbiaceae species studied (Tadavi & Bhadane, 2014). According to Noraini et al. (2016), the appearance of sclerenchyma cells was a notable feature in the petiole vascular bundle. Besides, the selected Parashorea species can be identified by the appearance of sclerenchyma cells surrounding the main and additional vascular bundles in the lamina (Noraini & Cutler, 2009). Sclerenchyma layers were included as a diagnostic feature of taxonomy value in Cucurbitaceae (Abbas et al., 2022). Noor-Syaheera et al. (2015) stated that both sclerenchyma and collenchyma cells act as structural support but vary in elasticity (Coyle, 2004). Sclerenchyma cells play a role in ecological adaptation under seasonal water shortage, soil nutrient deficits, leaf protection against herbivores, or leaf carbon uptake improvement, as highlighted by Edwards et al. (2000).

The previous study by Pathirana and Herat (2004) delivered six main groups of midrib vascular bundles that could be utilised to distinguish the Garcinia taxa in Sri Lanka. They also described the pattern of the midrib vascular bundle in G. mangostana var. mangostana, which consisted of two adaxial and abaxial vascular arcs opposing each other with a middle vascular plate, each individually encircled by a bundle sheath. A similar pattern was observed in G. mangostana var. mangostana, as seen in Table 1. Table 1 shows three different types of midrib vascular bundles that could be used to separate the Garcinia taxa individually. The presence of a medullary vascular bundle and the number of additional vascular bundles were two keys point used to distinguish these Garcinia species studied. Priya et al. (2018) also described three different shapes of the midrib's vascular zone, including the appearance of cowry, owl, and cordate in G. mangostana var. mangostana, G. livingstonei, and G. indica, respectively. Noor-Syaheera et al. (2015) reported multiple types of midrib vascular bundles (opened system) in selected taxa in Acanthaceae by including the shape of the vascular bundle (O-shaped, V-shaped, and U-shaped) and the number of separated vascular bundles. Numerous studies have

documented the systematic importance of the pattern of vascular bundles, including those on *Parashorea* (Noraini & Cutler, 2009) and the family Rhizophoraceae (Nurnida, 2012). Thus, it is justifiable that this feature is taxonomically significant.

Furthermore, this study suggested that the outline of the leaf margin could be used for species delimitation, as seen in Table 2. This study revealed two different patterns of a marginal outline: curved downward and straight. Similarly, these two patterns were also reported in certain species under the family Anacardiaceae (Norfaizal & Latiff, 2013) and selected Mangifera species (Tipmontiane et al., 2018). Noraini et al. (2012) revealed that two shapes (rounded and pointed) of the marginal outline act as diagnostic features in the selected Johannesteijsmannia species (Arecaceae). The comparative study based on the marginal leaf outline is not widely reported in Garcinia. A similar case happened in Orchidaceae because the marginal leaf outline is unrecognisable for anatomical comparison compared to midrib and petiole (Raffi et al., 2019). Raffi et al. (2019) also proposed that the marginal leaf outline should provide preliminary evidence for the characterisation and delimitation of Vanilla species.

The current study also showed that tanniferous idioblasts were scattered within the parenchyma tissue of the petiole and midrib except in *G. mangostana* var. *mangostana*. However, the absence of tanniferous idioblast in *G. mangostana* var. *mangostana* was contrary to evidence provided by Pathirana and Herat (2004), where these phenolic idioblasts were highly distributed in this respected species. Regardless, this feature could isolate G. mangostana var. mangostana from other species in this study. The abundance of tanned cells in the family Clusiaceae was considered by Metcalfe and Chalk (1957) as one of the diagnostic keys besides secretory canals. The distribution pattern of tanned cells in selected species, particularly G. kola, may be taxonomically useful by considering the intensity of the cells (Nnamani & Nwosu, 2012). The occurrence of tanniferous idioblast was one of the taxonomically valuable features in the petiole of the Microcos genus in the family Malvaceae (Nurul-Aini et al., 2013). This feature may be applicable for identifying and classifying species. Tanniferous idioblast is also linked with protection against stress (da Silva Lobato et al., 2020).

Leaf venation is linked with plant evolution and is taxonomically essential for plant systematics (Hickey, 1973). The architectural features of leaf venation are intensively studied due to their significance for systematic classification (Zetter, 1984), for instance, leaf venation patterns. This study identified two types of marginal venation, complete and incomplete, that can be potentially used to distinguish Garcinia species in this study. Complete marginal venation (Figure 2G) is visualised as higher vein orders attached to a vein that runs just beyond the margin, while incomplete venation (Figure 2H) is viewed as freely ending veinlets straight alongside

the margin (Badron et al., 2014). Similar types were also described in the Ficus genus (Badron et al., 2014) and the Carallia genus (Nurshahidah et al., 2011). Nurul-Aini et al. (2010) revealed that the two distinctive features: incomplete and complete in leaf venation, were significant for distinguishing the selected taxa, namely Grewia and Microcos (Grewioideae), respectively. This study also reported two different lamina venations with swollen tracheids in the Garcinia species studied; hence, these features can be important for classifying species. Leaf venation is considered an underutilised feature, but it has been used for species delimitation in Combretaceae by revealing intra- and intergeneric variation among all the species studied (Akinsulirea et al., 2020). Akinsulirea et al. (2020) also considered the areolar (lamina) venation and the number of veinlets endings useful to characterise the species. Incomplete areolar venation with swollen veinlet ending and closed areolar venation was reported for the Carallia species (Nurshahidah et al., 2011). Besides, the system of leaf venation mainly works on structural stability as well as water and solute transportation (Roth-Nebelsick et al., 2001).

Epicuticular waxes are also taxonomically significant for species identification and characterisation, as confirmed by Barthlott (1998). Several attempts have been made to utilise epicuticular wax as taxonomy characteristics to isolate the group of species within a genus or family (Maffei, 1996; Mimura et al., 1998). The irregular granules, flakes, smooth layer, crust, and needle-like epicuticular wax exhibited by each Garcinia species, as seen in Table 3, could distinguish these three species. The variation of epicuticular waxes in terms of type, density, and distribution found in the selected Ficus species could contribute as extra material for taxonomy (Araújo et al., 2014). The granules type of epicuticular waxes in the Ficus species (Araújo et al., 2014) was similar to the Garcinia species in this study. The interspecific variation among the selected Hypericum species can be seen through abundant waxes, listed as granules, flakes, crust, layer, road, and filament. These features can also aid Hypericum's taxonomy and evolutionary study (Perrone et al., 2013). Perrone et al. (2013) also stated that epicuticular waxes prevent water loss by improving water binding, lessening solar ray interference, and limiting mechanical impairment caused by fungi and insects (Eglinton & Hamilton, 1967).

CONCLUSION

The leaf anatomical features in this study are essential for identifying and classifying the *Garcinia* genus. This study's description of anatomical features might be valuable for plant systematics by providing additional evidence for classification. The findings of this study provide some common features, which are hypostomatic and paracytic stomata, anticlinal walls pattern, thick cuticle wax layer, druses, mucilage canal, petiole vascular bundle, collenchyma cells, and sclerenchyma cells in all three *Garcinia* species studied. This study proposed that these common features could be used for species delimitation among the *Garcinia* genus. On the other hand, a variation of features was also detected, such as three types of midrib vascular bundles, marginal leaf outline, tanniferous idioblast, leaf venation, and six types of epicuticular waxes on epidermal surfaces. These features possess taxonomical value to distinguish *Garcinia* species. Overall, the findings of this study significantly supported the establishment of species identification and classification among species and genera.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors greatly appreciated all organisations involved in the Department of Plant Science, Kulliyyah of Science, Kulliyyah of Medicine for scanning electron microscopy (SEM) service, the International Islamic University of Malaysia, Kuantan, Pahang, for their guidance and advice. Our deepest gratitude is devoted to the Ministry of Higher Education and FRGS/1/2019/STG03/ UIAM/02/2 (Project ID: 13507) for the financial support during this research.

REFERENCES

- Abbas, N., Zafar, M., Ahmad, M., Althobaiti, A. T., Ramadan, M. F., Makhkamov, T., Gafforov, Y., Khaydarov, K., Kabir, M., Sultana, S., Majeed, S., & Batool, T. (2022). Tendril anatomy: A tool for correct identification among Cucurbitaceous taxa. *Plants*, *11*(23), 3273. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants11233273
- Abreu, N., Couto, D., Barbosa, S., Gurgel, E. S. C., & Carvalho, W. V. D. (2017). Morphoanatomy of *Garcinia madruno* (Kunth) Hammel (Clusiaceae) under waterlogged conditions. *Revista Brasileira*

de Fruticultura, *39*(5), e-012. https://doi. org/10.1590/0100-29452017012

- Adedeji, O., Ajuwon, O. Y., & Babawale, O. O. (2007). Foliar epidermal studies, organographic distribution and taxonomic importance of trichomes in the family Solanaceae. *International Journal of Botany*, 3(3), 276–282. https://doi. org/10.3923/ijb.2007.276.282
- Akinsulirea, O. P., Oladipoa, O. T., Akinkunmib, O. C., Adeleyea, O. E., & Akinloyea, A. J. (2020).
 On the systematic implication of foliar epidermal micro-morphological and venational characters: Diversities in some selected Nigerian species of Combretaceae. *Acta Biologica Slovenica*, 63(1), 25-43.
- Amri, C. N. A. B. C., Mokhtar, N. A. B. M., & Shahari, R. (2019). Leaf anatomy and micromorphology of selected plant species in coastal area of Kuantan, Pahang, Malaysia. *Science Heritage Journal*, 3(2), 22-25. https://doi.org/10.26480/ gws.02.2019.22.25
- Araújo, N. D., Coelho, V. P. M., Ventrella, M. C., & de Fátima Agra, M. (2014). Leaf anatomy and histochemistry of three species of *Ficus* section Americanae supported by light and electron microscopy. *Microscopy and Microanalysis*, 20(1), 296–304. https://doi.org/10.1017/ s1431927613013743
- Badron, U. H., Talip, N., Mohamad, A. L., Affenddi,
 A. E. A., & Juhari, A. A. A. (2014). Studies on leaf venation in selected taxa of the genus *Ficus*L. (Moraceae) in Peninsular Malaysia. *Tropical Life Sciences Research*, 25(2), 111–125.
- Baranova, M. (1992). Principles of comparative stomatographic studies of flowering plants. *The Botanical Review*, 58, 49–99. https://doi. org/10.1007/BF02858543
- Barthlott, W., Neinhuis, C., Cutler, D., Ditsch, F., Meusel, I., Theisen, I., & Wilhelmi, H. (1998). Classification and terminology of plant epicuticular waxes. *Botanical Journal of the*

Linnean Society, *126*(3), 237–260. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1095-8339.1998.tb02529.x

- Beck, C. B. (2010). An introduction to plant structure and development: Plant anatomy for the twenty-first century (2nd ed.). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/ CBO9780511844683
- Begum, A. (2020). Epidermal features and petiole anatomy of leaf of *Garcinia dulcis* (Roxburgh) Kurz, newly reported species from North East India. *Plant Archives*, 20(1), 3157-3160.
- Cardoso, A. A., Pereira, F. J., Pereira, M. P., Corrêa, F. F., Castro, E. M. D., & Santos, B. R. (2013). Anatomy of stems, leaves, roots and the embryo of *Garcinia brasiliensis* Mart. – Clusiaceae. *Revista de Ciências Agrarias - Amazon Journal* of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, 56(Supplement), 23-29. https://doi.org/10.4322/ RCA.2013.076
- Coyle, H. M. (Ed.) (2004). Forensic botany: Principles and application to criminal casework (1st ed.). CRC Press. https://doi. org/10.1201/9780203484593
- Cutler, D. F. (1978). Applied plant anatomy. Longman.
- da Silva Lobato, S. M., dos Santos, L. R., da Silva, B. R. S., Paniz, F. P., Batista, B. L., & da Silva Lobato, A. K. (2020). Root-differential modulation enhances nutritional status and leaf anatomy in pigeonpea plants under water deficit. *Flora*, 262, 151519. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. flora.2019.151519
- da Silva, N. R., Florindo, J. B., Gómez, M. C., Rossatto, D. R., Kolb, R. M., & Bruno, O. M. (2015). Plant identification based on leaf midrib cross-section images using fractal descriptors. *PLOS One*, *10*(6), e0130014. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0130014
- Dalvi, V. C., Meira, R. M. S. A., Francino, D. M. T., Silva, L. C., & Azevedo, A. A. (2014). Anatomical characteristics as taxonomic tools for the species of *Curtia* and *Hockinia* (Saccifolieae-

Gentianaceae Juss.). *Plant Systematics and Evolution*, 300, 99–112. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00606-013-0863-1

- D'Arcy, W. G., & Keating, R. C. (1979). Anatomical support for the taxonomy of *Calophyllum* (Guttiferae) in Panama. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden*, 66(3), 557-571. https://doi. org/10.2307/2398849
- de Souza, T. C., dos Santos Souza, E., Dousseau, S., de Castro, E. M., & Magalhães, P. C. (2013). Seedlings of *Garcinia brasiliensis* (Clusiaceae) subjected to root flooding: Physiological, morphoanatomical, and antioxidant responses to the stress. *Aquatic Botany*, 111, 43–49. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.aquabot.2013.08.006
- Dickison, W. C. (2000). Integrative plant anatomy. Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-215170-5.X5000-6
- Edwards, C., Read, J., & Sanson, G. (2000). Characterising sclerophylly: Some mechanical properties of leaves from heath and forest. *Oecologia*, 123, 158-167. https://doi. org/10.1007/s004420051001
- Eglinton, G., & Hamilton, R. J. (1967). Leaf epicuticular waxes: The waxy outer surfaces of most plants display a wide diversity of fine structure and chemical constituents. *Science*, *156*(3780), 1322-1335. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.156.3780.1322
- Franceschi, V. R., & Nakata, P. A. (2005). Calcium oxalate in plants: Formation and function. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, 56, 41–71. https://doi. org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.56.032604.144106
- Gahagen, B. A. (2015). A taxonomic revision of Tovomita (Clusiaceae) [Doctoral dissertation, Ohio University]. OhioLINK Electronic Theses and Dissertations Center. http://rave.ohiolink. edu/etdc/view?acc num=ohiou1437438136
- Gifford, E. M., & Foster, A. S. (1989). Morphology and evolution of vascular plants. W. H. Freeman. https://doi.org/10.2307/1222641

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 687 - 705 (2023)

- Gupta, P. C., Kar, A., Sharma, N., Sethi, N., Saharia, D., & Goswami, N. K. (2018). Morphoanatomical and physicochemical evaluation of *Garcinia pedunculata* Roxb. ex. Buch.-Ham. *International Journal of Pharmacognosy*, 5(9), 630-636.
- Hickey, L. J. (1973). Classification of the architecture of dicotyledonous leaves. American Journal of Botany, 60(1), 17–33. https://doi. org/10.1002/j.1537-2197.1973.tb10192.x
- Ibrahim, H. M., Abdo, N. A., Masaudi, E. S. A., & Al-Gifri, A. N. A. (2016). Morphological, epidermal and anatomical properties of *Datura* Linn. leaf in Sana'a city-Yemen and its taxonomical significance. *Asian Journal of Plant Science*, 6(4), 69-80.
- Johansen, D. A. (1940). *Plant microtechnique*. McGraw Hill Book Company.
- Leroux, O. (2012). Collenchyma: A versatile mechanical tissue with dynamic cell walls. *Annals of Botany*, 110(6), 1083-1098. https:// doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcs186
- Lim, T. K. (2012a). Garcinia mangostana. In Edible medicinal and non-medicinal plants (Vol. 2, pp. 83–108). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-1764-0 15
- Lim, T. K. (2012b). Garcinia malaccensis. In Edible medicinal and non-medicinal plants (Vol. 2, pp. 80-82). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-1764-0_14
- Lim, T. K. (2012c). Garcinia hombroniana. In Edible medicinal and non-medicinal plants (Vol. 2, pp. 56-58). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-1764-0 8
- Maffei, M. (1996). Chemotaxonomic significance of leaf wax alkanes in the Gramineae. *Biochemical Systematics and Ecology*, 24(1), 53-64. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0305-1978(95)00102-6
- Maiti, R., Satya, P., Rajikumar, D., & Ramaswamy, A. (2012). *Crop plant anatomy*. CABI.

- Mantovani, A., Pereira, T. E., & Coelho, M. A. N. (2009). Leaf midrib outline as a diagnostic character for taxonomy in *Anthurium* section *Urospadix* subsection *Flavescentiviridia* (Araceae). *Hoehnea*, 36(2), 269-277. https:// doi.org/10.1590/S2236-89062009000200005
- Medri, C., Medri, M. E., Ruas, E. A., de Souza, L. A., Medri, P. S., Sayhun, S., Bianchini, E., & Pimenta, J. A. (2011). Morpho-anatomy of vegetative organs in seedlings of *Aegiphila sellowiana* Cham. (Lamiaceae) subject to flooding. *Acta Botanica Brasilica*, 25(2), 445-454. https://doi. org/10.1590/S0102-33062011000200020
- Metcalfe, C. R., & Chalk, L. (1950). *Anatomy of the dicotyledons* (Vol. 2). Clarendon Press.
- Metcalfe, C. R., & Chalk, L. (1957). Anatomy of the dicotyledons (Vol. 1). Clarendon Press.
- Mimura, M. R. M., Salatino, M. L. F., Salatino, A., & Baumgratz, J. F. A. (1998). Alkanes from foliar epicuticular waxes of *Huberia* species: Taxonomic implications. *Biochemical Systematics and Ecology*, 26(5), 581-588. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0305-1978(97)00131-2
- Nazre, M., Clyde, M. M., & Latiff, A. (2007). Phylogenetic relationships of locally cultivated Garcinia species with some wild relatives. Malaysian Applied Biology Journal, 36(1), 31–40.
- Nazre, M., Newman, M. F., Pennington, R. T., & Middleton, D. J. (2018). Taxonomic revision of *Garcinia* section *Garcinia* (Clusiaceae). *Phytotaxa*, 373(1), 1–52. https://doi. org/10.11646/phytotaxa.373.1.1
- Nnamani, C. V., & Nwosu, M. O. (2012). Taxonomic significance of the occurrence and distribution of secretory canals and tanned cells in tissues of some members of the Nigerian Clusiaceae. *Journal of Biology, Agriculture and Healthcare*, 2(10), 106-115.
- Noor-Syaheera, M. Y., Noraini, T., Radhiah, A. K., & Nurul-Aini, C. A. C. (2015). Leaf anatomical

characteristics of *Avicennia* L. and some selected taxa in Acanthaceae. *Malayan Nature Journal*, 67(1), 81-94.

- Noraini, T., & Cutler, D. F. (2009). Leaf anatomical and micromorphological characters of some Malaysian *Parashorea* (Dipterocarpaceae). *Journal of Tropical Forest Science*, 21(2), 156-167.
- Noraini, T., Ruzi, A. R., Ismail, B. S., Hani, B. U., Salwa, S., & Azeyanty, J. A. (2016). Petiole vascular bundles and its taxonomic value in the tribe Dipterocarpeae (Dipterocarpaceae). *Sains Malaysiana*, 45(2), 247-253.
- Noraini, T., Ruzi, A. R., Nurnida, M. K., & Hajar, N. R. (2012). Systematic significance of leaf anatomy in *Johannesteijsmannia* H. E. Moore (Arecaceae). *Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science*, 35(2), 223–235.
- Norfaizal, G. M., & Latiff, A. (2013). Leaf anatomical characteristics of *Bouea*, *Mangifera* and *Spondias* (Anacardiaceae) in Malaysia. In *AIP Conference Proceedings* (Vol. 1571, No. 1, pp. 394-403). AIP Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4858690
- Nurnida, M. K. (2012). Anatomi dan mikromorfologi daun family Rhizophoraceae [Anatomy and micromorphology of the leaves of the Rhizophoraceae family] [Unpublished Master's thesis]. Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia.
- Nurshahidah, M. R., Noraini, T., Nurnida, M. K., Ruzi, A. R., Amalia, Nabilah, M., & Mohd-Arrabe', A. B. (2011, July 11-13). Systematic significance of leaf venation in genus Carallia [Paper presentation]. Proceedings of the Universiti Malaysia Terengganu 10th International Annual Symposium (UMTAS 2011), Kuala Terengganu, Malaysia. https:// www.researchgate.net/publication/331272354_ Systematic_Significance_of_Leaf_Venation_ in Genus Carallia
- Nurul-Aini, C. A. C., Noraini, T., Chung, R. C. K., & Ruzi, A. R. (2010, November). *Nilai taksonomi*

ciri peruratan daun bagi spesies terpilih daripada genus Grewia dan Microcos (Grewioideae) [Taxonomic value of leaf veining characteristics for selected species of the genus Grewia and Microcos (Grewioideae)] [Paper presentation]. Proceedings of the 11th Symposium for the Malaysian Society of Applied Biology, Kota Bharu, Malaysia. https://www.academia. edu/3865972/NURUL_AINI_C_A_C_ NORAINI_T_CHUNG_R_C_K_and_ RUZI_A_R_2010_Nilai_Taksonomi_ciri_ peruratan_daun_bagi_setiap_spesies_terpilih_ daripada_genus_Grewia_dan_Microcos_ Malvaceae_Grewioideae_Pp_151_156

- Nurul-Aini, C. A. C., Noraini, T., Chung, R. C. K., Nurhanim, M. N., & Ruzi, M. (2013). Systematic significance of petiole anatomical characteristics in *Microcos* L. (Malvaceae: Grewioideae). *Malayan Nature Journal*, 65(2&3), 145–170.
- Palkar, R. S., Janarthanam, M. K., & Krishnan, S. (2017). Taxonomic identity and occurrence of *Garcinia spicata* and *Garcinia talbotii* (Clusiaceae) in Peninsular India. *Rheedea*, 27(2), 143–151. https://doi.org/10.22244/ rheedea.2017.27.2.28
- Pathirana, P. S. K., & Herat, T. R. (2004). Comparative vegetative anatomical study of the genus *Garcinia* L. (Clusiaceae/Gutiferae) in Sri Lanka. *Ceylon Journal of Science*, 32, 39-66.
- Perrone, R., Rosa, P., Castro, O., & Colombo, P. (2013). Leaf and stem anatomy in eight *Hypericum* species (Clusiaceae). Acta Botanica Croatica, 72(2), 269-286. https://doi. org/10.2478/botcro-2013-0008
- Priya, C., & Hari, N. (2019, October 3-5). Anatomical and histochemical analysis of leaf and petiole in Garcinia mangostana L. [Paper presentation]. International Seminar - Life Sciences for Sustainable Development: Issues and Challenges, Thiruvananthapuram, India. https:// www.researchgate.net/publication/361244191_ anatomical and histochemical analysis of

leaf_and_petiole_in_Garcinia_mangostana_l_
anatomical_and_histochemical_analysis_of_
leaf_and_petiole_in_Garcinia_mangostana_l

- Priya, C., Koshy, K. K. K., & Hari, N. (2018). Taxonomic relationship on *Garcinia* species based on anatomical characteristics. *Life Sciences International Research Journal*, 5(2), 104-109.
- Qosim, W. A., Poerwanto, R., Wattimena, G. A., & Witjaksono (2011). Alteration of leaf anatomy of mangosteen (*Garcinia mangostana* L.) regenerants *in vitro* by gamma irradiation. *Plant Mutation Reports*, 2(3), 4-11.
- Raffi, A., Abdullah, N. A. P., Yunus, N. S. M., & Go, R. (2019). Preliminary foliar anatomical assessment of our *Vanilla* species (Orchidaceae) from Perak, Malaysia. *Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science*, 42(2), 807-816.
- Roth-Nebelsick, A., Uhl, D., Mosbrugger, V., & Kerp, H. (2001). Evolution and function of leaf venation architecture: A review. *Annals of Botany*, 87(5), 553–566. https://doi.org/10.1006/ anbo.2001.1391
- Sass, J. E. (1958). *Botanical microtechnique* (3rd ed.). The Iowa State College Press.
- Shah, S. N., Ahmad, M., Zafar, M., Razzaq, A., Malik, K., Rashid, N., Ullah, F., Iqbal, M., & Zaman, W. (2018). Foliar epidermal micromorphology and its taxonomic implications in some selected species of Athyriaceae. *Microscopy Research* and Technique, 81(8), 902-913. https://doi. org/10.1002/jemt.23055
- Simpson, M. G. (2020). *Plant systematics* (3rd ed.). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/C2015-0-04664-0
- Sokoloff, D. D., Jura-Morawiec, J., Zoric, L., & Fay, M. F. (2021). Plant anatomy: At the heart of modern botany. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*, 195(3), 249–253. https://doi. org/10.1093/botlinnean/boaa110

- Sreelakshmi, V. V., Sruthy, E. P. M., & Shereena, J. (2014). Relationship between the leaf area and taxonomic importance of foliar stomata. *International Journal of Research in Applied*, *Natural and Social Sciences*, 2(7), 53-60.
- Stebbins, G. L., & Khush, G. S. (1961). Variation in the organization of the stomatal complex in the leaf epidermis of monocotyledons and its bearing on the phylogeny. *American Journal of Botany*, 48(1), 51–59. https://doi.org/10.2307/2439595
- Stefano, M., Papini, A., & Brighigna, L. (2008). A new quantitative classification of ecological types in the bromeliad genus *Tillandsia* (Bromeliaceae) based on trichomes. *Revista de Biología Tropical*, 56(1), 191–203. https://doi.org/10.15517/rbt. v56i1.5518
- Stevens, P. F. (2007). Clusiaceae-Guttiferae. In K. Kubitzki (Ed.), *The families and genera of* vascular plants: Flowering plants. Eudicots (pp. 48–66). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-32219-1_10
- Susilowati, A., Novriyanti, E., Rachmat, H. H., Rangkuti, A. B., Harahap, M. M., Ginting, I. M., Kaban, N. S., & Iswanto, A. H. (2022). Foliar stomata characteristics of tree species in a university green open space. *Biodiversitas*, 23(3), 1482-1489. https://doi.org/10.13057/ biodiv/d230336
- Tadavi, S. C., & Bhadane, V. V. (2014). Taxonomic significance of the rachis, petiole and petiolule anatomy in some Euphorbiaceae. *Biolife*, 2(3), 850-857.
- Tipmontiane, K., Srinual, A., & Kesonbua, W. (2018). Systematic significance of leaf anatomical characteristics in some species of *Mangifera* L. (Anacardiaceae) in Thailand. *Tropical Natural History*, 18(2), 68-83.
- Ullah, F., Zafar, M., Ahmad, M., Shah, S. N., Razzaq, A., Sohail, A., Zaman, W., Çelik, A., Ayaz, A., & Sultana, S. (2018). A systematic approach to

the investigation of foliar epidermal anatomy of subfamily Caryophylloideae (Caryophyllaceae). *Flora*, 246-247, 61-70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. flora.2018.07.006

- Van Cotthem, W. R. J. (1970). A classification of stomatal types. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*, 63(3), 235-246. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1095-8339.1970.tb02321.x
- Vieira, C., Fetzer, S., Sauer, S. K., Evangelista, S., & Averbeck, B. (2001). Pro- and anti-inflammatory actions of ricinoleic acid: Similarities and differences with capsaicin. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology, 364, 87-95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002100100427
- Wang, Z., Sun, F., Xie, S., Wang, J., Li, Y., Dong, J., Sun, M., & Sun, B. (2018). A new species of *Garcinia* (Clusiaceae) from the middle Miocene of Fujian, China, and a phytogeographic analysis. *Geological Journal*, 54(3), 1317-1330. https:// doi.org/10.1002/gj.3228
- Watson, L. (1962). The taxonomic significance of stomatal distribution and morphology in

Epacridaceae. *New Phytologist*, *61*(1), 36–40. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1962. tb06270.x

- Wu, C.-C., & Kuo-Huang, L. (1997). Calcium crystals in the leaves of some of Moraceae. *Botanica Bulletin of Academia Sinica*, 38, 97–10.
- Wulansari, T. Y. I., Agustiani, E. L., Sunaryo, Tihurua, E. F., & Widoyanti (2020). Struktur anatomi daun sebagai bukti dalam pembatasan takson tumbuhan berbunga: Studi kasus 12 suku tumbuhan berbunga Indonesia [Leaf anatomical structure as evidence in flowering plants limitation: A case study of 12 Indonesian flowering plant families]. *Buletin Kebun Raya*, 23(2), 146–161. https://doi.org/10.14203/bkr. v23i2.266
- Zetter, R. (1984). Morphologische Untersuchungen an Fagus-BlaÈttern aus dem Neogen von OÈsterreich [Morphological studies on Fagus leaves from the Neogene of Austria]. BeitraÈge zur PalaÈontologie von OÈsterreich, 11, 207-288.



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

The Effect of Edible Coatings (Spirulina and Chitosan) on the Quality and Shelf Life of Starfruit (*Averrhoa carambola* L. cv. B10) Throughout Storage

Zahrah-Izati Azhar Shapawi¹, Siti Hajar Ariffin^{1,2*}, Rosnah Shamsudin^{1,2}, Muhammad Syahmeer How¹ and Ahmad Hafiz Baharom³

¹Department of Process and Food Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia ²Laboratory of Halal Services, Halal Products Research Institute, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia ³Malaysian Agriculture Research and Development Institute, Persiaran Mardi-UPM, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

The edible coating is one of the preservation methods widely applied by food industries as it is beneficial in suppressing respiration, minimising moisture loss, and reducing food wastage. This study investigates the effects of edible coating (*Spirulina platensis* and chitosan) on the quality and shelf life of B10 throughout storage at room temperature 27°C. The quality analysis of colour (L*, a*, b*, and hue), browning index, fresh weight and physical appearance were evaluated on days 0, 4, 8, 12, and 14. There was a significant difference for all quality analyses between storage days (p < 0.05). The physical appearance showed that at day 8, B10 coated with spirulina maintained the greenish colour while chitosan-coated and controlled turned the fruit bright yellowish, indicating ripening. Control samples were observed to have major browning at day 12, whereas samples coated with spirulina and chitosan only showed early signs of browning. Samples with spirulina coating

ARTICLE INFO Article history: Received: 25 November 2022 Accepted: 20 February 2023 Published: 16 May 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.19

E-mail addresses:

gs60347@student.upm.edu.my (Zahrah-Izati Azhar Shapawi) hajarariffin@upm.edu.my (Siti Hajar Ariffin) rosnahs@upm.edu.my (Rosnah Shamsudin) syahmeerhow@upm.edu.my (Muhammad Syahmeer How) ahafiz@mardi.gov.my (Ahmad Hafiz Baharom) * Corresponding author have the least a* (greenness-redness) and b* (blueness-yellowness) values, which showed that spirulina was able to slow down the ripening process in comparison to chitosan and control (p < 0.05). For the hue value, samples with chitosan coating showed the least colour changes (p < 0.05), followed by spirulina and control with 9.04, 9.43, and 30.82° , respectively. It proved that coated samples provide the best results in slowing

ISSN: 1511-3701 e-ISSN: 2231-8542 down the colour changes and browning of the carambola compared to the control. Besides, the regression analysis resulted in a good fitness (R^2 near 1) for browning and weight loss analysis for all coatings, which were agreed to be reliable and had a good predictive indicator power when the storage days were extended. Hence, these results would be potentially useful for the fresh produce industry to prolong the shelf-life of B10 during distribution, transportation, and commercialisation.

Keywords: Carambola, chitosan, colour, quality, regression analysis, shelf-life, *Spirulina platensis*, weight loss

INTRODUCTION

Averrhoa carambola L. cv. B10 is a member of oxalidaceae with star-shaped and greenish-waxy skin during unripe, which turns yellowish during ripening. The flesh and skin are crisp and juicy, while the amount of oxalic acid content mostly influences the taste of the fruit. Consumers like starfruit due to its sweet and sour taste; it also contains abundant antioxidants such as carotenoids, vitamin C, and vitamin E (Gol et al., 2015). Malaysia is the main producer and exporter of carambolas. This fruit is exported to Europe, such as the Netherlands, France, Switzerland, Canada, and other countries in Asia, such as Singapore and Hong Kong, with annual mean export values of RM 24 million (Ibrahim, 2019). It makes carambola one of Malaysia's leading exports that help increase economic growth.

However, due to the unstable internal environment and temperature along the supply chain, the fruits will be exposed to mechanical injuries, microbial attacks, and pathogen contamination. The quality of starfruit can be easily degraded due to the high moisture content level, which will lead to spoilage (Gol et al., 2015). Benkeblia (2018) reported that green and yellow starfruit are easily damaged and can easily bruise. It was also reported that, when starfruit was stored at 16 and 25°C, necrotic lesions, browning, and shrivelling of the ribs appeared at two and three weeks of the storage, respectively. The outbreak of foodborne illness caused by the microbial attack on the fruit can harm consumers as the fruit is often eaten raw (Warriner et al., 2009). Full attention is needed from the producer, storage operator, processor, and retailer when handling the postharvest fruit to maintain the quality and lengthen the shelf-life to reduce waste and food loss (Mahajan et al., 2014).

Various postharvest physical, chemical, and gaseous treatments can be applied to maintain the fresh-like quality without changing the nutritional value of fresh produce. The food industry widely uses physical treatment such as coating, and it has proven its capability of improving food quality and prolonging shelf-life (Lin & Zhao, 2007). The edible coating improves mechanical strength barrier properties and controls the food components' mass transfer (Khwaldia et al., 2004). It can control the gas exchange and oxidation of food products. Besides, specific properties of the edible coating are accountable for decelerating the organic vapour, such as solvent and/or aroma; water vapour; solutes, such as salts, lipids, food additives and pigments; and gaseous such as carbon dioxide, oxygen, and nitrogen (Kumar & Neeraj, 2019).

There are a few edible coatings: lipidbased, polysaccharide-based, and proteinbased. Chitosan coating is a polysaccharidebased coating made from the shell component of crustaceans. It has shown effectiveness in decreasing weight loss, delaying ripening and changes in colour, titratable acidity, and pH and improving the texture of frozen-thawed strawberries (Han et al., 2004). According to Vargas et al. (2006), chitosan can enhance antimicrobial activity and improve water vapour resistance, thus preserving the quality of strawberries better than the uncoated samples. For application on carambola, 0.3% of chitosan obtained significant results in maintaining the quality of carambola as it is proven to delay weight loss, decay percentage, titratable acidity, pH, total soluble solid, sugar accumulation, pigment degradation, and preserving higher concentration of total phenolics content besides excellent in inhibiting enzyme activity (Gol et al., 2015). Despite this, a higher concentration of chitosan in the coating solutions increased anaerobic respiration, followed by rises in fruit weight loss. In another study, chitosan coating was concluded to have good antibacterial and antifungal properties that could minimise bacteria and pathogen attacks and help slow down decay (Kerch, 2015).

Other than chitosan, *Spirulina platensis*, blue-green microalgae is developed to improve the productive performance of the cultivated plant and fresh produce, such development of structural biofilms for fruits coating during postharvest (Byantara & Dianursanti, 2021). Its protein-based coating is safe to consume as a nutritional supplement due to its chemical properties, including phytohormone, antibacterial, and antifungal compounds. De Oliveira et al. (2020) reported in the previous study that 1% S. platensis was able to slow down the colour changes and maintained sugar levels and ascorbic acid content while reducing the astringency after taste of carambola in comparison to that 0, 2, 3, and 4% of coating concentration. A study of guar-based edible coating with S. platensis and Aloe vera extract on mango by Ebrahimi and Rastegar (2020) showed that the coating with spirulina shows significant results in higher firmness and improving the bioactive compound (ascorbic acid, phenol, and flavonoids) throughout storage in comparison to control (uncoated) samples, thus help in maintaining the quality and further the shelf-life.

However, there is a lack of study on *S. platensis* and chitosan coatings on carambola B10. Thus, the effect of edible coatings (*S. platensis* and chitosan) on the quality and shelf-life of carambola B10 is determined in this study.

MATERIALS AND METHODS Sample Preparation

Starfruit (*Averrhoa Carambola* L. cv. B10) index 2 was freshly plucked from the same tree early in the morning before being transported from Kuala Pilah, Negeri Sembilan, Malaysia to Universiti Putra Malaysia (UPM), Serdang, Selangor by car in a three-hour journey. Starfruits, index 2, were harvested around 50 to 55 days after the fruit sets. Samples were carefully sorted to ensure uniformity in colour, size, and maturity with approximately no defect. No defect means the fruit must be free from pest attack and any bruise due to mechanical injury or limited to three or below spots (n \leq 3) for each fruit. The samples were washed with 0.05% sodium hypochlorite (NaOCl, Systerm, Malaysia) before coating and air dried on the drying racks. Three sets of samples (including control) were prepared, and each set contained three replications.

Preparation of Spirulina and Chitosan Coatings

Spirulina coating solution was prepared following the method by Cardoso et al. (2017). A total of 4% of starch (Systerm, Malaysia), 0.66% spirulina powder (JoyMix, Malaysia), and 0.66% gelatine (Halagel, Malaysia) were added into a solution containing 1% of glycerol (Systerm, Malaysia) and 93% of distilled water. The solution was heated on a heating plate and stirred for 15 min until a boiling point was reached. The coating was covered with the stretch film packaging wrap and was left at room temperature ($26 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C) to reach homogeneity.

The chitosan coating solution was prepared following the method by Gol et al. (2015). The 0.3% (w/v) of chitosan coating solution was prepared by adding 0.3 g of chitosan powder (Chemiz, Malaysia) into 100 ml of distilled water and 0.5 ml (v/v) of glacial acetic acid (R&M Chemicals, Malaysia). The 0.75% of glycerol monostearate (EvaChem, Malaysia) was then mixed into the solution, which acts as a plasticiser to enhance the flexibility and strength of the chitosan coating. A magnetic stirrer was used to constantly stir the solution at room temperature $(26 \pm 1^{\circ}C)$ for 24 hr to achieve complete dispersion. Then, 1 N of sodium hydroxide (ORC Chem Technologies Sdn. Bhd., Malaysia) was added until the pH reached 5.6 and lastly, 0.1 ml Tween 80 (EvaChem, Malaysia) was inserted to stabilise the mixtures.

The fruit samples were then directly dipped into the spirulina and chitosan coating for 2 min, and samples dipped into distilled water served as control. The samples were placed on the cooling racks and let air dried at $26 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C before being transferred into a box with tissue paper padding at the bottom. Each sample was wrapped with tissue paper to avoid physical contact between one fruit with another. Samples were left at room temperature $(26 \pm 1^{\circ}C)$ until the end of storage days. The coated fruits were subjected to changes throughout storage, and the physical appearance, colour, and fresh weight were observed at days 0, 4, 8, 12, and 14.

Physical Appearance

An image of the samples was taken inside the black box. The LED light ring was placed on top of the box with the light setting of power 12 W, white colour, outer diameter 26 cm, and inner diameter 20 cm. Images were taken using a digital camera with a fixed setting (Table 1). The images were taken on days 0, 4, 8, 12, and 14. The physical appearance of the samples was observed.

Table 1

Digital camera setting for a physical image of B10

Options	Settings	
Megapixels	12 MP	
Aperture size	F1.8	
Focal length	26 mm	
Optical zoom	1.7x	
Shutter speed	¹ / ₂ s	
Flash	Off	
Focus pixel	Autofocus	

Colour

The colour of the starfruits was measured at three points (a top, middle, and bottom) using a Minolta Chroma meter CR-400 (ECMinolta, Japan) and the average values were taken. The value of L*, a*, b*, hue, and browning index was calculated. A positive L* value indicates lightness, while a negative L* reading represents darkness. The a* value represents redness to greenness (redness is towards the positive value while greenness is towards the negative value). Besides, the b* value shows yellowness to blueness (yellowness is towards the positive value while blueness is towards the negative value). The hue value was calculated to represent the colour changes of the fruit where the result of $0^{\circ} = \text{red purple}, 90^{\circ} = \text{yellow}, 180^{\circ} = \text{blue-}$ green, and 270° = blue. The hue value was calculated using Equation 1. The browning of the sample during storage was carried out by calculating the browning index (BI) shown in Equation 2.

Hue angle,
$$\theta$$
 value = tan⁻¹ |b*/a*|
(Equation 1)

Browning index (BI) =
$$[100 (x - 0.31)]$$

/ 0.17
(Equation 2)

where, $x = (a^* + 1.75 L^*) / (5.645 L^* + a^* - 0.3012 b^*)$ according to Ruangchakpet and Sajjaanantakul (2007).

Fresh Weight Loss

The fresh weight of the samples was taken using an analytical weighing balance (OHAUS Pioneer, USA). The percentage of fresh weight loss was calculated by Equation 3.

$$W_{loss} = ([W_{initial} - W_{final}]/W_{initial}) \times 100\%$$
(Equation 3)

 W_{loss} is the weight loss in unit percentage, $W_{initial}$ is the initial sample weight in unit gram (g), and W_{final} is the final weight of the samples in unit gram (g).

Statistical Analysis

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed using RStudio (version 4.1.2) statistical tools to compare the mean difference between groups. The post hoc test was performed using Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) to find the least significant difference (p < 0.05) between the compared groups. Linear regression used the first-order kinetic model to observe the relationship between experimental and theoretical data for all the quality tests.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Physical Appearance

The physical appearance of the fruits is the most important quality attribute of fresh and minimally processed produce, where consumers' primary concerns are the size, colour, and defects on the skin finish (Aked, 2000). Spirulina coating maintained the greenish colour, while chitosan coating and control had turned bright yellowish on day 8 of storage (Table 2). The brownish spot on the fruit surface was believed to be an oxidative browning reaction polyphenol oxidase (PPO) oxidises phenolic content into melanin, a brown pigment (Ding & Yap, 2014). The control sample had developed major browning on the skin of the carambola at day 12, besides spirulina and chitosan coatings only showed

Table 2

The physical appearance of B10 coated with 0.66% of spirulina and 0.3% of chitosan coating throughout storage days 0, 4, 8, 12, and 14



Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 707 - 720 (2023)

early signs of browning development. Spirulina maintained the greenish colour and minimised browning until day 12 but had shown signs of decay compared to chitosan. It showed that spirulina could slow down ripening by minimising colour changes of the carambola but had a poor mechanical barrier, which was susceptible to microbial attack. The control showed major decay on day 12, and the vigorous result showed on day 14 to all samples. Microbial growth on the fruit was due to the decay relative to the gradual respiration and high production of ethylene gas resulting from ripening (Mahajan et al., 2014). According to Butler et al. (1996), polysaccharide properties in chitosan coating act as a good mechanical barrier that helps decrease decay and prevent pathogen infection.

Colour

There were significant differences for L* values in all treatments between the storage days of B10 (p < 0.05), and it showed a decrease in the trend as the storage days increased (Figure 1). The lightness (L*) ranged from 0 to 100, while lower values indicate darker colour (Ding & Yap, 2014). However, there was no significant difference (p > 0.05) in L* values between coated and uncoated samples on the final day of storage. On the other hand, a* value (rednessgreenness) and b* value (yellownessblueness) showed significant differences (p < 0.05) between coatings and storage days. The a* value increased (to redness) as the storage days increased because the ripening process took place. Spirulina coating had

the least changes of a* value from the initial to the final storage days, followed by chitosan and control, which proved that spirulina could slow down the ripening process compared to chitosan and control. Suhaimi et al. (2021) agreed that starfruit coated with pectin (PE), maltodextrin (M), and 100 ppm sodium chloride (SC) mixtures had maintained the greenness (positive a*) value (p < 0.05) compared to uncoated starfruit. On the other hand, the b* value increased towards intense-yellowish colour, but spirulina had the least difference in b* value from day 0 to day 14, which is 6.36, 18.3, and 9.85 for spirulina, chitosan, and control, respectively (Zaki et al., 2012) supported that slowly increased in the b* values were obtained by the carambola coated with chitosan: stearin compared to uncoated carambola.

For the hue value, chitosan coating had the least colour changes (p < 0.05), followed by spirulina and control with the value of 9.04, 9.43, and 30.82°, respectively (Figure 2). The results proved that samples with coatings could minimise colour changes compared with control samples throughout storage days. Colour changes in fruits could be due to dehydration and moisture loss caused by the nonenzymatic browning, caramelisation, and denaturation of proteins in the fruit (Assis & Britto, 2014). A similar result was obtained from the previous study, where samples coated with pectin, maltodextrin, and 100, 200, and 300 ppm of sodium chloride recorded higher hue values compared to control samples due to the coating properties that were able to

reduce ripening process of fruits (Suhaimi et al., 2021). In line with the physical appearance result, there was a significant difference (p < 0.05) in the browning index between coated samples and the control. On day 14, spirulina and chitosan coating obtained a low browning index of 52.08 and 98.53, respectively, compared to the control, 107.20. There was also a significant difference (p < 0.05) between the browning index and storage days (Figure 3). In the study of strawberries coated with *Aloe*



Figure 1. L* a* b* results for B10 coated with 0.66% spirulina and 0.3% chitosan at days 0, 4, 8, 12, and 14 of the storage days

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 46 (2): 707 - 720 (2023)

714

The Effect of Edible Coatings on Starfruit



Figure 2. Hue values for B10 coated with 0.66% spirulina and 0.3% chitosan at days 0, 4, 8, 12, and 14 of the storage days



Figure 3. Browning index for B10 coated with 0.66% spirulina and 0.3% chitosan at days 0, 4, 8, 12, and 14 of the storage days

vera, uncoated ripe strawberries tend to become darker, less vivid, and browning compared to coated strawberries (Nasrin et al., 2017). It shows that coated fruits can delay oxidative browning, thus improving the quality.

Fresh Weight Loss

The percentage of fresh weight loss during storage is p < 0.05, while there was no significant difference in fresh weight loss

of starfruit between different coatings (Figure 4). The mean weight loss showed an increase corresponding with storage days. It showed that spirulina coating had lower water vapour permeability properties than chitosan, resulting in reduced transpiration and weight loss (Hassan et al., 2018). It was agreed by Rastegar and Atrash (2021) that samples coated with spirulina with sodium alginate had resulted in low water loss compared to the uncoated sample of



Figure 4. Fresh weight loss (%) for B10 coated with 0.66% spirulina and 0.3% chitosan at days 0, 4, 8, 12, and 14 of the storage days

mango fruit in cold storage. Cardoso et al. (2017) also supported that bell pepper incorporated with spirulina had lower mass loss throughout 14 days of storage. The study of carambola from Karamsad, a village of Anand District, Gujarat, India, proved that carambola coated with 0.3% chitosan had the least weight loss (p < 0.05) compared to gum arabica and alginate coatings due to its strong barrier properties in minimising the moisture loss (Gol et al., 2015).

Regression Analysis

The a* and b* were regressions of coefficients, while R^2 was the coefficient of determination obtained from linear regression analysis (Table 3). The range of R^2 values in all samples was from 0.16 to 0.99. Browning index and weight loss analysis obtained significant results (p < 0.05) for the determination coefficient at all coatings with $R^2 > 80\%$. It showed that the samples had a good correlation between

models and experimental data. Thus, it could access the predictive power of the sampling trend when storage is extended (Ozili, 2022). Besides, low R^2 values such as L* for chitosan coating and b* for control samples indicate a poor relationship between the dependent variable (L* or b*) and the independent variable (storage days).

Furthermore, R^2 values for quality tests of a* and hue angle on chitosan coating were the lowest compared to spirulina and control samples. It might be due to the internal reaction, such as initiating the metabolic reaction in the chitosan-coated sample, which led to drastic changes in the colour throughout storage corresponding to the data obtained in the colour analysis. Rahman et al. (2013) reported in the previous study that papaya stored at 30°C encountered an initiation of anaerobic respiration rate, which caused a sudden increase in the respiratory quotients that were an indication of fermentation threshold, which affected the low R^2 value.

0	Coating —	Regression	Regression coefficients	
Quality analysis		a*	b*	Kž
	Spirulina	24.878	0.386	0.68
L*	Chitosan	29.333	-0.241	0.16
	Control	31.143	-0.579	0.78
	Spirulina	-1.861	1.431	0.94*
a*	Chitosan	8.299	1.616	0.69
	Control	9.284	2.247	0.99*
	Spirulina	32.028	0.154	0.87
b*	Chitosan	35.112	1.315	0.99*
	Control	36.197	0.602	0.32
	Spirulina	76.349	-0.775	0.95*
Hue angle	Chitosan	72.022	-0.861	0.51
	Control	76.400	-2.175	0.99*
	Spirulina	2.716	3.921	0.91*
Browning index	Chitosan	17.034	6.368	0.92*
	Control	31.413	6.426	0.99*
	Spirulina	-2.606	2.144	0.94*
Weight loss	Chitosan	-1.371	1.864	0.83*
	Control	-5.114	2.804	0.82*

Table 3

The regression coefficient for analysis of L^* , a^* , b^* , hue angle, browning index, and weight loss for B10 coated with 0.66% spirulina and 0.3% chitosan

Note. The regression analysis was significant (p < 0.05), which indicates that the changes in predicted values were correlated with the changes in the experimental variable

CONCLUSION

By observing the samples' physical appearance, spirulina coating maintained the greenish colour, while chitosan-coated and control samples had turned yellowish on day 8. Despite this, spirulina and control started to decay on day 12, which showed that spirulina could reduce ripening but had a poor mechanical barrier compared to chitosan. Immense browning appeared on the control sample, while an early sign of browning had only shown on spirulina and chitosan coatings at day 12 with the value of 52.08, 98.53, and 107.20 BI, respectively, with symptoms of decay and necrotic lesion. The carambola's lightness (L*) decreased while a* and b* increased in values throughout storage. In addition, coated samples resulted in a lower intensity of hue angle, which were 9.04 and 9.43° for chitosan and spirulina coatings, respectively, compared to control with the value of 30.82°. Samples coated with spirulina showed the least change at a*, b*, and hue angle analysis compared to chitosan and control samples. Gradual weight loss

(p < 0.05) was determined for all samples throughout storage, but the uncoated sample exhibited the highest weight loss on the final storage day compared to the coated samples. These proved that the coated samples could minimise physical and colour change, including weight loss relative to the storage days (p < 0.05). Browning and fresh weight loss showed better fitness with the independent variable (storage days) with the significant value (p < 0.05), R^2 > 80% in the regression analysis. Hence, these results would have the potential for commercialisation and exports between short-distance regions due to edible coatings' performance in maintaining quality and prolonging the shelf-life of the fruits at 27°C. Further studies on the storage of carambola under low temperatures would be further conducted to improve the export quality of carambola between distant freight.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Geran Inisiatif Putra Muda (GP-IPM/2020/9689800) for funding the project and the facilities provided by Universiti Putra Malaysia to conduct research activities.

REFERENCES

- Aked, J. (2000). Fruits and vegetables. In D. Kilcast & P. Subramaniam (Eds.), *The stability and shelflife of food* (pp. 255–278). Woodhead Publishing Limited.
- Assis, O. B. G., & de Britto, D. (2014). Review: Edible protective coatings for fruits: Fundamentals and applications. *Brazilian Journal of Food Technology*, 17(2), 87–97. https://doi. org/10.1590/bjft.2014.019

- Benkeblia, N. (2018). Unlocking the full potential of carambola (Averrhoa carambola L.) as a food source: Botany, growing, physiology and postharvest technology. In C. L. Beckford (Ed.), Agriculture, food, and food security: Some contemporary global issues (pp. 131–158). Nova Science Publisher.
- Butler, B. L., Vergano, P. J., Testin, R. F., Bunn, J. M., & Wiles, J. L. (1996). Mechanical and barrier properties of edible chitosan films as affected by composition and storage. *Journal* of Food Science, 61(5), 953–955. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2621.1996.tb10909.x
- Byantara, P., & Dianursanti. (2021). Utilization of Spirulina platensis microalgae as edible coating to maintain quality of fresh strawberry (Fragaria sp.). In AIP Conference Proceeding (Vol. 2344, No 1, p. 020016). AIP Publishing. https://doi.org/ https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0047579
- Cardoso, T., Demiate, I. M., & Danesi, E. D. G. (2017). Biodegradable films with Spirulina platensis as coating for Cambuci peppers (Capsicum sp.). American Journal of Food Technology, 12(4), 236–244. https://doi. org/10.3923/ajft.2017.236.244
- de Oliveira, L. M., de Oliveira, Á. M. F., Araújo, R. H. C. R., Dias, G. A., de Medeiros Teodósio, A. E. M., de Lima, J. F., da Silva Barbosa, L., & Guedes, A. W. (2020). Spirulina platensis coating for the conservation of pomegranate. *AIMS Agriculture and Food*, 5(1), 76–85. https:// doi.org/10.3934/agrfood.2020.1.76
- Ding, P., & Yap, S. L. (2014). Browning assessment methods and polyphenol oxidase in UV-C irradiated Berangan banana fruit. *International Food Research Journal*, 21(4), 1667–1674.
- Ebrahimi, F., & Rastegar, S. (2020). Preservation of mango fruit with guar-based edible coatings enriched with *Spirulina platensis* and *Aloe vera* extract during storage at ambient temperature. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 265, 109258. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scienta.2020.109258
- Gol, N. B., Chaudhari, M. L., & Rao, T. V. R. (2015). Effect of edible coatings on quality and shelf life of carambola (*Averrhoa carambola* L.) fruit during storage. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 52, 78–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13197-013-0988-9
- Han, C., Zhao, Y., Leonard, S. W., & Traber, M. G. (2004). Edible coatings to improve storability and enhance nutritional value of fresh and frozen strawberries (*Fragaria* x ananassa) and raspberries (*Rubus ideaus*). Postharvest Biology and Technology, 33(1), 67–78. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2004.01.008
- Hassan, B., Chatha, S. A. S., Hussain, A. I., Zia, K. M., & Akhtar, N. (2018). Recent advances on polysaccharides, lipids and protein based edible films and coatings: A review. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, *109*, 1095–1107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijbiomac.2017.11.097
- Ibrahim, A. (2019, April 7). MARDI perkenal belimbing hibrid Bintang Mas [MARDI introduces Bintang Mas hybrid starfruit]. Berita Harian. https://www.bharian.com.my/berita/ nasional/2019/04/549903/mardi-perkenalbelimbing-hibrid-bintang-mas
- Kerch, G. (2015). Trends in food science & technology chitosan films and coatings prevent losses of fresh fruit nutritional quality: A review. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 46(2), 159–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2015.10.010
- Khwaldia, K., Perez, C., Banon, S., Desorby, S., & Hardy, J. (2004). Milk proteins for edible films and coatings. *Critical Reviews in Food Science* and Nutrition, 44(4), 239–251. https://doi. org/10.1080/10408690490464906
- Kumar, N., & Neeraj. (2019). Polysaccharide-based component and their relevance in edible film/ coating: A review. *Nutrition and Food Science*, 49(5), 793–823. https://doi.org/10.1108/NFS-10-2018-0294

- Lin, D., & Zhao, Y. (2007). Innovations in the development and application of edible coatings for fresh and minimally processed fruits and vegetables. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 6(3), 60–75. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1541-4337.2007.00018.x
- Mahajan, P. V., Caleb, O. J., Singh, Z., Watkins, C. B., & Geyer, M. (2014). Postharvest treatments of fresh produce. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society: A Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 372*(2017), 20130309. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2013.0309
- Nasrin, T. A. A., Rahman, M. A., Hossain, M. A., Islam, M. N., & Arfin, M. S. (2017). Postharvest quality response of strawberries with *Aloe vera* coating during refrigerated storage. *Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*, 92(6), 598–605. https://doi.org/10.1080/14620316.201 7.1324326
- Ozili, P. K. (2022). The acceptable R-Square in empirical modelling for social science research. In *Social research methodology and publishing results: A guide to non-native english speakers* (pp. 134-143). IGI Global. https://doi. org/10.2139/ssrn.4128165
- Rahman, E. A. A., Talib, R. A., Aziz, M. G., & Yusof, Y. A. (2013). Modelling the effect of temperature on respiration rate of fresh cut papaya (*Carica papaya* L.) fruits. *Food Science* and Biotechnology, 22, 1581–1588. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10068-013-0254-y
- Rastegar, S., & Atrash, S. (2021). Effect of alginate coating incorporated with spirulina, *Aloe vera* and guar gum on physicochemical, respiration rate and color changes of mango fruits during cold storage. *Journal of Food Measurement* and Characterization, 15, 265–275. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11694-020-00635-6
- Ruangchakpet, A., and Sajjaanantakul, T. (2007). Effect of browning on total phenolic, flavonoid content and antioxidant activity in Indian

Zahrah-Izati Azhar Shapawi, Siti Hajar Ariffin, Rosnah Shamsudin, Muhammad Syahmeer How and Ahmad Hafiz Baharom

gooseberry (*Phyllanthus emblica* Linn.). Agriculture and Natural Resources, 41(5), 331–337.

- Suhaimi, N. I. M., Ropi, A. A. M., & Shaharuddin, S. (2021). Safety and quality preservation of starfruit (*Averrhoa carambola* L.) at ambient shelf life using synergistic pectin-maltodextrinsodium chloride edible coating. *Heliyon*, 7(2), e06279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021. e06279
- Vargas, M., Albors, A., Chiralt, A., & González-Martínez, C. (2006). Quality of cold-stored strawberries as affected by chitosan-oleic acid edible coatings. *Postharvest Biology*

and Technology, *41*(2), 164–171. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2006.03.016

- Warriner, K., Huber, A., Namvar, A., Fan, W., & Dunfield, K. (2009). Recent advances in the microbial safety of fresh fruits and vegetables. In *Advances in food and nutrition research* (Vol. 57, pp. 155–208). Elsevier Inc. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1043-4526(09)57004-0
- Zaki, N. H. M., Som, H. Z. M., & Haiyee, Z. A. (2012). Application of palm stearin-chitosan edible coating on star fruits (*Averrhoa carambola* L.). *Malaysian Journal of Analytical Sciences*, *16*(3), 325–334.



TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Journal homepage: http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my/

Phytase Enzyme Improves Growth Performance and Body Chemical Composition of Sangkuriang Catfish (*Clarias gariepinus* var. Sangkuriang) Juvenile

Diana Rachmawati¹*, Putut Har Riyadi², Istiyanto Samidjan¹, Tita Elfitasari¹, Diana Chilamawati¹, Seto Windarto¹, Rosa Amalia¹, Dewi Nurhayati¹, Tristiana Yuniarti¹ and Yunanto³

¹Department of Aquaculture, Faculty of Fisheries and Marine Sciences, Diponegoro University, Jl. Prof. Soedarto, SH, Tembalang, Semarang 50275, Central Java, Indonesia
 ²Department of Fishery Technology, Faculty of Fisheries and Marine Sciences, Diponegoro University, Jl. Prof. Soedarto, SH, Tembalang, Semarang 50275, Central Java, Indonesia
 ³BASF Company, Jl. Daan Mogot Km. 14, Cengkareng, West Jakarta 11750, Jakarta, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Due to their nutritional value, alternative vegetable materials such as soybean are needed to promote sustainable aquaculture development. However, phytate in soybean could interfere with the protein digestion of the fish body. This study examines the effectiveness of phytate enzymes in enhancing protein digestibility, growth performance, mineral digestion, and body chemical composition of Sangkuriang catfish (*Clarias gariepinus* var. Sangkuriang) juveniles. The study was completely randomized design with 4 treatments and 3 repetitions. One hundred thirteen Sangkuriang catfish juveniles (7.65 ± 0.14 g) were used for each repetition. The fish were fed with an experimental diet supplemented with various doses of

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received: 26 November 2022 Accepted: 13 February 2023 Published: 16 May 2023

DOI: https://doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.46.2.20

E-mail addresses:

dianarachmawati1964@gmail.com (Diana Rachmawati) putut_thp@yahoo.co.id (Putut Har Riyadi) istiyanto_samidjan@yahoo.com (Istiyanto Samidjan) titaelfitasari@yahoo.com (Tita Elfitasari) dianachimawati@gmail.com (Diana Chilamawati) seto.sidhartawan@gmail.com (Seto Windarto) rosa.amalia7@gmail.com (Rosa Amalia) dewinurhayati24@gmail.com (Dewi Nurhayati) yuni_bbats@yahoo.com (Tristiana Yuniarti) yunanto@basf.com (Yunanto) *Corresponding author

ISSN: 1511-3701 e-ISSN: 2231-8542 phytase enzyme: 0 (A), 500 (B), 1,000 (C), and 1,500 (D) FTU/kg of feed. The mineral digestibility, protein digestibility, protein efficiency ratio (PER), feed conversion ratio (FCR), the efficiency of feed utilization (EFU), apparent digestibility coefficients (ADCp), relative growth rate (RGR), and survival rate (SR) were observed. Data were analyzed using analysis of variance followed by Duncan's multiple range test. The results showed that adding 1,000 FTU/ kg of phytase enzyme (C) exhibited the highest PER, FCR, EFU, ADCp, and RGR value of Sangkuriang catfish juveniles compared to other treatments. All treatment groups (B-C) had the same SR value (100%) and had the highest crude protein and ash content compared to the A group. All group treatments also exhibited a higher phosphorus, calcium, potassium, magnesium, iron, zinc, manganese, copper, and cobalt. Therefore, phytase enzyme supplementation could improve protein digestibility, mineral digestibility, growth performance, and body chemical composition of Sangkuriang catfish juveniles.

Keywords: Mineral, phytase enzyme, phytic acid, protein, Sangkuriang catfist

INTRODUCTION

The Sangkuriang catfish (Clarias gariepinus var. Sangkuriang) is a popular and frequently consumed freshwater fish in Indonesia. The Ministry of Maritime Affairs and Fisheries Indonesia noted that catfish production in Indonesia reached 1.06 million tonnes in 2021. The catfish production increased by 2.95% compared to the previous year, which amounted to 1.03 million tonnes (Widi, 2022). This fish is commonly consumed due to its relative ease of preparation, affordability, and high protein content. In addition, this fish is also cultivated due to its relatively rapid growth rate and increased customer demand, which drives catfish farmers to engage in intensive cultivation (Rachmawati et al., 2022). Artificial feed is fish culture feed made from various materials that have good nutritional content according to the needs of fish and is manufactured with careful consideration for the nature and size of the fish. Artificial feed has a significant role in determining the success of intensive Sangkuriang catfish cultivation. Fish meal represents up to 50% of the animal protein in artificial feed, making it the most expensive protein element (Tacon & Metian, 2008). Protein, essential amino acids, vital fatty acids, cholesterol, vitamins, and mineral attractants are abundant in fish feed, making it the primary dietary source (National Research Council [NRC], 2011). With the development of fish farming activities, the demand for fish feed increases, resulting in a restricted supply of fish feed and an increase in the rate of unsustainable overfishing in natural environments (Tacon & Metian, 2008).

Alternative vegetable materials are needed to promote the development of environmentally friendly and sustainable aquaculture (Shapawi et al., 2013). Soy flour is one of the vegetable ingredients used as a source of protein due to its availability, relative affordability, and balanced profile of key amino acids (Akiyama & Dominy, 1989; Tacon & Metian, 2008). However, the fish feed cannot contain soy flour due to anti-nutritional factors (ANF) in phytic acid. Phytic acid can generate phytate-protein and phytate-mineral-protein complexes, reducing protein digestion and utilization by inhibiting protein digestion (Cao et al., 2007). The phytate protein complex cannot be digested by proteolytic enzymes (Ravindran et al., 1995), and phytic acid inhibits the activity of certain proteolytic enzymes, including pepsin, amyloperoxidase, and amylase (Cao et al.,

2007). Additionally, phytic acid chelates minerals such as calcium, magnesium, zinc, iron, and copper to create insoluble complexes, limiting the absorption and bioavailability of macro and micro elements required by fish (Papatryphon et al., 1999).

Applying phytase enzyme in feed can hydrolyze phytate into penta-, tetra-, tri-, di-, and monophosphate myoinositol and neutralize the detrimental effect of phytic acid on protein and other nutrients in feed. Furthermore, the presence of phytase enzymes in feed can enhance the bioavailability of phosphorus and nitrogen bound to phytate, hence limiting the release of phosphorus (P) and nitrogen (N) into the aquatic environment (Cao et al., 2007). Phytase enzyme enrichment in feed has boosted growth, feed conversion ratio, and protein and mineral digestibility in some fish, such as Pangasius pangasius (Debnath et al., 2005), Ephinephelus fuscoguttatus (Shapawi et al., 2013), Marsupenaeus japonicas (Bulbul et al., 2015), Psetta maxima (von Danwitz et al., 2016), Cirrhinus mrigala (Hussain et al., 2020), Sparus aurata (Salem et al., 2022), Oreochromis niloticus (Shahzad et al., 2022), Cyprinus carpio (Shahzad et al., 2021), Carassius auratus (Nie at al., 2017), and Labeo rohita (Hussain et al., 2017).

There is little information regarding the phytase enzyme enrichment in Sangkuriang catfish juvenile feed; therefore, further research is required. This study aimed to examine the effectiveness of phytate enzymes in enhancing protein digestibility, growth performance, mineral digestion, and body chemical composition of Sangkuriang catfish (*Clarias gariepinus* var. Sangkuriang) juveniles.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animal Preparation and Research Design

This study was conducted in Balai Budidaya Ikan Air Tawar (BBIAT), Muntilan, Jawa Tengah, Indonesia. The current research used a completely randomized design (CRD), 4 treatments of phytase supplementation at different doses, and each treatment was repeated three times. The stocking density of fish was 113 fish/research container fiber for each repetition. The fish used was Sangkuriang catfish (Clarias gariepinus var. Sangkuriang) juveniles procured from BBIAT, weighing an average of 7.65 ± 0.14 g/head and rearing for 56 days. Juvenile Sangkuriang catfish were selected before a treatment based on their uniform size and weight, absence of deformity, active swimming, and good health (Rachmawati et al., 2017). During 1 week of acclimatization, fish were fed with commercial fish feed that did not contain phytase enzyme. Fish were not fed the day before receiving treatment to remove residual food from initial feedings.

Experimental Feed Preparation

The experimental fish feed was artificial pellets which contained 32% protein, isoenergy (301 kcal) (Rachmawati et al., 2022), 1% chromium (III) oxide (Cr_2O_3) as a protein digestibility indicator (NRC, 2011), phytase enzymes at different doses: 0 (A), 500 (B), 1,000 (C), and 1,500 (D) FTU/kg feed (Table 1). The phytase

enzyme (Nathupos[®]E 10,000 G, BASF SE, Germany) was made of light brown granules.

Feed preparation begins with weighing the raw materials according to the feed formulation, mixing the feed ingredients from tiny to large quantities, using a mixer machine, and adding fish oil (Ultra Omega 3-DTM, NOW Foods, USA), corn oil (Mazola[®], Saudi Arabia), and water to taste. Furthermore, the dough was placed within the extruder floating pellet molding machine. After stamping, the feed was airdried at room temperature (around 26°C), then packaged and stored in airtight plastic.

Table 1

	Treatment				
Material (g)	А	В	С	D	
Fish flour	345.00	345.00	345.00	345.00	
Soybean	240.00	240.00	240.00	240.00	
Corn flour	150.00	150.00	150.00	150.00	
Bran	145.00	144.95	144.90	144.85	
Tapioca flour	80.00	80.00	80.00	80.00	
Fish oil	10.00	10.00	10.00	10.00	
Corn oil	10.00	10.00	10.00	10.00	
Mineral and vitamin mix ¹	10.00	10.00	10.00	10.00	
Phytase enzyme (FTU)	0	0.05	0.1	0.15	
Chromium (III) oxide (Cr ₂ O ₃)	10.00	10.00	10.00	10.00	
Total	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000	
	Proximate analysis results				
Protein (%)*	30.21	31.19	32.20	30.20	
Fat (%)*	7.87	8.40	8.99	8.73	
Nitrogen Free Extract/NFE (%)*	35.22	35.36	34.8	32.73	
Energy (kcal) ²	301.34	301.82	301.19	301.98	
Ratio of energy/protein (E/P) (cal/g) ³	9.98	9.97	9.97	9.90	

Feed formulation (1,000 g)

Note.

¹Mineral and vitamin mix/kg: Sodium (Na) 117 mg, selenium (Se) 150 mg, vitamin B1 52 mg, magnesium (Mg) 1,900 mg, vitamin B2 97 mg, vitamin B6 46 mg, potassium (K) 150 mg, calcium (Ca) 219 mg, copper (Cu) 9 mg, iron (Fe) 90 mg, vitamin C (coated) 68,800 mg activity, zinc (Zn) 90 mg, iodine (KI) 1.8 mg, cobalt (Co) 450 mg, vitamin B12 60 mg, vitamin A 36.000 I.U., vitamin D3 9.000 I.U., manganese (Mn) 105 mg, panthothenic acid 93 mg, inositol 225 mg, biotin 450 mg, vitamin E 187 mg, vitamin K3 19 mg, niacin 130 mg, and folic acid 10 mg

²Determined based on Digestible Energy (NRC, 2011), for 1 g of protein equal to 3.5 kcal/g, 1 g of fat equal to 1 kcal/g, and 1 g of carbohydrate equal to 2.5 kcal/g

³Based on NRC (2011), the E/P value for the optimum growth of fish ranges from 8–12 kcal/g

*Proximate analysis results from Laboratorium Ilmu Makanan Ternak, Fakultas Peternakan dan Pertanian, Universitas Diponegoro in the year 2022

Container Preparation

The study used a container fiber tub of 1.5 m x 1.5 m x 1 m with up to 12 units supplied with a recirculation system to maintain water quality within the optimal range. The maintenance media contained mountain water deposited in a reservoir. The study was initiated by placing 113 test fish with a known average initial weight into each of the 113 research containers. Determining fish density refers to Rachmawati et al. (2022), in which 50 fish were stocked per square meter. The feed was administered three times daily, at 06.00 a.m., 12.00 p.m., and 6.00 p.m., according to the at-satiation method. During the study, the weight gain of the test fish was monitored weekly using digital scales. Two hours after feeding, excrement, and feed residues were sucked up using a siphon to keep them clean and suitable for fish life.

Proximate Analysis

Based on Jayant et al. (2018), proximate analysis was conducted to assess the test feed and fish carcasses. A semi-automatic Kjeltec[™] 2300 Analyzer Unit (FOSS Analytical, Denmark) was used to determine protein content. The fat content was evaluated using an ether extraction method based on the Soxhlet technique using Soxtec[™] 2043 Fat Extraction System (FOSS Analytical, Denmark). Test feed samples and fish were burned in a furnace at 550°C for 24 hr to assess their ash content.

Protein Digestibility Analysis

According to Pérez-Jiménez et al. (2009), protein digestibility is determined using the indirect approach by adding 1% Cr₂O₃ to indicate protein digestibility to the test feed. During the 56-day study, fish feces were collected every morning, afternoon, and evening after the fish were fed. Feces are collected using a short plastic tube whose end is connected to a wooden stick to make it easier to maneuver while collecting feces, and the collected feces are then placed in a bucket. Feces were filtered using a plankton cloth net, and the filtrate is placed in small plastic bottles and refrigerated at 4°C. The feces were dried in a gravity oven (Fisherbrand[™], Fisher Scientific, Belgium) at 6°C for 24 hr before analysis. The protein and Cr₂O₃ content in the feces were then measured using atomic absorption spectrophotometry (AAS) with a wavelength of 350 nm.

Mineral Content Analysis. At the end of the test, the mineral content of the fish was determined by randomly selecting twelve fish from each treatment (1 fish per replication). After drying each fish sample in an electric oven at 70–80°C until it attained a constant weight, approximately 2 g of each sample was weighed. Afterward, the sample was dissolved with strong nitric acid. The estimation of fish body minerals was performed with an atomic absorption spectrophotometer following the Association of Official Analytical Chemists (AOAC) (2019) guidelines. **Observed Parameters.** The observed parameters consist of protein efficiency ratio (PER), feed conversion ratio (FCR), the efficiency of feed utilization (EFU), apparent digestibility coefficients (ADCp) (Pérez-Jiménez et al., 2009), relative growth rate (RGR), and survival rate (SR) (NRC, 2011); where each parameter was calculated using the following formulas:

$$ADCp (\%) = 100 - \left\{ \frac{100 \times Cr_2O_3 \text{ in the feed}}{\% Cr_2O_3 \text{ in the feces}} \times \frac{\% \text{ protein in the feces}}{\% \text{ protein in the feed}} \right\}$$
(1)

$$EFU (\%) = \frac{Final \ weight - Initial \ weight}{Weight \ of \ diet \ consumed} \times 100$$
(2)

$$RGR(\%) = 100 \times \frac{(Final weight - Initial weight)}{(Times of experiment \times Initial weight)}$$
(3)

$$FCR = \frac{Feed intake(g)}{Body weight gain(g)}$$
(4)

$$PER = 100 \times \frac{(Final weight - Initial weight)}{The amount of diet consumed \times Protein content of diet}$$
(5)

$$SR(\%) = 100 \times \left(\frac{Final \ count}{Initial \ count}\right)$$
(6)

Statistical Analysis. Data were analyzed using analysis of variance (ANOVA) using SPSS ver. 19.0 (USA). If the ANOVA results had a significant effect (p<0.05) or had a highly significant effect (p<0.01), Duncan's multiple range test was conducted to determine the difference in the mean values between treatments (Steel et al., 1997).

RESULTS

The addition of phytase enzyme to the feed significantly (p<0.05) increased PER, FCR, EFU, ADCp, and RGR, but not (p>0.05) in SR parameters (Table 2). The PER, FCR, EFU, ADCp, and RGR values of juvenile Sangkuriang catfish supplemented with

phytase enzyme were greater than in the absence of supplementation. Based on the highest PER, FCR, EFU, and RGR values, adding 1,000 FTU/kg of feed phytase enzyme was the optimal dose for juvenile Sangkuriang catfish.

Table 3 shows the influence of phytase enzyme supplementation on the chemical composition of juvenile Sangkuriang catfish. Sangkuriang catfish juveniles fed with phytase enzyme had the highest crude protein content and ash content compared to those fed without phytase enzyme. There was no significant (p>0.05) difference between treatments regarding lipid and dry matter.

Table 2

Data of protein efficiency ratio (PER), feed conversion ratio (FCR), the efficiency of feed utilization (EFU), apparent digestibility coefficients (ADCp), relative growth rate (RGR), and survival rate (SR) of juvenile's Sangkuriang catfish

Parameter -	Treatment				
	А	В	С	D	
PER	1.63 ± 0.12^{d}	2.84 ± 0.18^{b}	3.49 ± 0.10^{a}	$2.42 \pm 0.13^{\circ}$	
FCR	1.82 ± 0.10^{d}	1.43 ± 0.14^{b}	1.02 ± 0.11^{a}	$1.65 \pm 0.17^{\circ}$	
EFU (%)	$57.45\pm0.22^{\rm d}$	$69.28\pm0.15^{\rm b}$	$78.30\pm0.18^{\mathtt{a}}$	$65.29\pm0.16^{\circ}$	
ADCp (%)	$68.32\pm0.25^{\rm d}$	$75.46\pm0.27^{\rm b}$	$80.15\pm0.23^{\mathtt{a}}$	$72.52\pm0.29^{\circ}$	
RGR (%/day)	2.10 ± 0.18^{d}	$2.98 \pm 0.12^{\text{b}}$	3.27 ± 0.17^{a}	$2.62 \pm 0.19^{\circ}$	
SR (%)	$100\pm0.0^{\rm a}$	$100\pm0.0^{\rm a}$	$100\pm0.0^{\rm a}$	$100\pm0.0^{\rm a}$	

Note. The alphabetical superscript indicates significant differences between treatments. The juvenile Sangkuriang catfish were fed with an experimental diet supplemented with various doses of phytase enzyme: (A) 0, (B) 500, (C) 1,000, and (D) 1,500 FTU/kg of feed

 Table 3

 The body chemical composition (%) of juvenile Sangkuriang catfish

Treatment	Dry matter	Protein	Lipid	Ash
А	$24.38\pm0.57^{\mathtt{a}}$	$53.42\pm0.13^{\text{b}}$	$24.60\pm0.52^{\mathtt{a}}$	$17.39\pm0.25^{\rm b}$
В	$23.67\pm0.48^{\mathtt{a}}$	$55.26\pm0.54^{\rm a}$	$23.65\pm0.49^{\mathtt{a}}$	$19.83\pm0.62^{\mathtt{a}}$
С	$23.54\pm0.76^{\rm a}$	$55.48\pm0.29^{\rm a}$	$23.57\pm0.62^{\mathtt{a}}$	$19.24\pm0.28^{\mathtt{a}}$
D	$24.73\pm0.35^{\mathtt{a}}$	$56.19\pm0.32^{\rm a}$	$24.22\pm0.70^{\mathtt{a}}$	$18.57\pm0.59^{\rm a}$

Note. The alphabetical superscript indicates a significant difference between treatments. The juvenile Sangkuriang catfish were fed with an experimental diet supplemented with various doses of phytase enzyme: (A) 0, (B) 500, (C) 1,000, and (D) 1,500 FTU/kg of feed

The influence of feeding with phytase enzyme supplementation on the macro and micro mineral composition of juvenile Sangkuriang catfish is presented in Figures 1 (a–d) and 2 (a–e). The highest phosphorus value was obtained in juvenile Sangkuriang catfish, which was given treatment C (phytase enzyme 1,000 FTU/kg feed), followed by treatment D (phytase enzyme 1,500 FTU/kg feed), treatment B (phytase enzyme 500 FTU/kg feed), and the lowest phosphorus value was found in treatment A (phytase enzyme 0/kg feed) (Figure 1a). Juvenile Sangkuriang catfish fed with phytase enzyme supplementation had higher calcium and magnesium values than those without supplementation (Figures 1b and 1d). The potassium value showed no significant difference between juvenile Sangkuriang catfish fed with phytase enzyme supplementation and without supplementation (Figure 1c).



Figure 1. The macro-mineral composition including (a) phosphorus, (b) calcium, (c) potassium, and (d) magnesium of juvenile Sangkuriang catfish after fed with an experimental diet supplemented with various doses of phytase enzyme: (A) 0, (B) 500, (C) 1,000, and (D) 1,500 FTU/kg of feed *Note.* The alphabetical superscript indicates a significant difference between treatments

The iron value of juvenile Sangkuriang catfish fed with phytase enzyme supplementation was higher than without phytase enzyme (Figure 2a). Juvenile Sangkuriang catfish fed with phytase enzyme supplementation also had higher zinc, manganese, and copper values than those without supplementation (Figures 2b, c, and d). The highest cobalt value gave the highest yield in juvenile Sangkuriang catfish that was given treatment C (phytase enzyme 1,000 FTU/kg feed), followed by treatment D (phytase enzyme 1,500 FTU/kg feed), treatment B (phytase enzyme 500 FTU/kg feed), and the lowest in treatment A (phytase enzyme 0 FTU/kg feed) (Figure 2e).

DISCUSSION

The phytase enzyme supplementation in the feed was substantially different (p<0.05) in the PER, FCR, EFU, ADCp, and RGR parameters but not in the SR parameter (p>0.05) (Table 2). It demonstrates that adding phytase enzyme to fish feed can hydrolyze protein phytate complex

Efficacy of Phytase Enzyme on Juvenile's Sangkuriang Catfish



Figure 2. The micro-mineral composition including (a) iron, (b) manganese, (c) zinc, (d) copper, and (e) cobalt of juvenile Sangkuriang catfish after fed with an experimental diet supplemented with various doses of phytase enzyme: (A) 0, (B) 500, (C) 1,000, and (D) 1,500 FTU/kg of feed

Note. The alphabetical superscript indicates a significant difference between treatments

compounds into easily digestible amino acids for fish growth (Haghbayan & Mehrgan, 2015).

Spinelli et al. (1983) found that feed containing 0.5 % phytic acid had a negative

effect on rainbow trout growth due to a decrease in protein availability in the feed. Phytic acid functions as a chelator to produce protein phytate complex molecules, influencing proteins and minerals'

Pertanika J. Trop. Agri. Sci. 46 (2): 721 - 734 (2023)

bioavailability (NRC, 2011). The results of a similar study were reported by Debnath et al. (2005), Hussain et al. (2017), Salem et al. (2022), Shapawi et al. (2013), and von Danwitz et al. (2016), who reported that the addition of phytase enzymes to feed had a significant effect in the PER, FCR, EFU, ADCp, and RGR parameters but had no significant effect on SR.

The PER, FCR, EFU, ADCp, and RGR parameters of juvenile Sangkuriang catfish fed with phytase enzyme supplementation at 1,000 FTU/kg of feed were the highest compared to other treated feeds. The 1,000 FTU/kg feed of phytase enzyme is believed to be effective at hydrolyzing antinutrient factors (phytic acid) in feed (Cao et al., 2007). The highest PER, FCR, EFU, ADCp, and RGR values after 1,000 FTU/kg feed of phytase enzyme supplementation were also reported in striped bass (Papatryphon et al., 1999), rainbow trout (Vielma et al., 2000), Atlantic salmon (Sajjadi & Carter, 2004), Sparus aurata (Salem et al., 2022), and Cirrhinus mrigala (Hussain et al., 2017).

The results showed that the supplementation of phytase enzyme in the feed caused the FCR value to decrease. Phytase enzymes in the feed are believed to hydrolyze phytate, thereby breaking the complex bond between phytate and protein and minerals. It has a beneficial effect on converting trypsinogen to trypsin enzymes, which can break down protein into its constituent amino acids (Hussain et al., 2017). Thus, feed consumption efficiency is maximized, lowering the feed conversion ratio. Administration of phytase

enzymes in feed can improve FCR, as it was reported in rainbow trout (Wang et al., 2009), *Labeo rohita* (Baruah et al., 2007), *Marsupenaeus japonicas* (Bulbul et al., 2015), *Cirrhinus mrigala* (Hussain et al., 2017), and *Oreochromis niloticus* (Shahzad et al., 2022).

All aquatic organisms require minerals for vital physiological and biochemical activities, as well as for the maintenance of normal life processes. Fish need both macro-minerals (phosphorus, calcium, magnesium, and potassium) and microminerals (cobalt, copper, iron, manganese, and zinc) (NRC, 2011). The results (Figures 1 and 2) demonstrated that supplementing Sangkuriang catfish juvenile feeding with phytase enzyme improved the macroand micro-mineral content of the fish body. Adding phytase enzymes to the diet enhances the availability of phosphorus in freshwater fish, as was reported in Cirrhinus mrigala (Hussain et al., 2017), Sparus aurata (Salem et al., 2022), Oreochromis niloticus (Shahzad et al., 2022), Carassius auratus (Nie et al., 2017), and Cyprinus carpio (Shahzad et al., 2021).

In addition, Cian et al. (2019) reported that feeding Pacu fish (*Piaractus mesopotamicus*) with phytase enzyme supplementation increased the availability of minerals in the fish body (phosphorus [P], zinc [Zn], and iron [Fe]) due to a decrease in gastrointestinal phytic acid and an increase in mineral bioavailability compared to fish fed without supplementation. Supplementation of the phytase enzyme considerably enhanced the content of minerals (phosphorus [P], calcium [Ca], magnesium [Mg], and zinc [Zn]) in the spine of juvenile red sea bream (*Pagrus major*) (Laining et al., 2012). Different amounts of phytase enzyme supplementation affected the consumption of phosphorus, minerals, and protein in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) (Sugiura et al., 2001). In addition, adding phytase enzymes to the feed can improve the fish's ability to digest minerals. Cheng and Hardy (2003) showed that adding phytase enzyme to the diet of rainbow trout increased the digestibility of Mg, Mn, Zn, and P, with P being more digestible than the other minerals.

As indicated in Table 3, adding phytase enzyme to the feed affects the protein content of juvenile Sangkuriang catfish. It may be noticed that the feed supplemented with phytase enzyme has a larger protein content than feed without the addition. It may be owing to the phytase enzyme's ability to enhance protein availability by completely hydrolyzing the phytate-protein complex in the fish intestine and negating the negative effect of phytate on protein (Liebert & Portz, 2005). This study's rise in PER supported the increase in juvenile Sangkuriang catfish protein content. According to Tables 2 and 3, adding phytase enzyme to the feed of juvenile Sangkuriang catfish enhanced the protein content of the fish body and the PER. In addition, the results revealed that juvenile Sangkuriang catfish fed with phytase enzyme supplementation at a dose of 1,000 FTU/kg feed (treatment C) had the highest increase in protein digestibility, which would result in the highest increase in feed utilization efficiency.

The addition of phytase enzymes in feed could increase protein digestibility and the efficiency of feed utilization in several fish (Biswas et al., 2019), including Ephinephelus fuscoguttatus (Shapawi et al., 2013), Marsupenaeus japonicas (Bulbul et al., 2015), Sparus aurata (Salem et al., 2022), Carassius auratus (Nie et al., 2017), and Labeo rohita (Hussain et al., 2017). The body ash content of juvenile Sangkuriang catfish that was given phytase enzyme supplementation was higher than that without supplementation. Bulbul et al. (2015) stated that adding phytase enzymes in feed can increase the concentration of bone ash and phosphorus in the body of Marsupenaeus japonicas. Liebert and Portz (2005) also reported that the ash content on the scales and spine of Oreochromis niloticus increased significantly after being fed a diet containing the phytase enzyme.

CONCLUSION

Adding 1,000 FTU/kg of phytase enzyme (C) exhibited the highest PER, FCR, EFU, ADCp, and RGR value of Sangkuriang catfish juvenile compared to other treatments. All treatment groups (B-C) had the same SR value (100%) and had the highest crude protein and ash content compared to the A group. All group treatments also exhibited a higher phosphorus, calcium, potassium, magnesium, iron, zinc, manganese, copper, and cobalt. Therefore, phytase enzyme supplementation could improve protein digestibility, mineral digestibility, growth performance, and body chemical composition of Sangkuriang catfish juveniles.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the Ministry of Education, Culture, Research, and Technology, Indonesia which has financially supported this study through the Matching Fund Program 2022 with Diponegoro University (No: 177/E1/KS.06.02/2022 and No: 132/ UN7.A/KS/2022).

REFERENCES

- Akiyama, D. M., & Dominy, W. G. (1989). Penaeid shrimp nutrition for the commercial feed industry. American Soybean Association.
- Association of Official Analytical Chemists. (2019). *Official methods of analysis* (21st ed.). Association of Official Analytical Chemists Inc.
- Baruah, K., Pal, A. K., Sahu, N. P., Debnath, D., Nourozitallab, P., & Sorgeloos, P. (2007). Microbial phytase supplementation in rohu, *Labeo rohita*, diets enhances growth performance and nutrient digestibility. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society*, 38(1), 129-137. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1749-7345.2006.00081.x
- Biswas, A., Araki, H., Sakata, T., Nakamori, T., & Takii, K. (2019). Optimum fish meal replacement by soy protein concentrate from soymilk and phytase supplementation in diets of red sea bream, *Pagrus major. Aquaculture, 506*, 51-59. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.03.023
- Bulbul, M., Kader, Md. A., Ambak, M. A., Hossain, Md. S., Ishikawa, M., & Koshio, S. (2015). Effects of crystalline amino acids, phytase and fish soluble supplements in improving nutritive values of high plant protein based diets for kuruma shrimp, *Marsupenaeus japonicus*. *Aquaculture*, 438, 98-104. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2015.01.007
- Cao, L., Wang, W., Yang, C., Yang, Y., Diana, J., Yakupitiyage, A., Luo, Z., & Li, D. (2007). Application of microbial phytase in fish

feed. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 14(4), 497-507. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enzmictec.2007.01.007

- Cheng, Z. J., & Hardy, R. W. (2003). Effects of extrusion and expelling processing, and microbial phytase supplementation on apparent digestibility coefficients of nutrients in full-fat soybeans for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture, 218(1-4), 501–514. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(02)00458-1
- Cian, R. E., Bacchetta, C., Rossi, A., Cazenave, J., & Drago, S. R. (2019). Red seaweed Pyropia columbina as antioxidant supplement in feed for cultured juvenile Pacú (Piaractus mesopotamicus). Journal of Applied Phycology, 31, 1455-1465. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-018-1648-2
- Debnath, D., Pal, A. K., Narottam, P. S., Jain, K. K., Yengkokpam, S., & Mukherjee, S. C. (2005). Effect of dietary microbial phytase supplementation on growth and nutrient digestibility of *Pangasius pangasius* (Hamilton) fingerlings. *Aquaculture Research*, 36(2), 180–187. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2109.2004.01203.x
- Haghbayan, S., & Mehrgan, M. S. (2015). The effect of replacing fish meal in the diet with enzymetreated soybean meal (HP310) on growth and body composition of rainbow trout fry. *Molecules*, 20(12), 21058–21066. https://doi.or g/10.3390%2Fmolecules201219751
- Hussain, S. M., Afzal, M. A., Nasir, S., Javid, A., Azmat, H., Makhdoom, S. M., Shah, S. Z., H., Hussain, M., Mustafa, I., & Iqbal, M. (2017).
 Role of phytase supplementation in improving nutrient digestibility and growth performance for *Labeo rohita* fingerlings fed on canola mealbased diet. *Journal of Applied Animal Research*, *45*(1), 15–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/09712119. 2015.1091331
- Hussain, S. M., Ahmad, N., Shahzad, M. M., Javid, A., Aslam, N., Hussain, M., Arsalan, M. Z. H.,

& Riaz, D. (2020). Efficacy of phytase enzyme and citric acid on growth performance, nutrients and mineral digestibility of *Cirrhinus mrigala* fingerlings fed guar meal-based diet. *Iranian Journal of Fisheries Sciences*, *19*(3), 1573-1588. https://doi.org/10.22092/ijfs.2018.117462

- Jayant, M., Muralidhar, A., Sahu, N. P., Jain, K. K., Pall, A. K., & Srivastava, P. P. (2018). Protein requirement of juvenile striped catfish, *Pangasianodon hypophthalmus. Aquaculture International*, 26(1), 375-389. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10499-017-0216-0
- Laining, A., Ishikawa, M., Koshio, S., & Yokoyama, S. (2012). Dietary inorganic phosphorus or microbial phytase supplementation improves growth, nutrient utilization and phosphorus mineralization of juvenile red sea bream, *Pagrus major*, fed soybean-based diets. *Aquaculture Nutrition*, 18(5), 502-511. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2095.2011.00914.x
- Liebert, F., & Portz, L. (2005). Nutrient utilization of Nile tilapia *Oreochromis niloticus* fed plant based low phosphorus diets supplemented with graded levels of different sources of microbial phytase. *Aquaculture*, 248(1-4), 111–119. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2005.04.009
- National Research Council. (2011). Nutrient requirements of fish and shrimp. National Academies Press.
- Nie, X. Z., Chen, S., Zhang, X. X., Dai, B. Y., & Qian, L. C. (2017). Effects of neutral phytase on growth performance and phosphorus utilization in crucian carp (*Carassius auratus*). Journal of Zhejiang University-Science B, 18, 886–896. https://doi.org/10.1631/jzus.B1600280
- Papatryphon, E., Howell, R. A., & Soares Jr., J. H. (1999). Growth and mineral absorption by striped bass *Morone saxatilis* fed a plant feed stuff based diet supplemented with phytase. *Journal of World Aquaculture Society*, 30(2), 161–73. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1749-7345.1999.tb00863.x

- Pérez-Jiménez, A., Cardenete, G., Morales, A. E., García- Alcázar, A., Abellán, E., & Hidalgo, M. C. (2009). Digestive enzymatic profile of Dentex dentex and response to different dietary formulations. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular and Integrative Physiology, 154(1), 157-164. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2009.05.126
- Rachmawati, D., Samidjan, I., & Mel, M. (2017). Effect of phytase on growth performance, diet utilization efficiency and nutrient digestibility in fingerlings of *Chanos chanos* (Forsskal 1775). *Philippine Journal of Science*, 146(3), 237-245.
- Rachmawati, D., Sarjito, S., Samidjan, I., Nurhayati, D., & Riyadi, P. H. (2022). Effects of yeast on the growth performance of Sangkuriang catfish fingerlings (*Clarias gariepinus* var. Sangkuriang). *Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science*, 45(1), 273–284. https:// doi.org/10.47836/pjtas.45.1.16
- Ravindran, V., Bryden, W. L., & Kornegay, E. T. (1995). Phytates: Occurrence, bioavailability, and implications in poultry nutrition. *Poultry and Avian Biology Reviews*, 6(2), 125-143.
- Sajjadi, M., & Carter, C. G. (2004). Dietary phytase supplementation and the utilization of phosphorus by Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) fed a canola-meal-based diet. *Aquaculture*, 240(1-4), 417-431. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. aquaculture.2004.07.003
- Salem, S., Sallam, A. E., El-feky, M., & Elsayed, H. A. G. (2022). Effect of phytase supplementation on growth performance, body mineral composition, and effluent phosphorus content of the seabream (*Sparus aurata*). *Egyptian Journal of Aquatic Biology and Fisheries*, 26(3), 149–166. https:// doi.org/10.21608/EJABF.2022.238891
- Shahzad, M. M., Bashir, S., Hussain, S. M., Javid, A., Hussain, M., Ahmed, N., Khan, M. K. A., Furqan, M., Liaqat, I., Rafique, T., & Khalid, F. (2021). Effectiveness of phytase pre-treatment

Pertanika J. Trop. Agri. Sci. 46 (2): 721 - 734 (2023)

on growth performance, nutrient digestibility and mineral status of common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) juveniles fed Moringa by-product based diet. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*, 28(3), 1944–1953. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2020.12.046

- Shahzad, M. M., Liquat, I., Hussain, S. M., Hussain, M., Hussain, Z., Chaudhary, A., Abdullah, S., Shah, S. Z. H., Khan, M. K. A., Bashir, S., & Rafique, M. T. (2022). Effects of dietary phytase (PHY) levels on nutrient digestibility, mineral absorption and growth performance of Oreochromis niloticus fingerlings fed Moringa based diets. Pakistan Journal Agriculture Science, 59(2), 269-278. https:// doi.org/10.21162/PAKJAS/22.256
- Shapawi, R., Ebi, I., & Yong, A. (2013). Soybean meal as a source of protein in formulated diets for tiger grouper, *Epinephelus fuscoguttatus* juvenile. Part I: Effects on growth, survival, feed utilization and body compositions. *Agricultural Sciences*, 4(7), 317–323. https://doi.org/10.4236/as.2013.47045
- Spinelli, J., Houle, C. R., & Wekell, C. (1983). The effect of phytates of the growth of rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*) fed purified diets containing various quantities of calcium and magnesium. *Aquaculture*, 30(1-4), 71-83. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(83)90153-9
- Steel, R. G. D., Torrie, J. H., & Dickey, D. A. (1997). Principles and procedures of statistics: A biometrical approach (3rd ed.). McGraw Hill, Inc.
- Sugiura, S. H., Gabaudan, J., Dong, F. M., & Hardy, R. W. (2001). Dietary microbial phytase supplementation and the utilization of phosphorus, trace minerals and protein by rainbow trout [Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum)] fed soybean meal-based diets. Aquaculture Research, 3(7), 583–592. https:// doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2109.2001.00581.x

- Tacon, A. G. J., & Metian, M. (2008). Global overview on the use of fish meal and fish oil in industrially compounded aquafeeds: Trends and future prospects. *Aquaculture*, 285(1-4), 146–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. aquaculture.2008.08.015
- Vielma, J., Mäkinen, T., Ekholm, P., & Koskela, J. (2000). Influence of dietary soy and phytase levels on performance and body composition of large rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and algal availability of phosphorus load. *Aquaculture*, 183(3-4), 349-362. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0044-8486(99)00299-9
- von Danwitz, A., van Bussel, C. G. J., Klatt, S. F., & Schulz, C. (2016). Dietary phytase supplementation in rapeseed protein based diets influences growth performance, digestibility and nutrient utilization in turbot (*Psetta* maxima). Aquaculture, 450, 405–411. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2015.07.026
- Wang, F., Yang, Y. H., Han, Z. Z., Dong, H. W., Yang, C. H., & Zou, Z. Y. (2009). Effect of phytase pretreatment of soybean meal and phytase-sprayed in diets on growth, apparent digestibility coefficient and nutrient excretion of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum). *Aquaculture International*, 17, 143–157. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10499-008-9187-5
- Widi, S. (2022). Produksi lele di Indonesia sebanyak 1.06 juta ton pada 2021 [Catfish production in Indonesia reached 1.06 million tonnes in 2021]. https://dataindonesia.id/sektor-riil/detail/ produksi-lele-di-indonesia-sebanyak-106-jutaton-pada-2021

REFEREES FOR THE PERTANIKA JOURNAL OF TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

Vol. 46 (2) May. 2023

The Editorial Board of the Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science wishes to thank the following:

Agha Mushtaque Ahmed (SAU, Pakistan)

Amin Ismail (UPM, Malaysia)

Asgar Ali (Nottingham, Malaysia)

Basripuzi Nurul Hayyan Hassan Basri (UMK, Malaysia)

Brandy A. Burgess (UGA, Georgia)

Chonchanok Muangnapoh (MU, Thailand)

Didik Wahyudi (UIN Malang, Indonesia)

Dien Le (VLU, Vietnam)

Faez Firdaus Jesse Abdullah (UPM, Malaysia)

Farah Hazqah Meor Termizi (USM, Malaysia)

Goh Yong Meng (UPM, Malaysia)

Jalila Abu (UPM, Malaysia)

Jamilah Mohd Salim@Halim (UMT, Malaysia)

Kwong Phek Jin (UTAR, Malaysia) Lai Jyh-Mirn (NCYU, Taiwan)

Lee Seong Wei (UMK, Malaysia)

Lum Mok Sam (UMS, Malaysia)

Maciej Pach (URK, Poland)

Maizan Haiji Mohamed (UMK, Malaysia)

Mariatulqabtiah Abdul Razak (UPM, Malaysia)

Mohd Bahagia Abdul Ghaffar (MARDI, Malaysia)

Mohd Norfaizal Ghazalli (MARDI, Malaysia)

Muhammad Amir Yunus (USM, Malaysia)

Muskhazli Mustafa (UPM, Malaysia)

Noor Liyana Yusof (UPM, Malaysia)

Norazian Mohd. Hassan (IIUM, Malaysia)

Norhayu Asib (UPM, Malaysia)

Noureddine Benkeblia (UWI Mona, Jamaica) Okti Nadia Poetri (IPB, Indonesia)

Pablito Macapugay Magdalita (UP, Philippines)

Rawee Chiarawipa (PSU, Thailand)

Salumiah Mijin (UMS, Malaysia)

Shamsul Muhamad (UMK, Malaysia)

Sharifah Syed Hassan (Monash, Malaysia)

Siti Fairuz Yusoff (UPSI, Malaysia)

Siti Nur Anisah Aani (UiTM, Malaysia) Siti Zubaidah Ramanoon (UPM, Malaysia)

Vasakorn Bullangpoti (KU, Thailand)

Wajid Zaman (YU, Korea)

Wanchai Pluempanupat (KU, Thailand)

Wu Wei-Min (Stanford, USA)

Yu Yang (BIT, China)

Yuyun Ika Christina (UB, Indonesia)

BIT IIUM IPB KU MARDI Monash MU NCYU Nottingham PSU SAU Stanford UB UGA	 Beijing Institute of Technology International Islamic University Malaysia Institut Pertonian Bogor Kasetsart University Malaysian Agricultural Research and Development Institute Monash University Malaysia Mahidol University National Chiapi University University of Nottingham Prince of Songkla University Standh Agriculture University Standh Agriculture University Universits of Nottingham Prince of University Stanfard University University of Georaia 	UIN Malang UITM UMK UMS UP UPM UPSI UPSI USM UTAR UWI Mona VLU YU	
--	---	---	--

While every effort has been made to include a complete list of referees for the period stated above, however if any name(s) have been omitted unintentionally or spelt incorrectly, please notify the Chief Executive Editor, *Pertanika* Journals at <u>executive_editor.pertanika@upm.edu.my</u>

Any inclusion or exclusion of name(s) on this page does not commit the *Pertanika* Editorial Office, nor the UPM Press or the university to provide any liability for whatsoever reason.

Improvement of Growth and Development of Sweet Basil (Ocimum basilicum647L.) Through the Application of Chitosan at Different Plant Maturity Stages647

Ahmad Zubair Qazizadah, Jaafar Juju Nakasha, Uma Rani Sinniah and Puteri Edaroyati Megat Wahab

Evaluation of Avian Papillomavirus Occurrences and Effective Sampling Materials for Screening Purpose in Bird Species Through Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Nurulhuda Najihah, Aminuddin Baki Nurul Najian, Amir Syahir, Jalila Abu, Kok Lian Ho, Wen Siang Tan and Abdul Razak Mariatulqabtiah

Comparative Study on Leaf Anatomy in Selected *Garcinia* Species in 687 Peninsular Malaysia

Aiesyaa Majdiena Emlee, Che Nurul Aini Che Amri and Mohd Razik Midin

The Effect of Edible Coatings (Spirulina and Chitosan) on the Quality and707Shelf Life of Starfruit (Averrhoa carambola L. cv. B10) Throughout Storage707Zahrah-Izati Azhar Shapawi, Siti Hajar Ariffin, Rosnah Shamsudin,707Muhammad Syahmeer How and Ahmad Hafiz Baharom707

Phytase Enzyme Improves Growth Performance and Body Chemical721Composition of Sangkuriang Catfish (Clarias gariepinus var. Sangkuriang)Juvenile

Diana Rachmawati, Putut Har Riyadi, Istiyanto Samidjan, Tita Elfitasari, Diana Chilamawati, Seto Windarto, Rosa Amalia, Dewi Nurhayati, Tristiana Yuniarti and Yunanto

Isolation and Characterization of <i>Avian Coronavirus</i> from Diagnostic Cases of Selected Bird Species in Malaysia <i>Sarenasulastri Awang Besar, Siti Suri Arshad, Siti Zubaidah Ramanoon</i>	503
and Abdul Rahman Omar	
Locule Position and Thawing Duration Affect Postharvest Quality of Freshly Cryo-Frozen Musang King Durian Fruit Shahidah Md Nor, Phebe Ding and Tan Jit Chun	517
Subcutaneous Implantation of Unidirectional Self-Inflating Anisotropic Tissue Expander Has No Effect on the Physiological Parameters and Behaviours of Horses Saddam Hussein Al-Majhali, Nurul Hayah Khairuddin, Intan-Shameha Abdul Razak, Zamri Radzi, Mohammad Tariqur Rahman, Tengku Rinalfi Putra Tengku-Azizan, John Tito Sapalo and Abubakar Musa Mayaki	529
Review Article Review on the Epidemiology, Milk Composition Changes, and Antimicrobial Susceptibility of Causative Agents of Bubaline Mastitis in Asia Nor 'Amira Mohd Amin, Md Zuki Abu Bakar, Sharina Omar and Rozaihan Mansor	541
Revisiting In Vitro Micropropagation Protocols of Mimosa pudica for Enhanced Seed Germination, Shoot Multiplication, and Root Initiation Nor Saffana Baharuddin, Muhamad Aidilfitri Mohamad Roslan, Noor Amani Ramli, Azzreena Mohamad Azzeme, Zuraida Ab Rahman, Mohd Ezuan Khayat, Helmi Wasoh and Zulfazli M. Sobri	571
Parthenium hysterophorus Weed Fecundity and Seed Survival at Different Soil pH and Burial Conditions Mohd Norsazwan Ghazali, Uma Rani Sinniah and Muhammad Saiful Ahmad- Hamdani	593
Isolation of Proteolytic Enzyme from Pineapple Crown Noor Khaleeda Arsad, Azman Abd Samad, Haryati Jamaluddin and Wan Rosmiza Zana Wan Dagang	607
Effects of Spacing on Early Growth Rate and Yield of Hybrid Eucalyptus Stands Guilherme Luiz Fernandes, Gianmarco Goycochea Casas, Leonardo Pereira Fardin, Gilciano Saraiva Nogueira, Rodrigo Viera Leite, Laercio Couto and Hélio Garcia Leite	627

Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science Vol. 46 (2) May. 2023

Content

1 Oleword	
Mohd Sapuan Salit	i
Short Communication	
Pathogenicity of Aeromonas hydrophila in High-value Native Pangasius	373
Catfish, <i>Pangasius nasutus</i> (Bleeker)	
Bashir Sani, Md. Sabri Yusoff, Ina Salwany Md Yasin, Murni Marlina Abd Kawim Mohd Eugd Matori, Mohammad Noor Armai Amal Tilusha	
Abu Kurim, Mona Fuaa Maiori, Monammaa Noor Azmai Amai, Titusna Manchanavake Amir-Danial Zahaludin and Aslah Mohamad	
The Impact of Music on Milk Production and Behaviour of Dairy Cattle	385
Nurul Nabilah Shamshul Kamar and Nur Nadiah Md Yusof	
Low Genetic Diversity of Vector-Borne Haemoparasites in Dogs and Their	401
Ticks Revealed Local and Long-Range Transmission in Peninsular Malaysia	
Quincie Sipin, Farina Mustaffa-Kamal, Malaika Watanabe, Puteri	
Azaziah Megat Abdul Rani and Nor Azlina Abdul Aziz	
Preliminary In Silico Analysis of CHS1 Gene in Commelinids Clade: Family	425
Zingiberaceae, Costaceae, and Poaceae	
Seemab Akram, Shahrizim Zulkifly, Shamsul Khamis and Nurul Izza Ab Ghani	
Specific Sound Frequency Improves Intrinsic Water Efficiency in Rice Leaf	439
by Imparting Changes in Stomatal Dimensions	
Mashitah Jusoh, Shairul Izan Ramlee, Faiznur Iffah Pydi, Nur	
Aishah Mazlan, Zulkarami Berahim, Azzami Adam Muhamad Mujab,	
Uma Rani Sinniah, Joanne Pei Sze Yeoh, Khalisanni Khalid and Muhammad Nazmin Vaanan	
Munammaa Nazmin Taapar	
Biodegradation of Expanded and Extruded Polystyrene with Different Diets	459
by Using Zophobas atratus Larvae (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae)	
Jun Hoe Tay, Norhayu Asib, Nor Azwady Abd Aziz and Geok Hun Tan	
Evaluation of Environmental Contamination with Salmonella spp. in a Large	485
Animal Ward at a Veterinary Hospital in Malaysia	

Alexandria de Lima, Nurul Hayah Khairuddin, Zunita Zakaria, Sarah Othman and Siti Khairani-Bejo



Pertanika Editorial Office, Journal Division, Putra Science Park, Ist Floor, IDEA Tower II, UPM-MTDC Center, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 UPM Serdang, Selangor Darul Ehsan Malaysia

http://www.pertanika.upm.edu.my Email: <u>executive_editor.pertanika@upm.edu.my</u> Tel. No.: +603- 9769 1622



http://www.penerbit.upm.edu.my Email: <u>penerbit@upm.edu.my</u> Tel. No.: +603- 9769 8851

